

POPULATION-BASED HELICOBACTER PYLORI SCREEN-AND-TREAT STRATEGIES FOR GASTRIC CANCER PREVENTION

GUIDANCE ON IMPLEMENTATION

EDITED BY JIN YOUNG PARK

IARC WORKING GROUP REPORT NO. 12

International Agency for Research on Cancer



Population-based *Helicobacter pylori* screen-and-treat strategies for gastric cancer prevention: guidance on implementation

Edited by Jin Young Park

IARC Working Group Report No. 12

IARC, 2025

© International Agency for Research on Cancer 2025

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-ND 3.0 IGO; <u>https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/igo/</u>).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy and redistribute the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products, or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted.

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization.

Suggested citation.

Park JY, editor (2025). Population-based *Helicobacter pylori* screen-and-treat strategies for gastric cancer prevention: guidance on implementation (IARC Working Group Reports No. 12). Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer. Available from: <u>https://publications.iarc.who.int/648</u>. Licence: CC BY-NC-ND 3.0 IGO.

Sales, rights and permissions.

To purchase print copies distributed by WHO Press, World Health Organization, 20 Avenue Appia, 1211 Geneva 27, Switzerland, see <u>http://apps.who.int/bookorders</u>. Tel.: +41 22 791 3264; Fax: +41 22 791 4857; email: <u>bookorders@who.int</u>.

To obtain IARC publications in electronic format, see the IARC Publications website (<u>https://publications.iarc.who.int</u>).

To submit requests for adaptations or commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see the IARC Publications website (<u>https://publications.iarc.who.int/Rights-And-Permissions</u>).

Third-party materials.

If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures, or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that

reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

General disclaimers.

The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO or contributing agencies concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO or contributing agencies in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO or contributing agencies be liable for damages arising from its use.

Cover image: © NTUH MedVis.

IARC Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data

Names: Park, Jin Young, editor.

Title: Population-based *Helicobacter pylori* screen-and-treat strategies for gastric cancer prevention: guidance on implementation / edited by Jin Young Park.

Description: Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2025. | Series: IARC working group reports, n. 12 | Includes bibliographical references.

Identifiers: ISBN 9789283245285 (ebook)

Subjects: MESH: Stomach Neoplasms. | Helicobacter pylori. | Therapeutics. | Early Detection of Cancer. | Quality Assurance, Health Care.

Classification: NLM WI 320

Table of Contents

Contributors7
Acknowledgements
Disclaimer
Executive summary
Abbreviations
Introduction
Chapter 1
Chapter 2
Chapter 3
Examples of gastric cancer prevention efforts by World Health Organization region
WHO African Region73
Chapter 3.1
WHO Region of the Americas90
Chapter 3.2
Gastric cancer prevention in Latin America and the Caribbean
Chapter 3.3
Gastric cancer prevention research in the USA

Chapter 3.4
Gastric cancer prevention in Arctic North America (Alaska, Canada, and Greenland)
WHO European Region145
Chapter 3.5
Gastric cancer prevention efforts in Europe (EUROHELICAN, TOGAS, and HPSS projects)
WHO South-East Asia Region 170
Chapter 3.6
Gastric cancer prevention programme in Bhutan
WHO Western Pacific Region
Chapter 3.7
Gastric cancer prevention in China
Chapter 3.8
Gastric cancer prevention in Japan
Chapter 3.9
Gastric cancer prevention in the Republic of Korea
Chapter 3.10
Population-based <i>Helicobacter pylori</i> screen-and-treat strategy to prevent gastric cancer in the Matsu Islands
Chapter 3.11
Journey towards piloting a <i>Helicobacter pylori</i> screen-and-treat programme to address gastric cancer inequities in Aotearoa New Zealand
Chapter 4
Needs and readiness for the implementation of <i>Helicobacter pylori</i> screen-and-treat strategies for gastric cancer prevention locally
Chapter 5
Considerations for choice of population-based Helicobacter pylori detection methods

Chapter 6	38
Considerations for choice of Helicobacter pylori treatment regimens	
Chapter 7	58
Antibiotic stewardship for population-based <i>Helicobacter pylori</i> screen-and-treat programmes, including testing of cure and monitoring of antibiotic resistance	
Chapter 8	88
Process and outcome measures for improving the quality and equity of <i>Helicobacte pylori</i> screen-and-treat programmes for gastric cancer prevention)r
Chapter 94	11
How to optimize the cost–benefits of <i>Helicobacter pylori</i> screen-and-treat programmes for gastric cancer prevention	
Disclosures of interests	43

Contributors

Working Group Members

Christian C. Abnet

Metabolic Epidemiology Branch National Cancer Institute Rockville, USA

M. Constanza Camargo

Division of Cancer Epidemiology and Genetics National Cancer Institute Rockville, USA

II Ju Choi

Center for Gastric Cancer National Cancer Center Goyang, Republic of Korea

Gary Clifford

Early Detection, Prevention, and Infections Branch International Agency for Research on Cancer Lyon, France

Mário Dinis-Ribeiro

Instituto Português de Oncologia Porto, Portugal

David Forman

Faculty of Medicine and Health University of Leeds Leeds, United Kingdom

Markus Gerhard

Department of Medical Microbiology and Immunology Institute of Medical Microbiology, Immunology and Hygiene Technical University of Munich Munich, Germany

Javier P. Gisbert

Department of Gastroenterology Hospital Universitario de La Princesa Madrid, Spain

Karen J. Goodman

Department of Medicine University of Alberta Edmonton, Canada

Joo Ha Hwang

Department of Medicine Stanford University Stanford, USA

Manami Inoue

Institute for Cancer Control National Cancer Center Tokyo, Japan

Violet Kayamba

Department of Internal Medicine University of Zambia Lusaka, Zambia

Iris Lansdorp-Vogelaar

Department of Public Health Erasmus Medical Center Rotterdam, The Netherlands

Yi-Chia Lee

Department of Internal Medicine and Department of Medical Research NTU Taipei, Taiwan, China

Mārcis Leja

Institute of Clinical and Preventive Medicine University of Latvia Riga, Latvia

Wai Keung Leung

Department of Medicine University of Hong Kong Hong Kong SAR, China

Wen-Qing Li

Department of Cancer Epidemiology Peking University Cancer Hospital & Institute Beijing, China

Peter Malfertheiner

Medical Department II LMU University Clinic Munich, Germany

Zorana Maravic

Digestive Cancers Europe Brussels, Belgium

Tamara Matysiak-Budnik

Hépato-Gastroentérologie & Oncologie Digestive CHU Nantes Nantes, France

Melissa McLeod

Department of Public Health University of Otago Wellington, New Zealand

Francis Mégraud

INSERM U1312 BRIC University of Bordeaux Bordeaux, France

Paul Moayyedi

Department of Medicine Farncombe Family Digestive Health Research Institute McMaster University Hamilton, Canada

Eileen Morgan

Cancer Surveillance Branch International Agency for Research on Cancer Lyon, France

Duco T. Mülder

Department of Public Health Erasmus Medical Center Rotterdam, The Netherlands

Jin Young Park

Early Detection, Prevention, and Infections Branch International Agency for Research on Cancer Lyon, France

Julie Parsonnet

Department of Medicine and Department of Epidemiology and Population Health Stanford University Stanford, USA

Pempa Pempa

Department of Health Services Ministry of Health Thimthrom, Bhutan

Guru Prasad Dhakal

Department of Medicine Jigme Dorji Wangchuck National Referral Hospital Thimphu, Bhutan

Arnoldo Riquelme

Department of Gastroenterology Faculty of Medicine, Center for Cancer Prevention and Control (CECAN) Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile Santiago, Chile

Peter Sasieni

Wolfson Institute of Population Health Queen Mary University of London London, United Kingdom

Stella Smith

Department of Molecular Biology and Biotechnology Nigerian Institute of Medical Research Lagos, Nigeria

Janet Takens

Department of Sustainable Business and Digital Innovation Thomas More University of Applied Sciences Malines, Belgium

Andrea Teng

Department of Public Health University of Otago Wellington, New Zealand

Bojan Tepeš

Department of Cancer Prevention National Institute of Public Health Ljubljana, Slovenia

Ad hoc contributors

Alexander C. Ford

Leeds Institute of Medical Research at St. James's University of Leeds Leeds, United Kingdom

Yuhong Yuan

Department of Medicine McMaster University Hamilton, Canada

Observer

Marta Garcia Escribano

European Commission Joint Research Centre (JRC) Ispra, Italy

IARC Secretariat

Jin Young Park

Scientist, Gastric Cancer Prevention Team Leader, Early Detection, Prevention, and Infections Branch

Viktoria Knaze

Project Officer, Early Detection, Prevention, and Infections Branch

Karima Bendeddouche

Secretary, Early Detection, Prevention, and Infections Branch

Nadia Akel

Secretary, Early Detection, Prevention, and Infections Branch

lacopo Baussano

Scientist, Early Detection, Prevention, and Infections Branch

Andrea Gini

Scientist, Early Detection, Prevention, and Infections Branch

Yue Huang

Postdoctoral Scientist, Early Detection, Prevention, and Infections Branch

Naila Aba

Postdoctoral Scientist, Early Detection, Prevention, and Infections Branch

Ravivarman Lakshmanasamy

Public Health Officer, Early Detection, Prevention, and Infections Branch

Béatrice Lauby-Secretan

Scientist, Evidence Synthesis and Classification Branch

Daniela Mariosa Scientist, Evidence Synthesis and Classification Branch

Isabelle Soerjomataram

Scientist, Cancer Surveillance Branch

Elisabete Weiderpass

IARC Director

Production Team

Sylvia Lesage

Principal Information Assistant, Publishing, Library, and Web Services

Alberto Machado

Principal Information Assistant, Evidence Synthesis and Classification Branch

Karen Müller

Managing Editor, Publishing, Library, and Web Services

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Ms Nadia Akel and Ms Karima Bendeddouche for their administrative assistance before and during the Working Group meeting, and Ms Viktoria Knaze and Dr Andrea Gini for their help as rapporteurs during the Working Group meeting.

We would like to thank the external reviewers – Dr Linda Rabeneck and Dr Uri Ladabaum – for taking the time to review specific chapters of the Working Group Report based on their individual expertise.

We thank the medical illustrator Dr Monal Yu-Hsuan Chang for designing the cover image.

We thank Dr Andrea Kay for her assistance in technical editing of the report.

The Working Group meeting and Report have been funded by the EUROHELICAN project. EUROHELICAN has been funded by the European Union under the EU4Health Programme.

Disclaimer

Funded by the European Union. Views and opinions expressed are however those of the author(s) only and do not necessarily reflect those of the European Union or HaDEA. Neither the European Union nor HaDEA can be held responsible for them.



Co-funded by the European Union



through Helicobacter pylori eradication

Executive summary

Jin Young Park, Yi-Chia Lee, Paul Moayyedi, Iris Lansdorp-Vogelaar, M. Constanza Camargo, Bojan Tepeš, and David Forman, for the IARC Gastric Cancer Working Group*

The International Agency for Research on Cancer of the World Health Organization (IARC/WHO) convened a Working Group Meeting in February 2025 to provide guidance on the implementation of population-based *Helicobacter pylori* screen-and-treat strategies for adult populations to prevent gastric cancer.

The Working Group members included 35 experts from 20 countries and territories. There were two ad hoc contributors and one observer from the European Commission Joint Research Centre.

At a previous IARC Working Group Meeting, held in December 2013, in which *H. pylori* eradication was evaluated as a strategy for preventing gastric cancer [1], the Working Group recommended that countries explore the possibility of introducing population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes. The Working Group emphasized the importance of conducting scientifically valid assessments of programme processes, feasibility, effectiveness, and possible adverse consequences when implementing such programmes [1].

However, practical guidance on implementation of such programmes at the population level has been lacking, which may have contributed to the relatively slow progress with piloting these strategies for gastric cancer prevention globally.

The 2025 Working Group Meeting and Working Group Report focused on providing detailed guidance for the implementation of population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies for gastric cancer prevention, highlighting key aspects to consider and incorporate when implementing these programmes at the population level.

The global epidemiology of gastric cancer and *H. pylori*: current and future perspectives for prevention

Gastric cancer is a disease with high morbidity and poor prognosis although it is preventable. Most gastric cancer cases are attributable to chronic infection with *H. pylori*, and this burden is higher than that of any other cancer-causing infection, including human papillomavirus (HPV) and hepatitis B virus and hepatitis C virus combined. Although there exist concerted efforts globally for the elimination of cervical cancer and of viral hepatitis, there is a lack of interest and investment in gastric cancer prevention, except for a few countries with a high burden. The Working Group emphasized that, despite the decreasing trends in incidence and mortality rates observed in many countries, gastric cancer will remain a major global public health problem because of a substantial demographic-driven increase in new cases of gastric cancer and deaths from gastric cancer are predicted for countries with low and medium levels of the Human Development Index. These increases highlight the importance of coordinated global action for prevention efforts to reduce suffering and death from gastric cancer.

Current evidence from randomized controlled trials of the benefits and harms of population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies for gastric cancer prevention and review of the existing recommendations, consensus reports, and guidelines

Existing guidelines, which focus on clinical management of *H. pylori* as a chronic infection, have generally become more assertive over time in their recommendations for population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes for gastric cancer prevention. In a systematic review of randomized controlled trials of population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies, in healthy *H. pylori*-positive individuals *H. pylori* eradication was associated with a 36% reduction in risk of developing gastric cancer, and in *H. pylori*-positive patients with gastric neoplasia undergoing endoscopic resection *H. pylori* eradication was associated with a 48% reduction in risk of recurrent gastric cancer. The available evidence from clinical trials also indicates that *H. pylori* eradication reduces the incidence of dyspepsia and reduces health-care costs. In addition, *H. pylori* eradication therapy does not appear to

increase the risk of oesophageal cancer or reflux symptoms. The Working Group acknowledged that the evidence related to benefits and potential harms comes mostly from high-risk countries and that information is limited for low-risk areas.

Examples of gastric cancer prevention efforts by WHO region

The Working Group described ongoing and planned gastric cancer prevention efforts grouped by WHO region: in Nigeria and Zambia (WHO African Region); Latin America and the Caribbean, the USA, and Arctic North America (WHO Region of the Americas); Europe (WHO European Region); Bhutan (WHO South-East Asia Region); and China, Japan, the Republic of Korea, the Matsu Islands, and Aotearoa New Zealand (WHO Western Pacific Region). In these subchapters, the need for preparatory steps before implementation of *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes was highlighted. These steps include setting up registries and infrastructure to collect information on gastric cancer, *H. pylori* prevalence, and antibiotic resistance patterns in the target populations. In addition, pilot studies in European countries highlighted the importance of population communication and awareness campaigns to increase participation in *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes and adherence to treatment.

Needs and readiness for the implementation of *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies for gastric cancer prevention locally

Assessment of needs and readiness is critical before implementing an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme. In areas with intermediate to high incidence of gastric cancer, a population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme should be considered a public health priority. In areas with a lower incidence of gastric cancer, *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes targeting intermediate-risk and high-risk groups will often be the best option for reducing the gastric cancer burden. Pilot projects, run before the implementation of a full programme, are crucial to assess the local level of readiness. For successful implementation of the programme, sustainable funding, governance, and leadership as well as additional infrastructure to support treatment delivery and overall programme implementation are required.

Considerations for choice of population-based H. pylori detection methods

The Working Group recommends that population-based *H. pylori* screening programmes use one or more of these three methods for *H. pylori* detection: the ¹³C-

urea breath test (UBT), the stool antigen test (SAT), and the serology test. When selecting the screening test, the local context must be considered with respect to test performance, the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection, and other factors, such as infrastructure, participants' preferences, and costs. If serology is chosen for screening, a confirmatory UBT or SAT may be needed. Confirmation of success of *H. pylori* eradication, if undertaken, should be based on the UBT or the SAT at least 4 weeks after the completion of *H. pylori* therapy.

Considerations for choice of *H. pylori* treatment regimens

As participants enter the programme, they should be informed that the treatment is not uniformly successful in eradicating *H. pylori* infection or in preventing gastric cancer and that participation in the programme does not preclude routine medical care. *H. pylori* screen-positive individuals should receive information and counselling about the possible (generally mild) adverse events and the importance of completing the full course of treatment as prescribed. Screen-positive individuals should be treated with regimens informed by local *H. pylori* antibiotic resistance and treatment success rates. Bismuth-containing quadruple therapy is recommended as a first-line therapy, because it is unaffected by clarithromycin resistance and can overcome metronidazole resistance.

Antibiotic stewardship for population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes, including testing of cure and monitoring of antibiotic resistance

The Working Group emphasized that population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes for gastric cancer prevention should follow robust antibiotic stewardship principles, with oversight by a multidisciplinary group that monitors antibiotic use and resistance. When implementing a programme, a priori treatment success metrics should be established. *H. pylori* eradication rates should be assessed through systematic follow-up testing of treated individuals. *H. pylori* strains from a subset of participants should be tested for antibiotic resistance before and after programme implementation. The impact of increased exposure to antibiotics on the human microbiome, including the resistome, is not yet fully understood, and thus continued awareness, monitoring, and research are warranted. Further investment is needed to develop highly effective *H. pylori* therapies and vaccines. Policy-makers

implementing *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes must work to minimize the potential negative impacts of these programmes.

Process and outcome measures for improving the quality and equity of *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes for gastric cancer prevention

A population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme for gastric cancer prevention should adhere to the principles of an organized screening programme for effective and equitable outcomes across groups. The programme must be supported by an information system for data collection and generation of quality indicators. Quality indicators must be monitored to ensure and improve programme effectiveness, equity, safety, and cost–effectiveness. The Working Group emphasized that to ensure equity, at-risk communities should be involved in the design and governance of the *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme.

How to optimize the cost–benefits of *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes for gastric cancer prevention

The Working Group concluded that the *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategy is costeffective (and may be cost saving) in high-risk settings. It is likely to be cost-effective even in low-risk settings. The optimal strategies (with respect to target population, *H. pylori* detection methods, age, confirmatory tests, and choice of treatment) depend on the local context. The Working Group emphasized the importance of decision modelling for making recommendations for the context-appropriate strategy based on information collected from local pilot projects. Long-term follow-up data on ancillary benefits and potential harms are needed to improve decision modelling, because these may play a significant role in the balance between the benefits, harms, and costs of *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes.

Conclusions

This Working Group Report, for the first time, comprehensively discussed and laid out essential considerations to be incorporated when implementing population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies as an organized programme for gastric cancer prevention.

The Working Group emphasized that a population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme should be considered a public health priority in areas or populations

with elevated risk, for gastric cancer prevention. Assessment of needs and readiness at the local level by running pilot projects is essential before implementing the programme. Options for the screening test include the UBT, the SAT, and the serology test. The choice of treatment should be informed by local *H. pylori* antibiotic resistance data and eradication success rates, and the Working Group recommends bismuth-containing quadruple therapy as a first-line therapy. Ensuring and adopting robust antibiotic stewardship is of paramount importance for the success of the programmes, and further investment is urgently needed to develop highly effective *H. pylori* therapies and vaccines. The Working Group emphasized that *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes have the greatest chance of being equitable if the people with the highest rates of *H. pylori* infection participate and are successfully treated. Recognizing that the *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategy is cost-effective for preventing gastric cancer, decision modelling is instrumental for recommending the context-appropriate strategy based on information collected from local pilot projects.

In the light of the increasing global burden of gastric cancer, driven by shifting epidemiological trends, the Working Group emphasized that prevention remains the most effective strategy for reducing this burden. Outlining essential considerations for implementing population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes for gastric cancer prevention, this Working Group Report serves as a global reference for future development of evidence-based recommendations, best practice guidelines, and related quality assurance schemes.

*IARC Gastric Cancer Working Group (in alphabetical order)

Christian C. Abnet M. Constanza Camargo II Ju Choi Gary Clifford Mário Dinis-Ribeiro David Forman Markus Gerhard

Javier P. Gisbert

Karen J. Goodman

Joo Ha Hwang

Manami Inoue

Violet Kayamba

Iris Lansdorp-Vogelaar

Yi-Chia Lee

Mārcis Leja

Wai Keung Leung

Wen-Qing Li

Peter Malfertheiner

Zorana Maravic

Tamara Matysiak-Budnik

Melissa McLeod

Francis Mégraud

Paul Moayyedi

Eileen Morgan

Duco T. Mülder

Jin Young Park

Julie Parsonnet

Pempa Pempa

Guru Prasad Dhakal

Arnoldo Riquelme

Peter Sasieni

Stella Smith

Janet Takens

Andrea Teng

Bojan Tepeš

Reference

 IARC Helicobacter pylori Working Group (2014). Helicobacter pylori eradication as a strategy for preventing gastric cancer (IARC Working Group Reports No. 8). Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer. Available from: <u>https://publications.iarc.who.int/391</u>.

Abbreviations

ACG	American College of Gastroenterology
ACHED	Chilean Association of Digestive Endoscopy
AHMSG	African Helicobacter and Microbiota Study Group
ASEAN	Association of Southeast Asian Nations
ASR	age-standardized rate
AWaRe	Access, Watch, Reserve
BUPA	British United Provident Association
CANHelp	Canadian North Helicobacter pylori
CanSPUC	Cancer Screening Program in Urban China
CCSS	Caja Costarricense de Seguro Social
CDC	United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
CGC	cardia gastric cancer
CI	confidence interval
CISNET	Cancer Intervention and Surveillance Modeling Network
CONCORD	Global Surveillance of Trends in Cancer Survival
COX-2	cyclooxygenase-2
СТ	computed tomography
DCEG	Division of Cancer Epidemiology and Genetics
DDD	defined daily dose
EAPC	estimated annual percentage change
ECHOS	Endoscopic Cohort and Histological OLGA Staging
EEA	European Economic Area
ELISA	enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
EMR	endoscopic mucosal resection
EU	European Union
EUCanScreen	European Joint Action on Cancer Screening
EUROHELICAN	Accelerating Gastric Cancer Reduction in Europe through <i>H. pylori</i> Eradication
FIT	faecal immunochemical test
GC-GAP	Gastric Cancer Global Action Preparedness

GCPL	Gastric Cancer Precursor Lesions
GISTAR	Multicentric Randomized Study of <i>H. pylori</i> Eradication and Pepsinogen Testing for Prevention of Gastric Cancer Mortality
GRADE	Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation
HDI	Human Development Index
HELPER	Helicobacter pylori Eradication for Gastric Cancer Prevention in the General Population
HER2	human epidermal growth factor receptor 2
HOPE-Hp-GC	Hospital and Outpatient Prevention Program to Eradicate <i>H. pylori</i> and Gastric Cancer
HP	anti- <i>H. pylori</i> IgG antibody
Hp-AfricaReg	H. pylori Africa Registry
Hp-EuReg	European Registry on H. pylori Management
Hp-LATAMReg	Latin American Registry on the Management of H. pylori Infection
Hp-RESLA	H. pylori-antibiotics RESistance in Latin America
HPSS	United Kingdom H. pylori Screening Study
HPV	human papillomavirus
HR	hazard ratio
IARC	International Agency for Research on Cancer
ICD-10	International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems, 10th revision
ICER	incremental cost-effectiveness ratio
lgG	immunoglobulin G
IL	interleukin
KNCSP	Korean National Cancer Screening Program
KNHIS	Korean National Health Insurance Service
LAC	Latin America and the Caribbean
LGIN	low-grade intraepithelial neoplasia
MALT	mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue
MISCAN	Microsimulation Screening Analysis
MITS	Mass Intervention Trial in Linqu, Shandong
NCGC	non-cardia gastric cancer
NCI	United States National Cancer Institute

NIH	United States National Institutes of Health
NNT	number needed to treat
NPV	negative predictive value
OGD	oesophago-gastro-duodenoscopy
OLGA	Operative Link on Gastritis Assessment
OLGIM	Operative Link on Gastric Intestinal Metaplasia Assessment
OPGE	Pan American Gastroenterology Organization (Organización Panamericana de Gastroenterología)
OR	odds ratio
OSCC	oesophageal squamous cell carcinoma
P-CAB	potassium-competitive acid blocker
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PD-L1	programmed death-ligand 1
PG	pepsinogen
PHIA	Population-based HIV Impact Assessment
PPI	proton pump inhibitor
PPV	positive predictive value
QALY	quality-adjusted life year
RCT	randomized controlled trial
RR	relative risk
RUT	rapid urease test
SAT	stool antigen test
SEER	Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results
SIT	Shandong Intervention Trial
Th	T helper
TOGAS	Towards Gastric Cancer Screening Implementation in the European Union
UBT	urea breath test
UGCED	Upper Gastrointestinal Cancer Early Detection
UGIE	upper gastrointestinal endoscopy
UGIS	upper gastrointestinal series
WHO	World Health Organization

Introduction

Jin Young Park

Background

In 2013, a Working Group convened by the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) [1] to consider strategies for gastric cancer prevention through Helicobacter pylori eradication recommended introducing population-based H. pylori screen-and-treat programmes in conjunction with a scientific assessment of the programme's processes, feasibility, effectiveness, and possible adverse consequences. Other international guidelines and consensus reports [2, 3] have also recommended the implementation of *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes, especially in high-risk areas for gastric cancer. The strategy has additional benefits in reducing the prevalence of other important clinical conditions, such as peptic ulcer disease, dyspepsia, iron-deficiency anaemia, and idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura. It also provides a key opportunity to address the inequalities associated with gastric cancer, even in low-risk areas for gastric cancer.

Population-based *H. pylor*i screen-and-treat programmes are being implemented, albeit slowly, in some Asian settings with a high prevalence of *H. pylori* infection, such as in the Matsu Islands [4], in Japan (through national insurance coverage of *H. pylori* treatment) [5], and in Bhutan [6]. In particular, Bhutan recently initiated two national programmes for gastric cancer prevention as part of its Health Flagship Programme: (i) population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes for people aged 18–75 years, and (ii) population-based screening for precancerous lesions using upper endoscopy for people aged 40–75 years [6]. Other countries, such as China, Japan, and the Republic of Korea, continue to focus their efforts on population-based screening for gastric cancer using national or regional endoscopic screening programmes.

Population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes are also seen as important tools for gastric cancer prevention in European Union countries, especially for countries with a high burden of gastric cancer. These programmes were endorsed in the recently announced Europe's Beating Cancer Plan and in

28

subsequent recommendations on the prevention of gastric cancer from Science Advice for Policy by European Academies [7] and the European Council [8].

The outcomes of the implementation of population-based *H. pylori* screen-andtreat programmes in high-risk areas of Europe will be investigated in two European Union projects for gastric cancer prevention that have been launched recently: Accelerating Gastric Cancer Reduction in Europe through *H. pylori* Eradication (EUROHELICAN) and Towards Gastric Cancer Screening Implementation in the European Union (TOGAS).

Despite the international guidelines and recent initiatives and interest in implementing *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes in asymptomatic populations for gastric cancer prevention in various regions, no global guidance is currently available on how to successfully implement and evaluate such programmes at the population level.

Objectives and scope

As part of the EUROHELICAN project, IARC convened a 3-day Working Group Meeting bringing together an international, interdisciplinary group of experts to discuss best practices in the implementation of population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies for adult populations for gastric cancer prevention.

This IARC Working Group Report addresses population-based *H. pylori* screenand-treat strategies as specific interventions for the primary prevention of gastric cancer. The scope and objective of the Working Group Report need to be distinguished from existing guidelines or consensus that have been developed within the context of clinical management of chronic infection with *H. pylori* and are therefore oriented towards treatment of *H. pylori*-related clinical manifestations. In addition, such strategies should be distinguished from the secondary prevention of gastric cancer by early detection of precancerous lesions (i.e. precancers) or invasive cancers and their treatment, which is often termed "gastric cancer screening". To avoid confusion, clarification is always required as to whether the term "screen-and-treat" or "screening and treatment" refers to *H. pylori* infection (as is the case in this publication) or to precancerous lesions.

The scope of the Working Group Meeting and this Working Group Report is not limited to Europe but covers all world regions, including various levels of the Human

29

Development Index and background burdens of disease, to ensure that the guidance is globally applicable.

Structure of the report

Chapter 1 describes the global epidemiology of gastric cancer and H. pylori infection, based on the latest estimates from IARC's GLOBOCAN and Cancer Incidence in Five Continents databases. Chapter 2 summarizes the scientific evidence on the effect of population-based H. pylori screen-and-treat strategies for guidelines cancer prevention and the currently available aastric and recommendations on the strategies. Chapter 3 presents various gastric cancer prevention efforts for each World Health Organization (WHO) region and highlights the gaps in knowledge and the future efforts that are needed.

The subsequent chapters detail programmatic aspects of the strategies for implementation at the population level. **Chapter 4** provides an overview of the needs and readiness to implement *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies locally, **Chapter 5** presents considerations for selecting *H. pylori* detection methods, and **Chapter 6** discusses considerations for choosing treatment regimens for population-based implementation of *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies. **Chapter 7** discusses antibiotic stewardship, focusing on the key principles to ensure the appropriate use of antibiotics to fight against the global threat of antimicrobial resistance. **Chapter 8** proposes process and outcome measures for improving the quality and equity of the strategies, and **Chapter 9** discusses how to optimize the cost–benefits of population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes for gastric cancer prevention.

Definitions

In Chapters 1 and 3, incidence, mortality, trends over time, and absolute burdens across countries and regions with different levels of the Human Development Index are described in terms of the numbers of new cases and deaths, and age-standardized rates (ASRs, world standard population) are used for international comparisons to account for differences in age structures. In other chapters, such as **Chapters 4** and **8**, in which the planning aspects of the strategies are discussed, crude and age-specific rates are also used to reflect the actual experience of the specific population and the true magnitude of the health risks, and to highlight high-risk subgroups that may warrant intervention [9].

Although the Working Group wanted to avoid endorsing strict (bright-line) criteria based on ASRs to define high risk or low risk of gastric cancer, in this publication incidence rates (ASR) of < 10 per 100 000 person-years are used as indicative of "low" risk, and incidence rates (ASR) of \geq 10 per 100 000 person-years indicate populations with "intermediate to high" risk.

References

- 1. IARC *Helicobacter pylori* Working Group (2014). *Helicobacter pylori* eradication as a strategy for preventing gastric cancer (IARC Working Group Reports No. 8). Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer. Available from: <u>https://publications.iarc.who.int/391</u>.
- Malfertheiner P, Megraud F, Rokkas T, Gisbert JP, Liou J-M, Schulz C, et al.; European Helicobacter and Microbiota Study group (2022). Management of *Helicobacter pylori* infection: the Maastricht VI/Florence consensus report. Gut. 71(9):1724–62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2022-327745</u> PMID:35944925
- Liou JM, Malfertheiner P, Lee YC, Sheu B-S, Sugano K, Cheng H-C, et al.; Asian Pacific Alliance on Helicobacter and Microbiota (APAHAM) (2020). Screening and eradication of *Helicobacter pylori* for gastric cancer prevention: the Taipei global consensus. Gut. 69(12):2093–112. https://doi.org/10.1136/gutinl-2020-322368 PMID:33004546
- Chiang TH, Chang WJ, Chen SL, Yen AM, Fann JC, Chiu SY, et al. (2021). Mass eradication of *Helicobacter pylori* to reduce gastric cancer incidence and mortality: a long-term cohort study on Matsu Islands. Gut. 70(2):243–50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2020-322200</u> PMID:32792335
- 5. Asaka M, Mabe K (2014). Strategies for eliminating death from gastric cancer in Japan. Proc Jpn Acad Ser B Phys Biol Sci. 90(7):251–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.2183/pjab.90.251</u> PMID:25169671
- Dorji T, Wangmo S, Dargay S, Dorji N, Dorjey Y, Pradhan B, et al. (2024). Population-level cancer screening and cancer care in Bhutan, 2020–2023: a review. Lancet Reg Health Southeast Asia. 24:100370. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lansea.2024.100370</u> PMID:38444883
- 7. SAPEA (2022). Improving cancer screening in the European Union. Berlin, Germany: Science Advice for Policy by European Academies. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.26356/cancerscreening</u>.
- Council of the European Union (2022). Council Recommendation on strengthening prevention through early detection: a new EU approach on cancer screening, replacing Council Recommendation 2003/878/EC. Available from: <u>https://data.consilium.europa.eu/doc/document/ST-14770-2022-</u> INIT/en/pdf.
- Thurber KA, Thandrayen J, Maddox R, Barrett EM, Walker J, Priest N, et al. (2022). Reflection on modern methods: statistical, policy and ethical implications of using age-standardized health indicators to quantify inequities. Int J Epidemiol. 51(1):324–33. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyab132</u> PMID:34223891

Chapter 1.

The global epidemiology of gastric cancer and *Helicobacter pylori*: current and future perspectives for prevention

Eileen Morgan, Gary Clifford, and Jin Young Park

Summary

- Gastric cancer remains and will remain a major global public health problem because of a substantial demographic-driven increase in burden, despite the decreasing incidence trends observed in many countries.
- The largest relative increases in the absolute numbers of new cases of gastric cancer and deaths from gastric cancer are predicted for countries with low and medium levels of the Human Development Index.
- The majority of gastric cancer cases are attributable to chronic infection with *H. pylori*, which is highly preventable. This highlights the importance of coordinated global action for prevention of *H. pylori* infection, to reduce suffering and death from gastric cancer.

1.1 Introduction

This chapter examines the global landscape of gastric cancer incidence and mortality in 2022. Overall comparisons of gastric cancer incidence and mortality rates between countries are presented using age-standardized rates (ASRs). This chapter focuses on variations in gastric cancer incidence and mortality rates in countries with different levels of the Human Development Index (HDI) using the databases of recorded data and estimates that are collected and disseminated by IARC. The trends in incidence of gastric cancer over time are presented for selected countries. Where possible, global patterns of incidence rates are examined for the two main subsites of gastric cancer: cardia gastric cancer (CGC) and non-cardia gastric cancer (NCGC). CGC, which occurs in the part of the stomach adjoining the gastro-oesophageal junction, and NCGC, which occurs in the distal regions of the stomach, have overlapping and distinct risk factors,

which warrant independent investigation. Predictions for the future global burden of these cancers and the preventable cases are made based on the current estimates. Finally, the global patterns of gastric cancer described in this chapter are presented in the context of the known risk factors for gastric cancer, with a focus on *H. pylori* infection and its contribution to the global burden of gastric cancer incidence.

1.2 Data sources and methods

This chapter explores the current patterns and trends of gastric cancer using the recorded trends and estimates hosted at IARC and distributed on the IARC Global Cancer Observatory platform [1]. Estimates of new gastric cancer cases and deaths from gastric cancer in 2022 in 185 countries and territories worldwide were extracted from the GLOBOCAN database. The sources and methods that were used to estimate country-specific incidence and mortality have been documented elsewhere [2]. Incidence and mortality across countries and regions with different HDI levels are described in terms of the numbers of new cases and deaths, as well as the ASRs, so that comparisons across countries can be made. Cancer Incidence in Five Continents Volume XII is an IARC publication that uses high-quality incidence data provided by population-based cancer registries [3]. This chapter provides the incidence patterns for the two main subsites of gastric cancer: CGC, which is defined as International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems, 10th revision (ICD-10) code C16.0, and NCGC, which is defined as ICD-10 codes C16.1–C16.9, whereby cancers with overlapping or undefined topography were considered to be NCGC. In instances in which > 75% of all cases of gastric cancer in a population were coded as "not otherwise specified", which is defined as ICD-10 code C16.9, these were excluded from any subsite analyses. Sex- and age-specific proportions of CGC and NCGC subtypes were calculated for the countries in Cancer Incidence in Five Continents, and these proportions were then applied to the total number of estimated gastric cancer cases by 5-year age group, sex, and country in GLOBOCAN 2022. The ASRs of incidence and mortality (per 100 000 person-years) were calculated based on the world standard population [4], sex, and HDI level. Patterns by HDI level were examined to investigate variations in gastric cancer incidence and mortality in terms of the level of resources and societal development of countries. HDI was defined using the predefined four-tier distribution described in the United Nations Development Programme's Human Development Report 2021–2022 [5]. Trends in gastric cancer incidence over time were

examined using data from population-based cancer registries of cases diagnosed in 1980–2017 [3, 6, 7]. The numbers of new gastric cancer cases by 2050 were predicted using demographic projections assuming that rates as estimated in 2022 remained stable over the prediction period (2022–2050).

1.3 Global patterns of gastric cancer

Gastric cancer is the fifth most commonly diagnosed cancer and the fifth leading cause of cancer death worldwide, with an age-standardized incidence rate of 9.2 per 100 000 person-years and an age-standardized mortality rate of 6.1 per 100 000 person-years in 2022 [8]. In absolute numbers, an estimated 969 000 new cases of gastric cancer (4.8% of all cancer cases) were diagnosed and 660 000 deaths from gastric cancer (6.8% of all cancer deaths) occurred in 2022 [1].

A wide variation in gastric cancer incidence and mortality rates is observed across world regions (Fig. 1.1). The regions of eastern Asia (male ASR, 23.0 per 100 000 person-years; female ASR, 9.7 per 100 000 person-years; 521 000 new cases combined) and eastern Europe (male ASR, 16.2; female ASR, 7.7; 66 400 new cases combined) have the highest incidence rates. By World Health Organization (WHO) region, the Western Pacific Region has the highest incidence (ASR, 15.2; 543 757 new cases), followed by the European Region (ASR, 8.4; 161 553 new cases), the Eastern Mediterranean Region (ASR, 6.6; 37 781 new cases), the Region of the Americas (ASR, 6.4; 103 924 new cases), the South-East Asia Region (ASR, 4.4; 95 622 new cases), and the African Region (ASR, 4.1; 25 851 new cases) [1].


Fig. 1.1. Global incidence of gastric cancer in 2022 by country. ASR, age-standardized rate. Source: Ferlay et al. (2024) [1].

Of the top 25 countries for incidence of gastric cancer worldwide, Mongolia (male ASR, 53.0 per 100 000 person-years; female ASR, 21.9 per 100 000 person-years), Japan (male ASR, 40.9; female ASR, 15.9), and the Republic of Korea (male ASR, 38.4; female ASR, 16.9) have the highest incidence rates in both males and females (Fig. 1.2) [1]. Similar patterns in mortality are observed, with high mortality rates observed in countries with high incidence rates of gastric cancer. Japan and the Republic of Korea are exceptions to this pattern, because the mortality rates are about one quarter of the incidence rates observed in these countries. This is probably due to the introduction of radiographic screening in the 1960s in Japan, which was expanded to a nationwide screening programme in 1983 [9], and the introduction of an endoscopic-focused national screening programme in the Republic of Korea in 2000 [10], which have led to a shift in the stage at diagnosis and markedly improved the survival proportion of this cancer, which generally has a poor prognosis [11, 12].



Fig. 1.2. Age-standardized incidence and mortality rates (per 100 000 person-years) for the 25 countries with the highest incidence rates of gastric cancer, from GLOBOCAN 2022. Source: Ferlay et al. (2024) [1].

The risk of gastric cancer varies substantially even within the same region (Fig. 1.3) [1]. Also, certain populations within low-incidence countries have a higher risk of gastric cancer, for example specific ethnic groups (see Chapter 4).



Fig. 1.3. Age-standardized incidence rates (per 100 000 person-years) of gastric cancer, in males, by world region. Source: Ferlay et al. (2024) [1].

Gastric cancer incidence was higher in areas with higher levels of HDI; 830 000 cases (85.7% of all gastric cancer cases) occurred in countries with high or very high HDI, compared with 138 000 cases (14.3% of all cases) in countries with low or medium HDI. This is driven by the high incidence rates in a few countries: the Republic of Korea and Japan in the group with very high HDI and China in the group with high HDI. China, the most populous of the countries with high or very high HDI, accounts for 43% of the cases of gastric cancer in the countries with high and very high HDI (359 000 cases), which is 37% of all gastric cancer cases worldwide. For mortality from gastric cancer, countries with low and medium HDI contribute to an important proportion of deaths from gastric cancer (18.4% of all gastric cancer deaths) relative to their contribution to the global gastric cancer burden (14.3% of all gastric cancer cases). This indicates a need to initiate dialogue to enable more affordable preventive strategies for gastric cancer to be made available in these countries.

1.4 Overview of gastric cancer incidence by subsite (cardia and non-cardia)

NCGC is the most common subtype of gastric cancer (853 000 cases), and this subtype contributes 82% of all gastric cancer cases worldwide, compared with CGC (181 000 cases), which contributes 18% of all cases. NCGC is consistently the more common subtype in all regions worldwide. The highest incidence rates of both subtypes are observed in East Asia (Fig. 1.4) [3]. Although both overlapping and distinct risk factors for the two subtypes have been identified, with much focus on the association of *H. pylori* infection and NCGC, there is increasing evidence for an association of *H. pylori* infection and CGC; about 62% of CGC cases in Asia could be attributable to *H. pylori* infection [14]. Given that the majority of the global NCGC and CGC burden is in East Asia [13], population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies may have even larger beneficial effects in these high-risk settings.



Fig. 1.4. Age-standardized incidence rates (per 100 000 person-years) of gastric cancer for each subsite, cardia gastric cancer (CGC) and non-cardia gastric cancer (NCGC), by world region. Source: Reproduced from Arnold et al. (2020) [13], © 2020 with permission from BMJ Publishing Group Ltd.

1.5 Trends in gastric cancer incidence over time

Fig. 1.5 shows the trends in the annual ASR of gastric cancer incidence in the countries for which data are available, and Fig. 1.6 shows the estimated annual percentage change (EAPC) of gastric cancer incidence rates in selected countries for the most recent 10 years (2008–2017). The decreasing prevalence of *H. pylori* infection as well as improved sanitation, changes in diet, and widespread use of antibiotics may have resulted in decreases in the incidence of gastric cancer, predominantly in countries with higher HDI [16]. During the most recent 10 years (2008–2017), gastric cancer incidence rates mostly decreased across countries, with incidence rates decreasing by more than 3% per year in several countries, including Bahrain, Costa Rica, Cyprus, Czechia, Denmark, Malta, Norway, Qatar, the Netherlands, the Republic of Korea, and the United Kingdom (England) [15].



Fig. 1.5. Trends in age-standardized incidence rates (per 100 000 person-years) for gastric cancer in selected countries, 1980–2017. Source: Ervik et al. (2024) [15].



Fig. 1.6. Estimated annual percentage change (EAPC) of gastric cancer incidence rates for the most recent 10 years (2008–2017) in selected countries. CI, confidence interval. Source: Ervik et al. (2024) [15].

Previous studies have noted that the decreasing trends in gastric cancer incidence observed in some countries were more pronounced in older age groups, and an equivalent decrease has not always been seen in younger age groups [17, 18]. In younger populations (aged < 50 years) in 15 of 34 countries with both low and high incidence rates, increases in incidence have been observed [17]. In the same age group, increasing incidence rates of 1.3% per year in 1995–2013 for NCGC in non-Hispanic White Americans were reported using data from a population-based registry in the USA [19]. These increases were especially pronounced for women (EAPC, 2.6%). Although these observations are important, they require careful interpretation, because some of the observed increases may be due to the redistribution of unspecified tumours [13].

1.6 The burden of gastric cancer incidence and mortality by 2050

Although incidence rates of gastric cancer have been generally decreasing in countries, the absolute number of new gastric cancer cases is expected to increase because of demographic changes in populations (i.e. population growth and increasing longevity). Globally, it is predicted that there will be an 87.5% increase in the number of gastric cancer cases, assuming that current rates remain stable, from the 969 000 new cases estimated in 2022 to 1.82 million new cases estimated in 2050 [20]. By WHO region, the Western Pacific Region is expected to have the highest numbers of new cases and deaths in 2050 (961 000 new cases, 646 000 deaths) and the African Region to have the lowest numbers (67 700 new cases, 59 500 deaths). However, the largest relative increases are expected in the African Region, with increases of 162.0% in the number of new cases and 163.9% in the number of deaths (Fig. 1.7). The absolute number of new cases predicted in 2050 will be highest in countries with higher HDI (1.4 million cases) compared with countries with lower HDI (306 190 cases). The largest relative increases in new cases are predicted to occur in countries with low and medium HDI, with an increase of 153.2% in countries with low HDI and an increase of 114.0% in countries with medium HDI (Fig. 1.8A). The number of deaths from gastric cancer is predicted to increase by 94.7% by 2050, from the 660 000 deaths estimated in 2022 to 1.29 million deaths estimated in 2050. The largest relative increases in gastric cancer deaths are predicted to occur in countries with lower HDI, with an increase of 154.2% in countries with low HDI and an increase of 116.2% in countries with medium HDI, contributing about 271 195 deaths in 2050 (Fig. 1.8B).







Estimated number of deaths from 2022 to 2050, Both sexes, age [0-85+] Stomach







These predictions are based on the assumption that current rates will remain stable. In many countries, a decrease in gastric cancer incidence and mortality has been observed, with an annual percentage decrease of $\geq 3\%$ in many countries. However, even if the 3% annual decrease is assumed to be observed globally, there will still be a 50% increase in the predicted numbers of gastric cancer cases by 2050, with an estimated 1.45 million new cases.



Fig. 1.8. Estimated number of (top) new cases of gastric cancer and (bottom) deaths from gastric cancer, 2022 to 2050, by level of Human Development Index (HDI). Source: Ferlay et al. (2024) [20].

1.7 Lifetime estimates of expected and preventable gastric cancers

IARC estimated the numbers of expected and preventable gastric cancer cases for people born between 2008 and 2017 globally [21]. Based on data from GLOBOCAN 2022, the lifetime global burden of gastric cancer in these birth cohorts is expected to reach 15.6 million cases in the absence of any additional preventive efforts. By applying the reference-standard attributable fractions given in Table 1.1, it was estimated that about 76% of the gastric cancer burden in these birth cohorts was attributable to *H. pylori* infection and therefore was theoretically preventable.

Gastric	Gastric o	cancer cases	Сог	ntrols	Odds ratio (95%	Attributable
and country or region	Number	<i>H. pylori</i> positivity (%)	Number	H. pylori positivity (%)	0.,	(95% CI)
NCGC in China	500	94	500	76	5.9 (3.3–10.8)	78 (65–86)
CGC in China	500	92	500	76	3.1 (1.5–6.1)	62 (32–77)
NCGC in Australia, Europe, USA	230	93	803	61	15.0 (7.9–28.6)	87 (82–90) ^a

Table 1.1. Proportions of non-cardia gastric cancer (NCGC) and cardia gastric cancer (CGC) attributable to *H. pylori* infection, by world region

CI, confidence interval.

^a Considered to be representative of the world outside China.

Source: Adapted from Gu et al. (2023) [22]. Reprinted by permission of Taylor & Francis Ltd (http://www.tandfonline.com).

The results showed Asia as the main contributor of the total estimated lifetime burden of gastric cancer in these birth cohorts, as expected, but also highlighted Africa and the Americas as the second most important regions to target for gastric cancer prevention in the future. The impact of demographic change is substantial, and it is expected that the gastric cancer burden will increase 4–8-fold across a lifetime in an average single birth cohort in Africa, mostly in sub-Saharan Africa, compared with the total number of cases estimated for the region in 2022. Africa is considered as an area of low gastric cancer incidence, despite having a very high prevalence of *H. pylori* infection; this is often referred to as the African enigma [23]. The data suggest that this may be a historical artefact of population structure, and indicate the need for local policy discussions and cancer control planning in the region to prevent increases in the numbers of gastric cancer cases linked to the substantial demographic changes expected in the future in Africa.

1.8 Risk factors for gastric cancer

The main risk factor for gastric cancer is chronic infection with *H. pylori*, which is classified by IARC as carcinogenic to humans (Group 1) [24, 25]. In 2021, the National Toxicology Program's 15th Report on Carcinogens added chronic infection with *H. pylori* to its list of substances that are known or reasonably anticipated to cause cancer in humans [26].

Chronic infection with H. pylori is responsible for the large majority of NCGC [22, 27, 28] (see Section 1.9). H. pylori infection causes a sequence of changes in the gastric mucosa: gastritis, atrophic gastritis, intestinal metaplasia, and dysplasia, which eventually leads to the development of cancer [29]. The global prevalence of H. pylori infection was 48% in an analysis of data from 62 countries [30], with substantial geographical variations. For example, the prevalence of H. pylori infection was highest in Africa, with a pooled estimate of 70%, and Oceania had the lowest prevalence (24%) [30]. These regional prevalence estimates indicated that 4.4 billion individuals worldwide had H. pylori infection in 2015 [30]. A recent review over various time periods showed that the crude global prevalence of H. pylori infection was 44% in adults and 35% in children and adolescents in 2015-2022 [31]. In adults, the prevalence of H. pylori infection has decreased by 16% during the past 30 years, but a corresponding decrease has not been observed in children and adolescents [31]. However, the reviews of the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection worldwide found substantial heterogeneity between studies, for example in terms of study design, diagnostic methods for *H. pylori* infection, population subgroups, and population age [31, 32].

In addition to *H. pylori* infection, the role of Epstein–Barr virus infection is implicated in about 10% of cases of gastric cancer [33, 34], but it is not known whether Epstein– Barr virus is a risk factor for gastric cancer that is independent of *H. pylori* infection, or whether it is a co-factor. Smoking and familial predisposition are also associated with increased risk of gastric cancer. Other modifiable risk factors that are linked to increased risk of gastric cancer include being overweight or obese (for CGC), consuming alcohol (\geq 3 alcoholic drinks per day), and consuming foods that have been preserved by salting, including pickled vegetables and salted or dried fish [35]. The interactive role of risk factors has also been investigated; for example, in Asian populations, the presence of *H. pylori* infection along with a high dietary salt intake was associated with a higher risk of gastric cancer compared with the absence of infection and a low salt intake [36]. An increased risk of gastric cancer was also found to be associated with the consumption of red meat and processed meat, and with the endogenous formation of nitrosamines; however, this association was observed only in people with *H. pylori* infection [37]. These results are based on small, mainly case–control studies; larger, prospective cohort studies are needed to confirm these findings.

1.9 Fraction of gastric cancer attributable to H. pylori infection

Accurate quantification of the fraction of gastric cancer attributable to *H. pylori* infection is highly dependent on obtaining accurate estimates of relative risk, and recent improvements in study designs have increased the accuracy of these estimates [22, 27]. First, *H. pylori* antibodies can spontaneously disappear during the carcinogenic process and thus require assessment in blood long before the development of gastric cancer, so that relative risks are higher in prospective study designs than in classic case–control studies. Second, the use of more sensitive immunoblotting, rather than the older enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) technology, has further increased the estimates of relative risk (and hence the attributable fraction) [27].

The significant relative risks for *H. pylori* infection were first established for NCGC, predominantly in studies in Australia, Europe, and the USA [25, 27, 38]. More recently, a large prospective study in China found significant associations not only for NCGC but also for CGC [14].

Based on relative risks and prevalence of *H. pylori* infection in gastric cancer cases from reference-standard studies (i.e. those testing for *H. pylori* by immunoblotting in samples > 10 years before gastric cancer diagnosis), the attributable fractions for cases of NCGC were recently estimated to be 87% in the low-risk settings for gastric cancer of Australia, Europe, and the USA and 78% in the high-risk setting for gastric cancer of China [22]. Furthermore, 62% of cases of CGC in China were also estimated to be attributable to *H. pylori* infection. The apparent discrepancy in the etiological role of *H. pylori* infection in CGC in China versus in Australia, Europe, and the USA, where earlier studies found no, or even inverse, associations of *H. pylori* infection and CGC [22], may be due to differences in the anatomical location of cancer, with CGC in Australia, Europe, and the USA tending to involve the distal oesophagus and CGC in East Asia involving the proximal stomach. Given the substantial role of *H. pylori* infection in CGC worldwide, any beneficial effects of *H. pylori* eradication will extend beyond NCGC as a target for gastric cancer prevention.

Given the very high seroprevalence of *H. pylori* infection in gastric cancer cases, the attributable fractions assessed in these reference-standard studies remain highly sensitive to the presence of only a few false-negative results. Thus, even these current best estimates may still be underestimates, and the true attributable fractions for *H. pylori* infection, particularly for NCGC, could approach 100% if *H. pylori* exposure could be measured perfectly.

1.10 Global burden of *H. pylori*-attributable cancer

By extrapolating the subsite- and region-specific attributable fractions given in Table 1.1 to the worldwide gastric cancer burden, IARC estimated that 850 000 (4.3%) of all cancers diagnosed worldwide in 2020 were directly attributable to *H. pylori* infection; of these *H. pylori*-attributable cancers, NCGC contributed 94%, CGC contributed 4%, and gastric lymphoma contributed 2%. This cancer burden is higher than that of any other cancer-causing infection, including human papillomavirus (HPV) (730 000 attributable cases) and hepatitis B virus and hepatitis C virus combined (550 000 attributable cases). For these infections, WHO launched the Cervical Cancer Elimination Initiative (in 2020) [39] and the hepatitis elimination initiative (in 2016) [40]; this highlights the need to prioritize a global *H. pylori* prevention strategy.

In line with the geographical disparities in gastric cancer risk and burden discussed earlier, the majority (62%) of *H. pylori*-attributable cancers are diagnosed in East Asia, where the corresponding incidence rates are the highest in the world [28] (Fig. 1.9).

Age-standardized rates (worldwide) per 100 000 individual in 2020 attributable to infections (Helicobacter pylori), by country



Fig. 1.9. Age-standardized incidence rate of *H. pylori*-attributable gastric cancer. ASR, age-standardized rate. Source: Reproduced from de Martel et al. (2019) [28]. © 2019 International Agency for Research on Cancer; licensee Elsevier.

1.11 Conclusions

These findings highlight that gastric cancer will remain a major global public health problem, with the projected demographic-driven increase in burden in low-risk areas in addition to the continuing burden in high-risk areas. Furthermore, these data highlight the potential public health impact of population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat approaches, which are evidence-based, relatively simple and effective, safe, and inexpensive to implement compared with cancer treatment, to reduce the *H. pylori*-attributable burden of gastric cancer.

References

- Ferlay J, Ervik M, Lam F, Laversanne M, Colombet M, Mery L, et al. (2024). Global Cancer Observatory: Cancer Today (version 1.1). Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer. Available from: <u>https://gco.iarc.who.int/today</u>.
- Ferlay J, Colombet M, Soerjomataram I, Parkin DM, Piñeros M, Znaor A, et al. (2021). Cancer statistics for the year 2020: An overview. Int J Cancer. 149(4):778–89. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.33588</u> <u>PMID:33818764</u>
- Bray F, Colombet M, Aitken JF, Bardot A, Eser S, Galceran J, et al., editors (2023). Cancer incidence in five continents, Vol. XII (IARC CancerBase No. 19). Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer. Available from: <u>https://ci5.iarc.who.int</u>.
- Doll R, Payne P, Waterhouse J, editors (1966). Cancer incidence in five continents: a technical report. Berlin, Germany: Springer. Available from: <u>https://link.springer.com/book/9783540034759</u>.
- 5. UNDP (2022). Human development report 2021–2022: uncertain times, unsettled lives: shaping our future in a transforming world. New York (NY), USA: United Nations Development Programme. Available from: https://hdr.undp.org/content/human-development-report-2022.
- Forman D, Bray F, Brewster DH, Gombe Mbalawa C, Kohler B, Piñeros M, et al., editors (2014). Cancer incidence in five continents, Vol. X. Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer. Available from: <u>https://ci5.iarc.who.int</u>.
- Bray F, Colombet M, Mery L, Piñeros M, Znaor A, Zanetti R, et al., editors (2017). Cancer incidence in five continents, Vol. XI (IARC CancerBase No. 14). Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer. Available from: <u>https://ci5.iarc.who.int</u>.
- Bray F, Laversanne M, Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Soerjomataram I, et al. (2024). Global cancer statistics 2022: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin. 74(3):229–63. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21834 PMID:38572751
- Hamashima C (2014). Current issues and future perspectives of gastric cancer screening. World J Gastroenterol. 20(38):13767–74. <u>https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v20.i38.13767</u> <u>PMID:25320514</u>
- Kim Y, Jun JK, Choi KS, Lee HY, Park EC (2011). Overview of the National Cancer Screening Programme and the cancer screening status in Korea. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 12(3):725–30. <u>PMID:21627372</u>
- 11. Jung KW, Won YJ, Kong HJ, Lee ES (2019). Cancer statistics in Korea: incidence, mortality, survival, and prevalence in 2016. Cancer Res Treat. 51(2):417–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.4143/crt.2019.138</u> PMID:30913865
- 12. Matsuda T, Saika K (2019). Cancer burden in Japan based on the latest cancer statistics: need for evidence-based cancer control programs. Ann Cancer Epidemiol. 2:2. https://doi.org/10.21037/ace.2018.08.01
- Arnold M, Ferlay J, van Berge Henegouwen MI, Soerjomataram I (2020). Global burden of oesophageal and gastric cancer by histology and subsite in 2018. Gut. 69(9):1564–71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutinl-2020-321600 PMID:32606208</u>
- Yang L, Kartsonaki C, Yao P, de Martel C, Plummer M, Chapman D, et al.; China Kadoorie Biobank Collaborative Group (2021). The relative and attributable risks of cardia and non-cardia gastric cancer associated with *Helicobacter pylori* infection in China: a case-cohort study. Lancet Public Health. 6(12):e888–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-2667(21)00164-X PMID:34838195
- 15. Ervik M, Lam F, Laversanne M, Colombet M, Ferlay J, Miranda-Filho A, et al. (2024). Global Cancer Observatory: Cancer Over Time. Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer. Available from: <u>https://gco.iarc.who.int/overtime</u>.
- Karimi P, Islami F, Anandasabapathy S, Freedman ND, Kamangar F (2014). Gastric cancer: descriptive epidemiology, risk factors, screening, and prevention. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 23(5):700–13. https://doi.org/10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-13-1057 PMID:24618998
- Arnold M, Park JY, Camargo MC, Lunet N, Forman D, Soerjomataram I (2020). Is gastric cancer becoming a rare disease? A global assessment of predicted incidence trends to 2035. Gut. 69(5):823– 9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutinl-2019-320234</u> PMID:32001553
- Lin Y, Zheng Y, Wang HL, Wu J (2021). Global patterns and trends in gastric cancer incidence rates (1988–2012) and predictions to 2030. Gastroenterology. 161(1):116–127.e8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2021.03.023</u> PMID:33744306
- Anderson WF, Rabkin CS, Turner N, Fraumeni JF Jr, Rosenberg PS, Camargo MC (2018). The changing face of noncardia gastric cancer incidence among US non-Hispanic whites. J Natl Cancer Inst. 110(6):608–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djx262 PMID:29361173</u>

- 20. Ferlay J, Laversanne M, Ervik M, Lam F, Colombet M, Mery L, et al. (2024). Global Cancer Observatory: Cancer Tomorrow (version 1.1). Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer. Available from: <u>https://gco.iarc.who.int/tomorrow</u>.
- 21. Park JY, Georges D, Alberts CJ, Bray F, Clifford G, Baussano I (2025). Lifetime estimates of expected and preventable gastric cancers in persons born between 2008 and 2017: a global birth cohort analysis. (forthcoming)
- 22. Gu J, He F, Clifford GM, Li M, Fan Z, Li X, et al. (2023). A systematic review and meta-analysis on the relative and attributable risk of *Helicobacter pylori* infection and cardia and non-cardia gastric cancer. Expert Rev Mol Diagn. 23(12):1251–61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14737159.2023.2277377</u> PMID:37905778
- 23. Holcombe C (1992). *Helicobacter pylori*: the African enigma. Gut. 33(4):429–31. https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.33.4.429 PMID:1582581
- 24. IARC (1994). Schistosomes, liver flukes and *Helicobacter pylori*. IARC Monogr Eval Carcinog Risks Hum. 61:1–241. Available from: <u>https://publications.iarc.who.int/79</u> <u>PMID:7715068</u>
- 25. IARC (2012). Biological agents. IARC Monogr Eval Carcinog Risks Hum. 100B:1–441. Available from: https://publications.iarc.who.int/119 PMID:23189750
- 26. NTP (2018). Report on Carcinogens monograph on *Helicobacter pylori* (chronic infection) (RoC Monograph 14). Research Triangle Park (NC), USA: National Toxicology Program, Public Health Service, Department of Health and Human Services. Available from: https://ntp.niehs.nih.gov/sites/default/files/ntp/roc/monographs/hpylori final20181026 508.pdf.
- 27. Plummer M, Franceschi S, Vignat J, Forman D, de Martel C (2015). Global burden of gastric cancer attributable to *Helicobacter pylori*. Int J Cancer. 136(2):487–90. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28999</u> PMID:24889903
- de Martel C, Georges D, Bray F, Ferlay J, Clifford GM (2020). Global burden of cancer attributable to infections in 2018: a worldwide incidence analysis. Lancet Glob Health. 8(2):e180–90. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(19)30488-7</u> PMID:31862245
- 29. Correa P, Piazuelo MB (2012). The gastric precancerous cascade. J Dig Dis. 13(1):2–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-2980.2011.00550.x PMID:22188910
- Hooi JKY, Lai WY, Ng WK, Suen MMY, Underwood FE, Tanyingoh D, et al. (2017). Global prevalence of *Helicobacter pylori* infection: systematic review and meta-analysis. Gastroenterology. 153(2):420–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2017.04.022</u> PMID:28456631
- Chen YC, Malfertheiner P, Yu HT, Kuo C-L, Chang Y-Y, Meng F-T, et al. (2024). Global prevalence of *Helicobacter pylori* infection and incidence of gastric cancer between 1980 and 2022. Gastroenterology. 166(4):605–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2023.12.022</u> PMID:38176660
- Li Y, Choi H, Leung K, Jiang F, Graham DY, Leung WK (2023). Global prevalence of *Helicobacter* pylori infection between 1980 and 2022: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 8(6):553–64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-1253(23)00070-5</u> PMID:37086739
- 33. Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network (2014). Comprehensive molecular characterization of gastric adenocarcinoma. Nature. 513(7517):202–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13480 PMID:25079317</u>
- 34. Hirabayashi M, Georges D, Clifford GM, de Martel C (2023). Estimating the global burden of Epstein-Barr virus-associated gastric cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 21(4):922–930.e21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cgh.2022.07.042</u> PMID:35963539
- 35. WCRF/AICR (2018). Diet, nutrition, physical activity, and stomach cancer. Continuous Update Project Report. World Cancer Research Fund/American Institute for Cancer Research. Available from: https://www.wcrf.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/stomach-cancer-report.pdf.
- Zhong C, Li KN, Bi JW, Wang BC (2012). Sodium intake, salt taste and gastric cancer risk according to Helicobacter pylori infection, smoking, histological type and tumor site in China. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 13(6):2481–4. <u>https://doi.org/10.7314/APJCP.2012.13.6.2481</u> PMID:22938408
- González CA, López-Carrillo L (2010). *Helicobacter pylori*, nutrition and smoking interactions: their impact in gastric carcinogenesis. Scand J Gastroenterol. 45(1):6–14. https://doi.org/10.3109/00365520903401959 PMID:20030576
- 38. *Helicobacter* and Cancer Collaborative Group (2001). Gastric cancer and *Helicobacter pylori*: a combined analysis of 12 case control studies nested within prospective cohorts. Gut. 49(3):347–53. https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.49.3.347 PMID:11511555
- 39. WHO (2020). Global strategy to accelerate the elimination of cervical cancer as a public health problem. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240014107.

40. WHO (2023). Guidance for country validation of viral hepatitis elimination and path to elimination. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240078635</u>.

Chapter 2.

Current evidence from randomized controlled trials of the benefits and harms of population-based *Helicobacter pylori* screen-andtreat strategies for gastric cancer prevention and review of the existing recommendations, consensus reports, and guidelines

Paul Moayyedi, Peter Malfertheiner, Yuhong Yuan, and Alexander C. Ford

Summary

- Guidelines have generally become more assertive over time in their recommendations for population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies.
- Recent guidelines have given divergent recommendations on the appropriateness of population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies for gastric cancer prevention.
- In a systematic review of randomized controlled trials of population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies, the Working Group identified eight trials, which involved 58 628 participants. The relative risk of gastric cancer in the *H. pylori* eradication arm was 0.64 (95% confidence interval, 0.48–0.84). The number needed to treat to prevent one case of gastric cancer was 228 (95% confidence interval, 158–514).
- *H. pylori* eradication was associated with reduced risk of recurrent gastric adenocarcinoma in patients with *H. pylori* infection (relative risk, 0.52; 95% confidence interval, 0.38–0.71). The number needed to treat was 18 (95% confidence interval, 14–30). This suggests that there is no "point of no return" for the prevention of gastric adenocarcinoma, provided that gastric adenocarcinoma has not already occurred before eradication therapy.
- There was no evidence that *H. pylori* eradication therapy increased the risk of oesophageal cancer or reflux symptoms.

- Population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies reduce the incidence of dyspepsia and reduce health-care costs in people allocated to treatment compared with no treatment or placebo.
- More trials are needed in populations at lower risk of gastric cancer.

2.1 Introduction

The Correa hypothesis describes the series of histological changes that are the precursors to gastric adenocarcinoma [1]. The discovery that these changes were strongly associated with a then-new infectious organism, eventually named H. pylori [2], led to the possibility that treating this infection could reduce the incidence of gastric cancer. This possibility grew stronger after three seminal observational studies [3-5], which showed that *H. pylori* infection was associated with a strong risk of the future development of gastric adenocarcinoma. These studies and other findings led to H. pylori being classified by IARC as carcinogenic to humans (Group 1) [6]. Therefore, H. *pylori* gastritis was recognized as an essential trigger in the oncogenic cascade, which, over a period of decades, leads to gastric cancer in a subset of individuals with H. pylori infection [1, 7]. This concept opened the door for gastric cancer to be recognized as a disease with an infectious etiology, and for *H. pylori* eradication to represent a rational strategy for gastric cancer prevention [8]. There are no alternative targets for intervention in the complex interplay of the bacterium with the genetic determinants of the host. Furthermore, dietary interventions were not associated with consistent and substantial benefits for gastric cancer prevention [9]. It was not clear that treating H. pylori infection would reduce the incidence of gastric cancer, but about 20 years ago randomized trials and guidelines addressing this topic started to emerge. This chapter explores what these guidelines have concluded over this period, summarizes the evidence from randomized controlled trials (RCTs) that population-based H. pylori screen-and-treat strategies may reduce the risk of gastric cancer, and explores the other key harms and benefits of such screen-and-treat strategies.

2.2 Statements from existing guidelines and consensus reports

The landmark event that initiated the development of guidelines on population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies was the convening in 2005 of an international working group that summarized and reviewed the available evidence on the relationship of *H. pylori* with gastric cancer and concluded that eradication of the infection had the

potential to prevent the disease. The data supporting this conclusion were obtained from animal experiments, cell biology studies, epidemiological studies, and clinical studies [10]. Guidelines addressing gastric cancer prevention by adopting *H. pylori* test-andtreat strategies soon followed. The first was the Maastricht III Consensus report, published in 2007 [11]. This consensus report evaluated existing evidence for *H. pylori*related interventions and stated that population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies were a promising approach, but the evidence was not sufficient to recommend this for populations, although the panel did recommend this for individuals at high risk of gastric cancer. The Asia–Pacific Consensus Guidelines on Gastric Cancer Prevention, published in 2008, were the first to recommend population-based screening for populations at high risk of gastric cancer [12]. These guidelines recommended against screening low-risk populations.

Since then, the development of guidelines has been a dynamic process, which has been influenced by several studies that have provided more evidence for the role of *H. pylori* eradication in gastric cancer prevention and have led to the extension of the statements and recommendations. Table 2.1 provides an overview of this progress, which is reflected by the key statements and recommendations published in the consensus reports and guidelines from 2007 to 2024.

The statements and recommendations in the Maastricht IV/Florence Consensus report [13], published in 2012, built on previous consensus groups that strongly recommended community *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies for gastric cancer prevention in areas with a substantial disease burden. This consensus report also proposed that screening should involve non-invasive testing for *H. pylori* infection [13]. In the Maastricht V/Florence Consensus report [14], published in 2017, the recommendation for the screen-and-treat approach in individuals with an increased risk of gastric cancer at the population level was enforced and extended by advising that communities at low and intermediate risk of gastric cancer were also included. The implementation of population-based screen-and-treat strategies became recognized as the main challenge, including how to administer *H. pylori* testing, which test to use, and what treatment should be given. Thus, this statement was made: "Public awareness campaigns for prevention of gastric cancer should be encouraged" [14].

55

Consensus report (year) [reference]	Statements and recommendations						
Maastricht III Consensus report	• Eradication of <i>H. pylori</i> prevents development of pre-neoplastic changes of the gastric mucosa.						
(2007) [11]	Eradication of <i>H. pylori</i> has the potential to reduce the risk of gastric cancer development. The optimal time to eradicate <i>H. pylori</i> is before pre-neoplastic conditions (atrophy, intestinal metaplasia) are present, probably in early adulthood.						
	• <i>H. pylori</i> eradication for gastric cancer prevention is cost-effective in economic analyses. Feasibility studies are required to further evaluate the benefits and risks of this strategy.						
	• The potential for gastric cancer prevention on a global scale is restricted by currently available treatments.						
	 New treatments are required for a global strategy of <i>H. pylori</i> eradication to prevent gastric cancer. 						
	• <i>H. pylori</i> eradication for gastric cancer prevention in populations at risk should be evaluated and considered.						
Asia–Pacific Consensus Guidelines (2008) [12]	• <i>H. pylori</i> screening and treatment is recommended for populations at high risk of gastric cancer.						
	• <i>H. pylori</i> screening can be effective even in older age groups.						
	<i>H. pylori</i> screening is not recommended for low-risk populations.						
Maastricht IV/Florence Consensus report	• An <i>H. pylori</i> screen-and-treat strategy should be explored in communities with a substantial burden of gastric cancer.						
(2012) [13]	• <i>H. pylori</i> eradication to prevent gastric cancer should be undertaken in populations at high risk.						
	• Validated serological tests for <i>H. pylori</i> and markers of atrophy (i.e. pepsinogens) are the best available non-invasive tests to identify individuals at high risk of gastric cancer.						
Maastricht V/Florence Consensus report	• <i>H. pylori</i> eradication for gastric cancer prevention is cost-effective in communities with a high risk of gastric cancer.						
(2017) [14]	• <i>H. pylori</i> eradication offers clinical and economic benefits other than gastric cancer prevention and should be considered in all communities.						
	• A screen-and-treat strategy for <i>H. pylori</i> gastritis should be considered in communities with a low to intermediate risk of gastric cancer.						
	Public awareness campaigns for prevention of gastric cancer should be encouraged.						
Bangkok Consensus report (2018) [15]	 Currently, community-based gastric cancer screening by endoscopy is not feasible in most ASEAN countries. 						
	 Community screening for <i>H. pylori</i> infection by non-invasive tests followed by eradication for gastric cancer prevention can be cost-effective depending on the disease burden in that community. 						
Taipei Global Consensus report (2020) [16]	• Young individuals would benefit most from <i>H. pylori</i> eradication because it cures <i>H. pylori</i> -related gastritis, reduces the risk of gastric cancer, and reduces transmission to their children.						
	• The screen-and-treat strategy for <i>H. pylori</i> infection is most cost-effective in young adults for gastric cancer prevention in regions with a high incidence of gastric cancer.						
	• The urea breath test or <i>H. pylori</i> stool antigen test are the preferred tests for mass screening, but a locally validated serology test may be considered.						
	• Population-wide screening and eradication of <i>H. pylori</i> infection should be integrated or included in national health-care priorities to optimize the resources.						

 Table 2.1. Consensus reports and guidelines on *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies for gastric cancer prevention

Consensus report (year) [reference]	Statements and recommendations					
Maastricht VI/Florence Consensus report	<i>H. pylori</i> eradication offers the chance for gastric cancer prevention at any age in adulthood. The magnitude of the benefit decreases with age.					
(2022) [17]	 Asymptomatic individuals older than 50 years are considered vulnerable and at increased risk of gastric cancer. 					
	Screening modalities for gastric cancer prevention (non-invasive or endoscopic) combined with colorectal cancer screening is an opportunity.					
	 Diagnostic tests used to screen <i>H. pylori</i> infection for the purpose of gastric cancer prevention should preferably be non-invasive. 					
	• If a serological method is used for <i>H. pylori</i> detection, a further test (urea breath test or stool antigen test) confirming current infection is required before initiating therapy.					
	 Population-based H. pylori test-and-treat strategies provide additional benefits by preventing other gastroduodenal pathologies. 					
Chinese Consensus report (2022) [18]	• <i>H. pylori</i> should be screened and treated among family members living in the same household with patients who have gastric cancer or gastric mucosal pre-neoplastic lesions.					
	• "Family-based <i>H. pylori</i> infection control and management" is an essential part of comprehensive <i>H. pylori</i> infection prevention and control strategies at the general public and community levels.					
ACG Clinical Guideline (2024) [19]	 Broadly applied <i>H. pylori</i> screening and eradication for the primary prevention of gastric adenocarcinoma is not currently recommended in the general population in the USA. 					
	• Testing and treatment of <i>H. pylori</i> infection is appropriate in high-risk patient subgroups and in high-risk populations that involve defined ethnicities.					
	Serology for screening is not recommended.					

 Table 2.1. Consensus reports and guidelines on *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies for gastric cancer prevention (continued)

ACG, American College of Gastroenterology; ASEAN, Association of Southeast Asian Nations.

The Bangkok Consensus report, published in 2018, stated that endoscopy-based gastric cancer screening was "not feasible" in most countries in the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) but considered non-invasive community screening for *H. pylori* infection followed by eradication to be cost-effective relative to the disease burden in that community [15]. The Taipei Global Consensus report, published in 2020, was the first global and comprehensive consensus report on population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies for gastric cancer prevention [16]. In this consensus report, emphasis was placed on how to most effectively implement a population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategy. The urea breath test or the *H. pylori* stool antigen test (SAT) were the preferred tests, but locally validated serology tests were also considered to be appropriate [16].

The statements of the Maastricht VI/Florence Consensus report, published in 2022, provide the most recent comprehensive update of the evidence in support of *H. pylori*

test-and-treat strategies at the population level [17]. This consensus report also recommended the use of this prevention strategy at the individual level and for specific communities that are at increased risk. The report recommended adopting population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies in all communities and suggested that the age group 50–69 years could be targeted at the same time as colorectal cancer screening was offered, in countries in which such programmes are in place [17].

A novel approach to gastric cancer prevention was proposed in the Chinese Consensus report, published in 2022 [18], which focused on family-based *H. pylori* infection testing and treatment as an important strategy to prevent intrafamilial transmission of the infection [20]. This consensus report deals with important considerations for a comprehensive prevention strategy with greater impact at the general public and community levels, particularly in regions with a high prevalence of *H. pylori* infection and a high incidence of gastric cancer.

However, there are other guidelines that do not recommend population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies, particularly in areas with a low prevalence of gastric cancer. For example, in the most recent American College of Gastroenterology (ACG) Clinical Guideline, published in 2024, the primary prevention of gastric adenocarcinoma is not currently recommended in the general population in the USA [19].

Table 2.1 gives a summary of these guidelines. The most notable of these is the guideline from the USA on *H. pylori* management [19], which uses the Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation (GRADE) methodology [21].

2.3 Evidence from randomized controlled trials for the efficacy of *H. pylori* eradication in *H. pylori*-positive individuals to prevent gastric adenocarcinoma

Recent guidelines have given divergent recommendations on whether population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies should be used for gastric cancer prevention. These guidelines have used evidence from systematic reviews and meta-analyses that have examined this issue [22–25]. Overall, in these systematic reviews, the quality of the evidence supporting the efficacy of population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies to prevent gastric adenocarcinoma was low. The low grade of the evidence was based on the modest number of gastric cancer events that were observed in the systematic review. Therefore, the Working Group updated this systematic review using the same methodology [24] to evaluate whether any new randomized trials would

change the estimate of effect and/or the quality of the evidence. Searches of MEDLINE (from 1947 to September 2024), Embase and Embase Classic (from 1947 to September 2024), and the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) were conducted to identify potential studies. In addition, ClinicalTrials.gov was searched to identify unpublished trials, or supplementary data for potentially eligible studies. Also, conference proceedings (Digestive Disease Week, ACG, United European Gastroenterology Week, and Asian Pacific Digestive Week) from 2001 to 2024 were searched. Finally, a recursive search was performed, using the bibliographies of all obtained articles.

The RCTs that were considered to be eligible examined the effects of at least 7 days of eradication therapy on subsequent occurrence of gastric cancer in *H. pylori*-positive individuals who were otherwise healthy or in *H. pylori*-positive patients with gastric neoplasia, including dysplasia or early gastric cancer, who underwent endoscopic mucosal resection (EMR), compared with placebo or no eradication therapy. Eligible studies were required to have recruited adults (aged \geq 18 years). In all studies, irrespective of design, a minimum duration of follow-up of 2 years was required, and at least two gastric cancers had to occur during follow-up. All end-points were extracted at the last point of follow-up at which they were reported.

All abstracts identified by the search were independently assessed for eligibility, and the data were extracted by two investigators (Yuhong Yuan and Alexander C. Ford). Any disagreements between the investigators were resolved through arbitration by a third investigator (Paul Moayyedi). There were no language restrictions. When multiple articles were identified for a single study, only the data from the latest publication from each eligible study were extracted. The primary outcome in the RCTs was the effect of *H. pylori* eradication therapy, compared with placebo or no eradication therapy, on subsequent occurrence of gastric cancer. Secondary outcomes in RCTs included the effect of eradication therapy on gastric cancer-related mortality and the effect on all-cause mortality.

The risk of bias was evaluated at the study level by two independent reviewers (Alexander C. Ford and Paul Moayyedi) using the Cochrane risk-of-bias tool for randomized trials [26]. Disagreements were resolved through arbitration by a third investigator (Yuhong Yuan). Data were pooled using a random-effects model [27] to give a more conservative estimate of the effect of *H. pylori* eradication therapy on future incidence of gastric cancer, allowing for heterogeneity between studies. Heterogeneity

59

was assessed using both the χ^2 test, with P < 0.10 used to define a significant degree of heterogeneity, and the l^2 statistic [28]. The effective sample size of any clusterrandomized trial in the data synthesis was reduced using the method described by Rao et al. [29]. The quality of the evidence was rated using the GRADE methodology, which evaluates the quality of the evidence in terms of risk of bias, inconsistency, directness of the evidence, precision of the data, and evidence of publication bias [30].

A total of 13 articles [31–43] were identified, which reported on eight separate RCTs comparing *H. pylori* eradication therapy [32] with placebo or no eradication therapy in 58 628 healthy H. pylori-positive individuals. Since the last systematic review on this topic [24], the number of *H. pylori*-positive participants included in RCTs had increased from 8323 to 58 628. H. pylori eradication was defined as any recognized dual, triple, or quadruple therapy regimen [17]. One RCT [44] was excluded because it randomized participants who had received the faecal immunochemical test (FIT) for colorectal cancer screening to either also receiving or not receiving a SAT. All individuals with a positive SAT result were offered treatment, and the gastric cancer rates in the screened arm were compared with those in the unscreened arm. Because the gastric cancer rates in individuals with H. pylori infection in the unscreened arm could not be determined, an H. pylori-positive population could not be evaluated [44]. All RCTs recruited healthy people from the community who did not have gastric neoplasia at baseline, except for one RCT in the Republic of Korea, which recruited healthy firstdegree relatives of patients with gastric cancer [42]. All studies were conducted in East Asia, except for one study that recruited a population at high risk of gastric cancer in Colombia [34]. In the identified RCTs in healthy populations, the longest duration of follow-up was 26.5 years [37] and the shortest duration of follow-up was \geq 4 years [43].

Overall, 258 (0.87%) gastric cancers occurred in 29 782 individuals with *H. pylori* infection who received eradication therapy, compared with 351 (1.2%) gastric cancers in 28 846 individuals who received placebo or no eradication therapy. The relative risk of subsequent occurrence of gastric cancer with eradication therapy versus placebo or no eradication therapy was 0.64 (95% confidence interval [CI], 0.48–0.84), with some heterogeneity between studies ($l^2 = 35\%$; P = 0.15) (Fig. 2.1). The number needed to treat (NNT) to prevent one case of gastric cancer was 228 (95% CI, 158–514). When the analysis was restricted to trials with a low risk of bias, the risk estimate did not change (relative risk [RR], 0.54; 95% CI, 0.41–0.72; $l^2 = 0\%$; P = 0.43). Note that the results from one recent well-conducted RCT were excluded from the analyses; this trial

considered *H. pylori* screening and treatment as a total strategy (rather than focusing only on participants with *H. pylori* infection), and the results of the trial were largely negative [44], which is probably related to a lack of power. The initial proportion of participants who were randomized seemed to be large (120 000 in each group), but only 26% received any screening (FIT with or without SAT). Fewer than 40% of the participants in the testing arm had *H. pylori* infection, and only about 70% were offered therapy. In retrospect, this amount of attrition meant that the trial was underpowered. In a post hoc analysis, *H. pylori* screening was associated with a lower gastric cancer incidence (but not mortality) when adjusting for patient characteristics, compared with FIT alone [44].

	Hp eradi	cation	Control R		Risk Ratio		Risk Ratio	
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Random, 95% Cl	Year	M-H, Random, 95% Cl
1.1.1 Healthy individuals								
Correa 2000-Correa 2001-Piazuelo 2021	5	437	7	415	3.1%	0.68 [0.22, 2.12]	2000	
Leung 2004-Zhou 2014	2	276	7	276	1.7%	0.29 [0.06, 1.36]	2004	
Wong 2004-Yan 2022	21	817	35	813	10.8%	0.60 [0.35, 1.02]	2004	
Saito 2005	2	379	3	313	1.3%	0.55 [0.09, 3.27]	2005	
You 2006-Ma 2012-Li 2019	41	1130	78	1128	17.1%	0.52 [0.36, 0.76]	2006	
Wong 2012	3	255	1	258	0.8%	3.04 [0.32, 28.99]	2012	
Choi 2020	10	912	23	914	6.6%	0.44 [0.21, 0.91]	2020	
Pan 2024	174	25576	197	24729	27.2%	0.85 [0.70, 1.05]	2024	
Subtotal (95% CI)		29782		28846	68.6%	0.64 [0.48, 0.84]		•
Total events	258		351					
 Heterogeneity: Tau² = 0.05; Chi² = 10.80, d 	f = 7 (P = 0.1	15); I 2 = 3	15%					
Test for overall effect: Z = 3.15 (P = 0.002)								
1.1.2 Individuals with early gestric sense	undergein	a ondoo	oonio mu	and a	ocotion			
1.1.2 individuals with early gastric cancel	undergoin	g endos	copic mu	icosal re	esection			
Fukase 2008-Kato 2012	22	272	43	272	12.3%	0.51 [0.31, 0.83]	2012	
Choi 2018a	18	444	36	457	10.3%	0.51 [0.30, 0.89]	2014	
Choi 2018b Subtatal (05% CI)	14	194	27	202	8.8%	0.54 [0.29, 1.00]	2019	
Subtotal (95% CI)		910		951	51.4%	0.52 [0.58, 0.74]		•
Total events	54		106					
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.00; Chi ² = 0.02, df = 2 (P = 0.99); l ² = 0%								
Test for overall effect: Z = 4.09 (P < 0.0001)								
Total (95% CI)		30692		29777	100.0%	0.61 [0.49, 0.75]		•
Total events	312		457					
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.03; Chi ² = 14.11, df = 10 (P = 0.17); l ² = 29%								
Test for overall effect: Z = 4.70 (P < 0.00001)							U.U1 U.1 1 10 100	
Test for subgroup differences: Chi ² = 0.94, df = 1 (P = 0.33), i ² = 0%							Favours Hp eradication Favours control	

Fig. 2.1. Meta-analysis of population trials evaluating gastric cancer incidence in participants with *H. pylori* infection randomized to eradication therapy versus controls. CI, confidence interval; df, degrees of freedom; Hp, *H. pylori*; M-H, Mantel–Haenszel. Reproduced from Ford et al. (2025) [45]. © 2025 by the AGA Institute. Article available under the Creative Commons CC BY 4.0.

There were five RCTs conducted in healthy *H. pylori*-positive individuals, which provided data on mortality from gastric cancer in 56 606 individuals [32, 35, 36, 40, 42]. The duration of follow-up in these five trials ranged from 9.2 years to 26.5 years. Overall, there were 124 (0.43%) deaths from gastric cancer in 28 730 individuals with *H. pylori* infection who were randomized to eradication therapy, compared with 156 (0.56%)

deaths from gastric cancer in 27 876 participants who were allocated to placebo or no eradication therapy. The relative risk of death from gastric cancer with eradication therapy compared with placebo or no eradication therapy was 0.78 (95% CI, 0.62–0.98) (Fig. 2.2), with no heterogeneity between studies ($l^2 = 0\%$; P = 0.65). The NNT to prevent one gastric cancer death was 812 (95% CI, 470–8935).



Fig. 2.2. Meta-analysis of population trials evaluating gastric cancer mortality in participants with *H. pylori* infection randomized to eradication therapy versus controls. CI, confidence interval; df, degrees of freedom; Hp, *H. pylori*; M-H, Mantel–Haenszel. Reproduced from Ford et al. (2025) [45]. © 2025 by the AGA Institute. Article available under the Creative Commons CC BY 4.0.

There were five RCTs that reported all-cause mortality in 7079 healthy *H. pylori*positive individuals [34, 36, 37, 40, 42]. The duration of follow-up in these five trials ranged from 5 years to 26.5 years. In total, 420 (11.8%) of 3551 individuals with *H. pylori* infection who received eradication therapy had died by the last point of follow-up, compared with 426 (12.1%) of 3528 individuals who received placebo or no eradication therapy. The relative risk of death from any cause at the last point of follow-up with eradication therapy compared with placebo or no eradication therapy was 0.98 (95% CI, 0.87–1.11) (Fig. 2.3), with no heterogeneity between studies ($l^2 = 0\%$; P = 0.49).



Fig. 2.3. All-cause mortality for randomized controlled trials evaluating *H. pylori* eradication therapy versus placebo or no treatment. CI, confidence interval; df, degrees of freedom; Hp, *H. pylori*; M-H, Mantel–Haenszel. Reproduced from Ford et al. (2025) [45]. © 2025 by the AGA Institute. Article available under the Creative Commons CC BY 4.0.

Some authors have recommended treating the young adult population because there may be a "point of no return", at which pre-neoplastic changes are too advanced for *H. pylori* eradication to be effective at reducing the risk of gastric adenocarcinoma [46]. To answer this question, studies were identified in which patients with early gastric adenocarcinoma had been treated with EMR and then the patients with H. pylori infection were randomized to eradication therapy or placebo or no eradication therapy and were followed up to determine the recurrence of new cancer. Three RCTs [47-49] compared H. pylori eradication therapy with placebo or no eradication therapy in 1841 *H. pylori*-positive patients in this group. There were 54 (5.9%) recurrent gastric cancers in 910 patients who were randomized to eradication therapy, compared with 106 (11.4%) recurrent gastric cancers in 931 patients who were received placebo or no eradication therapy (RR, 0.52; 95% CI, 0.38–0.71; $l^2 = 0\%$; P = 0.99) (Fig. 2.1). The NNT was 18 (95% CI, 14–30). Minor heterogeneity was observed between the effect in the general population compared with those treated with EMR for early gastric cancer (subgroup heterogeneity, P = 0.17; $l^2 = 29\%$), suggesting from a statistical point of view that there was little evidence that the response to eradication therapy was worse in the group with early gastric cancer who were treated with EMR. The overall pooled effect for incidence of new gastric cancer was a relative risk of 0.61 (95% CI, 0.49-0.75) (Fig. 2.1). This is evidence that there is no "point of no return" for receiving H. pylori eradication therapy, provided that gastric cancer has not already developed.

Most studies reported adverse events associated with receiving *H. pylori* eradication therapy compared with placebo or no eradication therapy [31, 33–42, 44]. There were increased short-term adverse events associated with antibiotic use, but no severe or

long-term adverse events were reported. These data were not pooled because different antibiotic regimens were used that have different adverse event profiles, such as diarrhoea, altered taste, and nausea.

Overall, the GRADE quality of evidence that population-based *H. pylori* screen-andtreat strategies reduce the incidence of gastric adenocarcinoma is now moderate; the level of evidence was downgraded because of some modest heterogeneity between studies. There had previously been some concerns about imprecision, but the new trial data mean that this is no longer an issue.

2.4 Evidence from randomized trials for other harms and benefits of population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies

H. pylori organisms have infected humans for many thousands of years [50]. It is reasonable to hypothesize that over this time mutualism may have evolved and the infection may confer some benefits to humans [51]. *H. pylori* infection has been inversely associated with gastro-oesophageal reflux symptoms and erosive oesophagitis [52], which reduce quality of life [53]. Gastro-oesophageal reflux symptoms have been associated with oesophageal adenocarcinoma [54], and having *H. pylori* infection has also been associated with a reduced risk of developing this malignancy [55]. Both gastro-oesophageal reflux and oesophageal adenocarcinoma are associated with affluent living conditions [56], and *H. pylori* infection is inversely associated with socioeconomic status [57]. Therefore, the apparent protective effect of *H. pylori* may relate to residual confounding by social class or other unmeasured confounding factors. Furthermore, in a recent large cohort study, *H. pylori* eradication was not associated with an increased risk of subsequent oesophageal adenocarcinoma [58].

Population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies may have other benefits. RCTs have reported that treatment of *H. pylori* infection reduces the incidence of both gastric ulcer and duodenal ulcer [59]. A systematic review has also reported that *H. pylori* eradication therapy has a modest impact in reducing symptoms of functional dyspepsia in individuals with *H. pylori* infection [60]. Therefore, it is possible that a population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme could reduce peptic ulcer disease, dyspepsia symptoms, and dyspepsia-related clinician consultations, in addition to reducing gastric adenocarcinoma. This could help offset the cost of such a programme. Therefore, the potential harms and benefits of the programme in population-based randomized trials of *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies were evaluated.

H. pylori eradication and risk of oesophageal cancer

In the meta-analyses described above, three RCTs reported on oesophageal cancer [32, 37, 40]. The duration of follow-up in these trials ranged from 11.8 years and 26.5 years. Overall, there were 56 oesophageal cancers in 27 523 individuals allocated to *H. pylori* eradication arms, compared with 49 oesophageal cancers in 26 670 individuals allocated to control arms (RR, 1.12; 95% Cl, 0.76–1.64), with little heterogeneity between trials (P = 0.85; $f^2 = 0\%$) (Fig. 2.4). These trials did not report on the histology of oesophageal cancers, but given that all these trials were carried out in Asia it is probable that most were squamous cell carcinomas. There is no evidence from these trials that a population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategy leads to an increase in oesophageal adenocarcinoma.





H. pylori eradication and risk of gastro-oesophageal reflux symptoms

Population-based RCTs that reported on gastric adenocarcinoma did not describe reflux or dyspepsia symptoms in their populations. Three trials did evaluate this outcome: two in the United Kingdom [61, 62] and in from Denmark [63]. The trial in Denmark [63] was excluded because it randomized populations to receive screening or not receive screening. Because all participants with *H. pylori* infection in the screening arm were offered eradication therapy and there are no data on *H. pylori* infection status in unscreened participants, data on dyspepsia or reflux are inconclusive. In the other two RCTs [61, 62], 369 (18.9%) of the 1948 participants who were allocated to eradication therapy had heartburn at 2 years, compared with 411 (21.3%) of the 1934 participants in the control group, using the intention-to-treat approach (RR, 0.89; 95% CI, 0.77–1.04)

(Fig. 2.5). About 20% of participants in both trials were lost to follow-up at 2 years and were assumed to not have reflux at 2 years in the intention-to-treat analysis. The corresponding data for all evaluable patients were that 369 (23.2%) of the 1593 participants who were allocated to eradication therapy had heartburn at 2 years, compared with 411 (26.0%) of the 1581 participants in the control group (RR, 0.90; 95% CI, 0.75–1.07). Therefore, there was no signal suggesting that people who had been allocated to *H. pylori* eradication had more heartburn than controls after 2 years of follow-up.

	hp eradic	ation	Contr	ol	Risk Ratio		Risk Ratio	
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Random, 95% Cl	M-H, Random, 95% Cl	
Harvey 2004	169	787	170	771	46.4%	0.97 [0.81, 1.18]		
Moayyedi 2000	200	1161	241	1163	53.6%	0.83 [0.70, 0.98]		
Total (95% CI)		1948		1934	100.0%	0.89 [0.77, 1.04]		
Total events	369		411					
Heterogeneity: Tau² = 0.00; Chi² = 1.51, df = 1 (P = 0.22); I² = 34%								
Test for overall effect: Z = 1.41 (P = 0.16)						Favours H. pylori Favours control		

Fig. 2.5. Meta-analysis of population trials evaluating the prevalence of reflux symptoms in participants with *H. pylori* infection randomized to eradication therapy versus controls. CI, confidence interval; df, degrees of freedom; M-H, Mantel–Haenszel.

H. pylori eradication and reduction of dyspepsia and peptic ulcer in population screening

There were two RCTs [61, 64] that evaluated dyspepsia as an outcome after 2 years of follow-up. In total, 415 (21.3%) of the 1948 participants allocated to eradication therapy had dyspepsia at 2 years, compared with 500 (25.6%) of the 1934 participants in the control group, using the intention-to-treat approach (RR, 0.82; 95% Cl, 0.74–0.92) (Fig. 2.6). About 20% of participants in both trials were lost to follow-up at 2 years and were assumed to not have dyspepsia at 2 years in the intention-to-treat analysis. The corresponding data for all evaluable patients were that 415 (25.7%) of the 1616 participants allocated to eradication therapy had dyspepsia at 2 years, compared with 500 (26.0%) of the 1582 participants in the control group, using the all-evaluable-participant approach (RR, 0.81; 95% Cl, 0.73–0.91). One trial [61] reported that peptic ulcer disease was recorded in 4 participants who were allocated to *H. pylori* eradication therapy, compared with 13 participants in the placebo group, which is a statistically

significant reduction (P = 0.04). One trial in the United Kingdom [65] found that dyspepsia consultations were reduced by 35% over 2 years in those allocated to *H. pylori* eradication therapy and that this benefit persisted for 7 years [66], although the other trial in the United Kingdom [67] suggested that cost savings occurred after 10 years of follow-up. It is probable that a population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme would reduce the prevalence of dyspepsia in the community, and the resulting health-care cost savings could partly offset the cost of the programme.



Fig. 2.6. Meta-analysis of population trials evaluating the prevalence of dyspepsia symptoms in participants with *H. pylori* infection randomized to eradication therapy versus controls. CI, confidence interval; df, degrees of freedom; M-H, Mantel–Haenszel.

2.5 Conclusions

There is now moderate-quality evidence that population-based *H. pylori* screen-andtreat strategies reduce the incidence of gastric adenocarcinoma. There are no data from countries in Europe and North America, and results from such trials are eagerly awaited. The NNTs described in this chapter, from meta-analyses of RCTs, are all from high-risk countries, and the NNTs will be much higher for low-risk countries. There is no evidence that these programmes increase the incidence of gastro-oesophageal reflux symptoms or oesophageal cancer. There is evidence that such programmes reduce the prevalence of dyspepsia in the community and reduce the associated health-care costs. If countries adopt population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies, it will be important to assess the possible harms, because the data to date are not conclusive.

References

- Correa P (1992). Human gastric carcinogenesis: a multistep and multifactorial process first American Cancer Society Award Lecture on Cancer Epidemiology and Prevention. Cancer Res. 52(24):6735– 40. <u>PMID:1458460</u>
- Marshall BJ, Warren JR (1984). Unidentified curved bacilli in the stomach of patients with gastritis and peptic ulceration. Lancet. 1(8390):1311–5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(84)91816-6</u> <u>PMID:6145023</u>
- Forman D, Newell DG, Fullerton F, Yarnell JW, Stacey AR, Wald N, et al. (1991). Association between infection with *Helicobacter pylori* and risk of gastric cancer: evidence from a prospective investigation. BMJ. 302(6788):1302–5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.302.6788.1302</u> PMID:2059685
- Parsonnet J, Friedman GD, Vandersteen DP, Chang Y, Vogelman JH, Orentreich N, et al. (1991). Helicobacter pylori infection and the risk of gastric carcinoma. N Engl J Med. 325(16):1127–31. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199110173251603 PMID:1891020
- Nomura A, Stemmermann GN, Chyou PH, Kato I, Perez-Perez GI, Blaser MJ (1991). *Helicobacter pylori* infection and gastric carcinoma among Japanese Americans in Hawaii. N Engl J Med. 325(16):1132–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199110173251604 PMID:1891021</u>
- 6. IARC (1994). Schistosomes, liver flukes and *Helicobacter pylori*. IARC Monogr Eval Carcinog Risks Hum. 61:1–241. <u>PMID:7715068</u>
- Sugano K, Tack J, Kuipers EJ, Graham DY, El-Omar EM, Miura S, et al.; faculty members of Kyoto Global Consensus Conference (2015). Kyoto global consensus report on *Helicobacter pylori* gastritis. Gut. 64(9):1353–67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2015-309252</u> <u>PMID:26187502</u>
- 8. Rugge M, Genta RM, Di Mario F, El-Omar EM, El-Serag HB, Fassan M, et al. (2017). Gastric cancer as preventable disease. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 15(12):1833–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cgh.2017.05.023 PMID:28532700
- 9. González CA, López-Carrillo L (2010). *Helicobacter pylori*, nutrition and smoking interactions: their impact in gastric carcinogenesis. Scand J Gastroenterol. 45(1):6–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/00365520903401959</u> PMID:20030576
- Malfertheiner P, Sipponen P, Naumann M, Moayyedi P, Mégraud F, Xiao S-D, et al.; Lejondal *H. pylori*-Gastric Cancer Task Force (2005). *Helicobacter pylori* eradication has the potential to prevent gastric cancer: a state-of-the-art critique. Am J Gastroenterol. 100(9):2100–15. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1572-0241.2005.41688.x PMID:16128957
- Malfertheiner P, Megraud F, O'Morain C, Bazzoli F, El-Omar E, Graham D, et al. (2007). Current concepts in the management of *Helicobacter pylori* infection: the Maastricht III consensus report. Gut. 56(6):772–81. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.2006.101634</u> <u>PMID:17170018</u>
- Fock KM, Talley N, Moayyedi P, Hunt R, Azuma T, Sugano K, et al.; Asia-Pacific Gastric Cancer Consensus Conference (2008). Asia-Pacific consensus guidelines on gastric cancer prevention. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 23(3):351–65. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1746.2008.05314.x</u> <u>PMID:18318820</u>
- Malfertheiner P, Megraud F, O'Morain CA, Atherton J, Axon ATR, Bazzoli F, et al.; European Helicobacter Study Group (2012). Management of *Helicobacter pylori* infection – the Maastricht IV/ Florence consensus report. Gut. 61(5):646–64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2012-302084</u> <u>PMID:22491499</u>
- Malfertheiner P, Megraud F, O'Morain CA, Gisbert JP, Kuipers EJ, Axon AT, et al.; European Helicobacter and Microbiota Study Group and Consensus panel (2017). Management of *Helicobacter pylori* infection – the Maastricht V/Florence consensus report. Gut. 66(1):6–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2016-312288</u> PMID:27707777
- Mahachai V, Vilaichone RK, Pittayanon R, Rojborwonwitaya J, Leelakusolvong S, Maneerattanaporn M, et al. (2018). *Helicobacter pylori* management in ASEAN: the Bangkok consensus report. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 33(1):37–56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jgh.13911</u> <u>PMID:28762251</u>
- Liou JM, Malfertheiner P, Lee YC, Sheu B-S, Sugano K, Cheng H-C, et al.; Asian Pacific Alliance on Helicobacter and Microbiota (APAHAM) (2020). Screening and eradication of *Helicobacter pylori* for gastric cancer prevention: the Taipei global consensus. Gut. 69(12):2093–112. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2020-322368</u> PMID:33004546
- Malfertheiner P, Megraud F, Rokkas T, Gisbert JP, Liou J-M, Schulz C, et al.; European Helicobacter and Microbiota Study group (2022). Management of *Helicobacter pylori* infection: the Maastricht VI/Florence consensus report. Gut. 71(9):1724–62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2022-327745</u> <u>PMID:35944925</u>

- Ding SZ, Du YQ, Lu H, Wang W-H, Cheng H, Chen S-Y, et al.; National Clinical Research Center for Digestive Diseases (Shanghai), Gastrointestinal Early Cancer Prevention & Treatment Alliance of China (GECA), Helicobacter pylori Study Group of Chinese Society of Gastroenterology, and Chinese Alliance for Helicobacter pylori Study (2022). Chinese consensus report on family-based *Helicobacter pylori* infection control and management (2021 edition). Gut. 71(2):238–53. https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2021-325630 PMID:34836916
- Chey WD, Howden CW, Moss SF, Morgan DR, Greer KB, Grover S, et al. (2024). ACG clinical guideline: treatment of *Helicobacter pylori* infection. Am J Gastroenterol. 119(9):1730–53. https://doi.org/10.14309/ajg.00000000002968 PMID:39626064
- 20. Lei WY, Lee JY, Chuang SL, Bair M-J, Chen C-L, Wu J-Y, et al. (2023). Eradicating *Helicobacter pylori* via ¹³C-urea breath screening to prevent gastric cancer in indigenous communities: a population-based study and development of a family index-case method. Gut. 72(12):2231–40. https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2023-329871 PMID:37197905
- 21. The GRADE Working Group (2024). Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation (GRADE). Available from: <u>https://www.gradeworkinggroup.org</u>
- 22. Ford AC, Forman D, Hunt RH, Yuan Y, Moayyedi P (2014). *Helicobacter pylori* eradication therapy to prevent gastric cancer in healthy asymptomatic infected individuals: systematic review and metaanalysis of randomised controlled trials. BMJ. 348:g3174. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.g3174</u> <u>PMID:24846275</u>
- 23. Ford AC, Forman D, Hunt R, Yuan Y, Moayyedi P (2015). *Helicobacter pylori* eradication for the prevention of gastric neoplasia. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015(7):CD005583. <u>PMID:26198377</u>
- 24. Ford AC, Yuan Y, Moayyedi P (2020). *Helicobacter pylori* eradication therapy to prevent gastric cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis. Gut. 69(12):2113–21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2020-320839 PMID:32205420</u>
- 25. Lee YC, Chiang TH, Chou CK, Tu Y-K, Liao W-C, Wu M-S, et al. (2016). Association between *Helicobacter pylori* eradication and gastric cancer incidence: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Gastroenterology. 150(5):1113–1124.e5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2016.01.028</u> PMID:26836587
- Higgins JPT, Savović J, Page MJ, Elbers RG, Sterne JAC (2024). Assessing risk of bias in a randomized trial. In: Higgins JPT, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, et al., editors. Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions, version 6.5. Available from: <u>https://training.cochrane.org/handbook/</u>.
- 27. DerSimonian R, Laird N (1986). Meta-analysis in clinical trials. Control Clin Trials. 7(3):177–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/0197-2456(86)90046-2 PMID:3802833
- 28. Higgins JP, Thompson SG, Deeks JJ, Altman DG (2003). Measuring inconsistency in meta-analyses. BMJ. 327(7414):557–60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.327.7414.557</u> <u>PMID:12958120</u>
- 29. Rao JN, Scott AJ (1992). A simple method for the analysis of clustered binary data. Biometrics. 48(2):577–85. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2532311 PMID:1637980</u>
- Balshem H, Helfand M, Schünemann HJ, Oxman AD, Kunz R, Brozek J, et al. (2011). GRADE guidelines: 3. Rating the quality of evidence. J Clin Epidemiol. 64(4):401–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2010.07.015</u> PMID:21208779
- Kakiuchi S, Ohara S, Ogata S, Miura D, Kasahara Y, Izawa Y (2004). Flow cytometric analyses on lineage-specific cell surface antigens of rat bone marrow to seek potential myelotoxic biomarkers: status after repeated dose of 5-fluorouracil. J Toxicol Sci. 29(2):101–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.2131/jts.29.101</u> PMID:15206578
- Pan KF, Li WQ, Zhang L, Liu W-D, Ma J-L, Zhang Y, et al. (2024). Gastric cancer prevention by community eradication of *Helicobacter pylori*: a cluster-randomized controlled trial. Nat Med. 30(11):3250–60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-024-03153-w PMID:39079993</u>
- Correa P, Fontham ET, Bravo JC, Bravo LE, Ruiz B, Zarama G, et al. (2000). Chemoprevention of gastric dysplasia: randomized trial of antioxidant supplements and anti-*Helicobacter pylori* therapy. J Natl Cancer Inst. 92(23):1881–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/92.23.1881</u> <u>PMID:11106679</u>
- 34. Piazuelo MB, Bravo LE, Mera RM, Camargo MC, Bravo JC, Delgado AG, et al. (2021). The Colombian chemoprevention trial: 20-year follow-up of a cohort of patients with gastric precancerous lesions. Gastroenterology. 160(4):1106–1117.e3. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2020.11.017</u> PMID:33220252
- Zhou L, Lin S, Ding S, Huang X, Jin Z, Cui R, et al. (2014). Relationship of *Helicobacter pylori* eradication with gastric cancer and gastric mucosal histological changes: a 10-year follow-up study. Chin Med J (Engl). 127(8):1454–8. <u>PMID:24762588</u>

- Wong BC, Lam SK, Wong WM, Chen JS, Zheng TT, Feng RE, et al.; China Gastric Cancer Study Group (2004). *Helicobacter pylori* eradication to prevent gastric cancer in a high-risk region of China: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 291(2):187–94. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.291.2.187</u> <u>PMID:14722144</u>
- 37. Yan L, Chen Y, Chen F, Tao T, Hu Z, Wang J, et al. (2022). Effect of *Helicobacter pylori* eradication on gastric cancer prevention: updated report from a randomized controlled trial with 26.5 years of follow-up. Gastroenterology. 163(1):154–162.e3. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2022.03.039</u>
 <u>PMID:35364066</u>
- You WC, Brown LM, Zhang L, Li JY, Jin ML, Chang YS, et al. (2006). Randomized double-blind factorial trial of three treatments to reduce the prevalence of precancerous gastric lesions. J Natl Cancer Inst. 98(14):974–83. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djj264</u> <u>PMID:16849680</u>
- Ma JL, Zhang L, Brown LM, Li J-Y, Shen L, Pan K-F, et al. (2012). Fifteen-year effects of *Helicobacter pylori*, garlic, and vitamin treatments on gastric cancer incidence and mortality. J Natl Cancer Inst. 104(6):488–92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djs003</u> PMID:22271764
- 40. Li WQ, Zhang JY, Ma JL, Li Z-X, Zhang L, Zhang Y, et al. (2019). Effects of *Helicobacter pylori* treatment and vitamin and garlic supplementation on gastric cancer incidence and mortality: follow-up of a randomized intervention trial. BMJ. 366:I5016. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.I5016</u> PMID:31511230
- 41. Wong BC, Zhang L, Ma JL, Pan KF, Li JY, Shen L, et al. (2012). Effects of selective COX-2 inhibitor and *Helicobacter pylori* eradication on precancerous gastric lesions. Gut. 61(6):812–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2011-300154</u> PMID:21917649
- 42. Choi IJ, Kim CG, Lee JY, Kim Y-I, Kook M-C, Park B, et al. (2020). Family history of gastric cancer and *Helicobacter pylori* treatment. N Engl J Med. 382(5):427–36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1909666</u> PMID:31995688
- 43. Saito D, Boku N, Fujioka T, Fukuda Y, Matsushima Y, Sakaki N, et al. (2005). Impact of *H. pylori* eradication on gastric cancer prevention: endoscopic results of the Japanese Intervention Trial (JITHP-Study). A randomized multi-center trial. Gastroenterology. 128(4 Supp 2):A4, Abstract 23. https://www.cochranelibrary.com/central/doi/10.1002/central/CN-01380918/full
- 44. Lee YC, Chiang TH, Chiu HM, Su W-W, Chou K-C, Chen SL-S, et al.; Collaborators of Taiwan Community-based Integrated Screening Group (2024). Screening for *Helicobacter pylori* to prevent gastric cancer: a pragmatic randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 332(19):1642–51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2024.14887 PMID:39348147</u>
- 45. Ford AC, Yuan Y, Park JY, Forman D, Moayyedi P (2025). Eradication therapy to prevent gastric cancer in *Helicobacter pylori*-positive individuals: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials and observational studies. Gastroenterology. S0016-5085(25)00041-1. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2024.12.033 PMID:39824392
- 46. Suerbaum S, Michetti P (2002). *Helicobacter pylori* infection. N Engl J Med. 347(15):1175–86. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra020542 PMID:12374879
- 47. Fukase K, Kato M, Kikuchi S, Inoue K, Uemura N, Okamoto S, et al.; Japan Gast Study Group (2008). Effect of eradication of *Helicobacter pylori* on incidence of metachronous gastric carcinoma after endoscopic resection of early gastric cancer: an open-label, randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 372(9636):392–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61159-9</u> PMID:18675689
- 48. Choi JM, Kim SG, Choi J, Park JY, Oh S, Yang H-J, et al. (2018). Effects of *Helicobacter pylori* eradication for metachronous gastric cancer prevention: a randomized controlled trial. Gastrointest Endosc. 88(3):475–485.e2. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gie.2018.05.009</u> PMID:29800546
- Choi IJ, Kook MC, Kim YI, Cho S-J, Lee JY, Kim CG, et al. (2018). *Helicobacter pylori* therapy for the prevention of metachronous gastric cancer. N Engl J Med. 378(12):1085–95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1708423</u> PMID:29562147
- 50. Maixner F, Krause-Kyora B, Turaev D, Herbig A, Hoopmann MR, Hallows JL, et al. (2016). The 5300year-old *Helicobacter pylori* genome of the Iceman. Science. 351(6269):162–5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aad2545</u> PMID:26744403
- 51. Schubert JP, Rayner CK, Costello SP, Roberts-Thomson IC, Forster SC, Bryant RV (2022). *Helicobacter pylori*: have potential benefits been overlooked? JGH Open. 6(11):735–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jgh3.12842 PMID:36406651</u>
- 52. Zamani M, Alizadeh-Tabari S, Hasanpour AH, Eusebi LH, Ford AC (2021). Systematic review with meta-analysis: association of *Helicobacter pylori* infection with gastro-oesophageal reflux and its complications. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 54(8):988–98. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/apt.16585</u> PMID:34437710

- 53. Moayyedi P, Armstrong D, Hunt RH, Lei Y, Bukoski M, White RJ (2010). The gain in quality-adjusted life months by switching to esomeprazole in those with continued reflux symptoms in primary care: EncomPASS – a cluster-randomized trial. Am J Gastroenterol. 105(11):2341–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ajg.2010.368 PMID:20842110</u>
- 54. Lagergren J, Bergström R, Lindgren A, Nyrén O (1999). Symptomatic gastroesophageal reflux as a risk factor for esophageal adenocarcinoma. N Engl J Med. 340(11):825–31. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199903183401101 PMID:10080844
- Rokkas T, Pistiolas D, Sechopoulos P, Robotis I, Margantinis G (2007). Relationship between Helicobacter pylori infection and esophageal neoplasia: a meta-analysis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 5(12):1413–7, 1417.e1–2. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cgh.2007.08.010</u> PMID:17997357
- Ford AC, Forman D, Reynolds PD, Cooper BT, Moayyedi P (2005). Ethnicity, gender, and socioeconomic status as risk factors for esophagitis and Barrett's esophagus. Am J Epidemiol. 162(5):454–60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwi218 PMID:16076833</u>
- 57. Moayyedi P, Forman D, Braunholtz D, Feltbower R, Crocombe W, Liptrott M, et al.; Leeds HELP Study Group (2000). The proportion of upper gastrointestinal symptoms in the community associated with *Helicobacter pylori*, lifestyle factors, and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. Am J Gastroenterol. 95(6):1448–55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1572-0241.2000.2126 1.x PMID:10894577</u>
- 58. Wiklund AK, Santoni G, Yan J, Radkiewicz C, Xie S, Birgisson H, et al. (2024). Risk of esophageal adenocarcinoma after *Helicobacter pylori* eradication treatment in a population-based multinational cohort study. Gastroenterology. 167(3):485–492.e3. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2024.03.016</u> PMID:38513743
- 59. Ford AC, Gurusamy KS, Delaney B, Forman D, Moayyedi P (2016). Eradication therapy for peptic ulcer disease in *Helicobacter pylori*-positive people. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 4(4):CD003840. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD003840.pub5 PMID:27092708
- 60. Ford AC, Tsipotis E, Yuan Y, Leontiadis GI, Moayyedi P (2022). Efficacy of *Helicobacter pylori* eradication therapy for functional dyspepsia: updated systematic review and meta-analysis. Gut. 71(10):1967–75. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2021-326583</u> PMID:35022266
- Moayyedi P, Feltbower R, Brown J, Mason S, Mason J, Nathan J, et al.; Leeds HELP Study Group (2000). Effect of population screening and treatment for *Helicobacter pylori* on dyspepsia and quality of life in the community: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 355(9216):1665–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(00)02236-4</u> PMID:10905240
- 62. Harvey RF, Lane JA, Murray LJ, Harvey IM, Donovan JL, Nair P; Bristol Helicobacter Project (2004). Randomised controlled trial of effects of *Helicobacter pylori* infection and its eradication on heartburn and gastro-oesophageal reflux: Bristol Helicobacter Project. BMJ. 328(7453):1417. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.38082.626725.EE PMID:15126313
- Hansen JM, Wildner-Christensen M, Hallas J, Schaffalitzky de Muckadell OB (2008). Effect of a community screening for *Helicobacter pylori*: a 5-yr follow-up study. Am J Gastroenterol. 103(5):1106–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1572-0241.2007.01770.x</u> PMID:18445098
- 64. Lane JA, Murray LJ, Harvey IM, Donovan JL, Nair P, Harvey RF (2011). Randomised clinical trial: *Helicobacter pylori* eradication is associated with a significantly increased body mass index in a placebo-controlled study. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 33(8):922–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2036.2011.04610.x PMID:21366634</u>
- 65. Lane JA, Murray LJ, Noble S, Egger M, Harvey IM, Donovan JL, et al. (2006). Impact of *Helicobacter pylori* eradication on dyspepsia, health resource use, and quality of life in the Bristol Helicobacter Project: randomised controlled trial. BMJ. 332(7535):199–204. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.38702.662546.55 PMID:16428249
- 66. Harvey RF, Lane JA, Nair P, Egger M, Harvey I, Donovan J, et al. (2010). Clinical trial: prolonged beneficial effect of *Helicobacter pylori* eradication on dyspepsia consultations the Bristol Helicobacter Project. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 32(3):394–400. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2036.2010.04363.x</u> PMID:20491744
- Ford AC, Forman D, Bailey AG, Axon ATR, Moayyedi P (2005). A community screening program for Helicobacter pylori saves money: 10-year follow-up of a randomized controlled trial. Gastroenterology. 129(6):1910–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2005.09.016</u> PMID:16344059
Chapter 3.

Examples of gastric cancer prevention efforts by World Health Organization region WHO African Region

Chapter 3.1.

Gastric cancer in Africa, with a focus on Nigeria and Zambia

Violet Kayamba and Stella Smith

Summary

- Gastric cancer is one of the leading causes of cancer mortality globally, but in Africa the exact rates are unknown.
- Nigeria and Zambia, both sub-Saharan African countries, do not have active population-based gastric cancer prevention programmes. However, what is within reach are strategies enabling eradication of *H. pylori* infection, which is a very common infection in both countries.
- Efforts are under way to improve data collection and to streamline optimal therapies for *H. pylori* eradication, guided by systematically obtained robust evidence.

This chapter summarizes and outlines past research on gastric cancer and *H. pylori* infection in two countries in sub-Saharan Africa: Nigeria and Zambia. It also highlights some ongoing projects and probable future prospects.

3.1.1 Gastric cancer incidence and mortality rates

Gastric cancer is the ninth most common cancer type in Africa. The estimated agestandardized rates (ASRs) are 4.0 per 100 000 person-years for incidence and 3.5 per 100 000 person-years for mortality [1]. It is projected that by 2045 the gastric cancer incidence rate in Africa will increase by more than 100% [1]. However, data on gastric cancer in Africa are estimates, because most countries do not have high-quality population-wide cancer registries [2]. This section provides an overview of gastric cancer in Africa, focusing on Nigeria and Zambia.

In Nigeria, gastric cancer is the 10th most common cancer type. The estimated ASRs are 1.8 per 100 000 person-years for incidence and 1.6 per 100 000 person-years for mortality [1, 3]. In Nigeria, gastric cancer accounted for 1.6% to 4.5% of all cancers reported in various studies in 1989–2010 [4, 5]. The relative frequency ratio of gastric

cancer ranged between 1.3% and 3.6% of all cancers, and it accounted for 14% to 48.4% of all gastrointestinal malignancies [6]. The incidence of gastric cancer in Nigeria has been reported to be higher in the southern regions of the country than in the northern regions [7–9]. Although the northern regions have a higher prevalence of *H. pylori* infection than the southern regions, access to diagnostic facilities is better in the southern regions, resulting in higher detection rates for gastric cancer cases [7, 10]. In Nigeria, a high proportion of patients with gastric cancer present with stage III and stage IV disease: 97% in the North West region, 94.3% in the North Central region, and 100% in a recent 15-year prospective study in the South West region [7, 8, 11]. Only a small percentage of patients with gastric cancer (2.6% to 5.6%) have been reported to present with early-stage disease [4, 7, 9].

In Zambia, gastric cancer is the eighth most common cancer type, with an estimated ASR of 3.9 per 100 000 person-years for incidence [1, 3]. It is projected that by 2050 the gastric cancer incidence rate in Zambia will increase by more than 150% [1, 3]. Endoscopy records in Zambia revealed a statistically significant increase in the number of gastric cancer cases over a period of 43 years (1977–2021) [12]. However, it remains unclear whether this finding reflects a true increase in gastric cancer incidence rates or is merely a reflection of better diagnostic and case-detection capabilities. There is growing evidence that current figures for gastric cancer incidence rates in Zambia are underestimates. An audit of records at the University Teaching Hospital in Lusaka, which is the largest referral hospital in the country, revealed that only 42% of clinically diagnosed cases of gastric cancer were included in the Zambia National Cancer Registry, which is the source for global estimates [13]. In the absence of a population-based cancer registry and good data management systems, the true burden of gastric cancer in Zambia is not known.

The estimated ASR for gastric cancer mortality in Zambia is 3.4 per 100 000 personyears [1, 3]. According to a hospital-based audit of gastric cancer outcomes in the country, the average survival rate after 1 year was 15% [14]. These poor outcomes were attributed mostly to late diagnosis, which was believed to be compounded by delays within the health-care system rather than being attributable to late patient presentation. This was the conclusion of a study in Lusaka in 2019, which found that the median time from onset of symptoms to endoscopic diagnosis of gastric cancer was 12 weeks (interquartile range, 4–32 weeks), although patients had their first consultation within 2 weeks (interquartile range, 0–4 weeks) of noticing symptoms [15]. The delay in diagnosis was a result of a lack of endoscopy facilities in many parts of the country and difficulties faced by patients when travelling to health-care centres with more advanced facilities. In addition, the lack of specific symptoms for early gastric cancer posed a challenge to health-care providers, who had to decide when to send patients to centres with the facilities to carry out endoscopy, which were located at a distance from where the patients lived [15].

3.1.2 Age of onset and sex ratios of gastric cancer

In Nigeria, several studies have reported that the period of the fifth and sixth decades of life was the most common age of onset for gastric cancer, and the male-to-female ratio for gastric cancer in different studies ranged from 1.2:1 to 4:1 [4, 5, 7, 9, 11, 16–19].

In contrast, in Zambia, reports showed that about 25% of gastric cancer cases are detected in people younger than 45 years, which is considered to be early-onset gastric cancer. A crude analysis suggested that this high proportion of early-onset gastric cancer in Zambia was not due to the country's young population structure [20]. However, there has not been a systematically conducted population-wide analysis to confirm this finding. Therefore, it remains unclear to what extent the early onset of gastric cancer in Zambia could be explained by the young population structure of the country. In addition, there is little evidence of familial gastric cancer syndromes in Zambia. Studies have revealed that very low percentages of patients with gastric cancer have a family history of the disease [21]. In addition, only one third of the patients diagnosed with gastric cancer had the histologically diffuse type of gastric cancer, which is the type that is most associated with familial syndromes [21]. Further investigations are needed to validate these observations and to determine the factors driving the early onset of gastric cancer in Zambia. According to the Zambia National Cancer Registry, the male-to-female ratio for gastric cancer in Zambia is 1.1:1.

3.1.3 Health-care facilities for diagnosing gastric cancer

Endoscopy is the reference standard for the diagnosis of gastric cancer. Endoscopy services are scarce in most African countries and serve only a limited proportion of the population [22]. This is due to the high cost of establishing, running, and maintaining endoscopy units in health-care systems that are poorly resourced.

Nigeria currently has 13 population-based cancer registries and 20 hospital-based cancer registries, including the cancer registry at Lakeshore Cancer Center, which is

dedicated to cancer prevention and treatment [23]. The Nigerian National Systems of Cancer Registries was established in 2009, in collaboration with the Federal Ministry of Health, the Society of Oncology and Cancer Research of Nigeria, and the Institute of Human Virology of Nigeria to provide technical and scientific support, training, and capacity development to cancer registries in Nigeria [24]. However, health-care facilities in Nigeria are inadequate, which limits the comprehensive detection of gastric cancer cases. Often, education and community advocacy for early case detection are not readily available [23]. The major contributing factor is a lack of funding for disease diagnosis, resulting in a lack of equipment and limited numbers of trained personnel. In addition, the maintenance of these population-based cancer registries is inadequate because of a paucity of resources. This makes it difficult to know the exact number of gastric cancer cases in Nigeria. Another limitation is that most cancer registries in Nigeria do not report on *H. pylori* infection (Table 3.1.1), so it is difficult to link *H. pylori* infection to gastric cancer in Nigeria. In addition, most cancer registries in Nigeria collect only basic sociodemographic data and data on the type of cancer, with a few clinical presentations. There is no follow-up of the patients included in the registries.

Reference	City or region	Study period	Cancer population in study	Gastric cancer cases	Histologically confirmed (%)	<i>H. pylori</i> tested?	Registry type	Age group
Abdulkareem et al. (2009) [16]	Lagos and Sagamu	1995–2006	713	78	100	No	Hospital/ laboratory	All
Abdulkareem et al. (2010) [5]	Lagos	1995–2007	105	95	100	Yes; 15.5%	Hospital	Adults
Afuwape et al. (2012) [25]	Ibadan	2004–2009	Only gastric cancer cases were reported	49	73.5	No	Hospital	Adults
Ahmed et al. (2011) [7]	Zaria	1995–2009	Only gastric cancer cases were reported	179	100	Yes; result not reported	Hospital	Adults
Alatise et al. (2007) [9]	lle-lfe	1989–2005	230	160	100	Yes; 36.3%	Hospital	All
Arodiwe et al. (2013) [26]	South East	1995–2010	335	4	0	No	Hospital	Adults

Table 3.1.1.	Characteristics	of included	studies	describing	gastric	cancer	incidence	and	Н.	pylori	testing	in	cities	or
regions in N	igeria			-	-									

Table 3.1.1.	Characteristics	of included	studies	describing	gastric	cancer	incidence	and	Н. р	ylori	testing	in	cities	or
regions in Nig	geria (continued)												

Reference	City or region	Study period	Cancer population in study	Gastric cancer cases	Histologically confirmed (%)	<i>H. pylori</i> tested?	Registry type	Age group
Awodele et al. (2011) [27]	Lagos and Ibadan	2005–2009	5094	221	0	No	Hospital	All
Bakari et al. (2010) [11]	Maiduguri	1989–2005	87	72	100	Yes; 7%	Hospital	Adults
Ekanem and Parkin (2016) [28]	Calabar	2009–2013	719	9	100	No	Regional	All
Fapohunda et al. (2020) [23]	Lagos	2015–2018	548	9	0	No	Hospital	All
Habeebu et al. (2017) [19]	Lagos	2009–2016	106	8	100	No	Hospital	Adults
Irabor and Afuwape (2012) [17]	Ibadan	1990–2008	Only gastric cancer cases were reported	286	89	Yes; none seen	Hospital	All
Komolafe et al. (2008) [29]	lle-lfe	10 years; period not specified	1038	102	100	Yes; 63%	Hospital	All
Mandong et al. (2010) [4]	Plateau State	1985–2004	5706	205	100	No	Hospital	All
Nwafor and Nwafor (2018) [30]	Akwa Ibom State	2007–2015	1186	45	100	No	Hospital	All
Ray-Offor and Obiora (2021) [31]	Port Harcourt	2012–2021	622	17	100	Yes; 5.9%	Hospital	Adults
Oluwasola and Ogunbiyi (2003) [32]	Ibadan	18 years; period not specified	Only gastric cancer cases were reported	84	100	Yes; 17.9%	Hospital	Adults

Zambia does not have a population-based cancer registry that covers the whole country, and this lack results in inadequate collection of data on gastric cancer [13]. Theoretically, there is a system that is designed to facilitate the diagnosis and reporting of gastric cancer cases in the country. Evaluation for suspected cases is initially done at first-level public and private facilities. Centres that offer endoscopy services perform this procedure, and those that do not offer endoscopy arrange for patients to be referred to health-care centres with more advanced facilities. After endoscopy, biopsies from

suspicious lesions are sent for histological diagnosis. Upon histological confirmation of the cancer, patients are referred to the Cancer Diseases Hospital, which is the only institution in Zambia that has comprehensive cancer treatment capabilities. Records from the Cancer Diseases Hospital are then directly recorded into the Zambia National Cancer Registry. There is also provision for the Zambia National Cancer Registry to obtain cancer-related data directly from individual health facilities. If working efficiently, this system would facilitate timely diagnosis of gastric cancer. However, research has shown that the movement of patients from one level of care to another is not efficient, resulting in delayed diagnosis and poor data collection [15].

In Nigeria, a recent 15-year prospective study of patients with gastric cancer in a tertiary hospital in the South West region showed that 94.2% of the patients underwent endoscopy, and, among the 138 patients in the study, diagnosis was carried out by abdominal ultrasonography in 57.9% of cases, computed tomography (CT) in 23.9% of cases, and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) in 2.9% of cases [8]. Another study in the South West region of Nigeria reported that flexible endoscopy was the only diagnostic method in 34.7% of cases and that 26.5% of cases, the barium-meal test was the only diagnostic tool used, and 14.3% of cases were diagnosed intra-operatively [25].

A report from two endoscopy centres to which patients in the southern regions of Nigeria are referred showed that endoscopy was carried out to diagnose gastric cancer in a small set of patients [31]. A study in the North Central region showed that diagnosis of gastric cancer was based primarily on the barium-meal test, endoscopy, and biopsy; other diagnostic methods used were CT and ultrasonography [7].

3.1.4 H. pylori infection

Globally, the major risk factor for gastric cancer is *H. pylori* infection. The prevalence of *H. pylori* infection in Nigeria is 87.7% [33] and in Zambia is 79%, with most infections being acquired before the age of 10 years [34]. In Zambia, acquisition of *H. pylori* infection occurs earlier in urban settings than in rural settings [34]. This is probably due to the higher population density in urban and peri-urban areas than in rural areas, resulting in close human-to-human contact, which is often associated with inadequate living conditions and compromised sanitation. In contrast, in Nigeria the prevalence of gastric cancer is higher in rural areas than in urban areas.

In the face of very high levels of exposure, the associations between exposure and disease can be difficult to observe. This is exemplified by studies in Nigeria and Zambia that have attempted to show an association between *H. pylori* infection and gastric cancer.

In a case–control study in Zambia, 88% of gastric cancer cases and 87% of controls had detectable *H. pylori* antibodies; this difference was not statistically significant [35]. In a similar case–control study, 79% of gastric cancer cases and 88% of controls had *H. pylori* antibodies; this difference was also not statistically significant [36]. Another study in Zambia used a multiplex assay to measure 13 different *H. pylori* antibodies. None of these antibodies were detected at statistically significantly higher levels in gastric cancer cases than in controls [35]. Similarly, a study in Nigeria showed that *H. pylori* infection was detected in only 18% of gastric cancer tissue specimens [32]. A 10-year retrospective study of upper gastrointestinal endoscopy cases in the southern regions of Nigeria reported that among cases with histologically confirmed gastric cancer, *H. pylori* is not driving gastric cancer in these countries. Rather, they show that there is an urgent need to conduct more robust, and possibly prospective, studies that will demonstrate a clear link between *H. pylori* infection and gastric cancer. In addition, some of these studies had design limitations that could have affected the results.

3.1.5 H. pylori treatment

Treatment for *H. pylori* infection typically involves a combination of antibiotics and gastric acid-reducing drugs. Currently, there are no continent-wide guidelines for *H. pylori* treatment in Africa, and most countries in Africa rely on international strategies that are backed by evidence from outside the continent.

In Nigeria, *H. pylori* resistance to metronidazole, clarithromycin, and amoxicillin is high [37]. In a report published in 2017, resistance to metronidazole was 99.1%, to amoxicillin was 33.3%, and to clarithromycin was 14.4% [38]. In a report published in 2020, all the isolates tested were resistant to metronidazole, 25% were resistant to clarithromycin, and 30% were resistant to amoxicillin [37]. Metronidazole is widely available and widely used in Nigeria as an antidiarrhoeal or antiparasitic drug, and it is also used for gynaecological infections. Antibiotics are widely available to buy over the counter. Drugs sold over the counter are not regulated like prescription medications, and many people do not have health insurance that can pay the high cost of prescription

80

drugs. Therefore, self-prescription of antibiotics, which is associated with inappropriate dosing, is quite high in Nigeria [38], and this is a good recipe for the development of antimicrobial resistance.

In addition, Nigeria has limited facilities for *H. pylori* culture and sensitivity testing. Because of the high cost of culture, most physicians prescribe drugs empirically. The most prescribed regimen is triple therapy. There is growing evidence that quadruple concomitant therapy or levofloxacin triple therapy should replace clarithromycin triple therapy in regions where clarithromycin resistance is > 15% [39].

In Zambia, the burden of *H. pylori* antimicrobial resistance is thought to be high. In a recent study, the prevalence of resistance to clarithromycin was 28%, suggesting that this drug should not be prescribed empirically for *H. pylori* infection [40]. There is evidence of other common bacterial infections being resistant to amoxicillin and metronidazole in Zambia, and therefore this is probably true for *H. pylori* infections as well. Bismuth salts, which are currently the preferred additions to therapeutic regimens, are not available in Zambia. The use of rifabutin (an antimycobacterial drug) may have a negative effect on the control of the tuberculosis epidemic, with disastrous consequences. Therefore, options for effective *H. pylori* eradication in Zambia are limited. There is an urgent need to (i) collect robust evidence of sensitivity patterns, and (ii) generate evidence-based treatment guidelines for *H. pylori* infection in Zambia.

3.1.6 *H. pylori* treatment as a strategy for gastric cancer prevention

Eradication of *H. pylori* infection is a proven strategy for reducing the risk of gastric cancer. To find ways of appropriately closing the gaps in the treatment of *H. pylori* infection, the African *Helicobacter* and Microbiota Study Group (AHMSG), in collaboration with the European Registry on *Helicobacter pylori* Management, established the *H. pylori* Africa Registry (Hp-AfricaReg), which currently involves four African countries, including Nigeria and Zambia. The Hp-AfricaReg is an observational study in which data are being collected from patients who test positive for *H. pylori* infection using the urea breath test, the stool antigen test, or the simple urease test. The patients are treated using the local standard of care, and success of eradication is confirmed at least 4 weeks after the completion of *H. pylori* treatment. However, in both Nigeria and Zambia, many patients do not return for repeat tests after they have been treated; this limits the amount of data collected. Once completed, the Hp-AfricaReg

database will provide clear evidence-based information on treatment outcomes for *H. pylori* infection in at least four countries in Africa.

3.1.7 The African enigma

The so-called African enigma was first described by Holcombe more than 30 years ago [41]. It stated that despite the high prevalence of *H. pylori* infection in Africa, the occurrence of associated diseases, such as peptic ulceration and gastric cancer, was low. Since then, this description has served as a basis for many studies. However, it was not based on systematically collected evidence. Therefore, the African enigma is thought of as a medical myth by some scientists [42]. Holcombe did not account for variations in *H. pylori* prevalence among African populations and did not consider limitations in case detection.

Some of the data that were used to come up with the conclusion of the African enigma were from the northern regions of Nigeria, and no data from other regions of Nigeria or Zambia were used. Current data from Zambia do not support the concept of the African enigma. A community survey in a peri-urban, high-density community in Lusaka reported that the prevalence of peptic ulceration was similar to prevalences in countries outside Africa [43]. A recent study revealed that < 1% of adults with *H. pylori* infection had normal gastric mucosa, providing evidence that the infection was not indolent [21]. In addition, the exact burden of gastric cancer in Nigeria and Zambia remains unknown; therefore, concluding that it is rare might be erroneous.

The population prevalence of serologically diagnosed gastric atrophy (most of which is due to *H. pylori* infection) was 11% in Zambian adults aged 55–59 years [34]. This is lower than the prevalences reported in countries with a high incidence of gastric cancer, such as Japan (17% in the age group 40–60 years) [44] and the Republic of Korea (43% in the age group 40–49 years) [45]. However, it is higher than the prevalences reported in countries with a low incidence of gastric cancer, such as Germany (4.1% in the age group 55–59 years) [46] and Finland (3.5%) [47]. In a hospital-based endoscopy study in Lusaka, the prevalence of serologically determined gastric atrophy in all adult age ranges was 30% [36]. Serological diagnosis of gastric atrophy was done by measuring the pepsinogen I/II ratio. However, both studies used the cut-off value of 3.0, which was not validated for the Zambian population.

The lack of a clear congruence between prevalence of *H. pylori* infection and prevalence of related gastric diseases has also been reported in other parts of the

world, including Asia and Latin America [48]. Therefore, the use of the term "African enigma" in relation to *H. pylori* infection is redundant.

3.1.8 Efforts to improve information on gastric cancer

Cancer registries and strategic plans

On 26 May 2024, the Federal Ministry of Health and Social Welfare of Nigeria launched the National Cancer Registry Regulations for Nigeria. The aims were to improve access to real-time data (by reporting cancer cases to centralized registries), to promote early detection through timely diagnosis and intervention, to help mitigate the impact of cancer on individuals and communities, and ultimately to improve the quality of health-care delivery in Nigeria. The launch included the publication of a document developed by the National Institute for Cancer Research and Treatment, in collaboration with the African Cancer Registry Network, IARC, and St. Jude Children's Research Hospital (USA). After the launch, the Federal Government of Nigeria intends to focus on tackling cancer by cancer prevention activities, advocacy, social mobilization, treatment, supply chain management, data management, research, and finance.

In Zambia, similar efforts have been made with the launch of the National Cancer Control Strategic Plan 2022–2026. To improve diagnostics, Zambia now has the capacity to train endoscopists to a high standard; so far, 10 local endoscopists (qualified physicians and surgeons) have been trained. Some of these endoscopists have since gone on to practise in various institutions within Zambia. However, the impact of these efforts is limited by a lack of endoscopy equipment in health-care centres outside of Zambia's main cities. Therefore, the diagnosis of gastric cancer remains a challenge.

Finding cost-effective methods of diagnosing gastric cancer early

Attempts have been made to find simple, more cost-effective ways of diagnosing gastric cancer early, in the absence of endoscopy. A simple bedside device to detect blood in gastric juice before endoscopy has been designed and tested [49]. The device, called the Sanguis-filum, is an inert, absorbent string coiled up in a gelatin capsule. The capsule is swallowed, and the string is left in situ for at least 30 minutes. Upon retrieval of the string, guaiacum powder is used to test for the presence of blood on the string. This device was tested on 200 volunteers, with a reported high acceptance rate. The Sanguis-filum was found to not be sufficiently accurate for use as a diagnostic tool for gastric cancer, because it had a low sensitivity. This is probably because not all cancers

would be actively bleeding at any one time. Therefore, better results would probably have been achieved if the string had been left in situ for longer. Other efforts are currently under way in Zambia to find alternatives to the endoscopic diagnosis of early gastric cancer.

Understanding the molecular characteristics of gastric cancer

To reduce mortality from gastric cancer in Zambia, work is being done to understand its molecular characteristics. In one study in Zambia, the proportion of gastric cancers overexpressing human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) was 23% [50]. Tumours with HER2 overexpression respond to targeted therapy with the anti-HER2 antibody trastuzumab, and this approach is associated with improved survival [51]. Because Zambia has a high number of cases of advanced gastric cancer, routinely testing for HER2 may have a substantial impact on outcomes.

There is also evidence that a high proportion of gastric cancers exhibit loss of MutL homologue 1 (MLH1) expression, which is a marker of microsatellite instability [52]. This could be vital for future precision therapeutic approaches.

Programmed death ligand-1 (PD-L1) is an immune checkpoint inhibitor that is a promising prognostic and therapeutic target for gastric cancer. In a recent study in Zambia, the expression of anti-PD-L1 was evaluated in gastric cancers. Positive expression was detected in 14% of cases. This approach may improve the outcomes of patients with advanced gastric cancer in Zambia [53].

3.1.9 Future directions

Evidence shows that countries that have rolled out screening programmes for gastric cancer have higher detection rates and better outcomes for gastric cancer [54]. Currently, screening for gastric cancer is not possible in Africa. Work is under way to find affordable and applicable ways of either diagnosing gastric cancer early or preventing it altogether using effective *H. pylori* eradication. Because there is evidence that *H. pylori* infection is prevalent in Africa, the AHMSG was formed to spearhead activities and conduct high-quality research to provide evidence-based answers to the questions on *H. pylori*-induced gastric cancer in Africa.

The AHMSG currently has 16 board members from 10 African countries and several other members from 8 other countries. Several projects have been identified and will be

conducted within the AHMSG as funding becomes available. These are briefly described here.

Project 1: Understanding the true burden of H. pylori *infection and gastric cancer in Africa*

Very few countries in Africa have done population-wide studies on the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection. The model that was recently used in Zambia, in which archival blood samples from a Population-Based HIV Impact Assessment (PHIA) were used to accurately determine the national prevalence of *H. pylori* infection, could be used in other African countries. The PHIA project was supported by the United States President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR) through the United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. The PHIA project has a presence in 15 African countries, including Nigeria. The PHIA survey had the resources to carry out systematically sampled door-to-door blood collection to study the burden of HIV. The AHMSG will use these stored samples to measure the presence of *H. pylori* antibodies and thereby determine the national prevalence of *H. pylori* infection in 15 countries in Africa. The AHMSG will also work in close liaison with diagnostic centres and cancer registries in Africa to understand the true burden of gastric cancer and *H. pylori*-related disease in the continent.

Project 2: A comprehensive survey of the available resources in AHMSG member countries

One of the limiting factors for information gathering in Africa is the lack of capacity to conduct credible research. The AHMSG recently conducted and published a survey on practices related to *H. pylori* treatment in Africa [55]. There are also plans to conduct another study, focused on research resources, to understand which centres can effectively collect and store biological samples and also perform culture and sensitivity testing.

Project 3: Evaluating the profile of antimicrobial resistance in the continent, with a specific focus on multidrug resistance and heteroresistance

The AHMSG is preparing a grant application aimed at determining the burden of antimicrobial resistance in Africa. This ambitious project will cover several African countries, providing robust data on *H. pylori* resistance.

Project 4: Participating in the Hp-AfricaReg

This descriptive observational study is collecting information on patient outcomes after treatment with the currently available standard of care. Four African countries have started the study.

Project 5: Multicentre randomized clinical trials

The information gathered from Project 3 and Project 4 will be used to design multicentre randomized clinical trials in Africa. This information will enable the formulation of evidence-based treatment guidelines that are applicable to Africa.

References

- Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, et al. (2021). Global cancer statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin. 71(3):209–49. <u>https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21660</u> <u>PMID:33538338</u>
- Omonisi AE, Liu B, Parkin DM (2020). Population-based cancer registration in sub-Saharan Africa: its role in research and cancer control. JCO Glob Oncol. 6(6):1721–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1200/GO.20.00294</u> PMID:33180635
- 3. Ferlay J, Colombet M, Soerjomataram I, Parkin DM, Piñeros M, Znaor A, et al. (2021). Cancer statistics for the year 2020: an overview. Int J Cancer. 149(4):778–89. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.33588</u> PMID:33818764
- Mandong BM, Manasseh AN, Tanko MN, Echejoh GO, Madaki AJ (2010). Epidemiology of gastric cancer in Jos University Teaching Hospital Jos a 20 year review of cases. Niger J Med. 19(4):451–4. https://doi.org/10.4314/njm.v19i4.61975 PMID:21526638
- Abdulkareem FB, Onyekwere CA, Awolola NA, Ajekigbe AT (2010). Clinico-pathological review of malignant gastric tumours in Lagos, Nigeria. Nig Q J Hosp Med. 20(2):49–54. https://doi.org/10.4314/ngjhm.v20i2.58021 PMID:21243852
- 6. Abdulkareem FB, Badmos KB, Awolola NA (2015). *Helicobacter pylori* infections and gastric cancer: the West African experience. Niger J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 7:25–30.
- 7. Ahmed A, Ukwenya AY, Makama JG, Mohammad I (2011). Management and outcome of gastric carcinoma in Zaria, Nigeria. Afr Health Sci. 11(3):353–61. <u>PMID:22275924</u>
- Yibrehu B, Mohammed TO, Murthy S, Aderibigbe AS, Daramola OB, Arije O, et al. (2024). Gastric cancer at a Nigerian tertiary referral center: experiences with establishing an institutional cancer registry. J Surg Oncol. jso.27993. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jso.27993</u> PMID:39558548
- 9. Alatise OI, Lawal OO, Adesunkanmi AK, Agbakwuru AE, Arigbabu OA, Ndububa DA, et al. (2007). Clinical pattern and management of gastric cancer in Ile-Ife, Nigeria. Arab J Gastroenterol. 8:123–6.
- Holcombe C, Umar H, Lucas SB, Kaluba J (1994). Low incidence of clinically significant gastroduodenal pathology despite a high incidence of *Helicobacter pylori* infection. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg. 88(5):569–71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0035-9203(94)90166-X PMID:7992342</u>
- 11. Bakari AA, Ibrahim AG, Gali BM, Dogo D, Nggada HA (2010). Pattern of gastric cancer in northeastern Nigeria: a clinicopathological study. J Chin Clin Med. 5:211–5.
- 12. Kayamba V, Mubbunu M, Kelly P (2024). Endoscopic diagnosis of gastric and oesophageal cancer in Lusaka, Zambia: a retrospective analysis. BMC Gastroenterol. 24(1):122. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12876-024-03187-x PMID:38561688
- Shumba S, Kayamba V (2023). Analysis of the proportion of University Teaching Hospital gastric cancer data included in the Zambia National Cancer Registry. Afr Health Sci. 23(1):438–43. <u>https://doi.org/10.4314/ahs.v23i1.46 PMID:37545961</u>
- Asombang AW, Kayamba V, Turner-Moss E, Banda L, Colditz G, Mudenda V, et al. (2014). Gastric malignancy survival in Zambia, Southern Africa: a two year follow up study. Med J Zambia. 41(1):13– 8. <u>PMID:37731812</u>
- 15. Kayamba V, Kelly P (2019). Delayed referral for diagnostic endoscopy is a contributing factor to late gastric cancer diagnosis in Zambia. Health Press. 3(2):14–9. <u>PMID:33969265</u>
- Abdulkareem FB, Faduyile FA, Daramola AO, Rotimi O, Banjo AA, Elesha SO, et al. (2009). Malignant gastrointestinal tumours in south western Nigeria: a histopathologic analysis of 713 cases. West Afr J Med. 28(3):173–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.4314/wajm.v28i3.48478</u> <u>PMID:20306734</u>
- 17. Irabor DO, Afuwape OO (2012). Malignant diseases of the stomach in Ibadan, Nigeria: a 19-year appraisal. East Cent Afr J Surg. 17:65–9.
- Osime OC, Momoh MI, Irowa OO, Obumse A (2010). Gastric carcinoma a big challenge in a poor economy. J Gastrointest Cancer. 41(2):101–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12029-009-9118-3</u> <u>PMID:20052563</u>
- Habeebu MY, Salako O, Okediji PT, Mabadeje B, Awofeso OM, Ajekigbe AT, et al. (2017). The distribution, histologic profile and clinical presentation of gastrointestinal malignancies in Lagos, Nigeria. J West Afr Coll Surg. 7(1):9–31. <u>PMID:29951453</u>
- 20. Kelly P, Katema M, Amadi B, Zimba L, Aparicio S, Mudenda V, et al. (2008). Gastrointestinal pathology in the University Teaching Hospital, Lusaka, Zambia: review of endoscopic and pathology records. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg. 102(2):194–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trstmh.2007.10.006</u> <u>PMID:18054058</u>

- Kayamba V, Zyambo K, Mulenga C, Mwakamui S, Tembo MJ, Shibemba A, et al. (2020). Biomass smoke exposure is associated with gastric cancer and probably mediated via oxidative stress and DNA damage: a case-control study. JCO Glob Oncol. 6(6):532–41. https://doi.org/10.1200/GO.20.00002 PMID:32228314
- 22. Mwachiro M, Topazian HM, Kayamba V, Mulima G, Ogutu E, Erkie M, et al. (2021). Gastrointestinal endoscopy capacity in Eastern Africa. Endosc Int Open. 9(11):E1827–36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1055/a-1551-3343 PMID:34790551</u>
- Fapohunda A, Fakolade A, Omiye J, Afolaranmi O, Arowojolu O, Oyebamiji T, et al. (2020). Cancer presentation patterns in Lagos, Nigeria: experience from a private cancer center. J Public Health Afr. 11(2):1138. <u>https://doi.org/10.4081/jphia.2020.1229 PMID:33623651</u>
- Zubairu IH, Balogun MS (2023). Population-based cancer registries in Nigeria and the National Cancer Control Programme. Ecancermedicalscience. 17:1592. <u>https://doi.org/10.3332/ecancer.2023.1592</u> <u>PMID:37799955</u>
- Afuwape OO, Irabor DO, Ladipo JK, Ayandipo B (2012). A review of the current profile of gastric cancer presentation in the University College Hospital Ibadan, a tertiary health care institution in the tropics. J Gastrointest Cancer. 43(2):177–80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12029-011-9259-z</u> PMID:21298558
- 26. Arodiwe EB, Ike SO, Nwokediuko SC, Ijoma CK, Ulasi II (2013). Pattern of cancer deaths in the medical wards of a teaching hospital in South East Nigeria. Niger J Clin Pract. 16(4):505–10. https://doi.org/10.4103/1119-3077.116901 PMID:23974748
- 27. Awodele O, Adeyomoye AA, Awodele DF, Fayankinnu VB, Dolapo DC (2011). Cancer distribution pattern in south-western Nigeria. Tanzan J Health Res. 13(2):125–31. https://doi.org/10.4314/thrb.v13i2.55226 PMID:25566610
- 28. Ekanem IO, Parkin DM (2016). Five year cancer incidence in Calabar, Nigeria (2009–2013). Cancer Epidemiol. 42:167–72. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canep.2016.04.014</u> PMID:27164305
- 29. Komolafe AO, Ojo OS, Olasode BJ (2008). Gastric malignancies and associated premalignant lesions in a teaching hospital in southwest Nigeria. Afr J Biotechnol. 7:2104–11.
- 30. Nwafor CC, Nwafor NN (2018). The pattern and distribution of cancers in Akwa Ibom State, Nigeria. Niger J Clin Pract. 21(5):603–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/njcp.njcp_316_17_PMID:29735861</u>
- Ray-Offor E, Obiorah CC (2021). Topography and morphology of gastric cancer in Nigeria: a dual institution review of 622 upper gastrointestinal endoscopies. Cureus. 13(4):e14693. <u>https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.14693 PMID:34055537</u>
- 32. Oluwasola AO, Ogunbiyi JO (2003). *Helicobacter pylori*-associated gastritis and gastric cancer in Nigeria. Indian J Gastroenterol. 22(6):212–4. <u>PMID:15030031</u>
- 33. Hooi JKY, Lai WY, Ng WK, Suen MMY, Underwood FE, Tanyingoh D, et al. (2017). Global prevalence of *Helicobacter pylori* infection: systematic review and meta-analysis. Gastroenterology. 153(2):420–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2017.04.022 PMID:28456631</u>
- 34. Kayamba V, Munshi H, Hankolwe MN, Kaluba Kavimba C, Chongwe G, Knaze V, et al. (2024). Nationwide survey of *Helicobacter pylori* seropositivity and gastric atrophy in Zambia. Helicobacter. 29(3):e13096. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.13096 PMID:38790093</u>
- 35. Kayamba V, Butt J, Varga MG, Shibemba A, Piazuelo MB, Wilson KT, et al. (2022). Serum antibodies to selected *Helicobacter pylori* antigens are associated with active gastritis in patients seen at the University Teaching Hospital in Lusaka, Zambia. Malawi Med J. 34(1):17–24. https://doi.org/10.4314/mmj.v34i1.4 PMID:37265823
- Kayamba V, Asombang AW, Mudenda V, Lisulo MM, Sinkala E, Mwanamakondo S, et al. (2013). Gastric adenocarcinoma in Zambia: a case-control study of HIV, lifestyle risk factors, and biomarkers of pathogenesis. S Afr Med J. 103(4):255–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.7196/SAMJ.6159</u> PMID:23547703
- 37. Palamides P, Jolaiya T, Idowu A, Loell E, Onyekwere C, Ugiagbe R, et al. (2020). *Helicobacter pylori* patient isolates from South Africa and Nigeria differ in virulence factor pathogenicity profile and associated gastric disease outcome. Sci Rep. 10(1):11409. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-66128-0 PMID:32651394</u>
- Harrison U, Fowora MA, Seriki AT, Loell E, Mueller S, Ugo-Ijeh M, et al. (2017). *Helicobacter pylori* strains from a Nigerian cohort show divergent antibiotic resistance rates and a uniform pathogenicity profile. PLoS One. 12(5):e0176454. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0176454</u> <u>PMID:28463973</u>
- Smith SI, Schulz C, Ugiagbe R, Ndip R, Dieye Y, Leja M, et al. (2024). *Helicobacter pylori* diagnosis and treatment in Africa: the first Lagos consensus statement of the African Helicobacter and Microbiota Study Group. Dig Dis. 42(3):240–56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/000537878</u> PMID:38493766

- Kebotsamang T, Munkombwe D, Bwalya L, Kelly P, Kayamba V (2024). Prevalence of clarithromycinresistant *Helicobacter pylori* strains in Zambia: a sub-Saharan African country. Dig Dis. 42(2):154–60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/000535454</u> <u>PMID:38185098</u>
- 41. Holcombe C (1992). *Helicobacter pylori*: the African enigma. Gut. 33(4):429–31. https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.33.4.429 PMID:1582581
- 42. Graham DY, Lu H, Yamaoka Y (2009). African, Asian or Indian enigma, the East Asian *Helicobacter pylori*: facts or medical myths. J Dig Dis. 10(2):77–84. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-2980.2009.00368.x PMID:19426388</u>
- Fernando N, Holton J, Zulu I, Vaira D, Mwaba P, Kelly P (2001). *Helicobacter pylori* infection in an urban African population. J Clin Microbiol. 39(4):1323–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.39.4.1323-1327.2001</u> PMID:11283050
- Inoue I, Yoshimura N, Iidaka T, Horii C, Muraki S, Oka H, et al. (2023). Trends in the prevalence of atrophic gastritis and *Helicobacter pylori* infection over a 10-year period in Japan: the ROAD study 2005-2015. Mol Clin Oncol. 19(1):53. <u>https://doi.org/10.3892/mco.2023.2649</u> <u>PMID:37323249</u>
- 45. Joo YE, Park HK, Myung DS, Baik GH, Shin JE, Seo GS, et al. (2013). Prevalence and risk factors of atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia: a nationwide multicenter prospective study in Korea. Gut Liver. 7(3):303–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.5009/gnl.2013.7.3.303</u> PMID:23710311
- Brenner H, Rothenbacher D, Weck MN (2007). Epidemiologic findings on serologically defined chronic atrophic gastritis strongly depend on the choice of the cutoff-value. Int J Cancer. 121(12):2782–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.22992</u> <u>PMID:17691112</u>
- Telaranta-Keerie A, Kara R, Paloheimo L, Härkönen M, Sipponen P (2010). Prevalence of undiagnosed advanced atrophic corpus gastritis in Finland: an observational study among 4,256 volunteers without specific complaints. Scand J Gastroenterol. 45(9):1036–41. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/00365521.2010.487918</u> PMID:20446846
- 48. Ghoshal UC, Chaturvedi R, Correa P (2010). The enigma of *Helicobacter pylori* infection and gastric cancer. Indian J Gastroenterol. 29(3):95–100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12664-010-0024-1</u> PMID:20585917
- 49. Kayamba V, Kelly P (2022). Introducing the Sanguis-filum for detection of gastric mucosal lesions prior to endoscopy: a study protocol. Diagnostics (Basel). 12(5):1160. https://doi.org/10.3390/diagnostics12051160 PMID:35626320
- 50. Kasochi C, Julius P, Mweemba I, Kayamba V (2020). Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 overexpression in gastric and gastroesophageal junction adenocarcinoma in patients seen at the University Teaching Hospital, Lusaka, Zambia. Afr Health Sci. 20(4):1857–64. https://doi.org/10.4314/ahs.v20i4.41 PMID:34394249
- Sawaki A, Ohashi Y, Omuro Y, Satoh T, Hamamoto Y, Boku N, et al. (2012). Efficacy of trastuzumab in Japanese patients with HER2-positive advanced gastric or gastroesophageal junction cancer: a subgroup analysis of the Trastuzumab for Gastric Cancer (ToGA) study. Gastric Cancer. 15(3):313– 22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10120-011-0118-1</u> <u>PMID:22179434</u>
- 52. Kayamba V, Butt J, Waterboer T, Besa E, Choudhry N, Hamasuku A, et al. (2020). Molecular profiling of gastric cancer in a population with high HIV prevalence reveals a shift to MLH1 loss but not the EBV subtype. Cancer Med. 9(10):3445–54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cam4.3001</u> PMID:32207245
- 53. Gu L, Huang T, Qiu S, Hong J, Fu R, Ni C, et al. (2022). Efficacy of PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitors in patients with advanced gastroesophageal cancer: an updated meta-analysis based on randomized controlled trials. Front Pharmacol. 13:1009254. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2022.1009254</u> <u>PMID:36386140</u>
- 54. Kim GH, Bang SJ, Ende AR, Hwang JH (2015). Is screening and surveillance for early detection of gastric cancer needed in Korean Americans? Korean J Intern Med. 30(6):747–58. <u>https://doi.org/10.3904/kjim.2015.30.6.747</u> PMID:26552450
- 55. Mashiko S, Ifeanyi Smith S, Rose U, Abiodun OJ, Jaka H, Charles O, et al. (2024). *Helicobacter pylori* management in Africa: a survey of diagnostic, treatment, and related resources. Helicobacter. 29(6):e13153. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.13153 PMID:39538426</u>

WHO Region of the Americas

Summary

- The Americas contribute about 10% of the new cases of gastric cancer globally.
 The burden of gastric cancer is greatest in low- and middle-income countries and in specific racial and ethnic groups in high-income countries.
- The burden of *H. pylori* infection in the Americas varies across regions, with lower seroprevalence (< 25%) in North America and higher seroprevalence (~70%) in Central America, and across demographic groups within countries.
- The incidence of gastric cancer is increasing in young people in the USA.
- No primary or secondary preventive measures for gastric cancer have been established in the Americas.
- There is low public awareness of the risk factors and warning symptoms for gastric cancer.
- Several new and important research initiatives are under way in some countries, but only limited strategies for prevention and control are embedded into public health policies.

Chapter 3.2.

Gastric cancer prevention in Latin America and the Caribbean

Arnoldo Riquelme and M. Constanza Camargo

Summary

- Gastric cancer is a leading cause of cancer-related death in the Latin America and the Caribbean region, which contributes about 8% of the new cases globally. The burden of gastric cancer is greatest in the mountainous areas of the Pacific littoral.
- The most common anatomical subsite of gastric cancer in populations in Latin America and the Caribbean is *H. pylori*-driven non-cardia gastric cancer, and its late diagnosis is associated with poor outcomes.
- The burden of *H. pylori* infection in populations is high (> 60% in adults) and is relatively homogeneous across the region. Two multicentre studies in countries in Latin America and the Caribbean address *H. pylori* diagnosis and treatment schemes (Hp-LATAM-Reg) and *H. pylori* antibiotic resistance (Hp-RESLA).
- There are limited strategies for gastric cancer prevention and control embedded in public health policies in the region.
- Chile has taken a leading role in implementing demonstrative studies of prevention that could inform national and regional regulations to reduce gastric cancer mortality.

3.2.1 Introduction

Latin America and the Caribbean (LAC) is a region with a low to moderate risk of gastric cancer. LAC accounts for about 8% of new cases of gastric cancer globally [1]. The greatest burden of gastric cancer in LAC is concentrated in the mountainous areas of the Pacific littoral [2]. Based on the limited incidence data that are available, the risk of gastric cancer has been decreasing for several decades in both men and women in

LAC (Fig. 3.2.1) [3]. Gastric cancer is a leading cause of cancer-related deaths in LAC; it is responsible for about 58 000 deaths per year in the region [1].



Age-Standardized Rate (World) per 100 000, Incidence, Females Stomach Argentina* - Chile* - Colombia* - Costa Rica - Ecuador* - Puerto Rico





Fig. 3.2.1. Country-specific trends of gastric cancer incidence in (top) men and (bottom) women in Latin America and the Caribbean. * Subnational data. Source: Ervik et al. (2024) [3].

According to GLOBOCAN 2022, the countries in LAC with the highest overall gastric cancer incidence and mortality rates are Chile, Colombia, Costa Rica, Ecuador, Guatemala, and Peru (Fig. 3.2.2) [1]. The countries with the lowest gastric cancer incidence and mortality rates are Barbados, Belize, Guyana, Suriname, and Trinidad and Tobago. The Central America Four region (El Salvador, Guatemala, Honduras, and Nicaragua) is the largest low- and middle-income region in the Western Hemisphere, with a population of about 41 million; in addition, about 6 million people who now live in the USA have emigrated from the Central America Four region. Accurate mortality data are lacking for the Central America Four region, and underreporting hinders national and regional cancer control programmes [4]. The gastric cancer burden in the Central America Four region is projected to increase by 73% by 2030, primarily because of population growth and ageing, unless prevention strategies are implemented [4]. In contrast, the Caribbean has a heterogeneous incidence of gastric cancer, with an intermediate estimated incidence in Haiti (10 cases per 100 000 person-years) and a relatively low estimated incidence in the Dominican Republic (6 cases per 100 000 person-years) (Fig. 3.2.2) [1].



Age-Standardized Rate ((World) pe	r 100 000.	Incidence.	Both sexes.	in 20	22
Age-standardized Nate	(world) pe	1 100 000,	menactice,	Dotti Seves,	111 20	~~

Population	ASR (W)
Suriname	4.6
Guyana	4.5
Trinidad and Tobago	4.0
Puerto Rico	2.8

Age-Standardized Rate (World) per 100 000, Mortality, Both sexes, in 2022 Stomach



ASR

3.5

3.1

3.0

2.4

Fig. 3.2.2. Gastric cancer (A) incidence and (B) mortality in both sexes, age-standardized rates (ASRs) (world) per 100 000 person-years in Latin America and the Caribbean. Source: Ferlay et al. (2024) [1].





Fig. 3.2.3. Median 5-year observed survival of patients with gastric cancer in Latin America and the Caribbean, in both sexes combined. Source: Soerjomataram et al. (2023) [6].

The most common anatomical subsite of gastric cancer in populations in LAC is *H. pylori*-driven non-cardia gastric cancer [5]. In LAC, patients with gastric cancer are often diagnosed at an advanced stage of the disease, and the overall median 5-year survival rate is < 35% (Fig. 3.2.3) [6]. People in rural Central America have an even worse prognosis after a gastric cancer diagnosis, with a 5-year survival rate of < 10% [7].

The epidemiological pattern of gastric cancer is evolving. A trend analysis in Hispanic populations in Puerto Rico and 16 countries in LAC showed that gastric cancer mortality had increased slightly or was stable in people younger than 50 years [8]. This is consistent with an increasing incidence of non-cardia gastric cancer in young non-Hispanic White people and in Hispanic people in the USA, particularly in women [9]. Additional surveillance is needed in populations in LAC.

3.2.2 Risk factors for gastric cancer in populations in LAC

Improvements in hygiene and sanitation have contributed to the global decrease in the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection, and these factors still contribute to the varying prevalence of *H. pylori* infection across regions. The prevalence of *H. pylori* infection is about 50% in the population worldwide and is > 60% in most countries in LAC. Fig. 3.2.4 shows the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection and the age-standardized rates (world) of gastric cancer per 100 000 population in 2020 attributable to *H. pylori* infection in selected countries [10]. In a meta-analysis that included 22 studies in Latin America (in 14 countries) in 1987–2012, the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection was 69.3% in adults and 48.4% in children and adolescents [11]. In Chile, the historical seroprevalence of *H. pylori* infection [12], but a recent study suggested that there has been a drastic decrease, with an observed prevalence of 29% in adults in urban areas, mainly related to water sanitization [13, 14]. In participants in the Hispanic Community Health Study/Study of Latinos, the overall weighted *H. pylori* seroprevalence was 57%, with a seropositivity of 38% in people born in the USA and a seropositivity of 62% in people born outside the USA [15].



Fig. 3.2.4. Prevalence of *H. pylori* infection (in red) and age-standardized rates (world) of gastric cancer per 100 000 population (in blue) in 2020 attributable to *H. pylori* infection in selected countries. Compiled from Ferlay et al. (2024) [1]. Panel illustrated by Valentina Riquelme.

In Latin America, the associations of risk factors for gastric cancer are based on case–control comparisons. The specific factors that have been identified and their magnitudes of association are largely similar to those identified in other populations [5]. An association between altitude and gastric cancer incidence and mortality has been observed in the countries of western Latin America, located along the Pacific rim; this is known as the Andes enigma [2]. South American countries that are located along the Atlantic coast also have some populations at high risk of gastric cancer. For example, people in north-eastern Brazil have the highest rates of gastric cancer in the country [16]. These observed variations in risk may be attributed to differences in ancestry, salt intake, environmental factors, the prevalence of *H. pylori* CagA-positive strains, and the presence of other gastrointestinal coinfections [17].

3.2.3 Gastric cancer prevention in LAC

In most countries in LAC, health sectors have inadequate financial protection against health-care costs, and service delivery is fragmented [18]. Few health efforts in the region are focused on preventive medicine. Prevention strategies for gastric cancer are urgently needed in LAC to reduce the high social and economic costs of this disease.

An evidence-based strategic framework to achieve effective prevention and control of gastric cancer in the Americas was recently proposed, and this framework could guide immediate action [19]. In addition, under the umbrella of the World Code Against Cancer Framework, the 2023 Latin America and the Caribbean Code Against Cancer recommends screening and treatment for *H. pylori* infection in the context of specific public health programmes [20].

Gastric cancer prevention activities before 2013

The 2014 IARC Working Group Report on H. pylori eradication as a strategy for preventing gastric cancer [21] summarized the strategies used against gastric cancer in countries in LAC. At that time, only Chile, Costa Rica, Ecuador, the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela, and Peru had explicit initiatives related to gastric cancer prevention. In Chile, the Ministry of Health initiated an opportunistic nationwide gastric cancer detection programme in 2006 that focused on symptomatic individuals. Also, H. pylori eradication (standard triple therapy) was recommended for any patient who had undergone oesophago-gastro-duodenoscopy (OGD) with a diagnosis of H. pylori infection and duodenal or stomach ulcer, atrophic gastritis, lymphoma, adenoma, gastric cancer, and/or a family history of gastric cancer [22]. In Ecuador, the Sociedad de Lucha Contra el Cáncer, a national non-profit organization, provides education about gastric cancer and specific recommendations for its treatment [23]. In Peru, the National Plan to Strengthen Cancer Prevention and Control in Peru, published in 2006, recommended (i) promoting research studies on methods for early detection of gastric cancer, including endoscopy; (ii) promoting the incorporation of early detection methods for gastric cancer and other cancers among health-care providers and the general public; and (iii) supporting actions to control *H. pylori* infection and to improve eating habits [24].

During the mid-1980s and the 1990s, as an international cooperation between the governments of Japan and of several LAC countries, gastric cancer screening programmes based on photofluorography were established in high-risk areas. In Peru, OGD examinations were conducted in > 30 000 symptomatic patients in 1985–2002. In the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela, a screening programme conducted > 100 000 examinations in 1980–1989 in the high-risk region of Tachira [25]. Both of these programmes have been discontinued. In Costa Rica, the Cancer Early Detection Center in Cartago was opened in 1995, and 10 064 individuals were screened in 1996–1999 [26]. The impact evaluation of this intervention concluded that although X-ray mass

97

screening seems to be able to reduce mortality from gastric cancer, the high cost of the procedure may prevent this intervention from being scaled up to cover the entire country [27]. The Cancer Early Detection Center still operates as a patient care centre, as part of the Caja Costarricense de Seguro Social (CCSS). Residents in the target areas are invited for a gastrointestinal series, and individuals with an altered series and those referred (from within or outside the CCSS) for previous suspicious endoscopy findings have diagnostic OGDs. At the Cancer Early Detection Center, most cases of gastric cancer are diagnosed at an early stage of the disease, and they are treated by an expert multidisciplinary team.

Gastric cancer prevention activities after 2013

In recent years, the Pan American Gastroenterology Organization (Organización Panamericana de Gastroenterología; OPGE), in collaboration with organizations in Europe and North America, including the European Registry on *H. pylori* Management (Hp-EuReg), the Spanish Gastroenterology Association, and the United States National Cancer Institute, has led key regional initiatives related to the primary prevention of gastric cancer.

Local guidelines

In 2014, under the sponsorship of the Chilean Society of Gastroenterology, a consensus report on the management of *H. pylori* infection in Latin America was published by a multidisciplinary group of adult and paediatric gastroenterologists, epidemiologists, and scientists with expertise in *H. pylori* infection and associated diseases and evidence-based medicine [28]. In a parallel effort, the Chilean Association of Digestive Endoscopy (ACHED) published a consensus report on endoscopic diagnosis and follow-up of gastric premalignant lesions. The ACHED group recommended that (i) endoscopists should perform systematic biopsies and specific examinations to detect early lesions, (ii) pathologists should adopt the updated Sydney protocol and include the Operative Link on Gastritis Assessment (OLGA) or Operative Link on Gastric Intestinal Metaplasia Assessment (OLGIM) staging in the histopathological report, and (iii) endoscopy services and pathological anatomy services should implement administrative processes to ensure that patients receive notifications and appointments for endoscopies if needed [29]. These two consensus reports helped to launch several initiatives (described below) for the prevention and control of gastric cancer in LAC. The ACHED group is working on

an updated version of the guidelines on gastric premalignant conditions, to be published in 2025, which will incorporate new data.

The Latin American Registry on the Management of H. pylori Infection

In 2019, the Latin American Registry on the Management of H. pylori Infection (Hp-LATAMReg) was created, with the support of the Hp-EuReg and the Spanish Gastroenterology Association, to describe and evaluate the main H. pylori eradication therapies and their eradication rates, adherence, and side-effects in countries in LAC. Eight countries (Argentina, Chile, Colombia, Costa Rica, Ecuador, Guatemala, Mexico, and Peru) have joined the Hp-LATAMReg and have provided retrospective and prospective (2015–2023) information to the Hp-LATAMReg. In 2024, a preliminary analysis reported that 1378 individuals have been registered, including 1218 (88%) treatment-naive patients. Preliminary results showed that (i) most of the treatment regimens used were 14 days long (n = 1051; 96%) and administered high-dose proton pump inhibitors; (ii) dual therapy and bismuth-containing quadruple therapies were significantly more effective than standard triple therapy; (iii) the most frequently used diagnostic test was histology (66%), and the most frequently used tests to confirm eradication were the stool antigen test (39%) and the ¹³C-urea breath test (29%) [30, 31]; and (iv) the eradication rates for several schemes were strongly associated with rates of *H. pylori* antibiotic resistance. Findings from the Hp-LATAMReg are already providing relevant information to enable updates of the national and regional guidelines for *H. pylori* treatment. For example, quadruple and dual therapies should be considered as the first-line treatment for *H. pylori* eradication in LAC.

H. pylori-antibiotics RESistance in Latin America (Hp-RESLA)

A systematic review and meta-analysis of studies in Latin America published up to October 2013 reported that the overall prevalence of *H. pylori* primary antimicrobial resistance among adults was 12% for clarithromycin, 53% for metronidazole, 4% for amoxicillin, 6% for tetracycline, 3% for furazolidone, 15% for fluoroquinolones, and 8% for dual clarithromycin and metronidazole resistance [32]. The prevalence of resistance varied substantially by country but not by year of sample collection. In 2019, a meta-analysis of studies on clarithromycin resistance in adults in Santiago, Chile, showed a higher prevalence of clarithromycin resistance (26%) and a suboptimal *H. pylori* eradication rate (63%) [33]. Another study in Santiago showed that levofloxacin

resistance was higher in women than in men (39% vs 13%; P < 0.001) [34]. Additional studies should be conducted to further explore potentially differential effects by sex. Accordingly, since 2019, the OPGE has supported Hp-RESLA, a multicentre study on molecular *H. pylori* antibiotic resistance in LAC, which aims to create a regional laboratory network for polymerase chain reaction (PCR), using gastric biopsies that were originally collected for rapid urease tests, and next-generation sequencing, using formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded blocks.

GC-GAP index

The Gastric Cancer Global Action Preparedness (GC-GAP) study, led by the OPGE, aims to develop a preparedness index using published public policies against gastric cancer. Three rounds of Delphi panels were held, with the participation of 45 international experts. These experts represented all continents and included representatives from all the gastroenterology societies in the Americas (OPGE members), representing 98% of the population of the continent. The objectives of the three rounds were to define the domains, to define the indicators, and to adjust and agree on the final preparedness index. The index is made up of public policy domains and their respective indicators to classify countries according to their level of preparedness in each domain: low, intermediate, or high. Consensus (i.e. > 80% agreement) was reached on nine domains of public policies in favour of gastric cancer awareness, screening for risk factors and early-stage disease, availability of gastric cancer treatment, increasing the availability of drinking-water, and policies against H. pylori infection, obesity, tobacco use, and alcohol consumption. The use of a preparedness index will enable a standardized evaluation of public policies against gastric cancer in the Americas, including countries in LAC, based on global standards [35].

National activities in Chile

During the past decade, Chile has developed several initiatives and laws related to cancer prevention that may have a positive impact on gastric cancer. The 2015 Choose a Healthy Lifestyle programme promotes healthy eating, physical activity, outdoor lifestyles, and family life [36]. The 2016 Law of Food Labelling aims to reduce purchases of foods with sodium, sugars, saturated fats, or calories above the recommended limits ("high-in" foods) [37]. The 2022 Cancer Law aims for the integrated management of

patients with cancer [38]. In 2023, the Center for Cancer Prevention and Control was established to generate evidence that could guide public policies on cancer prevention and control [39].

As part of efforts for gastric cancer prevention, universal health coverage for gastric cancer and *H. pylori* infection includes access to therapy for all health-care systems and types of insurance [40]. The 2006 public health policy of offering OGD screening to symptomatic individuals aged \geq 40 years has led to long waiting lists in several areas of Chile. To determine the best strategy to reduce these waiting lists, the Ministry of Health is conducting a pilot study using non-invasive biomarkers for risk stratification of gastric premalignant conditions and gastric cancer. The preliminary (unpublished) results of this study, using data on pepsinogen I/II ratios, immunoglobulin G (IgG), *H. pylori* serology, serum gastrin-17 levels, age, sex, and first-degree relatives with gastric cancer, showed an area under the receiver operating characteristic curve of 0.74, with a negative predictive value of 88% in the Maule region of Chile and of 90% in Santiago. This will enable the Ministry of Health to prioritize access to OGD in the next stage of the project. However, these findings are not sufficient to avoid OGD screening for patients on the waiting list, and they cannot be extrapolated to asymptomatic individuals in population-based studies.



Fig. 3.2.5. Strategies for the non-invasive detection of *H. pylori* in an asymptomatic population aged 35–44 years. IgG, immunoglobulin G; UHC, universal health coverage. Reproduced from Corsi Sotelo et al. (2024) [41]. Copyright Elsevier 2024.

The Chilean consensus report for gastric cancer prevention [41], published in 2024, recommended a screen-and-treat strategy for *H. pylori* infection using non-invasive tests (primary prevention) for individuals aged 35–44 years (Fig. 3.2.5) and a combined strategy (IgG, *H. pylori* serology, and OGD) for individuals aged \geq 45 years (primary and secondary prevention) (Fig. 3.2.6). This recommendation is aligned with the Maastricht VI/Florence Consensus report [42] and could be applicable in other high-risk countries in LAC.





Fig. 3.2.6. Primary and secondary strategies for gastric cancer prevention in an asymptomatic population aged \geq 45 years. IgG, immunoglobulin G; OGD, oesophago-gastro-duodenoscopy; OLGA, Operative Link on Gastritis Assessment; UHC, universal health coverage. Reproduced from Corsi Sotelo et al. (2024) [41]. Copyright Elsevier 2024.

ECHOS retrospective study

In the Endoscopic Cohort and Histological OLGA Staging (ECHOS) study, a retrospective cohort was assembled of 685 individuals who underwent > 2 OGDs with biopsies > 6 months apart in 2015–2021 and who had atrophic gastritis staged by OLGA and OLGIM [43]. In this study, OLGA and OLGIM stages III–IV were independently associated with a higher risk of progression to high-grade dysplasia and gastric cancer. A microsimulation model based on the ECHOS study and other data sets showed that surveillance of incidentally detected intestinal metaplasia every 5 years is associated with reduced gastric cancer incidence and mortality and is cost-effective from a health-care sector perspective [44]. These combined results support the role of endoscopic surveillance in patients in Latin America with advanced OLGA and OLGIM stages.

HOPE-Hp-GC study

In 2023, the Center for Cancer Prevention and Control launched the Hospital and Outpatient Prevention Program to Eradicate H. pylori and Gastric Cancer (HOPE-Hp-GC) study in Molina, a high-risk area in the Maule region of Chile. This study is based on the Chilean consensus report for gastric cancer prevention [41], and other centres in Chile and other countries in LAC will join this study in the near future. In the first level of the study, individuals aged < 40 years are screened for *H. pylori* infection using the urea breath test and are offered *H. pylori* eradication treatment using dual therapy or quadruple concomitant therapy for mass eradication. Currently, 3000 of the 50 000 inhabitants of Molina have been tested, and by the second year of the project, H. pylori positivity had decreased from 49% to 34%. In contrast, individuals aged 40-75 years are screened using *H. pylori* pepsinogen serology, considering individual baseline comorbidities to assess the level of gastric cancer risk, i.e. low risk or intermediate to high risk, followed by H. pylori treatment if the individual tests positive for H. pylori infection at the second level. Finally, individuals with intermediate to high risk of gastric cancer undergo OGD using the Sydney protocol, followed by an OLGA assessment, which is conducted after H. pylori treatment or directly if the individual tested negative for H. pylori infection. Individuals with intermediate to high risk of gastric cancer are followed up every 4 years for OLGA stages 0-1 with persistent H. pylori infection and for OLGA stage II regardless of H. pylori status, and every 2 years for OLGA stages III-IV. Surveillance was not recommended for OLGA stages 0-I with no H. pylori infection; this

is in accordance with the updated ACHED protocol. In the preliminary results of OGDs performed in Molina, 12% were at OLGA stages III–IV. As part of this study, a new endoscopy unit was established at Molina Hospital, and this helped to reduce the waiting list for OGDs by 63%. In 2025, patients at OLGA stages III–IV will be offered follow-up endoscopy alongside the other study activities.

Recent and ongoing national activities in other countries in LAC

In the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela, the Society Against Cancer (Sociedad Anticancerosa) launched a screening programme for premalignant lesions in firstdegree relatives of patients with gastric cancer at Caracas Hospital in 2023. If this initiative is successful, it will be expanded to other areas of the country [45].

In Ecuador, the National Strategy for Comprehensive Cancer Care (2017–2023) recommended that screening for gastric cancer in the population aged > 50 years should be conducted using a combination of serology tests to determine *H. pylori* infection status and pepsinogen levels combined with OGD to detect gastric cancer. The intervals at which endoscopic studies should be done should be determined by the ABCD method [46].

3.2.4 Conclusions and future directions

In summary, gastric cancer prevention is an important public health programme in LAC. Continued and targeted prevention efforts are needed to reduce the morbidity and mortality burden of gastric cancer. Several new research initiatives are under way in key countries in LAC, but there are limited strategies for gastric cancer prevention and control embedded in laws and public health policies. Ongoing research work should inform future efforts and guide changes in regional and local clinical guidelines.

References

- Ferlay J, Ervik M, Lam F, Laversanne M, Colombet M, Mery L, et al. (2024). Global Cancer Observatory: Cancer Today (version 1.1). Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer. Available from: <u>https://gco.iarc.who.int/today</u>.
- Torres J, Correa P, Ferreccio C, Hernandez-Suarez G, Herrero R, Cavazza-Porro M, et al. (2013). Gastric cancer incidence and mortality is associated with altitude in the mountainous regions of Pacific Latin America. Cancer Causes Control. 24(2):249–56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10552-012-0114-8</u> <u>PMID:23224271</u>
- Ervik M, Lam F, Laversanne M, Colombet M, Ferlay J, Miranda-Filho A, et al. (2024). Global Cancer Observatory: Cancer Over Time. Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer. Available from: <u>https://gco.iarc.who.int/overtime</u>.
- 4. Piñeros M, Frech S, Frazier L, Laversanne M, Barnoya J, Garrido C, et al. (2018). Advancing reliable data for cancer control in the Central America Four region. J Glob Oncol. 4:1–11. https://doi.org/10.1200/JGO.2016.008227 PMID:30241165
- Bonequi P, Meneses-González F, Correa P, Rabkin CS, Camargo MC (2013). Risk factors for gastric cancer in Latin America: a meta-analysis. Cancer Causes Control. 24(2):217–31. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10552-012-0110-z PMID:23224270</u>
- Soerjomataram I, Lam F, Bardot A, Bray F, Ervik M (2023). SURVCAN-3 online tool: International Cancer Survival Benchmarking. Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer. Available from: <u>https://gco.iarc.who.int/survival/survcan</u>.
- Dominguez RL, Montalvan-Sanchez EE, Norwood DA, Rodriguez-Murillo A, Dominguez L, Estevez Ordoñez D, et al. (2024). Population-based study of gastric cancer survival and associations in rural Western Honduras. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 33(12):1578–85. <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-23-1461</u> PMID:38949525
- Torres-Roman JS, Alvarez CS, Guerra-Canchari P, Valcarcel B, Martinez-Herrera JF, Dávila-Hernández CA, et al. (2022). Sex and age differences in mortality trends of gastric cancer among Hispanic/Latino populations in the United States, Latin America, and the Caribbean. Lancet Reg Health Am. 16:100376. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lana.2022.100376</u> PMID:36777153
- Anderson WF, Rabkin CS, Turner N, Fraumeni JF Jr, Rosenberg PS, Camargo MC (2018). The changing face of noncardia gastric cancer incidence among US non-Hispanic whites. J Natl Cancer Inst. 110(6):608–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djx262 PMID:29361173</u>
- Li Y, Choi H, Leung K, Jiang F, Graham DY, Leung WK (2023). Global prevalence of *Helicobacter pylori* infection between 1980 and 2022: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 8(6):553–64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-1253(23)00070-5</u> PMID:37086739
- Curado MP, de Oliveira MM, de Araújo Fagundes M (2019). Prevalence of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in Latin America and the Caribbean populations: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Cancer Epidemiol. 60:141–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canep.2019.04.003</u> PMID:31009922
- Ferreccio C, Rollán A, Harris PR, Serrano C, Gederlini A, Margozzini P, et al. (2007). Gastric cancer is related to early *Helicobacter pylori* infection in a high-prevalence country. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 16(4):662–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-06-0514</u> <u>PMID:17416755</u>
- Da Costa D, Guidotti F, Cabello N, Trigo F, Contreras C, Vergara F, et al. (2018). Disminución en la frecuencia de infección por *Helicobacter pylori* en endoscopías digestivas altas. Rev Med Chil. 146(5):555–61. <u>https://doi.org/10.4067/s0034-98872018000500555</u> <u>PMID:30148918</u>
- 14. Silva F, Latorre G, Medel P, Bustamante M, Montero I, Robles C, et al. (2024). Reducción de la infección por *Helicobacter pylori* en pacientes derivados a endoscopia digestiva alta en Santiago de Chile entre 2010–2020. Rev Gastroenterol Peru. 44(1):14–20. https://doi.org/10.47892/rgp.2024.441.1624 PMID:38734907
- Tsang SH, Avilés-Santa ML, Abnet CC, Brito MO, Daviglus ML, Wassertheil-Smoller S, et al. (2022). Seroprevalence and determinants of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in the Hispanic Community Health Study/Study of Latinos. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 20(3):e438–51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cgh.2021.02.042 PMID:33667677</u>
- Aguiar KEC, Oliveira IS, Cohen-Paes AN, Coelho RCC, Vinagre LWMS, Rodrigues JCG, et al. (2023). Molecular profile of variants in *CDH1*, *TP53*, *PSCA*, *PRKAA1*, and *TTN* genes related to gastric cancer susceptibility in Amazonian indigenous populations. J Pers Med. 13(9):1364. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/jpm13091364</u> <u>PMID:37763132</u>
- 17. Correa P, Piazuelo MB (2011). *Helicobacter pylori* infection and gastric adenocarcinoma. US Gastroenterol Hepatol Rev. 7(1):59–64. <u>PMID:21857882</u>

- Roberti J, Leslie HH, Doubova SV, Ranilla JM, Mazzoni A, Espinoza L, et al. (2024). Inequalities in health system coverage and quality: a cross-sectional survey of four Latin American countries. Lancet Glob Health. 12(1):e145–55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(23)00488-6</u> <u>PMID:38096887</u>
- Riquelme A, Abnet CC, Goodman KJ, Piazuelo MB, Ruiz-Garcia E, de Assumpção PP, et al. (2023). Recommendations for gastric cancer prevention and control in the Americas. Lancet Reg Health Am. 27:100608. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lana.2023.100608</u> PMID:37840576
- Herrero R, Carvajal LJ, Camargo MC, Riquelme A, Porras C, Ortiz AP, et al. (2023). Latin American and the Caribbean Code Against Cancer 1st edition: infections and cancer. Cancer Epidemiol. 86(Suppl 1):102435. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canep.2023.102435</u> PMID:37852729
- IARC Helicobacter pylori Working Group (2014). Helicobacter pylori eradication as a strategy for preventing gastric cancer (IARC Working Group Reports No. 8). Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer. Available from: <u>https://publications.iarc.who.int/391</u>.
- 22. Ministerio de Salud (2010). Guía clínica: cáncer gástrico. Santiago, Chile: Minsal. Available from: http://www.supersalud.gob.cl/difusion/572/articles-651 guia clinica.pdf.
- 23. Sociedad de Lucha Contra el Cáncer del Ecuador (2025). Available from: https://www.solca.med.ec/.
- 24. Coalición Multisectorial "Perú Contra el Cáncer" (2006). Plan National para el Fortalecimiento de la Prevención y Control del Cáncer en el Peru. Available from: <u>https://www.iccp-portal.org/system/files/plans/Plan_Nac_Fort_Prev_Control_cancer.pdf</u>.
- Pisani P, Oliver WE, Parkin DM, Alvarez N, Vivas J (1994). Case-control study of gastric cancer screening in Venezuela. Br J Cancer. 69(6):1102–5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/bjc.1994.216</u> <u>PMID:8198977</u>
- 26. Sasagawa Y, Sasagawa T, Takasaki K (2002). Mass screening for gastric cancer performed in Costa Rica [in Japanese]. Nihon Shokakibyo Gakkai Zasshi. 99(6):577–83. <u>PMID:12099002</u>
- Rosero-Bixby L, Sierra R (2007). X-ray screening seems to reduce gastric cancer mortality by half in a community-controlled trial in Costa Rica. Br J Cancer. 97(7):837–43. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6603729 PMID:17912238
- Rollan A, Arab JP, Camargo MC, Candia R, Harris P, Ferreccio C, et al. (2014). Management of Helicobacter pylori infection in Latin America: a Delphi technique-based consensus. World J Gastroenterol. 20(31):10969–83. <u>https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v20.i31.10969</u> PMID:25152601
- Rollán A, Cortés P, Calvo A, Araya R, Bufadel ME, González R, et al. (2014). Diagnóstico precoz de cáncer gástrico: Propuesta de detección y seguimiento de lesiones premalignas gástricas: protocolo ACHED. Rev Med Chil. 142(9):1181–92. <u>https://doi.org/10.4067/S0034-98872014000900013</u> PMID:25517059
- Reyes-Placencia D, Remes-Troche JM, Laudanno O, Otero W, Piscoya A, Otoya G, et al. (2024). Sa1360 *Helicobacter pylori* diagnostic tests and indications of treatment from the Latin American Registry on the Management of *Helicobacter pylori* Infection (Hp-LATAMReg). Gastroenterology. 166(5):S-429. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0016-5085(24)01462-8</u>
- 31. Reyes-Placencia D, Remes-Troche JM, Laudanno O, Otero W, Piscoya A, Otoya G, et al. (2024). Sa1383 Quadruple and dual therapies are superior to standard clarithromycin-based triple therapy for *Helicobacter pylori* first-line eradication therapy used in the Latin American Registry on the Management of *Helicobacter pylori* Infection (Hp-LATAMReg). Gastroenterology. 166(5):S-438–439. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0016-5085(24)01485-9</u>
- Camargo MC, García A, Riquelme A, Otero W, Camargo CA, Hernandez-García T, et al. (2014). The problem of *Helicobacter pylori* resistance to antibiotics: a systematic review in Latin America. Am J Gastroenterol. 109(4):485–95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ajg.2014.24</u> <u>PMID:24589670</u>
- Arenas A, Serrano C, Quiñones L, Harris P, Sandoval M, Lavanderos M, et al. (2019). High prevalence of clarithromycin resistance and effect on *Helicobacter pylori* eradication in a population from Santiago, Chile: cohort study and meta-analysis. Sci Rep. 9(1):20070. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-56399-7 PMID:31882676</u>
- 34. González-Hormazábal P, Arenas A, Serrano C, Pizarro M, Fuentes-López E, Arnold J, et al. (2021). Prevalence of *Helicobacter pylori* antimicrobial resistance among Chilean patients. Arch Med Res. 52(5):529–34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arcmed.2021.01.011</u> PMID:33583603
- Corsi O, Pizarro M, Diaz L, Espino A, Moreira L, Fleitas T, et al. (2023). #99 Gastric Cancer Global Action Preparedness (GC-GAP) index: a global expert consensus using Delphi technique to evaluate the implementation of public policies against gastric cancer. Gastroenterol Latinoam. 34. <u>https://doi.org/10.46613/congastro2023-99</u>
- 36. ChileAtiende (2024). Elige vivir sano. Available from: <u>https://www.chileatiende.gob.cl/fichas/10435-elige-vivir-sano</u>.
- 37. Taillie LS, Bercholz M, Popkin B, Reyes M, Colchero MA, Corvalán C (2021). Changes in food purchases after the Chilean policies on food labelling, marketing, and sales in schools: a before and

after study. Lancet Planet Health. 5(8):e526-33. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2542-5196(21)00172-8</u> PMID:34390670

- 38. Ministerio de Salud (2021). Ley del Cáncer. Available from: https://www.bcn.cl/leychile/navegar?idNorma=1149004.
- 39. Centro para la Prevención y el Control del Cáncer (2024). Cambiando la historia del cáncer en Chile. Available from: <u>https://cecan.cl/</u>.
- 40. Superintendencia de Salud (2024). Problema de salud 80. Tratamiento de erradicación del *Helicobacter pylori*. Available from: <u>https://www.superdesalud.gob.cl/orientacion-en-</u> <u>salud/tratamiento-de-erradicacion-del-helicobacter-pylori/</u>.
- 41. Corsi Sotelo Ó, Pizarro Rojas M, Rollán Rodríguez A, Silva Figueroa V, Araya Jofré R, Bufadel Godoy ME, et al. (2024). Chilean consensus by expert panel using the Delphi technique for primary and secondary prevention of gastric cancer. Gastroenterol Hepatol. 47(8):845–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gastrohep.2024.01.008 PMID:38311004
- Malfertheiner P, Megraud F, Rokkas T, Gisbert JP, Liou J-M, Schulz C, et al.; European Helicobacter and Microbiota Study group (2022). Management of *Helicobacter pylori* infection: the Maastricht VI/Florence consensus report. Gut. 71(9):1724–62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2022-327745</u> PMID:35944925
- Latorre G, Silva F, Montero I, Bustamante M, Dukes E, Uribe J, et al. (2024). Comparison of OLGA and OLGIM as predictors of gastric cancer in a Latin American population: the ECHOS Study. Gut. 73(10):e18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2023-331059</u> PMID:38148138
- 44. Thiruvengadam NR, Gupta S, Buller S, Awad I, Gandhi D, Ibarra A, et al. (2024). The clinical impact and cost-effectiveness of surveillance of incidentally detected gastric intestinal metaplasia: a microsimulation analysis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 22(1):51–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cgh.2023.05.028 PMID:37302442
- 45. Villalta D, Sajo-Castelli AM, Araya LE, Ovalles PJ (2023). Boletín general 2023. Sociedad Anticancerosa de Venezuela. Available from: <u>https://www.cancervenezuela.org/descargas/Boletin-General-2023.pdf</u>.
- 46. Ministerio de Salud Pública (2017). Estrategia Nacional para la Atención Integral del Cáncer en el Ecuador. Available from: <u>https://www.iccp-portal.org/system/files/plans/ac_0059_2017.pdf</u>.
Chapter 3.3.

Gastric cancer prevention research in the USA

Joo Ha Hwang, Christian C. Abnet, and M. Constanza Camargo

Summary

- In the USA, the burden of gastric cancer is low, but there are well-documented racial/ethnic and socioeconomic disparities, particularly in mortality.
- The epidemiological pattern of gastric cancer in the USA is evolving, with increasing incidence in young people, particularly in women.
- The USA has not implemented any gastric cancer prevention programmes targeting identifiable high-risk populations. However, upcoming management recommendations by professional medical societies may help to guide future research efforts and public health policies.
- The intramural programme of the United States National Cancer Institute has a research portfolio on gastric cancer that informs biological concepts, clinical practice, and public health policy.

3.3.1 Introduction

In the USA, the estimated number of new cases of gastric cancer in 2024 was about 27 000, and the overall 5-year relative survival for the period 2014–2020 was 36.4% [1]. These poor outcomes reflect the generally late stage of diagnosis of this preventable and curable cancer type. The lack of preventive strategies in the USA represents a major health-care disparity, because gastric cancer disproportionately occurs in minoritized communities and immigrant groups in the USA, such as Asian Americans, Hispanic Americans, Black Americans, and American Indian and Alaska Native people.

The epidemiological pattern of gastric cancer in the USA is evolving. According to data from the United States National Cancer Institute (NCI) Surveillance,

Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) Program and the North American Association of Central Cancer Registries, the incidence of non-cardia gastric cancer is increasing in young non-Hispanic White people and Hispanic people, particularly in women [2, 3]. Consistent with these observations, gastric cancer mortality increased slightly or was stable in individuals younger than 50 years in Hispanic Americans and people from some Latin American countries [4]. The age-adjusted rates of total new gastric cancers in the USA in 2017–2021 showed a statistically significant increase, with an overall average annual percentage change of 1.98% (95% confidence interval [CI], 0.46–2.78%). The sex-specific average annual percentage change was 3.27% (95% CI, 2.26–4.00%) for women and 0.74% (95% CI, -0.65% to 1.74%) for men [5]. These findings demonstrate the importance of gastric cancer for public health in the USA.

3.3.2 Prevalence of *H. pylori* infection

The overall prevalence of *H. pylori* infection in the USA is estimated to be about 30–40% [6]. However, there are subpopulations in the USA that have higher rates of *H. pylori* infection. Some examples are given here.

- In a nested case–control study in Alaska Native people, 92% of the patients with gastric cancer and 82% of the control group were seropositive for *H. pylori* infection. A higher percentage of cases (95%) and controls (93%) were seropositive for CagA [7].
- Tribal members from the Navajo Nation have higher rates of *H. pylori* infection and gastric cancer. In a cross-sectional study, 57% of participants tested positive for *H. pylori*, and 79% of those who tested positive were positive for the *cagA* gene [8].
- A study evaluating the seroprevalence of *H. pylori* in the Hispanic community in the USA demonstrated an overall seropositivity rate of 57%, with substantially higher seropositivity rates in individuals who were not born in the USA and in those living in lower socioeconomic conditions [9].
- In a retrospective study of United States veterans with *H. pylori* testing data from 1999–2018, non-Hispanic Black people had an *H. pylori* positivity rate of 40%,

compared with 20% for non-Hispanic White people [10]. *H. pylori* infection was diagnosed in 26% of all individuals tested.

 A recent scoping review that combined data from 41 publications found that data on population-based *H. pylori* seroprevalence are lacking in the USA [11]. The *H. pylori* seroprevalence rates were highest in American Indian and Alaska Native people, followed by the Hispanic and non-Hispanic groups. The seroprevalence rates were lowest in the non-Hispanic White and Asian and Pacific Islander groups. Differences in age and birth cohort patterns emerged among racial/ethnic groups [11].

3.3.3 Gastric cancer prevention research

Attempts to increase the awareness of gastric cancer and to address both primary and secondary prevention have been made by local grass-roots initiatives, mainly in Alaska and in states with large immigrant populations, such as California, Florida, New Jersey, and New York.

Gastric cancer symposium in Anchorage, Alaska

In July 2019, a multiagency work group hosted a symposium in Anchorage, Alaska, that brought together internationally recognized experts and local leaders to evaluate issues related to gastric cancer in the Alaska Native population [12]. The goal of this symposium was to identify strategies to combat gastric cancer in the Alaska Native population that are scientifically sound, logistically realistic, and culturally acceptable. Key discussions included implementing clinical and community education, targeted screening and surveillance within clinical practice, and basic science and epidemiological investigations. The members of the scientific panel discussed the high prevalence of *H. pylori* infection in the Alaska Native population and the need for *H. pylori* treatment for people with a high-risk gastric pathology or a family history of gastric cancer. The members of the community panel discussed the risk factors for gastric cancer and noted the high prevalence in the Alaska Native population of known risk factors, such as *H. pylori* infection, smoking, and consumption of salted and smoked foods. The community panel thought that more information was needed about the risks associated with the lack of running water in homes, exposure to ground contaminants, and the use of iq'mik, which is a homemade chew that is

commonly used in some regions of Alaska and that mixes tobacco with fungus ash. They also thought that additional education for communities was needed to increase the understanding of gastric cancer, its risk factors, and the benefits of screening [12].

2020 Gastric Cancer Summit at Stanford University

In March 2020, a summit was convened at Stanford University, in California, to bring together various groups from across the country to propose a framework for gastric cancer prevention that would be applicable to the USA, which has a population composed of diverse racial/ethnic groups with differing risks of gastric cancer [13]. The result of this summit was a white paper, which provided expert consensus statements that evolved from this summit [14]. The recommendations were as follows.

- Testing for *H. pylori* should be performed in the following individuals, irrespective of the presence of symptoms:
 - o individuals with a family history of gastric cancer in a first-degree relative;
 - first-generation immigrants from regions with high prevalence of *H. pylori* infection; and
 - individuals belonging to racial/ethnic groups at increased risk of gastric cancer (Black Americans, Alaskan Natives, American Indians, Asian Americans, and Hispanic Americans).
- All individuals with a positive test result of active infection with *H. pylori* should be offered treatment.
- Testing to confirm eradication should be performed after treatment.
- Endoscopic screening with biopsies should be offered beginning at age 50 years to the following individuals:
 - o individuals with a family history of gastric cancer in a first-degree relative;
 - first-generation immigrants from regions with high gastric cancer incidence; and

- individuals belonging to racial/ethnic groups at increased risk of gastric cancer (Black Americans, Alaskan Natives, American Indians, Asian Americans, and Hispanic Americans).
- If gastric intestinal metaplasia or more severe pathology is identified, endoscopic surveillance should be offered.

Additional Gastric Cancer Summits at Stanford University were held in November 2022 and November 2024 to continue the work of the initial summit. The progress that had been made in health policy and research was presented. Substantial progress has been reported, including additional societal guidelines addressing the primary and secondary prevention of gastric cancer in the USA. A conference summary of the November 2024 summit is currently being prepared for publication.

3.3.4 Existing guidelines from academic societies

Currently, there are no clear guidelines for gastric cancer prevention from any of the gastroenterology or cancer societies in the USA.

Recommendations

In the USA, most first-line treatments for *H. pylori* are clarithromycin-based triple therapy, with eradication rates of < 90% [15]. The low eradication rates are because clarithromycin resistance rates are > 30% [16]. In 2024, the American College of Gastroenterology updated its recommendations for *H. pylori* screening and treatment specifically for the primary and secondary prevention of gastric cancer [17]. The indications for an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat approach are as follows:

- current or history of gastric premalignant conditions;
- current or history of early gastric cancer resection;
- current or prior history of gastric adenocarcinoma;
- patients with gastric adenomas or hyperplastic polyps;
- individuals with a first-degree relative with gastric cancer;
- individuals at increased risk of gastric cancer, including certain non-White racial/ethnic groups, immigrants from regions or countries with high gastric

cancer incidence, hereditary cancer syndromes associated with an increased risk of gastric cancer;

• patients with autoimmune gastritis.

The American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy recommendations [18], published in 2015, suggest:

- screening and treating for *H. pylori* in racial and/or ethnic groups at high risk of gastric cancer; and
- a screening oesophago-gastro-duodenoscopy (OGD) for gastric cancer to be considered in new immigrants to the USA from regions or countries with a high risk of gastric cancer, including South America, China, Japan, the Republic of Korea, and the Russian Federation, especially if there is a family history of gastric cancer in a first-degree relative [18].

However, these suggestions are not considered to be evidenced-based guidelines, are not well publicized, and do not contain critical guidance on what constitutes a screening OGD, which should include biopsies according to the Sydney protocol. New guidelines and clinical recommendations for gastric cancer screening are in preparation by the American Gastroenterological Association; however, they are currently under review and have not been published.

Clinical studies

A 2024 study evaluated community-based testing for *H. pylori* infection in a large immigrant, underserved (i.e. with limited access to services) population in South Florida [19]. Although this was a relatively small study, it demonstrates the feasibility of performing larger prospective studies evaluating the effectiveness of both primary and secondary prevention strategies that are needed for the United States Preventive Services Task Force and the gastroenterology societies to develop stronger guidelines for gastric cancer prevention in the USA.

The Gastric Precancerous Conditions Study (GAPS; ClinicalTrials.gov ID, NCT04191551), which is being performed at Stanford University, is a prospective observational study with two overarching objectives: (i) to improve the non-invasive identification of patients with gastric intestinal metaplasia, and (ii) to develop

biological markers to predict the subset of intestinal metaplasia that will progress to gastric cancer. Additional small pilot and feasibility studies for both primary and secondary prevention strategies are currently being planned at various centres throughout the USA, such as the City of Hope (Los Angeles, California), the University of Southern California, and Kaiser Permanente (California). The City of Hope has recently started a prospective pilot study called the Our Stomach Health Project. This is a prospective study to evaluate the feasibility of a cancer screening programme to assess the risk of gastric cancer in Asian Americans, Hispanic Americans, and Black Americans. Eventually, prospective, large, multicentre, federally funded studies will be needed to provide the level of evidence required to make substantial recommendations to implement in guidelines for gastric cancer prevention in the USA.

3.3.5 Current and planned research projects for gastric cancer prevention: the NCI perspective

The Division of Cancer Epidemiology and Genetics (DCEG) at the NCI is part of the intramural programme of the United States National Institutes of Health (NIH) and is a global research leader in cancer epidemiology. The DCEG's research portfolio informs biological concepts, clinical practice, and public health policy. DCEG investigators conduct transdisciplinary research that focuses mainly on risk factors for cancer and involves extensive collaborations within the NCI, within the NIH, and with national and international institutions. (This section does not include any research projects funded by the extramural programme of the NCI and other NIH centres; information on those projects can be found at https://reporter.nih.gov/.)

Given that a substantial proportion of gastric cancer cases and deaths can be avoided, DCEG investigators and other experts have proposed a strategic framework to achieve effective prevention and control of gastric cancer in the Americas [20]. This strategic framework can be used as a resource for making decisions on public policy and developing funding priorities.

For the fiscal year 2022, the NCI's financial commitment to gastric cancer research, for both the intramural and extramural programmes, was US\$ 16 million [21]. However, the NCI is committed to advancing this research agenda and has taken some actions to guide it. In December 2021, the NCI convened the Clinical

Trials and Translational Research Advisory Committee (CTAC) ad hoc Gastric and Esophageal Cancers Working Group to advise on translational research strategies to most effectively advance this field. The working group report highlighted the importance of developing precision approaches for the prevention, screening, detection, surveillance, and treatment of gastric and oesophageal cancers [22]. In May 2024, the NCI hosted the first Think Tank on Advancing Gastric Cancer Prevention, a forum to enable a multidisciplinary group of gastric cancer experts to review the state of the science and to collaboratively identify the critical gaps in knowledge. This international meeting was organized to provide specific clinical and translational prevention strategies that will be practicable for use in the high-risk populations in the USA and in other countries with a low or moderate risk of gastric cancer.

In addition to the descriptive work on trends in gastric cancer incidence and mortality, the DCEG portfolio for gastric cancer research is wide-ranging. The Nutrition Intervention Trial in Linxian, China, showed that nutritional interventions can be effective in reducing gastric cancer mortality [23, 24], as did an independent cancer incidence trial in Shandong Province, China [25].

This section summarizes the recent activities of DCEG investigators in gastric cancer, with a particular focus on *H. pylori* and studies that have potential translational applications, including the creation of new resources.

Helicobacter pylori Genome Project

DCEG investigators, in collaboration with an international, multidisciplinary team, created an international biobank of clinically annotated genetic and epigenetic variations of *H. pylori*. The *Helicobacter pylori* Genome Project Research Network has quantified, with great resolution, the different inferred ancestral sources of *H. pylori* subpopulations and the recent and ongoing admixture among subpopulations [26]. Analyses currently under way are comparing strains from patients with different types of gastric disease to identify genetic and epigenetic bacterial features that determine human pathogenicity. Other studies are addressing antibiotic resistance, among other topics. This publicly available worldwide collection of complete genomes and epigenomes with high-quality metadata will become a major asset for *H. pylori* genomics and gastric cancer research.

Golestan Cohort Study

In 2004, researchers at the Digestive Disease Research Institute and Tehran University of Medical Sciences, IARC, and the NCI launched the Golestan Cohort Study. This 50 000-person prospective cohort study recruited a large fraction of the eligible population in Golestan Province in the Islamic Republic of Iran. Historically, the people of this region had high rates of oesophageal squamous cell carcinoma (OSCC). The population in this region has several distinctive lifestyle features, including a substantial fraction of the elderly population using opium, frequent consumption of very hot tea, and limited diversity in the diet. The study was designed principally to examine the etiology of OSCC, but Golestan Province also has high rates of gastric adenocarcinoma. Although rates of OSCC are decreasing in the population, gastric cancer remains a substantial public health problem and rates have been stable over the past two decades [27]. As in the populations with a high incidence of OSCC in central China, the population in Golestan Province has a high fraction of cardia gastric cancer, with a ratio of 1:1 with non-cardia gastric cancer. Cardia gastric cancer is often incorrectly thought of as a disease that occurs most frequently in White men in high-income, industrialized countries, but in fact most cardia gastric cancers occur in rural populations in Asia [28]. Previous H. pylori studies in north-eastern Islamic Republic of Iran have shown that infection with H. *pylori* is nearly universal in the population aged > 40 years and that most people have CagA-positive strains [29]. This study confirmed the direct association between *H. pylori* infection and the risk of both gastric cardia and non-cardia adenocarcinoma. Recently, the NCI, along with external collaborators, measured *H. pylori* antibodies, serum pepsinogens, and trefoil factor 3 concentrations in a large nested casecontrol study of gastric cancer in this cohort, to facilitate studies of other etiological and protective exposures. In addition to H. pylori, studies in this cohort have examined the relationship between gastric cancer risk and oral health [30], opium use [31], indoor air pollution [32], water source [33], diet [34, 35], and blood group [36].

Genetic susceptibility to gastric carcinogenesis

Genome-wide association studies of gastric cancer in populations with East Asian [37, 38] and European [39] ancestry, led by DCEG investigators and others, have

identified susceptibility variants for gastric carcinogenesis. However, studies in Hispanic and Latino people have been quite limited. DCEG investigators are leading a genome-wide association study in Hispanic and Latino people, with about 3500 cases and about 4500 controls from North, Central, and South America. In collaboration with intramural and extramural experts, a multi-ancestry analysis (i.e. meta-analysis and polygenic risk score) is planned, to better define the underlying architecture of genetic susceptibility to gastric cancer and to generate a more useful polygenic risk score for screening.

Gastric Cancer Precursor Lesions study

Studies of premalignant lesions may provide insights into cancer etiology and inform risk stratification. In 2017, investigators at the DCEG and the Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile launched the Gastric Cancer Precursor Lesions (GCPL) study. This is a multidisciplinary project, based in Chile, to evaluate risk factors for intestinal metaplasia, a precancerous change of the mucosa of the stomach with intestinal epithelium that confers an increased risk of gastric cancer. Patients with intestinal metaplasia may benefit from endoscopic surveillance to enable diagnosis of cancer at an earlier stage. Therefore, potential non-invasive markers of intestinal metaplasia are being evaluated. A better understanding of the etiology of premalignant lesions may inform future efforts for gastric cancer prevention and control in the USA and globally. The GCPL study is evaluating risk factors that have been insufficiently studied, such as *H. pylori* genomics and non-*H. pylori* gastric microbiota and parasitic infections. The study is also evaluating potential non-invasive screening markers, including pepsinogens and polygenic risk scores.

Upper Gastrointestinal Cancer Studies in Shanxi Province, China

The Upper Gastrointestinal Cancer Studies in Shanxi Province, China, were started in 1985 to look for major susceptibility genes for upper gastrointestinal cancers and to identify the genetic changes associated with their development [40]. These studies have provided most of the biological materials and data for the DCEG's genomewide association studies of OSCC and cardia and non-cardia gastric cancer in Asian people. Evaluation of somatic and germline molecular markers (including assessment of gene–environment interactions) in malignant and premalignant tissues is in progress.

3.3.6 Addressing gaps in health policy

The lack of national screening guidelines prompted participants of the 2020 Gastric Cancer Summit at Stanford University to write a white paper with recommendations for the primary and secondary prevention of gastric cancer in the USA [14] (see Section 3.3.3). In April 2022, these recommendations were submitted to the United States Preventive Services Task Force, which is responsible for producing all the national screening guidelines that health insurance companies are required to fully cover in health insurance policies for people living in the USA. In 2022, the recommendation for primary prevention by testing for *H. pylori* infection did not move into the final research plan stage and evidence review.

An additional important pathway to changing health policy and practice in the USA is to establish guidelines through the national medical societies, such as the American Gastroenterological Association, the American College of Gastroenterology, and the American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy. These three societies are all actively considering updating guidelines for both primary and secondary prevention of gastric cancer as a result of recent national efforts, such as the Gastric Cancer Summit at Stanford University, the NCI's Think Tank on Advancing Gastric Cancer Prevention, and other gastric cancer-specific forums. The lack of evidence for prevention strategies in the USA is the primary reason that the country does not have meaningful guidelines for gastric cancer prevention.

Several non-profit organizations in the USA are dedicated to educating and influencing policy-makers at the federal, state, and local government levels about gastric cancer. These organizations include No Stomach for Cancer [41], the Gastric Cancer Foundation [42], and the Debbie's Dream Foundation [43]. These organizations focus on raising awareness of gastric cancer, lobbying government policy-makers to increase funding for gastric cancer research, and supporting patients and families affected by gastric cancer.

3.3.7 Conclusions and future directions

Gastric cancer remains a leading cause of mortality among certain racial, ethnic, and immigrant groups in the USA, but there are no structured national strategies for its prevention. In the USA, gastric cancer is slowly gaining attention as a preventable disease, and the clinical societies are actively updating prevention guidelines. Community education would be an effective and feasible public health strategy to enhance knowledge and awareness of this lethal disease. Demonstrative studies on implementation of primary and secondary prevention strategies for gastric cancer in various high-risk populations are needed to inform public health policy and healthcare delivery.

References

- 1. NCI (2024). Cancer stat facts: stomach cancer. Bethesda (MD), USA: National Cancer Institute. Available from: <u>https://seer.cancer.gov/statfacts/html/stomach.html</u>.
- Anderson WF, Camargo MC, Fraumeni JF Jr, Correa P, Rosenberg PS, Rabkin CS (2010). Agespecific trends in incidence of noncardia gastric cancer in US adults. JAMA. 303(17):1723–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2010.496 PMID:20442388</u>
- Anderson WF, Rabkin CS, Turner N, Fraumeni JF Jr, Rosenberg PS, Camargo MC (2018). The changing face of noncardia gastric cancer incidence among US non-Hispanic whites. J Natl Cancer Inst. 110(6):608–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djx262 PMID:29361173</u>
- Torres-Roman JS, Alvarez CS, Guerra-Canchari P, Valcarcel B, Martinez-Herrera JF, Dávila-Hernández CA, et al. (2022). Sex and age differences in mortality trends of gastric cancer among Hispanic/Latino populations in the United States, Latin America, and the Caribbean. Lancet Reg Health Am. 16:100376. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lana.2022.100376</u> <u>PMID:36777153</u>
- NCI (2024). SEER*Explorer: an interactive website for SEER cancer statistics. Bethesda (MD), USA: Surveillance Research Program, National Cancer Institute. Available from: https://seer.cancer.gov/statistics-network/explorer/application.html.
- Hooi JKY, Lai WY, Ng WK, Suen MMY, Underwood FE, Tanyingoh D, et al. (2017). Global prevalence of *Helicobacter pylori* infection: systematic review and meta-analysis. Gastroenterology. 153(2):420–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2017.04.022</u> <u>PMID:28456631</u>
- Keck JW, Miernyk KM, Bulkow LR, Kelly JJ, McMahon BJ, Sacco F, et al. (2014). *Helicobacter pylori* infection and markers of gastric cancer risk in Alaska Native persons: a retrospective casecontrol study. Can J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 28(6):305–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/892084</u> PMID:24945184
- Pete D, Salama NR, Lampe JW, Wu MC, Phipps AI (2024). The prevalence and risk factors of Helicobacter pylori infection and cagA virulence gene carriage in adults in the Navajo Nation. Microbiota Health Dis. 6:e1007. <u>https://doi.org/10.26355/mhd_20247_1007_PMID:39071941</u>
- Tsang SH, Avilés-Santa ML, Abnet CC, Brito MO, Daviglus ML, Wassertheil-Smoller S, et al. (2022). Seroprevalence and determinants of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in the Hispanic Community Health Study/Study of Latinos. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 20(3):e438–51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cgh.2021.02.042</u> PMID:33667677
- Shah SC, Halvorson AE, Lee D, Bustamante R, McBay B, Gupta R, et al. (2024). *Helicobacter pylori* burden in the United States according to individual demographics and geography: a nationwide analysis of the veterans healthcare system. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 22(1):42–50.e26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cgh.2023.05.016</u> PMID:37245717
- McMahon MV, Taylor CS, Ward ZJ, Alarid-Escudero F, Camargo MC, Laszkowska M, et al. (2025). *Helicobacter pylori* infection in the United States beyond NHANES: a scoping review of seroprevalence estimates by racial and ethnic groups. Lancet Reg Health Am. 41:100890. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lana.2024.100890</u>
- Nolen LD, Vindigni SM, Parsonnet J, Bruce MG, Martinson HA, Thomas TK, et al.; Symposium leaders (2020). Combating gastric cancer in Alaska Native people: an expert and community symposium. Gastroenterology. 158(5):1197–201. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2019.11.299</u> <u>PMID:31836529</u>
- Huang RJ, Koh H, Hwang JH, Abnet CC, Alarid-Escudero F, Amieva MR, et al.; Summit Leaders (2020). A summary of the 2020 Gastric Cancer Summit at Stanford University. Gastroenterology. 159(4):1221–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2020.05.100</u> <u>PMID:32707045</u>
- Huang RJ, Epplein M, Hamashima C, Choi IJ, Lee E, Deapen D, et al. (2022). An approach to the primary and secondary prevention of gastric cancer in the United States. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 20(10):2218–2228.e2. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cgh.2021.09.039</u> <u>PMID:34624563</u>
- Shah S, Cappell K, Sedgley R, Pelletier C, Jacob R, Bonafede M, et al. (2023). Diagnosis and treatment patterns among patients with newly diagnosed *Helicobacter pylori* infection in the United States 2016–2019. Sci Rep. 13(1):1375. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-023-28200-3</u> PMID:36697470
- Ho JJC, Navarro M, Sawyer K, Elfanagely Y, Moss SF (2022). *Helicobacter pylori* antibiotic resistance in the United States between 2011 and 2021: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Gastroenterol. 117(8):1221–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.14309/ajg.00000000001828</u> PMID:35509128
- Chey WD, Howden CW, Moss SF, Morgan DR, Greer KB, Grover S, et al. (2024). ACG clinical guideline: treatment of *Helicobacter pylori* infection. Am J Gastroenterol. 119(9):1730–53. <u>https://doi.org/10.14309/ajg.00000000002968 PMID:39626064</u>

- Wang A, Shaukat A, Acosta RD, Bruining DH, Chandrasekhara V, Chathadi KV, et al.; ASGE Standards of Practice Committee (2015). Race and ethnicity considerations in GI endoscopy. Gastrointest Endosc. 82(4):593–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gie.2015.06.002</u> <u>PMID:26260384</u>
- Kumar S, Araque M, Stark VS, Kleyman LS, Cohen DA, Goldberg DS (2024). Barriers to community-based eradication of *Helicobacter pylori* infection. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 22(10):2140–2142.e1. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cgh.2024.03.008 PMID:38580161</u>
- Riquelme A, Abnet CC, Goodman KJ, Piazuelo MB, Ruiz-Garcia E, de Assumpção PP, et al. (2023). Recommendations for gastric cancer prevention and control in the Americas. Lancet Reg Health Am. 27:100608. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lana.2023.100608</u> PMID:37840576
- 21. NCI (2024). Funding for research areas. Bethesda (MD), USA: National Cancer Institute. Available from: <u>https://www.cancer.gov/about-nci/budget/fact-book/data/research-funding</u>.
- 22. National Cancer Institute Clinical Trials and Translational Research Advisory Committee (CTAC) Gastric and Esophageal Cancers Working Group (2022). Working group report. Bethesda (MD), USA: National Cancer Institute. Available from: https://deainfo.nci.nih.gov/advisory/ctac/1122/Goodman-Rustgi2.pdf.
- Blot WJ, Li JY, Taylor PR, Guo W, Dawsey S, Wang G-Q, et al. (1993). Nutrition intervention trials in Linxian, China: supplementation with specific vitamin/mineral combinations, cancer incidence, and disease-specific mortality in the general population. J Natl Cancer Inst. 85(18):1483–92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/85.18.1483</u> PMID:8360931
- 24. Qiao YL, Dawsey SM, Kamangar F, Fan J-H, Abnet CC, Sun X-D, et al. (2009). Total and cancer mortality after supplementation with vitamins and minerals: follow-up of the Linxian General Population Nutrition Intervention Trial. J Natl Cancer Inst. 101(7):507–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djp037 PMID:19318634</u>
- 25. Li WQ, Zhang JY, Ma JL, Li Z-X, Zhang L, Zhang Y, et al. (2019). Effects of *Helicobacter pylori* treatment and vitamin and garlic supplementation on gastric cancer incidence and mortality: follow-up of a randomized intervention trial. BMJ. 366:I5016. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.I5016</u> PMID:31511230
- 26. Thorell K, Muñoz-Ramírez ZY, Wang D, Sandoval-Motta S, Boscolo Agostini R, Ghirotto S, et al.; HpGP Research Network (2023). The *Helicobacter pylori* Genome Project: insights into *H. pylori* population structure from analysis of a worldwide collection of complete genomes. Nat Commun. 14(1):8184. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-023-43562-y</u> PMID:38081806
- Ghasemi-Kebria F, Semnani S, Fazel A, Etemadi A, Amiriani T, Naeimi-Tabiei M, et al. (2023). Esophageal and gastric cancer incidence trends in Golestan, Iran: an age-period-cohort analysis 2004 to 2018. Int J Cancer. 153(1):73–82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.34518 PMID:36943026</u>
- Arnold M, Ferlay J, van Berge Henegouwen MI, Soerjomataram I (2020). Global burden of oesophageal and gastric cancer by histology and subsite in 2018. Gut. 69(9):1564–71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2020-321600</u> PMID:32606208
- Shakeri R, Malekzadeh R, Nasrollahzadeh D, Pawlita M, Murphy G, Islami F, et al. (2015). Multiplex *H. pylori* serology and risk of gastric cardia and noncardia adenocarcinomas. Cancer Res. 75(22):4876–83. <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-0556</u> <u>PMID:26383162</u>
- Yano Y, Abnet CC, Poustchi H, Roshandel G, Pourshams A, Islami F, et al. (2021). Oral health and risk of upper gastrointestinal cancers in a large prospective study from a high-risk region: Golestan Cohort Study. Cancer Prev Res (Phila). 14(7):709–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-20-0577 PMID:33731409</u>
- Sheikh M, Shakeri R, Poustchi H, Pourshams A, Etemadi A, Islami F, et al. (2020). Opium use and subsequent incidence of cancer: results from the Golestan Cohort Study. Lancet Glob Health. 8(5):e649–60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(20)30059-0</u> <u>PMID:32353313</u>
- Sheikh M, Poustchi H, Pourshams A, Khoshnia M, Gharavi A, Zahedi M, et al. (2020). Household fuel use and the risk of gastrointestinal cancers: the Golestan Cohort Study. Environ Health Perspect. 128(6):67002. <u>https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP5907</u> PMID:32609005
- 33. Eichelberger L, Murphy G, Etemadi A, Abnet CC, Islami F, Shakeri R, et al. (2015). Risk of gastric cancer by water source: evidence from the Golestan case-control study. PLoS One. 10(5):e0128491. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0128491</u> PMID:26023788
- 34. Namaki M, Hashemian M, Arj A, Poustchi H, Roshandel G, Loghman AH, et al. (2023). Diet quality and subsequent incidence of upper gastrointestinal cancers: results from the Golestan Cohort Study. Arch Iran Med. 26(9):489–98. <u>https://doi.org/10.34172/aim.2023.74</u> <u>PMID:38310404</u>
- 35. Collatuzzo G, Etemadi A, Sotoudeh M, Nikmanesh A, Poustchi H, Khoshnia M, et al. (2022). Meat consumption and risk of esophageal and gastric cancer in the Golestan Cohort Study, Iran. Int J Cancer. 151(7):1005–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.34056</u> PMID:35489023

- 36. Etemadi A, Kamangar F, Islami F, Poustchi H, Pourshams A, Brennan P, et al. (2015). Mortality and cancer in relation to ABO blood group phenotypes in the Golestan Cohort Study. BMC Med. 13(1):8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-014-0237-8</u> PMID:25592833
- 37. Abnet CC, Freedman ND, Hu N, Wang Z, Yu K, Shu X-O, et al. (2010). A shared susceptibility locus in *PLCE1* at 10q23 for gastric adenocarcinoma and esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Nat Genet. 42(9):764–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.649 PMID:20729852
- Hu N, Wang Z, Song X, Wei L, Kim BS, Freedman ND, et al. (2016). Genome-wide association study of gastric adenocarcinoma in Asia: a comparison of associations between cardia and noncardia tumours. Gut. 65(10):1611–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2015-309340</u> PMID:26129866
- 39. Hess T, Maj C, Gehlen J, Borisov O, Haas SL, Gockel I, et al. (2023). Dissecting the genetic heterogeneity of gastric cancer. EBioMedicine. 92:104616. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2023.104616 PMID:37209533
- 40. Gao Y, Hu N, Han XY, Ding T, Giffen C, Goldstein AM, et al. (2011). Risk factors for esophageal and gastric cancers in Shanxi Province, China: a case-control study. Cancer Epidemiol. 35(6):e91–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canep.2011.06.006 PMID:21846596
- 41. No Stomach for Cancer (2024). Available from: https://nostomachforcancer.org/.
- 42. Gastric Cancer Foundation (2024). Available from: <u>https://gastriccancer.org/</u>.
- 43. Debbie's Dream Foundation (2024). Available from: https://debbiesdream.org/.

Chapter 3.4.

Gastric cancer prevention in Arctic North America (Alaska, Canada, and Greenland)

Karen J. Goodman

Summary

- Indigenous people in Arctic North America have a higher burden of disease from *H. pylori* infection than non-Indigenous counterparts.
- This disease burden disparity is most striking when comparing gastric cancer frequencies in Indigenous groups with those in non-Indigenous residents of the same geographical region.
- Health jurisdictions in the region should prioritize the collection of accurate data on Indigenous identity and report gastric cancer frequencies specific to Indigenous groups.
- Although the disproportionately frequent occurrence of *H. pylori* infection and gastric cancer across Arctic communities has been observed for more than two decades, public health authorities in Arctic North America have not targeted this disparity in current cancer prevention strategies, nor have they implemented screen-and-treat programmes for gastric cancer prevention.
- A perceived obstacle to the implementation of gastric cancer prevention strategies is the lack of evidence of cost-effectiveness specific to Arctic Indigenous communities, given observations from treatment trials conducted in such communities of relatively frequent hesitancy to receive treatment, along with relatively frequent treatment failure and reinfection.
- In this setting, community-driven screen-and-treat projects offer the possibility of engaging high-risk communities in designing gastric cancer prevention activities that serve their goals and values and give them agency in public health initiatives.

3.4.1 Introduction

Alaska, Canada, and Greenland comprise the far northern region of North America and are dominated by vast Arctic landscapes that are sparsely populated by small Indigenous communities. The Indigenous Arctic coastal people, known as Inuit, established coastal communities across Alaska, Canada, and Greenland. Traditionally, other Indigenous North American groups, known as Alaska Natives in Alaska and First Nations in Canada, have lived in small Arctic communities that lie south of the tree line. Relatively large multiethnic urban populations of Alaska and Canada are concentrated near their southern borders.

Most Arctic Indigenous communities fare poorly on many health indicators compared with non-Indigenous counterparts, even though they live in high-resource countries [1]. According to the Indigenous-led Waapihk Research organization, the social determinants of Inuit health can be summarized as follows: (i) the geography and climate of the remote Arctic environment, with its extreme weather conditions, poses transportation barriers, induces a high cost of living, and limits access to health-care services and facilities; (ii) economic disparity, high unemployment, poverty, and inadequate housing are common, and limited access to education and employment exacerbates poverty; (iii) intergenerational trauma resulting from the legacy of colonial policies, such as forced relocations and cultural assimilation, has an impact on mental health, evidenced in higher rates of substance use, depression, and suicide; (iv) the loss of language, customs, and traditional knowledge and practices creates identity issues and a sense of cultural disconnect, which negatively affect mental health and well-being; and (v) inadequate health-care infrastructure, shortages of health-care professionals, high-cost medical services, and dependence on medical transportation to access treatment restrict health-care access [2]. These factors are now compounded by environmental deterioration caused by climate change. Although crisis conditions have been acknowledged internationally, the health and well-being of Arctic Indigenous communities has received insufficient attention at a global level [3].

In 1997, investigators affiliated with the United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) Arctic Investigations Program, based in Anchorage, Alaska, in collaboration with the Alaska Area Native Health Service, observed that the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection was 99% among 140 Yupik adults in three villages in western

124

Alaska, who also had a high prevalence of severe gastric mucosal abnormalities upon endoscopic examination [4]. Since then, accumulating evidence of the high prevalence of *H. pylori* infection and the corresponding gastric cancer risk among Indigenous populations of the circumpolar north has flagged this inequity as a major global health concern. In the ensuing years, gastric cancer prevention efforts in this region have focused on describing the burden of *H. pylori*-associated disease and generating evidence on the benefits of screen-and-treat strategies for Arctic Indigenous communities. In the meantime, public health authorities have left the responsibility for prevention and control of *H. pylori*-associated disease largely in the hands of primary care practitioners and gastroenterologists, with no systematic approach to reducing gastric cancer rates.

3.4.2 Descriptive epidemiology of gastric cancer in Arctic North America

In 1996, shortly before the first report on *H. pylori* infection prevalence in an Alaskan community, investigators from the Danish Cancer Registry, Statistics Canada, and the Alaska Area Native Health Service estimated standardized incidence ratios to compare cancer incidence rates in circumpolar Inuit with those in non-Indigenous comparison populations in Connecticut (USA), Canada, and Denmark [5]; the report revealed excess gastric cancer incidence in Inuit men.

In 2004, a report on cancer incidence in Greenlandic Inuit in 1973–1997, using data from the Danish Cancer Registry, described an increasing trend in gastric cancer incidence of 24% every 5 years in both sexes during the study period [6]. In 1988–1997, standardized gastric cancer incidence ratios comparing Greenlanders with the Danish population were 2.2 (95% confidence interval [CI], 1.4-3.4) for women and 2.9 (95% CI, 2.1-4.0) for men. Noting that gastric cancer incidence had decreased globally in the preceding decades, the authors stated that the increases observed in Greenland were unparalleled in industrialized countries. High levels of nitrosamine had been observed in the dried, unsalted fish preparations that are consumed in Greenland, but there was no indication of increased consumption of these traditional foods during a period in which the consumption of fruits and vegetables had increased. The authors stated that estimates of the seroprevalence of *H. pylori* in Greenland during the study period were not available. Similar increases in the rates of lung cancer incidence were not observed

in either sex in the study; therefore, increases in the prevalence of smoking were not likely to be responsible for the dramatic increases in gastric cancer incidence.

In 2008, an update using data from 1989–2003 was published by the Circumpolar Inuit Cancer Review Working Group [7]. This update showed that gastric cancer incidence rates in both Inuit men and Inuit women were about 4 times those in non-Indigenous comparison populations. A 2008 review summarized studies of Arctic Indigenous communities that estimated a consistently higher incidence of gastric ulcers relative to duodenal ulcers, as well as studies that estimated a consistently high prevalence of *H. pylori* infection [8]. Several data sources showed elevated gastric cancer rates among North American Indigenous populations compared with non-Indigenous counterparts [9–11].

A 2012 report analysed cancer patterns among Inuit across Canada in 1998–2007. Gastric cancer incidence rates were higher among Inuit men than among men in the rest of Canada [12].

In 2012, members of the Canadian *Helicobacter* Study Group assessed evidence on *H. pylori* infection in First Nations people and recent immigrants to Canada [13]. They noted that the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection had been decreasing across Canada and that this had changed the distribution of upper gastrointestinal diseases, including reduced frequency and severity of peptic ulcer disease. However, Indigenous people and recent immigrants in Canada continued to have high prevalence of *H. pylori* infection; thus, there remained an opportunity to investigate whether *H. pylori* infection is a treatable risk factor for malignancy in Canadian communities with high frequencies of both *H. pylori* infection and gastric cancer.

A 2014 systematic review of gastric cancer incidence, mortality, and survival in Indigenous populations worldwide revealed elevated rates of gastric cancer incidence and mortality in nearly all Indigenous Peoples compared with non-Indigenous counterparts in the same regions or countries, with increasing trends in incidence observed in some groups [14]. In populations for which there are data, the largest age-standardized incidence ratios were observed in Inuit residing in the circumpolar region, with age-standardized incidence ratios of 3.9 for men and 3.6 for women.

126

A retrospective cohort study used data from 1991–2014 to compare gastric cancer incidence in immigrants and non-immigrants living in the Canadian province of Ontario [15]. Investigators identified immigrants who were first eligible for the Ontario Health Insurance Plan at age ≥40 years and matched each of them to 5 non-immigrants by year of birth and sex. The study identified 415 gastric cancer cases in 209 843 immigrant women, 1872 cases in 1 049 215 non-immigrant women, 596 cases in 191 792 immigrant men, and 2998 cases in 958 960 non-immigrant men. Most of the immigrants came from the World Bank regions of East Asia and Pacific, South Asia, and Europe and Central Asia. The crude gastric cancer incidence rate was 22% higher in immigrant women than in non-immigrant women and 9% higher in immigrant men than in non-immigrant men. Adjusted hazard ratios were 1.29 (95% CI, 1.12-1.48) for women within 10 years of health insurance eligibility and 1.19 (95% Cl, 1.01–1.40) beyond 10 years and 1.17 (95% CI, 1.04-1.31) for men within 10 years of health insurance eligibility and 1.00 (95% CI, 0.87–1.15) beyond 10 years. Female immigrants from the East Asia and Pacific region and the Europe and Central Asia region had the highest gastric cancer incidence rates compared with age-matched female nonimmigrants, both before and after the 10-year mark. The same pattern was seen for male immigrants from the Europe and Central Asia region but not for male immigrants from the East Asia and Pacific region, in whom gastric cancer incidence rates were only higher compared with age-matched male non-immigrants during the first 10 years after health insurance eligibility.

The Alaska Cancer Registry reports statewide cancer statistics. Its most recent *Cancer in Alaska multi-year summary report*, published in 2017, reported incidence statistics for 2010–2014 and mortality statistics for 2005–2014 [16]. During this period, the diagnostic frequency rank of gastric cancer among all cancer sites was fourth among American Indian and Alaska Native men in Alaska and seventh among Alaska Native women in Alaska; gastric cancer was not in the top 10 most frequently diagnosed cancer sites among White men or women in Alaska. For cancer deaths, gastric cancer was the 11th most frequent cancer site among all men in Alaska and the ninth most frequent among all women in Alaska; it was third among Alaska Native men in Alaska and fourth among Alaska Native women in Alaska.

In 2017, a report using Yukon Cancer Registry data, *Cancer mortality trends, 1999–2013* [17], highlighted gastric cancer as the fourth most frequent cause of cancer death

in Yukon men and the fifth most frequent cause of death in Yukon women, even though gastric cancer is diagnosed much less frequently than many other cancers [18]. The report estimated the age-standardized mortality ratio, comparing gastric cancer mortality rates in Yukon in both sexes combined with those in Canada in 2008–2012, as 1.8 (95% CI, 1.1–2.6). However, according to the Yukon Government *Cancer incidence report, 2009–2016* [19], gastric cancer was the 14th most frequently diagnosed cancer among Yukon men and women combined, with incidence rates similar to those expected based on the rates in Canada. The report noted that the average gastric cancer incidence rates suggest that gastric cancer may be presenting relatively late in Yukon compared with the rest of Canada or that gastric cancer in Yukon is more aggressive. Given that Indigenous people are a minority in Yukon, comprising 22% of the territorial population [20], the lack of ethnicity-specific disease frequency estimates in the Yukon health statistics masks the burden of gastric cancer in the Indigenous population in Yukon.

In 2018–2021, published analyses of gastric cancer data from diverse Canadian cancer registries showed high age-standardized gastric cancer incidence rates in Indigenous residents of the western Canadian province of Alberta relative to non-Indigenous Albertans [21], in Indigenous residents of the Northwest Territories relative to non-Indigenous Canadians [22], and in low-income communities with a high concentration of Indigenous people, visible minorities, and immigrants [23]. Cancer registry data also revealed a younger age distribution of gastric cancer cases in the Northwest Territories and Yukon relative to Canada as a whole: the proportion of gastric cancer cases diagnosed in people aged < 60 years was 48% in the Northwest Territories in 1997–2015, > 40% in Yukon, and < 25% across Canada as a whole, during similar time periods [22]. Also, of the gastric cancer cases diagnosed in people aged < 40 years, compared with < 2% across Canada as a whole [22].

In 2021, investigators affiliated with the CDC Arctic Investigations Program and the Alaska Native Tribal Health Consortium published a description of gastric cancer occurrence in 1990–2017 in Alaska Natives living in Alaska compared with the White population in the USA [24]. Greater proportions of gastric cancer cases in Alaska Natives were diagnosed at younger ages: 11% of cases in Alaska Natives and 3% of cases in White people in the USA (P < 0.0001) occurred in people aged < 40 years, and

37% of cases in Alaska Natives and 20% of cases in White people in the USA (P < 0.0001) occurred in people aged 40–59 years. Proportionally more gastric cancer diagnoses among Alaska Natives were distant-stage cancer (48% in Alaska Natives and 35% in White people in the USA; P < 0.0001). The age-adjusted gastric cancer incidence rate was substantially higher in the Alaska Native population (20.8 per 100 000 per year in Alaska Natives and 6.7 per 100 000 per year in White people in the USA; P < 0.0001). Although the gastric cancer incidence rate decreased in the White population in the USA during the study period, little change in incidence was seen in the Alaska Native population.

A 2021 article co-authored by health officials from across the circumpolar north described gastric cancer incidence and mortality trends using cancer incidence and mortality data for 1999-2016 from circumpolar cancer registries [25]. Only cancer registries in the USA enabled data to be stratified by ethnicity, although it should be noted that nearly 90% of the population of Greenland identifies as Inuit [26]. Among men, the highest age-standardized gastric cancer incidence rates were reported for Karelia, in the Russian Federation (40.8 per 100 000 per year), followed by Greenland (20.2 per 100 000 per year), which was slightly higher than the rate among Indigenous men in Alaska (18.6 per 100 000 per year) and nearly double the rate in North Jutland, in Denmark (11.5 per 100 000 per year). Among women, the highest age-standardized gastric cancer incidence rates were reported for Arkhangelsk, in the Russian Federation (17.7 per 100 000 per year), followed by Indigenous women in Alaska (10.3 per 100 000 per year), with Greenland in third place (8.8 per 100 000 per year). Standardized rate ratios were estimated by comparing age-adjusted incidence rates with those of the broader proximal geographical unit (Greenland compared with Nordic countries; Indigenous people in Alaska compared with White people in Alaska). Across circumpolar populations, the largest standardized rate ratios were reported for Alaska (men, 3.8; 95% CI, 2.7–5.4; women, 4.1; 95% CI, 2.6–6.4) followed by Greenland (men, 2.8; 95% CI, 1.9-4.6; women, 2.3; 95% CI, 1.3-4.8) for both men and women. The authors of this analysis concluded, "There is a need to address disparities observed among circumpolar subpopulations ... [and doing so] could benefit from coordinated international action" [25].

3.4.3 Gastric cancer prevention activities in Alaska

Alaskan public health researchers published the results of the earliest intervention studies that used treatment to eliminate *H. pylori* infection in Arctic Indigenous communities [8]. These studies revealed high prevalence of antibiotic resistance, high rates of treatment failure, and high rates of reinfection. These challenges, which are not generally encountered in high-income countries, led to a 2015 expert commentary by members of the Circumpolar *H. pylori* Working Group, which has held annual meetings since 2007, convened by the CDC Arctic Investigations Program and the Statens Serum Institut in Copenhagen, Denmark. These experts concluded that studies were needed to determine whether there were population subgroups for whom screening and treatment of *H. pylori* infection was cost-effective for gastric cancer prevention, highlighting the lack of community-based intervention studies [27].

In 2019, in response to calls from outsiders for a screen-and-treat initiative to be implemented in Alaska to reduce gastric cancer rates among Alaska Native communities, researchers affiliated with the CDC Arctic Investigations Program and the Alaska Native Tribal Health Consortium explained their position [28], emphasizing the collaborative partnership between these two agencies, which had facilitated *H. pylori* research conducted since the 1990s in Alaska. They summarized the substantial benefit for Alaska Natives of research that has yielded Alaska-specific descriptions of *H. pylori* infection and associated disease, including recognition of the high prevalence of *H. pylori* infection, documentation of associated health disparities, laboratory-based surveillance of antimicrobial resistance, assessments of the utility of *H. pylori* detection methods for Alaskan residents, treatment trials showing high rates of treatment failure, and estimates of high reinfection rates among rural Alaska Native residents.

The Alaskan public health experts noted that their investigations provided data to aid clinical decision-making to clinicians and health leaders, resulting in early adoption of more effective therapies prescribed to eliminate *H. pylori* infection. The experts explained that recent goals were to find a way to identify *H. pylori*-positive people at highest risk of gastric cancer to target for *H. pylori* treatment, to develop and test markers to detect gastric cancer at earlier stages, and to develop pilot studies for early gastric cancer screening. The Alaskan public health experts concluded by emphasizing that no one other than Alaska Native health leaders should decide whether a specific

prevention strategy should be adopted for Alaska Native communities. They noted that the role of health professionals is to inform such decisions based on empirical evidence of the risks, the benefits, and the alternatives, without presuming to know what is best for others [28].

In July 2019, a multiagency workgroup hosted a 2-day symposium in Anchorage, bringing together internationally recognized experts and local leaders to identify the best strategies to combat gastric cancer among Alaska Natives [29]. The symposium organizers aimed to identify goals and actions that were scientifically sound, feasible, and culturally acceptable. The symposium connected scientists with the relevant expertise, Alaskan health providers, Alaska Native community and tribal leaders, and public health officials. The symposium attendees identified the gaps in knowledge specific to the Alaska Native population for the following questions: (i) what are the genetic, dietary, environmental, and behavioural risk factors for gastric cancer; (ii) who would benefit from oesophago-gastro-duodenoscopy (OGD) screening for gastric cancer; (iii) what is the best way to detect diffuse gastric cancer in its early stages, and how effective is endoscopy at doing so; (iv) why do some people develop gastric cancer at a very young age; and (v) what is the current epidemiology of *H. pylori* infection. The symposium identified goals and actions, calling for support of:

- ongoing interventions that target gastric cancer risk factors:
 - o protocols for care providers to emphasize early referral of high-risk patients;
 - a statewide upper endoscopy protocol for biopsy sampling;
 - specialized training for pathologists and endoscopists to improve gastric cancer detection;
 - o updated local *H. pylori* clinical guidelines;
 - surveillance OGDs for first-degree relatives of patients with gastric cancer and people diagnosed with gastric intestinal metaplasia; and
 - education on gastric cancer prevention and screening for communities of new gastric cancer cases.
- scientific projects to enhance knowledge of gastric cancer in the Alaska Native population:

- continued collaboration with Canadian research teams on *H. pylori* genomics;
- o further investigation of gastric cancer markers to optimize risk stratification;
- further descriptive research on *H. pylori* infection epidemiology in Alaska Native communities;
- assessment of the effectiveness of treatment of dental caries in concert with *H. pylori* treatment;
- enrolment of patients with newly diagnosed gastric cancer and their families in studies designed to identify risk factors.

The participants in the Alaska symposium concluded that broad *H. pylori* screening and treatment would not be beneficial, because of the high prevalence of *H. pylori* infection and antibiotic resistance, high reinfection rates, and logistic challenges. The participants also concluded that a statewide OGD screening programme, similar to those in Japan and the Republic of Korea, was logistically, economically, and culturally unrealistic; instead, individuals at highest risk should be prioritized for screening [29].

In addition to surveillance of cancer rates, the Alaska Department of Health regularly updates its Comprehensive Cancer Control Program. For 2021–2025, it aimed to address social determinants of health by approaching cancer control through a health equity framework [30], focusing key initiatives on primary prevention, early cancer detection, care for patients with cancer, and promotion of health equity. It does not specifically mention gastric cancer or *H. pylori* infection.

3.4.4 Gastric cancer prevention activities in Canada

The Canadian government defines the Arctic region loosely, acknowledging as stakeholders Indigenous Peoples in Canada along with the governments of the three northern territories (Nunavut, Northwest Territories, and Yukon) and the three provinces with Arctic regions (Newfoundland and Labrador, Quebec, and Manitoba) [31]. Canada's borders contain 25% of the global Arctic, which makes up more than 40% of Canada's land-mass [32].

In 1997, Canadian gastroenterologists formed the Canadian *Helicobacter* Study Group to offer guidelines for clinical management of *H. pylori* infection, which were first published in 1998 and subsequently updated [33–38]. In 2002, members of this Study Group published a review of the risks and benefits of treatment to eliminate *H. pylori* infection [39]. The Study Group did not recommend widespread testing for *H. pylori* infection, because of insufficient research on the cost–benefit for gastric cancer prevention, potential increases in antibiotic resistance, and potential negative health effects of eliminating *H. pylori* infection. The Study Group recommended that the clinical management guidelines designed in Canada be applied, with *H. pylori* infection diagnosed and treated in appropriately selected patients [39].

In 2002, Cancer Care Ontario, the cancer adviser to the government of the most populous Canadian province, organized a workshop to determine whether there was sufficient evidence to consider the promotion of *H. pylori* treatment for the purpose of cancer prevention and to identify critical areas for research [40]. The workshop participants concluded that despite widespread acceptance of the safety of treatment to eliminate *H. pylori* infection, current evidence did not warrant the implementation of population screening for *H. pylori* infection in populations at average risk of gastric cancer. They called, instead, for a demonstration project to estimate prevalence of *H. pylori* infection, develop education materials, and establish a registry for monitoring and evaluation.

A 2009 report described an economic evaluation of *H. pylori* screening strategies for the prevention of gastric cancer [41], based on a Markov model that compared the lifetime cost and effectiveness of four *H. pylori* screening strategies (no screening, serology-based testing, stool antigen testing, and ¹³C-urea breath testing) as part of a screen-and-treat initiative for gastric cancer prevention in a hypothetical cohort of 10 000 Canadian men aged 35 years with an *H. pylori* prevalence of 33% and a gastric cancer incidence rate of 6.6 per 100 000. Treatment consisted of the four-drug regimen recommended by the Canadian *Helicobacter* Study Group, with an estimated effectiveness of 87%. The estimated accuracy of each detection method was incorporated into the models; costs were valued in 2008 Canadian dollars. The analysis estimated incremental cost–effectiveness ratios per quality-adjusted life year of \$29 800 for stool antigen testing, \$33 000 for serology-based testing, and \$50 400 for ¹³C-urea breath testing. The report did not estimate the cost–effectiveness of screen-and-treat strategies for demographic groups in Canada with higher *H. pylori* prevalence, but it

would be reasonable to expect improved cost-effectiveness of these strategies in groups with relatively high gastric cancer incidence rates.

The 2014 Northwest Territories Health and Social Services report titled *Cancer in the Northwest Territories 2001–2010* did not include gastric cancer among the most frequent cancer sites for which estimated frequencies were reported [42]. However, a section on cancer prevention in this report focused on modifiable risk factors and mentioned tobacco smoking, consumption of red meat, and salt intake as risk factors for gastric cancer. This section included information on *H. pylori* infection, noting it as a major cause of gastric cancer and referencing ongoing research conducted by the Canadian North *Helicobacter pylori* (CAN*Help*) Working Group (see Section 3.4.6). The 2015 report *Charting our course: Northwest Territories cancer strategy 2015–2025* [43] emphasized three strategic priorities: strengthening initiatives that promote healthy lifestyles and behaviours, supporting programmes that aim to reduce the use of tobacco, alcohol, and other drugs, and supporting community-driven cancer awareness and prevention initiatives. The strategy did not include any specific mention of gastric cancer or *H. pylori* infection.

A section of Yukon *Cancer mortality trends, 1999–2013*, called "Avoiding cancer: infectious agents", stated that *H. pylori* infection is the most important risk factor for gastric cancer, and that when *H. pylori* is present the risk of cancer is influenced by dietary factors, including an increased risk with a diet high in salt and a reduced risk with intake of fruits and vegetables. The report pointed out that treating *H. pylori* infection substantially reduces the risk of *H. pylori*-associated cancers. It emphasized that work done by the CAN*Help* Working Group identified *H. pylori* as a public health concern in the Canadian North and that this Working Group was collaborating with community members and decision-makers to identify ways to reduce the health risks associated with *H. pylori* infection (see Section 3.4.6) [17].

In 2022, the Government of Nunavut's Department of Health published the report *Cancer in Nunavut: burden and trends, 2008–2017* [44]. The report described the cancer control interventions in Nunavut: the Tobacco Reduction Program, the Human Papillomavirus Immunization Program, and opportunistic screening for colorectal cancer and cervical cancer. It made no specific mention of gastric cancer or *H. pylori* infection.

Health Canada, the Canadian Ministry of Health, posts information on the health effects of tobacco, including its association with an increased risk of gastric cancer [45]. The Government of Canada's Action on Cancer [46] does not include information specific to gastric cancer, but it features Cancer incidence in Canada: trends and projections (1983–2032), a website published by the Public Health Agency of Canada, which includes trends and projections for gastric cancer incidence [47]. This public information emphasizes that the overall gastric cancer incidence rate has been decreasing in Canada for decades; in fact, during 1998-2007, gastric cancer had the second most rapidly decreasing incidence rate of all cancers, after laryngeal cancer. The website does not mention demographic groups with above-average gastric cancer incidence or mortality rates. However, it does mention that *H. pylori* infection is a major risk factor for gastric cancer and lists additional gastric cancer risk factors, excluding ethnicity and place of birth: dietary habits, tobacco smoking, alcohol consumption, genetic factors, occupational exposure to dusty and high-temperature environments, exposure to radiation, and socioeconomic factors. It specifies that dietary risk factors include diets rich in starch, poor in protein quality, poor in fruits and vegetables, and high in salt and nitrate. This website explains decreases in gastric cancer incidence rates in Canada as follows: annual per capita consumption of fruits and vegetables in Canada has increased by more than 30% since the 1960s; the decrease in gastric cancer incidence rates may be due to decreased smoking, changes in diet, and, more recently, recognition and treatment of *H. pylori* infection.

3.4.5 Gastric cancer prevention activities in Greenland

In the published literature, there is little information of relevance to gastric cancer prevention in Greenland. A small number of studies focused on the descriptive epidemiology of gastric cancer or *H. pylori* infection. In addition to the gastric cancer data described above, reports published in 1997–2005 estimated prevalence of *H. pylori* infection at 61–77% in two small studies of dyspeptic adults, 47% in 71 population survey participants in Nuuk, and 58% in a population-based sample of 685 residents of Sisimiut [8]. The Greenland government contributes cancer data to NORDCAN [48]; NORDCAN tables show that age-standardized gastric cancer incidence rates in Greenland are 3.0 times the NORDCAN average rate in women and 4.4 times the NORDCAN average rate in men.

3.4.6 CAN*Help* Working Group community projects: community-driven gastric cancer prevention activities

Although Canada has no national or regional gastric cancer prevention programmes, a community-driven research programme with gastric cancer prevention goals shows how community-engaged research can be part of a multilevel approach to the development and implementation of effective gastric cancer prevention strategies for high-risk communities [49]. The CANHelp Working Group is an intersectoral research team of community partners in the Northwest Territories and Yukon (including community organizations, community leaders, government health officials, and health-care providers), health-technology industry representatives, and academic partners from diverse disciplines from the University of Alberta, which is the major academic centre closest to the Northwest Territories, in the southern province of Alberta, which shares a border with the Northwest Territories [50, 51]. The research programme was formed after leaders of Northwest Territories Indigenous communities voiced concerns about the cancer risk from *H. pylori* infection, which was being detected with high frequency among community members. Leaders of these communities advocated for research to reduce the cancer risk. In response, Northwest Territories health officials reached out to gastroenterologists at the University of Alberta for research support. These health officials sought information to improve health care for *H. pylori* infection, because public health physicians in the Northwest Territories were concerned about frequent treatment failure in patients treated for *H. pylori* infection. The health officials also recognized the need for information about the overall burden of disease from H. pylori in their jurisdictions.

Outreach from Northwest Territories health officials to gastroenterologists at the University of Alberta was facilitated by an agency called the Northern Health Services Network, which facilitates specialist care in Alberta for residents of northern territories. This infrastructure facilitated the development of community-driven gastric cancer prevention research projects that were supported by local, territorial, and out-of-territory health-care decision-makers and practitioners. The CAN*Help* community-driven projects were carried out in diverse Indigenous communities in the western Arctic region of Canada. These projects aimed to develop public health strategies for control of *H. pylori* infection, including strategies for the clinical management of *H. pylori* infection that are both cost-effective and culturally appropriate.

In 2007, the CAN*Help* Working Group launched its initial community project, the Aklavik *H. pylori* project [51], in Aklavik, Northwest Territories, a blended community of 500–600 predominantly Inuit and Gwich'in (Athabaskan) First Nations residents. After media reports of the successful project launch in Aklavik, leaders of the community of Old Crow, Yukon, approached the research team and requested that the research be extended to Old Crow, a Gwich'in (Athabaskan) First Nations community about 200 km north-west of Aklavik. The advocacy of Old Crow community leaders led to the inclusion of Yukon health officials in the CAN*Help* Working Group. Over the next decade, community-driven *H. pylori* projects were launched in four Northwest Territories communities and five Yukon communities.

Prevention research focused on gastric cancer end-points was not feasible, because of the small sizes of the territorial populations (the 2006 census population sizes were 41 000 in the Northwest Territories and 30 000 in Yukon) [52]. Furthermore, populationbased data on the disease burden associated with H. pylori infection were not available for this region. Therefore, CANHelp projects focused on describing the H. pyloriassociated disease burden and identifying effective treatments to eliminate H. pylori infection, and thus generated local evidence that was relevant to clinical decisionmaking about H. pylori infection for Arctic Indigenous communities [53, 54]. The projects included screening participants for *H. pylori* using ¹³C-urea breath testing and treatment trials, with University of Alberta gastroenterologists overseeing treatment. In seven communities, CANHelp projects offered upper gastrointestinal endoscopy with gastric biopsies for pathological and microbiological assessments. In five of these communities, endoscopic examinations were done in endoscopy clinics that were set up temporarily in community health centres by technical support personnel and that were staffed by visiting gastroenterologists, endoscopy nurses, and service aides; endoscopies were done at the Inuvik Regional Hospital for CANHelp project participants in two Northwest Territories communities (Tuktoyaktuk and Inuvik). University of Alberta gastroenterologists advised local practitioners on follow-up care for abnormal endoscopy findings.

Early findings of the CAN*Help* projects showed that participating communities had high prevalence of *H. pylori* infection (59% of Indigenous participants who were screened using the urea breath test in all nine projects tested positive for *H. pylori* infection) and severe chronic gastritis [53], as well as more frequent visible mucosal lesions in the stomach than in the duodenum [54]. CANHelp treatment trials showed that the clarithromycin-based three-drug therapy, recommended by Canadian clinical guidelines before 2016, had poor effectiveness compared with four-drug regimens [55]. Information from CANHelp projects was shared with local practitioners as it became available. The lead CANHelp gastroenterologist presented annual updates, along with the latest recommendations for management of *H. pylori* infection, at grand rounds for physicians in the Northwest Territories and Yukon. The public health physician at the Inuvik Regional Hospital, whose catchment area included the four participating Northwest Territories communities and other outlying communities, checked regularly with the lead CANHelp gastroenterologist about recommended treatment regimens and updated pharmacies serving the region on an ongoing basis about which regimens should be prescribed for elimination of *H. pylori* infection. Through these channels, findings from the community research projects were translated into improved clinical management of H. pylori infection and benefited Northwest Territories and Yukon residents who sought health care for H. pylori-associated complaints, whether or not they had participated in CANHelp projects.

In 2018, when Alberta Health Services updated *H. pylori* treatment guidelines under the direction of the lead CAN*Help* gastroenterologist, the Northwest Territories Chief Public Health Officer, also a member of the CAN*Help* Working Group, sought input from fellow Working Group members about the relevance of this update for the Northwest Territories population, about half of which is Indigenous. By that time, CAN*Help* community projects had generated a substantial amount of relevant information, which was used to adapt the updated Alberta guidelines for northern and Indigenous populations in Canada. These guidelines included the recommendation of surveillance of gastric precancerous lesions (intestinal metaplasia or severe atrophy) detected during gastroscopy in patients with gastric cancer risk factors, including Indigenous ethnicity, immigration from a high-incidence region, family history of gastric cancer, or intestinal metaplasia that is extensive or of incomplete cell type [56]. The guidelines were approved for circulation to clinicians by both the Northwest Territories Chief Public Health Officer and the Yukon Chief Medical Officer of Health.

CAN*Help* projects in three communities included a component aimed at assessing the long-term impacts of treatment to eliminate *H. pylori* infection. Of 310 participants from three communities with baseline pathology data from gastroscopy with gastric biopsies collected in 2008–2013, 69 had follow-up pathology data from repeat gastroscopy with gastric biopsies collected in 2017 [57]. Compared with baseline data, the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection and precancerous gastric pathology was substantially lower at follow-up. Most participants who were *H. pylori*-positive at baseline and *H. pylori*-negative at follow-up had reduced severity of active, chronic, and/or atrophic gastritis at follow-up. In multivariable models of the probability of improved chronic gastritis and improved active gastritis, this probability was greatest among individuals who had reduced *H. pylori* density at follow-up. For chronic gastritis, the next strongest predictor was completion of treatment to eliminate *H. pylori* before follow-up. For active gastritis and/or intestinal metaplasia, the strongest predictors were detection of *H. pylori* in gastric biopsies at baseline or follow-up (positively associated with progression) and treatment to eliminate *H. pylori* before follow-up (inversely associated with progression), whether or not the treatment was successful.

Across the CAN*Help* projects, participation rates in *H. pylori* screening varied widely by community. More consistently, on average across communities, about one third of participants who tested positive for *H. pylori* infection declined treatment and, among those dispensed treatment, about one third did not participate in follow-up testing to confirm treatment success. The CAN*Help* projects revealed challenges in participation for initiatives aimed at preventing gastric cancer by eliminating *H. pylori* infection. Although the number of participants with gastric pathology follow-up data was small, the substantial differences in comparison groups yield evidence that *H. pylori* treatment has the potential to reduce the risk of gastric cancer in Arctic Indigenous communities. Based on the available data, it is likely that most *H. pylori*-positive community members who participated fully in the treatment component of CAN*Help* projects had a sustained reduction in risk indicators for gastric cancer. This suggests that screening and treatment for *H. pylori* infection targeted to high-risk communities has the potential to reduce risk.

3.4.7 Conclusions

Consistent evidence from settings across Arctic North America shows that Indigenous people in this region have a higher burden of disease from *H. pylori* infection than non-

Indigenous counterparts. The disparity is most striking when comparing gastric cancer frequencies in Indigenous groups with those in non-Indigenous residents of the same geographical region; this reflects the importance of prioritizing the collection of accurate data on Indigenous identity and incorporating these data into the descriptive epidemiology of gastric cancer in the Arctic. Although the disproportionately frequent occurrence of *H. pylori* infection and gastric cancer across Arctic communities has been observed for more than two decades, public health authorities in Arctic North America have not targeted this disparity in current cancer prevention strategies, nor have they implemented screen-and-treat programmes for gastric cancer prevention. A perceived obstacle to the implementation of such strategies is the lack of evidence of costeffectiveness specific to Arctic Indigenous communities, given observations from treatment trials conducted in such communities of relatively frequent hesitancy to receive treatment, along with relatively frequent treatment failure and reinfection. In this setting, community-driven screen-and-treat projects offer the possibility of engaging high-risk communities in designing gastric cancer prevention activities that serve their goals and values and give them agency in public health initiatives.

Acknowledgements

The author acknowledges collaborators who have informed her perspective on the content of this chapter, including those who have contributed Indigenous knowledge and insights pertaining to Indigenous health research and gastric cancer prevention activities in the Arctic: members of CAN*Help* project planning committees since 2007, with special thanks to Billy Archie, Velma Illasiak, and Gladys Edwards of Aklavik, Northwest Territories; Kathie Nukon and Paul Josie of Old Crow, Yukon; Winnie Greenland of Fort McPherson, Northwest Territories; Dalelyn Secord of Teslin, Yukon; Megan Williams, Vuntut Gwitchin Heritage Manager, Old Crow, Yukon; Crystal Lennie and Evelyn Storr of the Inuvialuit Regional Corporation, Inuvik, Northwest Territories; Lea Bill of the Alberta First Nations Information Governance Centre; Jessica Kolopenuk, Alberta Health Services Chair in Indigenous Health at the University of Alberta; Michael Bruce and colleagues of the CDC Arctic Investigations Program in Anchorage, Alaska; Timothy Thomas and colleagues of the Alaska Native Tribal Health Consortium; and Anders Koch of the Circumpolar *H. pylori* Working Group.

References

- 1. Inuit Tapiriit Kanatami (2014). Social determinants of Inuit health in Canada. Available from: https://www.itk.ca/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/ITK Social Determinants Report.pdf.
- 2. Waapihk Research (2024). The social determinants and challenges to Inuit health. Available from: https://waapihk.com/2024/01/05/the-social-determinants-and-challenges-to-inuit-health/.
- Adams LV, Dorough DS, Adams LV, Dorough DS, Chatwood S, Erasmus W, et al.; Executive Committee of the *Lancet* Commission on Arctic and Northern Health (2022). Accelerating Indigenous health and wellbeing: the *Lancet* Commission on Arctic and Northern Health. Lancet. 399(10325):613– 4. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(22)00153-2</u> PMID:35151382
- 4. Yip R, Limburg PJ, Ahlquist DA, Carpenter HA, O'Neill A, Kruse D, et al. (1997). Pervasive occult gastrointestinal bleeding in an Alaska Native population with prevalent iron deficiency. Role of *Helicobacter pylori* gastritis. JAMA. 277(14):1135–9. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.1997.03540380049030 PMID:9087468
- 5. Nielsen NH, Storm HH, Gaudette LA, Lanier AP (1996). Cancer in Circumpolar Inuit 1969–1988. A summary. Acta Oncol. 35(5):621–8. https://doi.org/10.3109/02841869609096996 PMID:8813071
- Friborg J, Koch A, Wohlfarht J, Storm H-H, Melbye M (2004). Cancer in Greenlandic Inuit 1973–1997. Int J Circumpolar Health. 63(Suppl 2):195–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.3402/ijch.v63i0.17900</u> <u>PMID:15736651</u>
- Kelly J, Lanier A, Santos M, Healey S, Louchini R, Friborg J, et al.; Circumpolar Inuit Cancer Review Working Group (2008). Cancer among the circumpolar Inuit, 1989–2003. II. Patterns and trends. Int J Circumpolar Health. 67(5):408–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.3402/ijch.v67i5.18349</u> PMID:19186762
- Goodman KJ, Jacobson K, Veldhuyzen van Zanten S (2008). *Helicobacter pylori* infection in Canadian and related Arctic Aboriginal populations. Can J Gastroenterol. 22(3):289–95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2008/258610 PMID:18354758</u>
- Miller BA, Kolonel LN, Bernstein L, Young JL Jr, Swanson GM, West D, et al., editors (1996). Racial/ethnic patterns of cancer in the United States 1988–1992. NIH Pub. No. 96-4104. Bethesda (MD), USA: National Cancer Institute. Available from: https://seer.cancer.gov/archive/publications/ethnicity/racial-ethnic-monograph.pdf.
- 10. Northwest Territories Health and Social Services (2003). Cancer in the Northwest Territories 1990–2000: a descriptive report. Available from: <u>https://pubs.aina.ucalgary.ca/health/60744E.pdf</u>.
- 11. Canadian Cancer Society/National Cancer Institute of Canada (2006). Canadian cancer statistics 2006. Available from: https://publications.gc.ca/collections/Collection/CS2-37-2006E.pdf.
- 12. Carrière GM, Tjepkema M, Pennock J, Goedhuis N (2012). Cancer patterns in Inuit Nunangat: 1998–2007. Int J Circumpolar Health. 71(1):18581. <u>https://doi.org/10.3402/ijch.v71i0.18581</u> PMID:22663938
- Jones N, Chiba N, Fallone C, Thompson A, Hunt R, Jacobson K, et al.; Canadian Helicobacter Study Group Participants (2012). *Helicobacter pylori* in First Nations and recent immigrant populations in Canada. Can J Gastroenterol. 26(2):97–103. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/174529 PMID:22312609</u>
- Arnold M, Moore SP, Hassler S, Ellison-Loschmann L, Forman D, Bray F (2014). The burden of stomach cancer in indigenous populations: a systematic review and global assessment. Gut. 63(1):64–71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2013-305033</u> PMID:24153248
- Sutradhar R, Asidianya N, Lee F, Coburn N, Rabeneck L, Paszat L (2018). Higher risk of gastric cancer among immigrants to Ontario: a population-based matched cohort study with over 2 million individuals. Gastric Cancer. 21(4):588–97. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10120-017-0790-x</u> PMID:29285629
- 16. Alaska Cancer Registry (2017). Cancer in Alaska: multi-year summary report, 2017. Anchorage (AK), USA: Section of Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Division of Public Health, Alaska Department of Health and Social Services.
- 17. Yukon Government (2017). Cancer mortality trends, 1999–2013, Yukon Cancer Registry. Whitehorse, Canada: Department of Health and Social Services. Available from: https://yukon.ca/sites/default/files/hss/hss-imgs/cancermortalitytrends1999-2013.pdf.
- Simkin J, Woods R, Elliott C (2017). Cancer mortality in Yukon 1999–2013: elevated mortality rates and a unique cancer profile. Int J Circumpolar Health. 76(1):1324231. https://doi.org/10.1080/22423982.2017.1324231 PMID:28598269
- 19. Yukon Government (2019). Cancer incidence report, 2009–2016, Office of the Chief Medical Officer of Health. Whitehorse, Canada: Department of Health and Social Services. Available from: https://open.yukon.ca/sites/default/files/yukoncancerincidencereport.pdf.
- 20. Yukon Bureau of Statistics (2021). Indigenous peoples, 2021 census. Available from: https://yukon.ca/sites/default/files/ybs/fin-indigenous-peoples-census-2021.pdf.

- 21. Alberta First Nations Information Governance Centre and Alberta Government (2018). First Nations health trends Alberta. Stomach cancer among First Nations in Alberta. Alberta Health, Health Standards, Quality and Performance Division, Analytics and Performance Reporting Branch, Government of Alberta. Available from: <u>afnigc.ca/wp-content/uploads/2024/05/HTAFN-2018-03-27-Stomach-Cancer-FN.pdf</u>.
- Colquhoun A, Hannah H, Corriveau A, Hanley B, Yuan Y, Goodman KJ; CAN*Help* Working Group (2019). Gastric cancer in northern Canadian populations: a focus on cardia and non-cardia subsites. Cancers (Basel). 11(4):534. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers11040534</u> <u>PMID:30991639</u>
- 23. Cattelan L, Ghazawi FM, Le M, Lagacé F, Rahme E, Zubarev A, et al. (2021). Geographic and socioeconomic disparity of gastric cancer patients in Canada. Curr Oncol. 28(3):2052–64. https://doi.org/10.3390/curroncol28030190 PMID:34071354
- 24. Nolen LD, Bressler S, Vindigni SM, Miller K, Nash S (2021). Gastric cancer in Alaska Native and American Indian people living in Alaska, 1990–2017. Clin Transl Gastroenterol. 12(7):e00374. https://doi.org/10.14309/ctg.00000000000374 PMID:34158461
- Simkin J, Nash SH, Barchuk A, O'Brien DK, Erickson AC, Hanley B, et al. (2021). Stomach cancer incidence and mortality trends among circumpolar nations. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 30(5):845–56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-20-1618 PMID:33627381</u>
- 26. International Work Group for Indigenous Affairs (2024). The Indigenous world 2024: Kalaallit Nunaat (Greenland). Available from: <u>https://www.iwgia.org/en/kalaallit-nunaat-greenland/5393-iw-2024-kalaallit-nunaat.html</u>.
- McMahon BJ, Bruce MG, Koch A, Goodman KJ, Tsukanov V, Mulvad G, et al. (2016). The diagnosis and treatment of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in Arctic regions with a high prevalence of infection: expert commentary. Epidemiol Infect. 144(2):225–33. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0950268815001181</u> <u>PMID:26094936</u>
- 28. Bruce MG, Miernyk K, Sacco F, Thomas T, McMahon B, Hennessy T (2019). Response to editorial. Helicobacter. 24(2):e12558. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.12558</u> <u>PMID:30511407</u>
- Nolen LD, Vindigni SM, Parsonnet J, Bruce MG, Martinson HA, Thomas TK, et al.; Symposium leaders (2020). Combating gastric cancer in Alaska Native people: an expert and community symposium. Gastroenterology. 158(5):1197–201. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2019.11.299</u> <u>PMID:31836529</u>
- 30. Alaska Department of Health (2024). Comprehensive cancer control program. Available from: https://health.alaska.gov/en/division-of-health-care-services/comprehensive-cancer-control/.
- 31. Government of Canada (2017). Canada's Arctic and Northern Policy Framework. Available from: https://rcaanc-cirnac.gc.ca/eng/1560523306861/1560523330587.
- 32. Arctic Institute (2024). Country backgrounders: Canada. Available from: https://thearcticinstitute.org/country-backgrounders/Canada.
- 33. Hunt R, Thomson AB; Canadian Association of Gastroenterology (1998). Canadian Helicobacter pylori Consensus Conference. Can J Gastroenterol. 12(1):31–41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/1998/170180</u> <u>PMID:9544410</u>
- Hunt RH, Fallone CA, Thomson AB; Canadian Helicobacter Study Group (1999). Canadian Helicobacter pylori Consensus Conference update: infections in adults. Can J Gastroenterol. 13(3):213–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/1999/180751 PMID:10331931</u>
- 35. Hunt R, Fallone C, Veldhuyzan van Zanten S, Sherman P, Smaill F, Flook N, et al.; CHSG 2004 participants (2004). Canadian Helicobacter Study Group Consensus Conference: update on the management of *Helicobacter pylori* an evidence-based evaluation of six topics relevant to clinical outcomes in patients evaluated for *H pylori* infection. Can J Gastroenterol. 18(9):547–54. https://doi.org/10.1155/2004/326767 PMID:15457293
- Sherman P, Hassall E, Hunt RH, Fallone CA, Veldhuyzen Van Zanten S, Thomson ABR; Canadian Helicobacter Study Group (1999). Canadian Helicobacter Study Group Consensus Conference on the approach to *Helicobacter pylori* infection in children and adolescents. Can J Gastroenterol. 13(7):553– 9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/1999/934285</u> <u>PMID:10519952</u>
- Bourke B, Ceponis P, Chiba N, Czinn S, Ferraro R, Fischbach L, et al.; Canadian Helicobacter Study Group (2005). Canadian Helicobacter Study Group Consensus Conference: update on the approach to *Helicobacter pylori* infection in children and adolescents – an evidence-based evaluation. Can J Gastroenterol. 19(7):399–408. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2005/390932</u> PMID:16010300
- Fallone CA, Chiba N, van Zanten SV, Fischbach L, Gisbert JP, Hunt RH, et al. (2016). The Toronto consensus for the treatment of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in adults. Gastroenterology. 151(1):51– 69.e14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2016.04.006</u> <u>PMID:27102658</u>

- Hunt RH, Fallone C, Veldhuyzen van Zanten S, Sherman P, Smaill F, Thomson AB; Canadian Helicobacter Study Group (2002). Risks and benefits of *Helicobacter pylori* eradication: current status. Can J Gastroenterol. 16(1):57–62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2002/202961</u> <u>PMID:11826340</u>
- 40. Sullivan T, Ashbury FD, Fallone CA, Naja F, Schabas R, Hébert PC, et al. (2004). *Helicobacter pylori* and the prevention of gastric cancer. Can J Gastroenterol. 18(5):295–302. https://doi.org/10.1155/2004/315184 PMID:15152278
- Xie F, O'Reilly D, Ferrusi IL, Blackhouse G, Bowen JM, Tarride J-E, et al. (2009). Illustrating economic evaluation of diagnostic technologies: comparing *Helicobacter pylori* screening strategies in prevention of gastric cancer in Canada. J Am Coll Radiol. 6(5):317–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacr.2009.01.022</u> PMID:19394572
- 42. Northwest Territories Health and Social Services (2014). Cancer in the Northwest Territories, 2001–2010. Available from: https://www.hss.gov.nt.ca/sites/hss/files/nwt-cancer-fact-sheets.pdf.
- 43. Northwest Territories Health and Social Services (2015). Charting our course: Northwest Territories cancer strategy 2015–2025. Available from: https://www.hss.gov.nt.ca/sites/hss/files/charting-course-nwt-cancer-strategy.pdf.
- 44. Government of Nunavut (2022). Cancer in Nunavut: burden and trends, 2008–2017. Health Information Unit, Department of Health, Government of Nunavut. Available from: https://www.gov.nu.ca/sites/default/files/documents/2024-02/NUNAVUT%20CANCER%20REPORT%202022%20-%20FINAL March3%2C%202023.pdf.
- 45. Health Canada (2024). Tobacco and stomach cancer. Available from: https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/health-concerns/tobacco/legislation/tobaccoproduct-labelling/tobacco-stomach-cancer.html.
- 46. Government of Canada (2024). Action on cancer. Available from: https://www.canada.ca/en/publichealth/services/chronic-diseases/cancer/government-canada-action-on-cancer.html.
- Public Health Agency of Canada (2015). Cancer incidence in Canada: trends and projections (1983– 2032). Available from: https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/reports-publications/healthpromotion-chronic-disease-prevention-canada-research-policy-practice/vol-35-no-1-2015/supplement/page-19.html.
- Larønningen S, Arvidsson G, Bray F, Dahl-Olsen ED, Engholm G, Ervik M, et al. (2024). NORDCAN: Cancer incidence, mortality, prevalence and survival in the Nordic countries, Version 9.4 (29.08.2024). Association of the Nordic Cancer Registries. Cancer Registry of Norway. Available from: <u>https://nordcan.iarc.fr/</u>.
- Goodman KJ, Colquhoun A (2014). Principles of evidence-based cancer prevention strategies. In: IARC *Helicobacter pylori* Working Group. *Helicobacter pylori* eradication as a strategy for preventing gastric cancer (IARC Working Group Reports, No. 8). Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer; pp. 88–94. <u>https://publications.iarc.who.int/391</u>.
- 50. CANHelp Working Group (2024). Available from: http://canhelpworkinggroup.ca/.
- Cheung J, Goodman K, Munday R, Heavner K, Huntington J, Morse J, et al.; CAN*Help* Working Group (2008). *Helicobacter pylori* infection in Canada's Arctic: searching for the solutions. Can J Gastroenterol. 22(11):912–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2008/614538</u> <u>PMID:19018336</u>
- 52. Statistics Canada (2007). Population and dwelling counts, 2006 census. Portrait of the Canadian population in 2006. Catalogue no. 97-550-XIE. Available from: https://publications.gc.ca/Collection/Statcan/97-550-X/97-550-XIE2006001.pdf.
- Cheung J, Goodman KJ, Girgis S, Bailey R, Morse J, Fedorak RN, et al.; CAN*Help* Working Group (2014). Disease manifestations of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in Arctic Canada: using epidemiology to address community concerns. BMJ Open. 4(1):e003689. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2013-003689</u> PMID:24401722
- 54. Fagan-Garcia K, Geary J, Chang HJ, McAlpine L, Walker E, Colquhoun A, et al.; CAN*Help* Working Group (2019). Burden of disease from *Helicobacter pylori* infection in western Canadian Arctic communities. BMC Public Health. 19(1):730. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-019-7065-x</u> PMID:31185961
- 55. Morse AL, Goodman KJ, Munday R, Chang H-J, Morse JW, Keelan M, et al.; CAN*Help* Working Group (2013). A randomized controlled trial comparing sequential with triple therapy for *Helicobacter pylori* in an Aboriginal community in the Canadian North. Can J Gastroenterol. 27(12):701–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/143047</u> PMID:24340314
- 56. Pimentel-Nunes P, Libânio D, Marcos-Pinto R, Areia M, Leja M, Esposito G, et al. (2019). Management of epithelial precancerous conditions and lesions in the stomach (MAPS II): European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE), European Helicobacter and Microbiota Study Group
(EHMSG), European Society of Pathology (ESP), and Sociedade Portuguesa de Endoscopia Digestiva (SPED) guideline update 2019. Endoscopy. 51(4):365–88. <u>https://doi.org/10.1055/a-0859-1883 PMID:30841008</u>

57. Wang T, Girgis S, Chang HJ, Assi A, Fagan-Garcia K, Cromarty T, et al.; The CAN*Help* Working Group (2023). Changes in gastric pathology after *H. pylori* treatment in community-driven research aimed at gastric cancer prevention. Cancers (Basel). 15(15):3950. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers15153950 PMID:37568765 WHO European Region

Chapter 3.5.

Gastric cancer prevention efforts in Europe (EUROHELICAN, TOGAS, and HPSS projects)

Bojan Tepeš, Mārcis Leja, Tamara Matysiak-Budnik, Mário Dinis-Ribeiro, David Forman, Janet Takens, and Zorana Maravic

Summary

- Four studies are currently under way in Europe: GISTAR, EUROHELICAN, TOGAS, and HPSS. An additional study is currently in the preparatory phase under the European Joint Action on Cancer Screening (EUCanScreen).
- The GISTAR study is a multicentre randomized trial in Latvia that is focusing on *H. pylori* eradication and pepsinogen testing as methods to reduce gastric cancer mortality in middle-aged people.
- Accelerating Gastric Cancer Reduction in Europe through *H. pylori* Eradication (EUROHELICAN), supported by the EU4Health programme, is assessing the feasibility, acceptability, and effectiveness of implementing a population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme in young adults (aged 30–34 years) in Slovenia.
- The Towards Gastric Cancer Screening Implementation in the European Union (TOGAS) study, also supported by the EU4Health programme, aims to evaluate three different approaches to gastric cancer screening: (i) an *H. pylori* screenand-treat strategy in a young population (aged 30–34 years); (ii) upper endoscopic screening in individuals undergoing colonoscopy for colorectal cancer screening or surveillance; and (iii) long-term effects of *H. pylori* eradication, in a study in the GISTAR cohort (combining *H. pylori* detection and pepsinogen assessment).
- An *H. pylori* screen-and-treat study (European implementation study on simultaneous screening for gastric and colorectal cancers) within EUCanScreen

will address the potential of screening and treatment for *H. pylori* at the time of initiating colorectal cancer screening with a faecal immunochemical test (FIT).

- The United Kingdom *H. pylori* Screening Study (HPSS) has randomized 56 000 people aged 35–69 years (men) and aged 45–69 years (women) into screenand-treat and control groups, with follow-up until 2024.
- Preliminary results from a survey conducted by the Thomas More University of Applied Sciences, Belgium, targeting representatives of policy-making authorities, suggest overall limited willingness and readiness among Member States of the European Union and the European Economic Area to implement gastric cancer screening.

Studies in the field of gastric cancer prevention through *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies are under way in Europe and are presented in this chapter. Four studies are currently under way in Europe: GISTAR, EUROHELICAN, TOGAS, and HPSS. An additional study is currently in the preparatory phase under the European Joint Action on Cancer Screening (EUCanScreen).

3.5.1 GISTAR

The GISTAR study (Multicentric Randomized Study of *H. pylori* Eradication and Pepsinogen Testing for Prevention of Gastric Cancer Mortality; ClinicalTrials.gov ID, NCT02047994) is a multicentre randomized study of *H. pylori* eradication and pepsinogen testing for gastric cancer prevention in middle-aged people. The study is run as a collaboration between the Institute of Clinical and Preventive Medicine of the University of Latvia and IARC [1]. The primary objective of the study is to determine whether *H. pylori* eradication combined with non-invasive screening and follow-up of precancerous lesions by measuring pepsinogen levels in the circulation reduces gastric cancer mortality in high-risk populations among individuals aged 40–64 years at enrolment.

The secondary objectives include analysis of the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection in the study populations, the success rates of *H. pylori* eradication therapy, the rates of resistance of *H. pylori* to the main antibiotics used in standard therapies, the potential

adverse effects of population-based eradication (including effects on the gut microbiome), and optimization of follow-up strategies, as well as a search for new biomarkers and optimization of the use of the available ones.

The key hypotheses of the GISTAR study are that: (i) *H. pylori* eradication in middleaged people in a high-risk population with endoscopic follow-up of individuals with evidence of atrophic gastritis prevents gastric cancer mortality; (ii) *H. pylori* eradication is effective in preventing gastric cancer mortality even after the development of gastric mucosal atrophy; (iii) certain population subgroups can derive more benefit from *H. pylori* eradication and therefore could be targeted if general population eradication is not feasible; and (iv) a combination of biomarker screening and upper endoscopy is an appropriate strategy to prevent gastric cancer mortality in high-incidence areas.

The study flow chart in Fig. 3.5.1 shows the overall design of the study.



Fig. 3.5.1. Flow chart for the GISTAR study. Reproduced from Leja M et al. (2017) [1]. Copyright © 2017, Leja et al. Published by BMJ Publishing Group Ltd.

The recruitment centres for the main GISTAR study have been operating in regional cities and towns in Latvia. Apparently healthy, asymptomatic middle-aged participants (aged 40–64 years at recruitment) were enrolled in the study. Participants were interviewed to determine their socioeconomic status, lifestyle, environmental and occupational exposures, medical history, family history of disease, and dietary habits. Thereafter, participants were randomly assigned to either the intervention group or the control group.

The pilot study, which was designed to test the assumptions and tools, was followed by the general study. A total of 3447 participants were enrolled in the pilot study in 2013–2015; of those, 1724 were allocated to the intervention group and 1723 to the control group. Participants in the intervention group who tested positive for *H. pylori* infection (serology was used to detect the presence of the infection; whenever upper endoscopy was indicated, histology was considered as the confirmatory test) were offered *H. pylori* eradication treatment. Study participants with altered pepsinogen or gastrin-17 levels in the circulation were invited to undergo upper endoscopy. A randomly assigned subgroup with normal biomarker levels was invited to undergo upper endoscopy.

Based on the results of the pilot study, the general GISTAR protocol was modified. In particular, the primary detection method for *H. pylori* infection was changed from serology to the ¹³C-urea breath test (because of a relatively high proportion of false-positive serology tests), and the use of biomarkers was optimized.

The GISTAR general study was run after the pilot phase. The data from the pilot study were included in the overall GISTAR study statistics. The recruitment to the study was completed by 31 August 2023. By then, 11 223 participants had been randomized in 11 recruitment centres (these are the combined numbers for the pilot study and the general study). Of those, 344 were excluded due to several reasons; therefore, the number of study participants for the follow-up is 10 882. GISTAR study cohorts are currently being used in the EUROHELICAN study 2 and in Pilot 3 within the TOGAS project, to address the potential long-term effects of *H. pylori* eradication therapy.

3.5.2 EUROHELICAN

Accelerating Gastric Cancer Reduction in Europe through *H. pylori* Eradication (EUROHELICAN), an ongoing project supported by the EU4Health programme, aims to reduce the gastric cancer mortality related to chronic infection with *H. pylori*. The project consists of the following actions [2]:

- Assessment of the feasibility, acceptability, and effectiveness of implementing an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategy programme in young adults (aged 30–34 years) in Slovenia at the population level; this is the first time that this type of assessment has been done in Europe.
- Assessment of the potential long-term effects of previous *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes in a middle-aged population in Latvia.
- Analysis of two randomly selected groups of people with *H. pylori* infection, one with *H. pylori* eradicated and one with *H. pylori* not eradicated, with a follow-up of 5–10 years.
- External evaluation of the two studies conducted in Slovenia and Latvia, performed by the University Hospital of Nantes, France.
- Development of a Working Group Report, prepared by IARC, aiming to establish a set of minimum standards for the implementation and evaluation of populationbased *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies through an expert Working Group Meeting.

The prospective non-interventional study was launched in Slovenia in 2023. This study is a joint action of the Slovenia National Institute of Public Health and the Community Healthcare Centre Dr Adolf Drolc Maribor.

The main questions that the study aims to answer are:

- Is the proposed population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategy feasible and acceptable in a community health service setting?
- Is the proposed population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategy effective in a community health service setting?

- What is the profile of adverse events in the participants who have been treated, and how does this profile relate to the results of the *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategy and the demographic characteristics of the participants?
- What is the relationship between the living conditions during childhood reported by the participants and the results of the *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategy?
- What is the association between alcohol consumption or use of tobacco products reported by the participants and the results of the *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategy?

Participants (n = 2000) are being randomly selected from young adults (aged 30– 34 years) who are registered at the primary level of care at the Community Healthcare Centre Dr Adolf Drolc Maribor. They are tested for the presence of active infection with *H. pylori* using locally validated serology and the urea breath test (UBT) as a confirmatory test. Participants with *H. pylori* infection are offered bismuth-based quadruple therapy. Eradication of *H. pylori* infection is confirmed by the UBT at least 1 month after completion of treatment. Participants with a positive test result after the second UBT are retreated with a second-line modified bismuth-based quadruple therapy, and the success of eradication is verified with the UBT. Participants in whom two rounds of treatment have failed are referred to a gastroenterologist for susceptibilitybased antibiotic therapy.

For each of the participants, compliance with testing and treatment, treatment outcomes, adverse events, and reasons for withdrawal of participation are monitored. The feasibility and sustainability of the proposed *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategy will be evaluated using several key performance indicators that follow the structure of the five principal areas of feasibility. Several secondary participant outcomes will be also measured to provide additional evidence for and against the potential future implementation of a population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme in Slovenia.

The results of this study will enable the project to be scaled up to the national level and will serve as a model for the implementation of this strategy in the rest of Europe. The results will also contribute to the implementation of one of the goals of Europe's Beating Cancer Plan: preventing gastric cancers caused by *H. pylori* infection [3]. Finally, the real-world data from this study will be used in a Working Group Report, prepared by IARC, which will describe a set of minimum standards for the implementation of population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes at the international level.

Interim results as of 30 September 2024 are as follows:

- Invitations sent, 4000 participants.
- Response rate, 1490 participants (37.2%).
- Exclusion criteria, 28 participants (2.1%).
- Serology, 1159 participants (147 participants positive; 12.7%).
- UBT, 54 participants (79.6% positive; 3.7% grey zone).
- Treatment started, 25 participants.
- Treatment completed, 13 participants (eradication rate, 92.3%).

The study will be enlarged by inviting other European countries to follow the same strategy as part of the TOGAS project (see Section 3.5.3) (Fig. 3.5.2).



Fig. 3.5.2. Flow charts for the EUROHELICAN and TOGAS studies. UBT, urea breath test. Source: Tepeš et al. (2024) [4]

3.5.3 TOGAS

The Towards Gastric Cancer Screening Implementation in the European Union (TOGAS) project, which is also supported by the EU4Health programme, has been designed to provide the missing evidence that is needed for recommending appropriate implementation of gastric cancer screening across the European Union (EU) [5]. This includes the evaluation of various strategies that could be effective for reducing gastric cancer mortality in EU countries with varying burdens of gastric cancer and varying prevalence of *H. pylori* infection.

The results from this project will aid policy-makers in incorporating gastric cancer screening into their health-care priorities while balancing its effectiveness, feasibility, and acceptability with potential long-term adverse effects.

To achieve the set goals and generate additional information to fill the gaps in knowledge and understand the unmet needs for gastric cancer prevention, the following specific objectives have been designed:

- Assess the current situation and needs in EU Member States and target populations in the area of gastric cancer prevention.
- Assess the appropriateness of various gastric cancer screening modalities for use in the EU.
- Ensure that the TOGAS results are sustainable by using an effective dissemination strategy and coordinating the methodology with approaches used in the EU. This will involve gathering not only important data from the field studies but also critical information from the decision-makers, other stakeholders, and target populations. Furthermore, cost–effectiveness modelling of intervention strategies to reduce gastric cancer-related mortality will be performed to guide the decision-makers on the most appropriate and cost-effective strategy.

TOGAS pilot studies

Each of the pilot studies addresses a different aspect of gastric cancer prevention:

- Pilot 1: *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategy in a young population in six EU countries.
- Pilot 2: Possibility of detection of gastric precancerous lesions and *H. pylori* infection by adding a systematic upper digestive endoscopy to screening upper endoscopies in individuals undergoing colonoscopy (in people aged 50–74 years) within colorectal cancer screening programmes or for surveillance in seven EU countries.
- Pilot 3: Assessment of potential long-term effects of *H. pylori* eradication therapy (using data from the GISTAR cohort).

Fig. 3.5.3 shows the design of the TOGAS pilot studies.



Fig. 3.5.3. TOGAS pilot studies. BMI, body mass index; FAT, faecal antigen test; FIT, faecal immunochemical test; GERD, gastro-oesophageal reflux disease; neg., negative; PG, pepsinogen; pos. positive; UBT, urea breath test; UE, upper endoscopy; yo, years old. Source: European Commission (2024) [6].

Pilot 1: H. pylori screen-and-treat strategy in a young population in six EU countries

In 2024, a prospective non-interventional population screen-and-treat study for *H. pylori* eradication as a method of primary prevention of gastric cancer was launched in six EU countries (Croatia, Ireland, Latvia, Poland, Romania, and Slovenia). A total of 13 600 randomly selected members of the population, aged 30–34 years, will be invited to participate in the study, with the aim of reaching at least 6800 study participants. This study is coordinated by the Slovenia National Institute of Public Health and uses the same protocol as the EUROHELICAN study (Fig. 3.5.2). Some centres are using serology and a confirmatory UBT as the method of *H. pylori* detection; in some other centres, the UBT is used only as the primary test. The first-line treatment is offered according to the local recommendations, mainly 14-day bismuth-based quadruple therapy or 10-day single-capsule bismuth, metronidazole, and tetracycline combination therapy; 14-day clarithromycin-based triple therapy is also used in some centres.

Pilot 2: Combined colon and stomach assessments

Screening for *H. pylori* infection and associated gastric lesions during upper digestive endoscopy performed in combination with screening colonoscopy is being addressed in Pilot 2. It is expected to include a total of 1600 participants in seven centres in Germany, France, Ireland, the Netherlands, Latvia, Lithuania, and Portugal.

Individuals presenting for screening or surveillance colonoscopy, including individuals with a positive faecal occult blood test (FOBT) or faecal immunochemical test (FIT) result, are invited to undergo a screening oesophago-gastro-duodenoscopy (OGD) in the same session. Patients who are undergoing colonoscopy for symptom investigation, individuals with genetic cancer syndromes, or people who have undergone an OGD within the past 3 years are excluded. The study protocol includes high standard operating procedures for OGD, such as the use of virtual chromoendoscopy, gastric biopsy sampling, imaging, and reporting, as well as histopathology assessment and serology testing.

The primary end-point of this study is the detection of gastric cancer or gastric preneoplastic lesions or conditions that need endoscopic surveillance or further therapy as defined by national and international guidelines. The secondary end-points include assessing the quality of the endoscopy, assessing the endoscopist's performance in detecting other relevant gastric lesions, and identifying oesophageal or duodenal conditions.

On the day of the procedure, blood samples are obtained for the analysis of serum pepsinogens and *H. pylori* serology in order to provide input on the yield of serological screening for gastric lesions at the time of a screening colonoscopy, including the sensitivity, the specificity, and the area under the curve (AUC) of pepsinogens for the detection of advanced gastric precancerous lesions.

Pilot 3: Combined pepsinogen and H. pylori screening

Assessment of potential long-term effects is performed in participants who have been treated with *H. pylori* eradication therapy 5–10 years previously, and comparisons will be made with a matched group of study participants who have not been offered eradication treatment (i.e. participants recruited in the GISTAR cohort). Major concerns about negative effects of the eradication will be addressed, including potential increase in gastro-oesophageal reflux disease, negative metabolic effects (including increase in body weight), and laboratory parameters of cardiovascular risk patterns.

A total of 3000 study participants are expected to be recruited, and matched analyses with the data that were initially reported will be conducted.

European countries' willingness and readiness to implement gastric cancer screening

The TOGAS project aims to provide the knowledge needed to design and implement an effective gastric cancer prevention strategy in the EU. The results of this project will help policy-makers to incorporate gastric cancer screening into their cancer control strategies.

A European Commission report, *Cancer screening in the European Union*, prepared by the European Commission's Group of Chief Scientific Advisors, recommended that "the countries with the highest gastric cancer incidence and death rates should consider screening for *H. pylori*" [7]. Researchers from the Thomas More University of Applied Sciences, Belgium, in collaboration with partners from the TOGAS consortium, have evaluated the willingness and readiness of Member States to implement gastric cancer screening.

Methods

The willingness and readiness of Member States to implement gastric cancer screening were evaluated using an online survey, conducted in English. The survey targeted representatives of policy-making authorities in the Member States of the EU and the European Economic Area (EEA).

Invitations to participate were distributed in the newsletter of the European Commission Joint Research Centre, in emails to participants in the EUCanScreen project, and in announcements made during EU SANTE Working Group meetings. Given the specialized nature of the survey and the limited number of people capable of answering all the questions, reaching the target audience was challenging.

The survey was open from 29 February 2024 to 10 January 2025 and included questions on the following topics:

- Current practices with respect to gastric cancer screening [see Note 1 in Box 3.5.1].
- Plans for implementing a gastric cancer screening programme, the reasons for doing so, and the perceived desirability and feasibility of implementation [see Note 2 in Box 3.5.1].
- Availability of and reimbursement of costs for diagnostic tools and therapeutic options to reduce gastric cancer incidence, and medications used in regimens for *H. pylori* eradication [see Note 3 in Box 3.5.1].
- Readiness of the health-care system to implement gastric cancer screening [see Note 4 in Box 3.5.1].

A total of 27 policy advisers, legal advisers, medical professionals, and public health professionals from 19 Member States have completed the survey. The survey respondents represent ministries of health, cancer screening authorities, and other authorities with similar responsibilities [see Note 5 in Box 3.5.1].

Outcomes

• Currently, no EU or EEA Member State has a population-based gastric cancer screening programme [see Note 6 in Box 3.5.1]. Of 39 respondents from 16

Member States, 25 indicated that policy-makers in their country are not considering implementing such a programme.

- According to respondents from Belgium, Ireland, Latvia, Lithuania, and Portugal, there is an ongoing debate about the implementation of a gastric cancer screening programme [see Note 7 in Box 3.5.1].
- Respondents from Croatia, Italy, Lithuania, Portugal, and Slovenia deemed implementation of gastric cancer screening both desirable and feasible. The respondent from Greece found it desirable but not feasible, and the respondents from France and Ireland found it feasible but not desirable. The most common reason cited for finding screening undesirable was "gastric cancer is not a major problem in my country". The primary reason for considering screening unfeasible was "limited resources and higher priority for other cancer screening programmes".
- The most highly rated factors influencing the decision to implement gastric cancer screening include the gastric cancer incidence rate, the impact on mortality and incidence rates, and cost–effectiveness [see Note 8 in Box 3.5.1].
- In most responding countries, the diagnostic tools and therapeutic options to reduce gastric cancer incidence and the medications used in regimens for *H. pylori* eradication are available and the costs are reimbursed.
- According to the respondents, 14 Member States have guidelines for *H. pylori* eradication medications, and 6 have a policy or guideline for gastric cancer screening in high-risk groups or in patients with precancerous lesions [8].

Box 3.5.1. Notes

Note 1. The following questions were posed:

"Does your country or region currently have a gastric cancer screening programme?", followed by questions on the screening method used, the target group, the frequency, and available documentation.

"Does your country or region have a policy or guideline for gastric cancer screening in high-risk groups or surveillance of patients with precancerous lesions?", with among others the answer categories "Yes, surveillance of high-risk individuals (e.g. family members of patients with precancerous lesions)" and "Yes, screening of highrisk individuals (e.g. family members of patients with gastric cancer)". This question was followed by questions on available documentation, method, target group, etc.

Note 2. The following questions were posed:

"Are policy-makers in your country considering implementing a population-based gastric cancer screening programme?", followed by a question on the screening method being considered to be used.

"Listed below are factors which might play a role in the decision to implement a gastric cancer screening policy or programme in your country or region. Please indicate the importance of each factor on a scale from 1 (not important at all) to 10 (very important)."

"Taking into account the importance of the factors related to gastric cancer screening in your country or region, do policy-makers in your country or region consider the implementation of a gastric cancer screening programme desirable?", followed by a question in which "desirable" was replaced by "feasible". Respondents who answered that the implementation of gastric cancer screening was not desirable or feasible were asked about the reasons why they think so.

Note 3. The following questions were posed:

"This question is about the availability of diagnostic tools and therapeutic options. Listed below are the diagnostic tools and therapeutic options to reduce gastric cancer incidence. Please indicate whether or not they are available for routine practice in your country or region."

For each of the available tools and options, a follow-up question on availability was posed. The same questions were asked for "medications used in regimens for *H. pylori* eradication". Included diagnostic tools and therapeutic options: upper gastrointestinal endoscopy, biopsy histology taken during upper gastrointestinal endoscopy, rapid urease test if taken during upper gastrointestinal endoscopy, antibiotic sensitivity testing for *H. pylori*, sedation (e.g. propofol deep sedation) during upper gastrointestinal endoscopy, blood test for pepsinogen I and pepsinogen II detection, upper gastrointestinal series (X-ray), C-urea breath test (UBT), *H. pylori* stool antigen test (SAT), *H. pylori* IgG group antibody detection in blood, medication

for *H. pylori* eradication (first-line therapy), and medication for *H. pylori* eradication (second-line therapy). Included medications: bismuth (e.g. subcitrate, subsalicylate), tetracycline (e.g. hydrochloride), combined bismuth–tetracycline–metronidazole capsule (e.g. Pylera), clarithromycin, amoxicillin, metronidazole, levofloxacin, rifamycins (e.g. rifampicin, rifabutin), and potassium-competitive acid blockers (P-CABs) (e.g. vonoprazan).

Note 4. The readiness of the health-care system was measured by posing questions on the existence of a governance structure dedicated to cancer screening programmes, a central IT platform for cancer screening data, funding, upper gastrointestinal endoscopy capacity, *H. pylori* eradication guidelines, etc.

Note 5. The survey was completed by 19 public health professionals, 13 policy advisers, 8 medical professionals, 2 researchers, 1 manager, and 4 professionals combining two of these functions; 22 respondents answered on behalf of a cancer screening authority, 15 on behalf of a ministry of health, 1 on behalf of both, and 9 on behalf of other relevant authorities. Complete responses were received from Belgium, Croatia, Czechia, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Latvia, Lithuania, Malta, the Netherlands, Portugal, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia, and Spain. Incomplete responses were received from Austria, Denmark, and Hungary.

Note 6. A respondent from Denmark did indicate that Denmark does have a population-based gastric cancer screening programme. However, this was contested by the TOGAS consortium members who reviewed the report.

Note 7. Respondents from Italy (Marche Region), Latvia, and Slovenia indicated that the decision to start a pilot population-based gastric cancer screening programme has been made.

Note 8. Other answer categories were: diagnostic yield of current screening methods, gastric cancer mortality rate, expected adherence rate, costs of the programme, availability of resources in the health-care system such as human resources and infrastructure, number of short-term adverse events, number of long-term adverse events, number of late-stage diagnoses, and *H. pylori* prevalence.

Source: Compiled from Takens et al. (2025) [8].

Discussion

The results suggest limited willingness of EU and EEA Member States to implement gastric cancer screening. However, the Member States expressing interest in the implementation of screening tend to have a relatively high incidence of gastric cancer. This aligns with the recommendation that "the countries with the highest gastric cancer incidence and death rates should consider screening for *H. pylori*" [7].

Health-care systems in the surveyed Member States generally seem prepared to support the implementation of gastric cancer screening. However, certain components of the health-care infrastructure present challenges to widespread implementation. Future efforts should focus on addressing these hurdles to facilitate the adoption of effective

TOGAS general population survey

Initial insights into the willingness of European citizens to participate in gastric cancer screening were gathered from a general population survey conducted in 19 countries as part of the TOGAS project.

Currently, no effective screening method to prevent gastric cancer is available in Europe. Screening programmes depend on uptake. Therefore, before designing a gastric cancer screening programme, it is important to understand the willingness of the general population to participate and to understand any specific barriers or motivators to participation in screening. Surveys and preference studies for cancer screening programmes have previously been used to understand how such programmes can be optimized to maximize uptake. Digestive Cancers Europe, a TOGAS consortium member, designed and commissioned an online survey in 19 EU Member States to fulfil these objectives.

Methods

The willingness of citizens to participate in gastric cancer screening was evaluated using an online survey. The survey was conducted in 19 EU Member States among members of the general population aged 18–70 years in the local language of each country. The data were collected between February and July 2024 and were subsequently analysed at the Thomas More University of Applied Sciences, Belgium. There were at least 1000 respondents from each Member State; the number ranged from 1039 in Austria to 1123 in Poland. The data were weighted to achieve representativeness for age and sex.

The survey contained questions about various topics, including:

- knowledge about gastric cancer and gastric cancer testing;
- motivators and barriers to participation in screening;
- perceptions of different methods of gastric cancer screening; and
- attitudes towards *H. pylori* bacterial infection screening.

Preliminary outcomes

Awareness:

- Fewer than one third (31%) of respondents were aware of the risk factors for gastric cancer; country responses ranged from 20% in Belgium to 52% in Romania.
- Fewer than one quarter (24%) of respondents were aware of the symptoms of gastric cancer; country responses ranged from 17% in Belgium to 35% in Romania.
- Only 4% of respondents were familiar with the procedures involved for testing for risk of gastric cancer; a further 18% said they know a little about the procedures involved.

Motivators and barriers to participation in gastric cancer testing:

- The two main reasons that would motivate people to participate in gastric cancer testing were "being advised by their health-care provider to take part in testing" (47%) and "having symptoms that might indicate gastric cancer" (46%).
- The motivations differed significantly across countries. For example, whereas 68% of respondents in Slovenia said that being advised by their health-care provider to take part in testing would motivate them to do so, only 17% of respondents in Romania said the same.
- The two most important reasons that would prevent people from participating in gastric cancer testing were "concern about the possible discomfort associated with testing" (27%) and "financial constraints" (26%).

 In most Member States, "concern about the possible discomfort associated with testing" was the main barrier to participation. In Finland, Latvia, Poland, and Romania, "financial constraints" were the biggest barrier.

Perceived level of comfort of different screening methods:

- More than half (52%) of respondents expected a biopsy to be uncomfortable or very uncomfortable. The percentage of respondents who thought a biopsy would be uncomfortable was the highest in Croatia, at 64%, and the lowest in Germany, at 46%.
- Respondents were even more concerned about upper endoscopy. Most respondents (63%) expected an upper endoscopy to be uncomfortable or very uncomfortable. The percentage of respondents who thought an upper endoscopy would be uncomfortable was the highest in Finland, at 79%, and the lowest in Germany, at 53%.

Willingness to undergo gastric cancer testing:

- Overall, 57% of respondents said they would be willing to participate in gastric cancer testing, based on the information they had read.
- There were significant differences between certain countries. Respondents in Ireland showed the greatest willingness to undergo testing; 71% said they would, and only 8% said they would not. At the other end of the scale, in Hungary only 41% of respondents said they would be willing to undergo gastric cancer testing, and almost one quarter (24%) of respondents said they would not.
- By far the main reason people would be willing to participate in screening is that they would want to know if they had gastric cancer; 75% of respondents agreed with this.
- Of those respondents who said they were unwilling to undergo gastric cancer screening, the main reason was concern about the procedures being too invasive or uncomfortable; 46% of respondents agreed with this. In Croatia, this percentage was 62%. Other cited reasons included people trusting in their health and being convinced they do not have gastric cancer (21%) and not wanting to know if they had gastric cancer (15%).

Willingness to undergo *H. pylori* testing:

- Overall, 72% of respondents said they would be willing to undergo *H. pylori* testing, based on the information they had read. The willingness to participate varied from 61% in Hungary to 79% in Portugal.
- The main reason people would be willing to participate in *H. pylori* testing is to know whether they have an *H. pylori* infection; 70% of respondents agreed with this.
- Of those respondents who said they were unwilling to undergo *H. pylori* testing, the main reasons were concerns about the procedure being too invasive or uncomfortable (21%), being convinced they do not have an *H. pylori* infection (20%), and not wanting to know if they do (19%).

Overall willingness to participate in gastric cancer screening:

 After completing the survey and reading the information associated with it, 64% of respondents said they would be willing to participate in a gastric cancer screening programme; 11% said they would not, and 25% said they do not know. The willingness to participate varied from 54% in the Netherlands to 77% in Ireland.

Discussion

The preliminary results suggest that most citizens would be willing to participate in gastric cancer screening and *H. pylori* testing, once they understand what is involved. However, there is a substantial minority who say they would not participate or are undecided. In addition, current levels of awareness – of gastric cancer risk factors and symptoms and of gastric cancer screening – are relatively low. This reinforces the need for awareness campaigns and education to encourage widespread uptake of gastric cancer screening.

The barriers to participation appear to be more pronounced in certain countries. For example, in Hungary, nearly one quarter (24%) of respondents said they were unwilling to undergo gastric cancer testing. More research may be needed to understand the perceptions and beliefs of people in different countries to help overcome specific national barriers.

Concern about the possible discomfort of testing is a key barrier to participation; respondents were concerned about the uncomfortable nature of biopsy and, in particular, of upper endoscopy. This finding aligns with research in countries where gastric cancer screening is already in place, where concern about endoscopy appears to be a key barrier to participation. For example, in a study in China only 56.2% of respondents stated that they would schedule an endoscopy if they had symptoms; the main concern was pain and other discomfort associated with the procedure [9]. Understandably, very few people are currently aware of what gastric cancer testing entails. Education about the procedure and what to expect will need to be a significant focus in the rollout of gastric cancer screening in the EU. As always, health-care providers have an essential role in advising and educating their patients who are at the relevant age.

Concern about financial constraints is also a substantial barrier to participation, particularly in Finland, Latvia, Poland, and Romania. Reassurances that screening will be free at the point of delivery will need to be emphasized, reducing financial barriers.

In general, EU populations appear to be prepared to participate in gastric cancer screening, but there are clear barriers to uptake that will need to be addressed proactively through educational and awareness initiatives.

3.5.4 HPSS

One trial that is currently in progress is the United Kingdom *H. pylori* Screening Study (HPSS). This trial addresses the question "Does *H. pylori* screening and the treatment of individuals with positive test results prevent gastric cancer, and if so, to what extent?" The eradication treatment used in this trial was 30 mg of lansoprazole, 400 mg of metronidazole, and 250 mg of clarithromycin, all taken twice a day for 7 days. The trial was funded by the Cancer Research Campaign (now part of Cancer Research UK) and the British United Provident Association (BUPA) Foundation. In 1997–2006, 56 000 people aged 35–69 years (men) and aged 45–69 years (women) were randomized by week of attendance at one of 10 well-person screening clinics held by BUPA. All participants had to be United Kingdom residents and had to be registered with a National Health Service general practitioner, to enable their National Health Service records to be flagged so that automatic notifications would be sent to the study centre in the event of cancer registration or death.

Participants were randomly allocated, by week of attendance, to a screen-and-treat group or a control group. The standard analysis method for this study would be to compare the number of gastric cancer cases in the screened group and the control group, but the study protocol specified a more powerful statistical analysis. Because there is no expectation of an effect of treatment in *H. pylori*-negative participants, these participants can be ignored and the incidence of gastric cancer will be compared in the *H. pylori*-positive participants in the two randomized arms. Thus, the primary analysis for the trial will compare individuals in the treated and control arms who tested positive for *H. pylori* infection in the blood sample they provided at the time of randomization and who developed gastric cancer.

More detailed information about the trial design is provided in Chapter 4.5 (subsection 3) of IARC Working Group Report No. 8 [10]. It is anticipated that cancer registrations and death certifications in trial participants will be accrued until December 2024 and that analyses will be completed during 2025.

3.5.5 Future directions

There is an evidence gap between international recommendations and real data from application studies. Studies in the field of gastric cancer prevention through *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies are under way in Europe and are presented in this chapter. Certain aspects need to be addressed in studies to be planned for the future.

The optimal age for *H. pylori* screen-and-treat interventions should be still determined. The ongoing studies have suggested that the participation rate could be suboptimal in the young age group; however, a subfraction of individuals may have passed the "point of no return" by the age they are eligible for colorectal screening.

The potential combination of an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategy with colorectal cancer screening programmes, in particular with FIT screening, should be analysed for the implementation possibilities in Europe. Pilot 2 within the TOGAS project will address the prevalence of high-risk precancerous lesions at the time that the target population for colorectal cancer screening are undergoing colonoscopy. The possibility of combining FIT with *H. pylori* stool antigen testing will be further

addressed in a study (European implementation study on simultaneous screening for gastric and colorectal cancers) within EUCanScreen.

The risk of inducing an increased long-term gut resistome with *H. pylori* eradication regimens still needs to be addressed and monitored. Furthermore, the effects of an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategy on gastric cancer mortality as well as overall mortality need to be monitored; realistically, this could be done within implementation studies.

Public awareness campaigns about *H. pylori* infection and related diseases, especially gastric cancer, are needed, because knowledge among important stakeholders is still limited. The studies that are in progress in Europe can contribute some valuable data that can help in the organization and implementation of future national *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes. These programmes should be organized as cancer screening programmes [11] with a programme council and a steering committee at the national level and a network of primary care medical and laboratory facilities. A central data capture system should be provided for the assessment of quality indicators and programme monitoring.

In summary, implementation studies would be important to monitor effects and potential risks of population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies.

Acknowledgements

Special thanks go to João Carlos Silva and Mário Dinis Ribeiro for their assistance in designing the survey.

References

- Leja M, Park JY, Murillo R, Liepniece-Karele I, Isajevs S, Kikuste I, et al. (2017). Multicentric randomised study of *Helicobacter pylori* eradication and pepsinogen testing for prevention of gastric cancer mortality: the GISTAR study. BMJ Open. 7(8):e016999. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-016999</u> PMID:28801429
- Slovenia National Institute of Public Health (2024). Accelerating Gastric Cancer Reduction in Europe through *Helicobacter pylori* Eradication (EUROHELICAN). Available from: <u>https://nijz.si/projekti/eurohelican/</u>.
- European Commission (2022). Europe's Beating Cancer Plan: communication from the commission to the European Parliament and the Council. Brussels, Belgium: Directorate-General for Health and Food Safety. Available from: <u>https://health.ec.europa.eu/system/files/2022-02/eu_cancer-plan_en_0.pdf</u>.
- 4. Tepeš B, Park JY, Knaze V, Leja M, Ražuka-Ebela D, Matysiak Budnik T, et al. (2024). EU Project 101079944, EUROHELICAN - Accelerating Gastric Cancer Reduction in Europe through Helicobacter pvlori Eradication. Work Package 4. D4.1 Study manual. Available from: https://ec.europa.eu/info/funding-tenders/opportunities/portal/screen/opportunities/projectsdetails/43332642/101079944/EU4H?order=DESC&pageNumber=1&pageSize=50&sortBy=title&keyw ords=EUROHELICAN&isExactMatch=true&programmePeriod=2021-2027&frameworkProgramme=43332642.
- 5. University of Latvia (2024). TOGAS Towards Gastric Cancer Screening Implementation in the European Union. Available from: <u>https://www.togas.lu.lv/</u>.
- 6. European Commission (2024). EU Project 101101252, TOGAS Towards Gastric Cancer Screening Implementation in the European Union. Project proposal. Available from: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/info/funding-tenders/opportunities/portal/screen/opportunities/projects-</u> <u>details/43332642/101101252/EU4H?order=DESC&pageNumber=1&pageSize=50&sortBy=title&keyw</u> ords=101101252&isExactMatch=true.
- 7. European Commission (2022). Cancer screening in the European Union. Brussels, Belgium: Publications Office of the European Union. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.2777/052716</u>.
- Takens J, van Loo M, Groen T (2025). "EU and EEA Member States' needs and readiness regarding gastric cancer screening" survey as part of Work Package 5 of the TOGAS (Towards Gastric Cancer Screening Implementation in the European Union) project. A public report to the European Union. (forthcoming)
- Chen X, Ze Y, Yi W, Yang Y, Sun R, Tu H (2024). Barriers to upper gastrointestinal screening among the general population in high-prevalence areas: a cross-sectional study. JBI Evid Implement. 22(2):218–27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/XEB.000000000000000396</u> PMID:37975301
- IARC *Helicobacter pylori* Working Group (2014). *Helicobacter pylori* eradication as a strategy for preventing gastric cancer (IARC Working Group Reports No. 8).<u>https://publications.iarc.who.int/391</u>.
- Zhang L, Carvalho AL, Mosquera I, Wen T, Lucas E, Sauvaget C, et al. (2022). An international consensus on the essential and desirable criteria for an 'organized' cancer screening programme. BMC Med. 20(1):101. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-022-02291-7</u> <u>PMID:35317783</u>

WHO South-East Asia Region

Chapter 3.6.

Gastric cancer prevention programme in Bhutan

Pempa Pempa and Guru Prasad Dhakal

Summary

- Gastric cancer is the leading cause of cancer in Bhutan, with a high mortality rate. Therefore, the Ministry of Health implemented a nationwide population-based *H. pylori* screening and endoscopic screening programme from 2020 to 2023 as part of the Health Flagship Programme.
- The programme screened 90.2% of the target population, providing 14-day triple therapy to individuals who tested positive for *H. pylori*, followed by eradication confirmation after 3 months.
- The cancer detection rate in the screening programme was 3.08 per 1000 people screened for *H. pylori*, with a positive predictive value for gastric cancer of 2.15% in individuals who underwent upper gastrointestinal endoscopy because of a positive *H. pylori* test result or other risk factors for gastric cancer.
- The programme used a multifaceted approach to raise awareness, including nationwide broadcasts, local sensitization programmes, leveraging schools to disseminate information, and a special high-level advocacy campaign in the most remote areas.
- Bhutan's experience in implementing a nationwide population-based cancer screening programme provides valuable insights into the effective implementation of public health interventions in resource-limited settings, highlighting several key lessons and strategies to address various challenges.

3.6.1 Rationale and the Health Flagship Programme

Bhutan is a small, mountainous country in the eastern Himalayas, with altitudes ranging from about 100 m to 7500 m above sea level. Almost 45% of the country lies at altitudes

of 3000 m and higher, and only about 5.3% lies at altitudes of lower than 600 m. Bhutan is a lower-middle-income country. It has a population of about 0.7 million, and 62.2% of the population resides in rural areas [1]. Some human settlement areas are still not connected with roads that are usable by motor vehicles, and places such as Lunana are officially 8 days' walking distance from the nearest road. Despite these challenges, Bhutan has made substantial progress in primary health care, including the implementation of successful initiatives in childhood immunization and improved maternal health. The crude childhood immunization coverage is about 97% [1, 2].

Bhutan's approach to education, health care, and the environment is guided by the Gross National Happiness principle. The constitution mandates free basic primary health care, which provides citizens with free health care from primary care to tertiary care, including referrals abroad when health-care services are unavailable in the country. Health-care services are provided through various levels of health-care facilities distributed across the 20 districts of the country. Bhutan has 54 hospitals, 186 primary health-care centres, 51 subposts, and 554 outreach clinics nationwide [2]. Only three hospitals in the country provide a certain level of tertiary health-care services, and these are designated as referral hospitals for three different regions of the country. Apart from a few selective private diagnostic centres, Bhutan does not have a single private hospital. The establishment of these selective private diagnostic centres was approved by the government in 2012 to provide diagnostic tests for health screenings for foreign workers, for immigration purposes, and to complement the workload of the diagnostic services in the public health facilities. Most of these diagnostic centres are located in the towns near the border with India in the southern districts, and their service fees are regulated by the Ministry of Health.

Until very recently, Bhutan had no health insurance system. The Royal Insurance Corporation of Bhutan Limited, the state-owned insurance company, recently launched a health insurance policy, which covers only medical treatment received abroad (in India).

Although Bhutan has made substantial strides in implementing public health initiatives, such as the expanded immunization programme and maternal health services across widely distributed health facilities, it faces substantial challenges in providing curative health care, because of the limited number of tertiary care hospitals. For example, advanced cancer diagnosis and treatment facilities are available only at the National Referral Hospital, and some complex cancer cases need to be referred abroad for further treatment. The limited availability of and access to cancer care services in the country often result in advanced-stage cancer diagnoses, leading to poor health outcomes, high mortality rates, and substantial socioeconomic impacts. Cancer has been the third most common cause of death in Bhutan for the past 5 years. According to data from the Bhutan Cancer Registry for 2014–2018, cancer mortality rates were 30.7 per 100 000 people for males and 31.5 per 100 000 people for females [3]. The most common cancer types are gastric cancer in males and cervical cancer in females.

The analysis of lifestyle and dietary habits in the past two World Health Organization (WHO) STEPwise approach to noncommunicable disease risk factor surveillance (STEPS) surveys, in 2014 and 2019, has indicated some poor or deteriorating habits in the Bhutanese population [4–6]. Among adults in Bhutan, the prevalence of current tobacco use was 24.8% in 2014 and 23.9% in 2019, the prevalence of current alcohol consumption was 42.4% in 2014 and 42.9% in 2019, and the prevalence of insufficient intake of fruits and vegetables increased from 66.9% in 2014 to 86.4% in 2019. The mean population salt intake was 9 g per day in 2014 and 8.3 g per day in 2019. In addition, studies have shown a high prevalence of *H. pylori* infection in the population and have suggested that the high incidence of gastric cancer in the country could be attributed to a virulent strain of *H. pylori* [7, 8].

Given the limited cancer diagnosis and treatment services, the poor dietary and lifestyle habits in the population, and the high prevalence of *H. pylori* infection and gastric cancer, gastric cancer has become a substantial public health concern. In response, despite the absence of evidence on cost–effectiveness, the Royal Government of Bhutan has demonstrated a strong political commitment to addressing gastric cancer, along with two other preventable cancer types, cervical cancer and breast cancer, by implementing a rigorous population-based cancer screening programme, known as the Health Flagship Programme [9, 10]. The government allocated a budget of Nu 1109.572 million (US\$ 13.095 million) to the Ministry of Health for the implementation of the Health Flagship Programme [9, 10].

3.6.2 Health Flagship Programme strategies

The Ministry of Health implemented the Health Flagship Programme from 2020 to 2023, based on the programme blueprint established by the Ministry of Health and the screening programme guideline [11]. The Health Flagship Programme Management Unit developed the guideline in consultation with the Technical Working Group for the Health Flagship Programme, which was made up of clinicians with relevant expertise, such as gastroenterologists, surgeons, oncosurgeons, pathologists, gynaecological oncologists, microbiologists, radiologists, and health communication specialists. The Technical Working Group was responsible for providing the necessary guidance for the effective implementation of the programme and reviewing its effectiveness. Because of the COVID-19 pandemic, the actual screening activities were implemented from 2021, and the primary implementing partners of the programme were the district health sectors in all districts and municipalities, mainly through primary health-care centres, subposts, and hospital community health departments. Primary health-care centres and subposts are the lowest level of health facilities, and these facilities do not have physicians. Primary health-care centres are staffed by at least one health assistant and a nurse, who takes care of public health interventions and minor clinical ailments. The screening strategy was issued as part of the national screening guideline, and the programme was rigorously monitored by the Prime Minister's Office.

The main strategies of the gastric cancer programme included:

- Expanding the *H. pylori* testing and endoscopy services in the country by
 - introducing the stool antigen test (SAT) for *H. pylori* infection to primary healthcare centres;
 - o expanding endoscopy services to the lower levels of health-care facilities.
- Enhancing advocacy and awareness of gastric cancer by
 - advocacy and capacity-building of health workers;
 - public awareness programmes designed to raise public awareness of the issue, persuade people to modify their risk factors, and encourage them to participate in screening programmes.
- Mass eradication of *H. pylori* infection in the Bhutanese population by

- o using the SAT for *H. pylori* infection in people aged 18–75 years;
- an *H. pylori* eradication therapy programme (triple therapy and quadruple therapy) for people with positive SAT results.
- Endoscopic screening for gastric cancer by
 - upper gastrointestinal endoscopy (UGIE) for individuals aged 40–75 years with risk factors such as a history of atrophic gastritis, history of *H. pylori* infection, family history of gastric cancer, or history of dyspepsia with alarm features, and for individuals who use tobacco products and consume alcohol.

3.6.3 Implementation of the Health Flagship Programme

Expansion of H. pylori testing, endoscopy, and histopathology services

Before the Health Flagship Programme, *H. pylori* testing was performed on endoscopic biopsy samples using the rapid urease test (RUT). Later, the urea breath test (UBT) service was piloted in the three referral hospitals as an alternative method for *H. pylori* testing. The RUT could be used only on endoscopic biopsy samples, and the UBT was expensive and time-consuming. In addition to the requirement for an analyser, the cost per UBT was about 3–6 times the cost per SAT. Given the limitations of the RUT and the UBT for mass screening, the Health Flagship Programme adopted the SAT for mass population-based *H. pylori* screening [9, 10]. The SATs used for *H. pylori* testing included the H. PYLORI CHEK [12] and the H. PYLORI QUIK CHEK [13]. SAT kits were distributed to hospitals, primary health-care centres, and subposts.

Before the Health Flagship Programme, endoscopy services in Bhutan were limited to four centres: three referral hospitals and a military hospital in the capital city. Although outreach camps occasionally provided endoscopy services to other districts, permanent endoscopy services were available only in these four centres. In addition, the endoscopy equipment used was basic and lacked advanced features such as narrow-band imaging or i-scan. In 2021, the Health Flagship Programme established 12 endoscopy centres in 11 districts, covering all regions of Bhutan [9, 10]. This expansion improved the accessibility of routine endoscopy services at hospitals from 7.4% (4 of 54 hospitals) before the Health Flagship Programme to 22.2% (12 of 54 hospitals). This allowed 94.2% of the target population to be reached with UGIE [9]. All 12 centres have

advanced endoscopy equipment with narrow-band imaging and i-scan capabilities, enabling the early diagnosis of gastric cancer.

Before the Health Flagship Programme, histopathology laboratory services, which are essential for cancer diagnosis, were available in only two referral hospitals. The biopsy report turnaround time, calculated from the date of receipt of the sample to the dispatch of the report, ranged from 21 days to 47 days. As part of the Health Flagship Programme, a histopathology laboratory was established in another referral hospital, the Central Regional Referral Hospital, to improve the overall availability of histopathology services in the country; this has substantially reduced the biopsy report turnaround time [9, 10].

Advocacy and capacity-building of public service providers and health workers

For the effective implementation of the Health Flagship Programme, advocating for institutions and individuals, such as health service providers, health administrators, and local administrators, was treated as extremely important. Several rounds of sensitization programmes, including workshops and meetings on cancer screening initiatives, were conducted for these stakeholders. During the sensitization sessions, the stakeholders were informed about their roles and their accountability as crucial parties involved in the national initiative.

The primary focus was on building capacity among health workers through a wide range of training sessions covering prevention, early detection, protocols, skill enhancement, and data management. Knowledge gaps were identified and addressed through comprehensive training programmes [9]. All relevant health professionals, including health assistants at community health departments, primary health-care centres, and subposts, were trained to screen for *H. pylori* infection using the SAT kit. Nearly all of the 15 surgeons in the country and a gastroenterologist received basic training in UGIE, and some received advanced training in UGIE and early gastric cancer diagnosis. The endoscopy training was provided by the Khesar Gyalpo University of Medical Sciences in collaboration with Fukuoka University, Japan. This collaboration ensured that the training was of high quality and incorporated the latest advances and best practices in cancer screening and early detection.

Multifaceted public advocacy and awareness initiative

Public advocacy and awareness programmes were crucial components of the cancer screening initiatives, to ensure seamless implementation and the achievement of the objectives and outcomes. A multifaceted approach was adopted for the awareness initiative, to reach various target groups in the population (Table 3.6.1). The official launch of the programme, attended by the Honourable Health Minister, was broadcast nationwide on the Bhutan Broadcasting Service and was followed by an extensive panel discussion on the national television news channel.

Objective	Target groups	Methods
General awareness of the programme	General public, service providers	 Official launch of the programme Panel discussion on a national television programme
Effective implementation of the programme	Management, local government, health service providers	 Sensitization programme Screening guidelines Official notifications Executive orders
Enhanced awareness of cancer and the screening programme	General population	 Videos, narratives, infographics, pamphlets, posters Public announcements and notifications Panel discussions, talk shows Health talks during the outreach camps
Improved programme coverage	General population, service providers	 High-level advocacy initiative in the most remote areas for unreached populations Sensitization of students in schools

Table 3.6.1. Public advocacy	and a	wareness	approaches	used	during	the F	lealth	Flagship
Programme in Bhutan ^a					_			

^a The Health Flagship Programme is a nationwide population-based cancer screening programme initiated by the Ministry of Health from 2020 to 2023.

In addition to a series of talk shows and panel discussions about cancer and the related initiatives, which aired on national television and in social media, the awareness programme included short video clips, infographics, public notifications, and announcements about the screening schedules through various media channels. Announcing the screening schedules helped the public to plan their work in advance and enabled them to participate in the screening programme. In addition, before the

screening camps started, health professionals provided the necessary health education on gastric cancer to the public.

In rural areas, the resident populations are largely permanent, and health information can be effectively disseminated through the local administration's information-sharing mechanisms. However, in urban areas, the resident population is more mobile, which makes it challenging for the designated health facilities to trace their catchment populations and use the local administration's information-sharing mechanisms. In addition, health advocacy often failed to reach certain sections of the urban population because of the nature of their work, the presence of illiteracy, and the limited access to news and social media by some of the population. These challenges made it difficult to implement the screening programme effectively.

To address these challenges, a unique approach was taken that involved schools and schoolchildren in urban areas. Although students in schools are generally younger than the screening target age of 18 years, they played a crucial role in disseminating information about the screening programme to the target population, particularly their parents, family members, relatives, and neighbours. Sensitizing and educating students in urban areas about cancer and the cancer screening initiative substantially boosted coverage and helped to overcome the challenges in reaching the urban population.

High-level advocacy initiative

The high-level advocacy initiative for the residents of Lunana was led by one of Her Majesties the Queen Mothers. This initiative focused on reaching the most remote and underserved populations in the country. Lunana is a *gewog* (group of villages) with a population of about 700 and is located at an altitude of 3400 m above sea level, officially 8 days' walking distance from the nearest road. Her Majesty the Queen Mother and her entourage, including a complete team of health workers for advocacy and cancer screening, were flown to Lunana by helicopter for the event.

Lunana was chosen for the high-level advocacy initiative not because of its cancer prevalence or its population size but to emphasize the importance of the message about cancer care that needed to be conveyed to the entire Bhutanese population.

Before the event, health-care workers at the primary health-care centres in Lunana conducted extensive screening tests for *H. pylori* infection and assessed gastric cancer

risk factors, covering about 70% of the target resident population. Among those tested, 13% were found to be positive for *H. pylori* and were promptly started on eradication therapy.

During the event, UGIE services were offered to individuals who had been preidentified and registered by the local primary health-care centres. A total of 113 people underwent UGIE, and 12 histopathology biopsies were collected for further analysis. Upon review, none of the biopsies indicated cancer or precancerous conditions.

This high-level advocacy initiative was a historic event for Lunana, because it was the first time that the community had experienced a specialized outreach medical camp that offered advanced services, such as endoscopy. This high-level event, held for a remote and unreached population, emphasized that every life matters and encouraged everyone to join the fight against this preventable cancer. The event also highlighted the potential for ongoing specialized health-care access in remote areas.

3.6.4 Community-based outreach camps

H. pylori screening, eradication therapy, and endoscopic screening were provided in both facility-based and camp-based settings. Most of the population (> 90%) were covered in outreach screening camps.

Registration of the target population and distribution of sample containers

The first task of the screening process was to list the target population by health facility catchment area. This task was assigned to the primary health-care centres, subposts, and hospital community health departments. After the district health office had scheduled the screening date for each catchment area, voluntary village health workers and *desuups* (volunteers) were mobilized to distribute sample containers. This ensured that individuals could bring their samples to the screening camp venue on the designated camp screening date. People who did not receive a sample container in advance could obtain one at the camp venue on the screening date or from nearby health facilities during official business hours.

People were advised to collect their samples so that they would be as fresh as possible on the scheduled screening date or within 2 days of this date. Individuals who could not attend the scheduled screening camp could visit their local health facilities during routine hours for *H. pylori* testing. This approach ensured maximum participation
and convenience for the community and enhanced the overall effectiveness of the screening programme.

H. pylori testing

Stool samples were collected from the screening camps or health facilities, and the demographic information and risk factor details for each individual were entered into the online cancer reporting system. A system-generated unique identity number was given to each sample. The reporting system, hosted on the DHIS2 software platform, includes features specifically for reporting cancer screening data. Every health facility (including primary health-care centres, subposts, and hospital community health departments) can access the system using their unique login credentials to enter, view, edit, and print data and reports. Laboratory, gynaecology, endoscopy, and pharmacy departments also have access to enter or view data on their reporting pages. The SAT results were uploaded to the system and were issued to individuals on the same day; this allowed people to collect the triple-therapy regimen if applicable. The district health office has access to the data for its district, and the Ministry of Health has access to nationwide data.

Before the online system was fully operational, data management was done using Excel; the data were later uploaded to the system. *H. pylori* tests were performed on the same day or within the recommended time limit using either the H. PYLORI CHEK or the H. PYLORI QUIK CHEK test. The H. PYLORI CHEK kit can be used to perform 94 tests (excluding positive and negative controls) and was used for the mass screening; this test was performed only by certified laboratory professionals. The H. PYLORI QUIK CHEK test can be performed by trained health assistants.

The H. PYLORI CHEK test uses an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). The kit contains immobilized capture antibodies against *H. pylori* antigen. The conjugate consists of *H. pylori* antigen-specific antibodies coupled to horseradish peroxidase. If the antigen is present in the specimen, it binds to the conjugate and the immobilized capture antibody during incubation. After the addition of the substrate, a colour change is detected because of the formation of enzyme–antibody–antigen complexes. The results can be read using an ELISA reader or visually if an ELISA reader is unavailable. The main equipment required for the test is a centrifuge and a water bath. Test results can

be obtained in about 60 minutes. The sensitivity of this test was 91%, and the specificity was 100% [14].

The H. PYLORI QUIK CHEK test contains *H. pylori* antigen-specific antibodies (test line; "T") and antibodies to horseradish peroxidase (control line; "C"). After the addition of the conjugate, *H. pylori* antigen in the sample binds to the antibody–peroxidase conjugate. The antigen–antibody–peroxidase complexes then migrate through a filter pad to a membrane, where they are captured by immobilized anti-*H. pylori* antibodies at the test line. The reaction window is visually examined for the appearance of vertical blue lines on the "C" and "T" sides after the addition of the substrate. Test results can be obtained in about 30 minutes. The sensitivity of this test was 92%, and the specificity was 91% [14].

The test kits require storage at 2–8 °C and must be brought to room temperature before testing. After use, the test kits should be returned to the storage temperature. Samples can be processed within 36 hours of collection if stored at room temperature. Fresh unpreserved samples can be stored at 2–8 °C for up to 96 hours, and frozen unpreserved samples can be stored at ≤ -10 °C for up to 14 days before they are tested [12].

Most of the tests were performed on the same day. When the public turnout for the mass screening exceeded expectations, especially in urban areas, tests were completed within 2 days on samples stored at 2-8 °C. The results were then uploaded to the online cancer reporting system, and individuals were informed via a text message alert on their mobile phones or via a telephone call to collect the triple-therapy medications from the screening camp or a pharmacy counter at any nearby health facility. Pharmacists or health assistants educated patients about the use of the triple-therapy medicines, the need for a follow-up test (3 months after completion of the treatment), and the importance of reporting any adverse drug reactions. Pharmacists were deployed to dispense medications to people who tested positive for *H. pylori* during the mass screening camps.

The district health office, through the primary health-care centres and hospitals, conducted a second round of testing 3 months after completion of the triple-therapy medication. Individuals who still tested positive for *H. pylori* on the second test were prescribed quadruple therapy. Because of metronidazole resistance in the community

[8], this drug was replaced by tinidazole in the quadruple-therapy regimen. The screening algorithm is shown in Fig. 3.6.1.



Fig. 3.6.1. Screening algorithm for *H. pylori* and gastric cancer used in Bhutan for the Health Flagship Programme. UGIE, upper gastrointestinal endoscopy.

Treatment for H. pylori infection

For the effective treatment of *H. pylori* infection, patients received triple therapy as a first-line treatment. This regimen includes clarithromycin (500 mg, twice a day), amoxicillin (1000 mg, twice a day), and pantoprazole (40 mg, twice a day). This regimen is administered for 14 days. Before starting treatment, patients were screened for any

penicillin allergy. For individuals with a confirmed allergy to penicillin, tinidazole (500 mg, twice a day) was prescribed as a substitute for amoxicillin. Patients were also advised to call the medical emergency hotline for assistance if they experienced any signs of a drug allergy.

If the triple therapy does not achieve eradication (confirmed by a follow-up test 3 months after completion of the treatment), quadruple therapy is recommended as the second-line treatment. This regimen includes tetracycline (500 mg, 4 times a day), bismuth subsalicylate (520 mg, 4 times a day) or bismuth subcitrate (120 mg, 4 times a day), pantoprazole (40 mg, twice a day), and tinidazole (500 mg, twice a day). Quadruple therapy is prescribed for an additional 14 days.

To improve compliance with the treatment regimen, several strategies were put in place, although further enhancements might have been beneficial. The focal pharmacists conducted random follow-ups with patients to ensure adherence to the prescribed regimen. At the 3-month confirmatory test, patients who tested positive were asked specific questions to verify compliance. The decision to proceed with quadruple therapy was contingent upon verification of treatment completion.

Only patients who were confirmed to have completed the treatment regimen in full were eligible for second-line treatment. For those who tested positive but had not completed the initial treatment as directed, a referral was made to the Hospital Therapeutic Committee. This committee reviewed each case individually and decided whether to repeat the first-line treatment or initiate the second-line treatment based on the patient's compliance and clinical response.

Endoscopic screening

Based on the risk factor assessment during the *H. pylori* screening and on the *H. pylori* test results, individuals aged 40–75 years with identified risk factors for gastric cancer were actively enrolled for UGIE screening [9, 10]. In addition, the screening guideline recommends UGIE for any patient irrespective of age and sex if clinically indicated, and for patients who are resistant to quadruple therapy (opportunistic diagnoses). UGIE outreach camps were scheduled for each community to screen all listed individuals. Endoscopy teams, along with the necessary equipment, were mobilized from the nearest established endoscopy centres.

All endoscopic findings were recorded in the online cancer reporting system and the health facility register book for each patient. Endoscopic biopsies obtained from suspicious lesions in the stomach and duodenum were sent to the nearest histopathology laboratory for laboratory confirmation. The histopathology biopsy reports were also entered directly into the system, allowing the referring endoscopist or the focal health worker to view the report and to follow up with the patient to arrange the necessary treatment or management. The screening algorithm is shown in Fig. 3.6.1.

3.6.5 Outcomes of the Health Flagship Programme

The Health Flagship Programme was implemented with sufficient resources to achieve the long-term goal of reducing gastric cancer incidence and mortality.

Key measurement metrics

Using the strategies outlined earlier, the Health Flagship Programme aimed to assess its outcomes by the end of the implementation period using the following key measurement metrics.

- Primary prevention programme:
 - *H. pylori* screening coverage: The proportion of individuals screened for *H. pylori* infection relative to the total population aged 18–75 years.
 - *H. pylori* treatment coverage: The proportion of individuals diagnosed with *H. pylori* infection who received triple therapy, compared with the total number of individuals who tested positive for *H. pylori* in the initial screening.
- Secondary prevention programme:
 - **Screening coverage:** The percentage of individuals who underwent UGIE compared with the total target population for gastric cancer screening.
 - **Cancer detection rate:** The proportion of cancers detected relative to the total number of individuals screened for gastric cancer.
 - Positive predictive value: The proportion of cancers detected among individuals aged > 40 years with a positive *H. pylori* test result or other identified risk factors for gastric cancer.

• **Proportion of advanced-stage cancers:** The percentage of advanced-stage cancers identified relative to the total number of cancers detected.

Screening results

A total of 410 546 individuals aged 18–75 years were registered for the gastric cancer screening programme across all 20 districts of the country. Of this target population, 370 225 individuals participated in *H. pylori* screening using the SAT, achieving a programme coverage rate of 90.2%. Among those tested, 119 854 individuals were found to be positive for *H. pylori* and subsequently received triple therapy, resulting in a national *H. pylori* positivity rate of 32.4%. The positivity rate varied across districts, ranging from 21.9% in Samtse District to 49.8% in Zhemgang District. A breakdown of *H. pylori* prevalence by district is shown in Fig. 3.6.2.



This map is not authoritative on its international boundary.



A confirmatory test was conducted for 32 262 individuals, representing 27% of those who tested positive for *H. pylori* and received eradication therapy. Of these, 7.92% still tested positive for *H. pylori*. The resistance to triple therapy varied between districts, with rates ranging from 2.16% to 22.13%. However, it is challenging to draw definitive conclusions about drug resistance, because these figures include all cases who tested positive on the repeat test regardless of treatment compliance (timely completion of the entire course of treatment).

After *H. pylori* screening and risk factor assessment for gastric cancer, 53 182 people aged 40–75 years underwent UGIE screening nationwide in 2021–2023. During this period, 11 637 endoscopic biopsies were taken from suspicious lesions for histopathological confirmation. Biopsies were performed on about 22% of individuals who underwent UGIE, and the biopsy rate varied between endoscopists. The guidelines recommended biopsies for any suspicious lesions, leading to a wide range in the biopsy rate, from 0.56% to 95.75%.

In 2021–2023, a total of 1142 cases of gastric cancer were identified nationwide, resulting in a cancer detection rate of 3.08 per 1000 people screened for *H. pylori* (Table 3.6.2). In comparison, according to data from the Bhutan Cancer Registry for 2019–2022, the overall age-adjusted incidence rate of gastric cancer was 25.1 per 100 000 people in males and 18.9 per 100 000 people in females. In addition, histopathological examination of the 11 637 biopsies identified 206 cases of low-grade dysplasia (1.77%), 42 cases of high-grade dysplasia (0.36%), and 40 cases of intramucosal carcinoma (0.34%). These conditions were found more commonly in districts with high biopsy rates, such as Lhuentse District and Mongar District.

Table 3.6.2. Gastric cancer detection rate by districts ofBhutan (per 1000 people screened for *H. pylori*) duringthe Health Flagship Programme^a

District	Gastric cancer detection rate per 1000 people screened for <i>H. pylori</i> (2021–2023)
Bumthang	5.24
Dagana	3.35
Наа	14.12
Sarpang	2.28
Samdrup Jongkhar	2.27
Mongar	3.13
Chukha	1.20
Paro	6.57
Pema Gatshel	1.48
Punakha	7.60
Gasa	7.43
Lhuentse	8.47
Samtse	1.46
Trashigang	2.85
Thimphu	0.65
Trashiyangtse	9.16
Trongsa	6.63
Tsirang	2.01
Wangdue Phodrang	6.60
Zhemgang	5.21
National	3.08

^a The Health Flagship Programme is a nationwide population-based cancer screening programme initiated by the Ministry of Health from 2020 to 2023.

From the number of cancers detected in individuals who underwent UGIE because of a positive *H. pylori* test result or other identified risk factors for gastric cancer, the positive predictive value for gastric cancer was found to be 2.15%.

The stage distribution of gastric cancer cases recorded by the oncology department at the National Referral Hospital indicated that 47% of the cases are classified as early stage (stage I–IIB), 43% as locally advanced (stage III), and 10% as advanced stage (stage IV) (Table 3.6.3).

Stage	Classification	Proportion (%)
Early	Ι	21
	IIA	20
	IIB	6
Locally advanced	III	43
Advanced	IV	10

Table 3.6.3. Proportions of gastric cancers by stage in Bhutan

3.6.6 Lessons learned from implementing a population-based cancer screening programme in Bhutan

Bhutan's population-based gastric cancer screening programme (2020–2023), implemented as part of the Health Flagship Programme, provided valuable insights into the effective implementation of public health interventions in resource-limited settings, highlighting several key lessons and strategies to address various challenges. Some of the main lessons learned and challenges addressed are as follows.

Lessons learned

Strong political commitment

Bhutan's nationwide gastric cancer screening initiative reflects a powerful political commitment to health. The Royal Government of Bhutan prioritized this programme, despite limited local cost–effectiveness evidence, by approving a substantial budget that enabled critical health infrastructure development and the widespread implementation of screening services.

Comprehensive strategy and collaboration

The programme's success was grounded in a comprehensive strategy and close collaboration with central and local government, health-care facilities, schools, and community leaders. These partnerships were essential for maximizing participation across diverse regions, including reaching remote populations.

Public awareness and education

Public engagement was substantially bolstered by a multifaceted advocacy campaign, which used television, social media, schools, and high-level outreach in

remote areas. The high-level advocacy initiative emphasized the importance of collective effort in fighting preventable cancers. Leveraging school students as information channels in urban areas was particularly effective for reaching mobile populations.

Trust between health-care providers and the public

The strong bond between health-care providers and the public in Bhutan was a key factor in the programme's success. Public trust in health-care workers made it easier to mobilize communities for screening, demonstrating the critical role of trust in successful public health interventions.

Infrastructure and resources

Expanding endoscopy centres and enhancing diagnostic equipment greatly increased the programme's reach. Bhutan's cold-chain storage capacity, complete with high-volume walk-in refrigerators and refrigerated vans, was essential for maintaining the quality of *H. pylori* test kits and ensuring the programme's effectiveness.

Data and technology integration

The implementation of an online cancer reporting system streamlined data management, enabling real-time updates. This system supported patient tracking, treatment management, and data-driven decision-making for optimizing screening strategies.

Challenges addressed

Logistics and cold-chain management

The SAT kits required a strict temperature range of 2–8 °C. This was tackled by storing kits in regional walk-in refrigerators and distributing them to health facilities based on their cold-chain capacity, using refrigerated vans. This approach was effective, although maintaining the cold chain was challenging in remote areas with limited road access.

Equipment transportation and infrastructure

Transporting sensitive endoscopy equipment and accessories to rural and remote areas required smart planning because of Bhutan's rugged terrain and lack of road connectivity in certain regions. Careful logistic coordination was essential for safely reaching these areas and setting up temporary screening facilities.

Human resource constraints

The limited health-care workforce in Bhutan is already stretched thin because of multiple public health initiatives. To expand capacity, nearly all surgeons were given basic training in UGIE, and some received advanced training in early gastric cancer detection. These trained surgeons were efficiently used through efficient mobilization and planning. In addition, primary health-care staff received specialized training to conduct rapid SAT screenings. These efforts helped expand service availability with a limited health workforce while managing the increased workload.

Community and cultural sensitivities

Bhutanese cultural practices, especially the preference for spiritual healing, posed a unique challenge, because individuals often delay seeking medical care. Recognizing the popular belief that medication and spiritual healing must go hand in hand, the programme included public sensitization efforts to encourage the integration of medical treatment with spiritual practices. This culturally sensitive approach helped reduce late-stage diagnoses by fostering trust and encouraging timely medical follow-up.

3.6.7 Future directions

Drawing on insights from Professor Prawase Wasi's "triangle that moves the mountain" [15], commitment to the continuation of such gastric cancer prevention efforts will be highly dependent on relevant high-quality evidence and strong political commitment. Insights from the recent programme will guide Bhutan to adopt the most efficient, cost-effective, and sustainable strategies for routine screening.

Enhancing national capacity and infrastructure for early gastric cancer diagnosis and treatment is Bhutan's foremost priority. Without this, population-based screening efforts will have a limited impact. In addition, although Bhutan's central clinical laboratory

currently monitors antibiotic resistance for commonly used antibiotics, developing and maintaining an antibiogram specific to the antibiotics used in *H. pylori* eradication therapy will help guide future treatment protocols.

With the data from the Health Flagship Programme and the National Health Survey, Bhutan plans to focus on evaluating the effectiveness of the programme, building evidence for cost-effective cancer screening, and refining its strategies in collaboration with the relevant national and international research agencies, such as IARC. This approach will not only support evidence-based decision-making in Bhutan but also contribute to the global understanding of gastric cancer.

Acknowledgements

The author would like to thank Dr Prabhat Pradhan and Dr Sonam Dargay from Jigme Dorji Wangchuck National Referral Hospital for their input when preparing this chapter.

References

- 1. National Statistics Bureau of Bhutan (2018). 2017 Population & housing census of Bhutan. Thimphu, Bhutan: National Statistics Bureau of Bhutan. Available from: https://www.nsb.gov.bt/wpcontent/uploads/dlm_uploads/2020/07/PHCB2017_wp.pdf.
- 2. Government of Bhutan (2022). Annual health bulletin 2023. Thimphu, Bhutan: Policy and Planning Division, Ministry of Health. Available from: https://www.rcdc.gov.bt/web/wp-content/uploads/2024/04/Annual-Health-Bulleti-2023.pdf.
- 3. Ministry of Health (2019). Cancer incidence and mortality in Bhutan: 2014–2018. Thimphu, Bhutan: Ministry of Health, Royal Government of Bhutan.
- Sithey G, Wen LM, Dzed L, Li M (2021). Noncommunicable diseases risk factors in Bhutan: a secondary analysis of data from Bhutan's nationwide STEPS survey 2014. PLoS One. 16(9):e0257385. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0257385</u> PMID:34555064
- Pelzom D, Isaakidis P, Oo MM, Gurung MS, Yangchen P (2017). Alarming prevalence and clustering of modifiable noncommunicable disease risk factors among adults in Bhutan: a nationwide crosssectional community survey. BMC Public Health. 17(1):975. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-017-4989-</u> <u>x PMID:29268747</u>
- Pengpid S, Peltzer K (2023). Trends in behavioral and biological risk factors for non-communicable diseases among adults in Bhutan: results from cross-sectional surveys in 2007, 2014, and 2019. Front Public Health. 11:1192183. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2023.1192183</u> <u>PMID:37593725</u>
- Shiota S, Mahachai V, Vilaichone RK, Ratanachu-Ek T, Tshering L, Uchida T, et al. (2013). Seroprevalence of *Helicobacter pylori* infection and gastric mucosal atrophy in Bhutan, a country with a high prevalence of gastric cancer. J Med Microbiol. 62(Pt 10):1571–8. https://doi.org/10.1099/jmm.0.060905-0 PMID:23831768
- Vilaichone RK, Aumpan N, Ratanachu-Ek T, Uchida T, Tshering L, Mahachai V, et al. (2020). Population-based study of *Helicobacter pylori* infection and antibiotic resistance in Bhutan. Int J Infect Dis. 97:102–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijid.2020.05.077</u> PMID:32474200
- Dorji T, Wangmo S, Dargay S, Dorji N, Dorjey Y, Pradhan B, et al. (2024). Population-level cancer screening and cancer care in Bhutan, 2020–2023: a review. Lancet Reg Health Southeast Asia. 24:100370. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lansea.2024.100370</u> PMID:38444883
- Pempa DT, Dorji T, Tashi U, Choden J, Dema C, Dorji T (2024). Implementation of a nationwide population-level cancer screening in Bhutan: a programmatic experience. J Cancer Policy. 41:100488. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcpo.2024.100488</u> PMID:38851632
- 11. Ministry of Health (2024). Health Flagship Programme. Guideline. Thimphu, Bhutan: Ministry of Health, Royal Government of Bhutan. Available from: <u>https://moh.gov.bt/?page_id=28370</u>.
- 12. TECHLAB (2024). H. PYLORI CHEK™. Available from: <u>https://www.techlab.com/diagnostics/h-pylori-chek/</u>.
- 13. TECHLAB (2024). H. PYLORI QUIK CHEK™. Available from: <u>https://www.techlab.com/diagnostics/h-pylori-quik-chek/</u>.
- 14. Halland M, Haque R, Langhorst J, Boone JH, Petri WA (2021). Clinical performance of the H. PYLORI QUIK CHEK[™] and H. PYLORI CHEK[™] assays, novel stool antigen tests for diagnosis of *Helicobacter pylori*. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 40(5):1023–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10096-020-04137-7</u> PMID:33389260
- 15. Wasi P (2000). "Triangle that moves the mountain" and health systems reform movement in Thailand. Nonthaburi, Thailand: Health Systems Research Institute.

WHO Western Pacific Region

Summary

- Gastric cancer is still the most common in East Asian regions, including China, Japan, and the Republic of Korea. However, there are vast geographical and ethnic differences in the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection and in gastric cancer incidence within the Western Pacific Region, which affect the efforts on gastric cancer screening in different countries.
- In China, national gastric cancer screening programmes target high-risk regions, and challenges remain to expand the screening programme across the country, because of the huge population and vast territory. Future directions include developing more targeted prevention strategies based on risk prediction and advancing a comprehensive tiered prevention system for gastric cancer in China.
- Population-based gastric cancer screening programmes have been implemented in Japan and the Republic of Korea, which have high background incidence of gastric cancer, by endoscopy or barium studies. Screening with a 2year interval is recommended in individuals aged ≥ 50 years or ≥ 40 years. Clinical trials have also been conducted to determine the role of *H. pylori* eradication in preventing metachronous gastric cancer and reducing risk of gastric cancer in first-degree relatives of patients with gastric cancer as well as at the population level in the Republic of Korea.
- An H. pylori screen-and-treat programme, as an alternative to a populationbased endoscopy screening programme, has been implemented in the Matsu Islands in the East China Sea. The programme was initially a pilot programme, which was subsequently proven to have a positive impact. *H. pylori* eradication was associated with reduced rates of gastric cancer. Experiences gained from this pilot programme contributed to the expansion of the *H. pylori* screen-andtreat programme to the broader populations with varying gastric cancer risk levels.

Aotearoa New Zealand is characterized by stark ethnic differences in *H. pylori* prevalence and gastric cancer incidence; for example, rates are higher in Māori people, Pacific people, and Asian people than in European people. Research into the stratification of the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection in the community by ethnicity, the feasibility of a screen-and-treat strategy, and the level of treatment resistance is expected to support the design of a future screen-and-treat pilot programme in New Zealand.

Chapter 3.7.

Gastric cancer prevention in China

Wen-Qing Li and Wai Keung Leung

Summary

- Gastric cancer is a major health burden in China. Both incidence rates and mortality rates are higher in males and in rural areas, increasing substantially in people aged > 40 years.
- *H. pylori* infection is responsible for three quarters of gastric cancer cases in China, with prevalence rates of 40–50%. Infection rates vary by region, with the highest rates in north-western China, and rates have decreased during recent decades.
- Large-scale randomized trials in high-risk areas of China have demonstrated that *H. pylori* eradication significantly reduces gastric cancer incidence and mortality. The recent Mass Intervention Trial in Linqu, Shandong provides evidence supporting population-based *H. pylori* screening and treatment for gastric cancer prevention in high-risk community settings.
- China has implemented national gastric cancer screening programmes targeting high-risk regions, which have shown effectiveness in reducing incidence and mortality. However, challenges remain in expanding screening to populations in need across the country.
- Future directions include developing more targeted prevention strategies based on risk prediction and advancing a comprehensive tiered prevention system for gastric cancer in China.

3.7.1 Overview of gastric cancer and *H. pylori* infection in China

Epidemiological characteristics and disease burden of gastric cancer

Incidence, mortality, and survival rates

China accounts for the highest proportion of gastric cancer cases globally, with 37% of the worldwide cases. In China, gastric cancer ranks fifth among cancer types in terms of cancer incidence and third in terms of cancer mortality. In 2022, about 358 700 new gastric cancer cases occurred in China, of which 246 600 were in males and 112 100 in females [1]. The gastric cancer incidence rate has decreased in recent years [2–4]. The overall crude incidence rate is 25.4 per 100 000 person-years, and the age-standardized incidence rate is 13.7 per 100 000 person-years. The overall crude mortality rate is 18.4 per 100 000 person-years, and the age-standardized mortality rate is 9.4 per 100 000 person-years [1].

Both incidence rates and mortality rates are more than twice as high in males as in females and are correlated with age, remaining relatively low in people aged < 40 years and increasing substantially in people aged > 40 years [5]. For males, the highest age-specific incidence rate (244.2 per 100 000 person-years) and mortality rate (265.8 per 100 000 person-years) are at ages 80–84 years. For females, the highest age-specific incidence rate (122.1 per 100 000 person-years) is at ages 80–84 years and the highest age-specific mortality rate (117.3 per 100 000 person-years) is at ages > 85 years. Although there was a decreasing trend in the age-standardized incidence rate of gastric cancer in China from 2000 to 2018, it remains one of the top five causes of cancer death in both males and females.

Regional differences are noticeable. The age-standardized incidence and mortality rates for gastric cancer are highest in north-western China and lowest in southern China [6]. In general, both incidence rates and mortality rates are higher in rural areas than in urban areas. In people aged \leq 55 years, there is no substantial difference, but in people aged > 55 years, both incidence rates and mortality rates in rural areas markedly exceed those in urban areas [5].

About 35.2% of patients with gastric cancer in China survive more than 5 years after diagnosis. There is no substantial difference in survival rates between males and females. The 5-year survival rates decrease with increasing age for both males and

females, and there is a trend of sharper decreases in the older age groups, particularly for people aged > 74 years [7].

Economic burden

Gastric cancer imposes a heavy economic burden in China, accounting for about 10% of the total costs for cancer inpatient care in 2017 [5]. Costs for gastric cancer increased from ¥ 5.5 billion in 2008 to ¥ 23.8 billion in 2017, and the expenses were highest for patients with gastric cancer treated in grade 3 general hospitals [8]. In a recent study, the average hospitalization cost per patient was US\$ 19 876, and the out-of-pocket expenses were US\$ 10 605. The major contributors to the cost were radiation therapy (US\$ 2716) and chemotherapy (US\$ 6518), and surgical fees averaged US\$ 724 per case [9].

Burden of H. pylori infection

Prevalence

In China, the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection was estimated to be 40.7–49.4%, based on several reports in recent years [10–13]. The infection rate varies substantially by region. A systematic review of studies in China in 1990–2019 found the highest infection rates in north-western (51.8%), eastern (47.7%), and south-western (46.6%) China. The prevalence of *H. pylori* infection was > 50% in Xizang Autonomous Region (66.4%), Guizhou Province (60.5%), and Gansu Province (57.2%) [10]. A nationwide, multicentre cross-sectional survey conducted in 2023 found similar geographical variations in the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection, with southern provinces generally having lower infection rates than northern and eastern regions [14]. In China, the distribution of household-based (Spearman correlation coefficient r = 0.46; P = 0.01) and individualbased (r = 0.49; P = 0.007) prevalence of *H. pylori* infection in province-level administrative divisions is significantly correlated with the incidence of gastric cancer (Fig. 3.7.1).

In China, the overall prevalence of *H. pylori* infection has decreased significantly during the past few decades. The infection rate was higher in 1983–1994 (58.3%; 95% confidence interval [CI], 50.7–65.5%) compared with the periods 1995–1999 (48.0%; 95% CI, 36.5–59.6%), 2000–2004 (51.1%; 95% CI, 43.7–58.5%), and 2005–2009 (48.7%; 95% CI, 45.6–51.8%), and the infection rate decreased to about 40% in 2015–

2019 [10]. This downward trend was consistent with a large-scale nationwide survey conducted in 2021, which reported an average *H. pylori* infection rate of 40.7% [12], and was also observed when the data were stratified by geographical region and by the diagnostic method used, such as serology or the urea breath test [10].





Fig. 3.7.1. Geographical distribution of gastric cancer incidence and *H. pylori* infection rates in China. The maps illustrate the geographical distribution of the rank of gastric cancer incidence among 23 types of cancer in province-level administrative divisions of China in 2018 (A) and the *H. pylori* infection rates in 2021 (B, C). The individual-based infection rate (B) and the household-based infection rate (C), defined as the percentage of households with *H. pylori* infection among all households, are derived from a large-scale national, family-based, cross-sectional survey conducted in 2021 across all 31 provinces of mainland China. The family-based *H. pylori* infection rates in China are significantly higher than the individual-based infection rates, with an average of 71.2% across 29 of 31 province-level administrative divisions (provinces, autonomous regions, or municipalities) in mainland China, ranging from 50.3% to 85.1%. Of these divisions, 26 had estimated family-based infection rates of > 60%, and 20 had rates of > 70%. Qinghai, Hainan, Gansu, Jiangsu, and Liaoning Provinces had family-based infection rates of > 80%. NA, not available. Compiled from (A) Zheng et al. (2022) [80] and from (B, C) Zhou et al. (2023) [12].

H. pylori infection rates also vary by age and sex. A nationwide survey reported a higher infection rate in adults (43.5%, aged \geq 18 years) than in children and adolescents (20.6%, aged < 18 years) [12]. The average infection rate was slightly higher in males (44.9%; 95% CI, 43.6–46.2%) than in females (42.0%; 95% CI, 40.5–43.5%) [10]. The

difference in infection rates between males and females is seen in both children and adults.

Family cluster infection and intrafamilial transmission

In China, intrafamilial transmission of *H. pylori* infection is a frequent mode of transmission, especially in populations at high risk of gastric cancer [15, 16]. A family cluster infection, which is defined as a household with several family members with *H. pylori* infection, ranging from one to all family members, is a notable feature of *H. pylori* infection in both urban and rural China [12]. The risk factors for a family cluster infection of *H. pylori* are a large family size, multiple generations in a household, crowded conditions, having a large number of siblings, and poor household hygiene [12, 17–19]. The *H. pylori* infection rate in children is substantially influenced by the infection status of their parents [12]. In families in which both parents had *H. pylori* infection, the child infection rate was 34.3%, compared with 13.6% in families in which neither parent had *H. pylori* infection.

3.7.2 Primary prevention of gastric cancer in China

H. pylori infection was responsible for 340 000 new cancer cases in China (agestandardized incidence rate, 15.6 per 100 000 person-years) [20] and accounted for 74.5% of gastric cancer cases nationwide in 2018 [5]. Data from the China Kadoorie Biobank indicated that *H. pylori* infections were responsible for 78.5% of non-cardia gastric cancers and 62.1% of cardia gastric cancers in 2018 [21].

Since the 1990s, substantial efforts have been made to determine the efficacy and effectiveness of *H. pylori* treatment in preventing new cases of gastric cancer in several high-risk areas of China and globally [22, 23]. Nearly half of the available randomized trials were conducted in high-risk areas of mainland China, including Linqu County (Shandong Province; three trials) [24–28], Changle County (Fujian Province) [29, 30], and Yantai County (Shandong Province) [31, 32]. These trials have provided crucial evidence to support *H. pylori* eradication as a major primary prevention strategy for gastric cancer prevention (Table 3.7.1).

Trial	Location	Follow- up period (years)	<i>H. pylori</i> eradication therapy regimen used	Pre- neoplastic lesions at baseline (%)	Eradication rate (%) ^a	Mean age at baseline (years), (range)	Sample size (gastric cancer cases)		Effect estimates
							Treatment	Placebo/control	(95% CI) ^b
Changle Trial [29, 30]	7 villages in Changle County, Fujian	26.5	Omeprazole 20 mg, co- amoxiclav 750 mg, and metronidazole 400 mg	37.7°	83.7	42.2 (35– 65)	817 (21)	813 (35)	EE1: 0.60 (0.35–1.02)
	Province		b.i.d. for 2 weeks						(0.33–0.98)
Intervention trial on <i>H. pylori</i> eradication and COX-2 inhibition [28]	12 villages in Linqu County, Shandong Province	5	Omeprazole 20 mg, amoxicillin 1000 mg, and clarithromycin 500 mg b.i.d. for 1 week	100.0°	63.5	53.0 (35– 64)	258 (3)	255 (1)	EE1: 3.04 (0.32– 28.99)
Yantai Trial [31, 32]	11 villages in Yantai County, Shandong Province	10	Omeprazole 20 mg, amoxicillin 1000 mg, and clarithromycin 500 mg b.i.d. for 1 week	45.5 ^d	55.6	52.0 (35– 75)	276 (2)	276 (7)	EE1: 0.29 (0.06–1.36)
Shandong Intervention Trial	13 villages in Linqu County,	22.3	Omeprazole 20 mg and amoxicillin 1000 mg b.i.d.	98.5°	73.2	46.8 (35– 64)	1130 (41)	1128 (78)	EE1: 0.52 (0.36–0.76)
[24–26]	Shandong Province		for 2 weeks						EE2: 0.48 (0.32–0.71)
Mass Intervention Trial	980 villages in all 10 townships	11.8	Omeprazole 20 mg b.i.d., tetracycline 750 mg t.i.d.,	NR	72.9	42.5 (25– 54)	52 026 (354)	50 304 (399)	EE1: 0.86 (0.74–0.99)
in ∟inqu, Shandong [34, 77]	of Lingu County, Shandong Province		t.i.d., and bismuth citrate 300 mg b.i.d. for 10 days						EE2: 0.87 (0.75–1.00)

Table 3.7.1. Randomized controlled trials of *H. pylori* treatment for gastric cancer prevention in mainland China

b.i.d., 2 times a day; CI, confidence interval; EE1, effect estimate 1; EE2, effect estimate 2; NR, not reported; t.i.d., 3 times a day.

^a True intention-to-treat analysis, with eradication therapy assumed to have failed in all dropouts.
 ^b Effect estimates for the risk of gastric cancer are derived from univariate analyses (effect estimate 1) and, if applicable, from multivariate analyses (effect estimate 2).
 ^c Defined as gastric atrophy, intestinal metaplasia, or dysplasia.
 ^d Defined as gastric atrophy or intestinal metaplasia, calculated from Leung et al. (2004) [31] (n = 435).

H. pylori eradication as a measure for primary prevention: evidence from Linqu, Shandong Province

From 1973 to 1975, a national survey on cancer mortality patterns identified geographical clusters of major malignant tumours and established high-risk areas for gastric cancer, which included Linqu (Shandong Province), Zhuanghe (Liaoning Province), Wuwei (Gansu Province), and Changle (Fujian Province). Linqu County, a rural area in Shandong Province in northern China, has one of the highest gastric cancer mortality rates in the world. This makes it an ideal location to investigate the effects of *H. pylori* eradication on reducing the risk of gastric cancer.

Shandong Intervention Trial

The Shandong Intervention Trial (SIT) (ClinicalTrials.gov ID, NCT00339768), which started in 1995, was one of the first randomized trials in China to evaluate the effects of *H. pylori* eradication on reducing the risk of gastric cancer [24–27, 33]. The trial, which involved 2258 *H. pylori*-seropositive individuals, adopted a 2 × 2 × 2 factorial design to evaluate the effect of *H. pylori* treatment, vitamin supplementation, and garlic supplementation on the prevalence of advanced precancerous gastric lesions. *H. pylori* treatment resulted in statistically significant decreases in the combined prevalence of severe chronic atrophic gastritis, intestinal metaplasia, dysplasia, or gastric cancer after 7.3 years (odds ratio [OR], 0.60; 95% CI, 0.47–0.75). By 2003, *H. pylori* treatment also had favourable effects on the average histopathological severity of gastric lesions and on the progression and regression of precancerous gastric lesions, but it did not reduce the combined prevalence of dysplasia or gastric cancer [24].

The SIT had an extended follow-up period and was the first study to report a statistically significant decrease in gastric cancer incidence after *H. pylori* treatment, at 14.7 years of follow-up (OR, 0.61; 95% CI, 0.38–0.96) [25]. Further follow-up substantiated the persistent benefits on gastric cancer incidence (OR, 0.48; 95% CI, 0.32–0.71) at 22.3 years of follow-up, and this study was the first to observe a marked reduction in gastric cancer mortality (hazard ratio [HR], 0.62; 95% CI, 0.39–0.99) [26]. Further evidence from the SIT has underlined the benefits of *H. pylori* eradication in the prevention of gastric cancer, even in people with severe gastric lesions [26].

Intervention trial on H. pylori eradication and COX-2 inhibition

Between 2002 and 2006, a randomized, placebo-controlled trial was conducted in Linqu to explore the effects of celecoxib, a selective cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) inhibitor, and *H. pylori* eradication treatment on the progression of gastric lesions in a study with 1024 individuals and a 2×2 factorial design [28]. In this study, both *H. pylori* eradication (OR, 2.19; 95% CI, 1.32–3.64) and celecoxib treatment (OR, 1.72; 95% CI, 1.07–2.76) had beneficial effects on the regression of advanced gastric lesions, but there was no synergistic benefit when these two interventions were combined. During the 5-year follow-up period, neither *H. pylori* eradication nor celecoxib treatment was associated with the prevention of gastric cancer.

Community-based cluster-randomized trial of H. pylori eradication with more than 180 000 participants

Although previous randomized trials indicated that *H. pylori* treatment reduces gastric cancer incidence, those trials were conducted on a modest scale and accrued a limited number of events, leaving substantial knowledge gaps. In 2014, IARC noted that the currently available data were insufficient to precisely estimate the overall benefits and potential adverse consequences of *H. pylori* treatment and that large-scale, population-based *H. pylori* treatment programmes were needed. To address these uncertainties, in March 2011 research teams from China and Germany collaborated to initiate the Mass Intervention Trial in Linqu, Shandong (MITS) (Chinese Clinical Trials Registry ID, ChiCTR-TRC-10000979) [34, 35].

The MITS is a cluster-randomized, blinded mass intervention trial that enrolled all 980 villages in all 10 townships of Linqu and included 180 284 eligible people aged 25–54 years [34]. Individuals who were *H. pylori*-positive, as determined using the ¹³C-urea breath test, received either 10-day quadruple anti-*H. pylori* treatment (in 493 villages; 20 mg of omeprazole 2 times a day, 750 mg of tetracycline 3 times a day, 400 mg of metronidazole 3 times a day, and 300 mg of bismuth citrate 2 times a day) or symptom alleviation treatment (in 487 villages; a single dosage of 20 mg of omeprazole and 300 mg of bismuth citrate). In a pilot study in the Linqu population, the combined resistance rate to tetracycline and metronidazole was only 5.3%. *H. pylori*-negative individuals did not receive any treatment.

The overall successful eradication rate was 72.9% (32 325 of 44 329 participants with known results from a second ¹³C-urea breath test) in the participants who had received anti-*H. pylori* treatment, and 15.1% of the participants who had received symptom alleviation treatment were *H. pylori*-negative after treatment. Moderate adverse effects were reported in 1345 participants during the 10-day treatment. Severe intolerable events were not observed during the treatment, and no related adverse events were reported during the follow-up. During the 11.8 years of follow-up (2011–2022) of the 180 284 participants, 1035 incident gastric cancer cases were documented, including 354 cases in people who had received anti-*H. pylori* treatment, 399 cases in people who had received symptom alleviation treatment, and 282 cases in the *H. pylori*-negative group. Most of the gastric cancer cases occurred in non-cardia stomach sites (90.3%; 714 of 791 site-specified cases).

Based on the intention-to-treat analyses, individuals who received anti-*H. pylori* therapy had a statistically significant reduction in gastric cancer incidence compared with individuals who received symptom alleviation treatment (HR, 0.86; 95% CI, 0.74– 0.99). Stronger effects were observed in individuals in whom *H. pylori* infection had been successfully eradicated (HR, 0.81; 95% CI, 0.69–0.96) than in individuals in whom the treatment had failed (HR, 1.02; 95% CI, 0.83–1.26). The beneficial effect of successful eradication was particularly noteworthy for individuals aged 25–45 years. Neither anti-*H. pylori* treatment (HR, 0.89; 95% CI, 0.72–1.11) nor successful eradication (HR, 0.81; 95% CI, 0.63–1.05) was associated with significantly decreased gastric cancer mortality rates during the 11.8 years of follow-up, although the effect estimates appeared similar to those for gastric cancer incidence rates. *H. pylori* eradication did not alter overall mortality or the risk of other individual cancers.

In the subgroup analysis, successful *H. pylori* eradication modestly reduced the cumulative risk of non-cardia gastric cancer (142 cases in 32 325 participants for successful treatment versus 284 cases in 50 304 participants for symptom alleviation treatment; HR, 0.80; 95% CI, 0.66–0.98) but did not reduce the risk of cardia gastric cancer (17 cases in 32 325 participants versus 25 cases in 50 304 participants; HR, 1.11; 95% CI, 0.60–2.05). In the MITS, in individuals aged < 45 years at baseline in whom *H. pylori* infection had been successfully eradicated, there was a reduction of 35% in gastric cancer incidence and a reduction of 43% in gastric cancer mortality.

203

As a large-scale community-based trial, the MITS confirmed the effect of *H. pylori* eradication with anti-*H. pylori* treatment. The comparatively modest protective effect of *H. pylori* treatment may be explained partly by the use of omeprazole and bismuth citrate in the comparison group instead of a pure placebo, the suboptimal (but still relatively successful) eradication rate in the individuals who received anti-*H. pylori* treatment (72.9%), and the relatively short follow-up period. Even so, the MITS provides evidence for implementing gastric cancer prevention by *H. pylori* eradication in the wider population, especially in regions or countries with a high burden of gastric cancer. The MITS strengthens the evidence base supporting the implementation of mass *H. pylori* screening and treatment from early adulthood as a public health policy and clinical practice for gastric cancer prevention in high-risk community settings.

H. pylori eradication as a measure for primary prevention: evidence from other trials

Beyond the findings from Linqu, other randomized trials have been conducted in China to examine the effects of *H. pylori* eradication on the evolution of gastric lesions and the risk of gastric cancer.

Yantai Trial

A randomized trial in Yantai (Shandong Province) investigated the effects of *H. pylori* eradication on the progression of intestinal metaplasia towards gastric cancer [31]. This study involved 587 individuals with *H. pylori* infection. Progression of intestinal metaplasia, which was defined as worsening severity of intestinal metaplasia at 5 years in either the antrum or the corpus or the development of neoplasia, was found in 52.9% of participants, and the progression rate was highest in individuals aged > 45 years with persistent *H. pylori* infection (62.8%) [31]. These findings highlight the protective role of *H. pylori* eradication against the progression of premalignant gastric lesions.

Changle Trial

The Changle Trial was initiated in 1994 and involved 1630 asymptomatic people with *H. pylori* infection. The primary outcome of this trial was the incidence of gastric cancer. Like with the SIT, in the initial 7.5-year follow-up of the Changle Trial no significant difference in gastric cancer incidence was observed between the treatment group and the placebo group, although a significant reduction in gastric cancer incidence was

observed in individuals without premalignant gastric lesions [29]. After 26.5 years of follow-up (1994–2020), the study reported that *H. pylori* eradication treatment did reduce the risk of gastric cancer (HR, 0.57; 95% CI, 0.33–0.98). Unlike the SIT, the Changle Trial only reported beneficial effects of *H. pylori* eradication for individuals without severe gastric mucosal lesions, and it did not observe a significant reduction in gastric cancer mortality risk from *H. pylori* eradication at 26.5 years of follow-up (HR, 0.76; 95% CI, 0.38–1.53) [30].

Health economics of H. pylori screening and eradication

Evidence from China has shown that the screen-and-treat strategy for *H. pylori* eradication reduces gastric cancer incidence and costs, which benefits high-risk populations. Zheng et al. identified that treating *H. pylori* infection was a cost-saving measure, which increased the number of quality-adjusted life years (QALYs) compared with no eradication treatment, particularly for close relatives of patients with gastric cancer [36]. Han et al. demonstrated that *H. pylori* screening followed by eradication treatment significantly decreased both the occurrence of gastric cancer and its associated expenses in asymptomatic individuals [37]. Chen et al. demonstrated that a population-wide approach in China involving screening and treating *H. pylori* infection was more cost-effective and efficient in preventing gastric cancer in the general asymptomatic population (individuals who tested positive for *H. pylori* but who were otherwise healthy) than a strategy without screening [38].

The optimal settings for implementing a screen-and-treat strategy in China have been explored. For example, one study reported that starting eradication treatment at age 20 years could enhance both health outcomes and economic savings [39].

Healthy lifestyles and nutrition supplementation as preventive tactics against gastric cancer

Regional studies in high-risk areas for gastric cancer in China have highlighted the potential role of healthy lifestyles and nutrition supplementation in primary prevention of gastric cancer. Findings from studies in Linqu (Shandong Province), Changle (Fujian Province), and Zhuanghe (Liaoning Province) have shown that dietary factors closely related to gastric cancer risk include high salt intake and consumption of acid-fried pancakes, fish sauce, and salty pork. Dietary habits such as consuming overheated

food and eating too quickly can also increase the risk of gastric cancer by causing physical irritation to the digestive tract mucosa, which promotes carcinogenesis. Cohort studies in Linqu found that a high-salt diet, low intake of fresh vegetables and fruits, and lower serum vitamin C levels were significantly associated with an increased risk of gastric cancer [40–42]. Conversely, consumption of allium vegetables (garlic, onion, leek, etc.) was inversely associated with the risk of gastric cancer, indicating a significant protective effect [43–45]. The 22.3-year extended follow-up of the SIT showed that gastric cancer incidence decreased significantly with vitamin supplementation (OR, 0.64; 95% CI, 0.46–0.91) but not with garlic supplementation (OR, 0.81; 95% CI, 0.57–1.13) [26]. Vitamin supplementation (HR, 0.48; 95% CI, 0.31–0.75) and garlic supplementation (HR, 0.66; 95% CI, 0.43–1.00) also significantly reduced gastric cancer mortality [26]. Lifestyle factors may also modify the effects of nutrition supplementation on gastric cancer risk [25, 46].

The Nutrition Intervention Trial in Linxian County (Henan Province), which is a highrisk area for oesophageal cancer, showed that supplementation with the antioxidant combination of selenium, vitamin E, and β -carotene significantly reduced gastric cancer mortality (relative risk [RR], 0.79; 95% CI, 0.64–0.99) [47]. A 10-year post-trial follow-up confirmed that these beneficial effects persisted for up to a decade (HR, 0.89; 95% CI, 0.79–1.00) [48].

3.7.3 Secondary prevention of gastric cancer in China

Major population-based national gastric cancer screening programmes

Since the 1980s, there have been sporadic gastric cancer screening programmes in China, led by various research teams. For example, endoscopic screening in Linqu (Shandong Province) in 1989–1990, which involved 3433 individuals, revealed the pervasive presence of precancerous gastric lesions and provided prospective follow-up data that substantiated the progression of these lesions to gastric cancer [49–52]. The Chinese government has promoted nationwide-level secondary prevention of gastric cancer, beginning with the Outline of Chinese Cancer Program (2004–2010). Subsequently, three major national programmes for gastric cancer screening have been conducted, which provide free gastric cancer screening for eligible residents: the Upper Gastrointestinal Cancer Early Detection (UGCED) programme for rural residents [53],

the Cancer Screening Program in Urban China (CanSPUC), and the Huai River Basin Cancer Early Diagnosis and Treatment Project (Table 3.7.2) [54, 55].

Programme	Initiation year	Target population	Coverage	Achievements
Upper Gastrointestinal Cancer Early Detection programme for rural residents	2005	Individuals aged 40– 69 years in selected high-risk rural areas	Organized screening in 249 counties or districts in 31 provinces, autonomous regions, or municipalities in mainland China, and opportunistic screening in 748 hospitals in 31 provinces, autonomous regions, or municipalities in mainland China	 Screened more than 2.6 million people; early diagnosis rate of 80% Decreased gastric cancer incidence rates by 31% and mortality rates by 67% (based on evidence from Linqu, Shandong)
Huai River Basin Cancer Early Diagnosis and Treatment Project	2007	High-risk individuals aged 45–74 years, identified by questionnaire-based risk assessment	38 counties or districts in Henan, Jiangsu, Anhui, and Shandong Provinces in China	 Achieved high early diagnosis rates (70.33– 76.55%) and treatment rates (87.89–96.41%) for upper gastrointestinal cancers Decreased age- standardized gastric cancer mortality rates from 32.1 to 16.5 per 100 000 (2008–2018)
Cancer Screening Programme in Urban China	2012	High-risk individuals aged 45–74 years, identified by questionnaire-based risk assessment or pre-screening rapid test for <i>H. pylori</i>	75 cities in 30 provinces, autonomous regions, or municipalities in mainland China	 Completed risk assessments for nearly 4.5 million people and clinical screening for 1 million people Included 143 000 people undergoing endoscopic screening by 2020, and detected 8953 cases (6.27%) of precancerous lesions and 290 cases (0.20%) of upper gastrointestinal cancers

Table 3.7.2. Major population-based	national gastric cancer	[·] screening programmes i	n China
---	-------------------------	-------------------------------------	---------

Source: Adapted from Xia et al. (2023) [54]. © 2023 Xia et al. Published by Elsevier Ltd. Article available under the Creative Commons CC-BY-NC-ND 4.0.

Current parameters and procedures of gastric cancer screening programmes

Unlike Japan and the Republic of Korea, which have established nationwide screening for gastric cancer, China's national programmes have primarily targeted high-risk regions, with population selection typically relying on cluster sampling in each region. Recent guidelines from the National Cancer Center of China recommend a starting age of 45 years and a stopping age of 74 years for gastric cancer screening [56]. Although the CanSPUC and Huai River programmes follow these age recommendations, the UGCED programme empirically targets individuals aged 40–69 years in most areas.

The Technical Plan for Early Diagnosis and Treatment of Cancer, published in 2011 [57], recommends two screening approaches for gastric cancer in China. The first approach, used before 2012, involved preliminary screening using serum pepsinogen testing and questionnaire surveys, followed by endoscopic screening for high-risk individuals aged 40–69 years. The second approach, adopted after 2012, involves direct gastro-endoscopy screening and tissue biopsy for residents aged 40–69 years in selected high-risk areas. The CanSPUC and Huai River programmes also use questionnaire surveys for risk assessments, which incorporated an individual's residential history in high-risk areas, personal history of precancerous lesions, family history, exposure to related risk factors, and *H. pylori* infection status.

Recommendations for screening frequency have evolved over time. According to the Technical Plan published in 2011, individuals with chronic atrophic gastritis, severe intestinal metaplasia, and low-grade intraepithelial neoplasia (LGIN) should be followed up with annual gastro-endoscopy. The Technical Plan for Screening and Early Diagnosis and Treatment of Upper Gastrointestinal Cancer (trial version 2020) [58] suggests that individuals with severe chronic atrophic gastritis, severe intestinal metaplasia, and LGIN identified during endoscopy screenings should have follow-up endoscopy at least once every 3 years. The latest guideline issued by the National Health Commission in 2024 [59] recommends endoscopy every 3 years for patients with atrophic gastritis or intestinal metaplasia that is limited to the gastric antrum or body, and annually if atrophy involves the gastric fundus or the entire stomach. For LGIN, endoscopy is recommended annually, and for high-grade intraepithelial neoplasia it is recommended every 3–6 months.

Assessment of endoscopic screening for gastric cancer: benefits and cost– effectiveness

Gastric cancer screening programmes in China have been demonstrated to be effective in reducing gastric cancer incidence and mortality. A 10-year follow-up study showed that endoscopic screening significantly reduced the incidence of non-cardia invasive gastric cancer (RR, 0.66; 95% CI, 0.59–0.73) and the mortality from non-cardia gastric cancer (RR, 0.38; 95% CI, 0.33–0.45) and cardia invasive gastric cancer (RR, 0.58; 95% CI, 0.49–0.68) [60]. Another prospective study, in Linqu, also reported significant decreases in the incidence of and mortality from invasive gastric cancer, and it indicated that repeated endoscopy further reduced gastric cancer-specific mortality, with 5-year survival rates of 31.9% in the unscreened group, 73.4% in the group with single screening, and 90.2% in the group with repeated screening [61].

Balancing the costs and benefits of gastric cancer screening is essential to guide future government actions and policy-making. In high-risk areas of China, the incremental cost–effectiveness ratio (ICER) for various upper gastrointestinal cancer screening strategies ranged from US\$ 1343 to US\$ 3035 per QALY, compared with no screening over a lifetime [62]. A personalized screening strategy has been shown to be cost-effective for high-risk population subgroups [63]. The low uptake rate of upper gastrointestinal cancer screening can substantially reduce the benefits of endoscopic screening [64], and switching to endoscopy with sedation may increase participation [65].

3.7.4 Challenges and future directions

China still faces major challenges in prevention of gastric cancer, which remains one of the major threats to public health. Because *H. pylori* infection is the most established risk factor for gastric cancer, the efficacy and effectiveness of *H. pylori* eradication have been proven for the primary prevention of gastric cancer based on data from large intervention trials in high-risk areas. Secondary prevention for early detection and early diagnosis is widely accepted as the primary focus of current gastric cancer prevention efforts of both the local and central governments in China. Despite the progress that has been made in both primary and secondary prevention of gastric cancer, there are still knowledge gaps and challenges that need to be addressed. These challenges present opportunities for further advancement in these areas.

Primary prevention

Despite the recognized beneficial effect of *H. pylori* treatment for gastric cancer prevention, the implementation of the *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategy, which focuses on detecting the presence of *H. pylori* infection and subsequently eradicating it when

detected, is mostly limited to certain symptomatic individuals or those with personal health concerns. There has been international interest in using *H. pylori* testing to screen asymptomatic individuals for gastric cancer prevention, but these practices are still relatively infrequent.

Systemic consequences after H. pylori eradication treatment

Although *H. pylori* eradication is proven to prevent gastric cancer and may benefit dyspepsia, peptic ulcer disease, and gastric mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue (MALT) lymphoma, the broader health implications remain unclear. Reports from the SIT and the MITS have addressed concerns about *H. pylori* eradication inducing major individual cancers. Further studies are needed to understand its effect on oesophageal adenocarcinoma, Barrett oesophagus, and gastro-oesophageal reflux, although a recent population-based multinational cohort study did not lend support to the possibility of an increased risk of oesophageal adenocarcinoma after *H. pylori* eradication treatment [66]. In addition, potential benefits of *H. pylori* eradication, such as colorectal cancer prevention and improvements in the condition of children with hypochlorhydria, require investigation. *H. pylori* treatment has also been shown to alter gut microbiota and metabolomic profiles, with complex implications. Despite potential benefits, unaddressed concerns about adverse effects hinder the broader application of *H. pylori* eradication treatment, highlighting the need for a balanced approach to consider the unintended consequences of this treatment [67].

Antibiotic resistance

Antibiotic resistance is a burden for health care in China and is a major cause of *H. pylori* eradication failure. A multiregion study in China found high resistance rates to metronidazole (67.2%), clarithromycin (37.5%), levofloxacin (33.5%), rifampicin (14.2%), amoxicillin (6.8%), and tetracycline (3.5%) [68]. Resistance ranged from monoresistance (34.2%) to sextuple resistance (0.3%) and was influenced by factors such as sex, age, and the presence of peptic ulcer [68]. A recent nationwide survey showed resistance rates of 50.8% to clarithromycin and of 47.2% to levofloxacin, with higher rates in women and people aged 40–60 years [14]. The high resistance rates to metronidazole, clarithromycin, and levofloxacin could be due to the increasing consumption of these antibiotics and cross-resistance to the corresponding antibiotics. In China, macrolides ranked third and quinolones ranked fourth for use of antibiotics

during 2018–2020 [69]. Although there are no definitive data on imidazole use, the longterm use of metronidazole since its introduction to China in the 1960s for treating anaerobic infections may have contributed to the high resistance rates observed today [70]. This extensive use has made metronidazole resistance particularly prevalent in China. Despite these challenges, the MITS reported a 72.9% elimination rate using tetracycline and metronidazole, with a combined resistance rate of 5.3%.

There are notable geographical variations in resistance rates in China. Northern provinces, such as Heilongjiang and Jilin, have high clarithromycin resistance rates (> 77.0%), and southern provinces, such as Hunan, have lower rates (27.8%) [14]. Levofloxacin resistance rates are higher in eastern coastal provinces and lower in southern regions [14]. These regional variations may be linked to differences in socioeconomic conditions, hygiene, availability of health care, and use of antibiotics [14].

Expert consensus and national guidelines on H. pylori *treatment for gastric cancer prevention*

Since 2017, there have been several expert consensus reports on H. pylori infection control in China, which generally highlight that the *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategy is effective in reducing gastric cancer risk by slowing progression of inflammation. Key guidelines and initiatives from 2021–2023 have made recommendations for H. pylori screening and population intervention strategies (Table 3.7.3). A consensus report in 2021 introduced a novel family-based H. pylori infection control and management strategy [11]. In July 2023, the Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention issued a white paper on the prevention and control of *H. pylori* infection in China [71], which emphasizes population intervention strategies as the most effective national approach to reduce the disease burden of *H. pylori* infection and suggests an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategy in high-risk areas and a test-and-treat strategy in low-risk areas. The H. pylori screen-and-treat strategy involves proactively screening the predominantly healthy general population for *H. pylori* infection, followed by offering eradication treatment to individuals who test positive. In contrast, the test-and-treat approach is more targeted, involving testing individuals for the presence of H. pylori based on clinical suspicion or symptoms, and then providing eradication therapy only when *H. pylori* is detected. The white paper also advocates for establishing national

public health insurance funds to support population interventions for *H. pylori* infection as a primary preventive measure against gastric cancer.

Year	Guidelines or consensus report [reference]	Lead organization	Key points
2023	White paper on the prevention and control of <i>H. pylori</i> infection in China [71]	Institute of Infectious Disease Control and Prevention, Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention	Advocates for population intervention strategies, including a screen-and-treat strategy in high-risk areas and a test-and- treat strategy in low-risk areas, with a focus on national public health insurance support and integration into the Healthy China 2030 initiative
2022	Chinese guideline for the screening, early detection, and early treatment of gastric cancer [56]	National Cancer Center	Recommends screening for <i>H. pylori</i> infection in high-prevalence areas using the urea breath test as the primary method, supplemented by serum antibody and stool antigen testing
2021	Chinese consensus report on family-based <i>H. pylori</i> infection control and management [11]	Changhai Hospital of Naval Medical University	Introduces family-based <i>H. pylori</i> infection control to prevent intrafamilial transmission and reduce medical expenses
2019	Consensus report on eradication of <i>H. pylori</i> and prevention and control of gastric cancer in China [13]	Changhai Hospital of Naval Medical University	Supports the <i>H. pylori</i> eradication strategy for gastric cancer prevention
2017	Consensus report on chronic gastritis in China [78]	Shanghai Institute of Digestive Disease	Highlights the importance of managing chronic gastritis to prevent progression to gastric cancer
2017	Fifth Chinese national consensus report on the management of <i>H. pylori</i> infection [79]	Chinese Study Group on <i>Helicobacter pylori</i> and Peptic Ulcer, Chinese Society of Gastroenterology	Emphasizes the effectiveness of an <i>H. pylori</i> screen-and-treat strategy to reduce gastric cancer risk by slowing progression of inflammation

Table 3.7.3. Recent expert consensus and national guidelines on *H. pylori* treatment for gastric cancer prevention in China

Advancing precision primary prevention

The development of gastric cancer involves complex interactions between genetic susceptibility, environmental factors, and *H. pylori* infection. Most individuals with *H. pylori* infection do not develop gastric cancer, and even with successful eradication, some individuals develop cancer later [26]. This highlights the need for a targeted test-and-treat approach that focuses on populations at higher risk who may benefit most from early intervention. Cohort studies in high-risk areas of China have identified several risk factors for gastric cancer, such as *H. pylori* infection, poor dietary habits, and

unhealthy lifestyles. However, these findings have not yet been fully integrated into a comprehensive risk prediction framework. A nationwide, multicentre research initiative is needed to standardize information collection and follow-up, provide large-scale data to track the progression of gastric lesions, and identify target populations for primary prevention. Host characteristics, including genetic factors, should be considered to improve risk prediction and the effectiveness of prevention. Genetic factors have shown interactions with environmental factors and influence the efficacy of prevention. Jin et al. developed a polygenic risk score for gastric cancer in more than 21 000 Han Chinese individuals and showed that a healthy lifestyle significantly reduced cancer risk for individuals with high genetic risk [72]. A recent study further demonstrated that *H. pylori* treatment particularly benefited individuals with high genetic risk, suggesting that primary prevention be tailored for more effective outcomes [73].

Family-based H. pylori infection control

It is important to clarify whether *H. pylori* eradication, the most important measure for the primary prevention of gastric cancer, would be particularly effective in specific environmentally exposed subgroups [46]. Population-level research in China has demonstrated the effectiveness and efficacy of *H. pylori* eradication in preventing gastric cancer in high-risk areas. Families with shared lifestyles should be studied when defining exposed subgroups for intervention, because family cluster infection and intrafamilial transmission are features of *H. pylori* infection [74]. The novel concept of whole family-based *H. pylori* infection control and management has been reported as being effective and convenient in clinical practice because of better engagement of family members, higher eradication rates, lower reinfection rates, and cost–effectiveness [16, 74]. This approach has been recommended by the Chinese Study Group on *Helicobacter pylori* and Peptic Ulcer of the Chinese Society of Gastroenterology [11].

Secondary prevention

The Chinese government has made substantial efforts to implement nationwide cancer screening. However, endoscopic screening for the entire eligible population in China is unrealistic because of the large population size, lack of trained endoscopists and pathologists, inadequate facilities, socioeconomic disparities, and high costs. Although government-organized gastric cancer screening programmes are free, the current annual investment of less than US\$ 0.1 billion for five cancer screening programmes (for lung cancer, liver cancer, gastric cancer, colorectal cancer, and oesophageal cancer) is insufficient to cover the entire population. In addition, disparities in health-care access and the invasiveness of endoscopic examinations lead to low uptake rates and non-compliance, reducing the effectiveness of these programmes [53]. Efforts are needed to make screening programmes more affordable and accessible to underserved populations and to improve the quality of screening services. Incorporating evidence from well-designed studies for regular updates of screening programmes, including area selection, optimal ages, and screening intervals, is essential. This evidence-based approach will ensure better resource allocation and maximize the social and economic benefits. Currently, national organized gastric cancer screening covers only a fraction of eligible individuals in high-risk areas, with suboptimal early detection rates and substantial disparities in diagnosis and treatment. Opportunistic screening, conducted primarily by primary medical institutions, can complement current population-based programmes in high-risk rural and urban settings. Opportunistic screening is key to align with the goals of the Healthy China 2030 framework, which emphasizes reducing premature mortality from major chronic diseases through enhanced early diagnosis rates. Given the current constraints of insufficient resources and professional capacity, opportunistic screening presents a sustainable way of expanding gastric cancer screening to a wider population in China [75]. This approach, which is already part of the UGCED programme for rural residents, involves recommendations by health-care providers during routine consultations or self-referral by individuals. In 2021, opportunistic screening led to the detection of 56 677 cases of upper gastrointestinal cancer in 2.6 million screened individuals, with a detection rate of 2.2% [53].

The recent funding announcement by the National Health Commission encourages exploring sequential screening strategies for gastric cancer. This involves identifying new biomarkers for gastric mucosal lesion progression and integrating these with existing risk assessments to prioritize screening resources effectively [53, 72, 73, 76]. Translating these findings into practical screening tools, large-scale prospective studies, and cost–effectiveness evaluations is essential.

A comprehensive tiered prevention and control system for gastric cancer

The crucial roles of primary and secondary prevention for gastric cancer necessitate future efforts to establish a tiered prevention framework that is tailored to China's national context and is amenable to broad application. By targeting high-risk populations and subgroups who may benefit most from primary prevention, the framework would be able to delineate individual risk profiles subsequent to primary interventions. For people who would not evidently benefit from primary prevention, a refined secondary prevention strategy, informed by early diagnosis models for gastric cancer, would be provided. To further optimize the key components of the framework, an in-depth health economic evaluation combined with risk prediction and intervention efficacy assessment is needed. The framework is expected to serve as a cornerstone for enhancing government-led precision gastric cancer prevention protocols, informing health policy formulation and rational allocation of health-care resources. Such endeavours would pave the way for a scientifically grounded, advanced approach to gastric cancer prevention, thereby elevating the national response to this public health challenge.

3.7.5 Conclusions

Gastric cancer remains a major public health challenge in China, and *H. pylori* infection is a causal factor. Although H. pylori eradication has shown promising results in reducing gastric cancer incidence and mortality, its implementation at the national level should be scientifically devised, efficiently allocating medical resources, and pursued in a phased manner, starting with high-incidence areas before expanding to lowerincidence populations. Establishing national public health insurance funds for *H. pylori* interventions in high-risk areas embodies a governmental tactic to nurture gastric cancer prevention efforts. National cancer screening programmes in China have also been effective in early detection and reducing risks. However, challenges remain in fully implementing cancer prevention strategies nationwide, such as mobilizing investment, enhancing health awareness, boosting participation rates, and ensuring quality to prevent harms and overdiagnosis. Future directions for gastric cancer prevention in China should focus on addressing these knowledge gaps and improving implementation. This may encompass expanding research within the complex interplay of gastric cancer etiology, refining risk prediction models, and harnessing digital health technologies for more personalized and accessible prevention strategies.
China is committed to combating cancer, as outlined in the Healthy China Action – Implementation Plan for Cancer Prevention and Control (2023–2030). This plan, developed under the Healthy China Initiative and the Healthy China 2030 framework, emphasizes multidepartment collaboration, proactive prevention, and innovative cancer control models. Future endeavours encompass controlling cancer risk factors, enhancing prevention services, and improving access to anti-cancer medications, with the aim of reducing cancer incidence and mortality rates and increasing the 5-year cancer survival rate to 46.6% by 2030. Through multicentre and multidisciplinary efforts, China strives to achieve these goals and contribute to the global fight against cancer, ensuring better health outcomes for future generations.

Acknowledgements

The authors thank Zong-Chao Liu, Peking University Cancer Hospital, for his contribution to the preparation of this chapter.

References

- Bray F, Laversanne M, Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Soerjomataram I, et al. (2024). Global cancer statistics 2022: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin. 74(3):229–63. <u>https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21834</u> PMID:38572751
- Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A (2018). Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin. 68(6):394–424. <u>https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21492</u> PMID:30207593
- Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, et al. (2021). Global cancer statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin. 71(3):209–49. <u>https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21660</u> PMID:33538338
- 4. Arnold M, Ferlay J, van Berge Henegouwen MI, Soerjomataram I (2020). Global burden of oesophageal and gastric cancer by histology and subsite in 2018. Gut. 69(9):1564–71. https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2020-321600 PMID:32606208
- 5. Yan X, Lei L, Li H, Cao M, Yang F, He S, et al. (2023). Stomach cancer burden in China: epidemiology and prevention. Chin J Cancer Res. 35(2):81–91. <u>https://doi.org/10.21147/j.issn.1000-9604.2023.02.01 PMID:37180831</u>
- 6. He J, Wei W (2022). China cancer registry annual report. Beijing, China: People's Medical Publishing House.
- Zeng H, Zheng R, Sun K, Zhou M, Wang S, Li L, et al. (2024). Cancer survival statistics in China 2019– 2021: a multicenter, population-based study. J Natl Cancer Cent. 4(3):203–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jncc.2024.06.005</u> PMID:39281724
- Cai Y, Chen W, Wang X, Xia X, Cui X, Wu S, et al. (2021). Contemporary trends on expenditure of hospital care on total cancer and its subtypes in China during 2008–2017. Chin J Cancer Res. 33(5):627–36. <u>https://doi.org/10.21147/j.issn.1000-9604.2021.05.09</u> PMID:34815636
- Li F, Hu Y, Guo C, Lei L, Li F, Liu M, et al. (2022). Economic burden conferred by population-level cancer screening on resource-limited communities: lessons from the ESECC trial. Front Oncol. 12:849368. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2022.849368 PMID:35387122</u>
- Ren S, Cai P, Liu Y, Wang T, Zhang Y, Li Q, et al. (2022). Prevalence of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in China: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 37(3):464–70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jgh.15751</u> PMID:34862656
- Ding SZ, Du YQ, Lu H, Wang W-H, Cheng H, Chen S-Y, et al.; National Clinical Research Center for Digestive Diseases (Shanghai), Gastrointestinal Early Cancer Prevention & Treatment Alliance of China (GECA), Helicobacter pylori Study Group of Chinese Society of Gastroenterology, and Chinese Alliance for Helicobacter pylori Study (2022). Chinese consensus report on family-based *Helicobacter pylori* infection control and management (2021 edition). Gut. 71(2):238–53. https://doi.org/10.1136/gutinl-2021-325630 PMID:34836916
- Zhou XZ, Lyu NH, Zhu HY, Cai Q-C, Kong X-Y, Xie P, et al.; National Clinical Research Center for Digestive Diseases (Shanghai), Gastrointestinal Early Cancer Prevention & Treatment Alliance of China (GECA), Helicobacter pylori Study Group of Chinese Society of Gastroenterology and Chinese Alliance for Helicobacter pylori Study (2023). Large-scale, national, family-based epidemiological study on *Helicobacter pylori* infection in China: the time to change practice for related disease prevention. Gut. 72(5):855–69. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2022-328965</u> PMID:36690433
- Du Y, Zhu H, Liu J, Li J, Chang X, Zhou L, et al. (2020). Consensus on eradication of *Helicobacter pylori* and prevention and control of gastric cancer in China (2019, Shanghai). J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 35(4):624–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jgh.14947</u> <u>PMID:31788864</u>
- 14. Wang L, Li Z, Tay CY, Marshall BJ, Gu B, Tian Y, et al.; Guangdong Center for Quality Control of Clinical Gene Testing and Study Group of Chinese Helicobacter pylori Infection and Antibiotic Resistance Rates Mapping Project (CHINAR-MAP) (2024). Multicentre, cross-sectional surveillance of *Helicobacter pylori* prevalence and antibiotic resistance to clarithromycin and levofloxacin in urban China using the string test coupled with quantitative PCR. Lancet Microbe. 5(6):e512–3. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2666-5247(24)00027-2 PMID:38437848</u>
- Ma JL, You WC, Gail MH, Zhang L, Blot WJ, Chang YS, et al. (1998). *Helicobacter pylori* infection and mode of transmission in a population at high risk of stomach cancer. Int J Epidemiol. 27(4):570–3. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/27.4.570 PMID:9758108</u>

- Zhao JB, Yuan L, Yu XC, Shao Q-Q, Ma J, Yu M, et al. (2021). Whole family-based *Helicobacter pylori* eradication is a superior strategy to single-infected patient treatment approach: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Helicobacter. 26(3):e12793. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.12793</u> PMID:33675089
- 17. Perry S, de la Luz Sanchez M, Yang S, Haggerty TD, Hurst P, Perez-Perez G, et al. (2006). Gastroenteritis and transmission of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in households. Emerg Infect Dis. 12(11):1701–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1211.060086</u> PMID:17283620
- Weyermann M, Rothenbacher D, Brenner H (2009). Acquisition of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in early childhood: independent contributions of infected mothers, fathers, and siblings. Am J Gastroenterol. 104(1):182–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ajg.2008.61</u> PMID:19098867
- Dominici P, Bellentani S, Di Biase AR, Saccoccio G, Le Rose A, Masutti F, et al. (1999). Familial clustering of *Helicobacter pylori* infection: population based study. BMJ. 319(7209):537–40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.319.7209.537</u> PMID:10463891
- 20. de Martel C, Georges D, Bray F, Ferlay J, Clifford GM (2020). Global burden of cancer attributable to infections in 2018: a worldwide incidence analysis. Lancet Glob Health. 8(2):e180–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(19)30488-7 PMID:31862245
- Yang L, Kartsonaki C, Yao P, de Martel C, Plummer M, Chapman D, et al.; China Kadoorie Biobank Collaborative Group (2021). The relative and attributable risks of cardia and non-cardia gastric cancer associated with *Helicobacter pylori* infection in China: a case-cohort study. Lancet Public Health. 6(12):e888–96. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-2667(21)00164-X</u> <u>PMID:34838195</u>
- 22. Ford AC, Yuan Y, Moayyedi P (2020). *Helicobacter pylori* eradication therapy to prevent gastric cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis. Gut. 69(12):2113–21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2020-320839 PMID:32205420</u>
- Ford AC, Yuan Y, Moayyedi P (2022). Long-term impact of *Helicobacter pylori* eradication therapy on gastric cancer incidence and mortality in healthy infected individuals: a meta-analysis beyond 10 years of follow-up. Gastroenterology. 163(3):754–756.e1. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2022.05.027</u> PMID:35598628
- You WC, Brown LM, Zhang L, Li JY, Jin ML, Chang YS, et al. (2006). Randomized double-blind factorial trial of three treatments to reduce the prevalence of precancerous gastric lesions. J Natl Cancer Inst. 98(14):974–83. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djj264</u> <u>PMID:16849680</u>
- Ma JL, Zhang L, Brown LM, Li J-Y, Shen L, Pan K-F, et al. (2012). Fifteen-year effects of *Helicobacter pylori*, garlic, and vitamin treatments on gastric cancer incidence and mortality. J Natl Cancer Inst. 104(6):488–92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djs003</u> PMID:22271764
- Li WQ, Zhang JY, Ma JL, Li Z-X, Zhang L, Zhang Y, et al. (2019). Effects of *Helicobacter pylori* treatment and vitamin and garlic supplementation on gastric cancer incidence and mortality: follow-up of a randomized intervention trial. BMJ. 366:I5016. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.I5016</u> PMID:31511230
- Li WQ, Ma JL, Zhang L, Brown LM, Li J-Y, Shen L, et al. (2014). Effects of *Helicobacter pylori* treatment on gastric cancer incidence and mortality in subgroups. J Natl Cancer Inst. 106(7):dju116. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/dju116</u> PMID:24925350
- Wong BC, Zhang L, Ma JL, Pan KF, Li JY, Shen L, et al. (2012). Effects of selective COX-2 inhibitor and *Helicobacter pylori* eradication on precancerous gastric lesions. Gut. 61(6):812–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2011-300154</u> PMID:21917649
- 29. Wong BC, Lam SK, Wong WM, Chen JS, Zheng TT, Feng RE, et al.; China Gastric Cancer Study Group (2004). *Helicobacter pylori* eradication to prevent gastric cancer in a high-risk region of China: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 291(2):187–94. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.291.2.187</u> PMID:14722144
- 30. Yan L, Chen Y, Chen F, Tao T, Hu Z, Wang J, et al. (2022). Effect of *Helicobacter pylori* eradication on gastric cancer prevention: updated report from a randomized controlled trial with 26.5 years of follow-up. Gastroenterology. 163(1):154–162.e3. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2022.03.039</u>
 <u>PMID:35364066</u>
- Leung WK, Lin SR, Ching JY, To KF, Ng EK, Chan FK, et al. (2004). Factors predicting progression of gastric intestinal metaplasia: results of a randomised trial on *Helicobacter pylori* eradication. Gut. 53(9):1244–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.2003.034629</u> <u>PMID:15306578</u>
- 32. Zhou L, Lin S, Ding S, Huang X, Jin Z, Cui R, et al. (2014). Relationship of *Helicobacter pylori* eradication with gastric cancer and gastric mucosal histological changes: a 10-year follow-up study. Chin Med J (Engl). 127(8):1454–8. <u>PMID:24762588</u>
- 33. Gail MH, You WC, Chang YS, Zhang L, Blot WJ, Brown LM, et al. (1998). Factorial trial of three interventions to reduce the progression of precancerous gastric lesions in Shandong, China: design

issues and initial data. Control Clin Trials. 19(4):352–69. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0197-</u>2456(98)00016-6 PMID:9683311

- 34. Pan KF, Zhang L, Gerhard M, Ma JL, Liu WD, Ulm K, et al. (2016). A large randomised controlled intervention trial to prevent gastric cancer by eradication of *Helicobacter pylori* in Linqu County, China: baseline results and factors affecting the eradication. Gut. 65(1):9–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2015-309197 PMID:25986943</u>
- 35. Pan KF, Li WQ, Zhang L, Liu W-D, Ma J-L, Zhang Y, et al. (2024). Gastric cancer prevention by community eradication of *Helicobacter pylori*: a cluster-randomized controlled trial. Nat Med. 30(11):3250–60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-024-03153-w PMID:39079993</u>
- Zheng H, Xie Q, Zhan M, Jin C, Li Q (2021). Cost-effectiveness analysis of *Helicobacter pylori* eradication therapy in first-degree relatives of patients with gastric cancer. Patient Prefer Adherence. 15:77–85. <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/PPA.S286860</u> <u>PMID:33519193</u>
- 37. Han Y, Yan T, Ma H, Yao X, Lu C, Li Y, et al. (2020). Cost-effectiveness analysis of *Helicobacter pylori* eradication therapy for prevention of gastric cancer: a Markov model. Dig Dis Sci. 65(6):1679–88. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10620-019-05910-1</u> PMID:31673902
- Chen Q, Liang X, Long X, Yu L, Liu W, Lu H (2019). Cost-effectiveness analysis of screen-and-treat strategy in asymptomatic Chinese for preventing *Helicobacter pylori*-associated diseases. Helicobacter. 24(2):e12563. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.12563</u> <u>PMID:30672082</u>
- Yeh JM, Kuntz KM, Ezzati M, Goldie SJ (2009). Exploring the cost-effectiveness of *Helicobacter pylori* screening to prevent gastric cancer in China in anticipation of clinical trial results. Int J Cancer. 124(1):157–66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.23864</u> PMID:18823009
- 40. You WC, Blot WJ, Chang YS, Ershow AG, Yang ZT, An Q, et al. (1988). Diet and high risk of stomach cancer in Shandong, China. Cancer Res. 48(12):3518–23. <u>PMID:3370645</u>
- You WC, Zhang L, Gail MH, Chang YS, Liu WD, Ma JL, et al. (2000). Gastric dysplasia and gastric cancer: *Helicobacter pylori*, serum vitamin C, and other risk factors. J Natl Cancer Inst. 92(19):1607–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/92.19.1607</u> PMID:11018097
- 42. Zhang L, Blot WJ, You WC, Chang Y-S, Liu X-Q, Kneller RW, et al. (1994). Serum micronutrients in relation to pre-cancerous gastric lesions. Int J Cancer. 56(5):650–4. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.2910560508 PMID:8314341
- 43. You WC, Blot WJ, Chang YS, Ershow A, Yang ZT, An Q, et al. (1989). Allium vegetables and reduced risk of stomach cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst. 81(2):162–4. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/81.2.162</u> PMID:2909758
- 44. You WC, Zhang L, Gail MH, Ma JL, Chang YS, Blot WJ, et al. (1998). *Helicobacter pylori* infection, garlic intake and precancerous lesions in a Chinese population at low risk of gastric cancer. Int J Epidemiol. 27(6):941–4. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/27.6.941</u> PMID:10024185
- 45. Su XQ, Yin ZY, Jin QY, Liu Z-C, Han X, Hu Z-Q, et al. (2023). Allium vegetable intake associated with the risk of incident gastric cancer: a continuous follow-up study of a randomized intervention trial. Am J Clin Nutr. 117(1):22–32. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajcnut.2022.10.017</u> PMID:36789941
- 46. Guo Y, Li ZX, Zhang JY, Ma J-L, Zhang L, Zhang Y, et al. (2020). Association between lifestyle factors, vitamin and garlic supplementation, and gastric cancer outcomes: a secondary analysis of a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Netw Open. 3(6):e206628. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.6628 PMID:32589229
- Blot WJ, Li JY, Taylor PR, Guo W, Dawsey S, Wang G-Q, et al. (1993). Nutrition intervention trials in Linxian, China: supplementation with specific vitamin/mineral combinations, cancer incidence, and disease-specific mortality in the general population. J Natl Cancer Inst. 85(18):1483–92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/85.18.1483</u> PMID:8360931
- 48. Qiao YL, Dawsey SM, Kamangar F, Fan J-H, Abnet CC, Sun X-D, et al. (2009). Total and cancer mortality after supplementation with vitamins and minerals: follow-up of the Linxian General Population Nutrition Intervention Trial. J Natl Cancer Inst. 101(7):507–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djp037</u> <u>PMID:19318634</u>
- 49. You WC, Blot WJ, Li JY, Chang YS, Jin ML, Kneller R, et al. (1993). Precancerous gastric lesions in a population at high risk of stomach cancer. Cancer Res. 53(6):1317–21. <u>PMID:8443811</u>
- You WC, Zhang L, Gail MH, Li JY, Chang YS, Blot WJ, et al. (1998). Precancerous lesions in two counties of China with contrasting gastric cancer risk. Int J Epidemiol. 27(6):945–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/27.6.945</u> PMID:10024186
- 51. You WC, Li JY, Blot WJ, Chang Y-S, Jin M-L, Gail MH, et al. (1999). Evolution of precancerous lesions in a rural Chinese population at high risk of gastric cancer. Int J Cancer. 83(5):615–9.

https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0215(19991126)83:5<615::AID-IJC8>3.0.CO;2-L PMID:10521796

- 52. You WC, Zhao L, Chang YS, Blot WJ, Fraumeni JF Jr (1995). Progression of precancerous gastric lesions. Lancet. 345(8953):866–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(95)93006-X PMID:7898258
- 53. Xu H, Li W (2022). Early detection of gastric cancer in China: progress and opportunities. Cancer Biol Med. 19(12):1622–8. https://doi.org/10.20892/j.issn.2095-3941.2022.0655 PMID:36514907
- 54. Xia C, Basu P, Kramer BS, Li H, Qu C, Yu XQ, et al. (2023). Cancer screening in China: a steep road from evidence to implementation. Lancet Public Health. 8(12):e996–1005. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-2667(23)00186-X PMID:38000379
- 55. Cao M, Chen W (2022). Promoting early diagnosis and treatment of cancer in rural areas to improve people's health. China Cancer. 31(12):937–40. <u>https://doi.org/10.11735/j.issn.1004-0242.2022.12.A001</u>
- 56. He J, Chen WQ, Li ZS, Li N, Ren JS, Tian JH, et al.; Expert Group of China Guideline for the Screening, Early Detection and Early Treatment of Gastric Cancer; Working Group of China Guideline for the Screening, Early Detection and Early Treatment of Gastric Cancer (2022). China guideline for the screening, early detection and early treatment of gastric cancer (2022, Beijing). Zhonghua Zhong Liu Za Zhi. 44(7):634–66. <u>https://doi.org/10.3760/cma.j.cn112152-20220617-00430</u> [in Chinese] <u>PMID:35880331</u>
- 57. Ministry of Health, National Disease Prevention and Control Administration, China (2011). Technical plan for early diagnosis and treatment of cancer. Beijing, China: People's Medical Publishing House.
- 58. Wang G, Wei W (2020). Technical plan for screening and early diagnosis and treatment of upper gastrointestinal cancer (trial version 2020). Beijing, China: People's Medical Publishing House.
- 59. Department of Medical Emergency Response, National Health Commission (2024). Gastric cancer screening and early diagnosis and treatment plan (2024 version). Chin J Oncol. 46(10):915–6.
- 60. Chen R, Liu Y, Song G, Li B, Zhao D, Hua Z, et al. (2021). Effectiveness of one-time endoscopic screening programme in prevention of upper gastrointestinal cancer in China: a multicentre population-based cohort study. Gut. 70(2):251–60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2019-320200</u> PMID:32241902
- Li WQ, Qin XX, Li ZX, Wang L-H, Liu Z-C, Fan X-H, et al. (2022). Beneficial effects of endoscopic screening on gastric cancer and optimal screening interval: a population-based study. Endoscopy. 54(9):848–58. <u>https://doi.org/10.1055/a-1728-5673</u> PMID:34963146
- Xia R, Zeng H, Liu W, Xie L, Shen M, Li P, et al. (2021). Estimated cost-effectiveness of endoscopic screening for upper gastrointestinal tract cancer in high-risk areas in China. JAMA Netw Open. 4(8):e2121403. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.21403</u> PMID:34402889
- Wang Z, Han W, Xue F, Zhao Y, Wu P, Chen Y, et al. (2022). Nationwide gastric cancer prevention in China, 2021–2035: a decision analysis on effect, affordability and cost-effectiveness optimisation. Gut. 71(12):2391–400. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2021-325948</u> PMID:35902213
- 64. Peters Y, van Grinsven E, van de Haterd M, van Lankveld D, Verbakel J, Siersema PD (2020). Individuals' preferences for esophageal cancer screening: a discrete choice experiment. Value Health. 23(8):1087–95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jval.2020.03.013</u> PMID:32828222
- Liu R, Lu Y, Li Y, Wei W, Sun C, Zhang Q, et al. (2022). Preference for endoscopic screening of upper gastrointestinal cancer among Chinese rural residents: a discrete choice experiment. Front Oncol. 12:917622. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2022.917622</u> <u>PMID:35965546</u>
- 66. Wiklund AK, Santoni G, Yan J, Radkiewicz C, Xie S, Birgisson H, et al. (2024). Risk of esophageal adenocarcinoma after *Helicobacter pylori* eradication treatment in a population-based multinational cohort study. Gastroenterology. 167(3):485–492.e3. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2024.03.016</u> PMID:38513743
- 67. Liu Z-C, Xu H-M, You W-C, Pan K-F, Li W-Q (2024). *Helicobacter pylori* eradication for primary prevention of gastric cancer: progresses and challenges. J Natl Cancer Cent. 4(4):299–310. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jncc.2024.06.006 PMID:39735441
- Song Z, Zhang J, He L, Chen M, Hou X, Li Z, et al. (2014). Prospective multi-region study on primary antibiotic resistance of *Helicobacter pylori* strains isolated from Chinese patients. Dig Liver Dis. 46(12):1077–81. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dld.2014.08.038</u> PMID:25220697
- Yang Y, Geng X, Liu X, Wen X, Wu R, Cui D, et al. (2022). Antibiotic use in China's public healthcare institutions during the COVID-19 pandemic: an analysis of nationwide procurement data, 2018–2020. Front Pharmacol. 13:813213. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2022.813213</u> <u>PMID:35237164</u>
- 70. Chen J, Li P, Huang Y, Guo Y, Ding Z, Lu H (2022). Primary antibiotic resistance of *Helicobacter pylori* in different regions of China: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Pathogens. 11(7):786. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens11070786</u> PMID:35890031

- 71. Institute of Infectious Disease Control and Prevention, Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention (2023). White paper on the prevention and control of *H. pylori* infection in China. Available from: https://icdc.chinacdc.cn/zxxx/gzdt/202306/t20230603_266504.html.
- 72. Jin G, Lv J, Yang M, Wang M, Zhu M, Wang T, et al. (2020). Genetic risk, incident gastric cancer, and healthy lifestyle: a meta-analysis of genome-wide association studies and prospective cohort study. Lancet Oncol. 21(10):1378–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(20)30460-5 PMID:33002439
- 73. Xu HM, Han Y, Liu ZC, Yin Z-Y, Wang M-Y, Yu C, et al. (2024). *Helicobacter pylori* treatment and gastric cancer risk among individuals with high genetic risk for gastric cancer. JAMA Netw Open. 7(5):e2413708. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2024.13708</u> PMID:38809553
- 74. Ding SZ (2020). Global whole family based-*Helicobacter pylori* eradication strategy to prevent its related diseases and gastric cancer. World J Gastroenterol. 26(10):995–1004. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v26.i10.995 PMID:32205991
- 75. Wang GQ, Wei WW (2019). A new transition of the screening, early diagnosis and early treatment project of the upper gastrointestinal cancer: opportunistic screening. Zhonghua Yu Fang Yi Xue Za Zhi. 53(11):1084–7. [in Chinese] <u>PMID:31683391</u>
- 76. Li X, Zheng NR, Wang LH, Li Z-W, Liu Z-C, Fan H, et al. (2021). Proteomic profiling identifies signatures associated with progression of precancerous gastric lesions and risk of early gastric cancer. EBioMedicine. 74:103714. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2021.103714</u> PMID:34818622
- 77. Pan K-F, Li W-Q, Zhang L, Liu W-D, Ma J-L, Zhang Y, et al. (2024). Gastric cancer prevention by community eradication of *Helicobacter pylori*: a cluster-randomized controlled trial. Nat Med. 30(11):3250–60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-024-03153-w</u> PMID:39079993
- Fang JY, Du YQ, Liu WZ, Ren JL, Li YQ, Chen XY, et al.; Chinese Society of Gastroenterology, Chinese Medical Association (2018). Chinese consensus on chronic gastritis (2017, Shanghai). J Dig Dis. 19(4):182–203. [Erratum in: J Dig Dis. 21(2):120.] <u>PMID:32064778</u>
- 79. Liu WZ, Xie Y, Lu H, Cheng H, Zeng ZR, Zhou LY, et al.; Chinese Society of Gastroenterology, Chinese Study Group on *Helicobacter pylori* and Peptic Ulcer (2018). Fifth Chinese National Consensus Report on the management of *Helicobacter pylori* infection. Helicobacter. 23(2):e12475. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.12475 PMID:29512258</u>
- 80. Zheng RS, Chen R, Han BF, Wang SM, Li L, Sun KX, et al. (2024). Cancer incidence and mortality in China, 2022. Zhonghua Zhong Liu Za Zhi. 46(3):221–31. [in Chinese] PMID:38468501

Chapter 3.8.

Gastric cancer prevention in Japan

Manami Inoue

Summary

- Gastric cancer incidence has drastically decreased in Japan because of reductions in its two major traditional risk factors, *H. pylori* infection and the intake of saltpreserved food.
- The high prevalence of these risk factors in older generations has led to gastric cancer occurring more frequently in patients in older age groups.
- Population-based gastric cancer screening has contributed to the high survival rate of gastric cancer in Japan compared with other countries.
- Given the ongoing transition to new generations with fewer risk factors for gastric cancer, Japan should consider a flexible transformation of its national gastric cancer prevention strategies and shift from a total-population approach to a high-risk population approach.
- Serological testing of anti-*H. pylori* IgG antibody in combination with pepsinogen I and II testing and eradication treatment are good candidates but have yet to be recommended, because the long-term effect of this approach on reducing gastric cancer incidence warrants verification.

3.8.1 Descriptive epidemiological trends

The incidence of gastric cancer in Japan, which was once the highest in the world, has decreased substantially in recent years. According to IARC's estimates for 2022, when ranked by age-standardized rates (world), gastric cancer was the fifth most common cancer type in Japan in terms of both incidence and mortality [1, 2]. In 2022, gastric cancer accounted for 12.6% of all cancer cases and 10.3% of all cancer deaths in

Japan, which is consistent with the global rates of 13.1% of all cancer cases and 6.6% of all cancer deaths.

The long-term trends (Fig. 3.8.1) show that the number of incident cases of gastric cancer in Japan has decreased drastically after a peak in about 2010–2015. In contrast, the number of gastric cancer deaths has remained stable, with a gradual decrease in recent years. The age-standardized rates (world) for both incidence and mortality have decreased constantly over time, with steeper decreases in recent years [1, 2].



Fig. 3.8.1. Time trends of gastric cancer incidence and mortality in Japan. Compiled from Institute for Cancer Control (2024) [3] (incidence) and from Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare (2024) [4] (mortality).

By age distribution, gastric cancer incidence and mortality show increases in both the number and the proportion of cases and deaths in people aged \geq 75 years (Fig. 3.8.2). This is mainly due to the increasing rise in the number of cases and deaths in people aged \geq 75 years, which indicates that gastric cancer will, in time, become a cancer type that is diagnosed predominantly in older people. Japan has become a "super-ageing society". In 2007, > 21% of the population were aged \geq 65 years. This percentage has continued to rise and is contributing in part to the increase in cases of gastric cancer [5].



Fig. 3.8.2. Time trends of the number of gastric cancer cases and deaths in Japan in both sexes, by age group. Compiled from Institute for Cancer Control (2024) [3] (incidence) and from Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare (2024) [4] (mortality).

3.8.2 Clinico-epidemiological features of gastric cancer

Gastric cancer in Japan has two notable characteristics. First, the occurrence is more common in the distal part of the stomach, which is in contrast to countries in North America and northern and western Europe, where occurrence in the proximal part of the stomach is more common. The latest global cancer registry data show that the subsite location in the distal portion has not changed substantially for decades and is substantially attributable to *H. pylori* infection [6].

Second, although the prognosis for gastric cancer is generally poor globally, better survival rates are observed in Japan. The ongoing Global Surveillance of Trends in Cancer Survival (CONCORD) programme has monitored global cancer survival rates for a long time, now involves more than 70 countries, and includes 75% of all cancer cases worldwide, with high representativeness. According to the latest CONCORD-3 report, the 5-year relative survival rate for patients with gastric cancer in 2000–2014 generally ranged from 20% to 40%, versus 60.3% in Japan [7]. This better overall survival in Japan is due to the high proportion of gastric cancers diagnosed at an early stage. In the National Cancer Registry Report 2020 [8], 59% of gastric cancers in Japan were

localized when they were diagnosed, which is relatively high compared with the 31.3% reported by the United States Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) Program in 2020 [9].

3.8.3 Risk factors and prevention

The incidence of gastric cancer has decreased constantly in Japan (see Section 3.8.1), and the disease has now become a cancer of older people. Therefore, the question arises as to whether this trend is attributable merely to ageing or whether it is a birth cohort effect. However, in either case, *H. pylori* infection and intake of foods preserved by salting have made particular contributions to the history of gastric cancer in Japan.

H. pylori infection

H. pylori infection is the most important cause of gastric cancer, particularly non-cardia gastric cancer. *H. pylori* infection is generally acquired during childhood, typically before age 5 years. Therefore, infection status is strongly dependent on hygiene status during childhood, which is dependent mainly on eating behaviours, such as mouth-to-mouth feeding [10]. These factors during infancy greatly determine the infection rate in adulthood.

In Japan, which had the highest incidence rate of gastric cancer in the last century, the *H. pylori* infection rate has decreased with a birth cohort effect [11, 12]. The infection rate peaked at nearly 70–80% for people born in 1930–1940 and decreased with age to nearly 5% for people born in about 2000. Each respective birth cohort shows no marked change in infection rate with increasing age. Estimates in Japanese children and adolescents follow the trend seen in Japanese adults; the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection in children and adolescents was about 10% in individuals born in 1985 but decreased to < 3% in individuals born in 2011 [13] (Fig. 3.8.3).

Thus, gastric cancer prevention strategies must account for generational differences. National-level improvements in hygiene, including improvements in water and sewage systems, and in overall socioeconomic status, which are in turn generally influenced by a history of hygiene and health policy at the national level, will lead to a substantial decline in the overall prevalence of *H. pylori* infection in all age groups, even in countries with a high infection rate [14]. In Japan, *H. pylori* infection will eventually become a rare event, leading to an overall decrease in gastric cancer incidence.



Fig. 3.8.3. Decreasing trend in the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection in Japan by birth year, 1908–2011. Compiled from Wang et al. (2017) [11] and Miyamoto et al. (2019) [13].

Intake of foods preserved by salting

Salt consumption, in general, is known to be linked not only to gastric cancer but also to hypertension and stroke [15]. These diseases are associated with the amount of salt intake and have historically been the major diseases in Japan. A high intake of foods preserved by salting increases the risk of gastric cancer but not the risk of stroke, which tends to be positively associated with the amount of salt intake [16, 17].

Salt reduction means reducing the amount of salt intake and the intake of highly saltconcentrated preserved foods. Salt-preserved foods were more commonly consumed before refrigeration became available [18, 19], and the dissemination of refrigeration has substantially affected the decrease in gastric cancer mortality in Japan. Expanded use of industrial refrigeration in both storage and transportation has led to increased consumption of fresh food and has reduced the need for salting and pickling, which are both positively associated with gastric cancer [18, 19]. Home refrigeration has shifted food preservation techniques from salt preservation to frozen storage [18, 19]. In Japan, the popularization of electric refrigerators in the 1960s was strongly inversely correlated with the decrease in gastric cancer [18]. Japan has also achieved a decrease in salt consumption at the local community level. In the late 1950s, deaths from stroke in Japan were the highest in the world. It became apparent that the number of strokes in different parts of the country was directly related to the amount of salt consumed. The Japanese government initiated a campaign to reduce salt intake, and this eventually decreased over the subsequent decade. A resulting reduction in blood pressure was observed, along with a substantial reduction in stroke mortality [20] and eventually also in gastric cancer incidence and mortality.

3.8.4 Population-based gastric cancer screening

Gastric cancer screening in Japan began with indirect X-ray photography, which had been used in mass screening for pulmonary tuberculosis in the 1950s. The first population-based gastric cancer screening was conducted in Nagano Prefecture and Miyagi Prefecture in the late 1950s and 1960s [21] (Fig. 3.8.4).





In the 1960s, in addition to the widespread use of the gastric cancer screening bus, the barium double-contrast method was introduced and was widely used as a gastric cancer screening method, with the establishment of gastric X-ray diagnostics. The number of participants undergoing gastric cancer X-ray screening increased steadily, partly as a result of the start of government subsidies in 1966. The project evolved into a

nationwide gastric cancer screening programme in 1983, under the Health Service Law for the Aged, and later was included in health promotion activities organized by municipalities, under the Health Promotion Act in 2008. The number of people undergoing gastric cancer X-ray screening continued to increase steadily. However, this increase started to slow down in about 1998, when gastric cancer screening was removed from the Geriatric Health Service and was moved to be part of the general financial responsibility of each municipality [21, 24].

The introduction of double-contrast radiography into gastric cancer screening made it possible to detect early gastric cancer. This technique continued to evolve, with improving diagnostic accuracy. In the Japanese Guidelines for Gastric Cancer Screening in 2005, it was reported to be the only screening modality to have reduced gastric cancer mortality [25]. By the late 1990s, radiography was gradually being replaced by endoscopy as the primary modality in the clinical setting.

Initially, the use of endoscopy in population-based screening for gastric cancer was not recommended because of a lack of evidence for effectiveness in reducing mortality [25]. However, after studies in Japan and the Republic of Korea, which provided evidence that gastroscopy screening effectively reduces mortality, the 2014 edition of the Japanese Guidelines for Gastric Cancer Screening [26] recommended endoscopy for both organized and opportunistic screening. This latest guideline recommends biennial endoscopic screening in individuals aged \geq 50 years [22]. Each municipality is responsible for implementing its own population-based gastric cancer screening programme.

Even with the increasing proportion of municipalities adopting endoscopic screening, various issues have hindered implementation, including insufficient endoscopists, insufficient endoscopy processing capabilities, insufficient quality control systems, and budget constraints [27]. Further efforts are required to ensure the nationwide adoption of endoscopic gastric cancer screening, improve participation rates, and optimize diagnostic accuracy control.

228

3.8.5 Risk stratification approach

In Japan, groups at high risk of gastric cancer are commonly stratified by serological testing of anti-*H. pylori* immunoglobulin G (IgG) antibody (HP) in combination with pepsinogen I and II testing (PG) [28]. This method has attracted attention as a risk stratification tool, and its use has become more widespread in recent years, after national health insurance coverage in Japan was expanded in 2013 to include *H. pylori* eradication treatment for chronic gastritis. The approach stratifies Japanese people into four groups: (A) HP-negative and PG-negative, (B) HP-positive and PG-negative, (C) HP-positive and PG-positive, and (D) HP-negative and PG-positive. Compared with group A, the long-term risk of gastric cancer is highest in group D, followed by group C and group B [29].

Given the current variation in the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection by birth year (high in older age groups and low in younger age groups) and the efforts to address the inadequate endoscopy processing capacity in gastric cancer screening in Japan, it is worthwhile to considering a risk stratification approach by *H. pylori* infection status, in which screening is omitted or is conducted at longer intervals in individuals who have never had *H. pylori* infection. However, evidence for the effectiveness of this risk stratification method combined with endoscopy in the setting of population-based screening remains insufficient, and it is yet to be recommended.

3.8.6 H. pylori eradication for gastric cancer prevention

Eradication of *H. pylori* has drawn attention as a strategy to minimize gastric cancer risk. Since 2013, when eradication therapy for *H. pylori*-associated gastritis was included in national health insurance coverage (Box 3.8.1), a relatively large number of individuals with *H. pylori* infection have received this treatment, i.e. about 1.4–1.6 million people annually [30]. A recent systematic review and meta-analysis of published studies in Japan showed that eradication effectively prevents gastric cancer in the Japanese population irrespective of symptoms [33]. However, because of insufficient evidence on long-term effects after eradication, well-designed, extensive cohort studies are warranted to determine the long-term efficacy and safety of *H. pylori* eradication in reducing gastric cancer incidence at the population level [33].

The development of antimicrobial resistance and treatment failure fuel the global burden of *H. pylori*-associated gastric complications [34]. Antimicrobial susceptibility testing can improve the success rate of eradication treatment and avoid the spread of resistant bacteria due to inappropriate antibiotic use, and it has been included in the *H. pylori* diagnosis treatment guideline in Japan.

Box 3.8.1. History of health insurance coverage for *H. pylori* eradication therapy

In November 2000, based on the results of various clinical studies, *H. pylori* eradication therapy was approved in Japan for treating *H. pylori*-positive gastric and duodenal ulcers. This was the first time that eradication therapy was approved under Japan's public medical insurance system.

At about this time, it became clear that most gastric cancers are caused by *H. pylori* infection, and it was time for a substantial review of the *H. pylori* control measures. Since 2002, in Japan, measures to prevent liver cancer had focused on addressing hepatitis virus infections, resulting in a significant decrease in liver cancer mortality. However, the annual number of gastric cancer deaths had remained at about 50 000 for the past several decades, without substantial increases or decreases, suggesting that current prevention measures were inadequate. It was considered that primary prevention through *H. pylori* eradication therapy, as well as secondary prevention, should be promoted as a fundamental preventive method for gastric cancer.

In 2009, the Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare approved the expansion of national health insurance coverage for *H. pylori* eradication therapy and added three new indications – gastric mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue (MALT) lymphoma, post-endoscopy treatment for early-stage gastric cancer, and idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura – in addition to gastric and duodenal ulcers.

This was the first time in the world that *H. pylori* eradication therapy was covered by health insurance for indications other than gastric and duodenal ulcers. The Japanese Society of Gastroenterology, the Japanese Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy, and the *Helicobacter* Society of Japan jointly submitted a request to the Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare to expand the insurance coverage of *H. pylori* eradication therapy for chronic gastritis. As a result, *H. pylori* eradication therapy for

patients with chronic gastritis became available on 21 February 2013.

After the insurance coverage had been extended, prescriptions for *H. pylori* eradication therapy were 5 times the previous numbers, with an estimated 1.5 million people being treated per year [30–32].

3.8.7 Conclusions and future directions

Gastric cancer incidence has drastically decreased in Japan because of reductions in its two major traditional risk factors, *H. pylori* infection and the intake of salt-preserved food. The high prevalence of these risk factors in older generations has led to gastric cancer occurring more frequently in patients in older age groups. Population-based gastric cancer screening has contributed to the high survival rate of gastric cancer in Japan compared with other countries. Given the ongoing transition to new generations with fewer risk factors for gastric cancer, Japan should consider a flexible transformation of its national gastric cancer prevention strategies and shift from a total-population approach to a high-risk population approach. Serological testing of anti-*H. pylori* IgG antibody in combination with pepsinogen I and II testing and eradication treatment are good candidates but have yet to be recommended, because the long-term effect of this approach on reducing gastric cancer incidence warrants verification.

References

- Bray F, Laversanne M, Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Soerjomataram I, et al. (2024). Global cancer statistics 2022: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin. 74(3):229–63. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21834 PMID:38572751
- Ferlay J, Ervik M, Lam F, Laversanne M, Colombet M, Mery L, et al. (2024). Global Cancer Observatory: Cancer Today (version 1.1). Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer. Available from: <u>https://gco.iarc.who.int/today</u>.
- 3. Institute for Cancer Control (2024). Cancer registry and statistics. Cancer Information Service, National Cancer Center, Japan. Available from: https://ganjobo.jp/en/index.html.
- 4. Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare (2024). Vital statistics in Japan. Available from: https://www.mhlw.go.jp/english/database/db-hw/vs01.html.
- 5. Cabinet Office (2021). Annual report on the ageing society. Tokyo, Japan: Cabinet Office. Available from: <u>https://www8.cao.go.jp/kourei/english/annualreport/index-wh.html</u>.
- Bray F, Colombet M, Aitken JF, Bardot A, Eser S, Galceran J, et al., editors (2023). Cancer incidence in five continents, Vol. XII (IARC CancerBase No. 19). Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer. Available from: <u>https://ci5.iarc.who.int</u>.
- Allemani C, Matsuda T, Di Carlo V, et al. (2018). Global surveillance of trends in cancer survival 2000– 14 (CONCORD-3): analysis of individual records for 37 513 025 patients diagnosed with one of 18 cancers from 322 population-based registries in 71 countries. Lancet. 391(10125):1023–75. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)33326-3</u> PMID:29395269
- 8. Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare (2020). Cancer incidence in Japan 2020. Available from: https://www.mhlw.go.jp/content/10900000/001231386.pdf.
- 9. NCI (2024). SEER*Explorer: an interactive website for SEER cancer statistics. Surveillance Research Program, United States National Cancer Institute. Available from: <u>https://seer.cancer.gov/statistics-network/explorer/</u>.
- 10. Inoue M (2017). Changing epidemiology of *Helicobacter pylori* in Japan. Gastric Cancer. 20(Suppl 1):3–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10120-016-0658-5 PMID:27757699</u>
- Wang C, Nishiyama T, Kikuchi S, Inoue M, Sawada N, Tsugane S, et al. (2017). Changing trends in the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection in Japan (1908–2003): a systematic review and meta-regression analysis of 170,752 individuals. Sci Rep. 7(1):15491. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-15490-7</u> <u>PMID:29138514</u>
- Watanabe M, Ito H, Hosono S, Oze I, Ashida C, Tajima K, et al. (2015). Declining trends in prevalence of *Helicobacter pylori* infection by birth-year in a Japanese population. Cancer Sci. 106(12):1738–43. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cas.12821 PMID:26395018</u>
- Miyamoto R, Okuda M, Lin Y, Murotani K, Okumura A, Kikuchi S (2019). Rapidly decreasing prevalence of *Helicobacter pylori* among Japanese children and adolescents. J Infect Chemother. 25(7):526–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jiac.2019.02.016</u> PMID:31003956
- 14. Ueda J, Gosho M, Inui Y, Matsuda T, Sakakibara M, Mabe K, et al. (2014). Prevalence of *Helicobacter pylori* infection by birth year and geographic area in Japan. Helicobacter. 19(2):105–10. https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.12110 PMID:24506211
- Aburto NJ, Ziolkovska A, Hooper L, Elliott P, Cappuccio FP, Meerpohl JJ (2013). Effect of lower sodium intake on health: systematic review and meta-analyses. BMJ. 346:f1326. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.f1326</u> PMID:23558163
- Takachi R, Inoue M, Shimazu T, Sasazuki S, Ishihara J, Sawada N, et al.; Japan Public Health Centerbased Prospective Study Group (2010). Consumption of sodium and salted foods in relation to cancer and cardiovascular disease: the Japan Public Health Center-based Prospective Study. Am J Clin Nutr. 91(2):456–64. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.2009.28587 PMID:20016010
- 17. Takachi R, Ishihara J, Abe SK, Hirabayashi M, Saito E, Hori M, et al. (2021). Burden of cancer attributable to consumption of highly salted food in Japan in 2015. GHM Open. 1(2):85–90. https://doi.org/10.35772/ghmo.2021.01017
- Howson CP, Hiyama T, Wynder EL (1986). The decline in gastric cancer: epidemiology of an unplanned triumph. Epidemiol Rev. 8(1):1–27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.epirev.a036288</u> <u>PMID:3533579</u>
- 19. Tominaga S, Kuroishi T (1997). An ecological study on diet/nutrition and cancer in Japan. Int J Cancer. 71(Suppl 10):2–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0215(1997)10+<2::AID-IJC2>3.0.CO;2-C</u> <u>PMID:9209011</u>

- 20. He FJ, MacGregor GA (2009). A comprehensive review on salt and health and current experience of worldwide salt reduction programmes. J Hum Hypertens. 23(6):363–84. https://doi.org/10.1038/jhh.2008.144 PMID:19110538
- 21. Yamamichi N (2020). Current status and future prospects of gastric cancer screening in Japan [in Japanese]. Nihon Shokakibyo Gakkai Zasshi. 117(6):454–62. https://doi.org/10.11405/nisshoshi.117.454 PMID:32565502
- 22. Hamashima C; Systematic Review Group and Guideline Development Group for Gastric Cancer Screening Guidelines (2018). Update version of the Japanese guidelines for gastric cancer screening. Jpn J Clin Oncol. 48(7):673–83. https://doi.org/10.1093/jjco/hyy077 PMID:29889263
- 23. Hamashima C (2014). Current issues and future perspectives of gastric cancer screening. World J Gastroenterol. 20(38):13767–74. <u>https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v20.i38.13767 PMID:25320514</u>
- 24. Sugano K (2015). Screening of gastric cancer in Asia. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol. 29(6):895– 905. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpg.2015.09.013</u> PMID:26651251
- 25. Hamashima C, Shibuya D, Yamazaki H, Inoue K, Fukao A, Saito H, et al. (2008). The Japanese guidelines for gastric cancer screening. Jpn J Clin Oncol. 38(4):259–67. https://doi.org/10.1093/jjco/hyn017 PMID:18344316
- 26. Hamashima C, Goto R (2017). Potential capacity of endoscopic screening for gastric cancer in Japan. Cancer Sci. 108(1):101–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cas.13100</u> PMID:27727490
- 27. Mabe K, Inoue K, Kamada T, Kato K, Kato M, Haruma K (2022). Endoscopic screening for gastric cancer in Japan: current status and future perspectives. Dig Endosc. 34(3):412–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/den.14063 PMID:34143908
- Miki K (2011). Gastric cancer screening by combined assay for serum anti-*Helicobacter pylori* IgG antibody and serum pepsinogen levels "ABC method". Proc Jpn Acad Ser B Phys Biol Sci. 87(7):405–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.2183/pjab.87.405</u> PMID:21785258
- 29. Charvat H, Sasazuki S, Inoue M, Iwasaki M, Sawada N, Shimazu T, et al.; JPHC Study Group (2016). Prediction of the 10-year probability of gastric cancer occurrence in the Japanese population: the JPHC study cohort II. Int J Cancer. 138(2):320–31. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.29705 PMID:26219435</u>
- 30. Uno Y (2019). Prevention of gastric cancer by *Helicobacter pylori* eradication: a review from Japan. Cancer Med. 8(8):3992–4000. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cam4.2277</u> PMID:31119891
- Asaka M, Mabe K (2014). Strategies for eliminating death from gastric cancer in Japan. Proc Jpn Acad Ser B Phys Biol Sci. 90(7):251–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.2183/pjab.90.251</u> PMID:25169671
- IARC Helicobacter pylori Working Group (2014). Helicobacter pylori eradication as a strategy for preventing gastric cancer (IARC Working Group Reports No. 8). Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer. Available from: <u>https://publications.iarc.who.int/391</u>.
- 33. Lin Y, Kawai S, Sasakabe T, Nagata C, Naito M, Tanaka K, et al.; Research Group for the Development and Evaluation of Cancer Prevention Strategies in Japan (2021). Effects of *Helicobacter pylori* eradication on gastric cancer incidence in the Japanese population: a systematic evidence review. Jpn J Clin Oncol. 51(7):1158–70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ijco/hyab055</u> <u>PMID:33893508</u>
- 34. Ansari S, Yamaoka Y (2022). *Helicobacter pylori* infection, its laboratory diagnosis, and antimicrobial resistance: a perspective of clinical relevance. Clin Microbiol Rev. 35(3):e0025821. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/cmr.00258-21 PMID:35404105</u>

Chapter 3.9.

Gastric cancer prevention in the Republic of Korea

ll Ju Choi

Summary

- Gastric cancer had been the most commonly occurring cancer type in the Republic of Korea for a long time, but in 2021 it became the fourth most common cancer type, after a steady decrease in incidence since 2011.
- Since 2001, the nationwide gastric cancer screening programme in the Republic
 of Korea recommends screening with a 2-year interval for adults aged ≥ 40 years
 using mainly upper endoscopy. The screening programme, with upper
 endoscopy as the main modality, has been shown to reduce gastric cancer
 mortality.
- In randomized controlled trials conducted in the Republic of Korea, *H. pylori* treatment in high-risk groups (patients who underwent endoscopic resection for early gastric cancer or family members of patients with gastric cancer) reduced gastric cancer risk by 50%.
- A large-scale clinical trial (HELPER), currently under way in the Republic of Korea in collaboration with IARC, is investigating the efficacy of *H. pylori* eradication as a primary prevention strategy in the general population.

3.9.1 Gastric cancer statistics

In the Republic of Korea, cancer has been the leading cause of death since 1982 [1]. In 1996, the National Plan for Cancer Control was initiated to address this public health problem, and the fourth stage of the plan was initiated in 2021. The Korean Central Cancer Registry reports national cancer statistics annually, with a 2-year lag time. According to the 2021 statistics, published at the end of 2023, the age-standardized rate, standardized to the Korean 2020 standard population, showed that gastric cancer was the most frequently diagnosed cancer until 2018. In 2021, gastric cancer ranked as the

fourth most common cancer type, after thyroid cancer, colorectal cancer, and lung cancer (Fig. 3.9.1) [2]. In 2000–2011, the gastric cancer incidence rate (per 100 000 population) remained stable at > 80; since then, it has gradually decreased, by 4.4% each year, from 84.8 in 2011 to 55.3 (76.3 for men and 38.2 for women) in 2021. Compared with other parts of the world, the age-standardized rate of gastric cancer, adjusted using the Segi world standard population, was 27.5 per 100 000 person-years (38.9 per 100 000 person-years for men and 17.5 per 100 000 person-years for women) in 2021 [1].

The gastric cancer screening rate decreased during the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020, but it surged in 2021, which explains the rebound in gastric cancer incidence in the national cancer statistics [3, 4]. From the cancer incidence data up to 2021, gastric cancer is expected to be ranked the fifth most common cancer type in the Republic of Korea, because of the increasing incidence of breast cancer [5].



Age-standardized Rate (ASR) was standardized to the Korean standard population (year 2020) APC, Annual Percentage Change

Fig. 3.9.1. Trends in the age-standardized incidence rates of the major cancer types in the Republic of Korea. Gastric cancer incidence rates were stable until about 2011. Since then, the incidence rate has decreased, and gastric cancer became the fourth most common cancer type in 2021. APC, annual percentage change. Compiled from Korean Statistical Information Service (2024) [2].

3.9.2 Gastric cancer stage distributions and mortality rates

The gastric cancer stage distribution in the Republic of Korea in 2019, according to the stage categories of the United States Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) Program, was 64.3% for localized, 10.9% for regional, and 10.9% for distant stages. The prognosis worsened with increasing stage, with 5-year relative survival rates of 97.0% for localized, 62.1% for regional, and 6.4% for distant stages [6].

In 2021, the crude gastric cancer mortality rate (per 1000 000 population) was 14.1 (18.6 for men and 9.6 for women), and the age-standardized mortality rate was 5.9 (8.9 for men and 3.5 for women) [1]. The 5-year overall survival rate for patients with gastric cancer increased markedly, from 55.7% in 1999–2005 to 77.0% in 2013–2019 [7].

3.9.3 Introduction of the KNCSP for secondary prevention

In 1996, the Government of the Republic of Korea initiated a comprehensive 10-year cancer control plan. In 1999, the Korean National Cancer Screening Program (KNCSP) was launched to provide free-of-charge screening for gastric cancer, breast cancer, and cervical cancer via medical aid beneficiaries. In 2001, formal consensus guidelines for screening were developed for gastric cancer, liver cancer, colorectal cancer, breast cancer, and cervical cancer [8]. For gastric cancer, screening with a 2-year interval for adults aged \geq 40 years is recommended using upper endoscopy or radiological evaluation (upper gastrointestinal series [UGIS]). The screening modality was chosen based on the participants' preferences and comorbidities [9]. Initially, most participants chose UGIS (74.7% in 2002); the proportion of endoscopy examinations gradually increased, to 70.8% in 2011 [10]. In 2015, the guidelines for gastric cancer screening were revised to place the upper age limit at 74 years and to recommend endoscopy over UGIS [11].

3.9.4 Gastric cancer screening rates

The lifetime screening rates for gastric cancer increased markedly, from 52.0% in 2004 to 76.7% in 2010 and 85.5% in 2018 [12]. The screening rates according to the guideline recommendations were lower than the lifetime screening rates: 39.2% in 2004, 65.1% in 2010, and 72.8% in 2018.

Data from the Korean National Cancer Screening Survey show that the organized screening rate for gastric cancer increased from 38.2% in 2009 to 70.8% in 2022,

whereas the opportunistic screening rate for gastric cancer decreased from 18.8% in 2009 to 4.5% in 2022 [13]. The increasing rate for organized screening can be explained by the very low out-of-pocket cost, because participants need to pay either 0% or 10% of total screening costs, according to their income levels. Therefore, the recent high participation rates for the organized screening programme have almost eliminated socioeconomic inequalities for gastric cancer screening in the Republic of Korea.

3.9.5 Effectiveness of the KNCSP in reducing gastric cancer mortality

The most important parameter for the effectiveness of gastric cancer screening is a reduction in mortality. A nested case-control study was performed using the KNCSP database and including the target population eligible for the screening programmes in 2002 and 2003 [14]. The study involved 54 418 patients with gastric cancer who died in 2004–2012 and living matched controls at a 1:4 ratio. Gastric cancer mortality decreased by 21% (odds ratio [OR], 0.79; 95% confidence interval [CI], 0.77–0.81) in the population who participated in screening compared with people who had never been screened. Gastric cancer mortality decreased by 47% among patients who underwent screening with endoscopy (OR, 0.53; 95% CI, 0.51–0.56). In contrast, no significant reduction in gastric cancer mortality was observed in individuals who underwent screening with UGIS (OR, 0.98; 95% CI, 0.95–1.01). The reduction in gastric cancer mortality increased as the number of endoscopy screenings per individual increased (OR for 1 screening, 0.60; 95% CI, 0.57–0.63; OR for 2 screenings, 0.32; 95% CI, 0.28–0.37; OR for ≥3 screenings, 0.19; 95% CI, 0.14–0.26). A significant reduction in gastric cancer mortality via endoscopy screening was observed in all the 5-year age groups in people aged 40-75 years but not in those aged \geq 75 years [14].

Another cohort study of participants from four geographical areas in the Republic of Korea reported a 42% reduction in gastric cancer mortality among participants who underwent screening with endoscopy (hazard ratio [HR], 0.58; 95% CI, 0.36–0.94) compared with unscreened participants. Screening with UGIS did not significantly reduce gastric cancer mortality (HR, 0.91; 95% CI, 0.36–2.33) [15].

A nationwide population-based study using the Korean National Health Insurance Big Database included all patients with gastric cancer aged \geq 40 years between 2004 and 2013. Patients with gastric cancer who participated in the gastric cancer screening programme (*n* = 116 775) showed a significantly better prognosis (41% decreased HR for gastric cancer death) compared with those who did not participate in screening (nonscreening group, n = 74 927). In addition, medical care expenses were significantly lower in the screening group [16].

3.9.6 Gastric cancer stage migration

Stage migration of gastric cancer to earlier stages is a favourable outcome of the KNCSP. In a cohort consisting of 19 168 patients with gastric cancer, those who underwent endoscopy screening were significantly more likely to be diagnosed with a localized SEER cancer stage compared with those who were screened with UGIS (adjusted OR, 1.71; 95% CI, 1.55–1.89) or those who were not screened (adjusted OR, 2.10; 95% CI, 1.90–2.33) [17]. Another cohort study, including 18 414 individuals, evaluated the effects of repeated endoscopy screening on the early detection of gastric cancer [18]. The group of participants who underwent endoscopy screening within 2 years had a significantly higher proportion of early gastric cancer (96% vs 71%; P = 0.007) compared with those who did not undergo endoscopy screening within 2 years. The Korean Gastric Cancer Association reported nationwide survey data showing that the proportion of patients with early gastric cancer who had surgical treatment increased from 28.6% in 1995 to 63.6% in 2019 [19].

Data from the National Cancer Center showed that the proportion of early gastric cancer in surgically treated patients in the Republic of Korea increased from 39% in 2001 to 73% in 2016, whereas the proportion of early gastric cancer in the United States SEER data was almost stable at 23–26% from 2004 to 2016 [20].

3.9.7 Safety of gastric cancer screening and its effect on oesophageal cancer mortality

Endoscopy is a relatively safe procedure, but it sometimes leads to complications, such as bleeding or perforation. In a nationwide survey of about 2.1 million diagnostic endoscopies at 50 hospitals in 2013–2017, the incidence of bleeding was 0.012% and the incidence of perforation was 0.001% [21]. In addition, health insurance claims data in 2017 showed that in diagnostic upper endoscopies in outpatient departments the rate of bleeding was 0.028% and the rate of perforation was 0.003% [21]. The KNCSP for

gastric cancer, which uses endoscopy, is associated with fewer adverse events, and these are tolerated given the benefits of screening.

Oesophageal cancer usually has a poor prognosis, because of its rapid growth and early metastasis. It can be detected during gastric cancer screening using endoscopy or UGIS. A population-based cohort study using the KNCSP database included 16 969 patients diagnosed with oesophageal cancer in 2007–2014 [22]. Oesophageal cancer mortality decreased significantly, by 50%, in participants who were screened with endoscopy (adjusted HR, 0.50; 95% CI, 0.46–0.53). In contrast to findings for gastric cancer, screening with UGIS effectively reduced oesophageal cancer mortality (HR, 0.78, 95% CI, 0.75–0.84) [22].

3.9.8 H. pylori infection rates

H. pylori infection is the most important and easily modifiable risk factor for the development of gastric cancer. In 2016–2017, the seroprevalence of *H. pylori* infection in the asymptomatic Korean population aged > 18 years was 43.9% [23]. Over the past two decades, the *H. pylori* infection rate has decreased, from 66.9% in 1998 to 59.6% in 2005 and 54.4% in 2011. From 1998 to 2016–2017, *H. pylori* seroprevalence decreased in all age groups; the decrease was largest in the age group 30–39 years (from 74% to 29%) and smallest in the age group ≥ 70 years (from 67% to 52%) (Fig. 3.9.2) [23]. The proportion of patients with a history of *H. pylori* eradication increased, from 13.9% in 2005 to 19.3% in 2011 and 23.5% in 2017. The decrease in *H. pylori* seroprevalence and the increase in history of *H. pylori* eradication are expected to affect the incidence of gastric cancer in the Republic of Korea [23].



Fig. 3.9.2. Trends in the seroprevalence of *H. pylor*i infection in asymptomatic individuals without a history of *H. pylori* eradication therapy, stratified by age group, in 1998, 2005, 2011, and 2016–2017. Adapted from Lim et al. (2018) [23]. © 2018 Lim et al. Article available under the Creative Commons CC BY 4.0.

3.9.9 H. pylori treatment trial for prevention of metachronous gastric cancer

The primary prevention strategy of eradicating *H. pylori* infection has not been incorporated into the KNCSP. However, the *Helicobacter pylori* Eradication for Gastric Cancer Prevention in the General Population (HELPER) trial, a large-scale clinical trial (see Section 3.9.11), is currently investigating this strategy in the general population in the Republic of Korea. This is because a primary prevention trial should be performed in a large-scale, long-term follow-up study. A study in a high-risk group can make a clinical trial feasible by reducing the size of the study population needed, reducing the follow-up duration required, and improving the compliance of the study participants.

The first such study was performed in a group at very high risk who underwent endoscopic resection for early gastric cancer, to show that eradicating *H. pylori* infection

could reduce the risk of the development of new gastric cancer (i.e. metachronous gastric cancer) [24]. A total of 396 patients were included in the study from 2003 to 2013. During the 13 years (median, 5.9 years) of follow-up, metachronous gastric cancer developed in 7.2% (14 of 194) of participants in the treatment group and in 13.4% (27 of 202) of participants in the placebo group (HR in the treatment group, 0.5; P = 0.03) (Fig. 3.9.3A) [24]. In the analysis according to the *H. pylori* eradication status after treatment, metachronous gastric cancer developed in 14.0% (32 of 228) of the patients with persistent *H. pylori* infection and in 5.4% (9 of 167) of the patients in whom *H. pylori* infection had been eradicated (HR in patients with eradicated infection, 0.32; P = 0.002).

The study also showed that improvement in the grade of atrophy in the gastric body was more frequent in the treatment group than in the placebo group (48.4% vs 15.0%; P < 0.001). In addition, improvement in the grade of intestinal metaplasia in the gastric body was more frequent in the treatment group than in the placebo group (36.6% vs 18.3%; P < 0.001) [24].

3.9.10 *H. pylori* treatment trial in first-degree family members of patients with gastric cancer

The second study in a high-risk group included first-degree relatives of patients with gastric cancer, who had an almost 3-fold increased risk of gastric cancer (OR, 2.92; 95% Cl, 2.402–3.552) [26]. A total of 1838 participants with *H. pylori* infection were enrolled in this study in 2004–2011 [25]. During the 14 years (median, 9.2 years) of follow-up, gastric cancer developed in 1.2% (10 of 832) of participants in the treatment group and in 2.7% (23 of 844) of participants in the placebo group (HR in the treatment group, 0.45; P = 0.03) (Fig. 3.9.3B). In the analysis according to the *H. pylori* eradication status after treatment, gastric cancer developed in 2.9% (28 of 979) of the patients with persistent *H. pylori* infection and in 0.8% (5 of 608) of the patients in whom *H. pylori* infection had been eradicated (HR in patients with eradication of infection, 0.27; 95% Cl, 0.10–0.70) [25].



Fig. 3.9.3. Cumulative incidence of gastric cancer after treatment for *H. pylori* infection. (A) Kaplan–Meier curves for the cumulative incidence of metachronous gastric cancer starting 1 year after endoscopic resection of gastric cancer. During a median follow-up of 5.9 years, metachronous gastric cancer developed in 7.2% (14 of 194) of participants in the treatment group and in 13.4% (27 of 202) of participants in the placebo group. (B) Kaplan–Meier curves for the primary outcome of development of gastric cancer. During a median follow-up of 9.2 years, gastric cancer developed in 1.2% (10 of 832) of participants in the treatment group and in 2.7% (23 of 844) participants in the placebo group. The inset shows the same data on an enlarged *y* axis. (A) Reprinted from Choi et al. (2018) [24]. Copyright © 2024 Massachusetts Medical Society. (B) Reprinted from Choi et al. (2020) [25]. Copyright © 2024 Massachusetts Medical Society. Reprinted with permission from Massachusetts Medical Society. Reprinted with permission from Massachusetts Medical Society.

H. pylori treatment with triple therapy of a proton pump inhibitor, clarithromycin, and amoxicillin, which has shown an eradication rate of about 70%, could reduce the risk of gastric cancer by 55% in family members of patients with gastric cancer in the absence of further rescue therapy. In the secondary outcome analysis, patients with confirmed eradication of *H. pylori* infection had a 73% lower risk of gastric cancer compared with those with persistent *H. pylori* infection [25]. Therefore, tests for successful *H. pylori* eradication should be performed to increase the effectiveness of gastric cancer prevention.

3.9.11 HELPER trial in the general population

In collaboration with IARC, a large population-based trial (the HELPER study) was initiated in 2014 to evaluate whether *H. pylori* treatment can reduce the risk of gastric

cancer in the asymptomatic general population in the Republic of Korea (ClinicalTrials.gov ID, NCT02112214). The study had screened *H. pylori* infection status in > 12 000 Korean individuals at average risk who had participated in the KNCSP until 2019. Individuals with *H. pylori* infection were randomized to receive either bismuth quadruple therapy for *H. pylori* eradication or placebo. The participants will undergo biennial endoscopy through the KNCSP for 10 years, and an interim analysis is planned after a 6-year follow-up period if two thirds of the expected target number of gastric cancers have developed by that time point. As of December 2024, about 35 cases of gastric cancer (> 60% of the target number) had been reported. The primary outcome of the trial is the incidence of gastric cancer in the treatment and placebo groups. The study will provide high-quality evidence on the *H. pylori* eradication strategy for gastric cancer prevention in the average-risk population in the Republic of Korea; the KNCSP will be modified according to the results of the trial.

3.9.12 Criteria for H. pylori treatment in the KNHIS

In 2024, *H. pylori* treatment was permitted by the Korean National Health Insurance Service (KNHIS) for patients with the following indications: (i) peptic ulcer disease (benign gastric ulcer and duodenal ulcer), (ii) low-grade mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue (MALT) lymphoma, (iii) post-treatment (endoscopic resection or surgical resection) status of early gastric cancer, (iv) idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura, and (v) post-endoscopic resection status of gastric adenoma. *H. pylori* treatment for patients with post-treatment status has been included since 2018 based on the results of a randomized controlled trial of patients with early gastric cancer who underwent endoscopic resection [24]. The KNHIS does not yet cover *H. pylori* treatment for first-degree relatives of patients with gastric cancer or for healthy asymptomatic individuals with atrophic gastritis; however, *H. pylori* treatment can be prescribed if patients pay all the costs for the treatment. The indications for *H. pylori* treatment covered by the KNHIS are expected to expand based on the results of the HELPER study.

3.9.13 Trial of low-dose aspirin for prevention of metachronous gastric cancer

Aspirin is a promising chemopreventive drug for gastrointestinal tract cancers, particularly colorectal cancer. A meta-analysis reported that long-term aspirin use was associated with a reduced risk of gastrointestinal cancers, including gastric cancer [27]. The National Cancer Center started a randomized clinical trial to show that daily use of

low-dose (100 mg) aspirin for 5 years can reduce the risk of new gastric cancer in patients with early gastric cancer after endoscopic resection (ClinicalTrials.gov ID, NCT04214990). About 1700 participants will be recruited by 2025, and participants will be followed up until 2030.

3.9.14 Assessment of gastric cancer risk by evaluation of atrophy

Atrophic gastritis is the main risk factor for the development of gastric cancer. An objective and accurate assessment of the severity of gastric atrophy is essential for proper risk stratification. The most common methods include endoscopic evaluation, serological tests for pepsinogen I and II levels, and histological assessment.

Endoscopic assessment using the Kimura–Takemoto classification is a non-invasive method for evaluating gastric atrophy [28]. Interobserver variation for this assessment is high, especially among inexperienced endoscopists, and agreement rates can improve after training [29].

The pepsinogen test is a serological test. A serum pepsinogen I level of < 70 mg/mL and a serum pepsinogen I/II ratio of < 3 are accepted criteria for severe gastric glandular atrophy. This method is objective and non-invasive, but the absence of reference value standardization among commercially available test kits is a major limitation. Test results are usually affected by *H. pylori* status, age, sex, smoking, alcohol consumption, dietary habits, hormone levels, and use of medication [30, 31].

The updated Sydney system suggests using a visual analogue scale for biopsy specimens obtained from the antrum including the gastric angle and from the corpus for the histological assessment of atrophy or intestinal metaplasia [32]. Although histological assessment can be considered the reference standard for evaluation of gastric atrophy, interobserver agreement was low among gastrointestinal pathologists in the Republic of Korea, especially for atrophy (kappa value, 0.19 for atrophy; 0.52 for intestinal metaplasia) [33]. Interobserver variability can be reduced by consensus among pathologists and education.

The Operative Link on Gastritis Assessment (OLGA) and the Operative Link on Gastric Intestinal Metaplasia Assessment (OLGIM) have been suggested to estimate the risk of gastric cancer development using histological data from the updated Sydney system [34, 35]. In Korean patients with gastric cancer, high-risk stages (OLGA or

244

OLGIM stages III and IV) were associated with risk of intestinal-type gastric cancer but not with risk of diffuse-type gastric cancer [36]. In the general population in the Republic of Korea, the proportion of high-risk OLGA stages was 6.9% for ages < 40 years but increased gradually, to 23.0% for ages 40–49 years, 29.1% for ages 50–59 years, and 41.1% for ages 60–69 years [37]. A study in Italy with 1755 participants showed that OLGA stages III and IV could reliably predict gastric cancer development [38]. Therefore, a long-term prospective study in the Republic of Korea is urgently needed to evaluate the usefulness of the OLGA and OLGIM systems. The most accurate and cost-effective of the three methods for assessment of atrophy (endoscopic, serological, and histological) should be determined to effectively select high-risk groups from the general population in the Republic of Korea.

3.9.15 Future directions

H. pylori infection and gastric atrophy are two major factors to consider in the risk stratification of gastric cancer. In the Republic of Korea, most patients with gastric cancer have current or past *H. pylori* infection. However, the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection in the younger age group has continuously decreased. The current KNCSP for gastric cancer recommends endoscopy screening with a 2-year interval without risk stratification for adults aged \geq 40 years. This policy may result in overutilization of medical resources, a high socioeconomic burden, or problems associated with overdiagnosis.

The following areas of research are urgently needed to modify the KNCSP by introducing the primary prevention strategy of *H. pylori* eradication into the current secondary prevention strategy. First, the effect of *H. pylori* eradication on gastric cancer incidence and mortality rates should be properly evaluated in high-quality clinical trials involving the general population. Second, proper estimation of the association of atrophy or intestinal metaplasia with risk of gastric cancer after *H. pylori* eradication should be performed. Third, the differential effects of *H. pylori* infection and gastric atrophy according to the histological type of gastric cancer should be determined, because intestinal-type and diffuse-type gastric cancer (i.e. at ages < 40 years) was also associated with *H. pylori* infection needs to be determined.

In the Republic of Korea, the effects of endoscopy in gastric cancer screening programmes to reduce gastric cancer mortality have been well established. Further improvement of this secondary screening strategy by introducing surveillance based on gastric cancer risk factors, such as *H. pylori* infection and gastric atrophy, is required. The ongoing large prospective trial in the National Cancer Center, in collaboration with the HELPER trial and a prospective cohort study with well-defined endoscopic, histological, and serological data, will provide answers to many of these critical questions.

References

- Park EH, Jung KW, Park NJ, Kang MJ, Yun EH, Kim H-J, et al.; Community of Population-Based Regional Cancer Registries (2024). Cancer statistics in Korea: incidence, mortality, survival, and prevalence in 2021. Cancer Res Treat. 56(2):357–71. <u>https://doi.org/10.4143/crt.2024.253</u> <u>PMID:38487832</u>
- 2. Korean Statistical Information Service (2024). National cancer statistics Korea, 2021. Available from: https://kosis.kr/statHtml/statHtml.do?orgId=117&tblId=DT_117N_A00022&conn_path=I2.
- Trinh TTK, Lee YY, Suh M, Jun JK, Choi KS (2022). Changes in cancer screening before and during COVID-19: findings from the Korean National Cancer Screening Survey 2019 and 2020. Epidemiol Health. 44:e2022051. <u>https://doi.org/10.4178/epih.e2022051</u> PMID:35638224
- Lee K, Suh M, Jun JK, Choi KS (2022). Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on gastric cancer screening in South Korea: results from the Korean National Cancer Screening Survey (2017–2021). J Gastric Cancer. 22(4):264–72. <u>https://doi.org/10.5230/jgc.2022.22.e36</u> <u>PMID:36316105</u>
- Jung KW, Kang MJ, Park EH, Yun EH, Kim H-J, Kim J-E, et al. (2024). Prediction of cancer incidence and mortality in Korea, 2024. Cancer Res Treat. 56(2):372–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.4143/crt.2024.252</u> PMID:38487833
- Kim YI, Choi IJ (2022). Current evidence for a paradigm shift in gastric cancer prevention from endoscopic screening to *Helicobacter pylori* eradication in Korea. J Gastric Cancer. 22(3):169–83. <u>https://doi.org/10.5230/jgc.2022.22.e22</u> PMID:35938364
- Park SH, Kang MJ, Yun EH, Jung K-W (2022). Epidemiology of gastric cancer in Korea: trends in incidence and survival based on Korea Central Cancer Registry data (1999–2019). J Gastric Cancer. 22(3):160–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.5230/jgc.2022.22.e21</u> <u>PMID:35938363</u>
- Kim Y, Jun JK, Choi KS, Lee HY, Park EC (2011). Overview of the national cancer screening programme and the cancer screening status in Korea. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 12(3):725–30. <u>PMID:21627372</u>
- 9. Yoo KY (2008). Cancer control activities in the Republic of Korea. Jpn J Clin Oncol. 38(5):327–33. https://doi.org/10.1093/jjco/hyn026 PMID:18407932
- 10. Choi KS, Suh M (2014). Screening for gastric cancer: the usefulness of endoscopy. Clin Endosc. 47(6):490–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.5946/ce.2014.47.6.490</u> PMID:25505713
- Ryu JE, Choi E, Lee K, Jun JK, Suh M, Jung KW, et al. (2022). Trends in the performance of the Korean National Cancer Screening Program for gastric cancer from 2007 to 2016. Cancer Res Treat. 54(3):842–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.4143/crt.2021.482</u> <u>PMID:34607395</u>
- Hong S, Lee YY, Lee J, Kim Y, Choi KS, Jun JK, et al. (2021). Trends in cancer screening rates among Korean men and women: results of the Korean National Cancer Screening Survey, 2004–2018. Cancer Res Treat. 53(2):330–8. https://doi.org/10.4143/crt.2020.263 PMID:33091969
- Luu XQ, Lee K, Jun JK, Suh M, Choi KS (2023). Socioeconomic inequality in organized and opportunistic screening for gastric cancer: results from the Korean National Cancer Screening Survey 2009–2022. Front Public Health. 11:1256525. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2023.1256525</u> PMID:37876718
- Jun JK, Choi KS, Lee HY, Suh M, Park B, Song SH, et al. (2017). Effectiveness of the Korean National Cancer Screening Program in reducing gastric cancer mortality. Gastroenterology. 152(6):1319– 1328.e7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2017.01.029</u> PMID:28147224
- Kim H, Hwang Y, Sung H, Jang J, Ahn C, Kim SG, et al. (2018). Effectiveness of gastric cancer screening on gastric cancer incidence and mortality in a community-based prospective cohort. Cancer Res Treat. 50(2):582–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.4143/crt.2017.048</u> PMID:28602053
- Suh YS, Lee J, Woo H, Shin D, Kong S-H, Lee H-J, et al. (2020). National cancer screening program for gastric cancer in Korea: nationwide treatment benefit and cost. Cancer. 126(9):1929–39. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.32753 PMID:32031687</u>
- Choi KS, Jun JK, Suh M, Park B, Noh DK, Song SH, et al. (2015). Effect of endoscopy screening on stage at gastric cancer diagnosis: results of the National Cancer Screening Programme in Korea. Br J Cancer. 112(3):608–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2014.608</u> PMID:25490528
- Nam SY, Choi IJ, Park KW, Kim CG, Lee JY, Kook M-C, et al. (2009). Effect of repeated endoscopic screening on the incidence and treatment of gastric cancer in health screenees. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 21(8):855–60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/MEG.0b013e328318ed42</u> <u>PMID:19369882</u>
- Information Committee of the Korean Gastric Cancer Association (2021). Korean Gastric Cancer Association-led nationwide survey on surgically treated gastric cancers in 2019. J Gastric Cancer. 21(3):221–35. <u>https://doi.org/10.5230/jgc.2021.21.e27</u> <u>PMID:34691807</u>

- Huang RJ, Koh H, Hwang JH, Abnet CC, Alarid-Escudero F, Amieva MR, et al.; Summit Leaders (2020). A summary of the 2020 Gastric Cancer Summit at Stanford University. Gastroenterology. 159(4):1221–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2020.05.100</u> <u>PMID:32707045</u>
- Jung Y, Kim JW, Im JP, Cho YK, Lee TH, Jang J-Y (2022). Safety of gastrointestinal endoscopy in Korea: a nationwide survey and population-based study. J Korean Med Sci. 37(4):e24. <u>https://doi.org/10.3346/jkms.2022.37.e24</u> PMID:35075823
- 22. Kim JH, Han KD, Lee JK, Kim H-S, Cha JM, Park S, et al.; Big Data Research Group (BDRG) of the Korean Society of Gastroenterology (KSG) (2020). Association between the National Cancer Screening Programme (NSCP) for gastric cancer and oesophageal cancer mortality. Br J Cancer. 123(3):480–6. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41416-020-0883-x PMID:32398860
- 23. Lim SH, Kim N, Kwon JW, Kim SE, Baik GH, Lee JY, et al. (2018). Trends in the seroprevalence of *Helicobacter pylori* infection and its putative eradication rate over 18 years in Korea: a cross-sectional nationwide multicenter study. PLoS One. 13(10):e0204762. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0204762 PMID:30332428
- 24. Choi IJ, Kook MC, Kim YI, Cho S-J, Lee JY, Kim CG, et al. (2018). *Helicobacter pylori* therapy for the prevention of metachronous gastric cancer. N Engl J Med. 378(12):1085–95. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1708423 PMID:29562147
- 25. Choi IJ, Kim CG, Lee JY, Kim Y-I, Kook M-C, Park B, et al. (2020). Family history of gastric cancer and *Helicobacter pylori* treatment. N Engl J Med. 382(5):427–36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1909666</u> PMID:31995688
- Ligato I, Dottori L, Sbarigia C, Dilaghi E, Annibale B, Lahner E, et al. (2024). Systematic review and meta-analysis: risk of gastric cancer in patients with first-degree relatives with gastric cancer. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 59(5):606–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/apt.17872</u> <u>PMID:38197125</u>
- Rothwell PM, Fowkes FG, Belch JF, Ogawa H, Warlow CP, Meade TW (2011). Effect of daily aspirin on long-term risk of death due to cancer: analysis of individual patient data from randomised trials. Lancet. 377(9759):31–41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(10)62110-1</u> <u>PMID:21144578</u>
- 28. Quach DT, Hiyama T (2019). Assessment of endoscopic gastric atrophy according to the Kimura-Takemoto classification and its potential application in daily practice. Clin Endosc. 52(4):321–7. https://doi.org/10.5946/ce.2019.072 PMID:31327182
- 29. Jin EH, Chung SJ, Lim JH, Chung GE, Lee C, Yang JI, et al. (2018). Training effect on the interobserver agreement in endoscopic diagnosis and grading of atrophic gastritis according to level of endoscopic experience. J Korean Med Sci. 33(15):e117. <u>https://doi.org/10.3346/jkms.2018.33.e117</u> <u>PMID:29629520</u>
- 30. Kim YJ, Chung WC (2020). Is serum pepsinogen testing necessary in population-based screening for gastric cancer? Korean J Intern Med. 35(3):544–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.3904/kjim.2020.139</u> <u>PMID:32392661</u>
- 31. Tong Y, Wang H, Zhao Y, He X, Xu H, Li H, et al. (2021). Serum pepsinogen levels in different regions of China and its influencing factors: a multicenter cross-sectional study. BMC Gastroenterol. 21(1):264. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12876-021-01794-6</u> PMID:34118868
- Dixon MF, Genta RM, Yardley JH, Correa P (1996). Classification and grading of gastritis. The updated Sydney System. International Workshop on the Histopathology of Gastritis, Houston 1994. Am J Surg Pathol. 20(10):1161–81. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00000478-199610000-00001</u> PMID:8827022
- 33. Kim SS, Kook MC, Shin OR, Kim HS, Bae H-I, Seo AN, et al. (2018). Factors to improve the interobserver agreement for gastric atrophy and intestinal metaplasia: consensus of definition and criteria. Histopathology. 72(5):838–45. https://doi.org/10.1111/his.13442 PMID:29161756
- Rugge M, Correa P, Di Mario F, El-Omar E, Fiocca R, Geboes K, et al. (2008). OLGA staging for gastritis: a tutorial. Dig Liver Dis. 40(8):650–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dld.2008.02.030</u> PMID:18424244
- Capelle LG, de Vries AC, Haringsma J, Ter Borg F, de Vries RA, Bruno MJ, et al. (2010). The staging of gastritis with the OLGA system by using intestinal metaplasia as an accurate alternative for atrophic gastritis. Gastrointest Endosc. 71(7):1150–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gie.2009.12.029</u> PMID:20381801
- 36. Cho SJ, Choi IJ, Kook MC, Nam B-H, Kim CG, Lee JY, et al. (2013). Staging of intestinal- and diffusetype gastric cancers with the OLGA and OLGIM staging systems. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 38(10):1292–302. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/apt.12515</u> PMID:24134499
- Nam JH, Choi IJ, Kook MC, Lee JY, Cho S-J, Nam SY, et al. (2014). OLGA and OLGIM stage distribution according to age and *Helicobacter pylori* status in the Korean population. Helicobacter. 19(2):81–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.12112</u> PMID:24617667

 Rugge M, Meggio A, Pravadelli C, Barbareschi M, Fassan M, Gentilini M, et al. (2019). Gastritis staging in the endoscopic follow-up for the secondary prevention of gastric cancer: a 5-year prospective study of 1755 patients. Gut. 68(1):11–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2017-314600</u> PMID:29306868

Chapter 3.10.

Population-based *Helicobacter pylori* screen-and-treat strategy to prevent gastric cancer in the Matsu Islands

Yi-Chia Lee

Summary

- A population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme is an approach that can be used when upper endoscopic screening is limited by low population participation and insufficient human resources.
- Implementing this approach as a pilot programme targeting a high-risk subpopulation can demonstrate its acceptability, feasibility, and sustainability within a country.
- The pilot programme can be expanded to larger populations with varying levels of risk after the benefits to the population have been demonstrated through rigorous scientific evaluation and the potential harms have been assessed.
- Eradication of *H. pylori* as a strategy can potentially help to achieve the goal of eliminating gastric cancer as a public health problem.

3.10.1 Gastric cancer epidemiology in the Matsu Islands

The Matsu Islands consist of five major islands and are located in the East China Sea. A substantial proportion of the population of the Matsu Islands are immigrants from Changle, Lienchiang, and Mawei counties in Fujian Province, China. In Fujian Province, the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection has been reported as 70% and the incidence rate of gastric cancer has been high. In 1988, the age-standardized mortality rate of gastric cancer in men was 153 per 100 000 person-years in Changle County [1]. By 2019, the crude incidence rate of gastric cancer remained high, at 28 per 100 000 person-years, with rates of 39.5 per 100 000 person-years for males and 16.5 per 100 000 person-years for females [2].

The residents of the Matsu Islands have long experienced high gastric cancer incidence and mortality rates. The geographical location of the Matsu Islands (Fig. 3.10.1) has amplified the problem, and substantial barriers to health-care access exist because of the limited transportation links and human resources. In 1985, the crude incidence rate of gastric cancer in the Matsu Islands was reported to be 100 per 100 000 person-years and remained at about 40 per 100 000 person-years until the initiation of an *H. pylori* screening programme in 2004. The age-standardized rate was about 30 per 100 000 person-years in 2000–2004, with rates of 50.3 per 100 000 person-years for males and 13.7 per 100 000 person-years for females [3].



Fig. 3.10.1. Geographical location of the Matsu Islands. The Matsu Islands are located in the East China Sea and are composed of dozens of islands, including Nangan, Beigan, Juguang, and Dongyin. Note that nearby Fujian Province was also an area with prevalent *H. pylori* infection and a high incidence rate of gastric cancer. © Yi-Chia Lee.

3.10.2 Design of the gastric cancer prevention programme

A series of gastric cancer prevention programmes have been initiated in the Matsu Islands (Fig. 3.10.2), during three time periods. In 1995, an endoscopic screening programme was implemented using serological biomarkers, including pepsinogen testing, to identify high-risk individuals. People who tested positive would be referred for
upper endoscopic screening and histological sampling, which is a typical procedure for secondary prevention [5]. The sustainability of this programme had several challenges. First, the pepsinogen test was designed to detect premalignant conditions rather than gastric cancer, resulting in a high positivity rate of 43%, which exceeded the capacity of the available human resources providing endoscopy services. Second, the endoscopic referral rate was suboptimal because of the reluctance of participants to undergo an invasive procedure. Third, the endoscopic screening programme needed to be designed as a regular procedure rather than a one-time event, to capture new-onset early-stage cancer. These three challenges led to a low gastric cancer detection rate, and consequently the programme was terminated in 1999.



People aged 30 years or older and registered on the Household Registration Administration System

Fig. 3.10.2. Timeline of the gastric cancer prevention programmes implemented in the Matsu Islands. EGD, oesophago-gastro-duodenoscopy; ¹³C-UBT, ¹³C-urea breath test; HP, *Helicobacter pylori*. Adapted with permission from Chiang et al. (2021) [4]. Copyright © 2021, Chiang et al. Published by BMJ Publishing Group Ltd. Article available under the Creative Commons CC BY-NC 4.0.

However, for individuals who underwent endoscopic screening, a biopsy of the gastric mucosa was performed to assess the presence and severity of chronic non-

atrophic gastritis, atrophic gastritis, and intestinal metaplasia in the histology. From these histological changes observed over time, a multistate model showed that progression from normal gastric mucosa to chronic gastritis was significantly accelerated in individuals who tested positive for *H. pylori* infection [5, 6]. The results from the model suggested that eradicating *H. pylori* may reduce progression by 37% in the early stages of carcinogenesis. In addition, a randomized clinical trial conducted in Changle County, Fujian Province, China, published in 2004, enrolled 1630 individuals with *H. pylori* infection and demonstrated that *H. pylori* eradication reduced the risk of gastric cancer by 37% in participants who received eradication treatment compared with those who received a placebo [1]. Although results of the primary analyses were statistically non-significant, post hoc analyses indicated that the effect was significant in participants without premalignant gastric conditions [1]. These studies [1, 5, 6] laid the foundation for the subsequent primary prevention strategy.

In 2004, an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme targeting the general population was initiated in the Matsu Islands. The programme was implemented biennially to include new immigrants to the Matsu Islands and younger participants who reached the eligible age for screening. By 2024, eight rounds of the screen-and-treat programme had been completed. The programme's sustainability was attributed to the supportive framework established by the local government, the use of an easy-to-administer screening test, and effective eradication treatments, accompanied by higher population awareness about *H. pylori* as a pathogen in the stomach. Meanwhile, the involvement of a community-based integrated screening committee in the evaluation of the programme provided a strong scientific basis for pursuing support for continuous funding [7].

After the population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme had been implemented, the occurrence of gastric cancer gradually became rare, although gastric cancer still persists. Efforts to investigate effective methods for stratifying the posteradication population based on the residual risk of gastric cancer have been continuing. This initiative has been integrated into the programme since 2015.

3.10.3 Recruitment and eligibility criteria

The population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme followed the principles of an organized screening programme by ensuring that everyone in the target population had an equal opportunity to participate in screening and that if a screening test result was abnormal, the individual would receive the standardized management. The age of eligibility to enter this programme was set at 30 years or older, which was considered a frequent starting age for a primary cancer prevention programme, and the participant's household registration needed to be in the Matsu Islands. Pregnant or lactating women and individuals who had undergone total gastrectomy were excluded. Patients with major comorbid diseases were also excluded because of concerns about the feasibility of the use of multidrug antibiotic regimens if these patients tested positive.

3.10.4 Implementation

Eligible residents were invited via mail, telephone, social media, and newspapers to undergo screening for *H. pylori* using the ¹³C-urea breath test (¹³C-UBT), which was found to have advantages over other detection methods because of its ease of administration, high accuracy, and high stability during transportation [8] (see Chapter 5). The participants' demographic data, lifestyle habits, and medical history were recorded in a structured questionnaire. The *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme was included in a community-based integrated screening model (Box 3.10.1) [9].

Box 3.10.1. A community-based integrated screening model

Although single-disease screening strategies have documented benefits, it is worth integrating several of these strategies into a comprehensive screening programme to simultaneously detect multiple asymptomatic diseases, including both neoplastic and non-neoplastic chronic diseases. The benefits of this model include reducing the duplication of resources required for screening activities, enhancing attendance rates, and having the ability to identify possible associations between each test. For example, a model that integrates mammography, oral examinations, faecal occult blood tests, Pap smears, and biochemical blood tests into a single session has been implemented in the Matsu Islands since 2002, and this served as the platform for the *H. pylori* screen-and-treat approach.

The programme followed a test-treat-retest-retreat sequence in case of initial eradication failure. Individuals who tested positive received eradication treatment. Initially, the regimen was prescribed as follows: a 7–14-day triple therapy consisting of 40 mg of esomeprazole once a day, 1000 mg of amoxicillin twice a day, and

500 mg of clarithromycin twice a day. The updated regimen, used since 2012, was a 10-day sequential therapy consisting of 30 mg of lansoprazole and 1000 mg of amoxicillin twice a day for days 1–5, followed by 30 mg of lansoprazole, 500 mg of clarithromycin, and 500 mg of metronidazole twice a day for days 6–10 or the 14-day triple therapy [10]. The eradication was confirmed 6–8 weeks after the completion of treatment by recalling people and testing for *H. pylori* using the ¹³C-UBT. Individuals for whom the initial treatment failed were retreated with a 10-day triple therapy consisting of 40 mg of esomeprazole once a day, 1000 mg of amoxicillin twice a day, and 500 mg of levofloxacin once a day. The eradication was confirmed again at 6–8 weeks after the completion of treatment. Individuals in whom eradication was not achieved after two courses of treatment underwent individualized treatment according to the results of antibiotic susceptibility tests.

Upper endoscopy was optional for participants with H. pylori infection, and whether it was offered was determined primarily based on clinical indications. including symptoms, a family history of gastric cancer, surveillance for gastric precancerous conditions, or the presence of antibiotic-resistant H. pylori. In addition to the identification of any lesions suspicious of being cancerous, endoscopic examination was used to evaluate the prevalence and severity of precancerous gastric lesions using the modified Sydney classification with biopsy of the antrum and the body, as acute inflammation (polymorphonuclear infiltrates), chronic inflammation (lymphoplasmacytic infiltrates), atrophic gastritis (loss of glandular tissue and fibrous replacement), and intestinal metaplasia (presence of goblet cells and absorptive cells). The severity of each category was rated as none, mild, moderate, or marked [11]. The histological results were subsequently classified according to the Operative Link on Gastritis Assessment (OLGA) and the Operative Link on Gastric Intestinal Metaplasia Assessment (OLGIM) criteria [12, 13]. The prevalence of precancerous gastric lesions could serve as a surrogate outcome for gastric cancer and support the programme's effectiveness, although the participants who underwent endoscopy may differ from the general participant population. The prevalence of peptic ulcer disease was a subsidiary outcome of the programme.

All tests and treatments were provided free of charge, supported by the programme funding. The endoscopic examination was reimbursed through the country's universal health insurance.

3.10.5 Outcome assessment

Screening data were recorded by the staff of the Bureau of Health of the Matsu Islands and analysed by the community-based integrated screening committee. Outcomes of incident gastric cancer and death from gastric cancer were ascertained from the Cancer Registry and the Death Registry. The population at risk was determined by searching the databases of the Household Registration Administration System (Fig. 3.10.2). The outcome assessment included the evaluation of short-term indicators, intermediate-term indicators, and long-term indicators (see Chapter 8). Because of the small population size of the Matsu Islands, the programme was initiated in 2004 to enrol all eligible individuals, to assess the acceptability and feasibility of the programme [8]. This assessment included evaluations of short-term indicators such as participation rate, test positivity rate, referral rate after positive test results, eradication rate, and endoscopic findings. The sustainability of the treatment effects was assessed, and a second round was scheduled for 2008 to evaluate the *H. pylori* prevalence and the *H. pylori* reinfection rate.

After the implementation of the programme, a cost–effectiveness analysis using the initial data was conducted to simulate the long-term effects on gastric cancer outcomes and the associated medical costs [14] (see Chapter 9). The results of these analyses were compared with the results of the pepsinogen-based endoscopic screening programme. The findings indicated that screening for *H. pylori* could be as effective as endoscopic surveillance in reducing the mortality rate associated with gastric cancer. However, starting the primary prevention programme earlier in life was more cost-effective than beginning the secondary prevention strategy at a later age; this supports the implementation of the primary preventive initiative.

To assess the real-world effectiveness of the preventive programme for the intermediate-term indicators, the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection, the *H. pylori* reinfection rate, and the screening coverage rate were evaluated. The prevalence of premalignant gastric conditions, including atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia, was used as a surrogate outcome for gastric cancer.

The long-term indicators of gastric cancer incidence and mortality rates were evaluated using a quasi-experimental design, comparing the outcome variables before and after the mass screening. This evaluation made adjustments for history effects that

256

are unrelated to the screening programme, and for improvements that would have occurred with no active intervention, on the decreasing trend of gastric cancer. Taking the gastric cancer incidence rate as the example, data from the pre-intervention period (before 2004) were used to form the historical control group (or the natural history model) (see Chapter 9), considering the downward trends of gastric cancer incidence due to improvements in sanitation and hygiene, as well as the effects of opportunistic *H. pylori* treatment. The parameters estimated from this period were used to formulate the prediction model to estimate the expected number of gastric cancer cases. When the expected number of gastric cancer incidence are sis compared with the observed number of cases, the effectiveness of the population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme in reducing gastric cancer incidence can be calculated: $(1 - observed/expected number) \times 100\%$ [15]. The prevalence of peptic ulcer disease was evaluated in a similar manner.

The gastric cancer incidence and mortality trends could also be used to formulate another prediction model, by extending these trends to 2030. The goal was to predict when the intervention could effectively make gastric cancer a rare disease, such as with an age-standardized incidence rate of < 4 per 100 000 person-years [16].

3.10.6 Benefits of the programme

For the short-term indicators, the first round of screening in 2004 had a participation rate of about 83% for the ¹³C-UBT, with a baseline *H. pylori* infection rate of 64.2%. The second round of the programme was carried out in 2008. By this time, the *H. pylori* prevalence was about 15%; therefore, screening was carried out on a biennial schedule. By 2024, the programme had effectively reduced the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection to about 10% (Fig. 3.10.3) [4]. The referral rate to treatment was about 93%.

For the intermediate-term indicators, the programme's population-level effectiveness in reducing *H. pylori* prevalence was estimated to be > 80%. For individuals who had previously had successful *H. pylori* eradication therapy, the *H. pylori* reinfection rate was estimated to be about 0.35 per 100 person-years (Fig. 3.10.3). By 2024, the screening coverage rate was > 90% and the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection was 9.2%. Most people with *H. pylori* infection are new immigrants or younger participants who have recently become eligible for screening. For the surrogate outcomes of gastric histologies, the prevalence of both atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia was reduced (Fig. 3.10.4) [4]. The prevalence of atrophic gastritis decreased from 60% to about 2%, and the prevalence of intestinal metaplasia decreased from 32% to about 12%. The severity of the diseases also decreased, leading to diseases with high-grade OLGA and OLGIM stage becoming rare.



Fig. 3.10.3. Prevalence and reinfection rates of *H. pylori* infection in the Matsu Islands. The upper (solid) line shows the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection, and the lower (dashed) line shows the reinfection rates. Adapted with permission from Chiang et al. (2021) [4]. Copyright © 2021, Chiang et al. Published by BMJ Publishing Group Ltd. Article available under the Creative Commons CC BY-NC 4.0.



Fig. 3.10.4. Prevalence of precancerous gastric lesions according to the (top) Operative Link on Gastritis Assessment (OLGA) and (bottom) Operative Link on Gastric Intestinal Metaplasia Assessment (OLGIM) grading systems. Adapted with permission from Chiang et al. (2021) [4]. Copyright © 2021, Chiang et al. Published by BMJ Publishing Group Ltd. Article available under the Creative Commons CC BY-NC 4.0.

The results from the long-term indicators (i.e. the primary outcomes) showed a statistically significant reduction of 56% in the gastric cancer incidence rate until the end of 2021, compared with the pre-intervention period (Fig. 3.10.5). The gastric cancer mortality rate decreased by 36%, although this result was not statistically significant. Extrapolating these trends indicates that by 2030, reductions of 69% for gastric cancer incidence and of 57% for gastric cancer mortality would be expected. By 2030, the incidence rate of gastric cancer could potentially decrease to < 4 per 100 000 person-years, which is the threshold for considering that gastric cancer has been successfully eliminated as a public health problem [17]. For individuals who underwent endoscopy, the prevalence of active peptic ulcers decreased from 11% in 2004 to 3.6% in 2008, which is a reduction of 67.4% [15]. Since 2008, active peptic ulcers have become rare.



Fig. 3.10.5. Incidence and mortality rates of gastric cancer between 1995 and 2021, correlated with the start of the population-based screen-and-treat programme in 2004. The magnitude of risk reduction was determined by comparing the expected number of cases, based on the crude incidence rate (top) and the crude mortality rate (bottom) of gastric cancer between 1995 and 2003, with the observed number of cases during the population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat period. The dashed lines indicate the predicted trend to 2030 using Poisson regression models. CI, confidence interval. Adapted with permission from Chiang et al. (2021) [4]. Copyright © 2021, Chiang et al. Published by BMJ Publishing Group Ltd. Article available under the Creative Commons CC BY-NC 4.0.

3.10.7 Evaluation of possible harms

For the participants who received antibiotics, the most common adverse effects were taste distortion and diarrhoea, which each affected about 10% of participants. Fewer than 3% of participants discontinued the medication because of adverse effects [10]. No substantial adverse events were reported related to the endoscopic examination. Several approaches were used to evaluate the possible harms associated with widespread antibiotic eradication treatments.

First, for the antibiotic-resistant strains, in 2014 the resistance rate of H. pylori to amoxicillin was 0.8%, to metronidazole was 21.3%, to clarithromycin was 9.2%, to levofloxacin was 8.4%, and to tetracycline was 4.1%. By 2018, the resistance rate of H. pylori to amoxicillin was 1.0%, to metronidazole was 22.4%, to clarithromycin was 10.2%, to levofloxacin was 10.2%, and to tetracycline was 4.1%. The antibiotic resistance rates of H. pylori across four successive screening rounds did not show a statistically significant change (Fig. 3.10.6) [4], although there were modest increases in resistance rates to metronidazole, clarithromycin, and levofloxacin. Second, with respect to other diseases in the digestive tract, there was an initial increase in the prevalence of reflux oesophagitis [15], although the prevalence remained stable during the longer follow-up period [4]. Third, monitoring of the population cancer registry is ongoing for other cancer types. The incidence rates of oesophageal cancer (predominantly squamous cell carcinoma) and colorectal cancer before and after the mass eradication programme did not show statistically significant changes. In addition, the population microbiota in the Matsu Islands is being explored and compared with that of another, intervention-naive population [18].



Fig. 3.10.6. Evaluation of the primary antibiotic resistance of *H. pylori* in the Matsu Islands; 95% confidence intervals are displayed on the bars. Adapted with permission from Chiang et al. (2021) [4]. Copyright © 2021, Chiang et al. Published by BMJ Publishing Group Ltd. Article available under the Creative Commons CC BY-NC 4.0.

3.10.8 Extending the Matsu Islands experience to other communities

The success of the gastric cancer prevention programme in the Matsu Islands has led to the dissemination of its preventive strategy to other health-care authorities. Because these programmes involve much larger eligible populations, they have been implemented with more systematic approaches to both the process and the outcome measurements. Given that gastric cancer risk and health-care infrastructure vary between populations, a greater emphasis has been placed on standardizing programme quality to maximize efficiency. This began by assessing the needs and readiness for H. pylori screening in the population, taking into account six key domains: the disease burden, the eligibility criteria for screening, health-care infrastructure, testing, treatment, and participation (see Chapter 4). The first population was the residents living in Changhua County, with crude and age-standardized gastric cancer incidence rates of about 14 and 10 per 100 000 person-years, respectively, in 2008-2012 [3]. For colorectal cancer, the crude and age-standardized incidence rates were 58 and 41 per 100 000 person-years, respectively. A population-wide screening programme for colorectal cancer has been in place since 2004 using the faecal immunochemical test [19]. Within this established screening framework, almost all criteria across various

domains for needs and readiness for *H. pylori* screening have been met (see Chapter 4), especially because the cold-chain transportation of stool samples is already in place. However, for the colorectal screening programme, there is still room for improvement in the participation rates for faecal occult blood testing. The addition of a stool test for *H. pylori* infection, alongside the health benefits associated with *H. pylori* management, may increase people's willingness to participate in the screening programme.

In 2014, after a 2-year pilot programme [20], a pragmatic randomized clinical trial was launched in Changhua County for individuals aged 50-69 years at average risk of colorectal cancer [18]. Standardized quality indicators were used to ensure consistency in how the screening was conducted, interpreted, and managed across the 26 townships involved. This programme aimed to provide individuals with the benefits of H. pylori eradication treatment for gastric cancer prevention (primary prevention) while also enabling early detection of colorectal cancer (secondary prevention). In a comparison between 63 508 individuals invited for dual stool screening and 88 995 individuals invited for single faecal occult blood testing, the participation rate increased by about 14% for dual stool screening. At about 5.5 years of follow-up in the clinical trial, a 14% reduction in gastric cancer incidence was observed, although this was not statistically significant. However, after adjusting for participation rates and differences in the baseline characteristics of the populations, the dual stool screening approach demonstrated a statistically significant reduction of 21% in gastric cancer incidence. In the participants in each group (~31 000 per group), there was a statistically significant reduction of 32% in gastric cancer incidence [21]. It took two decades to progress from the initial explanatory clinical trial assessing the effect of *H. pylori* eradication, in 2004 [1], to a pragmatic clinical trial evaluating the impact of *H. pylori* screening on gastric cancer incidence, in 2024 [21]. Based on the scientific evidence and the expanded inclusion of H. pylori treatment in health insurance coverage (Box 3.10.2), the population-based H. pylori screen-and-treat approach has been rolled out as a service screening since 2024.

Box 3.10.2. Road to coverage by the health insurance system

The traditional indication for *H. pylori* treatment was limited to patients with endoscopically proven peptic ulcers. The expansion of the screen-and-treat programme from the Matsu Islands to other communities highlighted the need to broaden the indications for *H. pylori* infection diagnosed by non-invasive testing. This proposal was submitted to the health insurance authority by the Gastroenterological Society on 1 November 2022 and was subsequently evaluated for cost–effectiveness and financial impact by the Center for Drug Evaluation at the request of the Health Promotion Administration. After the determination of appropriateness for coverage and the establishment of clinical guidelines, the results were reviewed by the Pharmaceutical Benefit and Reimbursement Scheme Joint Committee on 20 July 2024. This review involved discussions between policy-makers, the staff of the Food and Drug Administration, medical experts, and representatives of medical societies, insured people, and employers. Decisions about coverage are ultimately made based on evidence-based medicine, cost–effectiveness, affordability, and the overall improvement of public health outcomes. This policy was launched on 1 August 2024.

Continuous efforts have been made to identify high-risk populations by reviewing and stratifying gastric cancer incidence based on the annual cancer registration reports from across the country. The second population was Indigenous people, who are linguistically and culturally related to Austronesian peoples and reside primarily in remote and mountainous areas in Taitung County and Hualien County. The incidence rate of gastric cancer in Indigenous people is about 2–3 times that in non-Indigenous counterparts. In 2014, the crude and age-standardized gastric cancer incidence rates were about 25 and 23 per 100 000 person-years, respectively. Although there is a strong need for screening, the readiness for *H. pylori* screening had to overcome several challenges in various domains, particularly in the infrastructure for sending out invitations, test accuracy, reliable treatment, and uncertainties regarding participation. These barriers included administrative challenges, geographical distances, economic constraints, and cultural factors [22].

In 2018, screening and eradication of *H. pylori* were offered to individuals aged 20–60 years in Indigenous populations, using the ¹³C-UBT because of its stability during transportation [22]. This programme was specifically aimed at reducing health disparities related to gastric cancer, which are often more prevalent in populations with lower socioeconomic status, increased exposure to environmental risk factors such as *H. pylori* infection, lifestyle habits that facilitate *H. pylori* transmission within families, and greater barriers to accessing screening activities. To address these challenges, the programme was implemented alongside the development of an information technology system to manage the process and evaluate the outcomes, thus ensuring the quality of screening (see Chapter 8). As of 2023, the programme had successfully expanded from 16 to 55 Indigenous townships [23].

3.10.9 Further planned activities and future directions

The statistically significant reduction of 50% in gastric cancer incidence in the long-term cohort in the Matsu Islands and the projected reduction of about 70% by 2030 have confirmed the feasibility and applicability of adopting the *H. pylori* screening and eradication programme to decrease the gastric cancer burden. In the post-eradication period in the Matsu Islands, three noteworthy issues emerged, prompting the development of additional strategies.

First, the population in the Matsu Islands was dynamic, characterized by continuous immigration of individuals from other high-risk communities who potentially had a higher prevalence of *H. pylori* infection. This led to a persistent 10% prevalence of *H. pylori* infection despite the repeated mass screening efforts. In addition, the proportion of the population who were registered in the Matsu Islands but lived elsewhere increased, and these individuals potentially fell outside the coverage of screening services. However, the gastric cancer incident cases and deaths continue to be counted for the Matsu Islands [3]. This may contribute to the slower decrease in gastric cancer incidence and mortality rates. To address this issue, further extending the preventive strategies should be considered, to increase the regional coverage of screening services. This extension should be guided by gastric cancer statistics and corresponding data on *H. pylori* prevalence, coupled with cost–effectiveness analyses with outcome simulations [7].

Second, although *H. pylori* infection was highly associated with the occurrence of gastric cancer, *H. pylori* eradication was not able to completely eliminate the risk of

gastric cancer in cases in which chronic infection had existed for decades. Post-*H. pylori* eradication gastric cancer has become a topic of interest. To identify individuals with a residual risk of developing gastric cancer and to allocate the limited endoscopic resources, an effective endoscopic surveillance method is needed to enhance the early detection rate of gastric cancers. Although pepsinogen testing demonstrated effectiveness in predicting atrophic gastritis or intestinal metaplasia in the pre-eradication period [24], its accuracy would be reduced after *H. pylori* eradication. This reduced accuracy is partly because the improved histological findings and enhanced integrity of the gastric mucosal barrier may lead to decreased pepsinogen test results, and also because the genetic damage may persist despite histological improvement [25, 26].

Third, the grading of gastric histology may aid in risk stratification [27], although this may have limitations, such as lower coverage rates because it involves an invasive procedure, sampling variability in the location and number of biopsies from normal-appearing mucosa, and variability in histological interpretation for atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia. Ongoing projects are using big medical data and artificial intelligence to assist with histological grading (ClinicalTrials.gov ID, NCT05762991) and to assess the value of additional pepsinogen testing at the time of *H. pylori* testing (ClinicalTrials.gov ID, NCT03793335). The direct quantitative measure of genetic damage has also been shown to be promising in stratifying the residual risk [25]. These projects aim to improve the early detection rate of gastric cancers by incorporating individual-level characteristics, in addition to population screening for *H. pylori* infection, with the ultimate goal of reducing deaths related to gastric cancer.

3.10.10 How applicable are the lessons learned from the Matsu Islands?

The campaign against gastric cancer in the Matsu Islands, although small in scale, can serve as an example of how to start to intervene to reduce the burden of gastric cancer. It could act as a pilot programme that may be extended to larger populations with varying risk levels. Lessons learned from this programme can be generalized in several ways. First, regions facing similar challenges in health-care access, limited medical resources, and a high disease burden because of geographical barriers could benefit from adopting a similar approach. The initial considerations included infrastructure development, health-care workforce training, and community engagement (see the

checklist in Chapter 4). The execution of the programme should follow the organized screening principles of invitation, testing, referral to treatment, eradication treatment, and selected endoscopic examination for individuals who are clinically indicated (see Chapter 8). Second, the emphasis on the non-invasive screening test and effective eradication treatments in this programme can be generalized to other health-care contexts where human resources for endoscopy services are limited. In addition, the use of non-invasive methods can improve participants' acceptance and compliance. Third, the screening programme requires scientific evaluation. Outcome evaluation is invaluable, because evidence-based knowledge can be generated from the outcomes of the screening service, and this knowledge could be applicable to the broader context of health-care delivery.

References

- Wong BC, Lam SK, Wong WM, Chen JS, Zheng TT, Feng RE, et al.; China Gastric Cancer Study Group (2004). *Helicobacter pylori* eradication to prevent gastric cancer in a high-risk region of China: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 291(2):187–94. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.291.2.187</u> <u>PMID:14722144</u>
- 2. Fujian Cancer Prevention and Control Office (2023). Fujian Cancer Registry annual report [in Chinese]. Available from: <u>https://wjw.fujian.gov.cn/xxgk/gzdt/mtbd/202404/t20240417_6431437.htm</u>.
- 3. Health Promotion Administration (2024). Cancer registry data [in Chinese]. Available from: https://wjw.fujian.gov.cn/xxgk/gzdt/mtbd/202404/t20240417_6431437.htm.
- Chiang TH, Chang WJ, Chen SL, Yen AM, Fann JC, Chiu SY, et al. (2021). Mass eradication of *Helicobacter pylori* to reduce gastric cancer incidence and mortality: a long-term cohort study on Matsu Islands. Gut. 70(2):243–50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2020-322200</u> PMID:32792335
- Liu CY, Wu CY, Lin JT, Lee YC, Yen AM, Chen TH (2006). Multistate and multifactorial progression of gastric cancer: results from community-based mass screening for gastric cancer. J Med Screen. 13(Suppl 1):S2–5. <u>PMID:17227633</u>
- Correa P (1992). Human gastric carcinogenesis: a multistep and multifactorial process first American Cancer Society Award Lecture on Cancer Epidemiology and Prevention. Cancer Res. 52(24):6735–40.
 <u>PMID:1458460</u>
- Chiang TH, Cheng HC, Chuang SL, Chen Y-R, Hsu Y-H, Hsu T-H, et al. (2022). Mass screening and eradication of *Helicobacter pylori* as the policy recommendations for gastric cancer prevention. J Formos Med Assoc. 121(12):2378–92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfma.2022.08.012</u> PMID:36085264
- Lee YC, Wu HM, Chen TH, Liu T-Y, Chiu H-M, Chang C-C, et al. (2006). A community-based study of Helicobacter pylori therapy using the strategy of test, treat, retest, and re-treat initial treatment failures. Helicobacter. 11(5):418–24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-5378.2006.00432.x</u> PMID:16961802
- Chen TH, Chiu YH, Luh DL, Yen M-F, Wu H-M, Chen L-S, et al.; Taiwan Community-Based Integrated Screening Group (2004). Community-based multiple screening model: design, implementation, and analysis of 42,387 participants. Cancer. 100(8):1734–43. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.20171</u> <u>PMID:15073864</u>
- Liou JM, Chen CC, Chang CY, Chen M-J, Chen C-C, Fang Y-J, et al.; Taiwan Gastrointestinal Disease and Helicobacter Consortium (2016). Sequential therapy for 10 days versus triple therapy for 14 days in the eradication of *Helicobacter pylori* in the community and hospital populations: a randomised trial. Gut. 65(11):1784–92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2015-310142</u> <u>PMID:26338825</u>
- Dixon MF, Genta RM, Yardley JH, Correa P (1996). Classification and grading of gastritis. The updated Sydney System. International Workshop on the Histopathology of Gastritis, Houston 1994. Am J Surg Pathol. 20(10):1161–81. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00000478-199610000-00001</u> PMID:8827022
- Rugge M, Meggio A, Pennelli G, Piscioli F, Giacomelli L, De Pretis G, et al. (2007). Gastritis staging in clinical practice: the OLGA staging system. Gut. 56(5):631–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.2006.106666</u> <u>PMID:17142647</u>
- Capelle LG, de Vries AC, Haringsma J, Ter Borg F, de Vries RA, Bruno MJ, et al. (2010). The staging of gastritis with the OLGA system by using intestinal metaplasia as an accurate alternative for atrophic gastritis. Gastrointest Endosc. 71(7):1150–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gie.2009.12.029</u> PMID:20381801
- Lee YC, Lin JT, Wu HM, Liu T-Y, Yen M-F, Chiu H-M, et al. (2007). Cost-effectiveness analysis between primary and secondary preventive strategies for gastric cancer. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 16(5):875–85. <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-06-0758</u> PMID:17507609
- Lee YC, Chen TH, Chiu HM, Shun C-T, Chiang H, Liu T-Y, et al. (2013). The benefit of mass eradication of *Helicobacter pylori* infection: a community-based study of gastric cancer prevention. Gut. 62(5):676–82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2012-302240</u> PMID:22698649
- Singh D, Vignat J, Lorenzoni V, Eslahi M, Ginsburg O, Lauby-Secretan B, et al. (2023). Global estimates of incidence and mortality of cervical cancer in 2020: a baseline analysis of the WHO Global Cervical Cancer Elimination Initiative. Lancet Glob Health. 11(2):e197–206. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(22)00501-0 PMID:36528031</u>
- 17. WHO (2020). Global strategy to accelerate the elimination of cervical cancer as a public health problem. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240014107.
- 18. Lee YC, Chiang TH, Chiu HM, Wu M-S, Yeh Y-P, Hsiu-Hsi Chen T; Collaborators of the Taiwan Community-Based Integrated Screening Group (2021). Community-based gastric cancer screening

coupled with a national colorectal cancer screening program: baseline results. Gastroenterology. 160(6):2159–2161.e4. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2021.01.008</u> PMID:33444571

- Lee YC, Hsu CY, Chen SL, Yen AM-F, Chiu SY-H, Fann JC-Y, et al. (2019). Effects of screening and universal healthcare on long-term colorectal cancer mortality. Int J Epidemiol. 48(2):538–48. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyy182 PMID:30184208</u>
- IARC Helicobacter pylori Working Group (2014). Helicobacter pylori eradication as a strategy for preventing gastric cancer (IARC Working Group Reports No. 8). Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer. Available from: <u>https://publications.iarc.who.int/391</u>.
- Lee YC, Chiang TH, Chiu HM, Su W-W, Chou K-C, Chen SL-S, et al.; Collaborators of Taiwan Community-based Integrated Screening Group (2024). Screening for *Helicobacter pylori* to prevent gastric cancer: a pragmatic randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 332(19):1642–51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2024.14887 PMID:39348147</u>
- 22. Bair MJ, Chuang SL, Lei WY, Chen C-L, Tian H-W, Chiang T-H, et al. (2020). Planning mass eradication of *Helicobacter pylori* infection for indigenous Taiwanese peoples to reduce gastric cancer. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 35(4):609–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jgh.14898 PMID:31677184</u>
- 23. Lei WY, Lee JY, Chuang SL, Bair M-J, Chen C-L, Wu J-Y, et al. (2023). Eradicating *Helicobacter pylori* via ¹³C-urea breath screening to prevent gastric cancer in indigenous communities: a population-based study and development of a family index-case method. Gut. 72(12):2231–40. https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2023-329871 PMID:37197905
- 24. Chiang TH, Chiu SY, Chen SL, Yen AM-F, Fann JC-Y, Liu C-Y, et al. (2019). Serum pepsinogen as a predictor for gastric cancer death: a 16-year community-based cohort study. J Clin Gastroenterol. 53(5):e186–93. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/MCG.00000000000992 PMID:29369241</u>
- Asada K, Nakajima T, Shimazu T, Yamamichi N, Maekita T, Yokoi C, et al. (2015). Demonstration of the usefulness of epigenetic cancer risk prediction by a multicentre prospective cohort study. Gut. 64(3):388–96. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutinl-2014-307094</u> PMID:25379950
- Chiang TH, Maeda M, Yamada H, Chan C-C, Chen SL-S, Chiu SY-H, et al. (2021). Risk stratification for gastric cancer after *Helicobacter pylori* eradication: a population-based study on Matsu Islands. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 36(3):671–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jgh.15187</u> PMID:32671873
- 27. Rugge M, Genta RM, Malfertheiner P, Dinis-Ribeiro M, El-Serag H, Graham DY, et al.; RE.GA.IN (2024). RE.GA.IN.: the Real-world Gastritis Initiative updating the updates. Gut. 73(3):407–41. https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2023-331164 PMID:38383142

Chapter 3.11.

Journey towards piloting a *Helicobacter pylori* screen-and-treat programme to address gastric cancer inequities in Aotearoa New Zealand

Andrea Teng

Summary

- The epidemiology of *H. pylori* infection in Aotearoa New Zealand is characterized by stark ethnic differences in prevalence of *H. pylori* infection and its sequelae, with higher prevalence of *H. pylori* infection and gastric cancer incidence and higher rates of hospitalization for peptic ulcer in Māori people, Pacific people, and Asian people than in European people.
- Māori people and Pacific people are currently less likely to be tested for *H. pylori* than European people, despite the higher risk of infection in these populations.
- A screen-and-treat approach targeted to a high-risk population is more costeffective than implementing this approach in a low-risk population. Further cost– effectiveness modelling could support the evaluation of more specific targeting, choice of test, and choice of treatment where input data allow.
- Current research into the stratification of the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection in the community by ethnicity, the feasibility of a screen-and-treat strategy, and the level of treatment resistance in New Zealand is expected to support the design of a future screen-and-treat pilot programme.
- This chapter highlights some of the remaining questions that need to be addressed to support the development and implementation of a screen-and-treat pilot programme in New Zealand.

3.11.1 H. pylori infection and gastric cancer epidemiology

H. pylori infection

The epidemiology of *H. pylori* infection in Aotearoa New Zealand is characterized by stark ethnic differences in prevalence. In the asymptomatic population, the rate of seropositivity in Pacific people is 3 times that in European people, and the rate of seropositivity in Māori people (the Indigenous population) is twice that in European people, based on available studies from before 2000 [1]. Positivity rates from routine *H. pylori* testing also consistently follow this pattern. For example, in one largely primary care study, in 2013–2018, positivity rates were 38% in Pacific people, 21% in Māori people, and 8% in European people. Positivity rates were also high in Asian people (28%, which includes both East Asian and South Asian ethnicities) and Middle Eastern, Latin American, or African people (48%). The rates of testing for *H. pylori* were lowest in Māori people and Pacific people [2]. Table 3.11.1 summarizes the consistent pattern of ethnic inequities.

Characteristic	Population			
	Māori	Pacific	Asian	European
Population size in 2023	887 493	442 632	861 576	3 383 742
H. pylori testing rates (per 1000 person-years), Auckland/Northland	6.4	7.2	20.8	11.8
Asymptomatic: relative rates of <i>H. pylori</i> seropositivity (before 2000)	1.9	3.4	-	1.0 (ref)
Symptomatic: <i>H. pylori</i> positivity rate (%)				
Auckland/Northland, 2015–2018	22	37	26	13
Canterbury, 2013–2018	21	38	28	8
Peptic ulcer hospitalization rate (per 100 000 person-years), 2015–2018 ^a	51	63	22	15
Gastric cancer incidence rate (per 100 000 person-years), 2017– 2021^{b}	11.1	13.9	5.5	4.1
Gastric cancer mortality rate (per 100 000 person-years), 2017– 2021 ^b	7.4	8.5	3.0	2.6

Table 3.11.1. Summary of ethnic inequities in *H. pylori* infection and its sequelae in Aotearoa New Zealand

^a Age-standardized to the Māori census population in 2001.

^b Age-standardized to the WHO world standard population.

Source: Compiled from McDonald et al. (2015) [1], Kubovy and Barclay (2022) [2], Hildred (2024) [3], and Teng et al. (2025) [4].

Sequelae

The age-standardized rates of gastric cancer in the New Zealand population are low in the international context. In 2015–2019, the rates were 8 per 100 000 person-years in males and 4 per 100 000 person-years in females, when age-standardized to the World Health Organization (WHO) world standard population [5]. The equivalent crude rate was 11 per 100 000 person-years in males and 6 per 100 000 person-years in females, with an overall rate of 8.5 per 100 000 person-years in 2015–2019 [5].

However, there are stark ethnic differences in gastric cancer incidence and mortality. The rates of gastric cancer in Māori people and Pacific people are 2.5–6.3 times those in European/Other people [6]; the rates in Asian people are somewhere in between [3]. In 2017–2021, gastric cancer incidence rates (per 100 000 person-years) were 15 in males and 8 in females in Māori people, 17 in males and 11 in females in Pacific people, and 8 in males and 4 in females in Asian people, compared with 6 in males and 3 in females in European/Other people, when age-standardized to the WHO world standard population (Fig. 3.11.1) [7]. Also, Māori people with gastric cancer are more likely than non-Māori people to have non-cardia gastric cancer [8] (about 80% vs 50%, if overlapping and undefined types of gastric cancer are excluded) [9] and diffuse-type gastric cancer [8].





In addition, rates of gastric cancer incidence and mortality are significantly higher in groups with the lowest socioeconomic positions. For example, in 2006–2011, in the lowest versus the highest equivalized household income quintile, the difference in gastric cancer incidence was 1.62 (95% confidence interval [CI], 1.03–2.56) in men and 1.81 (95% CI, 1.00–3.29) in women [10]. In 2017–2021, gastric cancer incidence rates (per 1000 000 person-years) were 10 in males and 6 in females living in areas with the highest levels of deprivation, compared with 6 in males and 3 in females living in areas with the lowest levels of deprivation (Fig. 3.11.2) [7].



Fig. 3.11.2. Rate of gastric cancer registrations in 2017–2021 by New Zealand Deprivation Index quintiles. Rate is per 100 000 person-years and is age-standardized to the WHO world standard population. Compiled from Te Whatu Ora/Health New Zealand (2024) [7].

The incidence of peptic ulcers also varies by ethnicity. In 2015–2018, agestandardized rates of hospital admission for peptic ulcer in New Zealand (per 100 000 person-years) were 3.5 times as high in Māori people (50.8; 95% Cl, 47.5–54.4) and 4.3 times as high in Pacific people (63.1; 95% Cl, 57.9–68.6) as in European people (14.6; 95% Cl, 13.8–15.4), and the admission rates in Asian people were intermediate (21.8; 95% Cl, 19.7–24.1), when age-standardized to the Māori census population in 2001 [3].

Differential rates of *H. pylori* infection are the largest contributor to inequities in gastric cancer incidence in New Zealand [11], and this is probably also the case for peptic ulcers. The screen-and-treat approach for *H. pylori* is expected to be a useful tool to address existing gastric cancer inequities by ethnicity, and possibly also for groups with low socioeconomic position.

Gastric cancer risk factors

In addition to chronic *H. pylori* infection, other risk factors for gastric cancer in New Zealand are strongly patterned by ethnicity and socioeconomic position. For example, the population prevalence of smoking, obesity, and hazardous drinking is examined by the New Zealand Health Survey [12]. In 2022–2023, the percentage of adults who smoked every day was 17% in Māori people, 6% in Pacific people, 6% in European/Other people, and 3% in Asian people. The rates of obesity in adults were 67% in Pacific people, 48% in Māori people, 32% in European/Other people, and 14% in Asian people. The rates of hazardous drinking in adults were 25% in Māori people, 22% in Pacific people, 17% in European/Other people, and 5% in Asian people. These risk factors were also more common in adults living in areas with the highest levels of deprivation (unadjusted for ethnicity).

Hereditary risk

Higher rates of gastric cancer incidence in Māori people, particularly in younger age groups, have also been thought to be caused by an increased propensity towards mutation of the *CDH1* gene in particular family groups. A study has estimated that 6% of advanced gastric cancers in Māori people have a *CDH1* mutation [13], with higher rates found in younger age groups and for diffuse-type cancers. The rate of this mutation among European people in New Zealand with gastric cancer is less clear.

The impact of inherited genetic mutations appears to be particularly compounded by the presence of chronic *H. pylori* infection. Recent evidence from Japan shows an interaction between nine germline pathological variants and *H. pylori* infection. The lifetime risk of gastric cancer was strongly elevated in people with both *H. pylori* infection and one of these pathological variants (45% lifetime risk), compared with < 5% lifetime risk in people with no *H. pylori* infection and with one of these variants and 14.4% lifetime risk in people with *H. pylori* infection and none of these variants [14].

3.11.2 Inequities in current practice

Testing

In current primary care practice in New Zealand, the funded test for active *H. pylori* infection is the stool antigen test (SAT). The SAT is recommended in patients who present with one of the following risk factors [15]: history of peptic ulcer, family history of

gastric cancer, or dyspepsia and one of the following factors: aged \geq 60 years; Māori, Pacific, Asian, or African ethnicity; or originating from an area with high (> 30%) prevalence of *H. pylori* infection (e.g. South Auckland, Porirua, East Cape; low- and middle-income countries, including in Asia). Urea breath tests are not publicly funded and are rarely used [2]. Serology is still widely used to test or screen for *H. pylori* and was more commonly used than the SAT until the end of 2018 [2].

Despite the higher prevalence of *H. pylori* infection in Māori, Pacific, Asian, and Middle Eastern, Latin American, or African people and the availability of ethnicity-specific guidelines, the rates of testing remain disproportionately low for Māori people and Pacific people [2–4], compared with testing rates for European people (who have low prevalence of *H. pylori* infection) [3]. In general, Māori people and Pacific people experience several barriers to primary care access and have the highest levels of unmet health-care needs [16]. Access to primary care in New Zealand usually requires co-payments (which differ between health-care providers), and funding for primary care has been found to have embedded historical inequity; unmet needs have been ignored, and services for Māori people have been systematically underfunded [17]. These underserved ethnic groups have the highest rates of gastric cancer incidence and are expected to gain the most (per-person) benefit from an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat approach, particularly if it is introduced with an equity focus [9].

Gastroscopy

Guidelines in New Zealand recommend referral for gastroscopy [15], for example when *H. pylori* treatment has failed, in people with persistent symptoms despite treatment, or in people with risk factors such as a first presentation of dyspepsia at age \geq 50 years (or age \geq 40 years in at-risk ethnic groups), a family history of gastric cancer onset at age < 50 years, severe or persistent dyspepsia despite treatment, previous peptic ulcer disease, coughing spells, or nocturnal aspiration. Despite the availability of ethnicity-specific guidelines, there are greater ethnic disparities in the rates of gastroscopy testing (e.g. in the use of rapid urease tests) than in primary care testing for *H. pylori* infection, suggesting even greater barriers to access to secondary care for Māori people and Pacific people compared with European people [2, 4]. These referral criteria do not guarantee access to gastroscopy, which varies geographically.

Treatment

Current treatment guidelines in New Zealand recommend triple therapy for 7–14 days with a proton pump inhibitor, amoxicillin, and clarithromycin (OAC) as a first-line treatment, with metronidazole as a potential substitute for either antibiotic [18]. Quadruple therapy is recommended as a second-line treatment in cases of eradication failure and comprises 2 weeks of a proton pump inhibitor, bismuth, tetracycline, and metronidazole [18]. This advice varies from the Maastricht VI/Florence Consensus report, which recommends first-line treatment with 14 days of bismuth-containing quadruple therapy in areas where clarithromycin resistance is > 15% (or unknown) and susceptibility testing is not available [19]. However, there is an urgent need to further investigate primary clarithromycin resistance rates, including by ethnicity [20].

Updated local information about clarithromycin and antibiotic resistance rates and *H. pylori* eradication rates would make a valuable contribution to the case for revising treatment guidelines in New Zealand [21]. This is particularly important given the increase in clarithromycin resistance globally. There is likely to be increasing resistance to first-line *H. pylori* treatment in New Zealand. In 2012, a small study (n = 73) in an area of New Zealand with a relatively high level of deprivation, in patients with positive gastroscopy specimens, reported 49% metronidazole resistance and 16% clarithromycin resistance [22] and 35% eradication failure of first-line treatment (OAC) in Māori people, Pacific people, and Asian people. A 2021 meta-analysis investigated antibiotic resistance of *H. pylori* in Australia and New Zealand [21] and reported a doubling of primary resistance to clarithromycin, to 16% (95% Cl, 11–22%), after 2000 compared with before 2000.

Increasing antibiotic resistance and poor eradication rates make it vital to improve retesting with the SAT, i.e. 4–6 weeks after completion of treatment [20] in line with international guidelines [19]. Retesting is not in the current treatment guidelines in New Zealand, and its use remains low [4]. Retesting enables the use of second-line therapy to improve eradication rates and also could improve the usefulness of laboratory data for monitoring eradication rates. The guidelines for *H. pylori* treatment in New Zealand need to be revised and updated, and work on this is ongoing.

Ethnicity data quality

Accurate ethnicity data are crucial for equitable health care, and for targeted participation in a screen-and-treat strategy, but Māori people are undercounted in health data [23]. Improved protocols are needed for consistent, accurate ethnicity data collection.

3.11.3 Cost–utility modelling for population and targeted screen-and-treat approaches

Cost–utility modelling was applied to the New Zealand setting, using *H. pylori* infection and gastric cancer epidemiology data from 2011 [9]. An important contribution of this work is a comparison of the cost–effectiveness of *H. pylori* screen-and-treat approaches between Māori people (who have a moderate risk of gastric cancer) and the remaining population (who have low rates of gastric cancer on average; this remaining population also includes groups with a high risk of gastric cancer, such as Pacific people, who are likely to be a small proportion overall). The following model inputs were applied at different rates for Māori people and non-Māori people: (i) proportion of gastric cancer that is non-cardia gastric cancer, (ii) coverage of testing, (iii) eradication rate of triple therapy, and (iv) *H. pylori* seroprevalence. Two *H. pylori* screen-and-treat scenarios were evaluated based on the diagnostic test used: one analysis used serology (primary analysis), and the other used the SAT. The most relevant SAT results are reported here, given that serology is not recommended for diagnosing infection.

The SAT scenario cost NZ\$ 369 million and resulted in 15 300 quality-adjusted life years (QALYs) gained in men and women aged 25–69 years, with lifetime follow-up. This resulted in an incremental cost–effectiveness ratio (ICER) of NZ\$ 29 000 per QALY gained. If Māori people alone were targeted, the cost would be NZ\$ 49 million and 4200 QALYs would be gained, which equates to a better-value ICER of NZ\$ 13 700 per QALY gained.

The *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme in the whole population had 4 times the absolute health gain (i.e. clinical effectiveness, QALYs) compared with targeting Māori people alone, but at more than 7 times the cost. However, the cost for targeting Māori people may be more than double if a programme were to include other known high-risk groups. The QALYs gained by Māori people were even greater in equity analyses in which life expectancy was set to the same level as that of non-Māori people [9]. The

greater cost–effectiveness in Māori people is likely to be similar in other groups with high rates of *H. pylori* infection and gastric cancer in New Zealand.

Although the modelled programme in the whole population was cost-effective, it was more cost-effective with a targeted approach for Māori people (Fig. 3.11.3) [9]. This supports the recommendation that high-risk groups would be a useful priority for implementation of this programme.



Fig. 3.11.3. Modelled cost–effectiveness of an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme in New Zealand in 2011 by ethnicity, sex, and age. ICER, incremental cost–effectiveness ratio; QALY, quality-adjusted life year. Reproduced from Teng et al. (2017) [9]. © 2017 Teng et al. Article available under the Creative Commons CC BY 4.0.

Further cost–effectiveness modelling would be useful to assess the costs and benefits of targeting additional high-risk groups and the impact of different testing and treatment modalities, such as the use of different types of tests, different treatment choices, and the inclusion of gastroscopy for participants who have clinical indicators of potential gastric cancer. This is possible as more precise model inputs become available, for example better estimates of *H. pylori* prevalence and eradication rates.

3.11.4 Prevention approaches being investigated

The New Zealand Cancer Action Plan 2019–2029 sets out a plan to develop a strategy to address *H. pylori* infection in priority populations [24]. Gastric cancer is one of the top 10 contributors to the life expectancy gap for both Māori people and Pacific people in New Zealand (compared with European people), and thus is a priority in the public health system.

Several research streams were in the field in mid-2024, with the aim of informing the future implementation of an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat pilot or programme. These studies are investigating (i) community estimates of *H. pylori* prevalence and a subsequent management pathway, in the *H. pylori* in Aotearoa New Zealand (ENIGMA) Study; (ii) a family-based index-case method focused on Indigenous people, recruiting participants for an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat study (Puku Ora Feasibility Study); and (iii) *H. pylori* antibiotic resistance rates using the polymerase chain reaction (PCR) for genetic markers and culture.

H. pylori in Aotearoa New Zealand (ENIGMA) Study

The objectives of the *H. pylori* in Aotearoa New Zealand (ENIGMA) Study are outlined in Box 3.11.1. In summary, the study's main objective is to investigate the ethnicity-specific distribution of *H. pylori* infection in New Zealand (using biological specimens), the risk factors for *H. pylori* infection (using survey data), and the overlap of *H. pylori* infection with risk factors for gastric cancer, along with testing markers of antibiotic resistance, and the effectiveness and acceptability of *H. pylori* case management. The study started recruiting in early 2024 and plans to report initial results in 2025.

Box 3.11.1. Objectives of the *H. pylori* in Aotearoa New Zealand (ENIGMA) Study

Primary objective

 Measure the age-specific prevalence of *H. pylori* infection overall and among Māori people, Pacific people, and non-Māori, non-Pacific people in New Zealand, including by sex.

Secondary objectives

- 2. Examine potential risk factors for *H. pylori* infection for the total study population and by population subgroup, including their prevalence and distribution.
- 3. Measure the prevalence of potential co-factors, including virulence factors, that may be important in the pathogenesis of gastric cancer by *H. pylori* infection status.
- 4. Measure the prevalence of clarithromycin and antibiotic resistance by PCR from stool (faecal) samples.
- 5. Investigate the feasibility, acceptability, and costs of different *H. pylori* tests in the New Zealand setting.
- 6. Examine the acceptability, feasibility, and effectiveness of positive case management.

The study uses a cross-sectional survey design with a general community sample coverage, with participants selected by secondary sampling from past respondents to the New Zealand Health Survey. The aim was to include 1188 participants with equal numbers of Māori people, Pacific people, and people from the remaining European/Other groups, and equal numbers of people across 10-year age groups. Participants aged 12–69 years with no history of gastric cancer were eligible.

Participation involves responding to a survey by telephone, having a blood test at a local laboratory, and the option of submitting a stool sample (which has the added benefit of investigating a diagnosis of *H. pylori* infection). In the early stages of the study, about one third of participants were opting in for stool testing.

Any participant with a positive serology test result is followed up with an SAT sent to their home address (if the participant had not already opted in for this test). Participants collect the stool sample at home and submit it on the same day to a local community laboratory, where it is frozen. The sample is kept chilled for transportation to a centralized location for testing. Participants are asked to wait 15 days after the completion of any course of antibiotics or proton pump inhibitors (if appropriate) before they do the SAT.

For participants with a positive SAT result, case management is organized by a research nurse, who contacts participants by telephone to share the results, ask about the relevant medical history, and arrange treatment. A gastroenterologist writes the prescriptions, which are then sent to a local pharmacy. The participants collect the treatment, and the research nurse follows up to find out whether participants received the medication and have completed the treatment course. Retesting with the SAT is done to assess eradication at 6 weeks after completion of treatment. A holistic approach to case management has been taken and is carried out via a Māori health provider. This treatment pathway will be assessed by investigating rates of treatment, treatment completion, retesting, and eradication failure. Measures of acceptability and any barriers reported by participants will be assessed.

The key outcome measures from the study will be ethnicity-specific rates of participation, testing, *H. pylori* prevalence, treatment completion, and eradication, prevalence of clarithromycin resistance genes, and virulence factors.

The goal is for the findings to be generalizable nationally, but challenges to this include uncontactable participants, the geographical coverage of laboratory services relative to the population, and the low numbers of Pacific people in the primary sampling frame, which will necessitate additional recruitment pathways.

Puku Ora Feasibility Study

The Puku Ora Feasibility Study aims to take a Kaupapa Māori, holistic, strength-based approach to test the feasibility of an approach that addresses the health inequities between Māori people and non-Māori people in New Zealand in gastric cancer and colorectal cancer. A combined screening approach is used to screen and treat for *H. pylori* infection and to screen for colorectal cancer using a single stool sample, in a

Māori-specific context for people aged 45–60 years. Education and encouragement are given to promote participation in the National Bowel Screening Programme, for those who are not already participating. Participants older than 60 years and adults younger than 45 years are tested for *H. pylori* infection only. In mid-2024, this study was in its recruitment phase.

Antibiotic resistance studies

Several studies in New Zealand are investigating *H. pylori* antibiotic resistance in different clinical contexts, including the *H. pylori* in Aotearoa New Zealand (ENIGMA) Study. Rates of *H. pylori* antibiotic resistance in positive gastroscopy isolates are being investigated in the Wellington region. The study is recruiting symptomatic patients undergoing gastroscopy who have had a positive rapid urease test result. The aim of this study is to inform more precise treatment choice to improve eradication rates. Recruitment was completed in 2024, and DNA extraction and clarithromycin resistance gene testing have been done. The participants are being followed up to assess treatment completion and success of eradication. Similar methods are being applied to people with positive SAT results. Another study is investigating *H. pylori* antibiotic resistance in a similar clinical setting in Auckland.

3.11.5 Future directions

The following list provides some of the information needs and outstanding questions that would help to support the implementation of a screen-and-treat pilot or programme in New Zealand [20]. Chapter 4 gives further explanation about the needs and readiness in New Zealand.

Targeting:

- Consensus on whether to aim for an untargeted population programme or focus on targeting high-risk groups. Targeting decisions could be informed by analysis of *H. pylori* prevalence and peptic ulcer and gastric cancer rates by age, sex, and ethnicity, including subgroups (e.g. East Asian and South Asian people), socioeconomic position, country of birth, family history, and other potentially relevant factors.
- 2. Consider expanding screen-and-treat processes to household members of positive cases detected through the initial inclusion criteria.

Testing:

- Consensus on choice of diagnostic test (balancing ethnicity-specific acceptability, capacity of the health system, and costs), for example the SAT, serology then the SAT, or either with the urea breath test instead of the SAT. Consider where and how these tests will be done.
- 4. Determine the rates of reinfection in New Zealand and whether subsequent follow-up testing is needed.
- 5. Examine the acceptability of *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies for Māori people and Pacific people, and which methods of engagement would improve awareness and participation.

Treatment:

- 6. Up-to-date *H. pylori* treatment resistance information for current and alternative first-line and second-line therapies to inform improved national treatment guidelines:
 - a. choice of first-line therapy (considering increasing resistance rates);
 - b. introducing retesting as standard practice.
- 7. Develop a plan for assessing who is at high risk and should be referred for gastroscopy for diagnosis of gastric cancer. Will blood markers of gastric cancer risk be used? What are the service impacts of this for diagnosis of cancer?

Programme:

- 8. Cost–effectiveness analysis of different targeting, testing, treatment, and combination screening approaches.
- 9. Information on the pros and cons of delivering treatment and retesting via primary care or other more centralized or telehealth processes.
- 10. Development of an equitable process for invitation to screening, participation, and follow-up for treatment.
- 11. Consider how the screen-and-treat approach will be integrated with other screening programmes, for example in primary care like the cardiovascular risk

assessment, or combined with national-level colorectal cancer screening, lung cancer screening, or hepatitis screening.

- 12. Ongoing input from experts in Māori and Pacific health, migrant health, gastroenterology, primary health care, public health, microbiology, health service improvement, and epidemiology to support the development of a screen-andtreat model for New Zealand.
- 13. Commitment from funders and the public health system to introduce a pilot of the approach, with ongoing feedback informing improvements. This includes developing information technology to generate a system to provide a register, produce invitations, make bookings, carry out recall, and monitor outcomes.

New Zealand is well placed to make progress in addressing gastric cancer inequities, and an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat approach presents itself as a key tool. An equity approach to implementation will be key for reversing higher rates of gastric cancer in Māori people, Pacific people, and other high-risk groups. The next step is for funders and the public health system to invest in scaling up and piloting a risk-based target population *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategy.

Useful research to support the next step includes investigation of sociodemographic risk factors to consider for risk-based targeting, sensitivity and specificity of testing approaches in New Zealand, which testing approach has the highest uptake by ethnicity, *H. pylori* eradication and resistance rates by ethnicity, and cost–effectiveness analysis of selected screen-and-treat approaches.

Acknowledgements

Thank you to Professor James Stanley for providing feedback on an early draft of this chapter.

References

- McDonald AM, Sarfati D, Baker MG, Blakely T (2015). Trends in *Helicobacter pylori* infection among Māori, Pacific, and European birth cohorts in New Zealand. Helicobacter. 20(2):139–45. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.12186</u> PMID:25403622
- Kubovy J, Barclay ML (2022). *Helicobacter pylori* in New Zealand: current diagnostic trends and related costs. N Z Med J. 135(1562):48–55. <u>https://doi.org/10.26635/6965.5761</u> <u>PMID:36137766</u>
- 3. Hildred E (2024). Examining ethnic inequities in the management and health outcomes of *H. pylori* infection in New Zealand [thesis]. University of Otago. Available from: https://hdl.handle.net/10523/16512.
- Teng A, Hildred E, Stanley J, Inns S, McLeod M (2025). Ethnic inequity in the current approach to *H. pylori* testing and treatment: linked data cohort analysis. Helicobacter. 30(1):e70005. https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.70005 PMID:39791223
- Teng A, Stanley J, Jackson C, Koea J, Lao C, Lawrenson R, et al. (2024). The growing cancer burden: age-period-cohort projections in Aotearoa New Zealand 2020–2044. Cancer Epidemiol. 89:102535. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canep.2024.102535</u> PMID:38280359
- Teng AM, Atkinson J, Disney G, Wilson N, Sarfati D, McLeod M, et al. (2016). Ethnic inequalities in cancer incidence and mortality: census-linked cohort studies with 87 million years of person-time follow-up. BMC Cancer. 16(1):755. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-016-2781-4 PMID:27669745
- 7. Te Whatu Ora/Health New Zealand (2024). Cancer data web tool. Available from: https://tewhatuora.shinyapps.io/cancer-web-tool/.
- Biggar M, Srinivasa S, Wickramarachchi B, Babor R, Poole GH, Hill AG (2011). Gastric cancer location and histological subtype in Pacific people and Māori defies international trends. N Z Med J. 124(1331):39–44. <u>PMID:21725411</u>
- Teng AM, Kvizhinadze G, Nair N, McLeod M, Wilson N, Blakely T (2017). A screening program to test and treat for *Helicobacter pylori* infection: cost-utility analysis by age, sex and ethnicity. BMC Infect Dis. 17(1):156. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-017-2259-2</u> <u>PMID:28219322</u>
- Teng AM, Atkinson J, Disney G, Wilson N, Blakely T (2017). Changing socioeconomic inequalities in cancer incidence and mortality: cohort study with 54 million person-years follow-up 1981–2011. Int J Cancer. 140(6):1306–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.30555</u> <u>PMID:27925183</u>
- 11. Teng AM, Blakely T, Baker MG, Sarfati D (2017). The contribution of *Helicobacter pylori* to excess gastric cancer in Indigenous and Pacific men: a birth cohort estimate. Gastric Cancer. 20(4):752–5. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10120-016-0671-8 PMID:27853902
- 12. Ministry of Health (2023). Annual update of key results 2022/23: New Zealand Health Survey. Available from: <u>https://www.health.govt.nz/publications/annual-update-of-key-results-202223-new-zealand-health-survey</u>.
- Hakkaart C, Ellison-Loschmann L, Day R, Sporle A, Koea J, Harawira P, et al. (2019). Germline *CDH1* mutations are a significant contributor to the high frequency of early-onset diffuse gastric cancer cases in New Zealand Māori. Fam Cancer. 18(1):83–90. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10689-018-0080-8</u> <u>PMID:29589180</u>
- 14. Usui Y, Taniyama Y, Endo M, Koyanagi YN, Kasugai Y, Oze I, et al. (2023). *Helicobacter pylori*, homologous-recombination genes, and gastric cancer. N Engl J Med. 388(13):1181–90. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2211807 PMID:36988593
- 15. Community HealthPathways (2024). Dyspepsia and heartburn/GORD [password protected]. Available from: <u>https://aucklandregion.communityhealthpathways.org/225828.htm</u>.
- Harris RB, Cormack DM, Stanley J (2019). Experience of racism and associations with unmet need and healthcare satisfaction: the 2011/12 adult New Zealand Health Survey. Aust N Z J Public Health. 43(1):75–80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1753-6405.12835</u> PMID:30296819
- 17. Waitangi Tribunal (2023). Hauora: report on stage one of the Health Services and Outcomes Kaupapa Inquiry, WAI 2575. Waitangi Tribunal Report 2023. Lower Hutt, New Zealand: Legislation Direct. Available from: <u>https://www.waitangitribunal.govt.nz/</u>.
- 18. New Zealand Formulary (2024). *Helicobacter pylori* infection the New Zealand Formulary, release 145 1 July 2024. Available from: <u>https://www.nzf.org.nz/nzf_732</u>.
- Malfertheiner P, Megraud F, Rokkas T, Gisbert JP, Liou J-M, Schulz C, et al.; European Helicobacter and Microbiota Study group (2022). Management of *Helicobacter pylori* infection: the Maastricht VI/Florence consensus report. Gut. 71(9):1724–62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2022-327745</u> <u>PMID:35944925</u>

- Schauer C, Teng A, Signal V, Stanley J, Mules TC, Koea J, et al. (2024). Translating evidence into action: overcoming barriers to gastric cancer prevention in Aotearoa. J R Soc N Z. 1–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03036758.2024.2427818</u>
- Schubert JP, Gehlert J, Rayner CK, Roberts-Thomson IC, Costello S, Mangoni AA, et al. (2021). Antibiotic resistance of *Helicobacter pylori* in Australia and New Zealand: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 36(6):1450–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jgh.15352</u> <u>PMID:33217029</u>
- 22. Hsiang J, Selvaratnam S, Taylor S, Yeoh J, Tan YM, Huang J, et al. (2013). Increasing primary antibiotic resistance and ethnic differences in eradication rates of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in New Zealand a new look at an old enemy. N Z Med J. 126(1384):64–76. <u>PMID:24162631</u>
- Harris R, Paine SJ, Atkinson J, Robson B, King PT, Randle J, et al. (2022). We still don't count: the under-counting and under-representation of Māori in health and disability sector data. N Z Med J. 135(1567):54–78. <u>https://doi.org/10.26635/6965.5849</u> PMID:36521086
- 24. Ministry of Health (2020). New Zealand Cancer Action Plan 2019–2029 Te Mahere mō te Mate Pukupuku o Aotearoa 2019–2029. Wellington, New Zealand: Ministry of Health. Available from: https://www.health.govt.nz/publications/new-zealand-cancer-action-plan-2019-2029.

Chapter 4.

Needs and readiness for the implementation of *Helicobacter pylori* screen-and-treat strategies for gastric cancer prevention locally

Wai Keung Leung, Bojan Tepeš, Karen J. Goodman, Andrea Teng, Melissa McLeod, and M. Constanza Camargo

Summary

- Needs assessments are critical before implementing an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme for gastric cancer prevention and should include an assessment of recent local gastric cancer incidence and mortality rates (overall and for groups within the population), the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection, government support and commitment, the priorities of the population(s) targeted for intervention, and local testing and treatment facilities.
- In areas with intermediate to high incidence of gastric cancer, a population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme is recommended.
- In areas with lower incidence of gastric cancer, targeting *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies to intermediate-risk and high-risk groups within selected administrative or geographical units will often be the best option.
- Targeted *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes could also be considered for family members of individuals with *H. pylori* infection or gastric cancer.
- Pilot studies, run before the implementation of a full programme, are crucial to enable the local level of readiness to be assessed, on the basis of measures such as screening participation rates, positivity rates, treatment adherence, and treatment effectiveness. The results of the pilot study could be used to inform population decision modelling to determine the resource requirements and cost–effectiveness of the *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme.
- Ongoing funding is required for *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes for gastric cancer prevention, and additional infrastructure is required. Adequate organization of the local testing and follow-up facilities for *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes
is essential, and the facilities and equipment required will depend on the choice of first-line screening test.

 Sound conclusions on the needs and readiness for implementing *H. pylori* screenand-treat strategies require evidence-based policy analyses that weigh the specific costs and benefits for the target populations.



Fig. 4.1. Visual abstract.

4.1 Introduction

This chapter discusses the key considerations for assessing the needs and readiness for population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies for gastric cancer prevention and provides a checklist for these strategies. The focus of this chapter is on assessing the readiness in the health-care system for the implementation of *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies. Chapters 8 and 9 discuss monitoring and evaluating *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies. Although *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies are considered here, rather than direct screening for gastric cancer, the principles used in these strategies correlate with the criteria outlined by Wilson and Jungner in *Principles and practice of screening for disease* [1].

As an initial consideration, the expected costs and benefits of the strategies proposed should be weighed against the alternative use of the available resources. Any decisions reached should be informed by the best available scientific evidence on the local epidemiology of *H. pylori* infection and its consequences, and the expected costs and benefits of specific strategies, along with the prioritization of the available resources according to the relevant social values. Because the expected costs and benefits, the

available resources, and the priorities vary across population settings, the strategies must be tailored to each local context.

In this chapter, the needs for implementing *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies are discussed in Section 4.2, identifying the target population is discussed in Section 4.3, and the readiness assessment is discussed in Section 4.4. Section 4.5 provides three examples of *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme readiness. Performing pilot studies before the actual implementation of a strategy is crucial to enable the local level of readiness to be assessed, on the basis of measures such as screening participation rates, positivity rates, treatment adherence, and treatment effectiveness.

Box 4.1 summarizes the considerations to be made before *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes are initiated.

Box 4.1. Considerations for an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme for gastric cancer prevention

- Is there a need for an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat approach as a primary prevention strategy?
- Who should be targeted (the total population or specific high-risk groups)?
- The readiness assessment includes the following questions:
 - Are adequate resources available for *H. pylori* testing?
 - Are effective and affordable anti-*H. pylori* treatment regimens (and data on resistance) available?
 - Is there adequate infrastructure for providing the treatment and supporting the overall programme implementation?
 - Are strategies in place to maximize engagement of the target population?

4.2 Assessing need

Assessing the need for a gastric cancer prevention initiative based on an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategy requires gathering recent information (i.e. preferably from

within the past 5 years) on the local burden of disease. Identifying a need is relatively straightforward in areas with an intermediate to high incidence of gastric cancer and adequate medical resources. For other areas, the need may be limited to one or more high-risk demographic groups within the population with a high incidence of gastric cancer. This information could also be used for decision modelling to assess the harms versus the benefits and the cost–effectiveness of *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies in the local setting (see Chapter 9).

The needs assessment requires information on the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection, the prevalence of antibiotic-resistant *H. pylori* strains, *H. pylori* reinfection rates, the prevalence of *H. pylori*-associated gastric pathological changes, and gastric cancer incidence and mortality rates.

Prevalence of H. pylori infection

Estimating the total burden of *H. pylori* infection is not a trivial exercise, because most individuals with *H. pylori* infection are asymptomatic. Obtaining accurate estimates of the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection in a target population requires selecting a representative sample of that population. Where higher-risk population groups within a region are in a numerical minority, it may be necessary to oversample these groups to gain an accurate estimate of *H. pylori* infection prevalence. This situation is further complicated by the decreasing prevalence of *H. pylori* infection in most countries, particularly in the younger population [2].

The feasibility of population screening for estimating *H. pylori* infection prevalence is enhanced by the availability of accurate non-invasive tests (see Chapter 5). Estimates of *H. pylori* infection prevalence predict the fraction of the target population that will test positive and require treatment if *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies are used. This information is needed to estimate the costs and preventive impact of a screen-and-treat strategy, and it can also be used to estimate the size of the population at risk of *H. pylori*-associated disease. Comparisons of *H. pylori* infection prevalence between sociodemographic subgroups can help to identify groups with an elevated frequency of *H. pylori*-associated disease, to enable targeted preventive interventions.

Information on the prevalence and population distribution of the established virulence factors of *H. pylori* strains (such as CagA-positive or VacA s1m1 genotypes) may further

facilitate specific identification of high-risk groups, although evidence of the preventive effectiveness of this information in screen-and-treat strategies is limited, and the resources required for classifying strains based on virulence factors are not widely available.

Prevalence of antibiotic-resistant H. pylori strains

Estimates of the prevalence and distribution of *H. pylori* strains with antibiotic resistance patterns associated with reduced treatment effectiveness (e.g. clarithromycin or levofloxacin resistance) facilitate the estimation of treatment effectiveness for the target population, as well as the evidence-based selection of the best empirical therapy (see Chapters 6 and 7). However, testing for antibiotic resistance requires gastric tissue or stool samples for bacterial culture or molecular detection. In the future, molecular detection resources may facilitate the detection of antibiotic resistance of *H. pylori*; these resources include tests based on the polymerase chain reaction (PCR) technique, which were increasingly used in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. Data on eradication rates from registries, such as the European Registry on *Helicobacter pylori* Management, could be used to infer the frequency of antibiotic resistance rates in populations that are similar to those covered by the corresponding registry [3].

H. pylori reinfection rates

Because most *H. pylori* infections are acquired in childhood and generally go undetected, estimating the incidence of new infection is challenging and may not have short-term clinical relevance to gastric cancer prevention. However, the local reinfection rate should be monitored to ensure the lasting effect of the screen-and-treat programme, because the recurrence rate is closely associated with socioeconomic and sanitary conditions. Recurrence of *H. pylori* infection could occur through either reinfection or recrudescence. Reinfection is defined as infection with a new strain, whereas recrudescence usually refers to the reappearance of the original infection after an initially false-negative post-eradication result. In a meta-analysis of 132 studies in 45 countries or regions published in 1983–2017 that assessed the *H. pylori* status of adults after treatment to eliminate the infection, with a follow-up period of \geq 12 months, the global recurrence rate was estimated as 4.3%, the reinfection rate as 3.1%, and the recrudescence rate as 2.2% [4]. The recurrence rate of *H. pylori* infection was inversely related to the Human Development Index (HDI) level and was directly related to the *H.* *pylori* infection prevalence of the country [5]. Although it can be difficult to distinguish between reinfection and recrudescence of a suppressed infection falsely identified as cured, what is relevant for assessing screen-and-treat strategies is the average *H. pylori*-free duration after treatment and the average number of repeated therapy courses. Health-care systems that track diagnostic tests and prescriptions may yield information that can be used to estimate the average number of therapy courses after a positive *H. pylori* test, stratifying on treatment regimen and patient characteristics.

Prevalence of H. pylori-associated gastric pathological changes

Local descriptive studies of the severity of the gastric pathology associated with *H. pylori* infection, including the quantitative classification of chronic gastritis (updated Sydney classification system) [6], atrophic gastritis (Operative Link on Gastritis Assessment; OLGA) [7], and intestinal metaplasia (Operative Link on Gastric Intestinal Metaplasia Assessment; OLGIM) [8], facilitate the stratification of gastric cancer risk in the target population and within subgroups.

Gastric cancer incidence and mortality rates

Estimates of gastric cancer incidence and mortality rates are required to identify the burden of disease overall and within the target populations. Accurate estimates of gastric cancer rates require populations to have access to a diagnosis that is recorded in high-quality local cancer registries. The proportion of gastric cancer cases attributed to *H. pylori* infection in that region could add further information to the cancer incidence. The population attributable fraction depends on the prevalence of the infection in the strength of its association with the cancer. A recent study in China showed that the population attributable fraction of *H. pylori* infection for gastric cancer has been decreasing since 2000 and is projected to decrease further by 2050 [9]. By 2050, *H. pylori* infection is predicted to be responsible for 40.7% of cardia gastric cancer and 62.1% of non-cardia gastric cancer [9]. In the long term, the trends in gastric cancer mortality rates, and the changes in mortality distributions, will constitute the evidence of the effectiveness of gastric cancer prevention efforts.

4.3 Who should be targeted?

After assessing needs, the next fundamental question when designing an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme for gastric cancer prevention is which population group to

target for prevention efforts, considering the epidemiology, the expected costs and benefits, the available resources, and the priorities of the stakeholders [10]. When the need for gastric cancer prevention initiatives has been demonstrated, prevention strategies should be based on the best available scientific evidence of the cost–effectiveness and practicality of the available options [11, 12] (see Chapters 8 and 9). This assessment requires information that is specific to and relevant to the target population.

Three different approaches are discussed here: (i) a population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat approach for gastric cancer prevention, (ii) a risk-based approach targeting high-risk subpopulations, and (iii) a family-based approach targeting family members of individuals with gastric cancer or *H. pylori* infection.

General population

Population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes for gastric cancer prevention are recommended in countries with intermediate to high risk, as stated in the Maastricht VI/Florence Consensus report [13], Europe's Beating Cancer Plan 2023–2033 [14], and the Taipei Global Consensus [15]. The screen-and-treat programme usually applies to everybody in the population who is older than a certain age (e.g. 30 years or 40 years). A review that included 10 studies in countries with an *H. pylori* infection prevalence range spanning from low to high showed that screening for *H. pylori* infection to prevent gastric cancer in the general population cost < US\$ 50 000 per life year gained across diverse populations (see Chapter 9); this finding was robust for differences in ethnicity as well as *H. pylori* infection prevalence [16]. Nevertheless, few population-wide *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes have been implemented for gastric cancer prevention. The only current population-wide *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme is being implemented in Bhutan (see Chapter 3.6) [17]. A cost-effectiveness analysis study in Japan identified a population-wide H. pylori eradication strategy as the most costeffective strategy for a national gastric cancer prevention programme, better than the current strategy, which is a secondary prevention-focused programme of biennial endoscopic screening [18]. A population-wide H. pylori eradication programme was launched in the Matsu Islands in 2004, and the incidence of gastric cancer has been reduced substantially [19] (Chapter 3.10). An example is given below of an H. pylori screen-and-treat pilot programme targeting people aged 30–34 years that was recently

implemented in Slovenia. This type of programme should be distinguished from the gastric cancer screening programmes in some countries in East Asia, such as Japan and the Republic of Korea, in which endoscopy or barium studies are used as the screening tool for gastric cancer rather than testing for *H. pylori* infection (see Chapters 3.8 and 3.9).

High-risk groups

Because not all groups in a population have the same risk of *H. pylori* infection or of gastric cancer, a strategy that targets higher-risk groups within a population with a lower incidence of gastric cancer may be more appropriate than targeting the general population. Several international guidelines recommend implementing *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes in adults to prevent gastric cancer in high-risk populations [13, 20, 21]; this recommendation is also supported by the World Gastroenterology Organization [22]. These alternative approaches are particularly important for countries in Europe and North America where the benefits of population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes are relatively small because of low gastric cancer rates. A risk-based programme (also referred to as a risk-stratified or risk-tailored programme) has the potential to improve the balance of benefits and risks, to be more cost-effective, and to prevent more deaths with reduced resource use than population-wide screening [23, 24].

Lin et al. developed a conceptual approach to determine whether and how risk stratification should be incorporated into clinical guidelines [25]. The algorithm has six sequential questions:

- 1. Are there clinically relevant subpopulations?
- 2. Are there credible subgroup analyses for these subpopulations?
- 3. Do subgroup analyses show clinically important differences?
- 4. Do these differences result in variation of net benefit, or does the evidence only exist in people with a narrow spectrum of risk?
- 5. Can the subpopulations be easily identified?
- 6. Does a well-validated multivariable risk tool improve the identification of clinically relevant subpopulations compared with a simpler approach?

This framework allows for a systematic approach to determine whether and how to incorporate evidence for specific populations, and enables a consistent application of evidence and transparent communication about the derivation of risk-stratified recommendations. For *H. pylori* infection, it is likely that there will be limited evidence available for many population subgroups, in which case these questions may be used, instead, to identify the evidence gaps that need to be addressed.

There are no universal criteria for selecting target populations for risk-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes. Groups that are selected could represent demographic groups within a population in countries with a low risk of gastric cancer, such as Alaska Native people aged \geq 50 years, and/or people living in the USA who emigrated there from countries with a high incidence of gastric cancer (see Chapter 3.3). Local epidemiology should be used to identify groups within a population that are most likely to benefit from the screen-and-treat programme.

For further research, there are two additional questions to be addressed: what are the comparative (i) clinical effectiveness and (ii) cost–effectiveness of targeting the general population versus targeting the high-risk population? Mathematical modelling remains an indispensable tool for estimating the long-term impact of an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme and for comparing different modalities and target groups.

Family-based programme

H. pylori infection is known to cluster in families. For a risk-based approach, an alternative to targeting the high-risk group would be to target family members of patients with gastric cancer or *H. pylori* infection. Testing and treating all *H. pylori*-positive family (or household) members to eliminate a source of reinfection in households, and to facilitate adherence to treatment, is a logical consideration [26, 27]. A meta-analysis comparing the effectiveness of whole family-based treatment versus single-infected-patient treatment showed that the *H. pylori* eradication rate was increased and the recurrence rate was decreased in family-based treatment compared with single-infected-patient treatment [28]. A family-based *H. pylori* treatment programme was recently introduced in China to prevent intrafamilial transmission; the results show that it appears to be an effective and practical strategy to control *H. pylori* infection [29]. In 2021, a Chinese expert panel presented a consensus recommendation for family-based *H. pylori* prevention and management to reduce the related disease burden [30]. A family-based

screen-and-treat strategy that targeted the family members of index cases in an Indigenous population in Taiwan, China, showed an increased *H. pylori* positivity rate in the family members who were tested and a lower reinfection rate among those who were treated, compared with testing and treating individuals [31]. Pre-screening education may be necessary for a more widespread implementation of family-based programmes; in a community-based study in six regions in China, poor adherence to treatment after testing was documented [32]. Family-based strategies present opportunities to eliminate sources of reinfection from households, and these strategies may also target individuals with a family history of gastric cancer. Most clinical consensus reports recommend treating *H. pylori* infection in individuals with a family history of gastric cancer. Most clinical a randomized *H. pylori* treatment trial [33].

Age group to target for H. pylori screen-and-treat programmes

According to the Taipei Global Consensus [15], the population-based screen-and-treat strategy for *H. pylori* infection is most cost-effective in young adults in regions with a high incidence of gastric cancer, and this strategy is recommended to be carried out before atrophic gastritis develops. In a subgroup analysis of a recent cluster-randomized controlled trial in China of community-based *H. pylori* eradication, successful *H. pylori* eradication modestly decreased gastric cancer incidence and mortality rates in treated people aged < 45 years but not in those aged \geq 45 years [34]. In another randomized controlled trial, patients who underwent endoscopic resection of early gastric cancer and who received treatment for *H. pylori* infection had lower rates of metachronous gastric cancer [35]. In a population-based study in Asia, *H. pylori* treatment prescribed to people aged > 60 years reduced the risk of subsequent gastric cancer development, but these effects were more apparent \geq 10 years after successful eradication [36].

There is no consensus on the optimal age for *H. pylori* treatment, and it is possible that the optimal age varies between populations. Other issues to consider when deciding on the optimal age for *H. pylori* treatment are differences in population age structure and age-specific risks for groups within a population, and whether the optimal age to screen may differ for some groups (e.g. Indigenous populations). Overall, the evidence supports

population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes in adult populations, but the magnitude of the benefit may decrease with age [13].

The benefits of *H. pylori* treatment for asymptomatic children and adolescents have not yet been established; only a limited number of studies have addressed this topic [37]. On the assumption that it is better to eradicate H. pylori infection before the carcinogenic effects and advanced pre-neoplastic lesions have developed, several municipalities in Japan are offering H. pylori screening to teenagers [38-40]. In an H. pylori screening study in students aged 14-15 years, the intestinal microbiota was significantly affected by H. pylori infection [41]. Furthermore, in adolescents with H. pylori infection, the relative abundance of the Gram-negative Prevotella genus was found to be positively correlated with body mass index. In this study, the students are being followed up to evaluate the long-term effects on the intestinal microbiota of eliminating H. pylori infection. The 2018 guidelines of the Japanese Society for Paediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition recommend against a screen-and-treat strategy for H. pylori infection in asymptomatic children to prevent gastric cancer, because there is no evidence to support this strategy [42]. However, these guidelines recommend considering treatment to eliminate *H. pylori* infection in children who have a family history of gastric cancer in a first-degree or second-degree relative and in whom active H. pylori infection has been found, which is in keeping with the family-based approach (see the previous section).

4.4 Readiness assessment

The implementation of an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme requires action at multiple levels: individuals and communities; health-care system units such as facilities and providers, as well as payers and central administration; and the public health authorities that are responsible for providing health information to the public. Table 4.1 provides a checklist for assessing needs and readiness at these different levels.

Table 4.1. Checklist to determine how ready a health system is to implement an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme for gastric cancer prevention

1. Needs for an <i>H. pylori</i> screen-and-treat programme for gastric cancer prevention		
Are the incidence and mortality rates of gastric cancer available for the target population?	Yes	No
Is the above information recent (within 5 years) and accurate?	Yes	No
Are the <i>H. pylori</i> infection prevalence estimates available for the target population?	Yes	No
Is the above information recent (within 5 years) and accurate?	Yes	No
Can the above information be stratified by subgroups (e.g. demographics, race/ethnicity, and socioeconomic position)?	Yes	No
2. Target population		
Have the eligibility criteria for an <i>H. pylori</i> screen-and-treat programme been defined, either for the general population or for specific subgroups?	Yes	No
Is the rationale for selecting the type of screening – whether general or risk-based – valid?	Yes	No
Is family-based screening a practical option, compared with individual screening?	Yes	No
3. Readiness for an <i>H. pylori</i> screen-and-treat programme for gastric cancer prevention		
Is there a public health authority or scientific assessment team in place to coordinate the programme?	Yes	No
Are the human resources available to implement the programme?	Yes	No
Can H. pylori screening be integrated into existing cancer screening programme platforms?		No
Is the public involved in the programme; for example by providing feedback on their experiences with the screening process?	Yes	No
Is funding available?	Yes	No
Is the health system ready to consider or adopt the <i>H. pylori</i> screen-and-treat programme for gastric cancer prevention?	Yes	No
Are the relevant data, such as screening data from a central database or incidence and mortality data from a population registry, available?	Yes	No
Are there quality control practices in place for a screen-and-treat programme for gastric cancer prevention?	Yes	No
Are the outcomes measurable?	Yes	No
Is the programme sustainable?	Yes	No
4. <i>H. pylori</i> testing		
Are <i>H. pylori</i> tests available, such as the ¹³ C-urea breath test, stool antigen test, and serological test?	Yes	No
Has the performance of the H. pylori test been validated in different settings?	Yes	No
Has a testing method been selected for implementation?	Yes	No
Do clinical societies support the <i>H. pylori</i> screen-and-treat programme for gastric cancer prevention?	Yes	No
Does the general public support the <i>H. pylori</i> screen-and-treat programme for gastric cancer prevention?	Yes	No
Have the providers for <i>H. pylori</i> tests been defined?	Yes	No
Are there quality control practices for testing in place?	Yes	No
Is cold-chain transportation available for biospecimens?	Yes	No
Are the costs of <i>H. pylori</i> tests affordable for the participants of the programmes or covered by the government?	Yes	No
Is there a payer for the <i>H. pylori</i> tests?	Yes	No
Is there a confirmatory test for <i>H. pylori</i> eradication?	Yes	No

Table 4.1. Checklist to determine how ready a health system is to implement an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme for gastric cancer prevention (continued)

5. <i>H. pylori</i> treatment		
Are there effective treatments available for <i>H. pylori</i> infection, including both generic and branded medications?	Yes	No
Are there any locally recommended treatment guidelines (last updated date)?	Yes	No
Do clinical societies endorse H. pylori treatment for both primary care and specialists?	Yes	No
Do patients endorse <i>H. pylori</i> treatment?	Yes	No
Is there a plan to assess treatment compliance?	Yes	No
Are the treatment costs affordable by the participants of the programmes or covered by the government?	Yes	No
Is there a payer available for <i>H. pylori</i> treatments?	Yes	No
Is the rate of <i>H. pylori</i> resistance to clarithromycin known in the target population, and is it accurate within the past 5 years?	Yes	No
Is the rate of <i>H. pylori</i> resistance to levofloxacin known in the target population, and is it accurate within the past 5 years?	Yes	No
Is the rate of <i>H. pylori</i> reinfection or recrudescence known in the target population, and is it accurate within the past 5 years?	Yes	No
Is there a follow-up plan in place for treatment failure?	Yes	No
6. Population engagement		
Is there a mechanism to monitor the participation rate in order to improve it?	Yes	No
Is there a mechanism to assess the attitudes of health-care professionals, including both primary care providers and specialists?	Yes	No
Is there a mechanism to assess the attitudes of the target population and the general public?	Yes	No
Are there awareness and engagement activities to involve the target population and the general public?	Yes	No

Infrastructure to support a population-based H. pylori screen-and-treat programme for gastric cancer prevention

It is crucial to carry out an assessment of resources before implementing an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme, including assessing the existing resources and those still needed. Adequate funding and human resources should be secured to enable the programme to be executed sustainably. To increase the participation rate, the screen-and-treat programme should be provided free of charge to all eligible participants. For risk-based interventions to be successfully developed and implemented, they need to be endorsed by health-care professionals and accepted by the communities and individuals targeted for screening.

Health-care systems vary across regions and countries. *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes are typically carried out within existing primary care or public health systems, which may lack experience in administering screening tests for *H. pylori* and

prescribing the appropriate treatment for people with the infection. In such situations, the appropriate testing facilities should be installed, and the health-care personnel who will be involved in the testing and treatment should be given the necessary training. A clear and defined pathway should be devised to give participants a simple way to register to be tested, to notify them of the test result, and to offer treatment if the test result is positive for *H. pylori* infection. This typically requires developing a new, secure electronic platform (or modifying an existing cancer screening programme platform, such as those used for colorectal or breast cancer screening) for registration, referral, reporting of results, and tracking of participants [43]. The system would ideally identify individuals who were due to be tested or treated and would gather data to be used to evaluate the process in real time and the programme's outcome indicators.

Testing facilities

The various testing options that are available for diagnosis of *H. pylori* infection are described in Chapter 5. Depending on the screening test selected, laboratory facilities equipped to handle the expected volume of tests must be made available. Although *H. pylori* serology and stool antigen tests do not usually require any special laboratory equipment, urea breath tests require infrared spectroscopy or mass spectrometry to measure the ¹³C isotope. Implementing screen-and-treat strategies requires adequate dedicated laboratory space, equipment, and staffing; laboratory staff must be trained to provide standardized, uninterrupted, sustainable, and competent laboratory support services for screen-and-treat activities. To determine the scale of the laboratory facilities required, the available resources and the expected participation rates of the targeted individuals should be considered, as well as the options for building capacity gradually or all at once. Ongoing quality assurance and/or accreditation of test centres should be implemented to ensure the accuracy of the test results, the reported information, and the data archives.

In addition, infrastructure will be required to collect the relevant samples (blood, breath, or stool samples), either at dedicated testing centres or at the existing facilities. Samples should be collected in places that are convenient for the participants, and laboratory facilities should be easily accessible for delivery of samples, in particular because delays in transporting stool samples can lead to false-negative test results. If serology is used for testing, trained phlebotomists will be needed to take blood samples

to test for *H. pylori* antibodies. For urea breath tests, trained personnel are needed to administer the labelled urea and to collect breath samples according to a standard protocol. Moreover, assessment of local endoscopy capacity may be needed for performing additional endoscopy of some high-risk individuals identified by the programme.

Health-care providers

The health-care providers involved in the screen-and-treat programme should be trained and regularly updated on the latest local recommendations for the diagnosis and treatment of *H. pylori* infection. Locally available tests and follow-up protocols should be standardized across facilities. A clear referral and treatment pathway should be implemented, with standardized and structured responses to common outcomes (e.g. positive test results) and queries to minimize confusion and misunderstanding among participants.

A systematic review showed that risk stratification within population-based cancer screening programmes is largely acceptable to health-care professionals [44]. The review discussed many barriers to and facilitators of implementation, and emphasized the importance of training, public involvement, and effective communication, as well as the importance of providing evidence that justifies reducing screening for low-risk groups and managing resource limitations.

Treatment availability

A standard treatment protocol should be available for people who test positive for *H. pylori* infection, and this treatment should be provided free of charge to participants. Treatment can be provided at the primary care level or at dedicated screen-and-treat clinics. Updated local treatment recommendations should be made available and widely disseminated to the health-care providers responsible for treating individuals who test positive. Because of the general increase in *H. pylori* antimicrobial resistance [45], treatment recommendations should be updated periodically on the basis of local antibiotic resistance profiles, the treatment outcomes of programme participants, and the latest literature. For example, a recent meta-analysis of studies conducted in the Asia–Pacific region estimated resistance prevalences at 30% for clarithromycin, 61% for metronidazole, 35% for levofloxacin, 4% for tetracycline, and 6% for amoxicillin [46]. The

European Registry on *Helicobacter pylori* Management could be used as a reference for the prevalence of antimicrobial resistance in European countries [3]. Because the prevalence of *H. pylori* antibiotic resistance varies considerably across countries, local data are required to inform the best choice of antibiotics for a screen-and-treat programme. Alternative treatment options should be available for patients with allergies to antibiotics. The authorities responsible for the screen-and-treat strategies that are adopted should ensure an adequate supply of medications that are needed to treat people with *H. pylori* infection, including the medications needed to treat refractory cases. To ensure the success of screen-and-treat strategies, follow-up testing after treatment for *H. pylori* infection (by urea breath test or stool antigen test) should be available on a routine basis. Clear indications for referral for endoscopy should be included in the treatment guidelines (e.g. the presence of alarm symptoms or refractory infections).

Maximizing engagement

High levels of participation are crucial to the success of any cancer prevention programme, including any *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme. Including representatives of the target population in the planning and evaluation of the programme is essential to design and maintain effective recruitment strategies. Information on *H. pylori* infection and the benefits and risks of a screen-and-treat programme should be prepared and delivered with the target population in mind. For the choice of where and how to deliver this content (e.g. media, pamphlets, workshops, via health professionals), the modalities that will have the greatest reach for the populations of interest should be considered.

During programme planning, media (i.e. TV, radio, printed and online media, and social media) should be engaged to raise public awareness of the importance of *H. pylori* infection as a cause of gastric cancer and other upper gastrointestinal diseases. Furthermore, media relations should be used to engage the public using various communication tools (e.g. press releases or statements). The general public, and especially the participants targeted, should be able to access additional information from dedicated programme websites. Additional research is needed on the acceptability of different testing modalities for target populations, and on the major barriers to

participation to be addressed in the design and implementation phases of any programme.

4.5 Examples of *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes

Community-driven projects in Arctic Canada

The community-driven research programme carried out by the Canadian North *Helicobacter pylori* (CAN*Help*) Working Group [47, 48] (see Chapter 3.4) demonstrates how community-engaged research can contribute the information that is required to assess the needs and readiness for effective gastric cancer prevention strategies. The relevant information generated by CAN*Help* projects is described below, and specific project findings are summarized in Table 4.2.

Table 4.2. Data for assessing readiness for a gastric cancer prevention test-and-treat initiative,CAN*Help* community projects, western Arctic Canada, 2007–2018

Community project data on *H. pylori*-associated disease burden

- Of 1082 Indigenous participants with data on H. pylori status, 60.5% tested positive for H. pylori.
- *H. pylori* infection occurred with gastric pathology indicative of increased risk of gastric cancer (severe chronic gastritis, atrophic gastritis, and intestinal metaplasia) more frequently in project participants than in a comparison population of patients who had gastric biopsies examined at the University of Alberta Hospital [49].
- Among 309 participants examined endoscopically, visible mucosal lesions were more frequent in the stomach than in the duodenum. The gastric-to-duodenal ratio was 2 for inflammation, 8 for erosions, and 3 for ulcers [50]. This pattern is associated with increased risk of gastric cancer.
- Pathological examination in 308 participants with gastric biopsies revealed normal gastric mucosa in 1 of 224 *H. pylori*-positive participants and 65 (77%) of 84 *H. pylori*-negative participants, with sharp contrasts in the prevalence of specific abnormalities between *H. pylori*-positive and *H. pylori*-negative participants, respectively: moderate–severe active gastritis, 50% and 0%; moderate–severe chronic gastritis, 91% and 1%; atrophic gastritis, 43% and 0%; intestinal metaplasia, 17% and 5%.
- In-depth pathological examination of gastric biopsies from 20 participants with intestinal metaplasia showed that all except 1 had the high-risk incomplete cell type.
- Frequencies of chronic digestive symptoms reported by participants did not differ notably by *H. pylori* status (adjusting for age, sex, ethnicity, proton pump inhibitor or acid suppressor use, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug use, smoking, and alcohol intake), with about half in either group reporting no symptoms; factors associated with reporting one or more chronic dyspepsia symptoms (excluding heartburn and reflux) were older age, female sex, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug use, smoking, and alcohol intake.

Cancer registry data on H. pylori-associated disease burden

- Increased gastric cancer incidence rates were observed in Indigenous residents of the Northwest Territories relative to Canada as a whole [51], Indigenous Albertans relative to non-Indigenous Albertans [52], and Indigenous populations relative to non-Indigenous counterparts worldwide [53].
- Gastric cancer is the fourth most frequent site for cancer mortality in Yukon men and the fifth most frequent site in Yukon women [54], in contrast to the 10th most frequent site in men and women across Canada [55].
- The proportion of gastric cancer cases diagnosed in people aged < 60 years was 48% in the Northwest Territories in 1997–2015 [51], > 40% in Yukon [54], and < 25% across Canada as a whole, during similar time periods [55].
- Also, of the gastric cancer cases diagnosed in Indigenous residents of the Northwest Territories in 1997–2015. 16% occurred in people aged < 40 years [51], compared with < 2% across Canada as a whole [55].

Table 4.2. Data for assessing readiness for a gastric cancer prevention test-and-treat initiative, CAN*Help* community projects, western Arctic Canada, 2007–2018 (continued)

Community project data on high-risk groups

Prevalence of *H. pylori* infection (by urea breath test or histology) by sociodemographic factors

	Number tested	Prevalence (%)	95% confidence interval (%)
Total	1352	54	51–65
Indigenous	1082	61	58–63
Non-Indigenous	202	16	11–22
Among 1082 Indigenous participant	S		
Aged 0–14 years	127	39	31–48
Aged 15–24 years	142	66	58–74
Aged 25–44 years	314	68	62–73
Aged 45–64 years	369	59	54–64
Aged 65–96 years	130	62	53–71
Female	636	57	53–60
Male	446	66	62–71
Inuit	331	63	57–68
Gwich'in First Nations	427	63	58–68
Among 813 Indigenous participants	aged > 24 years		
	313	69	64–74
High school diploma or trade	325	64	58–69
Any higher education	139	47	39–56

Community project data on treatment effectiveness

• Two quadruple (4-drug) regimens evaluated had estimated effectiveness > 90%.

- Clarithromycin-based triple therapy was substantially inferior to quadruple therapies.
- Among 83 participants who were retested an average of 2.9 years after successful treatment, 71 (86%; 95% confidence interval, 76–92%) remained free of *H. pylori* infection.

Community project data on target population readiness for a test-and-treat programme

- Despite efforts to accommodate all community members who wished to be screened by urea breath test, the
 proportion screened varied widely across communities, from 10% to 80% among eight communities with < 1000
 residents, averaging 33.
- Of 682 participants who tested positive for *H. pylori* by urea breath test, 31% did not accept the offer of treatment; this proportion was fairly consistent across communities, ranging approximately from 20% to 40%.
- Participants who returned for follow-up testing had excellent adherence to treatment.
- Of 473 participants to whom treatment was dispensed, 35% did not return for follow-up testing (and it is unknown whether they completed treatment).

Is there a need?

Information on the elevated risk of gastric cancer in populations with relevance to the target population was obtained from cancer registry data. Because the northern territories in Canada generally have <5 gastric cancer cases per year, annual

frequencies of gastric cancer are not reported for these jurisdictions. A study that aggregated the Northwest Territories data from 1997–2015 (26 cases in Indigenous men, 16 cases in non-Indigenous men, 18 cases in Indigenous women, 3 cases in non-Indigenous women) estimated age-standardized incidence rates (per 100 000 personyears) of 13.8 (95% confidence interval [CI], 8.4–19.2) for Indigenous men and 7.7 (95% CI, 4.1–11.2) for Indigenous women, in contrast to 8.8 (95% CI, 3.9–13.7) for non-Indigenous men and 2.0 (95% CI, 0.0–4.3) for non-Indigenous women. This study compared these estimates with Canada-wide age-standardized incidence rates estimated from 2003–2012 data (16 872 cases in men and 9510 cases in women) of 7.0 (95% CI, 6.9–7.1) per 100 000 person-years in men and 3.2 (95% CI, 3.1–3.3) per 100 000 person-years in women [51]. CAN*Help* project data demonstrated a high burden of *H. pylori*-associated disease in the target population (Table 4.2).

Who should be targeted?

Although age-specific rates of gastric cancer are not reported for the target population, the proportion of gastric cancer cases diagnosed in people aged < 60 years was 48% in the Northwest Territories in 1997–2015 [51], > 40% in Yukon [54], and < 25% across Canada as a whole, during similar time periods [55]. Also, of the gastric cancer cases diagnosed in Indigenous residents of the Northwest Territories in 1997–2015, 16% occurred in people aged < 40 years [51], compared with < 2% across Canada as a whole [55]. This suggests a potential benefit of targeting young adults.

CAN*Help* project data demonstrated a prevalence of *H. pylori* infection of close to 40% in children aged < 15 years; this indicates that childhood transmission is common in participating communities. In adults, *H. pylori* infection prevalence was highest in the age group 15–44 years and was substantially lower in people who had received higher education compared with people who had not completed high school. *H. pylori* infection prevalence was about 60% in Indigenous participants compared with 16% in non-Indigenous participants, most of whom were teachers, nurses, and police officers from elsewhere in Canada residing temporarily in participating communities. *H. pylori* infection prevalence ranged from 56% to 66% in four communities in the Beaufort Delta region of the Northwest Territories and nearby northern Yukon in which participants were screened for *H. pylori* in 2008–2012; it ranged from 37% to 50% in four communities in southern Yukon in which participants were screened for *H. pylori* in 2016–2017. The

observed variations in *H. pylori* infection prevalence among populations, places, and times did not reveal subgroups of Indigenous community members who should be excluded from gastric cancer prevention initiatives, although few children aged < 15 years had pathological assessment, so there is little evidence on which to base a minimum age for a screen-and-treat strategy. In the absence of evidence of benefit to children, the relevant paediatric guidelines for managing *H. pylori* infection should take precedence [56].

Are adequate testing resources available?

The CAN*Help* projects demonstrated the successful implementation of non-invasive testing for *H. pylori* using the ¹³C-urea breath test, with samples shipped from the northern territories for analysis in the laboratory at the University of Alberta. When the CAN*Help* projects began in 2007, Northwest Territories Health and Social Services provided breath tests to patients when health-care providers ordered *H. pylori* testing for diagnostic evaluation. However, this was not the case for Yukon Health and Social Services, which until recently used only serology testing to diagnose *H. pylori* infection. Currently, practitioners in both jurisdictions have been trained in the collection and transportation of breath samples for analysis in the southern Canadian provinces.

Are effective and affordable treatment regimens available?

Randomized treatment trials conducted within CAN*Help* projects identified regimens with good long-term effectiveness in trial participants and for which adherence to the regimen was also good (Table 4.2). Furthermore, follow-up of 69 participants examined by gastroscopy with gastric biopsies several years after treatment to eliminate *H. pylori* infection showed that most participants who had successful treatment at baseline remained infection-free at follow-up; the prevalence of precancerous gastric pathologies was also substantially lower at follow-up than at baseline. Furthermore, participants who were *H. pylori*-negative at follow-up had a higher frequency of improvement in precancerous gastric pathologies than those who were *H. pylori*-positive at follow-up. Overall, the available evidence suggests that most *H. pylori*-positive community members who participated fully in the treatment component of CAN*Help* projects had a sustained reduction in gastric cancer risk indicators.

Is the target population ready for a screen-and-treat strategy?

Data from the CAN*Help* projects show that motivation to participate in screening varied widely across communities (Table 4.2). Project data also reveal a participation challenge for initiatives involving treatment and verification of treatment success: close to one third of *H. pylori*-positive participants did not accept the offer of treatment, and about one third of those to whom treatment was dispensed were lost to follow-up. The queries of participants about chronic digestive complaints showed that complaints in the target population were similar to those in people without *H. pylori* infection; this circumstance would prevent most *H. pylori*-positive members of the target population from experiencing the immediate benefits of treatment.

Is there adequate infrastructure for providing the treatment and supporting the overall implementation of a screen-and-treat strategy?

The CAN*Help* projects demonstrated the feasibility of engaging local health-care practitioners and regional pharmacies to dispense treatment that was paid for by territorial and federal health insurance. The projects also demonstrated strong support from local, regional, territorial, and extraterritorial health officials for gastric cancer prevention activities that were sought by Indigenous communities in their jurisdictions.

Aotearoa New Zealand

Is there a need?

In Aotearoa New Zealand, the need for *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies to prevent gastric cancer in priority groups is clear. There are stark ethnic differences in the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection [57, 58] and the rates of gastric cancer [59] (see Chapter 3.11). Currently, gastric cancer incidence rates (per 100 000 person-years) are moderate (10–20) in Māori people (11) and in Pacific people (14), age-standardized to the World Health Organization (WHO) world population standard (2017–2021) but lower in Asian people (6) and European/Other people (4), i.e. non-Māori, non-Pacific, non-Asian people [60]. In another analysis, which was standardized to the 2001 Māori population, the gastric cancer incidence rates (per 100 000 person-years) were 13 for Māori people, 14 for Pacific people, 7 for Asian people, and 4 for Sole European people (in 2015–2018) [61]. The average age at diagnosis of gastric cancer is 10 years younger in Māori people and Pacific people than in European people [62, 63].

Who should be targeted?

Consensus is needed on the high-risk groups to target and whether a risk-based strategy is the best approach. This could be supported by more detailed analyses of the prevalence rates of gastric cancer, peptic ulcer, and *H. pylori* infection in potential priority and sociodemographic groups, under the direction of a broad advisory group that includes health experts representing Indigenous people, Pacific people, Asian people, and the migrant population (see Chapter 3.11). Agreement is needed on how to recruit individuals, the interaction with other screening programmes, which age groups to target, and whether to follow up household members, of what age, when someone has an infection. There is emerging interest in exploring an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme to prevent gastric cancer in New Zealand in Māori people [64].

Are adequate testing resources available?

Further consensus is needed on the choice of diagnostic test. The stool antigen test is a funded, recommended, and widely available test for assessing active *H. pylori* infection in New Zealand (see Chapter 3.11). Participants can drop stool samples off at local community laboratories across the country, where the samples are frozen and transported to a designated laboratory for testing. However, there may be concerns about the acceptability of this test in priority populations [64]. An alternative option would be to start with an initial (locally validated) serology test, and then follow up people who have a positive serology test result with a stool antigen test. Although the two-step model is more complicated, it is likely to be more affordable and may have fewer barriers to uptake. The *H. pylori* in Aotearoa New Zealand Study will investigate the uptake and the relative performance of serology (initial test) and stool antigen testing (optional or confirmatory test) (see Chapter 3.11). Further information (disaggregated by ethnicity and other factors) that is useful for testing decisions includes local validation of serology, local comparison of the sensitivity and specificity of testing approaches, and further understanding of the acceptability and uptake for different tests.

Tests that are not currently available may also be considered. Urea breath tests are not publicly funded in New Zealand and are thus used rarely and only in some centres [58]. The widespread adoption of breath testing would require additional investment, time, and planning. Home-based testing for stool antigens, as with rapid antigen testing, could also be considered if it becomes available and affordable.

Are effective and affordable treatment regimens available?

As has been seen globally, there are likely to be increasing rates of *H. pylori* clarithromycin resistance in New Zealand (see Chapter 3.11). There is an urgent need for study findings, including from studies currently under way, to report on *H. pylori* eradication rates and antibiotic resistance (e.g. clarithromycin resistance) to current first-line and second-line treatment combinations in New Zealand, and how this varies by ethnicity. This information should be used to update various New Zealand treatment guidelines (health pathways, formulary, Best Practice Advocacy Centre New Zealand) and to inform which treatments are publicly funded. Current guidelines are not consistent with the Maastricht VI/Florence Consensus report, which recommends first-line treatment with 14 days of bismuth-containing quadruple therapy if clarithromycin resistance is > 15% and susceptibility testing is not available [13].

Guidelines should also recommend retesting at 4–6 weeks after *H. pylori* treatment, to assess successful eradication. This would improve eradication rates via the use of second-line treatment and could support the monitoring of treatment effectiveness.

Is there adequate infrastructure for providing the treatment and supporting the overall implementation of a screen-and-treat strategy?

Advice on structured screening programmes in New Zealand is provided by an independent advisory group, the National Screening Committee, and funding and implementation require a government decision [65]. Organized cancer screening programmes are managed by the National Screening Unit in New Zealand, in the public health system (Te Whatu Ora/Health New Zealand). Previously, proposed screening programmes (e.g. lung cancer screening) have been piloted and evaluated by Te Whatu Ora/Health New Zealand, and this would be a useful approach for an *H. pylori* screenand-treat strategy in the first instance, for example starting in one region (e.g. the northern region) and/or in a priority group. Implementation decisions would need to be made by a multidisciplinary team of experts about who will be invited, how people will be invited, the process for testing, who will treat participants (and whether this would include telehealth), and how each element will be publicly funded so that it is free to participants. A cost-effectiveness analysis of selected screen-and-treat approaches or modalities will be useful for decision-making. A single database or register would need to be developed to manage the process from invitation to final follow-up and would be used to monitor

and evaluate the progress. An important consideration will be the capacity of the health system to introduce and manage the new programme [66], including considerations about how the programme hopes to integrate with the stretched primary health-care system and how gastroscopy referrals will be managed for participants with red flags for gastric cancer.

There are groups in the New Zealand population who are at sufficiently high risk for gastric cancer to warrant a screen-and-treat approach. Piloting an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme for priority groups would enable solutions to be refined as the project is developed to address the current challenges outlined above. Funding appropriation would support the scale-up. Ongoing research can support these developments.

Slovenia (EUROHELICAN)

The goal of the EU4Health project Accelerating Gastric Cancer Reduction in Europe through *H. pylori* Eradication (EUROHELICAN) is to obtain new evidence to improve gastric cancer prevention by eradicating *H. pylori* infection, which is the most important risk factor (see Chapter 3.5). In contrast to the programmes in Arctic Canada and Aotearoa New Zealand, EUROHELICAN is a population-based pilot programme that is being implemented in people aged 30–34 years.

Is there a need?

The crude gastric cancer incidence rate in Slovenia is 28.5 per 100 000 person-years in men and 16.9 per 100 000 person-years in women.

Who should be targeted?

Participants aged 30–34 years were sampled using the Monte Carlo representative sampling method and are being enrolled at the Community Healthcare Centre Dr Adolf Drolc Maribor. Participant enrolment will provide data on responsiveness to the invitation, the current prevalence of *H. pylori* infection, the acceptability and success of treatment, and any adverse events during therapy. Data on the acceptability and feasibility of the proposed screen-and-treat strategy will be obtained from the medical personnel participating in the study, by using a survey conducted after the completion of patient enrolment. The sets of electronic forms and the sequences in which they are used are shown in Fig. 4.2. A total of 4000 individuals aged 30–34 years were invited,

with a participation rate of about 30% and a seropositivity rate of 13%. The study results are described in Chapter 3.5.



Fig. 4.2. Slovenia screen-and-treat programme. UBT, urea breath test. Source: Tepeš et al. (2024) [67].

Which test should be used to detect H. pylori infection?

Two-stage testing is being used to confirm an active infection; the first test used is serology, and a confirmatory urea breath test is used for participants with a positive serology test result.

Are effective and affordable treatment regimens available?

Participants with *H. pylori* infection are treated with bismuth-containing quadruple therapy, following the recommendation in the Slovenian Association for Gastroenterology and Hepatology guidelines.

Is there adequate infrastructure for providing the treatment and supporting the overall implementation of a screen-and-treat strategy?

The Slovenia National Institute of Public Health is the project leader and, in cooperation with the Community Healthcare Centre Dr Adolf Drolc Maribor, is investigating various aspects of the screening implementation by pilot testing the *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategy. The study protocol was written in cooperation with the other project partners (the University of Latvia, Riga, Latvia; IARC, Lyon, France; and Nantes University Hospital, Nantes, France). An important part of the study is the analysis of participants' survey data on risk factors for *H. pylori* infection in childhood.

4.6 Conclusions

This chapter outlines an approach to assessing the needs and readiness for the implementation of *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies. Needs assessments are critical before the implementation of these strategies and should include an assessment of recent local gastric cancer incidence and mortality rates (overall and for groups within the population) and the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection. Widespread population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies will be more cost-effective in areas with intermediate to high gastric cancer incidence than in areas with lower gastric cancer incidence. In areas with lower incidence of gastric cancer, targeting *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies to selected intermediate-risk and high-risk groups will often be the best option. Screening and treating could be considered for family members of individuals with *H. pylori* infection or gastric cancer.

Readiness for implementation includes having available testing resources, effective and affordable anti-*H. pylori* treatment, adequate infrastructure to support the overall implementation, and strategies to maximize engagement in the target population. It is essential to run a pilot study to assess the feasibility and acceptance of an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme. Additional infrastructure and ongoing funding would be needed to scale up and maintain a screen-and-treat programme. A sound cost– effectiveness analysis that weighs the specific costs and benefits for the target population, not limited to gastric cancer reduction, would help decision-makers to prioritize the resources required in the context of competing health priorities and local values.

References

- 1. Wilson JMG, Jungner G (1968). Principles and practice of screening for disease. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization. Available from: <u>https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/37650</u>.
- Li Y, Choi H, Leung K, Jiang F, Graham DY, Leung WK (2023). Global prevalence of *Helicobacter pylori* infection between 1980 and 2022: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 8(6):553–64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-1253(23)00070-5</u> PMID:37086739
- Nyssen OP, Bordin D, Tepes B, Pérez-Aisa Á, Vaira D, Caldas M, et al.; Hp-EuReg Investigators (2021). European Registry on *Helicobacter pylori* management (Hp-EuReg): patterns and trends in first-line empirical eradication prescription and outcomes of 5 years and 21 533 patients. Gut. 70(1):40–54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutinl-2020-321372</u> PMID:32958544
- 4. Hu Y, Wan JH, Li XY, Zhu Y, Graham DY, Lu N-H (2017). Systematic review with meta-analysis: the global recurrence rate of *Helicobacter pylori*. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 46(9):773–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/apt.14319 PMID:28892184
- Yan TL, Hu QD, Zhang Q, Li YM, Liang TB (2013). National rates of *Helicobacter pylori* recurrence are significantly and inversely correlated with Human Development Index. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 37(10):963–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/apt.12293 PMID:23550618</u>
- Dixon MF, Genta RM, Yardley JH, Correa P (1996). Classification and grading of gastritis. The updated Sydney System. International Workshop on the Histopathology of Gastritis, Houston 1994. Am J Surg Pathol. 20(10):1161–81. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00000478-199610000-00001</u> PMID:8827022
- 7. Rugge M, Meggio A, Pennelli G, Piscioli F, Giacomelli L, De Pretis G, et al. (2007). Gastritis staging in clinical practice: the OLGA staging system. Gut. 56(5):631–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.2006.106666 PMID:17142647</u>
- Capelle LG, de Vries AC, Haringsma J, Ter Borg F, de Vries RA, Bruno MJ, et al. (2010). The staging of gastritis with the OLGA system by using intestinal metaplasia as an accurate alternative for atrophic gastritis. Gastrointest Endosc. 71(7):1150–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gie.2009.12.029</u> <u>PMID:20381801</u>
- He F, Wang S, Zheng R, Gu J, Zeng H, Sun K, et al. (2024). Trends of gastric cancer burdens attributable to risk factors in China from 2000 to 2050. Lancet Reg Health West Pac. 44:101003. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lanwpc.2023.101003</u> PMID:38269331
- Goodman KJ, Colquhoun A (2014). Principles of evidence-based cancer prevention strategies. In: IARC *Helicobacter pylori* Working Group (2014). *Helicobacter pylori* eradication as a strategy for preventing gastric cancer (IARC Working Group Reports No. 8). Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer; pp. 88–94. <u>https://publications.iarc.who.int/391</u>.
- 11. Teutsch SM (1992). A framework for assessing the effectiveness of disease and injury prevention. MMWR Recomm Rep. 41(RR-3):1–12. <u>PMID:1313535</u>
- 12. Brownson RC, Gurney JG, Land GH (1999). Evidence-based decision making in public health. J Public Health Manag Pract. 5(5):86–97. <u>PMID:10558389</u>
- Malfertheiner P, Megraud F, Rokkas T, Gisbert JP, Liou J-M, Schulz C, et al.; European Helicobacter and Microbiota Study group (2022). Management of *Helicobacter pylori* infection: the Maastricht VI/Florence consensus report. Gut. 71(9):1724–62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2022-327745</u> <u>PMID:35944925</u>
- 14. European Commission (2022). Europe's Beating Cancer Plan Communication from the commission to the European Parliament and the Council. Brussels, Belgium: Directorate-General for Health and Food Safety. Available from: <u>https://health.ec.europa.eu/system/files/2022-02/eu_cancer-plan_en_0.pdf</u>.
- Liou JM, Malfertheiner P, Lee YC, Sheu BS, Sugano K, Cheng HC, et al.; Asian Pacific Alliance on Helicobacter and Microbiota (APAHAM) (2020). Screening and eradication of *Helicobacter pylori* for gastric cancer prevention: the Taipei global consensus. Gut. 69(12):2093–112. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2020-322368</u> PMID:33004546
- Lansdorp-Vogelaar I, Sharp L (2013). Cost-effectiveness of screening and treating *Helicobacter pylori* for gastric cancer prevention. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol. 27(6):933–47. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpg.2013.09.005</u> PMID:24182612
- Dorji T, Wangmo S, Dargay S, Dorji N, Dorjey Y, Pradhan B, et al. (2024). Population-level cancer screening and cancer care in Bhutan, 2020-2023: a review. Lancet Reg Health Southeast Asia. 24:100370. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lansea.2024.100370</u> <u>PMID:38444883</u>
- Kowada A (2023). A population-based *Helicobacter pylori* eradication strategy is more cost-effective than endoscopic screening. Dig Dis Sci. 68(5):1735–46. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10620-022-07795-z</u> <u>PMID:36565366</u>

- Chiang TH, Chang WJ, Chen SL, Yen AM, Fann JC, Chiu SY, et al. (2021). Mass eradication of *Helicobacter pylori* to reduce gastric cancer incidence and mortality: a long-term cohort study on Matsu Islands. Gut. 70(2):243–50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2020-322200</u> <u>PMID:32792335</u>
- Sugano K, Tack J, Kuipers EJ, Graham DY, El-Omar EM, Miura S, et al.; faculty members of Kyoto Global Consensus Conference (2015). Kyoto global consensus report on *Helicobacter pylori* gastritis. Gut. 64(9):1353–67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2015-309252</u> <u>PMID:26187502</u>
- Rugge M, Genta RM, Malfertheiner P, Dinis-Ribeiro M, El-Serag H, Graham DY, et al.; RE.GA.IN (2024). RE.GA.IN.: the Real-world Gastritis Initiative updating the updates. Gut. 73(3):407–41. https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2023-331164 PMID:38383142
- 22. Katelaris P, Hunt R, Bazzoli F, Cohen H, Fock KM, Gemilyan M, et al. (2023). *Helicobacter pylori* World Gastroenterology Organization global guideline. J Clin Gastroenterol. 57(2):111–26. https://doi.org/10.1097/MCG.00000000001719 PMID:36598803
- 23. Thomas C, Mandrik O, Saunders CL, Thompson D, Whyte S, Griffin S, et al. (2021). The costs and benefits of risk stratification for colorectal cancer screening based on phenotypic and genetic risk: a health economic analysis. Cancer Prev Res (Phila). 14(8):811–22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-20-0620 PMID:34039685</u>
- 24. Pashayan N, Morris S, Gilbert FJ, Pharoah PDP (2018). Cost-effectiveness and benefit-to-harm ratio of risk-stratified screening for breast cancer: a life-table model. JAMA Oncol. 4(11):1504–10. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaoncol.2018.1901 PMID:29978189
- Lin JS, Evans CV, Grossman DC, Tseng C-W, Krist AH (2018). Framework for using risk stratification to improve clinical preventive service guidelines. Am J Prev Med. 54(1S1):S26–37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2017.07.023</u> PMID:29254523
- Oderda G, Ponzetto A, Boero M, Bellis D, Forni M, Vaira D, et al. (1997). Family treatment of symptomatic children with *Helicobacter pylori* infection. Ital J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 29(6):509–14.
 <u>PMID:9513824</u>
- 27. Sari YS, Can D, Tunali V, Sahin O, Koc O, Bender O (2008). *H pylori:* treatment for the patient only or the whole family? World J Gastroenterol. 14(8):1244–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.14.1244</u> <u>PMID:18300351</u>
- 28. Zhao JB, Yuan L, Yu XC, Shao Q-Q, Ma J, Yu M, et al. (2021). Whole family-based *Helicobacter pylori* eradication is a superior strategy to single-infected patient treatment approach: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Helicobacter. 26(3):e12793. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.12793</u> <u>PMID:33675089</u>
- 29. Ding SZ (2020). Global whole family based-*Helicobacter pylori* eradication strategy to prevent its related diseases and gastric cancer. World J Gastroenterol. 26(10):995–1004. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v26.i10.995 PMID:32205991
- Ding SZ, Du YQ, Lu H, Wang W-H, Cheng H, Chen S-Y, et al.; National Clinical Research Center for Digestive Diseases (Shanghai), Gastrointestinal Early Cancer Prevention & Treatment Alliance of China (GECA), Helicobacter pylori Study Group of Chinese Society of Gastroenterology, and Chinese Alliance for Helicobacter pylori Study (2022). Chinese consensus report on family-based *Helicobacter pylori* infection control and management (2021 edition). Gut. 71(2):238–53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2021-325630</u> PMID:34836916
- 31. Lei WY, Lee JY, Chuang SL, Bair M-J, Chen C-L, Wu J-Y, et al. (2023). Eradicating *Helicobacter pylori* via ¹³C-urea breath screening to prevent gastric cancer in indigenous communities: a population-based study and development of a family index-case method. Gut. 72(12):2231–40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2023-329871</u> PMID:37197905
- 32. Kong Q, Li Y, Li R, Li Z, Zheng X, Wang Z, et al. (2022). Low compliance to post-screening recommendations in a family-based *Helicobacter pylori* screening and treatment program: a prospective cohort study. Helicobacter. 27(5):e12912. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.12912</u> PMID:35816511
- 33. Choi IJ, Kim CG, Lee JY, Kim Y-I, Kook M-C, Park B, et al. (2020). Family history of gastric cancer and Helicobacter pylori treatment. N Engl J Med. 382(5):427–36. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1909666 PMID:31995688
- Pan KF, Li WQ, Zhang L, Liu W-D, Ma J-L, Zhang Y, et al. (2024). Gastric cancer prevention by community eradication of *Helicobacter pylori*: a cluster-randomized controlled trial. Nat Med. 30(11):3250–60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-024-03153-w</u> PMID:39079993
- 35. Choi IJ, Kook MC, Kim YI, Cho S-J, Lee JY, Kim CG, et al. (2018). *Helicobacter pylori* therapy for the prevention of metachronous gastric cancer. N Engl J Med. 378(12):1085–95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1708423 PMID:29562147</u>

- Leung WK, Wong IOL, Cheung KS, Yeung KF, Chan EW, Wong AYS, et al. (2018). Effects of Helicobacter pylori treatment on incidence of gastric cancer in older individuals. Gastroenterology. 155(1):67–75. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2018.03.028</u> PMID:29550592
- Saito H, Nishikawa Y, Masuzawa Y, Tsubokura M, Mizuno Y (2021). *Helicobacter pylori* infection mass screening for children and adolescents: a systematic review of observational studies. J Gastrointest Cancer. 52(2):489–97. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12029-021-00630-0</u> <u>PMID:33761050</u>
- Akamatsu T, Ichikawa S, Okudaira S, Yokosawa S, Iwaya Y, Suga T, et al. (2011). Introduction of an examination and treatment for *Helicobacter pylori* infection in high school health screening. J Gastroenterol. 46(12):1353–60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00535-011-0450-6</u> PMID:21853260
- Kakiuchi T, Matsuo M, Endo H, Nakayama A, Sato K, Takamori A, et al. (2019). A *Helicobacter pylori* screening and treatment program to eliminate gastric cancer among junior high school students in Saga Prefecture: a preliminary report. J Gastroenterol. 54(8):699–707. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00535-019-01559-9 PMID:30770975
- 40. Kaji E, Yoden A, Otani M, Okuhira T, Aomatsu T, Tamai H, et al. (2020). *Helicobacter pylori* test-andtreat strategy for second-year junior high school students aimed at the prevention of gastric cancer in Takatsuki City. Helicobacter. 25(4):e12696. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.12696 PMID:32352203</u>
- Kakiuchi T, Tanaka Y, Ohno H, Matsuo M, Fujimoto K (2021). *Helicobacter pylori* infection-induced changes in the intestinal microbiota of 14-year-old or 15-year-old Japanese adolescents: a crosssectional study. BMJ Open. 11(7):e047941. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-047941</u> PMID:34215607
- 42. Kato S, Shimizu T, Toyoda S, Gold BD, Ida S, Ishige T, et al.; Japanese Society for Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition (2020). The updated JSPGHAN guidelines for the management of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in childhood. Pediatr Int. 62(12):1315–31. https://doi.org/10.1111/ped.14388 PMID:32657507
- Lee YC, Chiang TH, Chiu HM, Su W-W, Chou K-C, Chen SL-S, et al.; Collaborators of Taiwan Community-based Integrated Screening Group (2024). Screening for *Helicobacter pylori* to prevent gastric cancer: a pragmatic randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 332(19):1642–51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2024.14887</u> PMID:39348147
- 44. Taylor LC, Law K, Hutchinson A, Dennison RA, Usher-Smith JA (2023). Acceptability of risk stratification within population-based cancer screening from the perspective of healthcare professionals: a mixed methods systematic review and recommendations to support implementation. PLoS One. 18(2):e0279201. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0279201</u> <u>PMID:36827432</u>
- 45. Savoldi A, Carrara E, Graham DY, Conti M, Tacconelli E (2018). Prevalence of antibiotic resistance in *Helicobacter pylori*: a systematic review and meta-analysis in World Health Organization regions. Gastroenterology. 155(5):1372–1382.e17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2018.07.007</u>
 PMID:29990487
- 46. Hong TC, El-Omar EM, Kuo YT, Wu J-Y, Chen M-J, Chen C-C, et al.; Asian Pacific Alliance on Helicobacter and Microbiota (2024). Primary antibiotic resistance of *Helicobacter pylori* in the Asia-Pacific region between 1990 and 2022: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 9(1):56–67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-1253(23)00281-9</u> PMID:37972625
- 47. CANHelp Working Group (2024). Canadian North Helicobacter pylori Working Group mission statement. University of Alberta, Canada. Available from: <u>http://www.canhelpworkinggroup.ca/</u>.
- Cheung J, Goodman K, Munday R, Heavner K, Huntington J, Morse J, et al.; CAN*Help* working group (2008). *Helicobacter pylori* infection in Canada's Arctic: searching for the solutions. Can J Gastroenterol. 22(11):912–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2008/614538</u> PMID:19018336
- Cheung J, Goodman KJ, Girgis S, Bailey R, Morse J, Fedorak RN, et al.; CAN*Help* Working Group (2014). Disease manifestations of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in Arctic Canada: using epidemiology to address community concerns. BMJ Open. 4(1):e003689. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2013-003689</u> PMID:24401722
- Fagan-Garcia K, Geary J, Chang HJ, McAlpine L, Walker E, Colquhoun A, et al.; CAN*Help* Working Group (2019). Burden of disease from *Helicobacter pylori* infection in western Canadian Arctic communities. BMC Public Health. 19(1):730. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-019-7065-x</u> PMID:31185961
- Colquhoun A, Hannah H, Corriveau A, Hanley B, Yuan Y, Goodman KJ; CAN*Help* Working Group (2019). Gastric cancer in northern Canadian populations: a focus on cardia and non-cardia subsites. Cancers (Basel). 11(4):534. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers11040534</u> <u>PMID:30991639</u>

- 52. The Alberta First Nations Information Governance Centre (2018). First Nations Health Trends Alberta. Stomach cancer among First Nations in Alberta. Available from: <u>https://afnigc.ca/wp-content/uploads/2024/05/HTAFN-2018-03-27-Stomach-Cancer-FN.pdf</u>.
- Arnold M, Moore SP, Hassler S, Ellison-Loschmann L, Forman D, Bray F (2014). The burden of stomach cancer in indigenous populations: a systematic review and global assessment. Gut. 63(1):64– 71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutinl-2013-305033 PMID:24153248</u>
- 54. Government of Yukon (2019). Yukon Cancer Incidence Report, 2009–2016. Yukon Office of the Chief Medical Officer of Health. Whitehorse, Yukon, Canada: Department of Health and Social Services, Government of Yukon. Available from: https://open.yukon.ca/sites/default/files/yukoncancerincidencereport.pdf.
- 55. Statistics Canada (2021). Cancer incidence in Canada, 2018. Available from: https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/210519/dq210519b-eng.htm.
- 56. Homan M, Jones NL, Bontems P, Carroll MW, Czinn SJ, Gold BD, et al.; on behalf of ESPGHAN/NASPGHAN (2024). Updated joint ESPGHAN/NASPGHAN guidelines for management of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in children and adolescents (2023). J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 79(3):758–85. https://doi.org/10.1002/jpn3.12314 PMID:39148213
- 57. McDonald AM, Sarfati D, Baker MG, Blakely T (2015). Trends in *Helicobacter pylori* infection among Māori, Pacific, and European birth cohorts in New Zealand. Helicobacter. 20(2):139–45. https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.12186 PMID:25403622
- 58. Kubovy J, Barclay ML (2022). *Helicobacter pylori* in New Zealand: current diagnostic trends and related costs. N Z Med J. 135(1562):48–55. <u>https://doi.org/10.26635/6965.5761</u> PMID:36137766
- Teng AM, Atkinson J, Disney G, Wilson N, Sarfati D, McLeod M, et al. (2016). Ethnic inequalities in cancer incidence and mortality: census-linked cohort studies with 87 million years of person-time follow-up. BMC Cancer. 16(1):755. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-016-2781-4</u> <u>PMID:27669745</u>
- 60. Te Whatu Ora/Health New Zealand (2024). Cancer data web tool. Available from: https://tewhatuora.shinyapps.io/cancer-web-tool/.
- 61. Hildred E (2024). Examining ethnic inequities in the management and health outcomes of *H. pylori* infection in New Zealand [thesis]. University of Otago. Available from: <u>https://hdl.handle.net/10523/16512</u>.
- Signal V, Sarfati D, Cunningham R, Gurney J, Koea J, Ellison-Loschmann L (2015). Indigenous inequities in the presentation and management of stomach cancer in New Zealand: a country with universal health care coverage. Gastric Cancer. 18(3):571–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10120-014-0410-y PMID:25098927</u>
- 63. Biggar M, Srinivasa S, Wickramarachchi B, Babor R, Poole GH, Hill AG (2011). Gastric cancer location and histological subtype in Pacific people and Māori defies international trends. N Z Med J. 124(1331):39–44. <u>PMID:21725411</u>
- 64. Signal V, Gurney J, Inns S, McLeod M, Sika-Paotonu D, Sowerbutts S, et al. (2020). *Helicobacter pylori*, stomach cancer and its prevention in New Zealand. J R Soc N Z. 50(3):397–417. https://doi.org/10.1080/03036758.2019.1650081
- 65. O'Hallahan J, Church E, Shaw C (2020). Cancer screening in New Zealand. J Cancer Policy. 23:100203. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcpo.2019.100203</u>
- 66. National Advisory Committee on Health and Disability (2003). Screening to improve health in New Zealand: criteria to assess screening programmes. Wellington, New Zealand: National Health Committee. Available from: <u>https://www.tewhatuora.govt.nz/assets/Our-health-system/Screening/screening_to_improve_health.pdf</u>.
- 67. Tepeš B, Park JY, Knaze V, Leja M, Ražuka-Ebela D, Matysiak Budnik T, et al. (2024). EU Project 101079944, EUROHELICAN - Accelerating Gastric Cancer Reduction in Europe through Helicobacter pylori Eradication, Work Package 4. D4.1 Study manual. Available from: https://ec.europa.eu/info/funding-tenders/opportunities/portal/screen/opportunities/projectsdetails/43332642/101079944/EU4H?order=DESC&pageNumber=1&pageSize=50&sortBy=title&keyw ords=EUROHELICAN&isExactMatch=true&programmePeriod=2021-2027&frameworkProgramme=43332642.

Chapter 5.

Considerations for choice of population-based *Helicobacter pylori* detection methods

Bojan Tepeš, Markus Gerhard, Wai Keung Leung, Jin Young Park, and Yi-Chia Lee

Summary

- For population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes, non-invasive tests should be used.
- Non-invasive testing methods include the ¹³C-urea breath test, the *H. pylori* stool antigen test, and serology tests, with confirmatory tests for people who test positive.
- Considerations for selecting *H. pylori* tests in population-based programmes should include test performance and predictive values, as well as practical factors such as support systems, participants' preferences, and costs.
- Confirmation of success of *H. pylori* eradication should rely on post-treatment testing using the ¹³C-urea breath test or the stool antigen test at least 4 weeks after the completion of *H. pylori* therapy.

	Locally validated tests			
Test performance		¹³ C-UBT, SAT, or serological tests are potential choices		
		Pilot studies		
H. pylori prevalence	<u>ŧŧŧŧŧ</u> ŧ	Selection of an optimal test also depends on the local disease context		
	Interpretation of results			
Predictive values		PPV and NPV are estimated by test performance and <i>H. pylori</i> prevalence		
	Supportive systems, participant's preferences, and costs			
Additional considerations	 ()	Practical factors include the availability of laboratory facilities and equipment, personal preferences, transportation of specimens, and budget constraints		

Choice of population-based *H. pylori* detection methods

Fig. 5.1. Visual abstract. NPV, negative predictive value; PPV, positive predictive value; SAT, stool antigen test; UBT, urea breath test.

5.1 Introduction

H. pylori infection is usually clinically silent in most patients, and the only way to identify individuals with *H. pylori* infection is through testing. Although *H. pylori* infection consistently leads to chronic inflammation of the stomach mucosa, predicting who will develop clinically significant diseases remains challenging. Therefore, *H. pylori* eradication is recommended for anyone diagnosed with an active infection [1, 2]. Population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes for gastric cancer prevention are recommended in countries with intermediate risk (i.e. a crude incidence rate of 10–20 new gastric cancer cases per 100 000 person-years) to high risk (i.e. > 20 new cases per 100 000 person-years), as stated in the Maastricht VI/Florence Consensus report [2], Europe's Beating Cancer Plan 2023–2033 [3], and the Taipei Global Consensus report [4].

The selection of the appropriate population testing methods is a crucial topic, and the methods selected may need to be tailored to the population characteristics and the health-care infrastructure. Diagnostic tests for *H. pylori* infection include non-invasive methods (urea breath test, stool antigen test, and serological tests) and endoscopy-based invasive methods (rapid urease test, histology, and bacterial culture). For population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes, non-invasive tests should be used. Not only should the diagnosis of *H. pylori* infection be made using an accurate test; eradication should also be verified with a follow-up test, because the treatment rate is far from 100% with any treatment regimen.

This chapter provides an introduction to the potential choices for *H. pylori* testing and their underlying mechanisms (Section 5.2). In real-world applications, additional practical considerations are necessary (Section 5.3). It is possible that gastric cancers may already be present at the time of *H. pylori* testing and treatment (Section 5.4). An introduction to endoscopy-based, invasive tests for *H. pylori* infection in the middle-aged population is given in Section 5.5. In Section 5.6, methods for interpreting results across various population scenarios with differing prevalence of *H. pylori* infection are described, and predictive values are addressed. Conclusions and future directions are provided in Section 5.7.

5.2 Importance of test performance for population-based H. pylori testing

H. pylori testing is accomplished by measuring the concentration of ¹³CO₂ in exhaled air before and after the ingestion of a test meal, detecting *H. pylori* antigens in stool

samples, or detecting *H. pylori* antibodies in blood samples. For the selection of a population-based test, the test performance and predictive values should first be considered. Test performance is determined by diagnostic accuracy studies, which evaluate the sensitivity (test positive/true positive) and the specificity (test negative/true negative). The diagnostic accuracy of *H. pylori* tests is addressed in this section.

Urea breath tests

The urea breath test (UBT) is the cornerstone of non-invasive diagnosis of H. pylori infection. This diagnostic method exploits the urease activity of *H. pylori*. Participants ingest urea labelled with either ¹³C or ¹⁴C isotopes. Because of its radioactivity, ¹⁴C is not suitable for population testing, because pregnant women may inadvertently participate in the programme. *H. pylori* urease hydrolyses the labelled urea (¹³CH₄N₂O), resulting in the production of ammonia (NH₃) and labelled carbon dioxide (¹³CO₂), and the ¹³CO₂ is absorbed into the bloodstream and subsequently exhaled. Measurement of the increase in the concentration of labelled ¹³CO₂ in the breath provides a direct indication of the presence of H. pylori infection. There are two analytical systems for the UBT: mass spectrometry and infrared spectrometry. The UBT has demonstrated high sensitivity and specificity, > 95% in most studies [5–7]. Participants should refrain from taking antibiotics for at least 1 month and from using proton pump inhibitors for at least 14 days before the UBT. Participants should fast for at least 2 hours before the test and should undergo pre-test and post-test assessments within a 30-minute interval. The UBT has been extensively validated in clinical settings not only for initial diagnosis but also for confirming eradication after treatment. In a meta-analysis, the UBT was found to be 10% more sensitive than stool and blood tests [7]. Given its non-invasive nature and its high diagnostic performance, the UBT is a commonly used method in clinical practice. In practice, there are two methods for collecting end-expiratory air: the tube method and the bag method (Box 5.1). Both methods offer advantages in sample stability during transportation compared with the stool antigen test.

Box 5.1. The tube method versus the bag method for the UBT

Both methods require correctly collecting the end-expiratory air and ensuring that the CO₂ concentration is sufficient. The tube method typically requires four tubes (two for pre-test assessments and two for post-test assessments). If the CO₂ concentration is

insufficient in one tube, there is another tube to test. The tube method may have a lower likelihood of air leakage, but it is associated with higher costs. A tube is more convenient than a bag for transportation between the collection point and the laboratory. The bag method involves collecting one bag for the pre-test assessment and another for the post-test assessment. This method is convenient to operate and collects a larger volume of gas, which allows for repeated testing. However, if the CO₂ concentration is insufficient initially, the participant should be called back and the UBT should be redone. Bags are less suitable than tubes for transportation, because of the higher likelihood of gas leaks.

Stool antigen tests

The stool antigen test (SAT), which detects *H. pylori* antigens in stool samples, offers a non-invasive and reliable diagnostic alternative. SATs use monoclonal antibodies to identify *H. pylori*-specific antigens in stool samples. Multiple studies and clinical trials have reported high sensitivity and specificity for SATs, with values > 90% [7-9]. In addition to population testing, the SAT has been proven to be particularly valuable in paediatric populations and for post-eradication verification, given its non-invasive nature and its high diagnostic accuracy [10, 11]. Like for the UBT, the intake of proton pump inhibitors, antibiotics, and bismuth-containing compounds can reduce the bacterial load and potentially lead to false-negative results [8]. Also, because monoclonal antibodies can only detect one epitope, the test performance depends on the conservation of the epitope and the nature of the circulating strains. The performance of SATs also depends on the timely processing of the stool sample and the storage temperature (< 8 °C). Delayed processing can lead to degradation of the antigen-antibody complexes and can lower the sensitivity of SATs. These factors mean that in real-life use the sensitivity of SATs is often < 90%. In a country with limited resources and many remote places, the above-mentioned limitations should be considered when choosing the SAT. A point-ofcare SAT is now available as a rapid test, but it is not as sensitive as the enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) SAT.

Box 5.2. Molecular detection of *H. pylori* and resistance strains in stool samples

Molecular methods, such as polymerase chain reaction (PCR) and next-generation sequencing, are increasingly being used for detecting H. pylori DNA and identifying antibiotic resistance mutations directly from stool samples. Although these methods have not yet been implemented in population test-and-treat programmes, because of higher costs and lower availability, they offer better stability and valuable information for selecting effective treatments, usually after failure of first-line treatment. These advanced techniques provide high diagnostic accuracy, with sensitivities and specificities often > 95%, but the results are heterogeneous among the different studies [12-14]. The ability to detect specific mutations that confer resistance to antibiotics, such as clarithromycin and levofloxacin, is particularly crucial given the rising prevalence of antibiotic-resistant H. pylori strains. Molecular detection for these antibiotics has not yet been sufficiently validated in clinical trials, which have showcased excellent performance in both the diagnosis of *H. pylori* infection and the identification of resistance patterns [15]. This diagnostic approach is valuable in guiding the appropriate treatment regimens in the face of antibiotic resistance challenges [16]. However, PCR-based detection methods are limited when it comes to rare mutations, which may not be included in the panel. This limitation can be overcome by next-generation sequencing, which is more laborious and expensive, and the bioinformatics are more complex to validate. For other antibiotics, especially metronidazole, which is still one of the most frequently used antibiotics in H. pylori therapies, little is known about the molecular mechanisms that lead to resistance, and several genes or parameters seem to be able to contribute to resistance. Therefore, molecular models are not yet sufficiently reliable to detect or predict metronidazole resistance [17]. In general, molecular methods are not yet sufficiently validated and cost-effective to be used for population-level programmes.

Serological testing

Serological testing for *H. pylori* infection involves the detection of specific antibodies (immunoglobulin G) against *H. pylori* in the patient's serum. Because the gastric inflammation persists for decades, almost every individual with *H. pylori* infection has multiple, highly specific antibodies against *H. pylori* antigens in their blood. The most

used and best-characterized test formats are ELISA and western blotting, or a newer version called line blotting. The principal advantage of serology tests is the high sensitivity and technical specificity of these state-of-the-art tests. Given its simplicity, broad availability, and lower cost, ELISA is the preferred method for population-based screening. However, a major limitation is the inability to distinguish between current and past infections because of the prolonged presence of antibodies even after bacterial eradication, which lowers the clinical specificity [18-20]. Serology is used primarily for initial screening purposes (to be confirmed by the UBT) but cannot be used to determine successful eradication. Although western blotting may be considered too impractical for population-based testing, there may be circumstances in which it could be informative, for example if additional specificity is required or the responsiveness to individual antigens is of interest. The sensitivity and specificity of serology tests vary widely, typically ranging from 80% to 98% [20-22]. Because of the inability to differentiate current from past infection, serology tests are not recommended as the only method for diagnosing current H. pylori infection. The accuracy of serology tests depends on the choice and number of antigens used. Large-scale studies using multiple H. pylori antigens could show that the antibody frequencies against individual antigens are highly variable, depending on the antigens used. CagA is among the most immunogenic antigens, and almost every individual infected with a CagA-positive strain has high antibody titres against CagA. However, this depends on the geographical region, because, for example, in Europe and North America a substantial number of strains lack CagA [23]. Therefore, only locally verified serology tests with sensitivities and specificities of > 90–98% should be used in test-and-treat programmes as the first test, usually followed by the UBT for confirmation of current infection. Tests with lower performances should no longer be used. A properly validated and well-characterized serology test will always have a technical specificity of > 90%, and cross-reactivities are rare. State-of-the-art tests based on recombinant antigens are very sensitive and specific. Other antigens with highly prevalent antibodies are FliD and GroEL. If three or more antigens are combined, a sensitivity of nearly 100% can be achieved. In addition, some assay formats enable the distinction of the individual antibody responses (e.g. line blotting, Luminex). Such assays have become valuable in epidemiological studies to identify individuals in whom H. pylori infection was eradicated or who lost H. pylori infection by other means, and in determining the risk of H. pylori-associated diseases [24, 25], but these assays are more expensive and must be performed in specialized

laboratories, in which the required infrastructure (Dynablot instrument for line blotting or fluorescence-activated cell sorting [FACS] instruments for Luminex) to conduct and process the assays is available. An additional advantage of serological testing is the potential for the simultaneous assessment of gastric secretory function including testing for pepsinogen I and II (enzymes produced in the stomach), which could identify individuals with gastric atrophy [26].

5.3 Additional considerations

In addition to the test performance, several factors may influence the selection and effectiveness of diagnostic methods. Each health-care setting may prioritize these factors differently on the basis of local resources and health-care objectives, and this will influence the selection of diagnostic strategies [27]. The overall comparisons among the three tests are summarized in Table 5.1.

Support systems

Practical considerations about infrastructure play a crucial role in the choice of test, including the requirement for a laboratory, the equipment needed, and the transportation of test samples. For example, although the UBT is highly accurate, it requires a mass spectrometer or an infrared spectrometer, which may not be accessible in some clinical settings [28]. SATs are easier to administer and do not require such specialized equipment; this makes them suitable for settings with limited technical infrastructure [7], but they are not suitable for transportation. Although serology tests are less specific, they require only basic laboratory infrastructure [29]. The availability of equipment refers to the ease of acquiring the necessary test kits and materials, which are crucial for tests like the UBT and the SAT. Reagents and test kits must be reliably available. Disruptions in supply chains can significantly affect the availability of tests and the consistency of results. With respect to the transportation of specimens, the monoclonal SAT is temperature-sensitive, and samples should be stored at temperatures < 8 °C. In contrast, the UBT is stable and can be sent by mail, and the results can typically be analysed within 1 month. Rapid tests such as the UBT and the SAT can provide results within hours, which is advantageous for timely treatment decisions. In contrast, serological testing may take several days; this can potentially delay the next step for the confirmation of current infection for the initiation of treatment. Delays in treatment may affect the percentage of patients who accept treatment.
Test	Strengths	Weaknesses	Performance	Additional considerations
UBT	 Simple operation Good performance Can be used to test for active infection and evaluate for eradication success 	 Higher direct and indirect costs (procedure time) Requires fasting Requires stopping PPI use for 2 weeks and antibiotic use for 4 weeks before testing 	 Sensitivity and specificity > 95% 	 Depends on the availability of mass spectrometry or infrared spectrometry Requires trained technicians for analysis
SAT	 Simple operation Good performance Can be used to test for active infection and evaluate for eradication success Point-of-care test is possible 	 Requires stopping PPI use for 2 weeks and antibiotic use for 4 weeks before testing Requires instruction about sample collection, storage, and transportation Participants' preferences may be lower for stool sampling 	 Sensitivity and specificity > 90% 	 Can be performed together with FIT screening for colorectal cancer Can be performed together with molecular testing for antibiotic resistance
Serological test	 Does not require modifications of medication before testing The only method not influenced by current PPI intake Widely available Least expensive 	 Does not reliably differentiate between active infection and previous infection Cannot be used to confirm eradication Needs to be carried out by professionals for blood sampling 	 Technical sensitivity and specificity ranging from 80% to 98% Clinical specificity is lower than for UBT and SAT because of inability to differentiate between current infection and past infection 	 Can be performed together with other blood tests, such as pepsinogen testing A positive test result should be confirmed by UBT or SAT The test should be validated locally for optimal PPV and NPV

Table 5.1. Population tests for *H. pylori* infection

FIT, faecal immunochemical test; NPV, negative predictive value; PPI, proton pump inhibitor; PPV, positive predictive value; SAT, stool antigen test; UBT, urea breath test.

Source: Used with permission of Annual Reviews, Inc., from Lee et al. (2022) [16]; permission conveyed through Copyright Clearance Center, Inc.

Participants' preferences

Participants' preferences with respect to breath samples, stool samples, or blood samples can significantly influence their willingness to participate. In particular, participants may feel uncomfortable with providing stool samples [30], depending on geography, ethnicity, or religious background, or if they are unable to produce a sample during the visit to the health-care centre.

Costs

Budget considerations include not only the direct costs of the tests but also the broader economic impact, including the costs associated with false-positive or false-negative test results, which could lead to inappropriate treatments or delayed diagnosis. Therefore, budgetary constraints may necessitate a balance between the test accuracy and the related costs. For the same test, the costs can vary significantly depending on geographical location and health-care setting, which influence the accessibility and choice of diagnostic methods. Costs typically rank, from highest to lowest, in the order of the UBT, the SAT, and serological testing. In the Accelerating Gastric Cancer Reduction in Europe through *H. pylori* Eradication (EUROHELICAN) programme, which targets the young adult population with a lower prevalence of *H. pylori* infection in a European country (see Chapter 3.5), there is a notable cost disparity between the UBT and serological testing (the costs of the UBT are potentially many times those of the serology test). Using a two-step approach with a locally validated immunoglobulin G serology test as the first step and a confirmatory UBT as the second step may reduce overall testing costs compared with a one-step approach using the UBT (Fig. 5.2).



Fig. 5.2. A two-step approach for serological *H. pylori* testing and urea breath test (UBT) confirmation in a population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme in a setting with a low prevalence of *H. pylori* infection (as used in the EUROHELICAN and TOGAS projects). IgG, immunoglobulin G. Source: Tepeš et al. (2024) [31].

Testing after eradication treatments

H. pylori is classified as a class I carcinogen. It is an infectious disease that requires treatment and eradication for patients with an infection [1, 2]. *H. pylori* treatment regimens aim for eradication rates of > 90%, though actual eradication rates typically range between 80% and 90% [32]. Retesting after antibiotic treatment is important to confirm the successful elimination of the infection. This also reinforces the patient–doctor interaction in managing the disease. Without retesting, more-resistant strains may persist and spread within the community. The UBT and the SAT should be used as confirmatory tests for eradication [7]. In cases of treatment failure, additional lines of treatment may be prescribed until *H. pylori* infection is successfully eradicated [2].

5.4 Gastric cancer risk at the time of testing for *H. pylori* infection

The diagnostic tests used in the population-based H. pylori screen-and-treat programmes in younger and older adult populations may differ because of the differences in the risk of pre-neoplastic changes and gastric cancer. Economic capacities and medical facilities could also influence the approach to integrate H. pylori preventive measures with early detection of gastric cancer in a particular country. In young adults, H. pylori infection is often asymptomatic and typically results in chronic gastritis in most individuals with H. pylori infection. In older adults, additional considerations are needed because the intragastric damage may have progressed to a point where it is less reversible. *H. pylori* eradication reduces the risk of gastric cancer, but the magnitude of the effect is lower in older populations because of the high rate of pre-neoplastic changes in the gastric mucosa at older ages. The prevalence of advanced pre-neoplastic lesions (atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia) in Europe in age groups > 50 years is up to 19% [33–35]. Measuring the levels of pepsinogens combined with *H. pylori* serological testing may provide additional information about preneoplastic conditions of the gastric mucosa [26]. A decreased pepsinogen I level or a low pepsinogen I/II ratio is indicative of atrophic gastritis, which is often associated with chronic *H. pylori* infection. The combination of two serology tests may be useful to triage the population for upper endoscopy on the basis of the risk of gastric cancer [36]. A drawback of pepsinogen testing is its low sensitivity for detecting gastric cancer and preneoplastic changes; this currently limits its readiness for implementation in preventive programmes. In a population-based screen-and-treat programme, additional endoscopy can be considered, according to medical judgement, for participants with a family history

of upper gastrointestinal cancer, for those with a history of oesophageal or gastric malignancy, or for those presenting with alarm symptoms and signs, such as unexplained iron deficiency anaemia, a palpable abdominal mass or lymphadenopathy, dysphagia, odynophagia, melaena, gastrointestinal bleeding, unintentional weight loss, or persistent vomiting [2].

5.5 Invasive tests for H. pylori infection

Invasive tests are generally not applicable to the *H. pylori* screen-and-treat approach, except when there is a concurrent endoscopy-based gastric cancer screening programme. When endoscopy is contemplated, gastric biopsy can be used for detection of *H. pylori* infection by the rapid urease test, histological examination, and bacterial culture. These necessitate endoscopic facilities, which involve higher initial set-up and maintenance costs. These methods require trained gastroenterologists and pathologists, which can be a limitation in resource-limited settings [37].

Rapid urease tests

The rapid urease test (RUT) is a simple and inexpensive rapid test, which detects the presence of urease activity. Two biopsies should be taken for the RUT, from the antrum and the corpus. The RUT contains urea, which would be broken down by *H. pylori* urease, leading to a pH change as reflected by the colour change of the pH indicator. The urease activity typically comes from *H. pylori* in the stomach, although false-positive test results are possible because of the presence of other bacteria. In general, commercial RUTs have a sensitivity of about 85–95% and a specificity of about 95–100% [38]. Results are available within minutes or sometimes hours, depending on the bacterial load present in the biopsy specimens. Rather than obtaining a further biopsy for PCR, the biopsies used for the RUT could be further used (after reading the results) for the detection of mutations associated with antibiotic resistance, using PCR [39]. However, RUTs can be falsely negative in patients with a recent intake of antibiotics or proton pump inhibitors, and in patients with upper gastrointestinal bleeding [40, 41]. Under these circumstances, additional gastric biopsies from the antrum and the corpus can be taken for histology, bacterial culture, or PCR.

Histology

Histology is a simple, economical, and widely available test for *H. pylori* infection. It is considered to be a standard protocol in routine upper endoscopy to evaluate gastric

inflammation and the presence of other pre-neoplastic lesions, such as atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia. Although special staining techniques such as the Giemsa or Warthin–Starry stain could increase the detection of *H. pylori* infection, this bacterium is readily identified by the conventional haematoxylin and eosin stain. Because the density of *H. pylori* infection is not uniformly distributed in the stomach, taking multiple biopsies from both the antrum and the corpus can increase the diagnostic yield. Proper topographical staging of the severity of gastritis can be done using the Operative Link on Gastritis Assessment (OLGA) and the Operative Link on Gastric Intestinal Metaplasia Assessment (OLGIM) staging systems [42–44].

Culture

Two biopsies are obtained for bacterial culture, from the antrum and the corpus. Culture for *H. pylori* has to be performed with selective medium under microaerobic conditions for 5–7 days, because of the slow growth of the bacterium. Culture has a relatively low sensitivity compared with histology or even the RUT, and it is not widely available because of the need for equipment and expertise. However, bacterial culture is useful in determining antimicrobial susceptibility, particularly in patients in whom first-line eradication therapy failed or in regions with a high prevalence of antimicrobial resistance. Culture has a specificity of 100%, but its sensitivity shows substantial variation, ranging between 85% and 95%, depending on the expertise of the laboratory [2, 4]. The role of culture has increasingly been replaced by molecular detection methods, including PCR and direct sequencing (see Box 5.2), because of the low yield and the long turnover time for culture. However, PCR is not widely used because of the higher costs and lower availability [37].

5.6 Real-world examples of the use of tests in population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes

In a population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme, the choice of the best approach depends on the availability of the different tests, the performance of each test, and the expected prevalence of *H. pylori* infection. A positive test result is interpreted using the positive predictive value (PPV) (true positive/test positive), and a negative test result is interpreted using the negative predictive value (NPV) (true negative/test negative). The population-based application of *H. pylori* testing includes the single-step and two-step approaches. The single-step approach uses either the UBT or the SAT.

The two-step approach involves initial serological testing, followed by the UBT (or the SAT) for those who test positive in the serology tests. These applications are demonstrated in the following real-world examples, which show how countries can adopt appropriate tests for their target populations with varying *H. pylori* infection rates. A highly sensitive screening serology test can be used to select individuals with potential *H. pylori* infection and avoid many (more expensive) UBTs, especially when the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection is < 30%.

Urea breath tests

The application of the UBT is illustrated using an example of a high-risk population with a high prevalence (~55%) of *H. pylori* infection [45, 46] (see Chapter 3.10). When the UBT (with a locally validated sensitivity and specificity of 95% [47]) is adopted, the PPV is estimated to be 96% and the NPV is estimated to be 94%. Among 100 participants, 54 who tested positive and 46 who tested negative will be observed (Fig. 5.3). This will include 52 true positives (54 × 96%) and 43 true negatives (46 × 94%). Consequently, in this scenario, only 5 cases (= 100 - 52 - 43) will be misclassified.



Fig. 5.3. Using the urea breath test (UBT) for *H. pylori* (HP) testing in a population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme in a setting with a high prevalence (55%) of *H. pylori* infection. NPV, negative predictive value; PPV, positive predictive value.

Stool antigen tests

The SAT has been shown to be valuable in population-based test-and-treat programmes in Bhutan [48] (see Chapter 3.6). The SAT can also leverage the established platform of colon cancer screening using faecal immunochemical tests for invitations and specimen transportation. This is illustrated in a middle-aged population with a prevalence of *H. pylori* infection of 38% [49]. When the SAT (with a locally validated sensitivity of 88% and specificity of 99% [50]) is adopted, the PPV is estimated to be 98% and the NPV is estimated to be 93%. Among 100 participants, 34 who tested positive and 66 who tested negative will be observed (Fig. 5.4). This includes 33 true positives ($34 \times 98\%$) and 61 true negatives ($66 \times 93\%$). Consequently, in this scenario, only 6 cases (= 100 - 33 - 61) will be misclassified.



Fig. 5.4. Using the stool antigen test (SAT) for *H. pylori* (HP) testing in a population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme in a middle-aged population with an intermediate prevalence (38%) of *H. pylori* infection. FIT, faecal immunochemical test; NPV, negative predictive value; PPV, positive predictive value.

Serological testing

In a population-based programme, serological testing can be applied in a two-step approach, using a highly sensitive, but less expensive, ELISA for screening purposes, followed by confirmatory testing with the UBT or the SAT. Examples of this include the EUROHELICAN and Towards Gastric Cancer Screening Implementation in the European Union (TOGAS) projects (see Chapter 3.5) and the H. pylori in Aotearoa New Zealand (ENIGMA) Study (see Chapter 3.11). A high-performance and well-validated test should be chosen. This approach may be applicable, for example, in populations with lower prevalence of *H. pylori* infection, such as the programme for young adults (e.g. prevalence of 14%). When a serology test with a locally validated sensitivity of 95% and specificity of 90% is used, the PPV is estimated to be 61% and the NPV is estimated to be 99%. Among 100 participants, 22 who tested positive and 78 who tested negative will be observed (Fig. 5.5). This includes 13 true positives (22 × 61%) and 77 true negatives (78 × 99%). With the high NPV, almost all those who test negative are true negatives. Almost all participants with *H. pylori* infection will test positive, although there will be some positives because of past infection (previously treated) (n = 9). Therefore, this approach may reduce the reliance on the UBT compared with the singlestep UBT approach, particularly when considering the costs (costs for 100 serology tests and 22 UBTs vs costs for 100 UBTs). However, the dropout rate for such a two-step approach should be considered.



Fig. 5.5. Using a two-step approach for serological *H. pylori* (HP) testing in a population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme in a setting with a low prevalence (14%) of *H. pylori* infection. IgG, immunoglobulin G; NPV, negative predictive value; PPV, positive predictive value; UBT, urea breath test.

Endoscopic approaches

In Asian countries with high gastric cancer incidence rates and sufficient economic and medical resources, endoscopic screening for early gastric cancer, along with diagnosis of *H. pylori* infection using invasive methods, may be an option. Nonetheless, the *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme using non-invasive methods can still be run in younger age groups, in parallel with the endoscopic screening programme in older age groups. For example, in Japan and the Republic of Korea [51, 52], a nationwide gastric cancer screening programme is available for the early detection and surveillance of patients with premalignant lesions. These programmes have improved the detection rate of early gastric cancer in Japan (to 63.3%) and in the Republic of Korea (to 63.9%). A cost–benefit analysis in Japan identified a population-based *H. pylori* eradication strategy as the most cost-effective strategy for a national gastric cancer prevention-focused programme, better than the current strategy, which is a secondary prevention-focused programme of biennial endoscopic screening [53].

5.7 Conclusions and future directions

For population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes, non-invasive tests should be used. The choice of testing should initially prioritize test performance and the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection in the population, estimating the predictive values when interpreting results in clinical practice. For population-wide implementation, additional considerations may include the availability of support systems for testing, participants' preferences with respect to the test types, and economic factors. Confirmation of eradication is essential and should be performed at least 4 weeks after the completion of *H. pylori* therapy. Molecular detection of *H. pylori* holds promise in the future for the alternative selection of therapies with no risk or only a minor risk of being influenced by antibiotic resistance.

References

- Sugano K, Tack J, Kuipers EJ, Graham DY, El-Omar EM, Miura S, et al.; faculty members of Kyoto Global Consensus Conference (2015). Kyoto global consensus report on *Helicobacter pylori* gastritis. Gut. 64(9):1353–67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutinl-2015-309252</u> PMID:26187502
- Malfertheiner P, Megraud F, Rokkas T, Gisbert JP, Liou J-M, Schulz C, et al.; European Helicobacter and Microbiota Study group (2022). Management of *Helicobacter pylori* infection: the Maastricht VI/Florence consensus report. Gut. 71(9):1724–62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2022-327745</u> PMID:35944925
- European Commission (2022). Europe's Beating Cancer Plan: communication from the commission to the European Parliament and the Council. Brussels, Belgium: Directorate-General for Health and Food Safety. Available from: <u>https://health.ec.europa.eu/system/files/2022-02/eu_cancer-plan_en_0.pdf</u>.
- Liou JM, Malfertheiner P, Lee YC, Sheu B-S, Sugano K, Cheng H-C, et al.; Asian Pacific Alliance on Helicobacter and Microbiota (APAHAM) (2020). Screening and eradication of *Helicobacter pylori* for gastric cancer prevention: the Taipei global consensus. Gut. 69(12):2093–112. https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2020-322368 PMID:33004546
- 5. Graham DY, Klein PD, Evans DJ Jr, Evans DG, Alpert LC, Opekun AR, et al. (1987). Campylobacter pylori detected noninvasively by the ¹³C-urea breath test. Lancet. 1(8543):1174–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(87)92145-3 PMID:2883491</u>
- 6. Gisbert JP, Pajares JM (2005). ¹³C-urea breath test in the management of *Helicobacter pylori* infection. Dig Liver Dis. 37(12):899–906. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dld.2005.09.006</u> PMID:16280266
- 7. Best LM, Takwoingi Y, Siddique S, Selladurai A, Gandhi A, Low B, et al. (2018). Non-invasive diagnostic tests for *Helicobacter pylori* infection. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 3(3):CD012080. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD012080.pub2</u> PMID:29543326
- B. Gisbert JP, Pajares JM (2004). Stool antigen test for the diagnosis of *Helicobacter pylori* infection: a systematic review. Helicobacter. 9(4):347–68. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1083-4389.2004.00235.x</u> PMID:15270750
- Calvet X, Lario S, Ramírez-Lázaro MJ, Montserrat A, Quesada M, Reeves L, et al. (2010). Accuracy of monoclonal stool tests for determining cure of *Helicobacter pylori* infection after treatment. Helicobacter. 15(3):201–5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-5378.2010.00757.x</u> PMID:20557361
- Jones NL, Koletzko S, Goodman K, Bontems P, Cadranel S, Casswall T, et al.; ESPGHAN, NASPGHAN (2017). Joint ESPGHAN/NASPGHAN guidelines for the management of *Helicobacter pylori* in children and adolescents (update 2016). J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 64(6):991–1003. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/MPG.00000000001594</u> <u>PMID:28541262</u>
- Veijola L, Myllyluoma E, Korpela R, Rautelin H (2005). Stool antigen tests in the diagnosis of Helicobacter pylori infection before and after eradication therapy. World J Gastroenterol. 11(46):7340– 4. <u>https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v11.i46.7340</u> PMID:16437639
- Oleastro M, Ménard A, Santos A, Lamouliatte H, Monteiro L, Barthélémy P, et al. (2003). Real-time PCR assay for rapid and accurate detection of point mutations conferring resistance to clarithromycin in *Helicobacter pylori*. J Clin Microbiol. 41(1):397–402. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.41.1.397-402.2003</u> <u>PMID:12517879</u>
- Marrero Rolon R, Cunningham SA, Mandrekar JN, Polo ET, Patel R (2021). Clinical evaluation of a real-time PCR assay for simultaneous detection of *Helicobacter pylori* and genotypic markers of clarithromycin resistance directly from stool. J Clin Microbiol. 59(5):e03040-20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.03040-20 PMID:33536295</u>
- Gisbert JP, de la Morena F, Abraira V (2006). Accuracy of monoclonal stool antigen test for the diagnosis of *H. pylori* infection: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Gastroenterol. 101(8):1921–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1572-0241.2006.00668.x PMID:16780557</u>
- Liu Q, Qi D, Kang J, Jin Y, Liu W, Gao W, et al. (2015). Efficacy of real-time PCR-based detection of *Helicobacter pylori* infection and genotypic resistance-guided quadruple therapy as the first-line treatment for functional dyspepsia with *Helicobacter pylori* infection. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 27(3):221–5. https://doi.org/10.1097/MEG.00000000000186 PMID:25629566
- 16. Lee YC, Dore MP, Graham DY (2022). Diagnosis and treatment of *Helicobacter pylori* infection. Annu Rev Med. 73(1):183–95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-med-042220-020814</u> PMID:35084993
- Graham DY, Lee SY (2015). How to effectively use bismuth quadruple therapy: the good, the bad, and the ugly. Gastroenterol Clin North Am. 44(3):537–63. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gtc.2015.05.003</u> <u>PMID:26314667</u>

- Cutler AF, Havstad S, Ma CK, Blaser MJ, Perez-Perez GI, Schubert TT (1995). Accuracy of invasive and noninvasive tests to diagnose *Helicobacter pylori* infection. Gastroenterology. 109(1):136–41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0016-5085(95)90278-3</u> PMID:7540995
- 19. Loy CT, Irwig LM, Katelaris PH, Talley NJ (1996). Do commercial serological kits for *Helicobacter pylori* infection differ in accuracy? A meta-analysis. Am J Gastroenterol. 91(6):1138–44. <u>PMID:8651160</u>
- 20. Kawai S, Arai K, Lin Y, Nishiyama T, Sasakabe T, Wang C, et al. (2019). Comparison of the detection of *Helicobacter pylori* infection by commercially available serological testing kits and the ¹³C-urea breath test. J Infect Chemother. 25(10):769–73. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jiac.2019.03.026</u> PMID:31023569
- 21. Hoang TT, Rehnberg AS, Wheeldon TU, Bengtsson C, Phung DC, Befrits R, et al. (2006). Comparison of the performance of serological kits for *Helicobacter pylori* infection with European and Asian study populations. Clin Microbiol Infect. 12(11):1112–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-0691.2006.01514.x</u> PMID:17002611
- 22. Godbole G, Mégraud F, Bessède E (2020). Review: diagnosis of *Helicobacter pylori* infection. Helicobacter. 25(Suppl 1):e12735. https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.12735 PMID:32918354.
- 23. Olbermann P, Josenhans C, Moodley Y, Uhr M, Stamer C, Vauterin M, et al. (2010). A global overview of the genetic and functional diversity in the *Helicobacter pylori cag* pathogenicity island. PLoS Genet. 6(8):e1001069. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1001069</u> PMID:20808891
- 24. Pan KF, Formichella L, Zhang L, Zhang Y, Ma J-L, Li Z-X, et al. (2014). *Helicobacter pylori* antibody responses and evolution of precancerous gastric lesions in a Chinese population. Int J Cancer. 134(9):2118–25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28560 PMID:24155048</u>
- 25. Song H, Michel A, Nyrén O, Ekström A-M, Pawlita M, Ye W (2014). A CagA-independent cluster of antigens related to the risk of noncardia gastric cancer: associations between *Helicobacter pylori* antibodies and gastric adenocarcinoma explored by multiplex serology. Int J Cancer. 134(12):2942–50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28621</u> PMID:24259284
- Miki K, Ichinose M, Ishikawa KB, Yahagi N, Matsushima M, Kakei N, et al. (1993). Clinical application of serum pepsinogen I and II levels for mass screening to detect gastric cancer. Jpn J Cancer Res. 84(10):1086–90. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1349-7006.1993.tb02805.x</u> PMID:8226283
- 27. Poddar U (2019). *Helicobacter pylori*: a perspective in low- and middle-income countries. Paediatr Int Child Health. 39(1):13–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/20469047.2018.1490100</u> PMID:29987976
- Said ZNA, El-Nasser AM (2024). Evaluation of urea breath test as a diagnostic tool for *Helicobacter pylori* infection in adult dyspeptic patients. World J Gastroenterol. 30(17):2302–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v30.i17.2302</u> PMID:38813047
- 29. Leal YA, Flores LL, García-Cortés LB, Cedillo-Rivera R, Torres J (2008). Antibody-based detection tests for the diagnosis of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in children: a meta-analysis. PLoS One. 3(11):e3751. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0003751</u> <u>PMID:19015732</u>
- 30. Lecky DM, Hawking MK, McNulty CA; ESBL steering group (2014). Patients' perspectives on providing a stool sample to their GP: a qualitative study. Br J Gen Pract. 64(628):e684–93. https://doi.org/10.3399/bjgp14X682261 PMID:25348992
- 31. Tepeš B, Park JY, Knaze V, Leja M, Ražuka-Ebela D, Matysiak Budnik T, et al. (2024). EU Project 101079944, EUROHELICAN - Accelerating Gastric Cancer Reduction in Europe through Helicobacter pylori Eradication, Work Package 4. D4.1 Study manual. Available from: https://ec.europa.eu/info/funding-tenders/opportunities/portal/screen/opportunities/projectsdetails/43332642/101079944/EU4H?order=DESC&pageNumber=1&pageSize=50&sortBy=title&keyw ords=EUROHELICAN&isExactMatch=true&programmePeriod=2021-2027&frameworkProgramme=43332642.
- Nyssen OP, Bordin D, Tepes B, Pérez-Aisa Á, Vaira D, Caldas M, et al.; Hp-EuReg Investigators (2021). European Registry on *Helicobacter pylori* Management (Hp-EuReg): patterns and trends in first-line empirical eradication prescription and outcomes of 5 years and 21 533 patients. Gut. 70(1):40– 54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutinl-2020-321372</u> PMID:32958544
- Sipponen P, Graham DY (2007). Importance of atrophic gastritis in diagnostics and prevention of gastric cancer: application of plasma biomarkers. Scand J Gastroenterol. 42(1):2–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00365520600863720</u> PMID:17190755
- Roman LD, Lukyanchuk R, Sablin OA, Araslanova EI, Eklund C, Hendolin P, et al. (2016). Prevalence of *H. pylori* infection and atrophic gastritis in a population-based screening with serum biomarker panel (GastroPanel®) in St. Petersburg. Anticancer Res. 36(8):4129–38. <u>PMID:27466521</u>

- 35. Selgrad M, Bornschein J, Kandulski A, Weigt J, Roessner A, Wex T, et al. (2018). Combined gastric and colorectal cancer screening a new strategy. Int J Mol Sci. 19(12):3854. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms19123854 PMID:30513960
- 36. Miki K (2006). Gastric cancer screening using the serum pepsinogen test method. Gastric Cancer. 9(4):245–53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10120-006-0397-0 PMID:17235625</u>
- Garcés-Durán R, Llach J, Da Fieno A, Córdova H, Fernández-Esparrach G (2023). Endoscopic diagnosis of *H. pylori* infection. Gastroenterol Hepatol. 46(6):483–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gastrohep.2022.09.008</u> PMID:36195279
- Tepes B (2007). Comparison of two invasive diagnostic tests for *Helicobacter pylori* after antimicrobial therapy. Scand J Gastroenterol. 42(3):330–2. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00365520601009778</u> <u>PMID:17354112</u>
- Li Y, Rimbara E, Thirumurthi S, Trespalacios A, Reddy R, Sabounchi S, et al. (2012). Detection of clarithromycin resistance in *Helicobacter pylori* following noncryogenic storage of rapid urease tests for 30 days. J Dig Dis. 13(1):54–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-2980.2011.00549.x</u> PMID:22188917
- 40. Lee JM, Breslin NP, Fallon C, O'Morain CA (2000). Rapid urease tests lack sensitivity in *Helicobacter pylori* diagnosis when peptic ulcer disease presents with bleeding. Am J Gastroenterol. 95(5):1166–70. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1572-0241.2000.02004.x PMID:10811322
- 41. Gisbert JP, Abraira V (2006). Accuracy of *Helicobacter pylori* diagnostic tests in patients with bleeding peptic ulcer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Gastroenterol. 101(4):848–63. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1572-0241.2006.00528.x PMID:16494583
- Tepes B, Ferlan-Marolt V, Jutersek A, Kavčič B, Zaletel-Kragelj L (1999). Interobserver agreement in the assessment of gastritis reversibility after *Helicobacter pylori* eradication. Histopathology. 34(2):124– 33. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2559.1999.00604.x</u> <u>PMID:10064391</u>
- Rugge M, Meggio A, Pennelli G, Piscioli F, Giacomelli L, De Pretis G, et al. (2007). Gastritis staging in clinical practice: the OLGA staging system. Gut. 56(5):631–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.2006.106666</u> <u>PMID:17142647</u>
- 44. Capelle LG, de Vries AC, Haringsma J, Ter Borg F, de Vries RA, Bruno MJ, et al. (2010). The staging of gastritis with the OLGA system by using intestinal metaplasia as an accurate alternative for atrophic gastritis. Gastrointest Endosc. 71(7):1150–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gie.2009.12.029</u> PMID:20381801
- Chiang TH, Chang WJ, Chen SL, Yen AM, Fann JC, Chiu SY, et al. (2021). Mass eradication of *Helicobacter pylori* to reduce gastric cancer incidence and mortality: a long-term cohort study on Matsu Islands. Gut. 70(2):243–50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2020-322200</u> PMID:32792335
- 46. Lei WY, Lee JY, Chuang SL, Bair M-J, Chen C-L, Wu J-Y, et al. (2023). Eradicating *Helicobacter pylori* via ¹³C-urea breath screening to prevent gastric cancer in indigenous communities: a population-based study and development of a family index-case method. Gut. 72(12):2231–40. https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2023-329871 PMID:37197905
- 47. Chen TS, Chang FY, Chen PC, Huang TW, Ou JT, Tsai M-H, et al. (2003). Simplified ¹³C-urea breath test with a new infrared spectrometer for diagnosis of *Helicobacter pylori* infection. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 18(11):1237–43. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1440-1746.2003.03139.x PMID:14535979</u>
- Dorji T, Wangmo S, Dargay S, Dorji N, Dorjey Y, Pradhan B, et al. (2024). Population-level cancer screening and cancer care in Bhutan, 2020-2023: a review. Lancet Reg Health Southeast Asia. 24:100370. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lansea.2024.100370</u> PMID:38444883
- Lee YC, Chiang TH, Chiu HM, Wu M-S, Yeh Y-P, Hsiu-Hsi Chen T; Collaborators of the Taiwan Community-Based Integrated Screening Group (2021). Community-based gastric cancer screening coupled with a national colorectal cancer screening program: baseline results. Gastroenterology. 160(6):2159–2161.e4. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2021.01.008</u> PMID:33444571
- 50. Lee YC, Tseng PH, Liou JM, Chen M-J, Chen C-C, Tu C-H, et al. (2014). Performance of a one-step fecal sample-based test for diagnosis of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in primary care and mass screening settings. J Formos Med Assoc. 113(12):899–907. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfma.2012.05.014</u> <u>PMID:25530066</u>
- Hamashima C; Systematic Review Group and Guideline Development Group for Gastric Cancer Screening Guidelines (2018). Update version of the Japanese guidelines for gastric cancer screening. Jpn J Clin Oncol. 48(7):673–83. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jjco/hyy077</u> <u>PMID:29889263</u>
- 52. Kim Y, Jun JK, Choi KS, Lee HY, Park EC (2011). Overview of the national cancer screening programme and the cancer screening status in Korea. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 12(3):725–30. PMID:21627372

53. Kowada A (2023). A population-based *Helicobacter pylori* eradication strategy is more cost-effective than endoscopic screening. Dig Dis Sci. 68(5):1735–46. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10620-022-07795-z</u> <u>PMID:36565366</u>

Chapter 6.

Considerations for choice of *Helicobacter pylori* treatment regimens

Javier P. Gisbert and Peter Malfertheiner

Summary

- The design of population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes must consider the impact they could have on the selection of antibiotic-resistant strains of *H. pylori* and other species, both at the individual level and at the societal– ecological level.
- The most common causes of the failure of treatment are poor compliance with therapy and/or *H. pylori* antibiotic resistance. Patients should receive counselling about the anticipated (generally mild) adverse events. Resistance rates vary remarkably between different geographical areas, and therefore the selection of therapeutic regimens needs to be adjusted according to the local resistance pattern. Several recent reviews have confirmed an increase in clarithromycin resistance rates in different areas around the world.
- *H. pylori* infection is an infectious disease, and therefore regimens should ideally be selected on the basis of antibiotic susceptibility determined at the individual patient level; if this information is not available, empirical regimens should be used that avoid (or have minimal risk of) antibiotic resistance. Local population-based data from surveillance registries will be of great help in this respect. Ultimately, the recommendations stated in each country's guidelines on *H. pylori* treatment should be followed.
- The main available eradication treatments for *H. pylori* worldwide include

 clarithromycin triple therapy, (ii) classic bismuth-containing quadruple therapy (or
 the three-in-one single capsule), (iii) high-dose proton pump inhibitor—amoxicillin
 dual therapy, (iv) vonoprazan—amoxicillin dual therapy, and (v) non-bismuth containing quadruple concomitant therapy.

6.1 General principles for choosing *H. pylori* treatment regimens

Factors to take into account when considering population-based H. pylori eradication treatment

An effective first-line eradication therapy is desirable, to avoid supplementary treatments and testing and to prevent the development of secondary resistance. In the context of population-based screening for and eradication of *H. pylori*, the challenges include dealing with clinically apparently healthy subjects, which requires a simple, well-tolerated therapy with few adverse events to support their motivation and adherence to treatment. In addition to effectiveness and tolerability, other issues that affect the treatment, such as the local availability of the treatment, the cost of the treatment, and the type of health system responsible for treatment, will play a critical role. Awareness campaigns on global, national, and regional scales will have an essential supportive role in disseminating knowledge about *H. pylori* therapy.

The design of these population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes must also consider the impact they could have on the selection of antibiotic-resistant strains of *H. pylori* and other species, both at the individual level (i.e. the direct selection of surviving strains) and at the societal–ecological level (i.e. the type and quantity of antibiotic compounds entering the ecosystem could increase widespread resistance).

Therefore, programme design and treatment recommendations for *H. pylori* screening must fit the narrow criteria of being an acceptable compromise between the aims of cancer prevention (cost–effectiveness) and infection prevention (because population-based eradication reduces the sources of infection) with the containment of antimicrobial resistance.

Antibiotic resistance

The most common causes of the failure of reliably good or excellent regimens are, in addition to poor compliance with therapy, the presence of organisms that are resistant to one or more of the antimicrobial agents used [1].

Several studies have suggested a variety of miscellaneous factors that may be important in *H. pylori* eradication, including age, presentation (e.g. functional dyspepsia vs duodenal ulcer), and CagA status. However, these factors have typically been discovered in data-dredging studies in which resistance was not assessed [2].

Resistance rates vary remarkably between different geographical areas [3], and therefore the selection of therapeutic regimens needs to be adjusted according to the local resistance pattern. The prevalence of antibiotic resistance (mainly to clarithromycin) in various regions is correlated with the general use of antibiotics in the region, i.e. for infectious diseases other than *H. pylori* infection [4]. For example, the long-term use of clarithromycin as monotherapy, mainly for respiratory tract infections, has led to high clarithromycin resistance rates of *H. pylori* [4]. Several recent reviews have confirmed an increase in clarithromycin resistance rates in different areas around the world [4, 5, 6, 7, 8]. Metronidazole resistance plays a subordinate role, because metronidazole is not included in most triple therapies and this resistance can be overcome by the use of bismuth-containing quadruple therapy and by increasing the dose and duration of treatment [9].

The goal of H. pylori eradication treatment

The goal of any antimicrobial therapy is to reliably cure *H. pylori* infection in most patients [10]. Currently, as a general rule, it has been recommended that a regimen should not be used unless it reliably produces an eradication rate > 90% [10]. However, in the context of population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes, it would be worth considering the use of treatments that are slightly less effective but are simpler, less expensive, and better tolerated and have minimal issues related to antibiotic resistance.

The reliable cure of *H. pylori* infection requires the use of antimicrobials to which local infections are susceptible. Physicians gain knowledge about the characteristics of the antibiotics and population antimicrobial resistance; this can be achieved using invasive and non-invasive methods. Antimicrobial susceptibility testing can be performed on *H. pylori* strains from patients with *H. pylori* infection by molecular testing in gastric biopsies, gastric juice samples, and possibly stool samples (most relevant for clarithromycin and levofloxacin) or by culture followed by an antibiogram, which provides susceptibility information for all relevant antibiotics. Several commercial kits are available that enable testing for clarithromycin (and possibly quinolone) susceptibility using polymerase chain reaction (PCR).

Another alternative, which is widely available to all, is to examine and regularly monitor the results of the eradication therapy (this monitoring is recommended to be routinely performed for all patients) and to share the data. Treatment failure with an otherwise optimized therapy provides a strong indication of the presence of resistance, and that therapy should no longer be recommended and used unless local susceptibility is proven by culture or molecular testing.

In summary, *H. pylori* infection is an infectious disease, and therefore regimens should ideally be selected on the basis of antibiotic susceptibility determined at the individual patient level or by using eradication regimens that avoid (or have minimal risk of) antibiotic resistance. Establishing the collection of local population-based data from surveillance registries will be of great help in selecting the most effective therapies in the region.

Tailored versus empirical treatment

Resistance of *H. pylori* to antibiotics has reached alarming rates worldwide [11]. Local surveillance networks are required to select appropriate eradication regimens for each region. Tailoring treatment of *H. pylori* infection based on systematic antimicrobial susceptibility testing is useful to limit the increase in local, regional, and global antibiotic resistance by avoiding the use of unnecessary antibiotics. However, there is still a contentious debate about whether patients should systematically undergo an upper endoscopy for bacterial culture (or molecular techniques such as PCR) or even molecular tests in stool samples before the administration of *H. pylori* eradication treatment in clinical practice [10].

Ideally, the treatment for a bacterial infectious disease should be chosen based on antibiotic susceptibility testing, but the case of the infected stomach is very specific. Pretreatment *H. pylori* susceptibility testing enables the selection of a regimen tailored by antimicrobial susceptibility. However, this is not always feasible in patients with *H. pylori* infection because, until very recently, this has required an invasive procedure (i.e. gastroscopy), which obviously is not indicated in population-based programmes such as those aimed at preventing gastric cancer in the general population [12]. In the past few years it has been reported that the genotypic testing of clarithromycin resistance from stool samples is an accurate, convenient, non-invasive, and rapid detection technology, which provides a definitive diagnosis of clarithromycin resistance and guides the rational selection of antibiotics [13, 14, 15]. However, the studies are still limited, some of their accuracy results are heterogeneous, and diagnostic kits are not available widely or in all settings worldwide [10]. Although some meta-analyses have found that, overall, first-line tailored therapy achieved higher eradication rates than empirical regimens, more recent meta-analyses have concluded that the benefit of susceptibility-guided treatment over empirical treatment of *H. pylori* infection could not be demonstrated in first-line therapy if the most up-to-date and effective quadruple regimens are prescribed [12, 16]. Thus, especially when bismuth-containing quadruple therapy is used as a first-line empirical therapy, there seems to be little need for routine upfront susceptibility testing for tailored treatment, as long as the local eradication success rate is high.

Therefore, a strategy that is also reasonable is that the selection of any empirical regimen be guided by regimen-specific eradication success rates locally. Thus, in many geographical regions, one must empirically choose therapy, and in this instance the best approach is to use regimens that have been proven to be reliably effective in a given area [2, 12]. That choice should take advantage of the knowledge of resistance patterns, obtained from local or regional antimicrobial surveillance programmes or based on local clinical experience with regard to which regimens are effective in that region. Ultimately, the recommendations stated in each country's guidelines on *H. pylori* treatment should be followed.

Finally, the history of the patient's prior antibiotic use and any prior therapies will help to identify which antibiotics are likely to be successful and those for which resistance is probable [2].

6.2 Treatment options

First-line *H. pylori* eradication treatments that have been recommended in guidelines and consensus reports published worldwide are listed in Table 6.1. Table 6.2 summarizes the main available eradication treatment alternatives for *H. pylori* infection, including their constituents and their main strengths and weaknesses. The key principles that should guide the choice of *H. pylori* eradication therapy, in accordance with the World Gastroenterology Organization Global Guideline [3], are summarized in Box 6.1.

The eradication treatments that are currently in use are described and assessed below, along with their effectiveness, availability, and cost in each geographical area.

Box 6.1. Key principles that should guide the choice of *H. pylori* eradication therapy

- 1. Randomized controlled treatment trials and meta-analyses provide the highest level of evidence but are not available for many regions. Local audits of treatment outcomes are useful.
- 2. Treatment recommendations based on resistance patterns and outcome data from one region may not be applicable elsewhere, because of variations in resistance rates and other factors.
- 3. Generating high-quality local data and monitoring antibiotic resistance and treatment outcomes are priorities.
- 4. Ad hoc, unproven therapies should be avoided.
- 5. The main determinant of eradication success is pre-treatment antibiotic resistance.
- 6. Primary resistance to clarithromycin, metronidazole, and levofloxacin varies widely regionally.
- 7. Major determinants of primary resistance appear to be the magnitude and duration of community use of these antibiotics as monotherapy for other indications.
- 8. Prior personal exposure of a patient to these drugs is likely to result in resistance and increases the likelihood of treatment failure.
- 9. Primary clarithromycin resistance has been reported to have increased in many countries over relatively few years, although it has remained stable in other countries.
- 10. Primary or secondary resistance to amoxicillin and tetracycline are so rare that this does not affect treatment choices.
- 11. Because much treatment is given presumptively or after non-invasive *H. pylori* testing, the choice of therapy will be based on knowledge of the probable antimicrobial resistance patterns locally.
- 12. The availability of rapid, inexpensive point-of-care polymerase chain reaction (PCR) antimicrobial resistance testing may change individual treatment choices and facilitate surveillance of trends in resistance.
- 13. Compliance is a major modifiable determinant of eradication success and should be supported with clear verbal and written information.
- 14. Smoking has an adverse effect on eradication success.
- 15. Ideally, outcome assessment (confirmation of *H. pylori* eradication) should be done in all treated patients, although in practice this is not available in many places.
- 16. These key principles must be adapted regionally according to the available resources.

Source: Adapted from Katelaris et al. (2023) [3].

Table 6.1. First-line *H. pylori* eradication treatments recommended in guidelines and consensus reports worldwide^a

Geographical area [reference]	Year of publication	Development organization	Recommended regimen	
Africa [44]	2024	African Helicobacter and Microbiota Study Group	CTT (provided there was no previous exposure to macrolides and local resistance to clarithromycin is < 15%)	
Belgium [45]	2023	Belgian <i>Helicobacter pylori</i> and Microbiota Study Group	Empirical treatment: BQT or CQT	
			If clarithromycin has been excluded: CTT	
Brazil [46]	2018	Núcleo Brasileiro para Estudo do	First-line: CTT	
		<i>Helicobacter pylori</i> e Microbiota	Alternatives: BQT, CQT	
Canada [47]	2016	Canadian Association of Gastroenterology	In areas with high (> 15%) clarithromycin resistance: BQT or CQT	
			In areas with low (< 15%) clarithromycin resistance: CTT	
China [48]	2022	<i>Helicobacter pylori</i> Study Group of Chinese Society of Gastroenterology	BQT or HDDT	
Egypt [49]	2019	Egyptian Association for Study of Gastrointestinal Diseases and Liver	СТТ	
Europe (Maastricht VI/Florence) [10]	2022	European Helicobacter and Microbiota Study Group	In areas with high (> 15%) or unknown clarithromycin resistance: BQT (if unavailable: CQT)	
			In areas with low (< 15%) clarithromycin resistance: BQT or CTT	
Germany [50]	2024	German Society of Gastroenterology, Digestive and Metabolic Diseases	BQT	
Greece [51]	2020	Hellenic Society of Gastroenterology	CQT	
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, China [52]	2023	Hong Kong Society of Gastroenterology	CTT or BQT	
India [53]	2022	Indian Society of Gastroenterology	In areas with high clarithromycin resistance: BQT	
			In areas with low	

clarithromycin resistance: CTT

Geographical area [reference]	Year of publication	Development organization	Recommended regimen
Indonesia [54]	2023	Directorate of Research and Community Service, Deputy for Strengthening Research and Development, Ministry of Research and Technology, Research Agency and National Innovation	CTT: this therapy should be implemented with caution in some regions in Indonesia with high (> 10%) clarithromycin resistance
			Alternatives: BQT and CQT
Ireland [55]	2024	Irish <i>Helicobacter pylori</i> Working Group	BQT (first-line treatment in the absence of clarithromycin susceptibility testing or where clarithromycin resistance has been confirmed)
			CTT (only if clarithromycin susceptibility has been confirmed)
Italy [56]	2022	Italian Working Group	BQT, CTT, or SEQ
			CTT only considered in areas with low (< 15%) clarithromycin resistance
Japan [57]	2019	Japanese Society for <i>Helicobacter</i> Research	CTT or PPI–amoxicillin– metronidazole or P- CAB–clarithromycin– amoxicillin or P-CAB– amoxicillin– metronidazole
Republic of Korea [58]	2021	Korean Society of Clinical Microbiology, Korean Society of Pathologists, and Korean Society of Gastroenterology	CTT, BQT, CQT, or SEQ
Latin America [59]	2014	Latin American Expert Group	CTT or SEQ
Malaysia [60]	2023	Expert panel	CTT
			Alternative: HDDT
Poland [61]	2023	Polish Society of Gastroenterology	BQT or CQT
Saudi Arabia [53]	2022	Saudi <i>H. pylori</i> Working Group	BQT
			Alternatives: CQT, SEQ with quinolones, hybrid therapy, HDDT, vonoprazan triple therapy
Spain [62]	2022	Spanish Association of Gastroenterology and Spanish Society of Digestive Pathology	BQT or CQT
Thailand [63]	2016	Expert panel	CTT
			Alternatives: CQT or SEQ

Table 6.1. First-line *H. pylori* eradication treatments recommended in guidelines and consensus reports worldwide^a (continued)

Table 6.1. First-line	H. pylori eradication	treatments	recommended in	guidelines and	consensus
reports worldwide ^a (o	continued)				

Geographical area [reference]	Year of publication	Development organization	Recommended regimen
USA [64]	2024	American College of Gastroenterology	BQT when antibiotic susceptibility is unknown
			Rifabutin triple therapy or P-CAB dual therapy is a suitable empirical alternative
Viet Nam [53]	2022	Vietnam Association of Gastroenterology	BQT
			Alternative: PPI– amoxicillin–levofloxacin– bismuth
World Gastroenterology Organization [3]	2023	World Gastroenterology Organization	In areas with high clarithromycin resistance: BQT (or PPI– bismuth–amoxicillin– metronidazole)
			In areas with low clarithromycin resistance: CTT

BQT, classic bismuth-containing quadruple therapy (PPI, bismuth, tetracycline, metronidazole); CQT, non-bismuthcontaining quadruple concomitant therapy (PPI, clarithromycin, amoxicillin, metronidazole); CTT, clarithromycin triple therapy (PPI, clarithromycin, amoxicillin); HDDT, high-dose dual therapy (PPI, amoxicillin); P-CAB, potassium-competitive acid blocker; PPI, proton pump inhibitor; SEQ, sequential therapy (PPI plus amoxicillin for 5–7 days followed by PPI plus clarithromycin and metronidazole for 5–7 days).

^a Only guidelines published in English are included. Guidelines exclusively focused on children were excluded. If multiple guidelines have been published, only the most up-to-date publication was included.

Treatment name	Components and dosing	Duration (days)	Strengths	Weaknesses
Standard clarithromycin triple therapy	PPI (omeprazole 40 mg or equivalent/12 h) Clarithromycin (500 mg/12 h) Amoxicillin (1000 mg/12 h)	14	Simplicity Widely available Recommended by most guidelines in case of low clarithromycin resistance	Effectiveness reduced by clarithromycin resistance Requires the administration of 3 different drugs
Classic bismuth- containing quadruple therapy	PPI (omeprazole 20– 40 mg or equivalent/12 h) Bismuth (120 mg/6 h or 240 mg/12 h) Tetracycline (500 mg/6 h) Metronidazole (500 mg/8 h)	10–14	Wide experience Effectiveness has remained constant over time Unaffected by clarithromycin resistance Can overcome metronidazole resistance	Requires the administration of 4 different drugs Complexity of dosing regimen Occasional unavailability of bismuth and/or tetracycline

Table 6.2. Main eradication treatment alternatives for *H. pylori* infection, including their constituents and their main strengths and weaknesses

Treatment name	Components and dosing	Duration (days)	Strengths	Weaknesses
			Low price	Three-in-one single capsule only available in a few countries
				High cost of three- in-one single capsule (in the USA)
High-dose PPI-	PPI (omeprazole 40–	14	Simplicity	Heterogeneous results (Asian countries vs
therapy	equivalent/6–8 h)		Requires the administration of only 2 different drugs	
	Amoxicillin (750– 1000 mg/6–8 h)			Potentially
			Widely available	optimizable PPI and amoxicillin doses
			No resistance problems	
			Good tolerance	
			Low price	
Vonoprazan– amovicillin dual	Vonoprazan (20 mg/12 h)	7–14	Simplicity	Heterogeneous
therapy	Amoxicillin (750– 1000 mg/8–12 h)		Requires the administration of only 2 different drugs	countries vs European countries)
				Pending
			No resistance problems	optimization of the dosage and duration of both vonoprazan
			Good tolerance	and amoxicillin
			Not dependent on the <i>CYP2C19</i> genotype	Higher cost of vonoprazan vs PPI
Non-bismuth- containing quadruple concomitant therapy	PPI (omeprazole 20– 40 mg or equivalent/12 h) Clarithromycin (500 mg/12 h) Amoxicillin (1000 mg/12 h)	14	Not clearly impaired by either clarithromycin or metronidazole isolated resistance	Effectiveness reduced by dual metronidazole– clarithromycin resistance
			Consistent good results in Europe	Requires the administration of 4 different drugs
	Metronidazole (500 mg/12 h)			Exposes the patient to at least 1 unnecessary antibiotic

Table 6.2. Main eradication treatment alternatives for *H. pylori* infection, including their constituents and their main strengths and weaknesses (continued)

h, hour or hours; PPI, proton pump inhibitor.

Standard clarithromycin triple therapy

Nowadays, the efficacy of the standard triple therapy that includes clarithromycin is seriously challenged in many parts of the world, where eradication rates have declined

to unacceptably low levels, largely related to the development of resistance to this antibiotic. This low efficacy compromises the design and development of any populationbased screening and treatment programme for the prevention of gastric cancer. Moreover, the risk of causing a direct or ecological increase in the existing antibiotic resistance rates of *H. pylori* and other agents must be considered before implementing screening and treatment programmes.

The most recent data show that the triple therapy, which generally includes a proton pump inhibitor (PPI), clarithromycin, and either amoxicillin or metronidazole, has lost some efficacy and often enables the cure of only a maximum of 70% of the patients, which is less than the generally recommended rate of 90% and far below what should be expected for a bacterial infection [10]. The most important explanation for this decrease in the efficacy of the standard triple therapy is the increase in *H. pylori* resistance to clarithromycin. Pooled data from 20 studies involving 1975 patients treated with standard triple therapy showed an eradication rate of 88% in clarithromycin-sensitive strains compared with only 18% in clarithromycin-resistant strains [17]. The global clarithromycin resistance rate in Europe has increased from 9% in 1998 [18] to > 20% in more recent years [4]. Resistance has increased in most parts of Europe, but it has now reached a prevalence of > 20% in most countries in central, western, and southern Europe, which is considered to be a high resistance rate [19].

A threshold of 15–20% was recommended to separate the regions of high and low clarithromycin resistance [10]. There are very few remaining areas with low clarithromycin resistance. Worldwide, with few exceptions, the presence of resistance prohibits the empirical use of triple therapies that contain clarithromycin. However, in the few areas with clarithromycin resistance rates of < 15% (and locally confirmed evidence of effectiveness of \geq 90%), the standard PPI–clarithromycin-containing regimen may still be used as the first-line treatment (although bismuth-containing quadruple therapy is also a valid first-line alternative) [10]. In situations in which susceptibility testing is lacking or in areas with limited health-care resources, physicians must rely on evidence of local results (i.e. test-of-cure data).

In cases in which the clarithromycin-containing triple regimen has been selected to be used as the first-line treatment, different ways of improving its efficacy have been proposed. These include (i) increasing the dose of PPI (40 mg of omeprazole, or equivalent, twice a day) and (ii) increasing the duration of treatment (up to 14 days) [10]. However, these options will also increase the cost of treatment, which is a major issue in resource-constrained regions [3].

Finally, overall eradication rates with PPI–amoxicillin–clarithromycin and PPI– amoxicillin–metronidazole have been equivalent worldwide [20]. However, the combination with metronidazole instead of clarithromycin showed high efficacy in areas with a low incidence of metronidazole resistance (i.e. Japan), and could accordingly be recommended as a first-line therapy in these populations [20].

Classic bismuth-containing quadruple therapy

From a microbiological standpoint, the most rational way to overcome antibiotic resistance would be the use of a combination of drugs for which resistance does not appear to be a problem. Therefore, as previously mentioned, no clarithromycin-based regimens should be recommended in areas with increasing clarithromycin resistance rates. In the context of increased resistance to antibiotics, quadruple therapy has the advantage of using the following compounds: (i) bismuth, for which the mechanism of action appears to be more like an antiseptic than like an antibiotic, and for which no resistance has been described; (ii) tetracycline, an antibiotic for which resistance is rarely encountered; and (iii) metronidazole, for which resistance in vitro exists at a high prevalence in most countries around the world, but the clinical impact of this resistance is limited and can be overcome by increasing the dose and duration of treatment [9, 21]. Accordingly, classic bismuth-containing quadruple therapy has been recommended by most of the guidelines worldwide as an alternative first-line regimen to standard triple therapy in areas with low rates of clarithromycin resistance, and has been recommended as the first-line therapeutic option in areas with a high (> 15%) or unknown prevalence of clarithromycin resistance.

The major drawback of this therapy is the complex dosing regimen (some drugs are dosed 4 times a day). Thus, clinical trials of bismuth-containing quadruple therapy are needed to simplify the regimen to improve compliance. Several studies have shown that bismuth administered twice a day may be sufficient [22]. Subsequently, a bismuth-containing quadruple therapy using a three-in-one single capsule that contains bismuth subcitrate, metronidazole, and tetracycline has been demonstrated to decrease the pill burden and improve patient compliance [23].

In general, the treatment duration of bismuth-containing quadruple therapy should be 14 days. However, 10-day therapies have increasingly achieved very good and consistent results in different geographical areas [24]. Furthermore, a meta-analysis [23] and several studies from the European Registry on *Helicobacter pylori* Management, including almost 4000 patients treated with 10-day single-capsule bismuth-containing quadruple therapy, demonstrated a cure rate of \geq 90% [25, 26].

The safety and tolerability of the quadruple therapy have been similar to those of the standard triple therapy in several meta-analyses [27]. Finally, because the bismuth-containing quadruple therapy is an inexpensive regimen, it is often preferred in situations where the cost of therapy is the main concern, which may be the situation for organized programmes in the general population. However, the limitations of this quadruple regimen are the unavailability of bismuth subcitrate worldwide and the current general unavailability of tetracycline in many countries. In addition, the three-in-one single-capsule presentation (marketed under the name Pylera) is only available on the market in a few countries worldwide.

High-dose PPI-amoxicillin dual therapy

In areas with high dual resistance (> 15%), a high-dose PPI–amoxicillin dual therapy may be an option, because it overcomes the issue of clarithromycin (and metronidazole) resistance, especially where bismuth, tetracycline, or the three-in-one single capsule are not available. Dosing frequency is essential for the efficacy of PPI–amoxicillin dual therapy, because amoxicillin has a time-dependent bactericidal effect. A meta-analysis including 15 randomized clinical trials found that PPI–amoxicillin administered 4 times a day achieved a significantly higher eradication rate than doses administered less frequently [28]. Some meta-analyses have demonstrated high (~90%) cure rates, with high-dose PPI–amoxicillin dual therapy being as effective as bismuth-containing quadruple therapy (and associated with fewer adverse effects) [29]. However, these favourable results obtained mainly in Asian countries have not been replicated in European countries (even when bismuth was added to this dual regimen), so this dual regimen cannot be recommended universally [30, 31].

Vonoprazan–amoxicillin dual therapy

Optimal eradication of *H. pylori* infection requires predictable and long-lasting inhibition of gastric acid secretion, especially throughout the night-time hours. Potassium-competitive acid blockers (P-CABs), which have been recently introduced and have a unique pharmacological profile, are better suited to combination treatment with one or

more antimicrobial agents [32]. P-CABs, such as vonoprazan, are characterized by a rapid onset of action and a predictable antisecretory profile that is not dependent on the *CYP2C19* genotype or the activation of parietal cells. This profile provides the opportunity to improve the management of *H. pylori* eradication treatments, particularly by simplifying complex eradication regimens and by potentially developing a very effective dual therapy [32].

Several systematic reviews and meta-analyses of randomized controlled trials have demonstrated that vonoprazan triple therapy is superior to PPI triple therapy in first-line treatment, with similar safety and patient tolerance levels [33]. Furthermore, several studies have shown a similar, or even higher, efficacy of vonoprazan-amoxicillin dual therapy compared with bismuth-containing quadruple therapy, and with better tolerance [34, 35]. However, it should be emphasized that the clinical experience with vonoprazanbased eradication regimens has been largely limited to East Asian countries. The eradication success rates with the vonoprazan regimens observed in the landmark trial in Europe and the USA were lower (79–85% in susceptible strains) than those observed in randomized clinical trials and observational studies in East Asia, perhaps due to differences in body mass index or parietal cell mass, among other factors, between the trial populations [36]. The same has been observed in other countries, such as Thailand, where dual therapies based on vonoprazan have yielded poorer outcomes that those in the studies carried out in East Asian countries [37]. Future research should focus on optimizing the dosage and duration of both vonoprazan and amoxicillin, especially in Europe and the USA.

Non-bismuth-containing quadruple concomitant therapy

This regimen combines a PPI, clarithromycin, amoxicillin, and metronidazole, which are administered together for at least 10 days [38]. In head-to-head trials against clarithromycin-resistant strains, concomitant therapy had superior outcomes (92%) compared with sequential therapy (62%) [38]. Concomitant therapy also works well in metronidazole-resistant, clarithromycin-susceptible cases because of its PPI– amoxicillin–clarithromycin component. Indeed, concomitant therapy was the only therapy other than bismuth-containing quadruple therapy that consistently achieved an eradication success rate of \geq 90% in all European regions in the European Registry on *Helicobacter pylori* Management [25, 39]. The Achilles heel of concomitant therapy is dual metronidazole–clarithromycin resistance. Thus, the efficacy of concomitant therapy

was not impaired by either clarithromycin or metronidazole isolated resistance, but it is expected to be < 90% when the prevalence of dual clarithromycin–metronidazole-resistant strains is > 15% [38]. Furthermore, with this regimen, all patients are exposed to at least one unnecessary antibiotic, whether it is clarithromycin in clarithromycin-resistant cases or metronidazole in metronidazole-resistant cases, which may contribute to global antimicrobial resistance. Thus, according to the Maastricht VI/Florence Consensus report and other consensus reports, in areas with high (> 15%) clarithromycin resistance, non-bismuth-containing quadruple concomitant therapy may be considered, but only if bismuth-containing quadruple therapy, and perhaps other treatments as well, is unavailable.

Other treatments

Rifabutin has generally been recommended as a rescue therapy after at least several *H. pylori* eradication failures [40]. Because of potential – although rare – severe adverse events with rifabutin-based regimens, these regimens should not be used as a first-line treatment [10].

Because of the high or rapidly rising prevalence of quinolone resistance in communities, and also because of the possible adverse events, fluoroquinolone-containing regimens should be reserved for rescue treatment [10].

6.3 The importance of compliance with and tolerance of treatment

Compliance is an important issue when *H. pylori* treatment is planned for inclusion in population-based screening. Therefore, for population-based screening, substantial efforts should be directed towards identifying a regimen that is easy for the participant to follow. Furthermore, adverse events are reported by $\geq 25\%$ of patients [41]. The most frequent adverse events are taste disturbance (reported by 7% of patients), diarrhoea (7%), nausea (6%), and abdominal pain (3%) [41]. However, most of the adverse events are mild (< 1% are serious) and of limited duration, and their occurrence does not seem to interfere significantly with treatment compliance [41]. Nevertheless, patients should receive counselling about the anticipated adverse events, so that their occurrence does not cause cessation of therapy.

Adherence to a complex regimen is a particular problem when it is used in the general population, who are largely asymptomatic. They are less likely to adhere to the therapy if eradication treatment is not used to cure symptoms, and this could be a

challenge for a screening programme. If compliance with the regimen is poor, even the best-designed regimen will have a poor outcome. Therefore, another aspect of optimization is to identify the factors that determine compliance, such as dosing, duration, and adverse events. First, health-care providers must ensure that patients understand the rationale for treatment (principally to reduce the risk of gastric cancer). Second, because adherence to the therapy is associated with higher eradication rates [39], patients should receive counselling about the importance of completing the treatment regimen; taking a few extra minutes to provide patients with all the relevant information can prevent most of the issues associated with treatment failures [42]. The fact that *H. pylori* eradication therapy involves multiple drugs (and frequently multiple dosing intervals) makes patient education extremely important; therefore, written instructions with an appropriate language and literacy level should be provided. Finally, patients who smoke should be advised to stop, because active smoking is associated with *H. pylori* eradication failure [43].

References

- Bujanda L, Nyssen OP, Ramos J, Bordin DS, Tepes B, Perez-Aisa A, et al.; Hp-EuReg investigators (2024). Effectiveness of *Helicobacter pylori* treatments according to antibiotic resistance. Am J Gastroenterol. 119(4):646–54. <u>https://doi.org/10.14309/ajg.00000000002600</u> PMID:37983769
- Graham DY, Lee YC, Wu MS (2014). Rational *Helicobacter pylori* therapy: evidence-based medicine rather than medicine-based evidence. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 12(2):177–86.e3, Discussion e12–3. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cgh.2013.05.028 PMID:23751282</u>
- Katelaris P, Hunt R, Bazzoli F, Cohen H, Fock KM, Gemilyan M, et al. (2023). *Helicobacter pylori* World Gastroenterology Organization global guideline. J Clin Gastroenterol. 57(2):111–26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/MCG.00000000001719 PMID:36598803</u>
- Megraud F, Bruyndonckx R, Coenen S, Wittkop L, Huang T-D, Hoebeke M, et al.; European Helicobacter pylori Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing Working Group (2021). *Helicobacter pylori* resistance to antibiotics in Europe in 2018 and its relationship to antibiotic consumption in the community. Gut. 70(10):1815–22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2021-324032</u> PMID:33837118
- Ho JJC, Navarro M, Sawyer K, Elfanagely Y, Moss SF (2022). *Helicobacter pylori* antibiotic resistance in the United States between 2011 and 2021: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Gastroenterol. 117(8):1221–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.14309/ajg.00000000001828</u> PMID:35509128
- Mégraud F, Graham DY, Howden CW, Trevino E, Weissfeld A, Hunt B, et al. (2023). Rates of antimicrobial resistance in *Helicobacter pylori* isolates from clinical trial patients across the US and Europe. Am J Gastroenterol. 118(2):269–75. <u>https://doi.org/10.14309/ajg.000000000002045</u> PMID:36191284
- 7. Moss SF, Chey WD, Daniele P, Pelletier C, Jacob R, Tremblay G, et al. (2023). Brief communication: global temporal trends in the efficacy of clarithromycin-based regimens for the treatment of *Helicobacter pylori* infection. Therap Adv Gastroenterol. 16:17562848231167284. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/17562848231167284</u> PMID:37388121
- Hong TC, El-Omar EM, Kuo YT, Wu J-Y, Chen M-J, Chen C-C, et al.; Asian Pacific Alliance on Helicobacter and Microbiota (2024). Primary antibiotic resistance of *Helicobacter pylori* in the Asia-Pacific region between 1990 and 2022: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 9(1):56–67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-1253(23)00281-9</u> PMID:37972625
- 9. Malfertheiner P, Chan FK, McColl KE (2009). Peptic ulcer disease. Lancet. 374(9699):1449–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60938-7 PMID:19683340
- Malfertheiner P, Megraud F, Rokkas T, Gisbert JP, Liou J-M, Schulz C, et al.; European Helicobacter and Microbiota Study group (2022). Management of *Helicobacter pylori* infection: the Maastricht VI/Florence consensus report. Gut. 71(9):1724–62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2022-327745</u> <u>PMID:35944925</u>
- Zou Y, Qian X, Liu X, Song Y, Song C, Wu S, et al. (2020). The effect of antibiotic resistance on *Helicobacter pylori* eradication efficacy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Helicobacter. 25(4):e12714. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.12714</u> <u>PMID:32533599</u>
- 12. Nyssen OP, Espada M, Gisbert JP (2022). Empirical vs. susceptibility-guided treatment of *Helicobacter pylori* infection: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Front Microbiol. 13:913436. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2022.913436 PMID:35774456
- Gong RJ, Xu CX, Li H, Liu X-M (2021). Polymerase chain reaction-based tests for detecting Helicobacter pylori clarithromycin resistance in stool samples: a meta-analysis. World J Clin Cases. 9(1):133–47. <u>https://doi.org/10.12998/wjcc.v9.i1.133</u> PMID:33511178
- Ren X, Shi Y, Suo B, Yao X, Lu H, Li C, et al. (2023). Individualized diagnosis and eradication therapy for *Helicobacter pylori* infection based on gene detection of clarithromycin resistance in stool specimens: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Helicobacter. 28(3):e12958. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.12958 PMID:36828668</u>
- Moss SF, Dang LP, Chua D, Sobrado J, Zhou Y, Graham DY (2022). Comparable results of *Helicobacter pylori* antibiotic resistance testing of stools vs gastric biopsies using next-generation sequencing. Gastroenterology. 162(7):2095–2097.e2. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2022.02.027</u> <u>PMID:35196541</u>
- Li M, Wang X, Meng W, Dai Y, Wang W (2023). Empirical *versus* tailored therapy based on genotypic resistance detection for *Helicobacter pylori* eradication: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Therap Adv Gastroenterol. 16:17562848231196357. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/17562848231196357</u>. <u>PMID:37667805</u>
- 17. Mégraud F (2004). *H pylori* antibiotic resistance: prevalence, importance, and advances in testing. Gut. 53(9):1374–84. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.2003.022111</u> PMID:15306603

- Glupczynski Y, Mégraud F, Lopez-Brea M, Andersen LP (2001). European multicentre survey of in vitro antimicrobial resistance in *Helicobacter pylori*. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 20(11):820–3. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s100960100611</u> PMID:11783701
- Bujanda L, Nyssen OP, Vaira D, Saracino IM, Fiorini G, Lerang F, et al.; The Hp-EuReg Investigators (2021). Antibiotic resistance prevalence and trends in patients infected with *Helicobacter pylori* in the period 2013–2020: results of the European Registry on *H. pylori* Management (Hp-EuReg). Antibiotics (Basel). 10(9):1058. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics10091058</u> PMID:34572640
- Murata M, Sugimoto M, Mizuno H, Kanno T, Satoh K (2020). Clarithromycin versus metronidazole in first-line *Helicobacter pylori* triple eradication therapy based on resistance to antimicrobial agents: meta-analysis. J Clin Med. 9(2):543. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm9020543</u> <u>PMID:32079208</u>
- 21. Mégraud F (2012). The challenge of *Helicobacter pylori* resistance to antibiotics: the comeback of bismuth-based quadruple therapy. Therap Adv Gastroenterol. 5(2):103–9. https://doi.org/10.1177/1756283X11432492 PMID:22423259
- 22. Lu H, Zhang W, Graham DY (2013). Bismuth-containing quadruple therapy for *Helicobacter pylori*: lessons from China. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 25(10):1134–40. https://doi.org/10.1097/MEG.0b013e3283633b57 PMID:23778309
- 23. Nyssen OP, McNicholl AG, Gisbert JP (2019). Meta-analysis of three-in-one single capsule bismuthcontaining quadruple therapy for the eradication of *Helicobacter pylori*. Helicobacter. 24(2):e12570. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.12570</u> PMID:30767339
- 24. Ding YM, Li YY, Liu J, Wang J, Wan M, Lin M-J, et al. (2023). The cure rate of 10-day bismuthcontaining quadruple therapy for *Helicobacter pylori* eradication is equivalent to 14-day: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Exp Med. 23(4):1033–43. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10238-022-00953-</u> <u>7 PMID:36538198</u>
- Nyssen OP, Perez-Aisa A, Castro-Fernandez M, Pellicano R, Huguet JM, Rodrigo L, et al.; Hp-EuReg investigators (2021). European Registry on *Helicobacter pylori* Management: single-capsule bismuth quadruple therapy is effective in real-world clinical practice. United European Gastroenterol J. 9(1):38– 46. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2050640620972615</u> PMID:33176617
- Pérez-Aisa Á, Nyssen OP, Keco-Huerga A, Rodrigo L, Lucendo AJ, Gomez-Rodriguez BJ, et al. (2023). Bismuth quadruple three-in-one single capsule three times a day increases effectiveness compared with the usual four times a day schedule: results from the European Registry on *Helicobacter pylori* Management (Hp-EuReg). Gut. 72(11):2031–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2022-329259</u> PMID:37468228
- Venerito M, Krieger T, Ecker T, Leandro G, Malfertheiner P (2013). Meta-analysis of bismuth quadruple therapy versus clarithromycin triple therapy for empiric primary treatment of *Helicobacter pylori* infection. Digestion. 88(1):33–45. <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/000350719</u> PMID:23880479
- 28. Zhu YJ, Zhang Y, Wang TY, Zhao J-T, Zhao Z, Zhu J-R, et al. (2020). High dose PPI-amoxicillin dual therapy for the treatment of *Helicobacter pylori* infection: a systematic review with meta-analysis. Therap Adv Gastroenterol. 13:1756284820937115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1756284820937115</u>. <u>PMID:33110448</u>
- 29. Zhou BG, Mei YZ, Zhang M, Jiang X, Li Y-Y, Ding Y-B (2023). High-dose dual therapy *versus* bismuthcontaining quadruple therapy for *Helicobacter pylori* eradication: a systematic review and metaanalysis with trial sequential analysis. Therap Adv Gastroenterol. 16:17562848221147756. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/17562848221147756</u> PMID:36644129
- Fernández-Salazar L, Campillo A, Rodrigo L, Pérez-Aisa Á, González-Santiago JM, Segarra Ortega X, et al. (2022). Effectiveness and safety of high-dose dual therapy: results of the European Registry on the Management of *Helicobacter pylori* Infection (Hp-EuReg). J Clin Med. 11(12):3544. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm11123544 PMID:35743627
- Sjomina O, Lielause A, Rūdule A, Vangravs R, Paršutins S, Poļaka I, et al. (2022). Randomised clinical trial: comparison of efficacy and adverse effects of a standard triple clarithromycin-containing regimen with high-dose amoxicillin and bismuth therapy in *Helicobacter pylori* eradication. Eur J Cancer Prev. 31(4):333–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/CEJ.0000000000000718</u> PMID:35471812
- Graham DY, Lu H, Shiotani A (2021). Vonoprazan-containing *Helicobacter pylori* triple therapies contribution to global antimicrobial resistance. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 36(5):1159–63. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jgh.15252 PMID:32918832</u>
- Du RC, Hu YX, Ouyang Y, Ling L-X, Xu J-Y, Sa R, et al. (2024). Vonoprazan and amoxicillin dual therapy as the first-line treatment of *Helicobacter pylori* infection: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Helicobacter. 29(1):e13039. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.13039</u> <u>PMID:38036941</u>
- 34. Zhou BG, Jiang X, Ding YB, She Q, Li Y-Y (2024). Vonoprazan-amoxicillin dual therapy versus bismuth-containing quadruple therapy for *Helicobacter pylori* eradication: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Helicobacter. 29(1):e13040. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.13040</u> PMID:37983865

- 35. Yang H, Zhang M, Ma G, Yang J, Wang K, Jiang S, et al. (2024). Meta-analysis of *Helicobacter pylori* eradication therapy using vonoprazan as an acid suppressor compared with bismuth quadruple therapy. Helicobacter. 29(2):e13059. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.13059</u> <u>PMID:38443329</u>
- Chey WD, Mégraud F, Laine L, López LJ, Hunt BJ, Howden CW (2022). Vonoprazan triple and dual therapy for *Helicobacter pylori* infection in the United States and Europe: randomized clinical trial. Gastroenterology. 163(3):608–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2022.05.055</u> PMID:35679950
- Ratana-Amornpin S, Sanglutong L, Eiamsitrakoon T, Siramolpiwat S, Graham DY, Mahachai V (2023). Pilot studies of vonoprazan-containing *Helicobacter pylori* eradication therapy suggest Thailand may be more similar to the US than Japan. Helicobacter. 28(6):e13019. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.13019</u> <u>PMID:37723133</u>
- Gisbert JP, Calvet X (2011). Review article: non-bismuth quadruple (concomitant) therapy for eradication of *Helicobacter pylori*. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 34(6):604–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2036.2011.04770.x</u> PMID:21745241
- Nyssen OP, Bordin D, Tepes B, Pérez-Aisa Á, Vaira D, Caldas M, et al.; Hp-EuReg Investigators (2021). European Registry on *Helicobacter pylori* Management (Hp-EuReg): patterns and trends in first-line empirical eradication prescription and outcomes of 5 years and 21 533 patients. Gut. 70(1):40– 54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2020-321372</u> <u>PMID:32958544</u>
- 40. Gisbert JP (2020). Rifabutin for the treatment of *Helicobacter pylori* infection: a review. Pathogens. 10(1):15. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens10010015</u> PMID:33379336
- Nyssen OP, Perez-Aisa A, Tepes B, Castro-Fernandez M, Kupcinskas J, Jonaitis L, et al.; Hp-EuReg Investigators (2021). Adverse event profile during the treatment of *Helicobacter pylori*: a real-world experience of 22,000 patients from the European Registry on *H. pylori* Management (Hp-EuReg). Am J Gastroenterol. 116(6):1220–9. https://doi.org/10.14309/ajg.000000000001246 PMID:33840725
- 42. Wu JY, Liou JM, Graham DY (2014). Evidence-based recommendations for successful *Helicobacter pylori* treatment. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 8(1):21–8. https://doi.org/10.1586/17474124.2014.859522 PMID:24410470
- 43. Yu J, Yang P, Qin X, Li C, Lv Y, Wang X (2022). Impact of smoking on the eradication of *Helicobacter pylori*. Helicobacter. 27(1):e12860. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.12860</u> PMID:34708484
- 44. Smith SI, Schulz C, Ugiagbe R, Ndip R, Dieye Y, Leja M, et al. (2024). *Helicobacter pylori* diagnosis and treatment in Africa: the first Lagos consensus statement of the African Helicobacter and Microbiota Study Group. Dig Dis. 42(3):240–56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/000537878</u> PMID:38493766
- 45. Garcés-Duran R, Kindt S, Kotilea K, François S, Rasschaert G, Smet A, et al. (2023). Belgian consensus for *Helicobacter pylori* management 2023. Acta Gastroenterol Belg. 86(1):74–91. https://doi.org/10.51821/86.1.11327 PMID:36842178
- 46. Coelho LGV, Marinho JR, Genta R, Ribeiro LT, Passos MDCF, Zaterka S, et al. (2018). IVth Brazilian Consensus Conference on *Helicobacter pylori* infection. Arq Gastroenterol. 55(2):97–121. <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/s0004-2803.201800000-20</u> PMID:30043876
- Fallone CA, Chiba N, van Zanten SV, Fischbach L, Gisbert JP, Hunt RH, et al. (2016). The Toronto consensus for the treatment of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in adults. Gastroenterology. 151(1):51– 69.e14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2016.04.006</u> PMID:27102658
- Zhou L, Lu H, Song Z, Lyu B, Chen Y, Wang J, et al.; *Helicobacter pylori* Study Group of Chinese Society of Gastroenterology (2022). 2022 Chinese national clinical practice guideline on *Helicobacter pylori* eradication treatment. Chin Med J (Engl). 135(24):2899–910. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/CM9.00000000002546</u> [Erratum in: Chin Med J (Engl). 2024 May 5;137(9):1068] <u>PMID:36579940</u>
- Alboraie M, Elhossary W, Aly OA, Abbas B, Abdelsalam L, Ghaith D, et al.; special interest group; Egyptian Association for Study of Gastrointestinal Diseases and Liver (EASGLD) (2019). Egyptian recommendations for management of *Helicobacter pylori* infection: 2018 report. Arab J Gastroenterol. 20(3):175–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajg.2019.09.001</u> <u>PMID:31564518</u>
- Fischbach W, Bornschein J, Hoffmann JC, Koletzko S, Link A, Macke L, et al.; Collaborators (2024). Update S2k-guideline *Helicobacter pylori* and gastroduodenal ulcer disease of the German Society of Gastroenterology, Digestive and Metabolic Diseases (DGVS). Z Gastroenterol. 62(2):261–321. <u>https://doi.org/10.1055/a-2181-2225</u> PMID:38364851
- 51. Georgopoulos SD, Michopoulos S, Rokkas T, Apostolopoulos P, Giamarellos E, Kamberoglou D, et al. (2020). Hellenic consensus on *Helicobacter pylori* infection. Ann Gastroenterol. 33(2):105–24. https://doi.org/10.20524/aog.2020.0446 PMID:32127732
- 52. Leung WK, Cheung KS, Sham PCO, Tang RSY, Loo CK, Hsu ASJ, et al. (2023). Consensus recommendations for the screening, diagnosis, and management of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in Hong Kong. Hong Kong Med J. 29(6):532–41. <u>https://doi.org/10.12809/hkmj2210321</u> PMID:37385947

- Quach DT, Mai BH, Tran MK, Dao LV, Tran HV, Vu KT, et al. (2023). Vietnam Association of Gastroenterology (VNAGE) consensus on the management of *Helicobacter pylori* infection. Front Med (Lausanne). 9:1065045. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmed.2022.1065045</u> <u>PMID:36714104</u>
- 54. Syam AF, Miftahussurur M, Makmun D, Abdullah M, Rani AA, Siregar GA, et al. (2023). Management of dyspepsia and *Helicobacter pylori* infection: the 2022 Indonesian consensus report. Gut Pathog. 15(1):25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13099-023-00551-2</u> PMID:37217981
- 55. Smith SM, Boyle B, Buckley M, Costigan C, Doyle M, Farrell R, et al. (2024). The second Irish Helicobacter pylori Working Group consensus for the diagnosis and treatment of Helicobacter pylori infection in adult patients in Ireland. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 36(8):1000–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/MEG.0000000002796 PMID:38829956</u>
- 56. Romano M, Gravina AG, Eusebi LH, Pellegrino R, Palladino G, Frazzoni L, et al.; Members of SIGE; Members of SIED National Council (2022). Management of *Helicobacter pylori* infection: guidelines of the Italian Society of Gastroenterology (SIGE) and the Italian Society of Digestive Endoscopy (SIED). Dig Liver Dis. 54(9):1153–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dld.2022.06.019 PMID:35831212
- 57. Kato M, Ota H, Okuda M, Kikuchi S, Satoh K, Shimoyama T, et al. (2019). Guidelines for the management of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in Japan: 2016 revised edition. Helicobacter. 24(4):e12597. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.12597</u> PMID:31111585
- 58. Jung HK, Kang SJ, Lee YC, Yang H-J, Park S-Y, Shin CM, et al.; Korean College of Helicobacter and Upper Gastrointestinal Research (2021). Evidence-based guidelines for the treatment of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in Korea 2020. Gut Liver. 15(2):168–95. <u>https://doi.org/10.5009/gnl20288</u> PMID:33468712
- Rollan A, Arab JP, Camargo MC, Candia R, Harris P, Ferreccio C, et al. (2014). Management of Helicobacter pylori infection in Latin America: a Delphi technique-based consensus. World J Gastroenterol. 20(31):10969–83. <u>https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v20.i31.10969</u> <u>PMID:25152601</u>
- 60. Goh KL, Lee YY, Leow AH, Ali RAR, Ho SH, Mahadeva S, et al. (2023). A Malaysian consensus report on the diagnosis and treatment of *Helicobacter pylori* infection. JGH Open. 7(4):261–71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jgh3.12886 PMID:37125243</u>
- Jaroń K, Pietrzak A, Daniluk J, Adrych K, Gąsiorowska A, Skrzydło-Radomańska B, et al. (2023). Diagnostic and therapeutic recommendations on *Helicobacter pylori* infection. Recommendations of the Working Group of the Polish Society of Gastroenterology. Prz Gastroenterol. 18(3):225–48. <u>https://doi.org/10.5114/pg.2023.131998 PMID:37937106</u>
- Gisbert JP, Alcedo J, Amador J, Bujanda L, Calvet X, Castro-Fernández M, et al. (2022). V Spanish Consensus Conference on *Helicobacter pylori* infection treatment. Gastroenterol Hepatol. 45(5):392– 417. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gastrohep.2021.07.011</u> PMID:34629204
- Mahachai V, Vilaichone RK, Pittayanon R, Rojborwonwitaya J, Leelakusolvong S, Kositchaiwat C, et al. (2016). Thailand consensus on *Helicobacter pylori* treatment 2015. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 17(5):2351–60. <u>PMID:27268597</u>
- 64. Chey WD, Howden CW, Moss SF, Morgan DR, Greer KB, Grover S, et al. (2024). ACG Clinical Guideline: treatment of *Helicobacter pylori* infection. Am J Gastroenterol. 119(9):1730–53. https://doi.org/10.14309/ajg.00000000002968 PMID:39626064

Chapter 7.

Antibiotic stewardship for population-based *Helicobacter pylori* screen-and-treat programmes, including testing of cure and monitoring of antibiotic resistance

Paul Moayyedi, Yi-Chia Lee, Markus Gerhard, and Francis Mégraud

Summary

- A population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme for gastric cancer prevention should follow robust antibiotic stewardship principles to minimize the risk of antibiotic resistance arising from the increased antibiotic use.
- An antibiotic stewardship checklist should be developed and implemented to ensure the appropriate use of antibiotics, guide best practices, and monitor the impact.
- *H. pylori* eradication rates can be assessed through routine follow-up testing of treated participants or by testing a representative subgroup to confirm treatment success.
- *H. pylori* isolates from a randomly selected subset of participants should be tested for antibiotic resistance. Establishing an antibiogram, which provides a summary of the susceptibility patterns of local bacterial isolates to various antibiotics, can aid in selecting effective drugs. The dosage and duration of treatment should also be carefully optimized to ensure efficacy and minimize the development of resistance.
- The impact of increased exposure to antibiotics through short-course eradication treatments in population-based programmes on antibiotic resistance in *H. pylori* and other human bacteria is not yet fully understood, and thus continued awareness and research are warranted.
- A prophylactic vaccine against *H. pylori* would be the ideal solution to the problems associated with antibiotic use in *H. pylori* screen-and-treat

programmes, but candidate vaccines are still in the preclinical stage of development.



Fig. 7.1. Visual abstract.

7.1 Introduction

H. pylori infection is one of the most common chronic bacterial infections worldwide [1]. A systematic review of the global prevalence of *H. pylori* infection has shown a decrease in infection rates over time, from 53% (95% confidence interval [CI], 50–56%) before 1990 to 44% (95% CI, 42–46%) in 2015–2022 [2]. Multivariable regression analyses showed a decrease of 16% in the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection over the past three decades; a statistically significant decrease was observed in the Western Pacific, South-East Asia, and Africa. In the same study, the incidence of gastric cancer decreased in the countries in which the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection decreased. Another systematic review found that the decrease in the prevalence of gastric atrophy, intestinal metaplasia, and dysplasia over time [3]. Although the global gastric cancer incidence rate is decreasing because of improved sanitation, which reduces the transmission of *H. pylori*, and opportunistic screen-and-treat practices for *H. pylori*, the absolute number of new cases of gastric cancer remains high in some
regions, and the risk of gastric cancer is increasing in younger generations. Together with the predicted increase in the number of new cases of gastric cancer driven by population ageing, this indicates that gastric cancer remains a substantial public health challenge [4].

The decreasing prevalence of *H. pylori* infection has been accompanied by an increased rate of antibiotic resistance. A systematic review of antibiotic resistance in World Health Organization (WHO) regions, published in 2018 [5], which included data from 2006–2016, highlighted considerable heterogeneity among regions (Fig. 7.2) and a trend towards increasing resistance during the study period. Another study, which reviewed data from 2018–2021, found a global *H. pylori* clarithromycin resistance rate of 32% (95% CI, 29-36%) in the 54 countries studied when both primary resistance (which develops before treatment) and secondary resistance (which occurs after initial treatment failure) were included [6]. In the Asia-Pacific region, data from 2016–2022 indicated resistance rates of 30% (95% CI, 28–33%) for clarithromycin, 35% (95% CI, 31–39%) for levofloxacin, and 61% (95% CI, 55–66%) for metronidazole; the resistance rates for tetracycline and amoxicillin remained low (4–6%) [7]. The prevalence of clarithromycin resistance was highest in Central Asia, and the prevalence of levofloxacin and metronidazole resistance was highest in South Asia [7]. A systematic review of 26 studies in Africa, of which only four were published in 2016 or later, found resistance rates of 29% (95% CI, 27-32%) for clarithromycin, 17% (95% CI, 13–22%) for levofloxacin, and 76% (95% CI, 74–77%) for metronidazole [8]. A high level of heterogeneity was observed in the studies in Africa, and the results did not differentiate between primary and secondary resistance. Differences in the methods used to determine antibiotic resistance, which included disc diffusion, the E-test, and molecular testing for resistance genes, may also contribute to the observed heterogeneity.



Fig. 7.2. Cumulative antibiograms of primary and secondary resistance of *H. pylori* in World Health Organization (WHO) regions in 2006–2016: (A) primary resistance rates of *H. pylori*; (B) secondary resistance rates of *H. pylori*. Primary resistance rates included individuals who had not yet received antibiotic treatment. Secondary resistance rates included individuals in whom one course of treatment had failed. In Africa, the antibiograms did not differentiate between primary and secondary resistance; therefore, the same data are presented in (A) and (B). These prevalence data were based on only three publications, from Cameroon, the Congo, and Senegal, and their representativeness should be interpreted with caution. Cla+Met, dual resistance to clarithromycin and metronidazole. Source: Compiled from Savoldi et al. (2018) [5].

Information on resistance rates in Latin America is also scant and out of date; the most recent publication was in 2014 [9]. The review reported primary resistance rates of 4% for amoxicillin, 12% for clarithromycin, 53% for metronidazole, 6% for tetracycline, 3% for furazolidone, 15% for fluoroquinolones, and 8% for dual resistance to clarithromycin and metronidazole.

In Europe, studies have been performed every 10 years; the most recent survey was in 2018. The primary resistance rates of *H. pylori* were 21.4% for clarithromycin, 15.8% for levofloxacin, and 38.9% for metronidazole [10]. The European Registry on *Helicobacter pylori* Management (Hp-EuReg) also provides data on antibiotic resistance [11]. In 2017–2020, the resistance rates observed in Europe were close to those reported in the 2018 survey [10], except for metronidazole (24.5% vs 38.9%).

The increasing rates of *H. pylori* antibiotic resistance are most probably caused by the global increase in antibiotic prescribing [12], which increased by 60% in 2000–2015 and has increased a further 16% since then, despite a decrease in antibiotic use during the COVID-19 pandemic [13]. A population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme will further increase antibiotic use. Therefore, any programme that is adopted must have robust antibiotic stewardship policies. This chapter evaluates the impact that *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes could have on population antibiotic use and suggests the antibiotic stewardship approaches that should be taken when choosing *H. pylori* eradication therapies and monitoring resistance.

Section 7.2 estimates the impact of population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes on population antibiotic use. The importance of antibiotic stewardship is discussed in Section 7.3, with a checklist for assessing the antibiotic stewardship in a programme. Strategies for assessing *H. pylori* eradication rates and monitoring antibiotic resistance are discussed in Section 7.4, and real-world examples are provided in Section 7.5. Section 7.6 provides a perspective on the development of a vaccine against *H. pylori*.

7.2 Estimated impact of *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes on population antibiotic use

All screening programmes must balance harms against benefits, and one of the key disbenefits of a population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme is that it will inevitably increase antibiotic use. It is estimated that in 2021 antimicrobial resistance contributed to more than 4.7 million deaths, of which more than 1.1 million deaths

were directly attributable to antimicrobial resistance, and that these figures will increase to more than 8.2 million deaths and more than 1.9 million deaths per year by 2050 [14]. Population-based H. pylori screening and treatment could further add to this problem in any country that institutes such a policy. Therefore, it is important to try to estimate the potential impact of such programmes when introduced in various countries. The Working Group conducted a modelling exercise using a best-case scenario in which a programme would use two antibiotics and standard daily doses for 1 week in an eradication regimen, and would screen people aged 40-69 years (approximately modelling the randomized trials in this topic area [15-16]). It was assumed that 20% of the eligible population would be invited to be screened annually, to reduce the impact of antibiotic use each year, and that of those invited, 70% would attend, which is the best uptake rate that has been achieved by a new screening programme [17]. A recent systematic review was used to provide the estimates for the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection in each country, and data for the total population and the proportion of the population aged 40–69 years were taken from nationally available data [2]. The current total defined daily dose (DDD) [18] prescribed in each country in 2023 was estimated using published sources [13], and projections were made for how this would increase if a population-based H. pylori screen-and-treat programme was introduced in that country.

This modelling exercise showed that in most settings the proportional increase in antibiotic prescribing is modest (Table 7.1); most countries were projected to have a 1-3% increase in DDD prescribed. The exception is China, in which the DDD would increase by 11%. This is mainly due to the current low level of antibiotic prescribing in China, possibly because of stricter regulations [19] compared with most other countries. Therefore, the proportional increase would be greater in China than in other countries. The projected 7% increase in antibiotic prescribing in Colombia is driven mainly by the high proportion of individuals aged 40–69 years with *H. pylori* infection in that country.

Table 7.1. Estimated effect of population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes on antibiotic use in some representative countries

Country or territory	Current annual DDD	Annual DDD after screening	Percentage increase
China	2 217 311 459	2 460 275 422	11.0
Japan	550 550 145	567 613 839	3.1
Taiwan, China	133 800 475	136 988 969	2.4

Country or territory	Current annual DDD	Annual DDD after screening	Percentage increase
Republic of Korea	634 371 001	647 400 989	2.1
United Kingdom	470 375 747	477 633 709	1.5
France	615 807 647	622 585 863	1.1
Spain	513 346 264	523 279 432	1.9
Poland	304 587 086	313 734 497	3.0
Greece	137 247 694	139 107 945	1.4
Canada	209 056 368	211 829 698	1.0
USA	2 783 138 735	2 805 058 634	0.8
Colombia	182 865 559	196 330 098	7.3
Brazil	1 466 232 682	1 494 255 989	1.9

Table 7.1. Estimated effect of population-based H. pylori screen-and-treat programmes on	antibiotic
use in some representative countries (continued)	

DDD, defined daily dose.

Note: DDD refers to the assumed average maintenance dose per day for an antibiotic used in adults. For example, the DDD for amoxicillin is 1000 mg per day.

These estimates of increased antibiotic use are reassuring, but the assumptions made were optimistic. A more judicious approach would aim to maximize the chances of eradicating H. pylori infection in individuals while minimizing antibiotic exposure. Rather than attempting to eradicate *H. pylori* infection in every possible case, the focus should be on achieving the greatest benefit per dose of antibiotics used. It was assumed that only 20% of the eligible population would be invited annually and that only a 1-week course of antibiotics would be prescribed, whereas the currently recommended eradication treatments typically last 10-14 days [20]. This will approximately double the percentage increase in antibiotic prescribing described in Table 7.1. The proportion will increase even more if all participants are screened for treatment failure and offered further eradication therapy. Therefore, there can be no room for complacency if an H. pylori screen-and-treat programme is implemented, and it is important that antibiotic stewardship principles are followed. The benefits of *H. pylori* eradication treatment for associated diseases should be weighed against the potential disbenefits of increased antibiotic use, although the consequences may largely be theoretical. In existing programmes that target highrisk populations, the impact of the concern about antibiotic resistance has not yet been observed or fully understood (see Section 7.5), and decision analyses have not yet incorporated this point into model assumptions (see Chapter 9).

7.3 Antibiotic stewardship in *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes

There are numerous guidelines [21] on appropriate antibiotic use and antibiotic stewardship. Although these have some different nuances, all have similar approaches to minimizing antibiotic use. The purpose of antibiotic stewardship is to optimize the use of antibiotics to preserve their effectiveness, minimize adverse effects, and reduce the development of antibiotic resistance (Box 7.1).

Box 7.1. The five Ds of antibiotic stewardship

In population-based *H. pylori* screening programmes, communication between primary care physicians, gastroenterologists, and infection specialists is increasing to optimize antimicrobial use. Antibiotic stewardship is commonly guided by the five Ds principles [22]. These principles emphasize accurate diagnosis to ensure that antibiotics are prescribed correctly to individuals with *H. pylori* infection. Appropriate drug selection is guided by antibiotic resistance patterns and therapeutic evidence from clinical trials. Adequate **dosing** should adhere to the best therapeutic interval and timing before and after eating, to ensure efficacy, while considering patient health conditions, including the adjustment of hepatic and renal functions, and potential drug-drug interactions. Optimal duration helps to limit the development of resistance, minimize side-effects, and improve patient compliance. Full adherence to an antibiotic regimen is essential, because incomplete adherence can result in lower eradication rates and the potential selection of resistant strains. Treatment may be discontinued when the potential harms of (repeated) courses of antibiotics outweigh the clinical benefits or when there are competing health considerations, thereby reducing unnecessary antibiotic use and the risk of resistance.

Systematic review data [23] suggest that stewardship programmes are effective in reducing antibiotic use. Therefore, it is important that any population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme has an antibiotic stewardship team in place to advise and to monitor any impacts on antimicrobial use [24]. Such a team should involve people with expertise in gastroenterology, infectious diseases, clinical microbiology, epidemiology, and clinical pharmacy [25]. The key considerations for evaluating antibiotic stewardship in a population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme are outlined in Table 7.2, which presents a checklist of coordinated actions designed

to support the responsible and effective use of antimicrobials. Treatment of *H. pylori* infection is primarily empirical rather than definitive. Therefore, the first-line regimen should prioritize the most effective options (e.g. bismuth-containing quadruple therapy) while minimizing the risk of selecting for or driving the development of antibiotic-resistant strains. Treatment strategies should align with regional guidelines and the recommended benchmarks for successful eradication. Antibiotics with a higher potential for resistance – for example levofloxacin and rifabutin, which are not exclusively related to treatment of *H. pylori* infection specialists or guidance from antibiotic susceptibility testing, to enable definitive treatment. For antibiotics with a high eradication rate and low resistance potential, such as amoxicillin and tetracycline, it is crucial to verify the accuracy of the patient's allergic history. Systematic collection of test-of-cure data is needed to optimize the antibiotic regimen, including its dosage and duration.

First, to reduce adverse events, the ideal regimen would include only one antibiotic, because using multiple antibiotics to treat a single infection is not encouraged if monotherapy is sufficient [26]. Vonoprazan–amoxicillin dual therapy meets this goal, with acceptable eradication rates in East Asia [27], but eradication rates for this therapy have been suboptimal in other countries [28–29]. It is likely that in most countries at least two antibiotics will be needed to achieve acceptable eradication rates (see Chapter 6).

Table 7.2. Checklist for assessing antibiotic stewardship in a population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme

Before H. pylori screening and treatment

1. Clinical education

- Is there an antibiotic stewardship team that includes experts from the gastroenterology, infectious disease, clinical microbiology, epidemiology, and clinical pharmacy departments?
- □ Is there an initiative to enhance clinician education on screening tests and treatments?
- □ Is there a system in place to maintain up-to-date knowledge on the practices and guidelines for antibiotic use?

2. Patient and public education

- □ Is there an initiative to educate the patients and the public about the proper use of antibiotics for *H. pylori* infection?
- □ Are there information technology or implementation resources available to communicate with the public?
- Are the administrative and medical leadership committed to the programme?

3. Country-specific guidelines for the management of H. pylori infection

- □ Are there guidelines available to standardize and reduce variation of the prescribing practices?
- Are the guidelines evidence-based, and do they reflect the local epidemiology, treatment effectiveness, and drug availability?
- Do the guidelines address diagnosis, drug selection, dosing, duration, and discontinuation of treatment?
- □ Is there an available benchmark for appropriate antibiotic use that can be used for audit and feedback?
- □ Is there an implementation strategy to encourage awareness and adherence to the guidelines?
- □ Is there a mechanism to enable targeted education for physicians, in terms of audit and feedback?

4. Antibiotic susceptibility testing data (cumulative antibiogram)

- □ Are the local antibiotic susceptibility testing data available?
- Are human resources and microbiology laboratory services available, with appropriate quality controls for in vitro antibiotic susceptibility testing?
- 5. Prior authorization of restricted antimicrobials
- □ Is there a mechanism that requires clinicians to obtain approval for specific antibiotics, such as levofloxacin and rifabutin, before they are released from the pharmacy for administration to individuals with *H. pylori* infection?
- 6. De-labelling of spurious antibiotic allergies
- Is there a mechanism to clarify antibiotic allergies through dedicated allergy assessments, particularly for amoxicillin and tetracycline, which can distinguish individuals who are unlikely to react to an antibiotic challenge from those at substantial risk of an adverse allergic reaction?

After H. pylori screening and treatment

1. Testing of cure and feedback

- □ Are the test-of-cure data available for participants who received antibiotic treatment?
- □ Are the test-of-cure data available for clinicians who prescribed the antibiotic treatment?
- □ Is an audit system in place, and is feedback provided when treatment does not adhere to the guidelines?

2. Antibiotic dose optimization

- □ Is attention given to participant characteristics, such as age, weight, and renal and hepatic function, that can influence the appropriate dose and dosing interval?
- Can the dose optimization be updated and incorporated into the clinical guidelines?

3. Antibiotic duration optimization

- □ Is the treatment duration determined on the basis of local evaluation, with the participant's response to therapy being reassessed?
- □ Can the duration optimization be updated and incorporated into the clinical guidelines?

Source: Modified from WHO (2021) [24].

Also, it is imperative not to choose antibiotics that would be ineffective because of high rates of antimicrobial resistance. This is the situation with clarithromycin, to which > 15% of *H. pylori* strains are resistant in many parts of the world [11]. The regimen that is most likely to be successful worldwide is bismuth-containing quadruple therapy, which involves a proton pump inhibitor, bismuth salts, tetracycline, and metronidazole, for 10-14 days [30]. H. pylori resistance to tetracycline is rare, and although the in vitro resistance rate is high for metronidazole, H. pylori appears to remain susceptible to this antibiotic in vivo [31-32]. In vitro metronidazole resistance has minimal effects on bismuth-containing quadruple therapy. Although the impact is greater with triple therapies, the impact remains limited with a 14-day treatment duration because of the accumulation of metronidazole in the mucus and its long half-life in the higher intragastric pH [33]. The regimen is complex, but single-capsule formulations that contain bismuth subcitrate potassium, metronidazole, and tetracycline are available [34], which may improve treatment compliance in population-based interventions in which simplicity is important. Although bismuth-containing quadruple therapy is more effective and carries a lower concern about antibiotic resistance, it may cause side-effects such as nausea, diarrhoea, a metallic taste, and temporarily black stools, which should be explained in advance and monitored throughout the treatment to improve compliance. Although amoxicillin and tetracycline show lower resistance rates, in some areas, such as Africa and the Eastern Mediterranean, primary resistance rates may be not trivial (Fig. 7.2). Continuous monitoring, particularly through updated time-trend analyses, is needed.

Second, an antibiotic stewardship committee would have to monitor eradication rates and resistance [35]. The challenge in implementing this approach is that it will require retesting at least a subset of participants, to assess successful eradication rates and monitor the development of antibiotic resistance. If this approach is implemented, individuals who remain *H. pylori*-positive should be offered second-line eradication regimens, and, if they are still positive, third-line treatments. This clinical approach would result in multiple courses of different antibiotic stewardship principles. However, the number of patients who require repeated treatments is likely to remain small provided that an effective initial treatment is selected. The approaches to deal with this conundrum are discussed in Section 7.4.

The recommendations outlined above are aligned with the WHO Access, Watch, Reserve (AWaRe) classification of antibiotics [36]. Antibiotics are classified into the Access, Watch, Reserve, and Not recommended groups based on the risk of selecting for bacterial resistance. Of the antibiotics used for treating *H. pylori* infection, amoxicillin, metronidazole, tetracycline, and doxycycline were classified into the Access category of antibiotics that showed lower resistance potential. Clarithromycin, levofloxacin, ciprofloxacin, cefuroxime, and rifabutin were classified into the Watch category of antibiotics that had a relatively high risk of selection of bacterial resistance. Minocycline was classified into the Reserve category of antibiotics that should be tailored for use in highly specific patients when alternatives have failed or were not suitable [37].

WHO periodically updates its priority pathogen list on the basis of evolving global health needs, scientific evidence, and public health challenges. In 2017, clarithromycin-resistant H. pylori was included in the WHO priority pathogens list for research and the development of new antibiotics [38], because *H. pylori* is a common infection worldwide, affecting both adults and children, and is associated with peptic ulcer and gastric cancer. The increasing prevalence of antibiotic resistance has led to suboptimal eradication rates. Guidelines advise against standard triple therapy if regional clarithromycin resistance is > 15% or if eradication rates are < 85% (see Chapter 6). However, in the 2024 update of the list [39], five antibiotic-resistant pathogens, including clarithromycin-resistant *H. pylori*, were removed. The removal of clarithromycin-resistant *H. pylori* from the priority list does not decrease the global concern about its burden, transmission, treatability, and prevention. Furthermore, this change may potentially lead to reduced emphasis on the monitoring of clarithromycin resistance. Treatment guidelines may still include clarithromycin as a first-line treatment without giving warnings about the high likelihood of treatment failure and the emergence of resistant strains, or without recommending suitable alternatives.

7.4 Strategies for assessing *H. pylori* eradication rates and monitoring antibiotic resistance

A population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme requires continuous monitoring to ensure that the desired outcome of the programme is being achieved. The primary aim of the programme is to reduce the incidence and mortality of gastric cancer with minimal adverse events, and it may take at least a decade before any

effects on gastric cancer outcomes become evident. Therefore, it is crucial to evaluate process measures that are immediately observable in a screening programme (see Chapter 8). These should include assessing the *H. pylori* eradication rate in the population targeted by the programme and monitoring the prevalence of antibiotic-resistant strains, both specific to *H. pylori* and in bacteria more broadly. To achieve the goals, the primary approach involves retesting either all or a subset of the participants who have received anti-*H. pylori* treatment, to confirm treatment success. This approach also includes selecting a subset of participants who tested positive for *H. pylori*, as well as those who were treated but retested positive, to assess antibiotic resistance. Concerns about bacterial resistance should be significantly lower if an effective treatment (such as bismuth-containing quadruple therapy and vonoprazan–amoxicillin dual therapy) has been administered and clarithromycin has not been prescribed (see Chapter 6).

Testing of cure in participants who have received the anti-H. pylori treatment

Two approaches can be taken to test participants who have received anti-*H. pylori* treatment. The most accurate approach to evaluating *H. pylori* eradication is to assess each individual population that undergoes screening and treatment. In this approach, all participants who meet the eligibility criteria for the programme would be tested and those with *H. pylori* infection would be offered antibiotic therapy with a follow-up test. Many methods are available for *H. pylori* testing [40], including non-invasive and invasive tests (see Chapter 5). For most countries, a non-invasive test, such as the urea breath test [41] or the stool antigen test [42] at least 1 month after the completion of therapy, can be used to assess eradication success.

The advantage of this approach is that it uses the largest sample size to assess the success of therapy and offers better generalizability. It also strengthens the patient–doctor interaction in the management of *H. pylori* infection. In addition, without the test-of-cure data, resistant strains are more likely to persist and spread within the community. The disadvantage of this approach is that it dramatically increases the cost and complexity of the programme, because it requires systems to be in place to inform participants of their results, check compliance, and offer alternative eradication therapies for individuals in whom eradication treatment fails. Providing the infrastructure needed to deliver such care, which becomes more individualized with each round of treatment, would be expensive, and complex interventions at the population level are more likely to result in programme failure.

Other issues to consider with this approach are that a small but substantial proportion of the population would require treatment with multiple courses of differing antimicrobial regimens, and this will increase antibiotic exposure in this population [43]. There would also be a small proportion of the population who would still have *H. pylori* infection despite multiple attempts at treatment. This group may be left with anxiety that they have a carcinogenic infection that cannot be treated, and this may have an adverse psychological impact. Studies of breast cancer screening consistently find that women with breast abnormalities have increased anxiety and breast cancer-specific worry and distress [44]. There is some debate about whether these psychological impacts persist even after a negative diagnosis [45] or resolve [46]. These psychological effects may be influenced by the local disease burden and the community's perceived understanding of *H. pylori* infection.

Another approach that minimizes the potential harms of screening all individuals who receive therapy but still maintains the benefits is to screen a subgroup of those who have received therapy. A randomly selected subgroup would receive instructions, to check the success of therapy using the same methods as described in the first approach. The size of the subgroup selected would depend on the resources available and the size of the country offering screening, but it would usually be at the level of 10-20% of the population with H. pylori infection. The size of the subgroup also depends on the observed eradication rate in the population. If the eradication rate is high, a smaller sample size is required, but if the eradication rate is lower, a larger sample size is needed. The random selection would need to be stratified and weighted by region to ensure that vulnerable populations are not excluded or underrepresented. The advantage of this approach is that costs are lower, because fewer people would need follow-up. Also, fewer people would receive multiple antibiotic regimens and fewer people would have increased anxiety from knowing that they still have *H. pylori* infection despite having received therapy. The disadvantage of this approach is that if the proportion of the programme's population that is selected as the subgroup is not chosen appropriately, the estimate of the eradication rate may have wide confidence intervals. This problem can be overcome by continually monitoring the results and increasing the proportion tested as needed.

It could be argued that there are issues with not retesting the full population, given that no therapy is completely effective. For instance, after hypertension is detected, patients are prescribed antihypertensives and their blood pressure is rechecked until it falls within acceptable limits. However, H. pylori screening and treatment is not analogous to this, because blood pressure is a continuous measurement and can always be reduced, whereas some people will still have H. pylori infection despite any amount of antibiotic therapy. This group may experience heightened anxiety about what is a low absolute risk of developing malignancy. Screening for and treating *H. pylori* infection is more similar to screening for colorectal cancer using faecal immunochemical testing and offering colonoscopy to those who test positive. Good programmes introduce quality controls to minimize risks, but there is always a chance that polyps, or even colon cancer, may have been missed. Repeating the procedure more frequently is not practical, because it is prohibitively expensive and it increases the risks associated with colonoscopy. For an H. pylori screen-and-treat programme, testing the entire population would increase the cost of the programme and its complexity and would result in exposure to many antibiotics, and some participants would remain anxious despite the best efforts. This would prevent few gastric cancers and may not be justified. All participants entering any screening programme should be informed that there is never a 100% success rate in preventing the disease targeted by the screening.

The *H. pylori* screen-and-treat approach is also similar to screening for hepatitis B and C viruses for liver cancer prevention. Although the initial treatment may not always be effective, alternative treatments with a higher chance of success are available. The need to test for eradication may arise because of the observed eradication rate in the specific population, particularly after first-line treatment, when the eradication rate cannot be guaranteed to be high enough and effective second-line options are available. Depending on the health-care system, population screening can align with regular clinical practice, in which both the primary physician and the treated patient may need to know whether the treatment has been successful.

If a decision is made to test a subgroup of the population for therapy success and antibiotic resistance, the next question is how many years to wait before repeating the process. This refers to determining the frequency of testing of eradication rates and the emergence of resistance as part of a programme. The programme could be either a continuous, rolling effort or an intermittent one. For countries that cannot afford a rolling programme, it is preferable to conduct intermittent testing of population samples. The interval should be determined based on the resources available for the programme. If resources are scarce, then an interval of 10 years, for example, may be all that is affordable. In higher-income countries, shorter intervals, such as every 2 years, would provide more timely information on whether eradication rates are decreasing and/or *H. pylori* antibiotic resistance rates are increasing.

Monitoring the antibiotic resistance

An important consideration in antibiotic stewardship is understanding which antibiotics are effective in curing infections; this is typically guided by the cumulative antibiogram (item 4 in Table 7.2) [47-48]. However, this raises the question of how to test for *H. pylori* antibiotic resistance. The reference standard would be gastric biopsy and culture, but this requires endoscopy and would be too expensive and invasive for many countries to implement. However, it may be feasible for countries that already offer population-based endoscopic screening, such as Japan [49] and the Republic of Korea [50]. Stool testing makes it possible to detect some of the H. pylori genetic mutations that confer antibiotic resistance by using real-time polymerase chain reaction (PCR) [51-53]. The stool PCR test has a low cost and is non-invasive, and testing could be done as a one-step process if stool antigen testing is also being used to assess eradication [54]. However, currently the sensitivity of the stool PCR test is not optimal, and only known mutations can be detected. For important antibiotics, such as metronidazole, both the mechanism of resistance and the significance of resistance mutations are unclear, and thus resistance cannot be determined by molecular methods. An alternative approach would be to use the string test method, which involves swallowing a capsule and, after retrieval of the capsule with a string, testing the gastric juice on the string, again with real-time PCR [55]. Public health programmes would need to determine whether this approach is feasible and applicable.

Treatment of *H. pylori* infection is generally based on empirical therapy rather than definitive treatment that is guided by susceptibility testing, as is done for other bacteria. However, it is still possible to conduct susceptibility testing before the antibiotic treatment. Invasive methods, including rapid urease testing, histology, culture, and antimicrobial susceptibility testing, cannot be adapted for population-

373

based screening for *H. pylori* infection in asymptomatic people, because they require upper digestive endoscopy. However, for countries that already conduct mass endoscopy screening to prevent gastric cancer, such as Japan [56] and the Republic of Korea [57], the antimicrobial susceptibility testing could be carried out at the same time as the gastric mucosa is evaluated. When endoscopic screening works together with *H. pylori* screening, this opportunity can be used to investigate the extent to which a population-based screen-and-treat approach has affected the levels of *H. pylori* antibiotic resistance.

The impact of population-based H. pylori screening on the general levels of antibiotic resistance, in bacteria other than *H. pylori*, can be measured using stool samples. Two hospital-based clinical trials used high-throughput DNA sequencing to evaluate the effects of antibiotic treatment on the dynamic changes in the gut microbiota and the resistome [58-59]. The number and abundance of microbial species (i.e. the diversity) and the antibiotic resistance genes of all bacteria (i.e. the resistome) were evaluated from stool samples taken before and after treatment for H. pylori infection, and the dynamic changes observed in the resistome are shown in Fig. 7.3. The results revealed a transient decrease in the diversity and an increase in the total resistome after antibiotic treatment, which may return to pre-treatment levels within about 2 months. Based on analyses of the minimum inhibitory concentration, the resistance rates of Escherichia coli and Klebsiella pneumoniae to levofloxacin, ciprofloxacin, ampicillin, and various cephalosporins temporarily increased 2 weeks after treatment. However, these rates returned to pre-treatment levels after 2 months and remained stable for up to 1 year. Collectively, the findings of these two studies provide some evidence against the concern about the long-term risks arising from antibiotic-resistant strains that might emerge in *H. pylori*-treated individuals, challenging the validity of this concern, which has yet to be demonstrated in practice. Nonetheless, there is a concern that the increased use of antibiotics may lead to more antibiotics entering the environment and negatively affecting ecosystems [60-61].

WHO promotes the One Health approach, which emphasizes an integrated strategy to achieve sustainable health outcomes for the entire ecosystem [62]. The One Health approach emphasizes addressing antibiotic resistance that can result from the overuse and misuse of antibiotics in various sectors, including human health care, veterinary medicine, and agriculture, because these fields are closely interconnected. Improper practices may lead to an increase in antibiotic-resistant bacteria, which will make infections more difficult to treat. Consequently, a population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme should strictly adhere to robust antibiotic stewardship principles.



Fig. 7.3. The dynamic changes of the resistome before and after treatment (Tx) in a randomized clinical trial. Patients with *H. pylori* infection were randomized to receive second-line treatments of levofloxacin-based sequential quadruple therapy (esomeprazole, amoxicillin, metronidazole, and levofloxacin for 14 days; EAML) or bismuth-containing quadruple therapy (esomeprazole, bismuth, tetracycline, and metronidazole for 10 days; BQ). The abundance of antibiotic resistance genes (ARGs) at the type and subtype levels were normalized to the number of 16S ribosomal RNA (rRNA) genes for the quantification and downstream analysis of diversity indices. The treatments showed similar changes. The abundance of the total resistome was significantly increased 2 weeks after treatment, although the total resistome was similar to pre-treatment levels at 2 months (8 weeks) and 1 year. In the analyses, alpha diversity of the resistome showed consistent results. Source: Reprinted from Liou et al. (2023) [59]. Copyright 2023, with permission from Elsevier.

7.5 Examples of antibiotic stewardship in population-based *H. pylori* screenand-treat programmes

There are existing *H. pylori* registries, such as the Hp-EuReg [63], which emphasize the value of structured, large-scale registries in tracking and understanding the epidemiology, management, and outcomes of *H. pylori* infection. The Hp-EuReg

collects data on empirical antibiotic prescriptions and cure rates for patients with *H. pylori* infection. Because the cure rate is highly dependent on *H. pylori* antibiotic resistance, this treatment-outcome registry may provide indirect estimates of the prevalence of *H. pylori* resistance to commonly used antibiotics [64–67].

In 2004, a community-based H. pylori screen-and-treat programme was implemented in the Matsu Islands, which are located in the East China Sea (see Chapter 3.10) [68]. A committee was established in collaboration with the Lienchiang County Bureau of Health and the Taiwan Community-based Integrated Screening Group [69]. This pilot programme lacked previous experience on the effectiveness of a 7-day triple therapy (esomeprazole, 40 mg once a day; amoxicillin, 1000 mg twice a day; and clarithromycin, 500 mg twice a day) in eradicating H. pylori infection in the general population. Therefore, routine retesting was included after the initial treatment to confirm treatment success, consistent with standard medical practices for H. pylori infection. If the retesting yielded positive results, retreatment was administered with a 10-day retreatment (esomeprazole, 40 mg once a day; amoxicillin, 1000 mg twice a day; and levofloxacin, 500 mg once a day). This approach sought to minimize the potential for selected antibiotic-resistant strains to remain in the community after the mass eradication, and to restrict them to a small, manageable subset of the population who would receive tailored therapies. Eradication rates with the initial therapy were 86.9% (95% CI, 84.7-89.1%) in all individuals who took medication and 88.7% (95% CI, 86.5-90.9%) in those who used at least 80% of the medication. The retreatment eradicated H. pylori infection in 91.4% (95% CI, 86.0–96.8%) of people who did not respond to the initial treatment. After one or two courses of antibiotic treatment, the *H. pylori* eradication rates were 97.7% (95% CI, 96.7–98.7%) in individuals who took medication and 98.8% (95% CI, 98.5-99.3%) in those who used at least 80% of the medication. This left a small subset of about 2% of participants who remained positive for H. pylori infection and required tailored management.

In addition, endoscopic biopsy for bacterial culture was performed on a subset of 624 individuals with *H. pylori* infection who had not previously received antibiotic treatment; it revealed modest changes in the rates of resistance to clarithromycin, metronidazole, and levofloxacin over time. The antibiotic susceptibility data (cumulative antibiogram) are shown in Chapter 3.10. The reinfection rate was < 1 per 100 person-years.

Another example is a community-based randomized clinical trial for H. pylori screening that was conducted in Changhua County under the platform of the Taiwan Colorectal Cancer Screening Program [15]. The trial targeted 240 000 residents aged 50–69 years who were eligible for colorectal cancer screening, and the trial protocol adhered to the antibiotic stewardship principles (see Table 7.2). Before initiating screening, the Changhua County Public Health Bureau established a steering committee of experts in public health, general medicine, gastroenterology, infectious diseases, and pharmacy. Local guidelines for the clinical management and surveillance of *H. pylori* infection were developed through a consensus among these experts [70]. To enhance clinicians' management of H. pylori infections, a series of educational activities was conducted that focused on the latest knowledge about antibiotic treatments. This initiative was supported by strong commitments from the administrative and medical leadership. Benchmarks, including for eradication rates, were set based on the experiences of the pilot, to enable the programme to be audited and to provide feedback after the programme was implemented (see Chapter 8). Monitoring of the antibiotic susceptibility data was planned in advance.

The central laboratory developed the antibiogram profile for the community in which the trial was being conducted by using biopsy samples collected from the participating hospitals. These samples were used both to test for antibiotic resistance genes and to test for minimum inhibitory concentration. These data were used to guide individualized treatments for individuals in whom treatment had failed, and also were periodically summarized and presented as percentages of *H. pylori* isolates that were resistant to commonly used antibiotics. This information was shared with the participating hospitals to enable them to optimize the first-line treatment strategies.

After the trial was implemented, the drug selection, dosage, and treatment duration were audited. Retesting was conducted in accordance with standard medical practice to evaluate treatment outcomes, aligned with the trial's pragmatic design. The first-line treatment used in the trial was a 10-day sequential therapy (days 1–5, esomeprazole, 40 mg once a day and amoxicillin, 1000 mg twice a day; days 6–10, esomeprazole, 40 mg once a day and clarithromycin, 500 mg plus metronidazole, 500 mg twice a day). Post-treatment *H. pylori* status was assessed using the stool antigen test at 6–8 weeks after the completion of treatment. Patients who remained test-positive received 10-day triple therapy (esomeprazole, 40 mg once a day; amoxicillin, 1000 mg twice a day; and levofloxacin, 500 mg once a day).

Individuals in whom eradication was not achieved after two courses of treatment received personalized treatment based on data from antibiotic susceptibility tests. In addition to the testing of cure, the antibiotic susceptibility testing data for *H. pylori* infection were assessed in a subset of participants who had endoscopic evaluation; this was used to optimize treatment protocols and address the potential changes in antibiotic resistance over time [11, 15].

For the test-of-cure data, after one or two courses of antibiotic treatment, the *H. pylori* eradication rates were 91.9% (95% CI, 91.3–92.5%) in all individuals who took medication and 97.6% (95% CI, 97.2–97.9%) in those who used at least 80% of the medication; 5.7% of individuals received more than one course of treatment. Among individuals in whom *H. pylori* eradication was successful, the reinfection rate was estimated as 0.3 per 100 person-years. For the antibiogram data from a total of 1110 individuals with *H. pylori* infection (Fig. 7.4), a stepwise increase in antibiotic-resistant strains was noted in all three groups: (i) individuals who had not yet received treatment; (ii) individuals in whom one course of treatment had failed; and (iii) individuals in whom two courses of treatment had failed and who required tailored management. The primary resistance rates over time mirrored the trends observed in the Asia–Pacific Region [7], with increases in resistance rates for clarithromycin, metronidazole, and levofloxacin, while resistance rates for amoxicillin and tetracycline remained stable.

The findings from this pragmatic clinical trial offer important insights into antibiotic stewardship in the context of an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme. First, the findings emphasize the importance of having the infrastructure in place to monitor whether antibiotic use aligns with the principles of antibiotic stewardship, supported by the commitment of health-care officials and professional leaders. Second, the findings from the antibiogram underscore the need to adopt more effective first-line treatment regimens. In this trial, the antibiotic resistance patterns aligned with the recommendations of the WHO AWaRe classification of antibiotics [36]. Resistance rates for clarithromycin and levofloxacin, compared with those for amoxicillin and tetracycline, showed a greater tendency to increase with treatment failures (Fig. 7.4A), which suggests that the empirical use of clarithromycin and levofloxacin may no longer be justified, particularly for retreatment. This highlights the need to consider bismuth-containing quadruple therapy as the most feasible option for initial treatment. Third, the prevalence of primary clarithromycin-resistant *H. pylori* infection

and levofloxacin-resistant *H. pylori* infection in treatment-naive patients has increased more over time compared with the prevalence of resistance to other antibiotics, probably because of the increased use of these antibiotics for other diseases (Fig. 7.4B). To implement an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme on a population scale, a simplified regimen that has fewer antibiotics, has a shorter duration, and uses antibiotics with a lower potential for emerging resistance, while maintaining efficacy, is needed to reduce overall antibiotic use.



Fig. 7.4. Cumulative antibiograms of *H. pylori* for monitoring antibiotic resistance in a communitybased randomized clinical trial to screen for *H. pylori* infection for gastric cancer prevention in 2014– 2020: (A) primary, secondary, and tertiary resistance rates of *H. pylori*; (B) primary resistance rates of *H. pylori* over time. Primary resistance rates included individuals who had not yet received antibiotic treatment. Secondary resistance rates included individuals in whom one course of treatment had failed. Tertiary resistance rates included individuals in whom two courses of treatment had failed and who required tailored management. Cla+Met, dual resistance to clarithromycin and metronidazole. Source: Compiled from Lee et al. (2024) [15].

7.6 A prophylactic vaccine against H. pylori

Developing a prophylactic vaccine against *H. pylori* would be the ideal solution to the problems associated with antibiotic use in screen-and-treat programmes. In the USA, a cost-effectiveness analysis demonstrated that vaccinating children could prevent *H. pylori* infection and reduce the incidence of gastric cancer, which would save on long-term health-care expenses [71]. However, despite three decades of research on *H. pylori* vaccines, only a few candidates have reached the clinical trial stage and no single candidate induced long-lasting protection against H. pylori in terms of sterilizing immunity. Thus, no commercial vaccine is available on the market. This is because (i) *H. pylori* has developed several powerful strategies to evade both innate and adaptive immune responses upon infection [72-73], and (ii) the correlates of protection are still not known, which makes it challenging to guide clinical trials. The immune response to *H. pylori* infection is a complex interplay of innate and adaptive immune mechanisms that ultimately leads to chronic inflammation. *H. pylori* infection triggers the activation of various immune cells, including neutrophils, macrophages, and dendritic cells. This activation leads to the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as interleukin-1ß (IL-1ß), IL-6, IL-12, and IL-23, which are crucial for the differentiation of T helper (Th) cells into Th1 and Th17 cells. The adaptive immune response to *H. pylori* involves the activation of specific T and B lymphocytes, leading to the production of antibodies and the generation of memory cells. CD4positive T cells, particularly those that differentiate into the Th1 and Th17 subsets, play a crucial role in orchestrating the immune response against *H. pylori*. Recently, CD8-positive cells have been shown to be involved in early responses to infection and long-term immunological memory [74]. Moreover, H. pylori virulence factors, especially CagA, play a pivotal role in enhancing the immune response. H. pylori has also developed numerous immune evasion strategies that not only enable chronic persistence but also complicate the development of a vaccine against this pathogen [72]. One of the primary mechanisms of immune evasion used by H. pylori is the modulation of host immune responses, particularly through the induction of regulatory T cells and the suppression of effector T cell functions. This skewing of the immune response towards a more tolerogenic state enables *H. pylori* to persist in the gastric mucosa despite the presence of a robust immune response [73]. Such immune

evasion mechanisms must be overcome to develop efficacious vaccines, but they have mostly been neglected in previous approaches to vaccine development.

Thus, the efficacy of *H. pylori* vaccines in the preclinical stage has been variable and remains a major challenge. In addition, regulatory hurdles, including the need for rigorous testing and approval processes, can substantially delay the introduction of a new vaccine [75]. Vaccine candidates must demonstrate safety and efficacy in extensive clinical trials, which are expensive and time-consuming. Regulatory agencies require comprehensive data on immunogenicity, long-term protection, and potential adverse effects. The complexity of the immune response to H. pylori and the design of an effective vaccine pose additional challenges [76]. Previous vaccine trials have encountered issues including inadequate immune responses and adverse events, which have complicated the path to regulatory approval [77]. However, a phase III trial in children published in 2015 has shown some protectivity for the first years after vaccination [78]. Although the effect was not long-lasting and protection was only 71.8% after 1 year, this was the first human trial ever that showed that prophylactic immunization can protect against *H. pylori* infection, and it fuels the hope that optimized vaccines can provide better protection. This prophylactic vaccine candidate (developed by Kangwei Biological Technology) did not enter the market, and beyond this there are no advanced vaccine candidates in clinical development (clinicaltrials.gov, as at 11 November 2024). Therefore, a vaccine is currently not a viable option for preventing gastric cancer, and the only approach is to offer antibiotic therapy to people with *H. pylori* infection.

However, there are a few vaccine candidates that are in preclinical development. One approach, by a European consortium of nine partners funded under the Horizon Europe programme [79], uses highly conserved surface antigens together with novel delivery technologies for mucosal immunization to achieve a protective mucosal immune response. The lead candidate is anticipated to enter the first clinical trial in 2026. A potential therapeutic vaccine being developed by scientists in Umeå, Sweden, uses an approach based on the natural immunity generated against *H. pylori*. This project identified antibody species directed against the BabA protein, which mediates the binding of *H. pylori* to stomach epithelial cells. By immunizing with a BabA epitope, the researchers were able to elicit a blocking immune response, which prevents binding of *H. pylori* as well as cancer development in mice [80], even without clearing the infection. This approach is still at the preclinical stage and will require substantial capital investment if it is to advance to a clinical proof of concept.

7.7 Conclusions

In a population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme, increased antibiotic use is expected. To reduce the risk of increasing antibiotic resistance within the population, it is essential to establish an antibiotic stewardship programme in advance, guided by a multidisciplinary team. The programme should provide comprehensive guidance on the appropriate use of antibiotics for *H. pylori* infection that reaches both clinicians and the public and includes perspectives on both individual-level management and broader policy-making. Data from H. pylori antibiotic susceptibility testing, similar to the antibiogram methods used for other common bacteria, along with the use of test-of-cure data as an indirect approach, can help reduce population exposure to ineffective antibiotics, thereby lowering the risk of selecting for and driving the emergence of antibiotic-resistant strains. Currently, an effective *H. pylori* vaccine that is suitable for population-based gastric cancer prevention programmes is not available. Therefore, policy-makers implementing H. pylori screen-and-treat programmes must work to minimize the potential negative impacts of these programmes. Adopting robust antibiotic stewardship measures is of paramount importance; these include carefully selecting eradication regimens, using retesting strategies after therapy, and continuously monitoring eradication rates and antibiotic resistance.

References

- 1. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2024). *Helicobacter pylori*. In: CDC yellow book 2024: health information for international travel. Available from: https://wwwnc.cdc.gov/travel/yellowbook/2024/infections-diseases/helicobacter-pylori.
- Chen YC, Malfertheiner P, Yu HT, Kuo C-L, Chang Y-Y, Meng F-T, et al. (2024). Global prevalence of Helicobacter pylori infection and incidence of gastric cancer between 1980 and 2022. Gastroenterology. 166(4):605–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2023.12.022</u> PMID:38176660
- Mülder DT, Hahn AI, Huang RJ, Zhou MJ, Blake B, Omofuma O, et al. (2024). Prevalence of gastric precursor lesions in countries with differential gastric cancer burden: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 22(8):1605–1617.e46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cgh.2024.02.023 PMID:38438000
- Arnold M, Park JY, Camargo MC, Lunet N, Forman D, Soerjomataram I (2020). Is gastric cancer becoming a rare disease? A global assessment of predicted incidence trends to 2035. Gut. 69(5):823– 9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutinl-2019-320234</u> PMID:32001553
- 5. Savoldi A, Carrara E, Graham DY, Conti M, Tacconelli E (2018). Prevalence of antibiotic resistance in *Helicobacter pylori*: a systematic review and meta-analysis in World Health Organization regions. Gastroenterology. 155(5):1372–1382.e17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2018.07.007</u>
 PMID:29990487
- Sholeh M, Khoshnood S, Azimi T, Mohamadi J, Kaviar VH, Hashemian M, et al. (2023). The prevalence of clarithromycin-resistant *Helicobacter pylori* isolates: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PeerJ. 11:e15121. <u>https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.15121</u> <u>PMID:37016679</u>
- Hong TC, El-Omar EM, Kuo YT, Wu J-Y, Chen M-J, Chen C-C, et al.; Asian Pacific Alliance on Helicobacter and Microbiota (2024). Primary antibiotic resistance of *Helicobacter pylori* in the Asia-Pacific region between 1990 and 2022: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 9(1):56–67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-1253(23)00281-9</u> PMID:37972625
- Jaka H, Rhee JA, Östlundh L, Smart L, Peck R, Mueller A, et al. (2018). The magnitude of antibiotic resistance to *Helicobacter pylori* in Africa and identified mutations which confer resistance to antibiotics: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Infect Dis. 18(1):193. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-018-3099-4</u> <u>PMID:29699490</u>
- Camargo MC, García A, Riquelme A, Otero W, Camargo CA, Hernandez-García T, et al. (2014). The problem of *Helicobacter pylori* resistance to antibiotics: a systematic review in Latin America. Am J Gastroenterol. 109(4):485–95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ajg.2014.24</u> <u>PMID:24589670</u>
- Megraud F, Bruyndonckx R, Coenen S, Wittkop L, Huang T-D, Hoebeke M, et al.; European Helicobacter pylori Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing Working Group (2021). *Helicobacter pylori* resistance to antibiotics in Europe in 2018 and its relationship to antibiotic consumption in the community. Gut. 70(10):1815–22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2021-324032</u> PMID:33837118
- Bujanda L, Nyssen OP, Vaira D, Saracino IM, Fiorini G, Lerang F, et al.; The Hp-EuReg Investigators (2021). Antibiotic resistance prevalence and trends in patients infected with *Helicobacter pylori* in the period 2013–2020: results of the European Registry on *H. pylori* Management (Hp-EuReg). Antibiotics (Basel). 10(9):1058. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics10091058</u> PMID:34572640
- Klein EY, Van Boeckel TP, Martinez EM, Pant S, Gandra S, Levin SA, et al. (2018). Global increase and geographic convergence in antibiotic consumption between 2000 and 2015. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 115(15):E3463–70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1717295115</u> <u>PMID:29581252</u>
- Klein EY, Impalli I, Poleon S, Denoel P, Cipriano M, Van Boeckel TP, et al. (2024). Global trends in antibiotic consumption during 2016–2023 and future projections through 2030. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 121(49):e2411919121. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2411919121</u> <u>PMID:39556760</u>
- 14. GBD 2021 Antimicrobial Resistance Collaborators (2024). Global burden of bacterial antimicrobial resistance 1990–2021: a systematic analysis with forecasts to 2050. Lancet. 404(10459):1199–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(24)01867-1 PMID:39299261
- Lee YC, Chiang TH, Chiu HM, Su W-W, Chou K-C, Chen SL-S, et al.; Collaborators of Taiwan Community-based Integrated Screening Group (2024). Screening for *Helicobacter pylori* to prevent gastric cancer: a pragmatic randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 332(19):1642–51. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2024.14887 PMID:39348147
- 16. Ford AC, Yuan Y, Moayyedi P (2020). *Helicobacter pylori* eradication therapy to prevent gastric cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis. Gut. 69(12):2113–21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2020-320839 PMID:32205420</u>

- Blanks RG, Benson VS, Alison R, Brown A, Reeves GK, Beral V, et al. (2015). Nationwide bowel cancer screening programme in England: cohort study of lifestyle factors affecting participation and outcomes in women. Br J Cancer. 112(9):1562–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2015.69</u> PMID:25742470
- WHO (2024). Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) classification system and the Defined Daily Dose (DDD). Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/teams/health-product-and-policy-standards/inn/atc-ddd</u>.
- Yang D, Dyar OJ, Yin J, Ma W, Sun Q, Lundborg CS (2024). Antimicrobial resistance in China across human, animal, and environment sectors – a review of policy documents using a governance framework. Lancet Reg Health West Pac. 48:101111. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lanwpc.2024.101111</u> <u>PMID:38948912</u>
- Malfertheiner P, Megraud F, Rokkas T, Gisbert JP, Liou J-M, Schulz C, et al.; European Helicobacter and Microbiota Study group (2022). Management of *Helicobacter pylori* infection: the Maastricht VI/Florence consensus report. Gut. 71(9):1724–62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2022-327745</u> PMID:35944925
- 21. Ababneh MA, Nasser SA, Rababa'h AM (2021). A systematic review of Antimicrobial Stewardship Program implementation in Middle Eastern countries. Int J Infect Dis. 105:746–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijid.2021.03.035 PMID:33737132
- 22. WHO (2019). Antibiotic stewardship programmes in health-care facilities in low- and middle-income countries: a WHO practical toolkit. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241515481.
- 23. Zay Ya K, Win PTN, Bielicki J, Lambiris M, Fink G (2023). Association between antimicrobial stewardship programs and antibiotic use globally: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA Netw Open. 6(2):e2253806. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.53806</u> PMID:36757700
- 24. WHO (2021). Antimicrobial stewardship interventions: a practical guide. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization. Available from: https://www.who.int/europe/publications/i/item/9789289056267
- 25. Hawes AM, Greene MT, Ratz D, Fowler KE, Kendall RE, Patel PK (2024). Antimicrobial stewardship teams in Veterans Affairs and nonfederal hospitals in the United States: a national survey of antimicrobial stewardship practices. Open Forum Infect Dis. 11(1):ofad620. https://doi.org/10.1093/ofid/ofad620 PMID:38213633
- Klinker KP, Hidayat LK, DeRyke CA, DePestel DD, Motyl M, Bauer KA (2021). Antimicrobial stewardship and antibiograms: importance of moving beyond traditional antibiograms. Ther Adv Infect Dis. 8:20499361211011373. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/20499361211011373</u> PMID:33996074
- 27. Zhou BG, Jiang X, Ding YB, She Q, Li Y-Y (2024). Vonoprazan-amoxicillin dual therapy versus bismuth-containing quadruple therapy for *Helicobacter pylori* eradication: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Helicobacter. 29(1):e13040. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.13040</u> PMID:37983865
- Chey WD, Mégraud F, Laine L, López LJ, Hunt BJ, Howden CW (2022). Vonoprazan triple and dual therapy for *Helicobacter pylori* infection in the United States and Europe: randomized clinical trial. Gastroenterology. 163(3):608–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2022.05.055</u> PMID:35679950
- 29. Ratana-Amornpin S, Sanglutong L, Eiamsitrakoon T, Siramolpiwat S, Graham DY, Mahachai V (2023). Pilot studies of vonoprazan-containing *Helicobacter pylori* eradication therapy suggest Thailand may be more similar to the US than Japan. Helicobacter. 28(6):e13019. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.13019</u> <u>PMID:37723133</u>
- Ding YM, Li YY, Liu J, Wang J, Wan M, Lin M-J, et al. (2023). The cure rate of 10-day bismuthcontaining quadruple therapy for *Helicobacter pylori* eradication is equivalent to 14-day: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Exp Med. 23(4):1033–43. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10238-022-00953-</u> 7 PMID:36538198
- 31. Malfertheiner P, Chan FK, McColl KE (2009). Peptic ulcer disease. Lancet. 374(9699):1449–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60938-7 PMID:19683340
- Mégraud F (2012). The challenge of *Helicobacter pylori* resistance to antibiotics: the comeback of bismuth-based quadruple therapy. Therap Adv Gastroenterol. 5(2):103–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1756283X11432492</u> PMID:22423259
- Erah PO, Goddard AF, Barrett DA, Shaw PN, Spiller RC (1997). The stability of amoxycillin, clarithromycin and metronidazole in gastric juice: relevance to the treatment of *Helicobacter pylori* infection. J Antimicrob Chemother. 39(1):5–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/39.1.5</u> <u>PMID:9044021</u>
- 34. Nyssen OP, Perez-Aisa A, Castro-Fernandez M, Pellicano R, Huguet JM, Rodrigo L, et al.; Hp-EuReg investigators (2021). European Registry on *Helicobacter pylori* Management: single-capsule bismuth

quadruple therapy is effective in real-world clinical practice. United European Gastroenterol J. 9(1):38–46. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2050640620972615</u> PMID:33176617

- 35. Khadse SN, Ugemuge S, Singh C (2023). Impact of antimicrobial stewardship on reducing antimicrobial resistance. Cureus. 15(12):e49935. <u>https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.49935</u> <u>PMID:38179391</u>
- 36. WHO (2019). 2019 WHO AWaRe Classification Database of Antibiotics for evaluation and monitoring of use. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/WHOEMPIAU2019.11.
- 37. Graham DY, Liou JM (2022). Primer for development of guidelines for *Helicobacter pylori* therapy using antimicrobial stewardship. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 20(5):973–983.e1. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cgh.2021.03.026</u> PMID:33775895
- WHO (2017). Prioritization of pathogens to guide discovery, research and development of new antibiotics for drug-resistant bacterial infections, including tuberculosis. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/WHO-EMP-IAU-2017.12</u>.
- 39. WHO (2024). WHO bacterial priority pathogens list, 2024: bacterial pathogens of public health importance to guide research, development and strategies to prevent and control antimicrobial resistance. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240093461.
- Mégraud F, Lehours P (2007). *Helicobacter pylori* detection and antimicrobial susceptibility testing. Clin Microbiol Rev. 20(2):280–322. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.00033-06</u> <u>PMID:17428887</u>
- Lemos FFB, de Castro CT, Silva Luz M, Rocha GR, Correa Santos GL, de Oliveira Silva LG, et al. (2024). Urea breath test for *Helicobacter pylori* infection in adult dyspeptic patients: a meta-analysis of diagnostic test accuracy. World J Gastroenterol. 30(6):579–98. <u>https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v30.i6.579</u> <u>PMID:38463019</u>
- 42. Lee YC, Tseng PH, Liou JM, Chen M-J, Chen C-C, Tu C-H, et al. (2014). Performance of a one-step fecal sample-based test for diagnosis of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in primary care and mass screening settings. J Formos Med Assoc. 113(12):899–907. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfma.2012.05.014 PMID:25530066
- 43. Argueta EA, Moss SF (2022). How we approach difficult to eradicate *Helicobacter pylori*. Gastroenterology. 162(1):32–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2021.10.048</u> PMID:34743914
- Nelson HD, Pappas M, Cantor A, Griffin J, Daeges M, Humphrey L (2016). Harms of breast cancer screening: systematic review to update the 2009 U.S. Preventive Services Task Force recommendation. Ann Intern Med. 164(4):256–67. <u>https://doi.org/10.7326/M15-0970</u> PMID:26756737
- 45. Aro AR, Pilvikki Absetz S, van Elderen TM, van der Ploeg E, van der Kamp LJT (2000). False-positive findings in mammography screening induces short-term distress breast cancer-specific concern prevails longer. Eur J Cancer. 36(9):1089–97. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0959-8049(00)00065-4</u> PMID:10854941
- 46. O'Sullivan I, Sutton S, Dixon S, Perry N (2001). False positive results do not have a negative effect on reattendance for subsequent breast screening. J Med Screen. 8(3):145–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/jms.8.3.145</u> PMID:11678554
- 47. Leekha S, Terrell CL, Edson RS (2011). General principles of antimicrobial therapy. Mayo Clin Proc. 86(2):156–67. <u>https://doi.org/10.4065/mcp.2010.0639</u> PMID:21282489
- 48. Graham DY, Rokkas T (2024). Overcoming the effects of increasing antimicrobial resistance on *Helicobacter pylori* therapy. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 18(11):705–11. https://doi.org/10.1080/17474124.2024.2435520 PMID:39661010
- 49. Mabe K, Inoue K, Kamada T, Kato K, Kato M, Haruma K (2022). Endoscopic screening for gastric cancer in Japan: Current status and future perspectives. Dig Endosc. 34(3):412–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/den.14063 PMID:34143908
- Jun JK, Choi KS, Lee HY, Suh M, Park B, Song SH, et al. (2017). Effectiveness of the Korean National Cancer Screening Program in reducing gastric cancer mortality. Gastroenterology. 152(6):1319– 1328.e7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2017.01.029</u> PMID:28147224
- 51. Ren X, Shi Y, Suo B, Yao X, Lu H, Li C, et al. (2023). Individualized diagnosis and eradication therapy for *Helicobacter pylori* infection based on gene detection of clarithromycin resistance in stool specimens: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Helicobacter. 28(3):e12958. https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.12958 PMID:36828668

- 52. Moss SF, Dang LP, Chua D, Sobrado J, Zhou Y, Graham DY (2022). Comparable results of *Helicobacter pylori* antibiotic resistance testing of stools vs gastric biopsies using next-generation sequencing. Gastroenterology. 162(7):2095–2097.e2. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2022.02.027</u> <u>PMID:35196541</u>
- 53. Bénéjat L, Ducournau A, Domingues-Martins C, Lecoeur M, Blosse A, Mégraud F, et al. (2021). Adaptation of an in-house PCR for the detection of *Helicobacter pylori* and the mutations associated with macrolide resistance into ready-to-use PCR microwell strips. Helicobacter. 26(6):e12855. https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.12855 PMID:34628694
- 54. Godbole G, Mégraud F, Bessède E (2020). Review: diagnosis of *Helicobacter pylori* infection. Helicobacter. 25(Suppl 1):e12735. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.12735</u> PMID:32918354
- 55. Han X, Yu X, Gao X, Wang X, Tay CY, Wei X, et al. (2023). Quantitative PCR of string-test collected gastric material: a feasible approach to detect *Helicobacter pylori* and its resistance against clarithromycin and levofloxacin for susceptibility-guided therapy. Helicobacter. 28(4):e12985. https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.12985 PMID:37066609
- Narii N, Sobue T, Zha L, Kitamura T, Iwasaki M, Inoue M, et al. (2022). Effectiveness of endoscopic screening for gastric cancer: the Japan Public Health Center-based Prospective Study. Cancer Sci. 113(11):3922–31. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cas.15545</u> PMID:36002149
- 57. Lee S, Jun JK, Suh M, Park B, Noh DK, Jung K-W, et al. (2015). Gastric cancer screening uptake trends in Korea: results for the National Cancer Screening Program from 2002 to 2011: a prospective cross-sectional study. Medicine (Baltimore). 94(8):e533. https://doi.org/10.1097/MD.00000000000533 PMID:25715251
- 58. Liou JM, Chen CC, Chang CM, Fang Y-J, Bair M-J, Chen P-Y, et al.; Taiwan Gastrointestinal Disease and Helicobacter Consortium (2019). Long-term changes of gut microbiota, antibiotic resistance, and metabolic parameters after *Helicobacter pylori* eradication: a multicentre, open-label, randomised trial. Lancet Infect Dis. 19(10):1109–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(19)30272-5</u> <u>PMID:31559966</u>
- 59. Liou JM, Jiang XT, Chen CC, Luo J-C, Bair M-J, Chen P-Y, et al.; Taiwan Gastrointestinal Disease and Helicobacter Consortium (2023). Second-line levofloxacin-based quadruple therapy versus bismuthbased quadruple therapy for *Helicobacter pylori* eradication and long-term changes to the gut microbiota and antibiotic resistome: a multicentre, open-label, randomised controlled trial. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 8(3):228–41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-1253(22)00384-3</u> <u>PMID:36549320</u>
- 60. Kraemer SA, Ramachandran A, Perron GG (2019). Antibiotic pollution in the environment: from microbial ecology to public policy. Microorganisms. 7(6):180. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms7060180 PMID:31234491
- 61. Larsson DGJ, Flach CF (2022). Antibiotic resistance in the environment. Nat Rev Microbiol. 20(5):257– 69. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-021-00649-x</u> <u>PMID:34737424</u>
- 62. WHO (2024). One Health. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization. Available from: https://www.who.int/health-topics/one-health.
- McNicholl AG, O'Morain CA, Megraud F, Gisbert JP; As Scientific Committee of the Hp-Eureg on Behalf of the National Coordinators (2019). Protocol of the European Registry on the Management of *Helicobacter pylori* Infection (Hp-EuReg). Helicobacter. 24(5):e12630. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.12630</u> PMID:31282060
- Nyssen OP, Bordin D, Tepes B, Pérez-Aisa Á, Vaira D, Caldas M, et al.; Hp-EuReg Investigators (2021). European Registry on *Helicobacter pylori* Management (Hp-EuReg): patterns and trends in first-line empirical eradication prescription and outcomes of 5 years and 21 533 patients. Gut. 70(1):40– 54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2020-321372</u> <u>PMID:32958544</u>
- 65. Tepes B, Brglez Jurecic N, Tepes K, Espada Sanchez M, Perez Nyssen O, O'Morain C, et al. (2021). *Helicobacter pylori* eradication rates in Slovenia in the period from 2017 to 2019: data from the European Registry on *H. pylori* Management. Dig Dis. 39(4):318–24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/000512506 PMID:33099549</u>
- Nyssen OP, Vaira D, Tepes B, Kupcinskas L, Bordin D, Pérez-Aisa Á, et al. (2022). Room for improvement in the treatment of *Helicobacter pylori* infection: lessons from the European Registry on *H. pylori* Management (Hp-EuReg). J Clin Gastroenterol. 56(2):e98–108. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/MCG.00000000001482</u> PMID:33405435
- Bujanda L, Nyssen OP, Ramos J, Bordin DS, Tepes B, Perez-Aisa A, et al.; Hp-EuReg investigators (2024). Effectiveness of *Helicobacter pylori* treatments according to antibiotic resistance. Am J Gastroenterol. 119(4):646–54. <u>https://doi.org/10.14309/ajg.00000000002600</u> <u>PMID:37983769</u>

- Lee YC, Wu HM, Chen TH, Liu T-Y, Chiu H-M, Chang C-C, et al. (2006). A community-based study of Helicobacter pylori therapy using the strategy of test, treat, retest, and re-treat initial treatment failures. Helicobacter. 11(5):418–24. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-5378.2006.00432.x PMID:16961802
- Chen TH, Chiu YH, Luh DL, Yen M-F, Wu H-M, Chen L-S, et al.; Taiwan Community-Based Integrated Screening Group (2004). Community-based multiple screening model: design, implementation, and analysis of 42,387 participants. Cancer. 100(8):1734–43. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.20171</u> <u>PMID:15073864</u>
- 70. Sheu BS, Wu MS, Chiu CT, Lo J-C, Wu D-C, Liou J-M, et al. (2017). Consensus on the clinical management, screening-to-treat, and surveillance of *Helicobacter pylori* infection to improve gastric cancer control on a nationwide scale. Helicobacter. 22(3):e12368. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.12368</u> PMID:28066960
- 71. Rupnow MF, Chang AH, Shachter RD, Owens DK, Parsonnet J (2009). Cost-effectiveness of a potential prophylactic *Helicobacter pylori* vaccine in the United States. J Infect Dis. 200(8):1311–7. https://doi.org/10.1086/605845 PMID:19751153
- 72. Mejías-Luque R, Gerhard M (2017). Immune evasion strategies and persistence of *Helicobacter pylori*. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. 400:53–71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-50520-6_3</u> PMID:28124149
- 73. Karkhah A, Ebrahimpour S, Rostamtabar M, Koppolu V, Darvish S, Vasigala VKR, et al. (2019). *Helicobacter pylori* evasion strategies of the host innate and adaptive immune responses to survive and develop gastrointestinal diseases. Microbiol Res. 218:49–57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2018.09.011</u> PMID:30454658
- 74. Koch MRA, Gong R, Friedrich V, Engelsberger V, Kretschmer L, Wanisch A, et al. (2023). CagA-specific gastric CD8⁺ tissue-resident T cells control *Helicobacter pylori* during the early infection phase. Gastroenterology. 164(4):550–66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2022.12.016</u> PMID:36587707
- 75. Velin D, Michetti P (2010). Advances in vaccination against *Helicobacter pylori*. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 4(2):157–66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1586/egh.10.6 PMID:20350263</u>
- 76. Czinn SJ, Blanchard T (2011). Vaccinating against *Helicobacter pylori* infection. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 8(3):133–40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrgastro.2011.1</u> PMID:21304478
- 77. Malfertheiner P, Selgrad M, Wex T, Romi B, Borgogni E, Spensieri F, et al. (2018). Efficacy, immunogenicity, and safety of a parenteral vaccine against *Helicobacter pylori* in healthy volunteers challenged with a Cag-positive strain: a randomised, placebo-controlled phase 1/2 study. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 3(10):698–707. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-1253(18)30125-0</u> PMID:30042064
- 78. Zeng M, Mao XH, Li JX, Tong W-D, Wang B, Zhang Y-J, et al. (2015). Efficacy, safety, and immunogenicity of an oral recombinant *Helicobacter pylori* vaccine in children in China: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. Lancet. 386(10002):1457–64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60310-5</u> PMID:26142048
- 79. Vax2Muc (2024). Next-generation vaccines against moderate inflammation gastrointestinal mucosal pathogens. Available from: <u>https://www.vax2muc.eu/</u>.
- Bugaytsova JA, Piddubnyi A, Tkachenko I, Rakhimova L, Edlund JO, Thorell K, et al. (2023). Vaccination with *Helicobacter pylori* attachment proteins protects against gastric cancer. bioRxiv [preprint]. 2023.05.25.542131. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/2023.05.25.542131</u> <u>PMID:37461695</u>

Chapter 8.

Process and outcome measures for improving the quality and equity of *Helicobacter pylori* screen-and-treat programmes for gastric cancer prevention

Yi-Chia Lee, Iris Lansdorp-Vogelaar, Mārcis Leja, Bojan Tepeš, Andrea Teng, Melissa McLeod, and Jin Young Park

Summary

- A population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme for gastric cancer prevention should adhere to the principles of an organized screening programme for effective and equitable outcomes across groups.
- The programme should be supported by an information system for data collection and generation of quality indicators.
- Monitoring quality indicators enables ongoing improvements to the efficiency, effectiveness, and safety of a programme.
- An *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme has the greatest chance of being equitable if the people with highest rates of *H. pylori* infection participate and are successfully treated, and monitoring this is important.



Fig. 8.1. Visual abstract. HP, H. pylori.

8.1 Introduction

In 2022, scientists from IARC published an international consensus statement on the essential and desirable criteria for an organized cancer screening programme [1]. According to the World Health Organization, screening programmes are only likely to achieve a high coverage of the at-risk population and deliver the desired impact at the population level when they are implemented using an organized approach [2]. Moreover, organized screening programmes spend health-care resources in a more cost-effective manner [3].

Although the *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategy for gastric cancer prevention is not formally a cancer screening programme, because it focuses on screening for and treating *H. pylori* infection rather than gastric cancer [4], it has many commonalities with cancer screening programmes. To be effective, both gastric cancer screening and screening for *H. pylori* infection should follow the public health principles of disease screening. Because the goal is cancer prevention, it is logical to use cancer screening programmes as models. An effective *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategy should adhere to the principles of cancer screening. Members of the advisory board of the IARC Cancer Screening in Five Continents (CanScreen5) project have identified 16 essential criteria for organized cancer screening programmes, which include having a protocol for the screening programme and providing continuing training of service providers [1]. Nine of the 16 criteria are concerned with the quality assessment of the programme, including monitoring and evaluation according to programme indicators. This list underlines the importance of quality assessment and is also applicable for *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies.

This chapter describes the required quality indicators that need to be collected to enable diligent quality assessment, monitoring, and evaluation of *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes. Centralized information systems play an important role in this process by storing detailed histories of the participants, including screening results, information about follow-up tests, and treatment data, which facilitate the continuity of care (Section 8.2). Quality indicators can be generated based on various follow-up periods before analysis, including short-term indicators (Section 8.3), intermediate-term indicators (Section 8.4), and long-term indicators (Section 8.5). The potential harms associated with screening are explored in Section 8.6. Section 8.7 provides an outline of how monitoring of quality indicators, disaggregated by ethnicity and

socioeconomic position, can be used to improve equitable health outcomes, with real-world examples.

8.2 Information systems

When an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme is implemented, data items are generated from different stages of the programme over time. This generally requires an information system to collect the data. Attention should be given to local data protection regulations and rules on obtaining consent from participants for their data to be collected and potentially linked to other data sets. Data can be analysed weekly, monthly, or yearly to generate the quality indicators that assist in auditing and monitoring the performance of the programme, including identifying eligible people, ascertaining screening test results, tracking the follow-up for participants with positive test results, and evaluating the effectiveness of the programme (Fig. 8.2). These indicators should be part of the ongoing quality improvement cycle in which this information is used to improve the performance of the *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme. These indicators should include measures of the completion of the key steps in the pathway, adherence to best practices within these steps, and timeliness, and they should be measured for the total eligible population and with stratification by key demographic variables.

In the system, emphasis should be placed on ensuring the effective treatment of infections. Screening programmes may initially focus on testing but can face challenges in ensuring follow-up treatment [2]. This includes promptly communicating *H. pylori* test results to individuals who are diagnosed, providing access to the appropriate antibiotics, and monitoring treatment uptake and outcomes. The system should also identify bottlenecks in the screening workflow to ensure that the number of individuals invited does not exceed the available treatment capacity.



Fig. 8.2. An information system for data collection and generation of screening quality indicators. The system transmits the secure data collected from the *H. pylori* (HP) screening pathway and laboratory analyses to generate quality indicators. This is a real-world example from a population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme in Indigenous communities [5]. Bottlenecks can be identified when the system generates timely messages for quality control. Stratified analyses can be conducted for individuals who were screened, based on demographic data, geography, ethnicity, and socioeconomic position (SEP). Data can also be collected from individuals who either were not screened or did not adhere to the testing and treatment process, to evaluate the effectiveness of the programme.

H. pylori screening and treatment is a method of infectious disease control for primary prevention of gastric cancer, rather than a direct tool for early cancer detection. If one member of a household is screened and treated and other members are not, there may be a risk of reinfection within the household. Therefore, cascading testing to other household members may be considered when the targeted individual has an *H. pylori* infection (see Chapter 4). Developing such a family-based indexcase method may require linking screening data with household data [5]. Information systems can also integrate with local infectious disease surveillance systems to monitor and prevent antibiotic resistance resulting from population-based antibiotic use.

8.3 Short-term indicators

Table 8.1 lists a set of recommended quality indicators for evaluating a populationbased *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme. It includes definitions for short-term indicators, intermediate-term indicators, and long-term indicators and the required data to measure each indicator.

Short-term indicators are measurable outcomes that can be observed and assessed shortly after implementing a programme, to ensure that the programme is operating efficiently and adhering to the required standards. Details related to person, place, and time should be systematically recorded, including information about the individuals involved (e.g. demographics, eligibility criteria, and socioeconomic position), the geographical location of the programme, and the time frame during which the screening activities take place. Accurate documentation of these details facilitates the analyses of the performance of the programme and supports evaluation of its effectiveness.

Invitation coverage

An effective invitation is a critical first step in initiating the subsequent screening and treatment processes. Invitation coverage is an indicator that measures how well the target population is being reached. The population list and contact information should be made available. The quality of these population lists will vary, depending on how the data were collected. Therefore, there will be variability in who the data will and will not capture; for example, the data may not include immigrant populations, people who leave the country, and people who have died. The aim should be to obtain as complete a list as possible, so that the measures of coverage will be as accurate as possible. The process for invitation to screening should enable a high invitation rate to everyone eligible for the screening. This can be a particular concern if the invitation data set has limited coverage or fails to accurately identify certain subpopulations with lower socioeconomic positions and whose contact information is incomplete or inaccurate. Invitation coverage provides a measure of the quality of the register or contact list and can provide an indication of how complete the contact information list is.

When the total population list is unavailable, the proportion of the eligible population invited can be estimated by comparing the number of invitations sent with an estimated target population size. This estimation can be based on methods such as conducting household surveys within the community or collaborating with local organizations, schools, workplaces, and community groups to approximate the size of the eligible population.

392

Screening participation

Screening participation in its broadest sense provides a measure of the proportion of individuals who take up the invitation to screening. However, the screening participation is also a measure of how successful the programme has been in contacting and engaging participants and in addressing any barriers there may be in accessing the screening pathway. Variations in screening participation (e.g. by region, ethnicity, and socioeconomic position) can indicate the magnitude of the barriers to accessing the programme. Improvements to eliminate barriers require partnership and close engagement with high-risk groups from the outset, and targeted investment to address cost, time, distance, and other barriers [6]. Also, certain test types may have differential acceptability and uptake in different cultural groups; this may need further assessment [7]. The potential side-effects of antibiotic treatments and differences in personal medical histories should be considered, and individuals should make an informed choice and should not be unduly influenced towards participation. To enhance participation in screening, several interventions can be implemented, including general messaging and recruitment strategies, and the impact of these interventions can and should be monitored.

General messaging can increase public awareness of the importance of eliminating *H. pylori* infection for decreasing the burden of associated diseases, such as gastric cancer, peptic ulcer disease, and dyspepsia. The GISTAR study in Latvia (see Chapter 3.5) has shown that only a minority of the general population aged 40–64 years are motivated to participate in interventions for gastric cancer prevention [8]. Communication strategies can be designed to educate the target population and medical professionals and/or to deal with the misbeliefs or barriers related to *H. pylori* infection and gastric cancer prevention. The most frequent reasons reported as barriers to testing included not seeing the benefit of being tested or the need to be tested, and feeling healthy [8].

A range of potential communication tools and channels can be used, including programme websites, television, radio, print and online newspapers, opportunistic conversations with health-care providers, community gatherings and workshops, and social media (Box 8.1). The tools and channels to be used should be selected on the basis of the likely level of reach for the target population, i.e. those at highest risk within a population (to ensure equity), as well as health-care workers in different

health-care institutions, medical communities, scientific and research communities, and policy-makers and decision-makers at the national, regional, and local levels. By carefully selecting the communication channels used, Slovenia increased the rate of participation in colorectal cancer screening from 50% to 66% [9]. Engagement efforts, ideally including co-designed activities, should bring together policy-makers, health-care providers, community members, and the population groups that face the highest barriers to screening.

As an example of this, the invitation letters in the pilot programmes in Slovenia (EUROHELICAN and TOGAS) are labelled and signed by the Community Healthcare Centre (Ljubljana or Maribor) and the Slovenia National Institute of Public Health (see Chapter 3.5). Additional email invitations are signed in the same manner. Communication activities and campaigns may be carried out through mass media and both external and internal advertising spaces, including health institutions and public places. Increased participation can also be achieved by involving famous people and programme ambassadors. In addition, a tailored communication approach should be developed for people with disabilities, including those with visual or hearing impairments.

Box 8.1. Monitoring and evaluation of communication activities

Social media platforms can reach a vast audience, allowing for the dissemination of information about the importance of *H. pylori* screening, its benefits, and how to access services. Continuous monitoring and evaluation of communication activities is essential, because these are ongoing processes. Indicators may include data on click-throughs, retention, shares, and others. Feedback is collected regularly, using the built-in measuring systems of social media channels. For example, social media analytics tools can show the reach and engagement of a post. Meta Business Suite measures activities on Facebook and Instagram, and X (Twitter) Analytics measures tweets, engagement, and impressions. The use of different social media channels enables evaluation and constant feedback. Analytical tools, process evaluation, and feedback reciprocally enhance each other.

Recruiting strategies may include sending invitation letters, providing explanatory leaflets, using secure messaging, using mobile applications, making telephone calls,

and giving face-to-face presentations. If there is a functioning postal system, the invitation letter should contain relevant information about the purpose and goals of the programme, along with basic information about the positive aspects of the *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategy for gastric cancer prevention. The stakeholders should collaborate to design and implement a screening programme to ensure that public messaging reaches groups with different socioeconomic positions equitably [10]. There is evidence that having the invitation letter signed by a health professional and sending text messages or telephone reminders can improve screening coverage overall and for underserved populations [11–12]. The information leaflet, which includes key messages about the programme, gastric cancer, *H. pylori* infection, and the importance of treatment, should be distributed to identified stakeholders and project partners. Co-designing programme information resources with participants is important to ensure that the messages will reach those at the highest risk [10].

If the postal system is limited, alternative methods of delivery of invitations should be considered. A health-care provider's mobile application provides convenience through features such as easy appointment scheduling, access to screening services, and timely reminders [13]. Telephone outreach and face-to-face presentations may yield a higher participation rate than mailed letters, but this can also be the most expensive approach in terms of human resources [14] and so it may be reserved for individuals who have not responded to multiple previous contact attempts. Conferences and symposiums for scientific, medical, research, and governmental audiences should be used to disseminate the project results and inform the attendees about the project's goals during its implementation.

Screening participation may vary depending on the type of tests used; this is influenced by factors such as preparation requirements, cultural perceptions, and costs (see Chapter 5). For example, in a screening trial in Taiwan (China), the participation rate was 50% when the *H. pylori* stool antigen test was combined with the faecal immunochemical test (FIT) [15–16], whereas the screening participation could reach 80% when ¹³C-urea breath tests were used in Indigenous communities [5]. When serology tests are used for screening, the proportion of participants who miss confirmatory testing should be evaluated.
Testing indicators

Testing indicators include the test positivity rate and the rate of inadequate tests (Table 8.1). Despite the high diagnostic accuracy of ¹³C-urea breath tests and monoclonal stool antigen tests, inadequate testing can occur (see Chapter 5). When individuals providing breath samples are not coached on the optimal exhalation technique or are incapable of executing it, the sample may have an insufficient CO_2 concentration for the ¹³C-urea breath test [5]. The *H. pylori* stool antigen test can be affected by inadequate faecal sampling and improper temperature conditions during specimen transportation and the time before analysis, leading to false-negative results [17]. The test positivity rate may indicate whether the programme is reaching those who would benefit most, and it can serve as a guide for appropriate resource allocation [5, 18]. Because *H. pylori* is an infectious disease that is often transmitted within families, the programme may contact family members of individuals with positive test results, to increase the likelihood of test positivity [5, 19]. It is also important to provide counselling at the time of testing about the significance of treating *H. pylori* infection.

Quality indicators ^a	Required data ^b	Definitions ^c
Short-term indicators		
Invitation coverage	(1) Number of people invited to screening	Proportion of people who receive an invitation among the eligible people
	(2) Number of eligible people	
Screening participation	(1) Number of participants	Proportion of participants among the people invited
	(2) Number of invited people	
Test positivity rate	(1) Number of test positives for <i>H. pylori</i>	Proportion of test positives among participants
	(2) Number of participants	
Rate of inadequate tests	(1) Number of inadequate test results	Proportion of inadequate test results among participants
	(2) Number of <i>H. pylori</i> tests	
Rate of missed confirmatory testing	(1) Number of missed confirmatory tests	Proportion of missed confirmatory testing among participants receiving <i>H. pylori</i> serological tests
	(2) Number of <i>H. pylori</i> serological tests	

Table 8.1. Recommended quality indicators for evaluating a population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme

Quality indicators ^a	Required data ^b	Definitions ^c	
Referral rate to treatment	(1) Number of participants referred for treatment	Proportion of participants referred for treatment among those who test positive	
	(2) Number of test-positives for <i>H. pylori</i>		
Rate of antibiotic prescriptions	(1) Number of participants prescribed antibiotic treatment	Proportion of participants prescribed antibiotic treatment among <i>H. pylori</i> -positive participants referred for treatment	
	(2) Number of participants referred for treatment		
Successful eradication rate	(1) Number of successful eradications	Proportion of successful eradication among participants prescribed antibiotic treatment	
	(2) Number of participants prescribed antibiotic treatment		
Adverse event rate	(1) Number of serious adverse events	Proportion of serious adverse events among the treated participants	
	(2) Number of participants treated for <i>H. pylori</i>		
Rate of stopping treatment because of adverse events	(1) Number of participants stopping treatment because of adverse events	Proportion of treated participants who stop treatment because of adverse events	
	(2) Number of participants treated for <i>H. pylori</i>		
Intermediate-term indica	ntors		
Screening coverage	(1) Number of people who participate in the screening test	Proportion of eligible individuals who participate in screening	
	(2) Number of eligible people		
<i>H. pylori</i> prevalence	(1) Number of people with <i>H. pylori</i> infection	Proportion of people with <i>H. pylori</i> infection among eligible people	
	(2) Number of eligible people		
H. pylori reinfection rate	(1) Number of people with <i>H. pylori</i> reinfection	Rate of people with <i>H. pylori</i> reinfection among people who have been successfully treated during a follow-up	
	(2) Number of people who have been successfully treated for <i>H. pylori</i>	period (per 100 person-years or 1000 person-years)	
	(3) Follow-up time		
Long-term indicators			
Gastric cancer incidence rate	(1) Number of eligible people newly diagnosed with gastric cancer	Rate of newly diagnosed gastric cancer during a follow-up period (per 100 000 person-years)	
	(2) Number of eligible people		
	(3) Follow-up time		

Table 8.1. Recommended quality indicators for evaluating a population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme (continued)

Required data ^b	Definitions ^c	
(1) Number of eligible people whose death was related to gastric cancer	Rate of death related to gastric cancer during a follow- up period (per 100 000 person-years)	
(2) Number of eligible people		
(3) Follow-up time		
	Required data ^b (1) Number of eligible people whose death was related to gastric cancer (2) Number of eligible people (3) Follow-up time	

Table 8.1. Recommended quality indicators for evaluating a population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme (continued)

^a Stratify the indicators by population subgroup, and establish benchmarks tailored to different populations.

^b The numerator is (1), and the denominator is (2) or (2) \times (3).

^c The definition is equal to (1) divided by (2), or (1) divided by (2) × (3) when follow-up time is required.

Treatment indicators

Treatment indicators include several key measures: the proportion of individuals referred for treatment among those who test positive, the proportion of antibiotic prescriptions adhering to guidelines that are given to people who are referred for treatment, the proportion of successful eradication among people who were prescribed antibiotic treatment, the proportion of serious adverse events among the treated participants, and the proportion of treated participants who stop treatment because of adverse events.

About 30% of participants who test positive for *H. pylori* may not seek treatment, because of the absence of symptoms, concerns about the pill burden associated with treatment, and worries about potentially needing an endoscopy because of their positive H. pylori test results [16]. Antibiotic treatments for H. pylori infection are the core elements of gastric cancer prevention (see Chapter 6). Successful eradication is generally reported based on the intention-to-treat (all patients who were prescribed medication) and per-protocol (those who used $\geq 80\%$ of the prescribed medication) principles [20]. Substantially lower eradication rates can be identified in some subpopulations as a result of high prevalence of antibiotic resistance [5, 21]. Disparities in antimicrobial resistance may be addressed by revising the first-line therapy and offering bespoke treatment regimens for any identified target populations. Consideration should also be given to monitoring disparities in the completion of treatment and any barriers to treatment completion, including variations in the presence of adverse events and the acceptability of treatment, in relation to the predefined quality benchmarks (Box 8.2). Adverse events related to the treatment can be common and include abdominal pain, diarrhoea, dyspepsia, and poor appetite, but serious adverse events are generally rare.

398

Box 8.2. Quality benchmarks

Quality benchmarks for screening programmes help programme managers to understand typical performance levels and identify areas for improvement. These benchmarks are established from guidelines and recommendations from relevant healthcare organizations, previous studies, or experts in the field, along with the analysis of historical data from previous programmes. For example, the *European guidelines for quality assurance in colorectal cancer screening and diagnosis* established the quality benchmarks for colorectal cancer screening [22]. Communities can assess whether their screening programmes align with current best practices and whether they are designed to achieve optimal health outcomes. Continuous knowledge updates are vital to determine the most effective performance levels while maintaining an optimal balance between benefits and harms [23].

8.4 Intermediate-term indicators

Intermediate-term indicators are measurable outcomes that reflect the progress and impact of a programme over the medium term; this can provide insights into the effectiveness of the programme before the long-term outcomes can be measured. These indicators may include screening coverage, *H. pylori* prevalence, and *H. pylori* reinfection rate (Table 8.1). Screening coverage is defined as the proportion of eligible individuals who participate in screening. It is considered an intermediate-term indicator because it reflects the extent of participation by the target population in the screening programme, and it serves as a step towards achieving the long-term health outcomes. As screening coverage increases, the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection (the proportion of eligible individuals with *H. pylori* infection) typically declines [24]. With repeated screenings, particularly among a subset of participants who have been successfully treated for at least 2 years, the H. pylori reinfection rate can be evaluated and expressed per 100 person-years or 1000 person-years. It can be as low as <1 per 100 person-years, particularly when lifestyle education is also provided to reduce the risk of *H. pylori* transmission [5, 25]. Reinfection rates may be higher in high-risk communities; for example, very high reinfection rates have been reported in Alaska [26]. Higher reinfection rates associated with ethnicity and socioeconomic position may lead to prioritizing family-based or community-wide invitation approaches in a programme [5].

8.5 Long-term indicators

Long-term indicators are measurable outcomes that assess whether the programme has achieved its ultimate goal; they primarily include gastric cancer incidence and mortality rates (see Chapter 2 for the summaries of explanatory clinical trials). These rates, which incorporate a time component, are calculated based on the incidence of newly diagnosed gastric cancer cases and deaths related to gastric cancer during the follow-up period (Table 8.1). Data can be obtained through cancer registries and death registries to minimize the loss to follow-up. Reductions in the gastric cancer mortality rate from *H. pylori* screening and treatment are observed after decreases in the gastric cancer incidence rate, because of the primary prevention nature [24, 27].

When the programme is continued for about 5–10 years, depending on the baseline incidence rates, gastric cancer outcomes can be evaluated using various approaches (Fig. 8.3). In the context of a population-based programme operating as part of health-care policy or public health initiative, gastric cancer outcomes can be compared between individuals who were invited to participate in the *H. pylori* screen-and-treat approach and those who were not invited. Comparisons can also be made between participants who completed the *H. pylori* screening and non-participants, as well as between individuals with *H. pylori* infection in whom the infection was successfully eradicated and those who remain untreated or experience unsuccessful treatment. Evaluations of programme effectiveness may need to account for non-adherence to the invitation, resulting from self-selection bias, as well as variations in the baseline characteristics of the participants [16].



Fig. 8.3. Outcome evaluations for gastric cancer incidence and mortality rates in a population-based screen-and-treat programme for *H. pylori* (HP) infection. This is an example from a pragmatic clinical trial [16]. The assessment can be conducted at several levels within the screening intervention pathway, including comparisons between individuals who were invited and those who were not invited, between participants and non-participants, and between patients who have been successfully treated for *H. pylori* infection and those who still have *H. pylori* infection.

Alternatively, with sufficient screening coverage, programme effectiveness can be estimated by comparing gastric cancer incidence and mortality rates before and after the initiation of the programme. Historical trends can also be accounted for by using a natural history model to project the trends in gastric cancer incidence and mortality before the programme (see Chapter 9). This projection generates expected rates without intervention, which can then be compared with the observed outcomes (see Chapter 3.10).

Monitoring long-term outcomes by demographic variables is crucial to understand whether an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme is meeting its equity goals. These goals include achieving equal or better access and participation in all groups compared with the most privileged groups. The long-term aim is to reduce gastric cancer incidence and mortality rates to be as low as those in the most privileged groups. This may require progress to be measured directly against measures of equity through the absolute differences and relative risks of incidence and mortality. The programme may also yield benefits in the prevention of peptic ulcer disease and

other *H. pylori*-related diseases, which can be evaluated in a similar manner using hospital electronic health records or health insurance databases [24, 28]. In a well-functioning programme, the current inequities in rates of peptic ulcer disease and gastric cancer in the target population would be expected to be reduced in the long term. In regions such as the high-risk population living in the Matsu Islands (see Chapter 3.10), an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme has been implemented and reached the stage of evaluating long-term outcomes for gastric cancer [24].

8.6 Exploring the potential harms

Concerns about the potential harms of *H. pylori* screening mainly revolve around the effects of antibiotic use (see Chapters 2 and 7), because an intervention based on antibiotic treatment will increase antibiotic use [29]. Potential harms may include the impact on the digestive tract because of changes in gastric acidity, alterations in the diversity of gut microbiota, and the development of antibiotic resistance. The oesophagus is presumed to be the most susceptible site for acid reflux, and the colorectum is presumed to be the most susceptible site for changes in the gut microbiota. However, the associations between treatment of *H. pylori* infection and the risk of cancer at these sites have not yet been supported by observational studies [30–34] or population-based randomized trials [16, 35]. Antibiotic treatment for *H. pylori* infection may affect the gut microbiota [36], although research suggests that these changes are temporary and the gut microbiota largely return to the pre-treatment state over time [33, 37].

The increasing trends of antibiotic resistance are a global concern because of high selection pressure from the increasing use and misuse of antibiotics. Gathering data on *H. pylori* resistance from endoscopic biopsies and stool samples may offer the advantage of selecting the antibiotic regimens with the highest eradication rates (e.g. > 90%) while minimizing the population's exposure to less-effective antibiotics [38–39]. When new *H. pylori* eradication regimens are developed, their potential to induce the gut resistome may be considered. Monitoring general increased antibiotic resistance in any bacteria, in addition to *H. pylori*, in the population may involve tracking the number of individuals who present with resistant bacterial strains overall, the number of hospitalizations for infectious diseases in the population.

8.7 Real-world examples of monitoring to improve equitable outcomes

Monitoring all the quality indicators outlined in this chapter by a range of demographic variables (e.g. geographical region, age, sex, race or ethnicity, socioeconomic position, homelessness and other housing factors) is important to assess the reach, quality, and timeliness across the screening pathway and to implement quality improvement activities where required. This is also necessary to ensure equitable health outcomes (Box 8.3) and programme effectiveness. To monitor by demographic variables, these variables must be accessed through existing data sources or collected as part of the screening programme. To meet standard quality requirements, screening requires strategies to overcome barriers related to cultural differences, administrative challenges, geographical constraints, and economic disparities. Equity recognizes that people with different levels of advantage require different approaches and resources to obtain equitable health outcomes [40].

Box 8.3. Cancer health inequalities and cancer inequities

Cancer health inequalities refer to the differences in risk factors, cancer incidence, cancer stages at diagnosis, and treatment outcomes among different population groups. Differences can be associated with factors such as geographical location, race or ethnicity, socioeconomic position, access to health-care services, education level, and environmental factors. For example, elevated gastric cancer incidence and mortality rates are found in almost all Indigenous peoples relative to the corresponding non-Indigenous populations in the same region or country. Cancer inequities are those differences that are unnecessary and avoidable but are also considered to be unfair and unjust [41].

The incidence of gastric cancer and the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection are disproportionately higher in people with lower socioeconomic positions [42–43], Indigenous populations [5, 44–46], other ethnic groups [45, 47], and immigrants from areas with higher prevalence of *H. pylori* infection [48]. These same groups frequently experience some of the greatest barriers to accessing organized screening and health care [5, 24, 49]. They are often not well served by the existing health system and may have historically low rates of participation in screening. Yet the same high-risk groups have the most to gain by participation in a population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme, in terms of reduced risk of gastric cancer.

Equity in access into and through screening can be achieved by system change and by designing equity into the programme, not only by individual behaviour change [50]. To successfully introduce and develop the screen-and-treat approach from an equity perspective requires effort, expertise, and engagement with the populations of interest. The aim is a participant-centred approach that is "easy" for people, in which all interactions, including invitation, testing, treatment, and follow-up, are accessible and culturally safe. Enrolling individuals who are experiencing homelessness in screening for infectious diseases may require tailored strategies to address challenges such as unstable living conditions, limited access to health care, and mistrust of medical systems [51].

Other axes should also be considered for monitoring, particularly where they are correlated with *H. pylori* infection and its sequelae; examples are rurality, region, sex, and other factors. Pertinent demographic information in line with the agreed equity

goals of the programme should be collected from the outset, so that quality indicators can be reported across ethnicity, socioeconomic position, and other appropriate variables [5, 46].

The Indigenous people living in Taiwan (China), which include 16 ethnic groups, are Austronesian and constitute about 600 000 individuals, accounting for 3% of the population of the island. There are 55 designated Indigenous townships traditionally inhabited by Indigenous peoples, with similar historical and cultural characteristics. The age-standardized incidence rate of gastric cancer is about 23 per 100 000 person-years overall, and the rate among Indigenous people is almost double that among non-Indigenous people residing in the same regions. Since 2018, a population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme has been implemented, targeting individuals aged 20–60 years who reside in 17 Indigenous townships [46]. Although the programme aimed to increase enrolment among Indigenous people, it is open to both Indigenous and non-Indigenous individuals, to ensure equal access to screening.

In 2023, this programme expanded to 55 Indigenous townships. By the end of 2024, about 30 000 participants were included [5]. This expansion can be attributed to the endorsement of Indigenous health providers in the programme, funding support for screening and treatment, monitoring of quality indicators, use of telemedicine for instant consultations, and increased awareness through various approaches, including social media platforms, telephone contacts, and face-to-face invitations [5]. The benchmark was set at 60% for the H. pylori screening participation rate, 40% for the test positivity rate, 60% for the referral rate to treatment, and 80% for the successful eradication rate. The average performance achieved was 80% for screening participation, 44% for test positivity rate, 83% for referral rate to treatment, and 91% for successful eradication rate, with greater variability in the screening participation and test positivity rates between townships. The test positivity rate among Indigenous individuals (~60%) was notably higher (by 2–3-fold) than that in their non-Indigenous counterparts living in the same township. Consequently, the test positivity rate in each township may reflect the effectiveness of the invitations and the level of screening participation among Indigenous individuals.

In Aotearoa New Zealand, the *H. pylori* in Aotearoa New Zealand (ENIGMA) Study (see Chapter 3.11) is investigating the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection by inviting, in equal numbers, Māori people (the Indigenous population), Pacific people, and individuals from other ethnic groups aged 12–69 years from across the country to be screened and treated for *H. pylori* infection. Participants have a serology test at their local laboratory and are invited to do a stool antigen test if the result of the serology test is positive. The study will report ethnic differences in rates of contact or invitation, participation (for serology and stool antigen tests), seropositivity, treatment, eradication, retesting, adverse effects, and antibiotic resistance. The treatment pathway is being delivered by a Māori health-care provider and has been designed in partnership with this provider to enable a culturally centred approach to be taken. An earlier cost–utility analysis compared the cost–effectiveness of the *H. pylori* screen-and-treat approach by ethnicity and showed a much greater cost–effectiveness for Māori people than for non-Māori people [52]. Current research aims to inform the design of a wider screen-and-treat pilot study in New Zealand, to address the unfair and avoidable high rates of gastric cancer among Māori people and Pacific people.

8.8 Conclusions

Population-based *H. pylori* screening and treatment is a multistep process. To ensure its effectiveness, it is necessary to assess a range of quality indicators at each stage and to facilitate the continuous monitoring and improvement of overall performance. Advances in information technology enable the timely collection and assessment of the recommended process and outcome measures, to ensure consistently high screening standards across regions and groups with varying gastric cancer burdens and health-care infrastructure. It is particularly important to increase public awareness about the significance of eliminating H. pylori infection to reduce the burden of associated diseases, such as gastric cancer, peptic ulcer disease, and dyspepsia. Effective programmes are designed in partnership with high-risk groups; these programmes invest in improving participation within these populations from the outset, and they are also responsive to the differences identified through programme monitoring, such as inequities in the rates of invitation, participation, eradication, and programme outcomes. An H. pylori screen-and-treat programme has the greatest chance of being equitable, effective, and efficient if the people with the highest rates of *H. pylori* infection participate and are successfully treated. This requires attention across the screen-and-treat pathway to ensure that all interactions are accessible and culturally safe.

References

- Zhang L, Carvalho AL, Mosquera I, Wen T, Lucas E, Sauvaget C, et al. (2022). An international consensus on the essential and desirable criteria for an 'organized' cancer screening programme. BMC Med. 20(1):101. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-022-02291-7</u> PMID:35317783
- WHO Regional Office for Europe (2020). Screening programmes: a short guide. Increase effectiveness, maximize benefits and minimize harm. Copenhagen, Denmark: World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe. Available from: <u>https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/330829</u>.
- 3. IARC (2002). Breast cancer screening. IARC Handb Cancer Prev. 7:1–229. Available from: https://publications.iarc.who.int/377.
- Chey WD, Leontiadis GI, Howden CW, Moss SF (2017). ACG clinical guideline: treatment of *Helicobacter pylori* infection. Am J Gastroenterol. 112(2):212–39. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ajg.2016.563 PMID:28071659</u>
- 5. Lei WY, Lee JY, Chuang SL, Bair M-J, Chen C-L, Wu J-Y, et al. (2023). Eradicating *Helicobacter pylori* via ¹³C-urea breath screening to prevent gastric cancer in indigenous communities: a population-based study and development of a family index-case method. Gut. 72(12):2231–40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2023-329871</u> PMID:37197905
- Butler TL, Anderson K, Condon JR, Garvey G, Brotherton JML, Cunningham J, et al. (2020). Indigenous Australian women's experiences of participation in cervical screening. PLoS One. 15(6):e0234536. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0234536</u> PMID:32542004
- Brewer N, Bartholomew K, Grant J, Maxwell A, McPherson G, Wihongi H, et al. (2021). Acceptability of human papillomavirus (HPV) self-sampling among never- and under-screened Indigenous and other minority women: a randomised three-arm community trial in Aotearoa New Zealand. Lancet Reg Health West Pac. 16:100265. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lanwpc.2021.100265</u> <u>PMID:34590066</u>
- Leja M, Cine E, Poļaka I, Daugule I, Murillo R, Parshutin S, et al. (2022). Factors influencing participation in preventive interventions for gastric cancer: the results from the GISTAR study. Eur J Cancer Prev. 31(2):128–36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/CEJ.0000000000682</u> <u>PMID:34519690</u>
- Tepes B, Stefanovic M, Stabuc B, Mlakar DN, Grazio SF, Zakotnik JM (2022). Quality control in the Slovenian National Colorectal Cancer Screening Program. Dig Dis. 40(2):187–97. <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/000516978 PMID:33965953</u>
- Butler T, Gall A, Garvey G, Ngampromwongse K, Hector D, Turnbull S, et al. (2022). A comprehensive review of optimal approaches to co-design in health with First Nations Australians. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 19(23):16166. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph192316166</u> <u>PMID:36498237</u>
- Segnan N, Senore C, Giordano L, Ponti A, Ronco G (1998). Promoting participation in a population screening program for breast and cervical cancer: a randomized trial of different invitation strategies. Tumori. 84(3):348–53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/030089169808400307</u> PMID:9678615
- Duffy SW, Myles JP, Maroni R, Mohammad A (2017). Rapid review of evaluation of interventions to improve participation in cancer screening services. J Med Screen. 24(3):127–45. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0969141316664757 PMID:27754937</u>
- Miller DP Jr, Denizard-Thompson N, Weaver KE, Case LD, Troyer JL, Spangler JG, et al. (2018). Effect of a digital health intervention on receipt of colorectal cancer screening in vulnerable patients: a randomized controlled trial. Ann Intern Med. 168(8):550–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.7326/M17-2315 PMID:29532054</u>
- Lee JK, Koripella PC, Jensen CD, Merchant SA, Fox JM, Chang SX, et al. (2024). Randomized trial of patient outreach approaches to de-implement outdated colonoscopy surveillance intervals. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 22(6):1315–1322.e7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cgh.2023.12.027</u> <u>PMID:38191014</u>
- Lee YC, Chiang TH, Chiu HM, Wu M-S, Yeh Y-P, Hsiu-Hsi Chen T; Collaborators of the Taiwan Community-Based Integrated Screening Group (2021). Community-based gastric cancer screening coupled with a national colorectal cancer screening program: baseline results. Gastroenterology. 160(6):2159–2161.e4. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2021.01.008</u> PMID:33444571
- 16. Lee YC, Chiang TH, Chiu HM, Su W-W, Chou K-C, Chen SL-S, et al.; Collaborators of Taiwan Community-based Integrated Screening Group (2024). Screening for *Helicobacter pylori* to

prevent gastric cancer: a pragmatic randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 332(19):1642–51. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2024.14887 PMID:39348147

- 17. Lee YC, Dore MP, Graham DY (2022). Diagnosis and treatment of *Helicobacter pylori* infection. Annu Rev Med. 73(1):183–95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-med-042220-020814</u> <u>PMID:35084993</u>
- Lansdorp-Vogelaar I, Sharp L (2013). Cost-effectiveness of screening and treating *Helicobacter* pylori for gastric cancer prevention. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol. 27(6):933–47. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpg.2013.09.005</u> PMID:24182612
- Ding SZ, Du YQ, Lu H, Wang W-H, Cheng H, Chen S-Y, et al.; National Clinical Research Center for Digestive Diseases (Shanghai), Gastrointestinal Early Cancer Prevention & Treatment Alliance of China (GECA), Helicobacter pylori Study Group of Chinese Society of Gastroenterology, and Chinese Alliance for Helicobacter pylori Study (2022). Chinese consensus report on family-based *Helicobacter pylori* infection control and management (2021 edition). Gut. 71(2):238–53. https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2021-325630 PMID:34836916
- 20. Smith VA, Coffman CJ, Hudgens MG (2021). Interpreting the results of intention-to-treat, perprotocol, and as-treated analyses of clinical trials. JAMA. 326(5):433–4. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2021.2825 PMID:34342631</u>
- Hsiang J, Selvaratnam S, Taylor S, Yeoh J, Tan YM, Huang J, et al. (2013). Increasing primary antibiotic resistance and ethnic differences in eradication rates of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in New Zealand – a new look at an old enemy. N Z Med J. 126(1384):64–76. <u>PMID:24162631</u>
- 22. Moss S, Ancelle-Park R, Brenner H; International Agency for Research on Cancer (2012). European guidelines for quality assurance in colorectal cancer screening and diagnosis. First edition – Evaluation and interpretation of screening outcomes. Endoscopy. 44(Suppl 3):SE49–64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0032-1309788 PMID:23012122</u>
- 23. Helsingen LM, Kalager M (2022). Colorectal cancer screening approach, evidence, and future directions. NEJM Evid. 1(1):a2100035. <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/EVIDra2100035</u> PMID:38319175
- Chiang TH, Chang WJ, Chen SL, Yen AM, Fann JC, Chiu SY, et al. (2021). Mass eradication of *Helicobacter pylori* to reduce gastric cancer incidence and mortality: a long-term cohort study on Matsu Islands. Gut. 70(2):243–50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2020-322200</u> <u>PMID:32792335</u>
- 25. Liou JM, Malfertheiner P, Lee YC, Sheu B-S, Sugano K, Cheng H-C, et al.; Asian Pacific Alliance on Helicobacter and Microbiota (APAHAM) (2020). Screening and eradication of *Helicobacter pylori* for gastric cancer prevention: the Taipei global consensus. Gut. 69(12):2093–112. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutinl-2020-322368</u> PMID:33004546
- Bruce MG, Bruden DL, Morris JM, Reasonover AL, Sacco F, Hurlburt D, et al. (2015). Reinfection after successful eradication of *Helicobacter pylori* in three different populations in Alaska. Epidemiol Infect. 143(6):1236–46. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0950268814001770</u> PMID:25068917
- 27. Ford AC, Yuan Y, Moayyedi P (2020). *Helicobacter pylori* eradication therapy to prevent gastric cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis. Gut. 69(12):2113–21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2020-320839</u> PMID:32205420
- Venerito M, Schneider C, Costanzo R, Breja R, Röhl F-W, Malfertheiner P (2018). Contribution of *Helicobacter pylori* infection to the risk of peptic ulcer bleeding in patients on nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs, antiplatelet agents, anticoagulants, corticosteroids and selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 47(11):1464–71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/apt.14652</u> <u>PMID:29655196</u>
- 29. Leja M, Dumpis U (2020). What would the screen-and-treat strategy for *Helicobacter pylori* mean in terms of antibiotic consumption? Dig Dis Sci. 65(6):1632–42. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10620-019-05893-z PMID:31659615</u>
- Wiklund AK, Santoni G, Yan J, Radkiewicz C, Xie S, Birgisson H, et al. (2024). Risk of esophageal adenocarcinoma after *Helicobacter pylori* eradication treatment in a population-based multinational cohort study. Gastroenterology. 167(3):485–492.e3. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2024.03.016</u> <u>PMID:38513743</u>
- Zuo Y, Jing Z, Bie M, Xu C, Hao X, Wang B (2020). Association between *Helicobacter pylori* infection and the risk of colorectal cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Medicine (Baltimore). 99(37):e21832. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/MD.00000000021832</u> <u>PMID:32925719</u>
- 32. Ralser A, Dietl A, Jarosch S, Engelsberger V, Wanisch A, Janssen KP, et al. (2023). *Helicobacter pylori* promotes colorectal carcinogenesis by deregulating intestinal immunity and inducing a mucus-degrading microbiota signature. Gut. 72(7):1258–70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2022-328075 PMID:37015754</u>

- Liou JM, Chen CC, Chang CM, Fang Y-J, Bair M-J, Chen P-Y, et al.; Taiwan Gastrointestinal Disease and Helicobacter Consortium (2019). Long-term changes of gut microbiota, antibiotic resistance, and metabolic parameters after *Helicobacter pylori* eradication: a multicentre, openlabel, randomised trial. Lancet Infect Dis. 19(10):1109–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(19)30272-5 PMID:31559966</u>
- 34. Guo Y, Zhang Y, Gerhard M, Gao J-J, Mejias-Luque R, Zhang L, et al. (2020). Effect of *Helicobacter pylori* on gastrointestinal microbiota: a population-based study in Linqu, a high-risk area of gastric cancer. Gut. 69(9):1598–607. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2019-319696</u> PMID:31857433
- 35. Pan KF, Li WQ, Zhang L, Liu W-D, Ma J-L, Zhang Y, et al. (2024). Gastric cancer prevention by community eradication of *Helicobacter pylori*: a cluster-randomized controlled trial. Nat Med. 30(11):3250–60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-024-03153-w PMID:39079993</u>
- 36. Blaser MJ (2016). Antibiotic use and its consequences for the normal microbiome. Science. 352(6285):544–5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aad9358</u> PMID:27126037
- 37. Liou JM, Jiang XT, Chen CC, Luo J-C, Bair M-J, Chen P-Y, et al.; Taiwan Gastrointestinal Disease and Helicobacter Consortium (2023). Second-line levofloxacin-based quadruple therapy versus bismuth-based quadruple therapy for *Helicobacter pylori* eradication and long-term changes to the gut microbiota and antibiotic resistome: a multicentre, open-label, randomised controlled trial. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 8(3):228–41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-1253(22)00384-3</u> PMID:36549320
- Hong TC, El-Omar EM, Kuo YT, Wu J-Y, Chen M-J, Chen C-C, et al.; Asian Pacific Alliance on Helicobacter and Microbiota (2024). Primary antibiotic resistance of *Helicobacter pylori* in the Asia-Pacific region between 1990 and 2022: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 9(1):56–67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-1253(23)00281-9</u> PMID:37972625
- Bujanda L, Nyssen OP, Ramos J, Bordin DS, Tepes B, Perez-Aisa A, et al.; Hp-EuReg investigators (2024). Effectiveness of *Helicobacter pylori* treatments according to antibiotic resistance. Am J Gastroenterol. 119(4):646–54. <u>https://doi.org/10.14309/ajg.00000000002600</u> <u>PMID:37983769</u>
- 40. Ministry of Health (2023). About the Ministry of Health. Wellington, New Zealand: Ministry of Health. Available from: https://www.health.govt.nz/about-us.
- 41. Whitehead M (1992). The concepts and principles of equity and health. Int J Health Serv. 22(3):429–45. <u>https://doi.org/10.2190/986L-LHQ6-2VTE-YRRN PMID:1644507</u>
- Nagel G, Linseisen J, Boshuizen HC, Pera G, Del Giudice G, Westert GP, et al. (2007). Socioeconomic position and the risk of gastric and oesophageal cancer in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC-EURGAST). Int J Epidemiol. 36(1):66– 76. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyl275 PMID:17227779</u>
- 43. Uthman OA, Jadidi E, Moradi T (2013). Socioeconomic position and incidence of gastric cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Epidemiol Community Health. 67(10):854–60. https://doi.org/10.1136/jech-2012-201108 PMID:23929615
- 44. Arnold M, Moore SP, Hassler S, Ellison-Loschmann L, Forman D, Bray F (2014). The burden of stomach cancer in indigenous populations: a systematic review and global assessment. Gut. 63(1):64–71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2013-305033 PMID:24153248</u>
- 45. McDonald AM, Sarfati D, Baker MG, Blakely T (2015). Trends in *Helicobacter pylori* infection among Māori, Pacific, and European birth cohorts in New Zealand. Helicobacter. 20(2):139–45. https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.12186 PMID:25403622
- 46. Bair MJ, Chuang SL, Lei WY, Chen C-L, Tian H-W, Chiang T-H, et al. (2020). Planning mass eradication of *Helicobacter pylori* infection for indigenous Taiwanese peoples to reduce gastric cancer. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 35(4):609–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jgh.14898 PMID:31677184</u>
- Teng AM, Blakely T, Baker MG, Sarfati D (2017). The contribution of *Helicobacter pylori* to excess gastric cancer in Indigenous and Pacific men: a birth cohort estimate. Gastric Cancer. 20(4):752– 5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10120-016-0671-8</u> PMID:27853902
- Morais S, Costa AR, Ferro A, Lunet N, Peleteiro B (2017). Contemporary migration patterns in the prevalence of *Helicobacter pylori* infection: a systematic review. Helicobacter. 22(3):e12372. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.12372</u> PMID:28098406
- 49. Harris RB, Cormack DM, Stanley J (2019). Experience of racism and associations with unmet need and healthcare satisfaction: the 2011/12 adult New Zealand Health Survey. Aust N Z J Public Health. 43(1):75–80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1753-6405.12835 PMID:30296819</u>

- Richard L, Furler J, Densley K, Haggerty J, Russell G, Levesque J-F, et al. (2016). Equity of access to primary healthcare for vulnerable populations: the IMPACT international online survey of innovations. Int J Equity Health. 15(1):64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-016-0351-7</u> PMID:27068028
- 51. Gordon SJ, Grimmer K, Bradley A, Direen T, Baker N, Marin T, et al. (2019). Health assessments and screening tools for adults experiencing homelessness: a systematic review. BMC Public Health. 19(1):994. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-019-7234-y PMID:31340786</u>
- 52. Teng AM, Kvizhinadze G, Nair N, McLeod M, Wilson N, Blakely T (2017). A screening program to test and treat for *Helicobacter pylori* infection: cost-utility analysis by age, sex and ethnicity. BMC Infect Dis. 17(1):156. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-017-2259-2</u> PMID:28219322

Chapter 9.

How to optimize the cost–benefits of *Helicobacter pylori* screenand-treat programmes for gastric cancer prevention

Iris Lansdorp-Vogelaar, Duco T. Mülder, Mário Dinis-Ribeiro, Melissa McLeod, Jin Young Park, and Yi-Chia Lee

Summary

- Decision models consistently demonstrate that an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme is a cost-effective intervention to prevent gastric cancer even in settings with a low incidence of gastric cancer (age-standardized rate < 10 cases per 100 000 person-years).
- The optimal strategy (i.e. which test, what age range, total population vs high-risk population only, and once-only vs repeat testing) varies across settings.
- Before implementation, pilot studies should be conducted to provide essential information about the local conditions of the *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme, such as the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection, testing participation, and treatment efficacy.
- Data from pilot studies, combined with data on demographics and costs, can inform decision models to optimize *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies in local settings.
- Organizers of screening programmes can consider embedding an *H. pylori* screenand-treat strategy into existing preventive care protocols, such as those for colorectal cancer screening, to enhance the efficiency of care.
- Ancillary effects of *H. pylori* eradication, such as prevention of other gastric diseases and antimicrobial resistance, may affect the cost–effectiveness of screening programmes. These effects should be considered in decision modelling and should be monitored in *H. pylori* screen-and-treat pilot programmes to obtain data on the long-term effects.





9.1 Introduction

According to the widely adopted Wilson and Jungner criteria for screening, the costs of any screening programme should be economically balanced with expenditure on medical care as a whole [1]. Therefore, the implementation of an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme should be carried out with the aim of maximizing the benefits with respect to the costs. This chapter guides health policy-makers through the optimization of the efficiency of *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes.

The chapter starts by delving into the role of decision modelling in the optimal implementation of *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes (Section 9.2) and then outlines the information that needs to be collected to enable effective decision modelling for the local context (Section 9.3). Section 9.4 discusses the currently available international evidence on the cost–effectiveness of *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes and the optimal strategies for their implementation (i.e. which test, what age range, etc.). Section 9.5 outlines the potential synergies when combining *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes the ancillary

benefits and harms of *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies and considers the broader public health implications.

9.2 The need for decision modelling and cost-effectiveness assessments

The previous chapters of this report have provided evidence that population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies are effective in reducing the burden of gastric cancer. However, as also pointed out in the European Commission recommendations for cancer screening [2], the benefits of *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes are highly dependent on the local gastric cancer burden. Moreover, the optimal strategy for an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme will depend on the local resources available and the prioritization of the programme among other health prevention interventions. However, it is not feasible to perform clinical studies that address all the variables and dimensions necessary to evaluate the benefit of every possible strategy to estimate which strategy is optimal. Therefore, it is important to find different methods to translate the findings of clinical studies to local settings, to estimate whether an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme would provide good value for money in the local setting and under what conditions; for this process, decision modelling is often used.

Decision modelling is a structured process that is used to predict the outcome of certain scenarios, and it can offer valuable insights to policy-makers and stakeholders. Decision models provide an overview of the potential outcomes (e.g. the benefits, harms, and resource requirements) of specific interventions, and thus provide valuable insights during the decision-making and implementation phases of preventive interventions. An example of the value of decision modelling is the role that the Microsimulation Screening Analysis (MISCAN) model for colorectal cancer played during the implementation of the successful colorectal cancer screening programme in the Netherlands (Box 9.1) [3].

Box 9.1. Decision modelling during the implementation of the colorectal cancer screening programme in the Netherlands

In 2009, the Health Council of the Netherlands recommended that a national colorectal cancer screening programme using biennial faecal immunochemical testing (FIT) should be implemented. The choice of the test and the cut-off level for a positive test were based on decision modelling carried out using the MISCAN model for colorectal cancer, which showed that FIT screening at low cut-off levels was the most cost-effective

strategy. The advice of the Health Council was followed by a preparation phase in which the MISCAN model was used to estimate the annual resources required for the programme, to enable the potential gaps in resource capacity to be identified. In 2014, the implementation of the programme revealed that the chosen FIT was not performing as expected, resulting in long waiting lists for colonoscopy. The MISCAN model was then used to evaluate the optimal way to address the pressure on the colonoscopy capacity; as a consequence, the cut-off level for a positive FIT result was adjusted. Since then, the colorectal cancer screening programme in the Netherlands has been considered to be one of the most successful programmes in the world in terms of its organization, participation, and yield of screening.

Decision modelling should also be used in the decision-making phase of H. pylori screen-and-treat programmes to establish for the local setting whether the benefits of the programme outweigh its harms and whether the required resources are economically balanced with the net benefits. In addition, decision modelling can be used in this phase to suggest an optimal approach to implementing the H. pylori screen-andtreat programme, i.e. for which groups within the population, at what age, with what test, and so on [4]. Which strategy will be optimal in each setting will depend on the predicted benefits (e.g. the gastric cancer incidence and mortality prevented), the harms (e.g. false-positive test results, overtreatment, and side-effects of treatment), the resource requirements (e.g. the number of breath tests and the number of antibiotic treatments), and the costs, as well as the balance between these aspects of the programme. This information can be used by policy-makers to make an informed decision about whether the H. pylori screen-and-treat programme provides good value for money and whether it should be implemented. The decision should also consider the wider implications of H. *pylori* screen-and-treat programmes, such as a potential increase in antibiotic resistance. Unfortunately, it is very challenging to account for the impact of antibiotic resistance, because very little is known about which bacterial species would be affected by population-based *H. pylori* treatment and whether this would result in an increase in serious infections.

If a positive decision on implementation has been made, decision models can then be used in the preparatory phase before implementation, to estimate the annual resource requirements for laboratory testing, drug availability, endoscopic follow-up capacity, and so on, to help in the planning of the *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme. Different roll-out schedules can be compared to best accommodate any resource constraints, and potential bottlenecks in implementation can be identified and tackled where necessary. During implementation, decision modelling can be used to compare the outcomes of the programme (and their distribution over population subgroups) with the expectations from the modelling that was carried out beforehand and/or any pilot studies. Decision modelling can also be used to evaluate how best to adjust the programme if it does not perform according to expectations. Finally, modelling can be used to make predictions about the long-term benefits of the programme. This is especially important in the light of the long lag time between the implementation of an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategy and the actual reduction in gastric cancer incidence and mortality.

These various uses clearly indicate the potential added value of decision modelling in the decision-making and implementation process of an H. pylori screen-and-treat programme. However, decision models are only helpful if the information they provide is correct. Therefore, it is important to either choose a model that has already been validated or validate a new model. Model validation consists of putting model predictions through several checks, which constitute different levels of validity [5]. For validity level 1 (face validity), model assumptions and predictions correspond to the current science and evidence, as judged by experts in the field. Validity level 2 (internal validity) checks whether the model behaves as intended and compares the model predictions with the data the model has been based on. Most models meet these two requirements for validity. However, validity level 3 (external validity) and validity level 4 (predictive validity) are used much less often and are more important. In both these types of validation, a model is used to simulate a real scenario, such as a clinical trial, and the predicted outcomes are compared with the real-world ones. The difference is that for predictive validity, a model is used to forecast events before the events have been observed. For decision-making purposes, policy-makers should ideally use information from models that have passed at least validity levels 1–3.

However, even well-constructed models are not necessarily right. Especially in situations with sparse data, multiple model assumptions may all give a good fit to the data. Nevertheless, the implications that these different assumptions can have on the effectiveness and cost–effectiveness of interventions can be substantial. An example of such a situation arose in colorectal cancer modelling [6]. Three models were all fitted to

the same data on adenoma prevalence and colorectal cancer incidence, but their predicted impact on the benefits of colorectal cancer screening was substantially different. The lack of longitudinal data on the adenoma–carcinoma sequence made it impossible to reliably estimate its duration and thus the protective effect of screening. It was not until new evidence about the effectiveness of colonoscopy screening became available that the differences could be resolved. Therefore, it is important to continuously compare models with newly available evidence and to update them where necessary.

In the meantime, it is important to perform sensitivity analysis on uncertain model parameters to assess the robustness of the conclusions from the modelling to its assumptions. A special form of sensitivity analysis involves performing comparative modelling with other, independently developed models. Whereas within-model sensitivity analyses assess the uncertainty in model parameters, between-model analyses also assess uncertainty in structural model assumptions (Box 9.2).

Box 9.2. Model comparisons in CISNET

The Cancer Intervention and Surveillance Modeling Network (CISNET) is a consortium sponsored by the United States National Cancer Institute. Investigators in CISNET independently develop decision models and compare the estimated effects of screening interventions between models. If models that differ in structure have the same results, the conclusions may be more robust. CISNET models have been compared for many diseases, such as colorectal cancer [7], breast cancer [8], and lung cancer [9], and have been used to inform screening guidelines around the world. Gastric cancer models in CISNET are under development. Using validated CISNET models for health policy analyses provides additional robustness to the obtained findings.

To enable valid decision modelling, it is important to build decision-modelling capacity in local settings and to collect the necessary data for building the model. Adherence rates to screening invitations and eradication treatment are key drivers of model outcomes. Because these rates often differ in the local setting from those assumed in models, these aspects need input from pilot programmes. Therefore, every country considering the implementation of an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme should first perform pilot studies before implementing the programme. These pilot studies provide essential information about the local conditions of the *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme, such as the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection and testing participation.

Countries should then use this information in valid decision models to estimate the resource and budget impact of implementing the *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme in their local setting. Section 9.3 addresses which data elements are essential and what tools are available to build local decision-modelling capacity.

9.3 Natural history models and data specifications for decision models

Decision models rely on robust natural history models, which describe the progression of a disease over time, from its inception through various precursor states to its ultimate outcome. The parameters of the model are used to quantify the transitions between health states and should be based on observed data. This section starts by describing the clinical assumptions and methodology that are typically used in gastric cancer natural history models. Then the types of data required to conduct country-specific modelling for health policy analyses are described.

Gastric cancer natural history models

The Correa cascade is the most widely accepted model for the progression from precursor lesions to gastric adenocarcinoma of the intestinal type, encompassing the stages of gastritis, atrophic gastritis, intestinal metaplasia, and gastric dysplasia (Fig. 9.2) [10]. Multiple systematic reviews of endoscopy studies indicate significant differences in the prevalence of these precursor lesions [11–13], with a higher prevalence of precursors in countries with a high burden of gastric cancer [13]. In addition to affecting the onset of precursor disease, exposure to risk factors, such as *H. pylori* infection, smoking, and diet, may also influence disease progression [14]. However, there is no systematic evidence that precursor progression rates differ internationally other than through these factors, which enables the generalization of this progression across countries [15]. Therefore, gastric cancer natural history models often assume similar progression rates when adjusted for risk factors.



Fig. 9.2. Health states in gastric carcinogenesis according to the Correa cascade [10]. Arrows represent transitions between health states. In natural history models, transitions often depend on exposure to risk factors such as *H. pylori* infection.

Although the Correa cascade is widely accepted, the exact proportion of gastric cancer cases that progress through this cascade remains unclear, particularly for cancers with diffuse-type histology, which remain poorly understood [10]. Nonetheless, it is important to note that both intestinal and diffuse-type gastric cancers are strongly associated with *H. pylori* infection [16]. These uncertainties should be considered when interpreting modelling estimates because they influence the modelled proportion of cancers that are attributable to *H. pylori* infection and the potential impact of eradication strategies.

The transitions in the natural history models are quantified using mathematical approaches, such as the Markov model, the semi-Markov model, and microsimulation models. Although these models differ in their assumptions and complexity, they all aim to derive parameters that accurately reflect real-world data. Through calibration to the age-specific gastric cancer incidence and mortality rates, these parameters can be adjusted to reflect local disease contexts.

Developing a decision model for the local context

The aim of decision modelling is to extrapolate the findings of clinical studies to different settings and strategies. However, for valid extrapolation to a local setting, two requirements need to be met: (i) the evidence for the effectiveness of screening is available for settings that are comparable to the local situation, and (ii) good-quality data are available to inform the model parameters in the local setting. Given that most trial evidence on the long-term benefits of *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes comes from studies in Asia (see Chapter 2), long-term model results for the non-Asian context should be interpreted with caution.

With respect to data availability, access to more elaborate and detailed data enables more precise estimations. Data requirements can generally be categorized into three main groups: demographic data, disease and testing data, and outcome data (Table 9.1).

Developing and calibrating decision models are complex and time-consuming tasks that require specialized expertise in statistical modelling and epidemiology. Instead of developing independent decision models, health policy-makers are advised to collaborate with established modelling consortia, such as CISNET (see Box 9.2) or the Decision Analysis in R for Technologies in Health (DARTH) group [18]. CISNET is aiming to develop a web interface for its decision models for stakeholders around the

world to use to estimate the impact of different gastric cancer prevention interventions in their local context. Courses offered by institutions, such as the Netherlands Institute for Health Sciences [19], the Society for Medical Decision Making [20], and the Heidelberg Health Economics Summer School [21], could help to enhance the general understanding of decision modelling and the interpretation of the results of such webbased models.

Category	Data required	
Demographic data ^a	Birth tables	
	Life tables (life expectancy)	
Disease and testing data ^a	Prevalence of <i>H. pylori</i> infection by age	
	Gastric cancer incidence by localization (cardia vs non-cardia) and histology (intestinal vs diffuse) by age	
	Observed cancer stage distribution	
	Stage-specific cancer survival	
	Testing participation in pilot studies (initial participation and treatment adherence)	
Outcome data	Costs of and costs associated with the test and the procedure	
	Treatment costs (stage-specific, ideally split by phase of care)	
	Estimates of disutility per test procedure ^b	
	Stage-specific estimates of disutility to gastric cancer	

Table 9.1. General data requirements for cost-effectiveness modelling

^a Data should be reported stratified by variables of interest, such as sex, geographical region, socioeconomic status, or migration history.

^b Disutility in the context of an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategy refers to the negative aspects of the screening for individuals, such as physical discomfort related to antibiotic treatment and mental distress about the cancer risk [17]. If unavailable, proxies based on existing literature could be considered for use in decision modelling.

9.4 Current evidence from decision modelling for *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies

Although decision modelling should always be re-evaluated for optimization to the local context, some lessons can be learned from existing decision-modelling studies. In particular, when results are found to be robust across settings with different prevalence

of *H. pylori* infection and risk of gastric cancer, it is likely that these results are generalizable to the local setting.

Generally, most decision modelling in the academic literature on *H. pylori* is limited to one aspect of decision modelling: cost–effectiveness analysis. A cost–effectiveness analysis presents the costs and effects of an intervention compared with an alternative using cost–effectiveness ratios. The denominator of the ratio measures the health gain from the intervention, and the numerator measures the costs of obtaining that health gain. Health gains are often expressed as life years gained or quality-adjusted life years (QALYs) gained. Interventions that have a better balance between costs and life years gained (i.e. provide better value for money) are preferred over alternative interventions and are considered cost-effective. An intervention is considered to be cost saving if it results in health gains and the costs of obtaining that health gain are actually negative. Negative costs occur if the future health-care savings from gastric cancer prevention exceed the initial investment for an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategy.

Although traditional cost–effectiveness analyses often focus on cost–effectiveness as the primary output, there is a growing body of literature on cost–effectiveness analysis methods that can additionally consider the distributional and equity impacts of interventions [4, 22]. Two key examples of these methods are distributional cost– effectiveness analysis and extended cost–effectiveness analysis.

Distributional cost–effectiveness analysis involves modelling an intervention by population subgroup, incorporating a measure of opportunity cost, and then using relative and absolute measures of inequality to identify the service configuration that maximizes health while also minimizing "unfair" health inequality [23]. This method has been used to examine different invitation strategies for the United Kingdom bowel cancer screening programme [24].

Extended cost-effectiveness analysis is an approach that has been developed to address equity concerns relating to medical impoverishment in low- and middle-income countries, where most health care is funded through out-of-pocket payments [25, 26]. In addition to assessing the distribution of health gains by income levels, it measures non-health benefits by quantifying the amount of household expenditure averted through a publicly financed programme (with associated changes to intervention uptake and outcomes), as well as a measure of the financial risk protection afforded (and the distribution of this across the strata of wealth) if the intervention was funded through public financing. Extended cost-effectiveness analysis has been used across a range of

interventions in low- and middle-income countries, including, but not limited to, tuberculosis treatment [25], tobacco taxation [27], rotavirus vaccine [28, 29], and provision of clean water and improved sanitation [30].

Evidence for the cost–effectiveness of H. pylori screen-and-treat strategies for gastric cancer prevention

This section summarizes the current evidence from decision modelling with respect to *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies. First, studies are considered that assess the cost–effectiveness of an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategy compared with no intervention. Then, studies are evaluated that compare different *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies to evaluate which strategies provide better value for money than others.

Four reviews have assessed the cost-effectiveness of *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies [31–34]. Three reviews included studies from countries all over the world, with very different prevalence of *H. pylori* infection and burden of gastric cancer [31, 32, 34]. One review specifically focused on the cost-effectiveness in countries in Europe, North America, and Oceania with lower burdens of *H. pylori* infection and gastric cancer [33]. All four reviews concluded that an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategy is cost-effective in reducing gastric cancer incidence and mortality. Since the most recent review, which included studies until 2021, five additional studies have been published that evaluate the cost-effectiveness of H. pylori screen-and-treat strategies to prevent gastric cancer (Table 9.2). Four of these studies found that *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies resulted not only in life years gained from gastric cancer prevention but also in cost savings compared with no testing. In the fifth study, *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies were not found to save costs, but they still resulted in a favourable balance between the additional costs and benefits compared with no testing. Of the 18 studies included in the reviews, only two found that *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies resulted in net cost savings compared with a situation without testing. In these studies, cost savings from preventing dyspepsia were also considered in addition to those from preventing gastric cancer.

Reference	Country	Population simulated	Strategies evaluated	Test characteristics	Test costs	Costs per LY or QALY
Oh et al. (2022) [40]	USA	Cohort of people aged 40 years	¹³ C-UBT and PCR	¹³ C-UBT sensitivity: 96%	¹³ C-UBT: US\$ 76	¹³ C-UBT: US\$ 116
				¹³ C-UBT specificity: 93%	PCR: US\$ 604	PCR: US\$ 2373
				PCR sensitivity: 100%		
				PCR specificity: 98%		
Yousefi et al. (2023) [37] 	Islamic Republic of Iran	Population faged ≥ 20 years	Endoscopy, serology, ¹³ C-UBT, and SAT	Serology sensitivity: 90%	Serology: US\$ 5	Serology: cost saving
				Serology specificity: 80%	¹³ C-UBT: US\$ 17	¹³ C-UBT: US\$ 78
				¹³ C-UBT sensitivity: 96%	SAT: US\$ 3	SAT: cost saving
				¹³ C-UBT specificity: 93%		
				SAT sensitivity: 94%		
				SAT specificity: 92%		
Feng et al. (2022) [92]	China	Cohort of people aged 20 years	¹³ C-UBT annually, every 3 years, every 5 years, or once only	¹³ C-UBT sensitivity: 96%	¹³ C-UBT: US\$ 21	Once only: cost saving
				¹³ C-UBT specificity: 94%		
Kowada and Asaka (2022) [93]	Japan	Population aged 20– 80 years	Serology	Sensitivity: 93%	Serology:	Cost saving:
				Specificity: 99.5%	US\$ 8	US\$ 494, depending on age
Wang et al.	China	Population	Serology	Sensitivity: 93%	¥30	Cost saving
(2022) [94]		aged 40– 69 years		Specificity: 90.5%		

 Table 9.2.
 Overview of studies on the cost–effectiveness of *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies

 published after the most recent reviews until 2021

LY, life year; PCR, polymerase chain reaction; QALY, quality-adjusted life year; SAT, stool antigen test; UBT, urea breath test.

The gastric cancer burden plays an important role in evaluating the costeffectiveness of *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies. When the burden of disease is high, more deaths can be prevented with the same number of tests, resulting in a more favourable balance between the benefits and the resources required. The four recent studies showing that *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies resulted in cost savings from preventing gastric cancer were all performed in countries with an age-standardized rate (ASR) of gastric cancer incidence of > 10 per 100 000 person-years: China (2 studies), Japan (1 study), and the Islamic Republic of Iran (1 study). Nevertheless, also in countries with a low incidence of gastric cancer (i.e. ASR < 10 per 100 000 personyears) [35], *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies have been found to be cost-effective. As mentioned earlier, one review specifically focused on the cost-effectiveness of H. pylori screen-and-treat strategies in countries in Europe, North America, and Oceania with a low incidence of gastric cancer [33]. This review included nine studies on H. pylori screen-and-treat strategies. Despite the differences in model assumptions, the studies were quite consistent in their findings that H. pylori screen-and-treat strategies are costeffective in reducing gastric cancer mortality in the investigated countries. Except for one study, all the studies found that the costs were < US\$ 25 000 per life year or QALY gained. These findings suggest that *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies may provide good value for money around the world. Although H. pylori screen-and-treat strategies were found to be cost-effective across all settings, the costs per life year gained were typically lower in the studies performed in high-risk areas (Fig. 9.3). One study explicitly studied the impact of prevalence of *H. pylori* infection and burden of gastric cancer on the cost-effectiveness of H. pylori screen-and-treat strategies [36]. This study concluded that in countries with intermediate to high gastric cancer incidence (in this study, ASR ≥ 17 per 100 000 person-years), H. pylori screen-and-treat strategies would be cost saving. However, the study also showed that even in countries with low gastric cancer incidence (in this study, ASR of 6 per 100 000 person-years), H. pylori screen-and-treat strategies resulted in a favourable balance between costs and health benefits.

None of the reviews included here have performed formal quality assessments of the decision-modelling studies mentioned, and the Working Group has not engaged in such an endeavour. Nevertheless, the consistency of the findings that *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies are cost-effective across studies provides additional confidence in the validity and robustness of these findings.



Fig. 9.3. Costs per life year (LY) gained (incremental cost–effectiveness ratio, ICER) plotted against the gastric cancer incidence level in the country of study. Studies demonstrating cost savings are artificially depicted as negative costs per LY gained.

Optimizing the cost–effectiveness of H. pylori screen-and-treat strategies for gastric cancer prevention

As can be seen in the previously mentioned reviews and in Table 9.2, studies differ with respect to the tests used for *H. pylori* testing (serology, urea breath test [¹³C-UBT], or stool antigen test [SAT]; see Chapter 5), the age range of testing, and/or the test frequency (once-only or repeat testing). When *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies are implemented, decisions need to be made about these aspects and about the treatment regimen for eradication (see Chapter 6): which drugs to use, whether to eradicate all *H. pylori* or only CagA-positive *H. pylori*, whether to perform confirmation of eradication, and whether to perform resistance testing before eradication. This section summarizes the results of decision-modelling studies that compare these attributes to inform policy-makers on which strategies provide the best value for money, i.e. which approach is most cost-effective.

Comparative cost–effectiveness of different H. pylori *tests*

Three studies directly compared the ¹³C-UBT with serology testing, and two of these studies also considered the SAT [37–39]. In all three studies, a strategy based on the ¹³C-UBT was associated with higher costs than serology testing. However, the ¹³C-UBT was also more effective in preventing gastric cancer incidence and mortality and thus resulting in more life years gained. In one study, these extra benefits weighed favourably against the extra costs [37]. In the other two studies, the incremental costs per QALY exceeded the willingness-to-pay threshold, implying that the ¹³C-UBT did not provide good value for money compared with serology testing [38, 39]. Both the studies that compared the SAT with serology testing and the ¹³C-UBT concluded that the SAT was more effective than serology testing. One study also found the SAT to be less expensive [37], and the other found it to be highly cost-effective [39].

Another study compared the ¹³C-UBT with polymerase chain reaction (PCR) testing of gastric biopsies and concluded that PCR testing is cost-effective for gastric cancer prevention [40]. However, PCR testing of gastric biopsies is an invasive strategy. Moreover, serology testing and the SAT were not considered in this analysis. If these strategies had been considered, this may have resulted in a less favourable balance between the costs and benefits (QALYs gained) of PCR testing compared with these strategies.

In conclusion, there is limited evidence on the optimal test for *H. pylori* screen-andtreat strategies for gastric cancer prevention, with only four decision-modelling studies that performed direct comparisons between tests. These studies suggest that the SAT may be preferred over serology testing from a cost–effectiveness perspective. However, in general all tests were found to be cost-effective for gastric cancer prevention compared with no testing, and none of the tests consistently dominated in all of the analyses. This finding suggests that the choice of the test may be based on the local setting and resource considerations rather than on cost–effectiveness.

Comparative cost–effectiveness of H. pylori screen-and-treat strategies at different ages

Six studies compared the cost–effectiveness of *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies in different age groups in the population [36, 41–45]. Two studies concluded that it was optimal to test for *H. pylori* infection at a young age (20 years or 30 years), because *H. pylori* testing in older cohorts was both less effective and less cost-effective [36, 41].

Both these studies were performed in high-incidence settings (ASR ≥ 20 per 100 000 person-years). The other studies, mostly conducted in low-incidence settings (ASR < 10 per 100 000 person-years), also found *H. pylori* testing to be more effective at these younger ages, but this effectiveness was accompanied by higher costs per life year gained. Therefore, they suggested ages for *H. pylori* testing of between 40 years and 50 years. These findings suggest that in low-incidence settings, *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies might not be cost-effective in younger birth cohorts, whereas they may be cost-effective in high-incidence settings. However, an important caveat with these findings is that many studies compared different screening ages across different birth cohorts. Given the high correlation between birth cohort and gastric cancer risk, this may indicate that it is more cost-effective to screen older birth cohorts, rather than older people. Therefore, more studies on the optimal age of screening within the same birth cohort are needed.

Comparative cost-effectiveness of once-only versus repeat testing for H. pylori

The evidence on repeat *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies was even more limited. The purpose of repeat testing may be to account for infection or reinfection or for failed eradication therapy. Two studies evaluated repeat *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies [36, 41]. The studies considered different intervals (varying from 1 year to 10 years) and frequencies (one repeat vs multiple repeats) for repeat testing. Both studies concluded that the extra benefits of repeat testing did not outweigh the extra resources required. Evidence on reinfection rates is scarce, although the rates are estimated to be < 1% [46]. In the absence of strong evidence, policy-makers can best implement a once-only *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategy. However, pilot studies within these programmes, in which a subset of individuals are rescreened after 5–10 years, should be considered to fill this important gap in knowledge and to inform future modelling.

Comparative cost–effectiveness of different management strategies of individuals who screen positive for H. pylori

None of the cost–effectiveness analyses of *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies compared different eradication therapy regimens or the benefits of resistance testing before initiating treatment. However, one study addressed the incremental cost–effectiveness of confirmatory testing of successful eradication [47], and one study addressed restricting treatment to only those individuals who tested CagA-positive [48].

The first study explicitly compared serology testing with and without confirmatory testing 6 weeks after eradication therapy [47]. Under the assumption that the initial eradication therapy had an effectiveness of 80%, the scenario with the confirmatory test resulted in more life years gained than the serology-only strategy, but it had substantially higher costs. This finding suggests that in settings in which the eradication rate of the initial therapy is > 80%, confirmatory testing is not cost-effective. However, without confirmatory testing in at least a sample of the population, it is not possible to establish the *H. pylori* eradication rate (see Chapter 6).

The other study evaluated the cost–effectiveness of screening for and treating either all *H. pylori* strains or only CagA-positive strains [48]. Testing and treating only individuals with CagA-positive infection reduced the number treated, the number of cases of anaphylaxis, and the overall costs of the screen-and-treat strategy, but it also reduced the number of cancers prevented and the life years gained. In all countries for which it was evaluated, the incremental cost–effectiveness ratio for treating all *H. pylori* strains compared with treating only CagA-positive strains was < US\$ 25 100 per life year gained. These results suggest that it is better to screen for and treat all *H. pylori*, rather than only CagA-positive *H. pylori*.

9.5 Synergies with other existing preventive interventions

Combining programmes to enhance the efficiency of care

It is well established that some screening programmes lead to improved survival of patients with cancer. However, to achieve this benefit, the participation of asymptomatic individuals in screening is of paramount importance. A one-stop-shop approach to screening for multiple cancers has been hypothesized to lead to increased participation by reducing time and cost [49]. In Israel, a proof of principle of such an approach has been implemented. The satisfaction with the approach was high (> 8 on a 10-point scale), and in the first year of the programme three quarters of the cancers were detected through the screening, and most of them were in early stages [50]. However, these results should be interpreted with caution, because the patients were self-referrals and only 26% of the patients returned for repeat screening.

An alternative approach for achieving synergies between preventive interventions is by combining *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies with primary prevention interventions, such as combining smoking cessation interventions with lung cancer screening [51] or combining human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccination with cervical cancer screening [52]. Similarly, for gastric cancer, combined preventive interventions with existing screening and primary prevention programmes could be envisaged.

Combining H. pylori screen-and-treat programmes with colorectal cancer screening

One potential synergistic approach for *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes is the combination with colorectal cancer screening. Many colorectal cancer screening programmes around the world are based on the non-invasive collection of stool samples, and this would combine well with the SAT. The feasibility of a combined approach has been established both in Asia [53] and in Europe [54]. One study demonstrated that *H. pylori* antigen measurement can be performed in FIT stool samples with a similar test performance to that of the standard SAT [54]. Because FIT is widely used in clinical practice, this approach may conveniently enable dual prevention of cancer in both the upper and lower gastrointestinal tracts.

The SAT has been combined with FIT to screen both upper and lower gastrointestinal lesions in a population with a high prevalence of digestive tract diseases [53]. Three scenarios were compared in a hospital cohort: using the SAT in all individuals, using the SAT only in those with a negative FIT result, or using the SAT only in those with a negative FIT result, or using the SAT only in those with a negative tract diseases gastric cancer did not differ and was about 50%. In this study, three quarters of gastric cancers were diagnosed as stage I–II disease. In the same study but within a validation community cohort, the positive predictive value for upper gastrointestinal lesions using the SAT was about 32%.

A randomized clinical trial in which about 150 000 people were invited to participate in either the SAT plus FIT or FIT alone demonstrated that the participation rate increased by about 14% for FIT combined with the SAT compared with FIT alone [55]. This implies that combined screening attracts a larger proportion of individuals to engage in the screening programme. Therefore, using the existing FIT screening framework may be advantageous (Table 9.3). **Table 9.3.** Potential advantages of using the FIT programme as the foundation for offering screening and treatment for *H. pylori* infection for gastric cancer prevention

Category	Potential advantage
Eligibility	The eligibility criteria for FIT are shifting towards younger ages, at which <i>H. pylori</i> treatment is considered to be of greater benefit.
Invitation	Stool sample-based tests are more acceptable and accessible for people compared with invasive procedures such as endoscopy.
Participation	The participation rate for FIT may be increased by adding <i>H. pylori</i> stool antigen tests.
Testing	Both tests use stool samples, making it easy to distribute them together.
Management	The management of <i>H. pylori</i> infection has been well established.
Cost– effectiveness	The direct and indirect costs of <i>H. pylori</i> testing can be reduced by leveraging the established FIT screening platform.

FIT, faecal immunochemical testing.

The effectiveness of using the FIT programme to offer *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies depends on the screening age. Although most colorectal cancer screening programmes begin at age 50 years [56], the best age to apply *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies is uncertain. Some studies have suggested that treating *H. pylori* infection has the most impact before the onset of precursor lesions or when precursor lesions are less severe [57]. If this is the case, it seems likely that the optimal *H. pylori* screening age is lower than the starting age of colorectal cancer screening. However, the continuation of the current trend towards starting colorectal cancer screening earlier could lead to more potential for synergistic effects in future screening programmes.

The randomized clinical trial that evaluated the addition of the SAT to FIT included participants with an average age of 58 years [55]. In this trial, an invitation to the *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme reduced gastric cancer incidence by 14% among invited individuals, although the reduction was not statistically significant. However, in post hoc analyses, adjusted for non-adherence to the invitation, a statistically significant reduction of 21% in gastric cancer incidence was observed [58]. These analyses should be considered exploratory because of the potential healthy-screenee bias. Nevertheless, these findings suggest that an intervention age of 50 years may not be too late to achieve meaningful reductions in gastric cancer risk.

This Working Group Report is focused on an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat approach as a strategy for gastric cancer prevention. However, a section on synergistic approaches

would not be complete without also considering alternative strategies for gastric cancer prevention, which can be combined with existing preventive initiatives. In addition to combined faecal testing, colorectal cancer screening provides a second synergistic approach to gastric cancer prevention, by directly combining upper gastrointestinal endoscopy with colonoscopy, either for primary screening or after a positive FIT result. This approach has been evaluated in decision-modelling analyses in regions with intermediate risk (i.e. ASR of 10–20 per 100 000 person-years) and found to be cost-effective [35, 59–61]. Pilot studies are currently being conducted at a European level to clinically evaluate this approach, for example in the Towards Gastric Cancer Screening Implementation in the European Union (TOGAS) study [62] (see Chapter 3.5). This approach has the additional advantage that the entire upper gastrointestinal segment can be visualized, allowing the identification of individuals at risk of oesophageal adenocarcinoma (i.e. Barrett oesophagus) [61].

Combinations with alternative interventions to reduce gastric cancer

Another option to enhance the efficacy of an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat approach is to combine the *H. pylori* serological assessment with another blood-based assessment of the gastric mucosa, i.e. testing for pepsinogens. This has been explored extensively in Japan in the ABCD method [63] and has also been evaluated in a multicentre randomized study in Latvia [62] (see also Chapter 3.2). The ABCD method uses the positivity of serological assessment of pepsinogen I and pepsinogen II together with a negative test for *H. pylori* antibodies as a marker of long-term exposure to gastric atrophic changes. The study in Latvia planned to randomize about 30 000 individuals to either no intervention or an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat approach in combination with serological determination of pepsinogen levels and endoscopic follow-up of individuals who test positive for pepsinogen [62].

Combining H. pylori screen-and-treat strategies with primary prevention interventions

Common risk factors (e.g. smoking and obesity) exist between digestive cancers and other cancers, as well as cardiovascular or metabolic causes of death. These commonalities may well justify the exploration of an even broader approach of merging primary prevention initiatives with cancer screening programmes. *H. pylori* infection is associated with an unhealthy diet and other lifestyle factors. Combining *H. pylori*

eradication with interventions to encourage diet and lifestyle modifications could benefit overall health and help prevent multiple diseases.

9.6 Ancillary effects of *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies

Previous chapters have outlined the proven impact of *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies on reducing the burden of gastric cancer. However, *H. pylori* infection is also associated with other malignant and benign diseases. Conversely, *H. pylori* eradication may have negative ancillary effects, of which antimicrobial resistance is the most substantial concern. This section discusses the ancillary benefits and harms of *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies and their potential effects on the cost–effectiveness of screening programmes (Table 9.4).

Condition	Postulated effect on cost–effectiveness	Magnitude of the effect on the cost–effectiveness of <i>H. pylori</i> screen-and-treat strategies
Peptic ulcer disease	Positive	Demonstrated and substantial impact, because of relatively high disease incidence.
Gastric lymphomas	Positive	Demonstrated impact. Impact may be modest because of rarity of disease.
Dyspepsia	Positive	Demonstrated and substantial impact, because of relatively high disease incidence.
Iron-deficiency anaemia	Positive	Demonstrated impact on patients with <i>H. pylori</i> infection. Impact on cost–effectiveness is unclear.
Colorectal cancer	Positive	Despite association between <i>H. pylori</i> infection and colorectal cancer, impact of eradication on colorectal cancer incidence is unclear.
Antimicrobial resistance	Negative	Large potential impact, because of its broader population health effects. Magnitude of the effect is unclear.
Oesophageal cancer	Negative	Strong evidence that <i>H. pylori</i> eradication does not affect oesophageal cancer.
Asthma	Negative	No evidence that <i>H. pylori</i> eradication affects asthma prevalence.

Table 9.4. Overview of the ancillary effects of *H. pylori* eradication relevant to cost–effectiveness

Ancillary benefits of H. pylori screen-and-treat strategies

Because *H. pylori* infection is associated with diseases other than gastric cancer, *H. pylori* eradication may also prevent these other conditions and, as a consequence, affect the cost–effectiveness of interventions. Although Section 9.2 suggested that *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies are cost-effective across settings, the balance between the benefits and harms may be less clear in countries with a low incidence of gastric cancer. Consequently, the ancillary benefits of *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies are
particularly relevant for informing policy discussions in countries with a low risk of gastric cancer (see also Chapter 2).

Peptic ulcer disease

Peptic ulcer disease significantly impairs well-being and aspects of health-related quality of life, and it is associated with high costs for employers and health-care systems [64]. The global incidence of peptic ulcer disease is estimated to be 0.03–0.17% per year, with a lifetime risk of 5–10% per person [65, 66]. *H. pylori* infection has been identified as one of the primary causes of peptic ulcer disease. Therefore, an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat approach is the recommended treatment for patients diagnosed with peptic ulcer disease [67]. Despite this, the evidence on the preventive effect of *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes on incidence of peptic ulcer disease is limited. A study showed that population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes reduced the incidence of peptic ulcer disease by 67% (95% confidence interval [CI], 52.2–77.8%) [68], and a modelling study showed that the reduction in incidence of peptic ulcer disease affected the cost–effectiveness of *H. pylori* eradication programmes [43].

Gastric lymphomas

Gastric lymphomas, such as mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue (MALT) lymphomas, are a rare type of cancer. Therefore, many aspects of this neoplasm are controversial. *H. pylori* infection has been identified as a cause, and case–control studies have shown an association between *H. pylori* infection and gastric lymphomas [69]. About 60–70% of gastric MALT lymphomas that are associated with *H. pylori* infection regress after antibiotic treatment [70]; this provides compelling evidence for the benefits of *H. pylori* eradication in preventing these gastric malignancies. Although a reduction in gastric lymphomas after *H. pylori* eradication is anticipated, the magnitude of this reduction on a population level would be limited because of the rarity of this disease.

Dyspepsia

Multiple reviews have demonstrated that *H. pylori* eradication could provide a small benefit to patients with non-ulcer dyspepsia (indigestion or heartburn) [71, 72]. Although trial evidence on the preventive effect of the *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategy on dyspepsia is limited, modelling studies have shown that additional savings from prevented cases of dyspepsia could substantially improve the cost–effectiveness of *H. pylori* eradication, particularly in low-risk countries [44, 73].

Iron-deficiency anaemia

Iron-deficiency anaemia is a common nutritional deficiency and may also be caused by *H. pylori* infection. The pooled odds ratio for developing iron-deficiency anaemia is estimated to be 2.22 (95% CI, 1.52–3.24) [74]. Another review estimated that treating *H. pylori* infection significantly improved haemoglobin, serum iron, and serum ferritin concentrations [75]. Although these results suggest that *H. pylori* eradication could be effective in improving anaemia in patients with *H. pylori* infection, the magnitude of the potential preventive effect is unclear.

Colorectal cancer

Although multiple systematic reviews have demonstrated an association between *H. pylori* infection and colorectal cancer, evidence on causality is weak. One review found an odds ratio of 1.70 (95% CI, 1.64–1.76), and another review found an odds ratio of 1.44 (95% CI, 1.26–1.65) [76, 77]. However, these studies do not prove a causal link between *H. pylori* infection and colorectal cancer. Although some studies in animals indicate a potential causal relationship, other studies based on Mendelian randomization do not support this causation [78, 79]. Furthermore, there are no studies demonstrating that eradicating *H. pylori* infection reduces the incidence of colorectal cancer. Therefore, it is unclear whether *H. pylori* eradication has any effect on colorectal cancer incidence.

Ancillary harms of H. pylori screen-and-treat strategies

Antimicrobial resistance

None of the current cost–effectiveness analyses have considered the impact of widespread *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies on antimicrobial resistance. Several studies have shown that antimicrobial resistance has a substantial impact on morbidity, mortality, and costs of infectious diseases worldwide [80, 81]. If widespread antibiotic use in an *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategy leads to increases in antimicrobial resistance, the current cost–effectiveness may be overestimated (see Chapter 7). Given the current uncertainties about antimicrobial resistance, observational evidence is needed before cost–effectiveness models can incorporate antimicrobial resistance into their estimates.

Oesophageal cancer

The current evidence does not support the hypothesis that population-based *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies increase the risk of oesophageal cancer. Because of diverging trends in gastric cancer and oesophageal cancer incidence [82], it has been suggested that there may be a protective effect of *H. pylori* on oesophageal cancer. A systematic review found a statistically significant negative association between *H. pylori* infection and oesophageal cancer [83]. However, a recent large multinational cohort study demonstrated that the incidence rate of oesophageal adenocarcinoma did not increase over time after *H. pylori* eradication [84]. These results suggest that *H. pylori* eradication may be safe from the perspective of oesophageal cancer (see Chapter 2) and thus may not affect the cost–effectiveness.

Asthma

It has been proposed that being exposed to infections in the early phase of life is essential for the normal maturation of the immune response [85]. The "disappearing microbiota" hypothesis suggests that the reduction in certain types of microbiota, such as *H. pylori*, therefore contributes to the development of some diseases, such as allergic asthma [86]. However, a systematic review concluded that the corresponding evidence for an association between *H. pylori* infection and asthma prevalence is weak in both children and adults [87]. Therefore, the current evidence does not support the notion that the eradication of *H. pylori* would affect the risk of asthma or that it would affect the cost–effectiveness of *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes.

9.7 Gaps in the evidence

H. pylori infection is known to be the major contributor to gastric cancer. Efforts to combat *H. pylori* infection should replicate the success seen in other primary prevention programmes that target the elimination of well-known risk factors, such as HPV, hepatitis B virus, and hepatitis C virus [88]. As this chapter shows, modelling suggests that *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies are cost-effective interventions across various settings. Decision models should be used to extrapolate these findings and optimize the efficiency of the programmes according to the local cancer burden. However, some gaps in the evidence remain. Addressing these could further optimize the allocation of health-care resources.

Current questions about the cost–effectiveness of H. pylori screen-and-treat strategies for gastric cancer prevention

Although more than 23 cost–effectiveness analyses have been performed for *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies, considerable gaps in knowledge still exist. First, none of the cost–effectiveness analyses have considered the impact of widespread *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies on antimicrobial resistance. Second, only two cost–effectiveness studies have considered additional benefits of *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies on peptic ulcer disease and dyspepsia [89, 90]. The impact of these ancillary benefits and harms on the cost–effectiveness of *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies could be considerable (see Section 9.6). Finally, none of the cost–effectiveness analyses have examined the impact of *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes on health inequalities between subgroups of the target population, such as racial or ethnic minorities or those with lower socioeconomic positions.

Most of the studies included in this chapter have only estimated the costeffectiveness of one particular strategy for *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes. The maximum number of strategies considered did not exceed five. However, many questions remain about the most cost-effective approach to implementing *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes. This includes questions about which test to use, what age range to screen, with what frequency to screen, with what treatment regimen to eradicate, and whether to test for resistance before treatment or for successful eradication after treatment.

Questions about the implementation of H. pylori screen-and-treat strategies for gastric cancer prevention

Cost–effectiveness is only one part of the financial question for a screening programme; the budget impact of the strategy is at least as important. An intervention can be highly cost-effective or even cost saving (i.e. better health outcomes at lower costs). However, the savings occur later on, and the investments are needed before the start of the programme. To date, no studies have been performed to help policy-makers gain insights into the annual resource requirements of *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes.

In addition to cost–effectiveness and budget impact, the feasibility and successful implementation depend on access to health-care facilities and the availability of trained personnel and follow-up care. A decision analysis measures not only costs and benefits

but also the intermediate aspects of the screening process, such as the number of *H. pylori* tests needed, the number of antibiotic treatments needed, hospital visits, and so on. This information will help policy-makers prepare to ensure the availability of resources and health professionals who are adequately trained to perform their role in the *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programme. Such information is especially important in the light of recent shortages of health-care personnel and antibiotics [91].

Future directions

New observational evidence and comprehensive decision-modelling analyses can play a role in filling the knowledge gaps identified here. These studies, which capture both the negative and positive ancillary effects of *H. pylori* screen-and-treat strategies, could provide a final verdict on the balance between the benefits, the harms, and the resources required for these strategies. They could be used to evaluate the optimal way to implement the programmes and could provide policy-makers with estimates of what resources are needed for the successful implementation of the programme. In Europe, the first step in this direction is being taken with the TOGAS project and the European Joint Action on Cancer Screening (EUCanScreen). Both these projects combine local pilot studies with decision modelling to provide policy-makers throughout Europe with essential information to enable them to make informed decisions about *H. pylori* screen-and-treat programmes.

References

- Andermann A, Blancquaert I, Beauchamp S, Déry V (2008). Revisiting Wilson and Jungner in the genomic age: a review of screening criteria over the past 40 years. Bull World Health Organ. 86(4):317–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.2471/BLT.07.050112</u> <u>PMID:18438522</u>
- 2. European Commission (2022). Cancer screening in the European Union. Brussels, Belgium: Publications Office of the European Union. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.2777/052716</u>.
- van Hees F, Zauber AG, van Veldhuizen H, Heijnen M-LA, Penning C, de Koning HJ, et al. (2015). The value of models in informing resource allocation in colorectal cancer screening: the case of The Netherlands. Gut. 64(12):1985–97. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutinl-2015-309316</u> PMID:26063755
- Cookson R, Mirelman AJ, Griffin S, Asaria M, Dawkins B, Norheim OF, et al. (2017). Using costeffectiveness analysis to address health equity concerns. Value Health. 20(2):206–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jval.2016.11.027 PMID:28237196
- Eddy DM, Hollingworth W, Caro JJ, Tsevat J, McDonald KM, Wong JB; ISPOR-SMDM Modeling Good Research Practices Task Force (2012). Model transparency and validation: a report of the ISPOR-SMDM Modeling Good Research Practices Task Force-7. Med Decis Making. 32(5):733–43. https://doi.org/10.1177/0272989X12454579 PMID:22990088
- van Ballegooijen M, Rutter CM, Knudsen AB, Zauber AG, Savarino JE, Lansdorp-Vogelaar I, et al. (2011). Clarifying differences in natural history between models of screening: the case of colorectal cancer. Med Decis Making. 31(4):540–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0272989X11408915</u> <u>PMID:21673187</u>
- Rutter CM, Knudsen AB, Marsh TL, Doria-Rose VP, Johnson E, Pabiniak C, et al. (2016). Validation of models used to inform colorectal cancer screening guidelines: accuracy and implications. Med Decis Making. 36(5):604–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0272989X15622642</u> <u>PMID:26746432</u>
- Trentham-Dietz A, Alagoz O, Chapman C, Huang X, Jayasekera J, van Ravesteyn NT, et al.; Breast Working Group of the Cancer Intervention and Surveillance Modeling Network (CISNET) (2021). Reflecting on 20 years of breast cancer modeling in CISNET: recommendations for future cancer systems modeling efforts. PLoS Comput Biol. 17(6):e1009020. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1009020</u> PMID:34138842
- 9. Ten Haaf K, de Nijs K, Simoni G, Alban A, Cao P, Sun Z, et al. (2024). The impact of model assumptions on personalized lung cancer screening recommendations. Med Decis Making. 44(5):497–511. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0272989X241249182</u> PMID:38738534
- Correa P (1992). Human gastric carcinogenesis: a multistep and multifactorial process first American Cancer Society Award Lecture on Cancer Epidemiology and Prevention. Cancer Res. 52(24):6735–40.
 <u>PMID:1458460</u>
- 11. Marques-Silva L, Areia M, Elvas L, Dinis-Ribeiro M (2014). Prevalence of gastric precancerous conditions: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 26(4):378–87. https://doi.org/10.1097/MEG.00000000000065 PMID:24569821
- Altayar O, Davitkov P, Shah SC, Gawron AJ, Morgan DR, Turner K, et al. (2020). AGA technical review on gastric intestinal metaplasia – epidemiology and risk factors. Gastroenterology. 158(3):732– 744.e16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2019.12.002</u> <u>PMID:31816301</u>
- Mülder DT, Hahn Al, Huang RJ, Zhou MJ, Blake B, Omofuma O, et al. (2024). Prevalence of gastric precursor lesions in countries with differential gastric cancer burden: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 22(8):1605–1617.e46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cgh.2024.02.023 PMID:38438000
- 14. Trédaniel J, Boffetta P, Buiatti E, Saracci R, Hirsch A (1997). Tobacco smoking and gastric cancer: review and meta-analysis. Int J Cancer. 72(4):565–73. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0215(19970807)72:4<565::AID-IJC3>3.0.CO;2-O PMID:9259392</u>
- Hahn AI, Mülder DT, Huang RJ, Zhou MJ, Blake B, Omofuma O, et al. (2024). Global progression rates of precursor lesions for gastric cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. S1542-3565(24)00864-4. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cgh.2024.09.003</u> <u>PMID:39362617</u>
- 16. Piazuelo MB, Carneiro F, Camargo MC (2023). Considerations in comparing intestinal- and diffuse-type gastric adenocarcinomas. Helicobacter. 28(3):e12975. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.12975</u> PMID:36965033
- 17. Li L, Severens JLH, Mandrik O (2019). Disutility associated with cancer screening programs: a systematic review. PLoS One. 14(7):e0220148. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0220148</u>. <u>PMID:31339958</u>

- Alarid-Escudero F, Krijkamp EM, Pechlivanoglou P, Jalal H, Kao SZ, Yang A, et al. (2019). A need for change! A coding framework for improving transparency in decision modeling. Pharmacoeconomics. 37(11):1329–39. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40273-019-00837-x</u> PMID:31549359
- 19. Erasmus MC Netherlands Institute for Health Sciences (2025). Advanced decision modeling [EL006]. Available from: https://www.nihes.com/course/el006 advanced decision modeling/.
- 20. Society for Medical Decision Making (2024). SMDM core course: introduction to medical decision analysis (decision-analytic modeling). Available from: <u>https://smdm.org/hub/page/smdm-core-course-introduction-to-medical-decision-analysis-decision-analyti/education-career-tools</u>.
- 21. INOMICS (2024). Heidelberg Health Economics Summer School. Available from: https://inomics.com/course/heidelberg-health-economics-summer-school-2024-1541851.
- 22. Avanceña ALV, Prosser LA (2021). Examining equity effects of health interventions in costeffectiveness analysis: a systematic review. Value Health. 24(1):136–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jval.2020.10.010 PMID:33431148
- 23. Asaria M, Griffin S, Cookson R (2016). Distributional cost-effectiveness analysis: a tutorial. Med Decis Making. 36(1):8–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0272989X15583266</u> <u>PMID:25908564</u>
- 24. Asaria M, Griffin S, Cookson R, Whyte S, Tappenden P (2015). Distributional cost-effectiveness analysis of health care programmes a methodological case study of the UK bowel cancer screening programme. Health Econ. 24(6):742–54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hec.3058 PMID:24798212</u>
- 25. Verguet S, Olson ZD, Babigumira JB, Desalegn D, Johansson KA, Kruk ME, et al. (2015). Health gains and financial risk protection afforded by public financing of selected interventions in Ethiopia: an extended cost-effectiveness analysis. Lancet Glob Health. 3(5):e288–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(14)70346-8 PMID:25889470
- 26. Verguet S, Jamison DT (2018). Health policy analysis: applications of extended cost-effectiveness analysis methodology in *Disease Control Priorities*, third edition. In: Jamison DT, Gelband H, Horton S, Jha P, Laxminarayan R, Mock CN, et al., editors. Disease control priorities: improving health and reducing poverty. 3rd ed. Washington (DC), USA: World Bank. <u>https://doi.org/10.1596/978-1-4648-0527-1_ch8</u>
- 27. Salti N, Brouwer E, Verguet S (2016). The health, financial and distributional consequences of increases in the tobacco excise tax among smokers in Lebanon. Soc Sci Med. 170:161–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2016.10.020 PMID:27792922
- Verguet S, Murphy S, Anderson B, Johansson KA, Glass R, Rheingans R (2013). Public finance of rotavirus vaccination in India and Ethiopia: an extended cost-effectiveness analysis. Vaccine. 31(42):4902–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2013.07.014</u> PMID:23871824
- 29. Loganathan T, Jit M, Hutubessy R, Ng C-W, Lee W-S, Verguet S (2016). Rotavirus vaccines contribute towards universal health coverage in a mixed public-private healthcare system. Trop Med Int Health. 21(11):1458–67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/tmi.12766</u> PMID:27503549
- Nandi A, Megiddo I, Ashok A, Verma A, Laxminarayan R (2017). Reduced burden of childhood diarrheal diseases through increased access to water and sanitation in India: a modeling analysis. Soc Sci Med. 180:181–92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2016.08.049</u> <u>PMID:27614366</u>.
- 31. Lansdorp-Vogelaar I, Sharp L (2013). Cost-effectiveness of screening and treating *Helicobacter pylori* for gastric cancer prevention. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol. 27(6):933–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpg.2013.09.005 PMID:24182612
- Areia M, Carvalho R, Cadime AT, Rocha Gonçalves F, Dinis-Ribeiro M (2013). Screening for gastric cancer and surveillance of premalignant lesions: a systematic review of cost-effectiveness studies. Helicobacter. 18(5):325–37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.12050</u> PMID:23566268
- Lansdorp-Vogelaar I, Meester RGS, Laszkowska M, Escudero FA, Ward ZJ, Yeh JM (2021). Costeffectiveness of prevention and early detection of gastric cancer in Western countries. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol. 50–51:101735. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpg.2021.101735</u> <u>PMID:33975689</u>
- Sarmasti M, Khoshbaten M, Khalili F, Yousefi M (2022). Cost-effectiveness of screening *Helicobacter* pylori for gastric cancer prevention: a systematic review. J Gastrointest Cancer. 53(4):1093–103. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12029-021-00726-7 PMID:34694594</u>
- 35. Liou JM, Malfertheiner P, Lee YC, Sheu B-S, Sugano K, Cheng H-C, et al.; Asian Pacific Alliance on Helicobacter and Microbiota (APAHAM) (2020). Screening and eradication of *Helicobacter pylori* for gastric cancer prevention: the Taipei global consensus. Gut. 69(12):2093–112. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2020-322368</u> PMID:33004546
- Yeh JM, Kuntz KM, Ezzati M, Goldie SJ (2009). Exploring the cost-effectiveness of *Helicobacter pylori* screening to prevent gastric cancer in China in anticipation of clinical trial results. Int J Cancer. 124(1):157–66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.23864</u> <u>PMID:18823009</u>

- Yousefi M, Rezaei S, Khoshbaten M, Sarmasti M (2023). Cost-effectiveness analysis of different screening strategies for *Helicobacter pylori* infection in Iran: a model-based evaluation. Helicobacter. 28(6):e13027. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.13027</u> PMID:37839058
- Xie F, Luo N, Blackhouse G, Goeree R, Lee H-P (2008). Cost-effectiveness analysis of *Helicobacter pylori* screening in prevention of gastric cancer in Chinese. Int J Technol Assess Health Care. 24(1):87–95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0266462307080117</u> PMID:18218173
- Xie F, O'Reilly D, Ferrusi IL, Blackhouse G, Bowen JM, Tarride J-E, et al. (2009). Illustrating economic evaluation of diagnostic technologies: comparing *Helicobacter pylori* screening strategies in prevention of gastric cancer in Canada. J Am Coll Radiol. 6(5):317–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacr.2009.01.022</u> PMID:19394572
- Oh A, Truong H, Kim J, Rustgi SD, Abrams JA, Hur C (2022). Cost-effectiveness of screening with polymerase chain reaction for *Helicobacter pylori* to prevent gastric cancer and peptic ulcers. J Gastrointest Oncol. 13(5):2186–96. <u>https://doi.org/10.21037/jgo-21-911</u> <u>PMID:36388653</u>
- 41. Lee YC, Lin JT, Wu HM, Liu T-Y, Yen M-F, Chiu H-M, et al. (2007). Cost-effectiveness analysis between primary and secondary preventive strategies for gastric cancer. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 16(5):875–85. <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-06-0758</u> PMID:17507609
- 42. Parsonnet J, Harris RA, Hack HM, Owens DK (1996). Modelling cost-effectiveness of *Helicobacter pylori* screening to prevent gastric cancer: a mandate for clinical trials. Lancet. 348(9021):150–4. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(96)01501-2 PMID:8684154
- Roderick P, Davies R, Raftery J, Crabbe D, Pearce R, Patel P, et al. (2003). Cost-effectiveness of population screening for *Helicobacter pylori* in preventing gastric cancer and peptic ulcer disease, using simulation. J Med Screen. 10(3):148–56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/096914130301000310</u> PMID:14561268
- 44. Leivo T, Salomaa A, Kosunen TU, Tuominen R, Färkkilä M, Linna M, et al. (2004). Cost-benefit analysis of *Helicobacter pylori* screening. Health Policy. 70(1):85–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthpol.2004.02.004 PMID:15312711
- 45. Xie F, Luo N, Lee HP (2008). Cost effectiveness analysis of population-based serology screening and ¹³C-urea breath test for *Helicobacter pylori* to prevent gastric cancer: a Markov model. World J Gastroenterol. 14(19):3021–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.14.3021</u> PMID:18494053
- Chiang TH, Chang WJ, Chen SL, Yen AM, Fann JC, Chiu SY, et al. (2021). Mass eradication of *Helicobacter pylori* to reduce gastric cancer incidence and mortality: a long-term cohort study on Matsu Islands. Gut. 70(2):243–50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2020-322200</u> <u>PMID:32792335</u>
- 47. Fendrick AM, Chernew ME, Hirth RA, Bloom BS, Bandekar RR, Scheiman JM (1999). Clinical and economic effects of population-based *Helicobacter pylori* screening to prevent gastric cancer. Arch Intern Med. 159(2):142–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.159.2.142</u> PMID:9927096
- 48. Harris RA, Owens DK, Witherell H, Parsonnet J (1999). *Helicobacter pylori* and gastric cancer: what are the benefits of screening only for the CagA phenotype of *H. pylori*? Helicobacter. 4(2):69–76. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-5378.1999.98057.x PMID:10382118</u>
- Bobridge A, Price K, Gill TK, Taylor AW (2017). Influencing cancer screening participation rates providing a combined cancer screening program (a 'one stop' shop) could be a potential answer. Front Oncol. 7:308. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2017.00308</u> PMID:29322029
- 50. Bernstein E, Lev-Ari S, Shapira S, Leshno A, Sommer U, Al-Shamsi H, et al. (2023). Data from a onestop-shop comprehensive cancer screening center. J Clin Oncol. 41(14):2503–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.22.00938</u> PMID:36669135
- 51. Steliga MA, Yang P (2019). Integration of smoking cessation and lung cancer screening. Transl Lung Cancer Res. 8(Suppl 1):S88–94. <u>https://doi.org/10.21037/tlcr.2019.04.02</u> <u>PMID:31211109</u>
- 52. Wirtz C, Mohamed Y, Engel D, Sidibe A, Holloway M, Bloem P, et al. (2022). Integrating HPV vaccination programs with enhanced cervical cancer screening and treatment, a systematic review. Vaccine. 40(Suppl 1):A116–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2021.11.013</u> PMID:34863615
- Lee YC, Chiu HM, Chiang TH, Yen AM-F, Chiu SY-H, Chen SL-S, et al. (2013). Accuracy of faecal occult blood test and *Helicobacter pylori* stool antigen test for detection of upper gastrointestinal lesions. BMJ Open. 3(10):e003989. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2013-003989</u> PMID:24176798
- Nieuwenburg SAV, Mommersteeg MC, Wolters LMM, van Vuuren AJ, Erler N, Peppelenbosch MP, et al. (2022). Accuracy of *H. pylori* fecal antigen test using fecal immunochemical test (FIT). Gastric Cancer. 25(2):375–81. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10120-021-01264-8</u> PMID:34792700
- 55. Lee YC, Chiang TH, Chiu HM, Wu M-S, Yeh Y-P, Hsiu-Hsi Chen T; Collaborators of the Taiwan Community-Based Integrated Screening Group (2021). Community-based gastric cancer screening

coupled with a national colorectal cancer screening program: baseline results. Gastroenterology. 160(6):2159–2161.e4. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2021.01.008</u> PMID:33444571

- 56. Shaukat A, Levin TR (2022). Current and future colorectal cancer screening strategies. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 19(8):521–31. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41575-022-00612-y PMID:35505243</u>
- 57. Zhu F, Zhang X, Li P, Zhu Y (2023). Effect of *Helicobacter pylori* eradication on gastric precancerous lesions: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Helicobacter. 28(6):e13013. https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.13013 PMID:37602719
- 58. Lee YC, Chiang TH, Chiu HM, Su W-W, Chou K-C, Chen SL-S, et al.; Collaborators of Taiwan Community-based Integrated Screening Group (2024). Screening for *Helicobacter pylori* to prevent gastric cancer: a pragmatic randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 332(19):1642–51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2024.14887</u> PMID:39348147
- Allard J, Cosby R, Del Giudice ME, Irvine EJ, Morgan D, Tinmouth J (2010). Gastroscopy following a positive fecal occult blood test and negative colonoscopy: systematic review and guideline. Can J Gastroenterol. 24(2):113–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2010/516363 PMID:20151070</u>
- Shah A, Eqbal A, Moy N, Koloski N, Messmann H, Kendall BJ, et al. (2023). Upper GI endoscopy in subjects with positive fecal occult blood test undergoing colonoscopy: systematic review and meta-analysis. Gastrointest Endosc. 97(6):1005–1015.e30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gie.2023.02.013</u> PMID:36812947
- 61. Areia M, Dinis-Ribeiro M, Rocha Gonçalves F (2014). Cost-utility analysis of endoscopic surveillance of patients with gastric premalignant conditions. Helicobacter. 19(6):425–36. https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.12150 PMID:25164596
- Leja M, Park JY, Murillo R, Liepniece-Karele I, Isajevs S, Kikuste I, et al. (2017). Multicentric randomised study of *Helicobacter pylori* eradication and pepsinogen testing for prevention of gastric cancer mortality: the GISTAR study. BMJ Open. 7(8):e016999. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-016999 PMID:28801429</u>
- Miki K (2011). Gastric cancer screening by combined assay for serum anti-*Helicobacter pylori* IgG antibody and serum pepsinogen levels – "ABC method". Proc Jpn Acad Ser B Phys Biol Sci. 87(7):405–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.2183/pjab.87.405</u> PMID:21785258
- 64. Barkun A, Leontiadis G (2010). Systematic review of the symptom burden, quality of life impairment and costs associated with peptic ulcer disease. Am J Med. 123(4):358–66.e2. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjmed.2009.09.031</u> PMID:20362756
- 65. Sung JJ, Kuipers EJ, El-Serag HB (2009). Systematic review: the global incidence and prevalence of peptic ulcer disease. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 29(9):938–46. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2036.2009.03960.x PMID:19220208</u>
- 66. Lanas A, Chan FKL (2017). Peptic ulcer disease. Lancet. 390(10094):613–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)32404-7 PMID:28242110
- Malfertheiner P, Megraud F, O'Morain CA, Gisbert JP, Kuipers EJ, Axon AT, et al.; European Helicobacter and Microbiota Study Group and Consensus panel (2017). Management of *Helicobacter pylori* infection – the Maastricht V/Florence consensus report. Gut. 66(1):6–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2016-312288</u> PMID:27707777
- Lee YC, Chen TH, Chiu HM, Shun C-T, Chiang H, Liu T-Y, et al. (2013). The benefit of mass eradication of *Helicobacter pylori* infection: a community-based study of gastric cancer prevention. Gut. 62(5):676–82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2012-302240</u> PMID:22698649
- 69. Hsu PI, Lai KH, Hsu PN, Lo G-H, Yu H-C, Chen W-C, et al. (2007). *Helicobacter pylori* infection and the risk of gastric malignancy. Am J Gastroenterol. 102(4):725–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1572-0241.2006.01109.x PMID:17324128</u>
- 70. Liu H, Ruskon-Fourmestraux A, Lavergne-Slove A, Ye H, Molina T, Bouhnik Y, et al. (2001). Resistance of t(11;18) positive gastric mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue lymphoma to *Helicobacter pylori* eradication therapy. Lancet. 357(9249):39–40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(00)03571-6</u> <u>PMID:11197361</u>
- 71. Ford AC, Tsipotis E, Yuan Y, Leontiadis GI, Moayyedi P (2022). Efficacy of *Helicobacter pylori* eradication therapy for functional dyspepsia: updated systematic review and meta-analysis. Gut. 71(10):1967–75. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutinl-2021-326583</u> PMID:35022266
- 72. Moayyedi P, Soo S, Deeks J, Delaney B, Harris A, Innes M, et al. (2005). Eradication of *Helicobacter pylori* for non-ulcer dyspepsia. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. (1):CD002096. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD002096.pub2 PMID:15674892
- 73. Mason J, Axon AT, Forman D, Duffett S, Drummond M, Crocombe W, et al.; Leeds HELP Study Group (2002). The cost-effectiveness of population *Helicobacter pylori* screening and treatment: a Markov

model using economic data from a randomized controlled trial. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 16(3):559–68. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2036.2002.01204.x PMID:11876711

- 74. Qu XH, Huang XL, Xiong P, Zhu CY, Huang YL, Lu LG, et al. (2010). Does *Helicobacter pylori* infection play a role in iron deficiency anemia? A meta-analysis. World J Gastroenterol. 16(7):886–96. <u>PMID:20143469</u>
- 75. Yuan W, Li Yumin, Yang Kehu, Ma Bin, Guan Quanlin, Wang D, et al. (2010). Iron deficiency anemia in *Helicobacter pylori* infection: meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Scand J Gastroenterol. 45(6):665–76. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/00365521003663670</u> PMID:20201716
- 76. Choi DS, Seo SI, Shin WG, Park CH (2020). Risk for colorectal neoplasia in patients with *Helicobacter pylori* infection: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Transl Gastroenterol. 11(2):e00127. <u>https://doi.org/10.14309/ctg.0000000000127 PMID:32032128</u>
- 77. Zuo Y, Jing Z, Bie M, Xu C, Hao X, Wang B (2020). Association between *Helicobacter pylori* infection and the risk of colorectal cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Medicine (Baltimore). 99(37):e21832. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/MD.00000000021832</u> <u>PMID:32925719</u>
- 78. Luo F, Zhou P, Ran X, Gu M, Zhou S (2023). No evident causal association between *Helicobacter pylori* infection and colorectal cancer: a bidirectional Mendelian randomization study. Sci Rep. 13(1):18544. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-023-45545-x PMID:37899462</u>
- 79. Ralser A, Dietl A, Jarosch S, Engelsberger V, Wanisch A, Janssen KP, et al. (2023). *Helicobacter pylori* promotes colorectal carcinogenesis by deregulating intestinal immunity and inducing a mucus-degrading microbiota signature. Gut. 72(7):1258–70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2022-328075</u> PMID:37015754
- Founou RC, Founou LL, Essack SY (2017). Clinical and economic impact of antibiotic resistance in developing countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 12(12):e0189621. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0189621</u> PMID:29267306
- 81. Prestinaci F, Pezzotti P, Pantosti A (2015). Antimicrobial resistance: a global multifaceted phenomenon. Pathog Glob Health. 109(7):309–18. https://doi.org/10.1179/2047773215Y.0000000030 PMID:26343252
- 82. Li M, Park JY, Sheikh M, Kayamba V, Rumgay H, Jenab M, et al. (2023). Population-based investigation of common and deviating patterns of gastric cancer and oesophageal cancer incidence across populations and time. Gut. 72(5):846–54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2022-328233</u> PMID:36241389
- Xie FJ, Zhang YP, Zheng QQ, Jin HC, Wang FL, Chen M, et al. (2013). *Helicobacter pylori* infection and esophageal cancer risk: an updated meta-analysis. World J Gastroenterol. 19(36):6098–107. <u>https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v19.i36.6098</u> PMID:24106412
- 84. Wiklund AK, Santoni G, Yan J, Radkiewicz C, Xie S, Birgisson H, et al. (2024). Risk of esophageal adenocarcinoma after *Helicobacter pylori* eradication treatment in a population-based multinational cohort study. Gastroenterology. 167(3):485–492.e3. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2024.03.016</u> PMID:38513743
- 85. Strachan DP (1989). Hay fever, hygiene, and household size. BMJ. 299(6710):1259–60. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.299.6710.1259 PMID:2513902
- 86. Zuo ZT, Ma Y, Sun Y, Bai CQ, Ling CH, Yuan FL (2021). The protective effects of *Helicobacter pylori* infection on allergic asthma. Int Arch Allergy Immunol. 182(1):53–64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/000508330 PMID:33080611</u>
- 87. Wang Q, Yu C, Sun Y (2013). The association between asthma and *Helicobacter pylori*: a metaanalysis. Helicobacter. 18(1):41–53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.12012</u> <u>PMID:23067334</u>
- de Martel C, Georges D, Bray F, Ferlay J, Clifford GM (2020). Global burden of cancer attributable to infections in 2018: a worldwide incidence analysis. Lancet Glob Health. 8(2):e180–90.
 <u>PMID:31862245</u>
- Chen Q, Liang X, Long X, Yu L, Liu W, Lu H (2019). Cost-effectiveness analysis of screen-and-treat strategy in asymptomatic Chinese for preventing *Helicobacter pylori*-associated diseases. Helicobacter. 24(2):e12563. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.12563</u> PMID:30672082
- 90. Pritchard DM, Bornschein J, Beales I, Beresniak A, Salhi H, Malfertheiner P (2021). Cost-effectiveness modelling of use of urea breath test for the management of *Helicobacter pylori*-related dyspepsia and peptic ulcer in the UK. BMJ Open Gastroenterol. 8(1):e000685. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgast-2021-000685</u> PMID:34244244
- 91. Shafiq N, Pandey AK, Malhotra S, Holmes A, Mendelson M, Malpani R, et al. (2021). Shortage of essential antimicrobials: a major challenge to global health security. BMJ Glob Health. 6(11):e006961. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2021-006961 PMID:34728479

- 92. Feng T, Zheng Z, Xu J, Cao P, Gao S, Yu X (2022). Cost-effectiveness analysis of the *Helicobacter pylori* screening programme in an asymptomatic population in China. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 19(16):9986. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19169986 PMID:36011621
- 93. Kowada A, Asaka M (2022). Economic and health impacts of *Helicobacter pylori* eradication strategy for the treatment of peptic ulcer disease: a cost-effectiveness analysis. Helicobacter. 27(3):e12886. https://doi.org/10.1111/hel.12886 PMID:35343031
- 94. Wang Z, Han W, Xue F, Zhao Y, Wu P, Chen Y, et al. (2022). Nationwide gastric cancer prevention in China, 2021–2035: a decision analysis on effect, affordability and cost-effectiveness optimisation. Gut. 71(12):2391–400. https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2021-325948 PMID:35902213

Disclosures of interests

Javier P. Gisbert reports that his unit at Hospital Universitario de La Princesa benefited from research funding from Juvisé Pharmaceuticals.

Mārcis Leja reports owning shares in the Digestive Diseases Centre, and that his unit at the University of Latvia benefits from non-monetary support from Eiken Chemical Co.

Zorana Maravic, in her capacity as CEO of Digestive Cancers Europe (DiCE), reports that DiCE benefits from research funding from several pharmaceutical companies.

Peter Sasieni reports having been a member of Roche's Scientific Advisory Board. This was determined not to present a conflict of interest for the present IARC meeting, since there was no reported involvement with the topics under review.

Stella Smith, in her capacity as President of the African Helicobacter and Microbiota Study Group, reports that the Group benefited from research support from Richen Force Ltd.